THE EVE OF DESTRUCTION?

LOCAL GROUPS AND LARGE-SCALE NETWORKS DURING THE LATE FOURTH AND EARLY THIRD MILLENNIUM BC IN CENTRAL EUROPE

DANIELA HOFMANN, DORIS MISCHKA & SILVIANE SCHARL (EDS)

THE EVE OF DESTRUCTION?



THE EVE OF DESTRUCTION?

LOCAL GROUPS AND LARGE-SCALE NETWORKS DURING THE LATE FOURTH AND EARLY THIRD MILLENNIUM BC IN CENTRAL EUROPE

DANIELA HOFMANN, DORIS MISCHKA & SILVIANE SCHARL (EDS)

© 2025 Individual authors

This book is published under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0). This license does not apply to content that is attributed to sources other than the copyright holder mentioned above. Under this license you are free to share this work, provided the makers are attributed. Its content cannot be used for commercial purposes nor is it allowed to make adaptations without permission from the copyright holder.

For more information about our licenses, please visit https://www.sidestone.com/publishing/creative-commons.



Published by Sidestone Press, Leiden www.sidestone.com E-mail: info @ sidestone.nl Phone: (+31)(0)71-7370131

Lay-out & cover design: Sidestone Press Photograph cover: Mount Říp in Bohemia, Czech Republic (Mirek Deml, stock.adobe.com); Web of connected nodes (Astibuag, stock.adobe.com).

ISBN 978-94-6426-311-4 (softcover) ISBN 978-94-6426-312-1 (hardcover) ISBN 978-94-6426-313-8 (PDF e-book)

DOI: https://doi.org/10.59641/qq545tc





Friedrich-Alexander-Universität Philosophische Fakultät und Fachbereich Theologie



UNIVERSITY OF BERGEN



UNIVERSITÄT ZU KÖLN

Contents

Author affiliations	7
Author biographies	9
The pre-Corded Ware horizon in central Europe and why it matters — an introduction to the volume	13
Daniela Hofmann, Doris Mischka and Silviane Scharl	
The times they are a-changin'. The Final Copper Age between the eastern Carpathians and the Don river	25
Elke Kaiser	
The arrival of the Corded Ware in eastern Switzerland. A settlement archaeological view	53
Niels Bleicher	
Pots without plots? Danubian and other non-local finds in Horgen cultural contexts of the thirty-second century BC and beyond at lake Constance and in Upper Swabia Joachim Köninger	63
The time of the cord rollers. Textile-roughened pottery of the early third millennium BC and cultural transmission networks from a south-western German perspective Philipp Gleich	95
Decades of drought in the twenty-eighth century BC and its effects on settlement and culture	123
Joachim Pechtl and Alexander Land	
In the middle of nowhere — Burgerroth and the Early Final Neolithic in Franconia	139
Thomas Link	
Networks at the turn of the millennium — the situation in northern Bavaria	159
Martin Nadler	
Long barrows, causewayed enclosures and the long term spiritual continuity in ritual landscape around Mount Říp in Bohemia (Czech Republic)	173

Jan Turek, Petr Krištuf and Ondřej Švejcar

The third millennium BC in the German lower mountain ranges: are social ties falling apart?	189
Clara Drummer	
Lithics, Lousberg axes and no settlements. In search of the late fourth millennium BC in the Lower Rhine area	209
Silviane Scharl and Ingrid Koch	
<i>In varietate concordia</i> — united in diversity. Battle axes, coarse ware pottery and burial rituals during the Late Neolithic of western and central Europe and their meaning for the deconstruction of Final Neolithic narratives	221
Sebastian Schultrich	
Continuation and change in settlement of the Polish Lowland in the period 3300–2700 BC	243
Marzena Szmyt	
Societal rise, dissolution and diversity. From Funnel Beaker (TRB) societies to Single Grave groups on the north European plain (c. 3300–2700 BC)	261
Jan Piet Brozio	
Global transformation? Globular Amphora sedentary pastoralists 3200–2700 BC	277
Johannes Müller	
Parallel societies: evidence for the co-existence of Late Funnel Beaker West and Early Corded Ware communities	291
Quentin P.J. Bourgeois, Erik J. Kroon and S. Louise Olerud	
Same old, same old? Fisher-hunter-gatherer graves, burials and mortuary practices in the late fourth and early third millennium BC northern and eastern Baltic Sea region	311

Marja Ahola

Author affiliations

Marja Ahola

Archaeology, Faculty of Humanities, P.O. Box 1000, 90014 University of Oulu, Finland, marja.ahola@oulu.fi

Niels Bleicher

Unterwasser-und Dendroarchäologie, Stadt Zürich, Switzerland, niels.bleicher@zuerich.ch

Quentin P.J. Bourgeois

Faculty of Archaeology, Leiden University, Netherlands, q.p.j.bourgeois@arch.leidenuniv.nl

Jan Piet Brozio

Institut für Ur- und Frühgeschichte, Christian-Albrechts-Universität zu Kiel, Germany, jpbrozio@ufg.uni-kiel.de

Philipp Gleich

Departement Altertumswissenschaften, Universität Basel, and Amt für Denkmalpflege und Archäologie, Kanton Zug, Switzerland, philipp.gleich@zg.ch

Clara Drummer

Archäologie Drummer and Orthodrone GmbH, Kiel, Germany, info@archaeologie-drummer.de

Daniela Hofmann

Department of Archaeology, History, Cultural Studies and Religion, University of Bergen, Norway, Daniela.Hofmann@uib.no

Elke Kaiser

Institute of Prehistoric Archaeology, Freie Universität Berlin, Germany, ekaiser@zedat.fu-berlin.de

Ingrid Koch

Institut für Ur- und Frühgeschichte, Universität zu Köln, Germany, ingrid.e.koch@me.com

Joachim Köninger

Terramare Archäologische Dienstleistungen, Freiburg im Breisgau, Germany, janus@jkoeninger.de

Petr Krištuf

Department of Archaeology, University of West Bohemia in Pilsen, Czech Republic, pkristuf@kar.zcu.cz

Erik J. Kroon

Faculty of Archaeology, Leiden University, Netherlands, e.j.kroon@arch.leidenuniv.nl

Alexander Land

Molekulare Botanik, Universität Hohenheim, Germany, alexander.land@uni-hohenheim.de

Thomas Link

Landesamt für Denkmalpflege Baden-Württemberg, Germany, thomas.link@rps.bwl.de

Doris Mischka

Institut für Ur- und Frühgeschichte, Friedrich-Alexander-Universität Erlangen-Nürnberg, Germany, doris.mischka@fau.de

Johannes Müller

Institut für Ur- und Frühgeschichte, Christian-Albrechts-Universität zu Kiel, Germany, johannes.mueller@ufg.uni-kiel.de

Martin Nadler

Archäologischer Heimatpfleger im Landkreis Neustadt an der Aisch-Bad Windsheim, Germany, martin_nadler@web.de

S. Louise Olerud

Faculty of Archaeology, Leiden University, Netherlands, s.l.olerud@arch.leidenuniv.nl

Joachim Pechtl

Institut für Archäologien, Universität Innsbruck, Austria, joachim.pechtl@uibk.ac.at

Silviane Scharl

Institut für Ur- und Frühgeschichte, Universität zu Köln, Germany, sscharl@uni-koeln.de

Sebastian Schultrich

Institut für Ur- und Frühgeschichte, Christian-Albrechts-Universität zu Kiel, Germany, sschultrich@roots.uni-kiel.de

Ondřej Švejcar

Institute of Archaeology in Prague, Czech Academy of Sciences, v.v.i., svejcar@arup.cas

Marzena Szmyt

Adam Mickiewicz University in Poznań & Archaeological Museum in Poznań, Poland, marzena@amu.edu.pl

Jan Turek

Center for Theoretical Study, Charles University Prague, Czech Republic, turek@cts.cuni.cz

Author biographies

Marja Ahola is an Academy of Finland post-doctoral researcher in the department of history, culture and communications at the University of Oulu and a visiting researcher at the University of Helsinki in Finland. In her current project, Ahola explores the role of inhumation burial in the cosmology of the fisher-hunter-gatherer peoples of Mesolithic and Neolithic north-east Europe.

Niels Bleicher is archaeologist and dendrochronologist at the Zurich Underwater- and Dendroarchaeology department. He has worked with numerous lakeside and bog settlements in southern Germany and Switzerland and has directed large-scale excavations of waterlogged sites. He has also taken part in and directed large interdisciplinary projects of waterlogged Neolithic settlements.

Quentin PJ. Bourgeois is Associate Professor in European Prehistory at the Faculty of Archaeology, Leiden University, where he leads research on later prehistoric societies, with a particular focus on funerary archaeology of Neolithic and Bronze Age cultures. Currently the head of the Department of World Archaeology, he also serves as Principal Investigator of the NWO-funded VIDI project, "The Talking Dead: Reconstructing the Transmission of Information in the 3rd Millennium BCE." His work combines robust theoretical frameworks with innovative methodologies, such as citizen science and network analysis, to explore how past societies communicated and interacted. Through this approach, he seeks to unravel the complexities of ancient social networks, aiming to deepen our understanding of prehistoric cultural dynamics and their implications for broader archaeological narratives.

Jan Piet Brozio is an archaeologist in the research project "Transformation Dimensions" CRC 1266 at Kiel University. His research includes the Neolithic in northern central Europe and southern Scandinavia, megalithic sites, as well as wetland, settlement and landscape archaeology. Since 2009, he has been conducting excavations with a focus on Neolithic wetland situations and megalithic sites in northern Germany.

Clara Drummer studied Archaeological Sciences at the Friedrich-Alexander-University, Erlangen-Nürnberg between 2011 and 2016 and has worked as an independent archaeologist since 2016. She joined the DFG Collaborative Research Centre CRC1266 Scales of Transformations at Kiel University in January 2017 for her PhD studies, which she completed in 2020. Until August 2020 she was a research associate at the Institute of Preand Protohistoric Archaeology in Kiel and is now a UAV spatial data analyst for archaeology and cultural heritage at Orthodrone GmbH. *Philipp Gleich* graduated in Pre- and Protohistoric Archaeology at the University of Würzburg, Germany, in 2017. He completed a PhD project on the Late Neolithic "Goldberg III pottery" from south-western Germany at the University of Basel, Switzerland, in 2022. He has also participated in and led excavations of Late Neolithic wetland settlements in south-western Germany. His main research interests are settlement and wetland archaeology, studies of prehistoric pottery, contact networks of the later Neolithic and archaeological theory.

Daniela Hofmann is Professor of Archaeology at Bergen University, where she teaches and researches mainly on the Neolithic of Europe. Her current interests include migration, kinship, ritual, social inequality and resistance to it, as well as social contacts and change. In her projects, she tries to combine theoretical considerations with a variety of methods, including bioarchaeological information, in an effort to write narratives that take into account different perspectives. She hopes that knowing about diversity in the past could help us create a fairer society today, but has doubts on whether this is actually working.

Elke Kaiser is Professor of Archaeology in Western Eurasia at the Freie Universität Berlin. She wrote her dissertation in Berlin on the Middle Bronze Age Catacomb culture between the Dnieper and Prut rivers. She has been working for years on steppe cultures, especially north of the Black Sea, and conducts joint research projects amongst others in the Republic of Moldova and Ukraine. She is particularly interested in the landscape archaeological study of settlements in the third and second millennia BC.

Ingrid Koch is an independent researcher affiliated to the Institute of Prehistoric Archaeology at the University of Cologne. She has an expertise in lithic artefacts from Palaeolithic, Mesolithic and Neolithic contexts. In her current project, together with Silviane Scharl, she explores the Late Neolithic in the Rhineland in western Germany.

Working as an underwater archaeologist, *Joachim Köninger* has been active in the lake Constance area and beyond, for instance in northern Italy and Switzerland, for more than 40 years.

Petr Krištuf is an archaeologist at the University of West Bohemia in Pilsen, where he completed his dissertation on the "Protoeneolithic period in Bohemia and its central European surroundings" in 2009. Since then he has lectured on Neolithic archaeology, archaeological theory and methods and computer application in Pilsen, Olomouc (CZ) and Bratislava (SK). He is a specialist in the Neolithic and Chalcolithic of Europe, primarily on burial rites, rituals and social structure. He also focuses on spatial analyses in GIS and other computer applications in archaeology.

Erik J. Kroon obtained his PhD in European Prehistory at the Faculty of Archaeology, Leiden University. His PhD examines the interactions between migrating and indigenous communities in the Netherlands during the third millennium BCE from the perspective of ceramic technology. In addition, he works as a data analyst in the NWO-project "The talking dead: reconstructing the transmission of information in the 3rd millennium BCE".

For more than a decade, *Alexander Land* has been a senior scientist in the field of dendro-sciences and leader of the dendrochronology /-climatology group at the University of Hohenheim (Germany). He studies climate and environmental changes during the Holocene and contributes annually-resolved climate reconstructions developed from tree rings for central Europe. It is his concern to connect local-regional climate records with other locally derived geological archives as well as archaeological data to investigate complex connections between animate and inanimate nature. In addition, he is very interested in the behaviour and response of non-native tree species to future climate change and their growth potential and silvicultural risk.

Thomas Link studied Prehistoric Archaeology at the University of Heidelberg. His Master's thesis gave an overview of the end of the Neolithic tell settlements in the Carpathian Basin. For his PhD, he analysed the features from a Linear and Stroke Ornamented Pottery settlement at Dresden-Prohlis. From 2007 to 2015 he worked as a scientific associate at the University of Würzburg and carried out field research at the Final Neolithic settlement of Burgerroth and other sites. Since 2015, he has been working at the State Office for Cultural Heritage Baden-Württemberg as senior editor for archaeological publications.

Doris Mischka is Professor for Prehistoric Archaeology at the Friedrich-Alexander Universität Erlangen-Nürnberg. Previously, she worked at the Universities of Göttingen, Kiel, Bologna and Cologne. Her publications are devoted mainly to the Linear Pottery culture, the Funnel Beaker culture and Cucuteni-Tripyllia. She is also interested in landscape archaeology and has worked on lithics and pottery. Currently she conducts fieldwork in Romania. Johannes Müller obtained his PhD from the University of Freiburg in 1990 and his habilitation at the Free University Berlin in 1998. He is Professor of Prehistoric Archaeology at Kiel University, where he amongst others is the speaker of the collaborative research centre "Scales of transformation: human–environmental interaction in prehistoric and archaic societies" and of the excellence cluster "ROOTS – social, environmental, and cultural connectivity in past societies". He conducts research on Neolithic and Bronze Age Europe, including the challenge of interlinking natural, social and life sciences and the humanities within an anthropological approach to archaeology.

Martin Nadler studied Prehistory and Early History, Classical Archaeology, Geology and Palaeontology, Geography and Ethnology, as well as Art History, before working at the Institute of Prehistory and Early History and at the Institute of Materials Science/Metals at the University of Erlangen-Nürnberg. Between 1988 and 2021 he was the head of the regional heritage management office of the Bayerisches Landesamt für Denkmalpflege in Nuremberg.

Joachim Pechtl studied Pre- and Protohistoric Archaeology at the universities of Munich and Heidelberg and completed his doctorate on the Linear Pottery settlement of Stephansposching. This was followed by a post-doctoral position at the University of Würzburg and a position at the kelten römer museum Manching. Currently he is working as Assistant Professor at the University of Innsbruck, where he is responsible for the Stone Age section. For over 20 years he has been researching Stone Age topics in southern central Europe, initially mainly the Early Neolithic in the Danube region, now increasingly the entire Stone Age on the northern edge of the Alps. His special interest has always been the close connection with various scientific disciplines in order to reconstruct the environment and living conditions of past times. Apart from that, museum work and communicating archaeological results to a broad public are very important to him.

Louise Olerud is a PhD candidate in European Prehistory at the Faculty of Archaeology, Leiden University, within the NWO-funded VIDI-project "The talking dead: reconstructing the transmission of information in the 3rd millennium BCE". Her PhD research focuses on gendered burial rites in the third millennium BCE in north-western Europe. *Silviane Scharl* is Professor for Prehistoric Archaeology at the University of Cologne. One focus of her research is on the central European Neolithic. In her current project, she explores the Late Neolithic in the Rhineland in western Germany.

Sebastian Schultrich studied in Kiel, where he obtained his Master's thesis on the Final Neolithic (Single Grave/Corded Ware culture) in Schleswig-Holstein in 2017 (published in 2018). In 2018, he started his PhD on the Younger to Final Neolithic double axes from western and central Europe with the graduate school Human Development in Landscapes in Kiel, and finished in 2021. From 2021–2022 he worked in Kiel (CRC 1266 and Cluster ROOTS) as a public outreach and scientific coordinator, before moving to a post-doctoral position in the CRC 1266 Kiel in 2022.

Ondřej Švejcar completed his studies at the University of West Bohemia in Pilsen in 2014 with his dissertation on "The variability of funerary rites of the Únětice culture". He specialises in the burial rites of the Early Bronze Age, the application of computer methods and GIS in archaeology and database systems for the collection and publication of archaeological data. He currently works at the Institute of Archaeology of the Czech Academy of Sciences Prague, where he is a member of the AIS CR team. He is also a lecturer in GIS for archaeology at the Institute of Archaeology Faculty of Arts, Charles University.

Marzena Szmyt is professor at the Faculty of Archaeology, Adam Mickiewicz University in Poznań and director of the Archaeological Museum in Poznań. Her main areas of archaeological research are the Copper and Early Bronze Ages in central and eastern Europe. Her research applies archaeological, geoarchaeological and bioarchaeological methods to reconstruct past social and economic organisation and their environmental consequences.

Jan Turek has studied in Prague, Bratislava (CZ) and Sheffield (UK), and is currently working at the Center for Theoretical Study, Joint Research Institute of Charles University & the Czech Academy of Sciences. He is a specialist in the Neolithic and Chalcolithic of Europe, especially regarding the reconstruction of social and gender structure and symbolic systems of prehistoric communities. This includes an interest in continuity and change in funerary practices, settlement pattern and artefacts.

The pre-Corded Ware horizon in central Europe and why it matters — an introduction to the volume

Daniela Hofmann, Doris Mischka and Silviane Scharl

Framing the picture

The worst of times? A brief history of research into the emergence of the Corded Ware horizon in central Europe

The turn to the third millennium calBC is now one of the most discussed transitions in central European prehistory. Archaeologically speaking, the emergence of beaker-using cultures like the Corded Ware and Bell Beaker phenomena has a long history of research, during which models repeatedly oscillated between those stressing substantial outside input and those according a greater role to the spread of shared symbols and ways of thinking, rather than populations (see e.g. Clarke 1976; Derenne et al. 2022; Shennan 1977; Strahm 2004; 2010). Recently, the interpretative tide has turned rather decisively to the former option with the publication of aDNA analyses indicating a substantial population turnover associated initially mainly with steppe migrants who became the bearers of the Corded Ware culture (Haak et al. 2015). As often happens, this clearly defined discontinuity in one strand of evidence was used as a convenient anchor on which to hang other kinds of changes, thus enhancing the impression of a radical break in all areas of life. Linguistic change is an obvious example, with the spread of Indo-European languages prominently named in aDNA-based studies (Haak et al. 2015). Over time, this became amalgamated with additional strands of evidence, such as the establishment of the nuclear family as the basic social building block (e.g. at Eulau, Bentley 2013; Haak et al. 2008), the adoption of new economic systems with a greater reliance on pastoralism (Wilkin et al. 2021), or the rise of an individualistic ideology strongly focused on the role of the male warrior (Kristiansen et al. 2017). Given these ever increasing differences, ever more catastrophic events were needed to explain why this transition happened, with a large role played by violent take-over (Kristiansen and Earle 2022, 136) and mass-fatality events such as plagues (Andrades Valtueña et al. 2017; Rascovan et al. 2019).

Almost all of these individual components have since been strongly nuanced in a sometimes heated debate (e.g. Furholt 2018; 2019; 2021; Vander Linden 2016). For example, the frequency of battle axe deposition increases long before the Corded Ware horizon (Schultrich 2022; this volume), while there is no immediately striking rise in other archaeological evidence of warfare — the existing mass graves (e.g. Schroeder et al. 2019) rather continue a longer-term pattern of occasional outbursts of Neolithic interpersonal violence (e.g. Fibiger 2017). In addition, experimental work attempting to re-create the use-wear patterns on Dutch Corded Ware axes has suggested that their most likely use was as agricultural tools involved in removing roots from newly cleared ground (Wentink 2020, 109–27). The alleged ideological underpinnings in Indo-European mythology concerning male warrior brotherhoods and bands of violent youths (e.g. Kristiansen et al. 2017) have since been shown to be based on much later texts which cannot necessarily be projected as far back as the Neolithic, and to rely on highly selective and politically motivated readings of such written sources associated with the rise of nationalist ideologies in the earlier part of the twentieth century (Burmeister 2022). Overall, the increased focus on individual warriors is visible first and foremost through new Corded Ware funerary practices, but has much earlier roots.

In terms of economic changes, there are large gaps in our knowledge both for various pre-Corded Ware cultural entities and for the regional diversity encountered in the Corded Ware, although recent studies suggest that this could have been considerable (e.g. in the eastern Baltic, Pääkkönen et al. 2020; Piličiauskas et al. 2020). Over the long term, and spanning the duration of the Neolithic, there appears to be a general trend towards an increasing diversification of resource use, partly in line with the exploitation of different kinds of environments. This is visible in the archaeological record, for example in the divergent economic choices between residents of circum-Alpine lake villages (e.g. Hofmann 2013, 211–16), but also in collated isotopic data which suggest a trend towards greater dietary variation (Münster et al. 2018; Schier 2020). This means that practices such as increased reliance on herding or on dairy products could have been in place considerably earlier than the Corded Ware. Indeed, lipid analysis of an admittedly small sample of Cham culture sherds from Riedling in southern Bavaria has shown that a dairy-based economy already existed here at this earlier time (Dunne et al. 2023). Before we can confidently state that a single, better adapted economic system was introduced by newcomers from the steppes, and that this involved different mobility patterns than before, we will need more longer-term studies of regional trajectories.

Recent bioarchaeological evidence confirms these general impressions by stressing varying levels of continuity in aDNA signatures and considerable regional and even site-based diversity. For instance, a long-term coexistence of migrant and resident populations, with late and slow admixture, appears to characterise the Swiss sample (Furtwängler *et al.* 2020) — a scenario that also fits the archaeological evidence (Ebersbach *et al.* 2017, 5–7) —

while several papers now stress a "Neolithic resurgence" in the genetic evidence, implying population admixture rather than catastrophic replacement (e.g. Papac et al. 2021). This is an exciting aspect with implications that remain to be fully studied. Even the Eulau evidence suggests that the nuclear family was not the only important social reference group — graves other than the famous 99, such as burial 98, contain other constellations, in this case closely related children with a putative stepmother (Haak et al. 2008, 18228). How the work of making kin, which is always social and not just biological, changed with the arrival of new populations, or whether there were continuities, will have to be investigated across future studies (see also Turek 2023). Increasingly, the idea of a catastrophic plague pandemic that depopulated large parts of central Europe before the Corded Ware arrival is also seen critically — the plague pathogen is undoubtedly present, but its putative demographic impact now looks far less certain (Fuchs et al. 2019). Taken together, the coexistence of groups with various genetic signatures, and the evidence for syncretism and combination of traditions across several lines of archaeological evidence, also open the possibility that linguistic replacement may not have been as instantaneous as generally supposed, and that more complex models may be necessary (Demoule 2023, 419–53; Heggarty et al. 2023; Hofmann et al. 2024, 116–23; Robb 1993).

In sum, over the past few years it has become clear that the undoubted changes in material expression introduced with the transition to the Corded Ware can be linked to the arrival of new genetic signatures in central Europe, but that this process was by no means as destructive for previous Neolithic populations as had first been argued. New burial rites, now widely shared also between traditionally defined archaeological cultures, are the most visible innovation (Furholt 2019), but even this was not directly "imported" from the Eurasian steppes, but rather required adaptations and transformations as it merged with local mortuary traditions (e.g. Kaiser and Winger 2015). In addition, earlier ritual preferences often continued across this divide (e.g. Nielsen and Johannsen 2023). Many other elements initially suggested to relate to a Corded Ware "invasion" have much longer roots. This means that new narratives of the transition are required, a goal that currently comes up against its own set of problems.

What next? A research agenda for the pre-Corded Ware horizon

Currently, the main barrier to a full understanding of the Corded Ware phenomenon is the extremely uneven state of knowledge regarding the preceding cultural horizon. In some areas, there is a wealth of available evidence, although often for only certain aspects of life (and death). In northern central Germany and adjacent areas for example, the excavation of collective graves of the Wartberg culture (e.g. Drummer 2022; Hinz 2007; Schierholt 2012; on settlement see also Rinne *et al.* 2021) and an increased focus on communication networks between closely associated groups, such as Globular Amphora and Bernburg (most recently Müller 2023, 217–50), have provided a wealth of evidence on mortuary practice and communication networks. In contrast, the circum-Alpine lake villages with their detailed settlement records are some of the best-documented case studies for economic flexibility and settlement impermanence (e.g. Bleicher and Harb 2017; 2018). Yet it is rarely discussed in depth in how far these trends are representative for other areas.

In many other regions of central Europe, the picture is considerably more vague. The reasons for this are multiple. Material culture, in particular pottery but to an extent also lithics, becomes simpler and typologically less diagnostic after about 3500 BC, so it is hard to recognise in the archaeological record and has traditionally attracted more uneven scholarly interest. This means that basic relative chronologies are occasionally still contested (see for example the controversies concerning the dating of Cham culture pottery, Gohlisch 2005, 131-42). In addition, on mineral soils at least, it is often difficult to identify domestic architecture, and Late Neolithic pits, burials lacking diagnostic grave goods and other features often turn up as isolated instances interspersed with the remains of other time periods (e.g. Claßen et al. 2018; Engelhardt 2011; Modderman 1977, Beilage 3; Tolksdorf et al. 2020; Zuber 2009), which are then often prioritised in reports and scholarly publications. This drop in the number of houses remains hard to interpret - it is possible that a general population decline is responsible, but this is not always borne out by other evidence, such as pollen records documenting human impact (e.g. Gerlach and Eckmeier 2012; Meurers-Balke et al. 1999, 30–31). Alternatively, the establishment of a more mobile settlement system could have led to the development of ephemeral forms of architecture that are difficult to identify archaeologically. Even where there are more substantial remains, such as the ditched enclosures of the Řivnáč or Cham cultures (e.g. Burger 1988; Ottaway 1999; Zápotocký and Zápotocká 2008), it can be hard to assess their permanence and their role in the regional settlement system. In spite of these problems, it is evident that longdistance networks existed, as for example shown by the production of non-local pottery shapes with inspirations in far-away regions (Dunne et al. 2023) or imported stone artefacts (e.g. "daggers", summarised in Kieselbach 2012).

In the coming years, our challenge is therefore to document these pre-Corded Ware societies in much more detail. This will require targeted fieldwork to fill in

remaining blanks, as well as the judicious use and in-depth analysis of the existing archive using the full suite of (bio) archaeological methods now available. Strategies will have to be explicitly geared towards the identification of potentially highly mobile societies, and to differentiating different forms of mobility and migration within a highresolution chronological framework. Moreover, we have to gain a deeper understanding of subsistence strategies and social aspects in these societies. All this requires a better grounding in reliable absolute dating frameworks. Only then will we be able to accurately pinpoint the appearance of the different novelties associated with the emergence of the Corded Ware, to identify potential links between them, and to assess what their social consequences may have been, both before and after the appearance of new genetic signatures.

It is clear that such a task cannot be accomplished guickly and will need sustained attention over many years to come. This volume sees itself as one of the initial steps in this direction. It is the result of a DFG-funded workshop organised by Clara Drummer, Renate Ebersbach, Philipp Gleich, Daniela Hofmann, Doris Mischka and Silviane Scharl and hosted online by Erlangen-Nürnberg University in the pandemic year 2021. Under the heading "The eve of destruction? Local groups and global networks during the late 4th and early 3rd millennium BC in central Europe and beyond" over 30 researchers came together to collate new research on the period between roughly 3500 and 2700 BC and to debate the significance of these regional studies for the emerging pan-European picture. Most of the original participants are represented here with a written contribution. Although not all relevant regions and topics can be addressed in a collection of this kind, taken together the contributions eloquently show that the pre-Corded Ware societies of central Europe were more than crisisprone remnants of a failed Neolithic economic system, eking out a fragile existence on the eve of their inevitable demise. Rather, these were dynamic, innovative and wellconnected groups who were characterised by adaptability and resilience, and who had an active role to play in the unfolding changes.

The contributions

The contributions in the volume are arranged roughly regionally, from south to north. In this section, we pull out some of the connecting thematic threads that unite the volume and show that, in spite of all the regional diversity, we are dealing with many of the same problems. These concern the cultural diversity of the pre-Corded Ware horizon, which makes it hard to provide a general synthesis but which would have considerably influenced subsequent trajectories. The social groups active at this time were also embedded in long-distance networks through which novelties would have travelled. Together with a new aesthetic of material culture, which renders many objects "culturally undiagnostic" in archaeological terminology, this can make it rather hard to fit the available evidence into clearly delimited and statically defined archaeological culture groups — this all the more so since new and varied strategies of mobility appear to have been widely adopted at this time. Partly, these changes prefigure what are generally thought to be Corded Ware culture innovations, leading to a pattern of partial continuity. This also involves the new ritual expressions, which may well have functioned as a central arena in which groups with diverse roots and migration histories could have created common ground.

Diversity

All our authors agree that the second half of the fourth millennium is characterised by marked diversity in material culture and practices, and that this forms a complex background patchwork on which later developments are enacted. This is also the case for those areas from which the "steppe migrants" are generally thought to come, as Elke Kaiser details in her contribution on the pre-Yamnaya horizon. Throughout the northern Black Sea area and adjacent regions, there is great variation in burial traditions, and details of the rite, as well as grave goods and mortuary structures, are flexibly combined. Echoes of this diversity are also present in the succeeding Yamnaya horizon. This tension between variation and similarity is well-known from other regions and periods — for instance, Pieter Modderman's (1988) description of the Linearbandkeramik culture as showing "diversity in uniformity" is an almost perfect mirror image to Sebastian Schultrich's (this volume) characterisation of the Later Neolithic as "united in diversity" and Marzena Szmyt's (this volume) contrast between cultural uniformity and differentiation. In both cases, whether one assesses a phenomenon as "similar" or not to another largely depends on the scale of analysis and the level of detail. This is exacerbated by research traditions that rely on a traditional form of the culture concept that prioritises internal uniformity and clearly defined boundaries. This problem has been long pointed out (e.g. Eggert 1978; Gross 2017; Wahle 1941; Wotzka 2000) and is here taken up again in contributions by Thomas Link and Elke Kaiser, as well as Silviane Scharl and Ingrid Koch. All bemoan the fragmentation of research traditions that has resulted, and which makes it hard to recognise and characterise situations in which spatial or chronological patterns in one set of materials and practices do not vary in line with those in another. Not only have many aspects of daily life and mobility been neglected as a result, but also material culture that was perceived as undiagnostic, for example the lithic traditions in the Rhineland discussed by Scharl and Koch, has been effectively ignored. Our maps of the fourth millennium also show bounded blobs separated by large blank areas where research has been uneven, as in the Franconian example presented by Link. These kinds of gaps create artificially neat boundaries between the traditional culture groups. This may not be warranted — the material from Burgerroth, for example, combines elements of Cham and Alpine foreland material culture with more northerly inspirations and some elements that appear locally specific.

In addition, the fourth millennium sees the coexistence of varied expressions in spatially circumscribed areas. For example, Szmyt's contribution charts the identity boundaries drawn by different communities in the Polish lowlands, in particular in the ritual sphere. In spite of similarities in daily life, economic orientation and levels of mobility, late Funnel Beaker and Globular Amphorausing communities established clear distinctions between each other in death, partly mediated through contact with other areas and people, such as regions using Baden culture material or northern hunter-gatherers. A similar situation also exists for instance in southern Scandinavia (e.g. Iversen 2015; 2020; Nielsen and Johannsen 2023).

Dealing with diversity certainly remains a challenge, both theoretically and methodologically. While the use of polythetic culture models based on David Clarke's (1968, 35–38) pioneering concept have been repeatedly called for (e.g. Furholt 2020), in practice this would require considerable groundwork: the establishment of a new culture-independent nomenclature, new styles of mapping and a concerted theoretical debate on how to identify which aspects of material culture may have been used in conscious boundary signalling between groups (e.g. Hofmann et al. submitted). It would also require re-balancing our scales of analysis. Choosing the large-scale and general or the small-scale and messy is a choice that also immediately foregrounds radically different possibilities of engaging with the kinds of social negotiations and competing interests that were a feature of past as much as of present communities (Hofmann et al. 2024).

Networks and contacts

This intriguing pattern of diversity and difference, and of innovations and ideas travelling between traditionally defined culture groups, presupposes robust networks and contacts, and one key question addressed by our contributors is how these might have been organised. Pottery remains central here, given that shapes and decoration styles are, at least on the face of it, easy to trace. For southern central Europe, Philipp Gleich presents the results of his recent re-evaluation of textile-roughened or cord-rolled pottery, an element that connects several traditionally defined culture groupings of the pre-Corded Ware horizon over long distances. In spite of techniques

varying in detail, this implies a transmission network at a very large scale, from the Baltic to the Carpathians. Similarly, Joachim Köninger identifies non-local elements in the Horgen culture pottery of the Alpine foreland, most likely introduced through mobility along the river Danube, but in this case crossing areas where such designs are rather less well known at the time. It is, however, not just pottery that is introduced along this communication axis, but also knowledge about wheeled vehicles and new kinds of crops. Since a necessary condition for the spread of innovations is the existence of social ties between the communicating individuals, and related to this a certain degree of social intimacy as a prerequisite for the transmission of knowledge (e.g. Hofmann et al. 2022, 266; Tostevin 2007; 2019, 203), these networks allow further consideration of the social connections underpinning them (Scharl 2019; 2023).

Some lines of transmission seem rather indirect and mediated across many different steps, whereas more direct links are evident for instance in the Baden imports at Alpine foreland sites like Arbon-Bleiche 3 (De Capitani 2002, 156–61, 209–20), or the many forms with central eastern European inspiration recovered at the Lower Bavarian enclosure of Riedling (Dunne *et al.* 2023). More work is necessary on the precise mechanisms of transmission. Where sourcing studies have been undertaken, as at Riedling, even the exotic-looking pottery has been locally produced, while various hybrid vessel forms mixing "local" and "foreign" elements are documented here and also in the Alpine foreland (e.g. Burri 2007; Dunne *et al.* 2023; Stapfer 2017).

Not just pottery is involved, however, and other contributors to our volume trace additional lines of communication, visible for example in ritual innovations such as the anthropomorphic stone stelae in Franconia discussed by Martin Nadler, the widening syncretism in the burial practices of hunter-gatherers in Finland addressed by Marja Ahola, or the increasing importance of battle axes documented by Schultrich. As both Köninger and Link point out therefore, revising our models for contact is an important future research priority. What sorts of personal meetings and interactions were taking place both in routine contexts and at possible meeting sites like enclosures? Who were the main actors involved, and how far and for how long did individuals and groups move? Were these networks constant and long-lasting, or rather dependent on individual connections, and therefore potentially shorter-lived, more mutable and episodic, with distinct bursts and troughs?

Mobility

Tackling transmission networks leads us back to the thorny problem of understanding mobility patterns and — connected to these — settlement patterns and economic

choices. This is perhaps the least well understood aspect of this horizon. Several of our contributors stress that settlements in general have become more ephemeral at this time, with little evidence especially on mineral soils. Pit huts like those documented at Burgerroth and discussed by Link are the exception. Yet overall, heightened mobility seems to be largely inferred from the absence of larger domestic structures and the thin scatter of features such as refuse pits, as is for instance the case in Scharl and Koch's Rhineland study. For the Globular Amphora culture, Johannes Müller also documents an increase in mobility and an economic and symbolic role for pastoralism. In many other regions, there is little detailed evidence available to reconstruct specific economic adaptations.

Using the Cham culture as an example, a recent synthesis of the animal bone and crop spectra (Dunne et al. 2023) shows a high degree of diversity. This may be because new kinds of landscape zones, such as the lower mountain ranges, are now also being exploited (e.g. Pelisiak 2016; Schmotz 2019, 70-71; Valde Nowak 2002; Valde Nowak and Kienlin 2002), but this begs the question of what this variability represents and how it was organised. One relevant model has been built up using the Alpine foreland sites with their wetland preservation. Here, settlements are frequently abandoned after less than a human generation, and individual houses can have even shorter biographies than that. Generally speaking, it appears that households and groups of households specialised on the acquisition of certain kinds of resources, often from intensively managed and maintained fields and forests. Nevertheless, there was enough flexibility in the system to alter preferences in response to environmental changes (e.g. Billamboz et al. 2010; Ebersbach 2010; Heitz et al. 2021; Hofmann et al. 2016). In his contribution, Niels Bleicher draws out a slow trend towards greater settlement permanence over time, but also stresses the importance of continued mobility. He documents that the changes in settlement layout between the Horgen and Corded Ware cultures are not sudden and clearly marked, but rather the result of a long drawn-out transitional phase in which different kinds of layouts existed side by side, and ideas surrounding them likely spread through increased connectivity.

Whether this pattern is also applicable to mineral soils is so far an open question, partly also because village plans comparable to those from the Alpine foreland are virtually non-existent in areas further to the north, and are certainly not dated with equivalent precision. However, there are also other indicators that may caution against a too simple application of the Alpine system to all other landscape zones. Certainly, the Alpine foreland shows neither the investment in new ritual expressions evidenced in, for example, the Globular Amphora culture (see contribution Müller), nor the enclosed sites common for instance in the Cham and Řivnáč cultures, and even in Franconia, as Nadler's contribution summarises for this volume. The role of these sites in the wider settlement system remains fundamentally uncharacterised — are these permanent central places in a settlement hierarchy otherwise consisting of small, mobile groups, or are they temporary aggregation sites?

Framing models for the mineral soils of central Europe will require careful synthesis of the scattered information available, as well as much closer spatial and above all chronological control. In particular, identifying episodic use or gaps in the settlement record of a particular site or region is a tremendous methodological challenge. Given the small assemblages of both animal and human bone from many regions, it will also be imperative to apply the full suite of bioarchaeological methods to what has been excavated and to try out new routes like sedaDNA. However, one of the most urgent tasks remains the structured consideration of different possible patterns of mobility and how these could even be reflected in the archaeological record.

Continuity

If considerable mobility could already have characterised the pre-Corded Ware horizon, then the transition to the Corded Ware becomes ever more fuzzy. This continuity across material culture traditions and practices is the clearest evidence we have against catastrophic and genocidal models of culture change, when a much clearer break would be expected. Documenting these long lines of persistent practices is thus a key concern for many of our contributors. Continuities have for example been documented in the typological development of battle axes, traced by Schultrich, or in the persistent use of Late Neolithic chipped stone artefacts in the Rhenish Corded Ware horizon documented by Scharl and Koch. Most strikingly, such overlaps are also evident in the sphere of burial and other rites, which are often seen as the clearest expression of a dramatic discontinuity at this point. Looking at the wider archaeological and anthropological literature, innovations in ritual practice can often be catalysts for the integration of different groups in migration or frontier situations (see Hofmann et al. 2024, 83-96, 152), and this possibility also deserves to be considered more widely in the European Neolithic.

In our volume, both Ahola (see also Ahola 2020) for Finland and Quentin Bourgeois and co-authors for the Netherlands succeed in documenting evidence to this effect. In particular Bourgeois and colleagues identify considerable overlap between Funnel Beaker and Corded Ware burial and depositional practices, such as burial locations and the items included in graves, or the treatment of axes before deposition. In spite of the distinctiveness of Corded Ware burials, therefore, people following the new rites also adapted local and regional influences. Similarly,

Jan Piet Brozio argues for a slow trend towards emphasising individual identities in burials of the late Funnel Beaker horizon, prefiguring later Corded Ware practices. Clara Drummer also shows that Corded Ware ways of burial existed side by side with previous traditions in the German lower mountain ranges, and suggests a scenario of smaller migrating groups slowly filtering into the area, rather than sudden and complete replacement. Finally, Corded Ware culture use is documented for the Neolithic sacred landscape around Mount Říp in the Czech Republic, discussed by Jan Turek and his co-authors. The area had already seen sequences of monumental construction for several centuries, and although Corded Ware burials and deposits do look different from these earlier activities, the importance of the area itself and of the marked natural hill at its centre is unbroken. Change takes place in a wider framework of continuity, or, as Drummer characterises it, a general mood of mutual accommodation.

Our contributors thus identify two kinds of potential continuity. On the one hand there is the prefiguring of Corded Ware practices in the diverse background of earlier Neolithic societies. This suggests a kind of preadaptation by the local population, who would therefore have been more likely to accept these elements of the Corded Ware lifestyle. Indeed, an increased mobility and re-orientation towards wider-scale networks could even have created the social links and dynamics that made the Corded Ware migration possible in the first place. The second model, on the other hand, rather stresses the continued coexistence of earlier practices alongside new, Corded Ware ones. This presupposes a different kind of cultural interaction, whereby communities with different traditions existed side by side for some time, maintaining their distinctiveness and merging only later. Which of these scenarios is correct, or whether we are looking at a combination of the two, is currently hard to establish, partly — as several of our contributors discuss — because of continued issues with ¹⁴C dating and with disentangling material culture chronologies.

Whichever scenario is correct, however, these kinds of overlap and continuity militate against a complete and catastrophic replacement of Late Neolithic culture by the oft-invoked "steppe peoples". This also opens the question of whether Late Neolithic societies were in some way in decline or facing internal challenges that may have led them to assimilate elements of steppe practices. In this context, both Müller and Brozio accord a crucial role to the Globular Amphora culture, which may have revitalised declining Funnel Beaker-using societies through the introduction of new ritual elements such as cattle burials. The reasons for this perceived Funnel Beaker culture decline, also visible in various demographic indicators, were likely complex and composite, involving both environmental challenges and increasing social tensions. In southern Germany, in contrast, the most marked phase of catastrophic drought occurs between 2745 and 2727 denBC, as documented by Joachim Pechtl and Alexander Land. This falls after the initial establishment of Corded Ware communities in the region and is therefore not a trigger for either immigration or radical changes in Late Neolithic societies. However, Pechtl and Land suggest that the Corded Ware economic system may have been pre-adapted to react more flexibly to these kinds of challenges, so that this ecological crisis could have helped to increase the attraction and reach of this way of life. This is an interesting hypothesis which will need to be tested further.

What is already clear, given either pre-adaptation or continued co-existence or both, the search of a single crisis as the main driver for the arrival of Corded Ware communities across central Europe is not warranted. While in some regions, such as across the TRB network, communities may already have been struggling, in other areas the main challenges post-date the first appearance of Corded Ware material, and other changes and transformations similarly do not coincide with this putative break. Taken together, this volume shows the urgent need to expand large-scale, general models of "the" transition with more regionally and locally specific work in order to draw out the many pathways by which Final Neolithic things and practices became established in central Europe.

Outlook

Taken together, the papers in our volume thus go a long way in shifting the frames of the debate. Evidence for diversity in the pre-Corded Ware horizon, some of which prefigures later changes and continues beyond the divide, the importance of contacts and new forms of mobility, and the potential coexistence of communities of different origin all make it less and less likely that the changes identified as the beginning of the Final Neolithic were as sudden, dramatic and destructive as some models would have us believe. This pattern has also been identified beyond the central European case studies that are our focus here (e.g. Ebersbach et al 2017; Iversen 2020; Nyland et al. 2023; Piličiauskas et al. 2020). Yet, as we have pointed out throughout this introduction, much also remains to be done. We need better theoretical models for different kinds of interactions across frontier zones (e.g. Parker 2006), both the data and the vocabulary to characterise different kinds of mobile societies accurately, new tools for cataloguing and representing the complex distribution patterns we see, and not least a lot more ground work in excavating, analysing and synthesising many different strands of evidence. As is becoming clear, the simplest model on offer is not generally the only likely one, or even the best fit (see e.g. Maier et al. 2023 for aDNA narratives). To get closer to the lived reality of mosaic processes like the Final Neolithic transition, we need to radically widen the frame of the debate and introduce a mosaic of approaches to revitalise our discussions. We hope that this book can serve as a stepping stone and inspiration for beginning this task.

Acknowledgements

First of all, thanks are due to the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (DFG) for supporting both the conference on which this volume is based and the publication (funded by the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (DFG, German Research Foundation) - Projektnummern 457325852; 541157505), supplemented by a grant from Bergen University to make the volume open access. We would also like to thank the members of the organisational team for the conference, Clara Drummer, Philipp Gleich and Renate Ebersbach, for their help in bringing the event to fruition. At the Universität zu Köln, thanks are due to Stefan Suhrbier and particularly Anja Rüschmann for help with preparing the illustrations for publication. At the Friedrich-Alexander Universität Erlangen-Nürnberg, various indispensable student assistants provided graphics and technical support during the conference and helped with copy-editing of the manuscript — our thanks here are due to Martin Gruber, Cornelia Lechner, Gunther Möller, Naemi Nittel, Franziska Wanka and André Werner, but in particular Aurora Botsch, Lena Bandasch and Katja Hagemann. At Sidestone Anna Artyushenko, Corné van Woerdekom, Eric van den Bandt and Karsten Wentink did wonders with what we sent them - thank you!

References

- Ahola, M. 2020. Creating a sense of belonging: religion and migration in the context of the 3rd millennium BC Corded Ware complex in the eastern and northern Baltic Sea region. *Norwegian Archaeological Review* 53, 114–34.
- Andrades Valtueña, A. [+21 others] and Krause, J. 2017. The Stone Age plague and its persistence in Eurasia. *Current Biology* 27, 3683–91.
- Bentley, R.A. 2013. Mobility and the diversity of Early Neolithic lives: isotopic evidence from skeletons. *Journal of Anthropological Archaeology* 32, 303–12.
- Billamboz, A., Maier, U., Matuschik, I., Müller, A.,
 Out, W., Steppan, K. and Vogt, R. 2010. Die jungund endneolithischen Seeufersiedlungen von Sipplingen "Osthafen" am Bodensee: Besiedlungsund Wirtschaftsdynamik im eng begrenzten Naturraum des Sipplinger Dreiecks. In I. Matuschik and C. Strahm (eds), Vernetzungen. Aspekte siedlungsarchäologischer Forschung. Festschrift für Helmut Schlichtherle zum 60. Geburtstag, 253–86. Freiburg i. Br.: Lavori.

Bleicher, N. and Harb, C. (eds) 2017. Zürich-Parkhaus Opéra. Eine neolithische Feuchtbodenfundstelle. Naturwissenschaftliche Analysen und Synthese. Zürich: Kantonsarchäologie Zürich.

Bleicher, N. and Harb, C. 2018. Settlement and social organisation in the late fourth millennium BC in central Europe: the waterlogged site of Zurich-Parkhaus Opéra. Antiquity 92, 1210–30.

Burger, I. 1988. Die Siedlung der Chamer Gruppe von Dobl, Gemeinde Prutting, Landkreis Rosenheim und ihre Stellung im Endneolithikum Mitteleuropas. Fürth: Grafische Werkstätte.

Burmeister, S. 2022. Indogermanische Männerbünde – für Frauen kein schöner Land. In Editorial Collective (eds), "What does this have to do with Archaeology?" Essays on the occasion of the 65th birthday of Reinhard Bernbeck, 51–63. Leiden: Sidestone Press.

Burri, E. 2007. Concise (Vaud, Suisse). Les vestiges céramiques d'un village du Néolithique moyen (3645–3636 av. J.-C.): répartitions spatiales et interprétations. In M. Besse (ed.), Sociétés néolithiques. Des faits archéologiques aux fonctionnements socioéconomiques. Actes du 27e colloque interrégional sur le Néolithique (Neuchâtel, 1 et 2 octobre 2005), 153–63. Lausanne: Cahiers d'Archéologie Romande.

Clarke, D. 1968. Analytical archaeology. London: Methuen.

Clarke, D. 1976. The Beaker network: social and economic models. In J.N. Lanting and J.D. van der Waals (eds), *Glockenbecher-Symposion Oberried 1974*, 457–77. Haarlem: Fibula-Van Dishoeck.

Claßen, E., Nolde, N. and Zerl, T. 2018. Licht ins Dunkel der späten Jungsteinzeit. *Archäologie im Rheinland* 2017, 58–60.

De Capitani, A. 2002. Gefässkeramik. In A. de Capitani, S. Deschler-Erb, U. Leuzinger, E. Marti-Grädel and J. Schibler (eds), *Die jungsteinzeitliche Seeufersiedlung Arbon-Bleiche 3. Funde*, 135–276. Frauenfeld: Departement für Erziehung und Kultur des Kantons Thurgau.

Demoule, J.-P. 2023. *The Indo-Europeans. Archaeology, language, race, and the search for the origins of the West.* Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Derenne, E., Ard, V. and Besse, M. 2022. Potters' mobility contributed to the emergence of the Bell Beaker phenomenon in third millennium BCE alpine Switzerland: a diachronic technology study of domestic and funerary traditions. *Open Archaeology* 8 (1), 925–55.

Drummer, C. 2022. Vom Kollektiv zum Individuum: Transformationsprozesse am Übergang vom 4. zum 3. Jahrtausend v. Chr. in der deutschen Mittelgebirgszone. Scales of transformation in prehistoric and archaic societies 13. Leiden: Sidestone Press. Dunne, J., Szilágyi, M., Casanova, E., Griffiths, S., Knowles, T., Evershed, R. and Hofmann, D. 2023. The milky way: mobility and economy at the turn of the third millennium in southern central Europe. *Proceedings of the Prehistoric Society* 89, 23–50.

Ebersbach, R. 2010. Vom Entstehen und Vergehen – Überlegungen zur Dynamik von Feuchtbodenhäusern und -siedlungen. In I. Matuschik and C. Strahm (eds), *Vernetzungen: Aspekte siedlungsarchäologischer Forschung. Festschrift für Helmut Schlichtherle zum 60. Geburtstag*, 41–50. Freiburg i.Br.: Lavori.

Ebersbach, R., Doppler, T., Hofmann, D. and Whittle, A. 2017. No time out. Scaling material diversity and change in the Alpine foreland Neolithic. *Journal of Anthropological Archaeology* 45, 1–14.

Eggert, M. 1978. Zum Kulturkonzept in der prähistorischen Archäologie. *Bonner Jahrbücher* 178, 1–20.

Engelhardt, B. 2011, Ein spätneolithisches Steindeckengrab von Mintraching, Lkr. Regensburg. *Beiträge zur Archäologie in der Oberpfalz und in Regensburg* 9, 7–16.

Fibiger, L. 2017. Conflict and violence in the Neolithic of central-northern Europe. In M. Fernández-Götz and N. Roymans (eds), *Conflict archaeology. Materialities* of collective violence from prehistory to Late Antiquity, 13–21. London: Routledge.

Fuchs, K., Rinne, C., Drummer, C., Immel, A., Krause-Kyora, B. and Nebel, A. 2019. Infectious diseases and Neolithic transformations: evaluating biological and archaeological proxies in the German loess zone between 5500 and 2500 BCE. *The Holocene* 29, 1545–57.

Furholt, M. 2018. Massive migrations? The impact of recent aDNA studies on our view of third millennium Europe. *European Journal of Archaeology* 21, 159–91.

Furholt, M. 2019. Re-integrating archaeology: a contribution to aDNA studies and the migration discourse on the 3rd millennium BC in Europe. *Proceedings of the Prehistoric Society* 85, 115–29.

Furholt, M. 2020. Social worlds and communities of practice: a polythetic culture model for 3rd millennium BC Europe in the light of current migration debates. *Préhistoires Méditerranéennes* 8: DOI: 10.4000/pm.2383

Furholt, M. 2021. Mobility and social change: understanding the European Neolithic period after the archaeogenetic revolution. *Journal of Archaeological Research* 29, 481–53.

Furtwängler, A. [+18 others] and Krause, J. 2020. Ancient genomes reveal social and genetic structure of Late Neolithic Switzerland. *Nature Communications* 11, 1915. DOI: 10.1038/s41467-020-15560-x Gerlach, R. and Eckmeier, E. 2012. Das Problem der "Schwarzerden" im Rheinland im archäologischen Kontext – Ein Resümee. In A. Stobbe and U. Tegtmeier (eds), Verzweigungen. Eine Würdigung für A.J. Kalis und J. Meurers-Balke, 105–24. Bonn: Rudolf Habelt.

Gohlisch, T.H. 2005. Die Grabungsbefunde und die Keramik der endneolithischen Siedlung von Dietfurt a.d. Altmühl, Lkr. Neumarkt i.d. OPf. Archäologie am Main-Donau-Kanal 17. Rahden: Marie Leidorf.

Gross, E. 2017. Cultural and chronological attribution of pottery on the move. From rigid time-space schemata towards flexible microarchaeological "messworks".
In C. Heitz and R. Stapfer (eds), *Mobility and pottery* production. Archaeological and anthropological perspectives, 169–86. Leiden: Sidestone Press.

Haak, W., Brandt, G., de Jong, H.N., Meyer, C., Ganslmeier, R., Heyd, V., Hawkesworth, C., Pike, A., Meller, H. and Alt, K.W. 2008. Ancient DNA, strontium isotopes, and osteological analyses shed light on social and kinship organization of the Later Stone Age. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 105, 18226–31.

Haak, W. [+37 others] and Reich, D. 2015. Massive migration from the steppe was a source for Indo-European languages in Europe. *Nature* 522, 207–11.

Heggarty, P. [+31 others] and Gray, R.D. 2023. Language trees with sampled ancestors support a hybrid model for the origin of Indo-European languages. *Science* 381, eabg0818. DOI: 10.1126/science.abg0818

Heitz, C., Hinz, M., Laab, J. and Hafner, A. 2021. Mobility as resilience capacity in northern Alpine Neolithic settlement communities. *Archaeological Review from Cambridge* 36, 75–105.

Hinz, M. 2007. Territoriale und soziale Strukturen. Modelle zur Kollektivgrabsitte der Wartberg-Gruppe. Journal of Neolithic Archaeology 9, 1–18. DOI: 10.12766/ jna.2007.27

Hofmann, D. 2013. Living by the lake. Domestic architecture in the Alpine foreland. In D. Hofmann and J. Smyth (eds), *Tracking the Neolithic house in Europe* — *sedentism, architecture and practice,* 197–227. New York: Springer.

Hofmann, D., Ebersbach, R., Doppler, T. and Whittle, A. 2016. The life and times of the house: multi-scalar perspectives on settlement from the Neolithic of the north Alpine foreland. *European Journal of Archaeology* 19, 596–630.

Hofmann, D., Peeters, H. and Meyer, A.-K. 2022.
Crosstown traffic: contemplating mobility, interaction and migration among foragers and early farmers.
In F. Klimscha, M. Heumüller, D.C. Raemaekers, H.
Peeters and T. Terberger (eds), *Stone Age borderland experience: Neolithic and Late Mesolithic parallel societies in the north European plain*, 263–93. Rahden: Marie Leidorf.

Hofmann, D., Frieman, C., Furholt, M., Burmeister, S. and Johannsen, N.N. 2024. *Negotiating migrations. The archaeology and politics of mobility*. London: Bloomsbury.

Hofmann, D., Burmeister, S., Furholt, M. and Johannsen, N.N. submitted. Ethnicity in archaeology: revitalising a concept with the study of migration. Submitted to *Archaeological Dialogues*.

Iversen, R. 2015. The transformation of Neolithic societies. An eastern Danish perspective on the 3rd millennium BC. Aarhus: Jutland Archaeological Society.

Iversen, R. 2020. 65 years later... A re-evaluation of the Store Valby phase (MN V) of the Late Funnel Beaker North Group. *Journal of Neolithic Archaeology* 22, 119–36. DOI: 10.12766/jna.2020.4

Kaiser, E. and Winger, K. 2015. Pit graves in Bulgaria and the Yamnaya culture. *Praehistorische Zeitschrift* 90, 114–40.

Kieselbach, P. 2012. Gerätebestand des Jung- bis Endneolithikums. In H. Floss (ed.), *Steinartefakte vom Altpaläolithikum bis in die Neuzeit*, 901–22. Tübingen: Kern.

Kristiansen, K. and Earle, T. 2022. Modelling modes of production: European 3rd and 2nd millennium BC economies. In M. Frangipane, M. Poettinger and B. Schefold (eds), Ancient economies in comparative perspective. Material life, institutions and economic thought, 131–63. New York: Springer.

Kristiansen, K. [+10 others] and Willerslev, E. 2017. Retheorising mobility and the formation of culture and language among the Corded Ware culture in Europe. *Antiquity* 91, 334–47.

Maier, R., Flegontov, P., Flegontova, O., Isildak, U., Changmai, P. and Reich, D. 2023. On the limits of fitting complex models of population history to f-statistics. *eLife* 12, e85492. DOI:10.7554/eLife.85492

Meures-Balke, J., Kalis, A.J., Gerlach, R. and Jürgens, A. 1999. Landschafts- und Siedlungsgeschichte des Rheinlandes. In K.-H. Knoerzer (ed.), *PflanzenSpuren. Archäobotanik im Rheinland: Agrarlandschaft und Nutzpflanzen im Wandel der Zeit*, 11–66. Köln: Rheinland-Verlag.

Modderman, P. 1977. Die neolithische Besiedlung bei Hienheim (Hienheim I), Ldkr. Kelheim. Materialhefte zur Bayerischen Vorgeschichte Reihe A – Fundinventare und Ausgrabungsbefunde 33. Kallmünz/OPf.: Michael Lassleben.

Modderman, P. 1988. The Linear Pottery culture: diversity in uniformity. *Berichten van de Rijksdienst voor het Oudheitkundig Bodemonderzoete* 38, 63–139.

Müller, J. 2023. Separation, hybridisation, and networks. Globular Amphora sedentary pastoralists ca. 3200–2700 BCE. Leiden: Sidestone Press. Münster, A. [+16 others] and Alt, K.W. 2018. 4000 years of human dietary evolution in central Germany, from the first farmers to the first elites. *PLoS One 13*, e0194862. DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0194862

Nielsen, S.K. and Johannsen, N.N. 2023. Mortuary palisades, single graves and cultural admixture: the establishment of Corded Ware culture on the Jutland Peninsula. *Praehistorische Zeitschrift* 23, 529–90. DOI: 10.1515/pz-2023-2022

Nyland, A., Hofmann, D. and Iversen, R. 2023. The blurry third millennium: Neolithisation in a Norwegian context. *Open Archaeology* 9, 20220287. DOI:10.1515/ opar-2022-0287

Ottaway, B. (ed.) 1999. A changing place. The Galgenberg in Lower Bavaria from the fifth to the first millennium BC. Oxford: Archaeopress.

Pääkkönen, M., Holmqvist, E., Bläuer, A., Evershed, R.P. and Asplund, H. 2020. Diverse economic patterns in the north Baltic Sea region in the Late Neolithic and Early Metal Periods. *European Journal of Archaeology* 23, 4–21.

Papac, L. [+41 others] and Haak, W. 2021. Dynamic changes in genomic and social structures in third millennium BCE central Europe. *Science Advances* 7, p.eabi6941. DOI: 10.1126/sciadv.abi6941

Parker, B.J. 2006. Toward an understanding of borderland processes. *American Antiquity* 71, 77–100.

Pelisiak, A. 2016. The beginnings of mobile husbandry in the mountain periphery of southeastern Poland. In M. Furholt, R. Großmann and M. Szmyt (eds), *Transitional landscapes? The 3rd millennium BC in Europe*, 210–27. Bonn: Rudolf Habelt.

Piličiauskas, G., Kluczynska, G., Kisielienė, D., Skipitytė, R., Peseckas, K., Matuzevičiūtė, S., Lukešová, H., Lucquin, A., Craig, O.E. and Robson, H.K. 2020. Fishers of the Corded Ware culture in the eastern Baltic. Acta Archaeologica 91, 95–120.

Rascovan, N., Sjögren, K.-G., Kristiansen, K., Nielsen, R.,
 Willerslev, E., Desnues, C. and Rasmussen, S. 2019.
 Emergence and spread of basal lineages of Yersinia
 pestis during the Neolithic decline. *Cell* 176, 295–305.

Rinne, C., Drummer, C., Hoffmann, R. and Schwarck, N. 2021. Wartberg-Siedlungen und ihre Hausbefunde im Mittelgebirgsraum. *Offa* 78, 155–92.

Robb, J. 1993. A social prehistory of European languages. Antiquity 67, 747–60.

Scharl, S. 2019. Innovationstransfer in prähistorischen Gesellschaften – Eine vergleichende Studie zu ausgewählten Fallbeispielen des 6. bis 4. Jahrtausends vor Christus in Mittel- und Südosteuropa unter besonderer Berücksichtigung temporärer Grenzräume. Kölner Studien zur Prähistorischen Archäologie 10. Rahden: Marie Leidorf. Scharl, S. 2023. Human mobility and the spread of innovations — case studies from Neolithic central and southeast Europe. *Open Archaeology* 9, 20220325. DOI: 10.1515/opar-2022-0325

Schier, W. 2020. The Topoi research group textile revolution: archaeological background and multiproxy approach. In W. Schier and S. Pollock (eds), *The competition of fibres. Early textile production in western Asia, south-east and central Europe (10,000– 500 BCE)*, 59–71. Oxford: Oxbow Books.

Schierholt, K. 2012. Studien zur hessisch-westfälischen Megalithik. Forschungsstand und -perspektiven im europäischen Kontext. Münstersche Beiträge zur urund frühgeschichtlichen Archäologie 6. Rahden: Marie Leidorf.

Schmotz, K. 2019. Der Bayerische Wald und seine Nutzung in der Vorgeschichte. Archäologische Quellen und naturwissenschaftliche Erkenntnisse als Interpretationsbasis. In O. Chvojka, M. Chytráček, H. Gruber, L. Husty, J. Michálek, R. Sandner and K. Schmotz (eds), *Fines Transire 28*, 35–94. Rahden: Marie Leidorf.

Schroeder, H. [+21 others] and Allentoft, M. 2019. Unraveling ancestry, kinship, and violence in a Late Neolithic mass grave. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 116, 10705–10.

Schultrich, S. 2022. Kriegerideal und Netzwerke: Die Doppeläxte West- und Mitteleuropas im Kontext der jung- bis endneolithischen Kulturentwicklung. PhD dissertation, Christian-Albrechts-University Kiel. Available at: https://macau.uni-kiel.de/receive/ macau_mods_00002793

Shennan, S. 1977. The appearance of the Bell Beaker assemblage in central Europe. In R. Mercer (ed.), *Beakers in Britain and Europe*, 51–70. Oxford: British Archaeological Reports.

Stapfer, R. 2017. Special pottery in "Cortaillod" settlements of Neolithic western Switzerland (3900–3500 BC). In C. Heitz and R. Stapfer (eds), *Mobility and pottery production. Archaeological and anthropological perspectives*, 141–67. Leiden: Sidestone Press.

Strahm, C. 2004. Das Glockenbecher-Phänomen aus der Sicht der Komplementär-Keramik. In J. Czebreszuk (ed.), Similar but different. Bell Beakers in Europe, 101–26. Leiden: Sidestone Press.

Strahm, C. 2010. Endneolithische Siedlungsmuster. In I. Matuschik, C. Strahm, B. Eberschweiler, G. Fingerlin, A. Hafner, M. Kinsky, M. Mainberger and G. Schöbel (eds), Vernetzungen. Aspekte siedlungsarchäologischer Forschung: Festschrift für Helmut Schlichtherle zum 60. Geburtstag, 317–30. Freiburg i.Br.: Janus.

Tolksdorf, J.F., Woidich, M., Kropf, E. and Herbig, C. 2020. Burials from the time of the Altheim culture at the site

22

Nördlingen-Nürnberger Straße 63, Nördlinger Ries, Bavaria. *Journal of Neolithic Archaeology* 22, 109–18. DOI: 10.12766/jna.2020.3

- Tostevin, G.B. 2007. Social intimacy, artefact visibility, and acculturation models of Neanderthal–modern human interaction. In P. Mellars, K. Boyle, O. Bar-Yosef and C. Stringer (eds), *Rethinking the human revolution: new behavioural and biological perspectives on the origins and dispersal of modern humans*, 341–57. Cambridge: McDonald Institute for Archaeological Research.
- Tostevin, G.B. 2019. The sharing of lithic technological knowledge. In N. Lavi and D.E. Friesem (eds), *Towards a broader view of hunter-gatherer sharing*, 195–208. Cambridge: McDonald Institute for Archaeological Research.
- Turek, J. 2023. The social meaning of multiple burials in the Corded Ware culture. *Přehled výzkumů* 64, 77–83.
- Valde-Nowak, P. 2002. Siedlungsarchäologische Untersuchungen zur neolithischen Nutzung der mitteleuropäischen Gebirgslandschaften. Rahden: Marie Leidorf.
- Valde-Nowak, P. and Kienlin, T. 2002. Neolithische Transhumanz in den Mittelgebirgen: Ein Survey im westlichen Schwarzwald. *Praehistorische Zeitschrift* 77, 29–75.
- Vander Linden, M. 2016. Population history in thirdmillennium-BC Europe: assessing the contribution of genetics. *World Archaeology* 48, 714–28.

- Wahle, E. 1941. Zur ethnischen Deutung frühgeschichtlicher Kulturprovinzen. Grenzen der frühgeschichtlichen Erkenntnis. 1. Sitzungsberichte der Heidelberger Akademie der Wissenschaften, philosophisch-historische Klasse 1940/1942, 2. Abhandlung. Heidelberg: Winter.
- Wentink, K. 2020. Stereotype. The role of grave sets in Corded Ware and Bell Beaker funerary practices. Leiden: Sidestone Press.
- Wilkin, S. [+18 others] and Boivin, N. 2021. Dairying enabled Early Bronze Age Yamnaya steppe expansions. *Nature* 598, 629–33.
- Wotzka, H.-P. 2000. "Kultur" in der deutschsprachigen Urgeschichtsforschung. In S. Fröhlich (ed.), *Kultur – ein interdisziplinäres Kolloquium zur Begrifflichkeit*, 55–80. Halle: Landesamt für Archäologie.
- Zápotocký, M. and Zápotocká, M. 2008. Kutná Hora-Denemark. Hradiště řivnáčské kultury (ca 3000–2800 př. Kr.). Prague: Institute of Archaeology, Academy of Sciences.
- Zuber, J. 2009. Neue Befunde zum Endneolithikum aus Regensburg-Burgweinting. *Denkmalpflege in Regensburg* 11, 6–20.

The times they are a-changin'

The Final Copper Age between the eastern Carpathians and the Don river

Elke Kaiser

Abstract

The population-genetic studies published since 2015 provide evidence for an emigration from the eastern European steppe zone during the early third millennium BC to various western regions. These results, and some of the interpretations associated with them, caused controversial discussions in the archaeological community. However, in order to understand the processes and changes in the early third millennium BC, the directly preceding period in south-eastern and eastern Europe needs to be better understood. This paper gives an overview of the current state of research for the cultural chronological situation between 3500 and 3000 BC in eastern Europe. During this time, the Cucuteni-Trypillian cultural complex dissolved and, with its dissolution, the cultural border between forest and grass steppe opened. In the entire northern Black Sea region, plenty of interactions can be observed between numerous cultural groups. Alongside settlements, graves are frequently discovered in the forest-steppe zone. After 3000 calBC, these graves are the predominant archaeological source. In general, we conclude that the varied mosaic of material culture of the fourth millennium BC has not yet been studied sufficiently.

Keywords: Late Aeneolithic, Early Bronze Age, northern Pontic region, transformation processes

Introduction

In 2015, two studies were published that analysed the genome-wide sequences of prehistoric individuals from large parts of Eurasia (Allentoft *et al.* 2015; Haak *et al.* 2015). One of their most important results was that the aDNA of those buried in kurgans of the Yamnaya cultural complex showed a specific genetic composition that was initially termed "Yamnaya ancestry" because it was verified here for the first time. Later, it was also called "steppe ancestry". Comparable genetic components have also been found in the aDNA sequences of individuals from the end of the Neolithic (Corded Ware culture) and from the Early Bronze Age in central Europe. For some of the individuals studied, biostatistical admixture analyses showed a large proportion of this steppe ancestry in addition to the "Early Neolithic" und "Western Hunter-Gatherer" ancestries already known from older periods.

In D. Hofmann, D. Mischka and S. Scharl (eds) 2025. *The eve of destruction? Local groups and large-scale networks during the late fourth and early third millennium BC in central Europe*, 25–52. Leiden: Sidestone Press.

In the meantime, the number of genome-wide sequenced individuals from prehistoric Eurasia has increased considerably (e.g. Mathieson et al. 2018; Papac et al. 2021 and many more). Thanks to this, many more facets could be added to the palaeogenetic reconstructions of population dynamics over large areas in various periods of time. In 2015, W. Haak and colleagues for the first time attempted to explain the changes in the genetic composition of central European people buried in graves of the Corded Ware culture and the Single Grave culture with massive immigration from the steppe. This and other interpretations revived simplistic ideas of immigration, often in the sense of invasions, which had long been banished from archaeological discourse for good reasons. Accordingly, they have raised scepticism (Furholt 2019; Heyd 2016; Kaiser 2021) but also approval (Kristiansen 2017). Genetic studies of population dynamics continue, and more highly interesting insights may be expected due to methodological advances both in the laboratory as well as in the evaluation of the results.

In addition, controversial discussions between archaeologists and palaeogeneticists show how important it is to understand cultural-historical processes in order to interpret aDNA data correctly. Archaeological research also still has much to achieve, even regarding the basics. In comparison with other widespread phenomena, such as the Corded Ware culture and the Bell Beaker culture, the Yamnaya cultural complex is only known and described inadequately outside of eastern Europe because the literature in Ukrainian and Russian is inaccessible to many researchers. In Western literature, the Yamnaya cultural complex — or the Yamnaya cultural-historical community is described rather schematically as a homogeneous block of kurgan burials with standardised burial customs, the so-called Yamnaya package. More differentiated research in eastern Europe, on the other hand, has clearly defined numerous regional variants. Even more simplistic is the idea to group the archaeological cultural group preceding the Yamnaya cultural complex as "pre-Yamnaya". This inadequately summarises a complex and, in many aspects, still insufficiently studied cultural area between the eastern Carpathians and the Caucasus or the Volga–Ural interfluve.

The international conference "The eve of destruction", on which this volume builds, looked into the archaeologically verifiable interactions, innovations, and networks at different scales in central Europe that either preceded the occurrence of the Corded Ware culture or were concurrent with it. The transition to this cultural complex was accompanied by numerous changes in various spheres, such as settlement, burial custom and economic system. To be able to comprehend these transformations, particularly in their intensity, a longer period of time needed to be examined. In my paper, I am going to do this for the northern Black Sea region and the adjacent areas. We can only understand the changes that accompanied the spread of the Yamnaya cultural complex if we also consider the preceding period. In the following, I will therefore first present the cultural-historical entities of the forest and grass steppe zone between the eastern Carpathians and the Don river during the last centuries of the fourth and early third millennia BC. Then I will take stock of the current state of research. In order not to go beyond the limits of this paper, I will draw an artificial line at the Don river. Including the north Caucasus with the Maykop-Novosvobodnaya cultural complex and the region between the Don and Ural rivers would be going too far, although they belong to the overall picture.

Fluid borders

Before 3500 BC, the northern Black Sea region and the adjacent areas were divided into two cultural spheres. The settlements of the Cucuteni-Trypillia cultural complex were situated in the forest steppe in the north, whereas the sites of the so-called Steppe Aeneolithic lay in the grass steppe. For more than one millennium, these two vegetation zones were obviously being shaped by different cultural-historical processes. In this context, the differences in natural landscapes between grass and forest steppe must not be considered to be a visual border but rather a gradual transition with an increasing number of trees, depending on the soil and the availability of water (Walter and Breckle 1999). In terms of cultural history, though, it seems there was a border for a long time that slowly dissolved only in the second half of the fourth millennium BC. This also provided the basis for the various perspectives on the changes of that time. Those who work on the eastern Trypillian sites located in today's Republic of Moldova and Ukraine describe the Trypillia phase C2 as a time when the previously comparatively homogeneous material culture dissolved (see, amongst others, Dergachev 2022; Kruts 2012). In the eastern Carpathians to the west, the Cucuteni phase B2 ended around 3500 BC according to specialists (Drummer et al. 2016, fig. 7). It was followed by independent archaeological cultures, such as the Horodistea-Erbiceni. Researchers who focus on the grass steppe, on the other hand, emphasise that the interactions between protagonists in both steppe zones and between the west and the east of these zones increased (Rassamakin 1999; 2003).

This contribution aims to overcome these traditional research perspectives and to provide a picture of the archaeological entities of the whole area that is as complete as possible (Figure 1). Increasing regionalisations are described for the entire Cucuteni-Trypillia cultural complex. Including phase C1, the complex is divided into a western and an eastern part (see Shatilo 2021, 32–44 and references therein). Beginning with Trypillia stage C2,



Figure 1. Archaeological cultures in the forest and grass steppe north of the Black Sea and in adjacent areas. Red dots: burials of the Zhivotilovka-Volchansk culture. Areas of the Trypillia C2 cultures are shown in different colours. The spatial distribution of the different burial traditions according to Rassamakin (1999; 2004) cannot be shown as distinct areas (map from Manzura 2016, fig. 1).

however, the regional groups become distinctly smaller in their spatial extent (Figure 1). During the early phase of C2, settlements remain the almost only source and thus constitute a continuity with the previous phases. Only burials of the late phase have been found. In the following, I will outline the main groups of the late phase of C2. We need to bear in mind that the research community is in disagreement regarding many questions, such as the correct taxonomic classification as a cultural group, cultural type, phenomenon etc., but also whether these groups need to be seen as continuous Trypillian traditions.

Archaeological groups in the foreststeppe zone

Sofievka group

The sites of the Sofievka group are situated along the Dnipro river (Figure 1). V.I. Kruts (1971) first described this group and defined it as an independent archaeological phenomenon within stage C2. Later, he also referred to it as the Middle Dnieper local group (Kruts 2012, 243). M.I. Videiko (1995), on the other hand, assumes only individual imports from the Trypillian culture and treats the Sofievka group as independent from Trypillia. A total of 25 settlements are known to date (Dergachev 2022, 75; Shatilo 2021, tab. 8), but none of them has been examined entirely. Only semi-sunken dwellings have survived. Apart from the settlements, there are four cemeteries with relatively small areas of $40-100 \text{ m}^2$, each with a large number of cremation burials. For instance, 145 graves were uncovered at the eponymous site and as many as 195 at Krasnyi Khutor (Dergachev 2022, 76). The dead were cremated and their remains buried in either urns or as unseparated cremations in small pits. The custom of cremation burials is singular among the regional groups of the Trypillia C2 phase.

The pottery recovered from the settlements is mostly made with more care than that from the graves (Dergachev 2022, 78). An important characteristic is that the pottery found is almost exclusively unpainted (Figure 2a). Flat-based bowls and pots with a tapered neck and small handles or appendages on opposing sides are typical of the Sofievka group. Decoration is rare and mostly consists of impressions or incisions. Occasionally, vessels have been found with a zoomorphic lid that brings to mind types from the Usatovo group, as well as specimens with painted patterns, possibly representing imports from other groups of Trypillia C2 (Dergachev 2022, fig. 34).





Figure 2. a) Pottery types of the Sofievka culture (Dergačev 1991, pl. 11); b) calibrated radiocarbon dates for sites of the Sofievka culture (for details, see Appendix 1).



Calibrated date (calBC)

Figure 3. a) Pottery types of the Gorodsk culture

b) calibrated radiocarbon dates for sites of the

c) calibrated radiocarbon dates for sites of the

Golyshev culture (for details,

(Dergačev 1991, pl. 9);

Gorodsk culture;

see Appendix 1).

KAISER

29





Eight samples from the burial ground of Sofievka have been dated using radiocarbon analysis (Figure 2b). They were taken from calcined bones and charcoal from graves and pits (Videiko 1999). The ¹⁴C-ages are comparatively young, and five of them match age determinations for the Yamnaya cultural complex, i.e., the first half of the third millennium calBC. After calibration, three of the dates have yielded long time spans. This is not only due to the large standard deviations but also to the flat calibration curve. The older ranges lie between 3350 and 3000 calBC. It remains an open question whether these date ranges may have been caused by a systematic error in the laboratory in Kyiv, where the only analyses for this group were conducted, or by taphonomic processes, or by other influences on the samples. All in all, the dates appear to be 200–300 years too late (see also Diachenko and Harper 2017).

а

Gorodsk group

Of this group, only settlements have survived, including the eponymous settlement of Gorodsk (Figure 1). All ten sites are located in eastern Volhynia (Dergachev 2022, fig. 29). Both semi-sunken dwellings and clay platforms, i.e. groundlevel structures, have survived. According to V.A. Dergachev (2022, 66), the clay platforms are only partially preserved. He sees this as an indication that the initial construction



was less massive. Fine pottery painted in the Trypillian tradition makes up 11–14 % of all pottery finds. Lattice motifs occur relatively often. According to Dergachev (2022, 69), the coarse pottery accounts for 60–70 %, but he does not explain the discrepancy with the fine ware. Various types of tempers were used for the coarse pottery (Figure 3a). Certain types, such as pots with a set-off neck that might bear small cusp-like extensions, are reminiscent of vessels found in the Sofievka group. Dergachev (2022, 69 fig. 31) emphasises the similarity with the vessel tradition of the Gordineşti group, although his illustration does not prove this convincingly.

A total of four radiocarbon dates are available (Videiko 1999). The two dates for samples from the settlement of Sandraki fall between 2900 and 2600 calBC, which makes them far too late (Figure 3b; Appendix 1). The two ¹⁴C-dates for samples from the settlement of Gorodsk lie well before 3000 calBC, but their calibrated time spans do not overlap. The older date points to the thirty-fifth century calBC, the other one to the last third of the fourth millennium calBC.

1026 animal bones from the settlement of Gorodsk have been analysed, of which some 60 % were from domesticated animals, including almost 20 % pigs. Horses make up 12 % (Figure 13b) of the total, but it is still impossible to determine whether horses were already domesticated in this period.

Golyshev group

The group of sites in western Volhynia defined as the Golyshev group mainly comprises settlements (Figure 1), but a kurgan at Vishinivka, close to the city of Lviv, is also included (Antoniewicz 1925). Dergachev (2022, 71) notes that at least some of the settlements known so far need

b



Figure 5. Pottery types of the Ofatinți (Vykhvatintsi) culture (Dergačev 1991, pl. 3).

to be checked more carefully for their assignment to the Golyshev group. He also refers to a few recent studies, which, however, are not available to me. In at least some of them, larger quantities of Funnel Beaker pottery seem to have been found, in addition to late Trypillian pottery. According to Dergachev (2022, 71), the settlements are located on slightly elevated sites and exhibit the same kinds of house remains as the Gorodsk group: semi-sunken dwellings and so-called rudimentary clay platforms.

The few painted vessels are conspicuously heavily fragmented, which means that often an assignment to complete shapes is only possible with reservations (Dergachev 2022, fig. 33). The coarse ware constitutes 97–98 % of the pottery material and displays various types of tempers and shapes. Overall, Dergachev (2022, 73–75) repeatedly stresses the

similarities to the Gordineşti group. Nonetheless, the question arises to what extent a differentiation between the two archaeological groups of Gorodsk and Golyshev is justified in Volhynia.

Two radiocarbon dates from neighbouring settlements are available (Figure 3c). The older one from Vinniki-Zhupan (Poz-94779) falls within a flat area of the calibration curve and thus results in a long time span; the slightly later one, on the other hand, dates a sample from Vinniki-Lisivka to the thirty-first to thirtieth century calBC (Dergachev 2022, 75).

Gordineşti group

This group appears in the literature under various names. Kruts (2012, 233) calls it the Kasperovskaya (Gordineşti) group. In the Romanian literature it is named after the sites of Horodistea and Erbiceni (Alaiba 2004; Dumitrescu 1945). Dergachev (2022, 34) refers to it as the Gordinesti-Tsviklovtsy group. G. Sîrbu (2019) established the independent character of the Gordinesti group, assigned more sites to it belonging to a larger area, and classified it as a "culture." He started with the approximately 60 settlements between the middle course of the Dnistro and the upper reaches of the Prut river, which today corresponds to the national territory of the Republic of Moldova. Altogether, across the study region, around 120 sites are assigned to this group (Dergachev 2022, 34). Its core zone lies on the Prut, and its settlements are on both sides of the river on Romanian and Moldavian territory (Ghenadie Sîrbu, pers. comm.). More sites are known east of the Dnistro up to the southern Buh (Figure 1).

The settlement areas comprise between 0.5 and 5 ha. Ditches are evidenced for a few of them, sometimes accompanied by banks, for instance at the eponymous site of Gordineşti 2. Many of the settlements lie on naturally protected hills (Dergachev 2022, 36; Sîrbu and Król 2021). In virtually all settlements, clay platforms were found that may have provided the bases of ground-level buildings. Regarding this group (or culture), Dergachev (2022, 36) also speaks of reduced platforms as opposed to the massive burned clay deposits in the Trypillian settlements of the previous phases. Pits of various sizes and depths are likewise characteristic of these sites; some of them constitute semi-sunken dwellings.

A total of 16 burial grounds are known. The funerary practices and grave constructions are particularly heterogeneous. In the microregion Yampil, Ukraine, for example, graves were excavated from kurgans. They have been assigned to the Gordineşti group, and radiocarbon dates are available for them. Flat graves are known as well, but so far only from two sites: two graves were excavated at Gordineşti (opposite the settlement) and three at Cunicea. In addition, there are burials in settlement layers (e.g. at Tsviklovtsy, Pocrovca 5) and in settlement pits, the latter referred to as reburials (Dergachev 2022, 39).

Large quantities of pottery were recovered from the settlements. Thirty percent was fine pottery, almost all of which was painted. Hemispherical bowls, pot-bellied amphorae with two opposing handles on the shoulderwall carination, and similar types without a handle suggest traditions from older phases of the Cucuteni-Trypillian cultural complex (Dergachev 2022, 38 fig. 13). The coarse ware is tempered in various ways and of heterogeneous types, and its decoration consists of deep impressions and incisions (Figure 4a).

A fairly large number of radiocarbon dates are available (Figure 4b) for samples on human bones from graves, as well as on animal bones and plant remains from settlements. With few exceptions, the calibrated time spans fall between 3500/3400 and 3100/3000 calBC. The one distinctly later radiocarbon date was based on a sample from layer 2 of Horodiştea (Lazarovici 2010: Hd-14898, see Appendix 1), possibly a later part of the settlement or an intrusion. A total of seven graves of this group from barrow 1 at Prydnistryanske, Ukraine, have been dated (Goslar *et al.* 2015; see Poznan dates in Appendix 1). Secondary burials were placed in the same kurgan during the Yamnaya und the Catacomb cultural complex. Using Bayesian modelling, the periods of use could be identified more clearly for all the cultural entities, which resulted in 3360–3090 calBC for the Gordineşti group (Goslar *et al.* 2015, fig. 7). Thus, of the groups of the later phase of Trypillia C2, we currently have the best absolute dates for the Gordineşti group.

Ofatinți or Vykhvatintsi group

This group was named after the site of Ofatinti in the Republic of Moldova. For a long time, it was known under its former name, Vykhvatintsi. L. Shatilo (2021, 43 tab.9) lists about 30 sites, but her research on the roughly 25 settlements was not very successful. The group was spread along the middle course of the Dnistro river and its tributary Răut (Figure 1). Based on the find material, the upper layer of the multiphase settlement Solonceni II has been assigned to the late phase of Trypillia C2 (Entsiklopediya 2004, 487-89). Remains of clay platforms were discovered neither here nor in the settlement of Tsiklovtsy, district Kamenets-Podolskyi, published by T. Movsha (1964). Mainly pits and the remains of a semi-sunken dwelling with hearths daubed with clay were found. Dergachev (2022, 26) and Shatilo (2021) both refer to clay platforms discovered in settlements of this group. However, so far the settlements have only been examined insufficiently, and thus the ground-level daub houses cannot be described in more detail.

Four flat-grave cemeteries have been documented, including the eponymous one (Dergachev 2022, 26). The dead lay in rectangular or oval burial pits in a crouched position, predominately on their left side (77 %) and with their heads towards the east and north-east. Both arms were usually bent, the hands placed in front of the face. With few exceptions, all graves contain grave goods, predominantly vessels, but also anthropomorphic figurines and objects made of copper alloy, bone or stone. Dergachev (2022, 28-29) divides the vessels into 50-70 % painted fine ware and complementary coarse pottery. The complex patterns on the fine pottery are predominately black or dark brown; various types have survived (Figure 5). Most of the coarse pottery is undecorated; only in the neck area, horizontal patterns were sometimes applied. So far, no radiocarbon dates are available for this group.



34


Figure 6. a) Pottery types of the Usatovo culture (Dergačev 1991, pl. 4); b) calibrated radiocarbon dates for the settlement of Mayaki; c) calibrated radiocarbon dates for burials of the Usatovo culture (dates with a standard deviation of more than ±100 years are excluded; for details, see Appendix 1).

С

Calibrated date (calBC)

For the late phase of Trypillia C2, more groups of types are described, such as Listvin, Sharin, Serezlievka and so on (see, amongst others, Dergachev 2022; Diachenko and Harper 2017; Shatilo 2021, tabs 9–10). Their presentation is omitted here because they are classified differently in research, for example regarding whether they can actually be considered as clearly definable cultural groups. Already when distinguishing the two groups Gorodsk and Golyshev in Volhynia, the taxonomical evaluation is not obvious. Regarding the forest steppe, this paper is therefore limited to the previously described groups, not least for reasons of space.

Archaeological groups in the grass-steppe zone

Usatovo group

The sites of the Usatovo group are located in the grass steppe between the mouth of the Dnistro flowing into the

Black Sea and the Siret river, as well as north of the Danube delta (Figure 1). In total, 120 kurgan and 60 flat graves are assigned to it (Govedarica and Manzura 2011, 54). The group is named after the settlement of Usatovo-Bolshoi Kuyalnik, excavated by M.F. Boltenko during the 1920s, and later by others. A cemetery was also uncovered. From Mayaki, the other settlement assigned to this group, only the remains of a complex ditch system have been preserved (Petrenko et al. 2015, 46-53). The presumed inner area of this settlement was destroyed by the floods of the Dnistro river. In addition, kurgan and flat graves that were contemporaneous with the settlement were excavated in the immediate vicinity. Dergachev (2022, 89) includes Foltesti and Stoicani as settlements. They are located on the west side of the Prut river in modern-day Romania and were fortified. However, the graves are the main archaeological source even if large quantities of animal bones have been recovered from these two settlements and have been analysed (see below). All



Figure 7. Classification scheme of burial rites and grave design in the northern Black Sea region during the Aeneolithic (Rassamakin 2004, fig. 1).



а

Figure 8. a) Burial rites and inventory of the Late Kvityana culture (burial tradition I according to Rassamakin 2004, fig. 115); b) calibrated radiocarbon dates for graves of burial tradition I (for details, see Appendix 1).

four settlements were located on elevated plateaus along rivers, but still differ in their preservation and structures. In Usatovo-Bolshoi Kuyalnik, numerous stone structures were uncovered. In Stoicani, the remains of two pit houses were discovered on a promontory that had fortification ditches at its open end. In Foltesti, semi-sunken dwellings were found during extensive excavations. Concentrations of sherds from the Usatovo culture and burnt daub have been interpreted as the remains of ground-level houses (Dergachev 2022, 91-94).

All graves are characterised by a specific posture of the dead, namely in crouched position, predominantly (up to 77 %) lying on the left side with their head oriented towards the east. Smaller numbers of individuals were buried lying on their back or on their right side. In these cases, their orientation was also changed to north or west, respectively (Dergachev 2022, fig. 43.4-5). The burial pits are oval to rectangular. Dergachev (2022, 98) assumes that families were buried in kurgans or groups of flat graves. Apart from several vessels, the dead were also given anthropomorphic figurines and artefacts of various materials. Around 30 % of the kurgan burials contained metal objects; in the flat graves, the percentage is somewhat lower at 12 % (Dergachev 2022, fig. 49). The types of objects vary: awls, flat axes and dagger blades were found, as well as spiral rings and beads that can be made of copper alloys or silver.

In the settlements, coarse ware makes up 90 % and fine ware 10 % of pottery finds (Kruts 2012, 243). The deceased were apparently given fine vessels much more frequently. Dergachev (2022, 111-33) stresses that simply distinguishing between fine ware in the sense of painted thin-walled pottery on the one hand, and coarse ware consisting of thick-walled undecorated vessels or vessels with impressed or incised patterns on the other, is not very useful (Figure 6a). He therefore classifies the pottery into the following categories: ten groups of various shapes and decorations for painted pottery and 11 groups for vessels made using various technologies, which he distinguishes largely based on the temper.

Numerous radiocarbon dates are available for the monuments of the Usatovo group, but the calibrated time



Figure 9. Graves of burial tradition II (Rassamakin 2004, figs 34.5–7, 36.3, 37.7).

spans significantly differ from each other in some cases (Figure 6b–c). These discrepancies are most likely caused by several effects. At least for the individuals buried at Mayaki, a reservoir effect cannot be ruled out. In one project, individuals from three kurgans were dated and, along with others, analysed for the stable isotopes carbon and nitrogen (Petrenko *et al.* 2015). Grave 2, kurgan 7 (OxA-22959) and grave 2, kurgan 9 (OxA-229960) yielded time spans between 4400 and 4200 calBC (Figure 6c). Grave 9 from kurgan 3 also showed an absolute date in the first half of the fourth millennium calBC (Petrenko

et al. 2015, 63–69). The relatively high isotope values for nitrogen were seen as an indication of food resources from freshwater bodies that may have caused a corresponding reservoir effect.

For Figure 6b–c, only the radiocarbon ages with standard deviations of less than ± 100 years were evaluated. In addition, the dates from the radiocarbon laboratory in Kyiv were not included when temper in pottery sherds had been analysed. However, neither the dates for the settlements (Figure 6b) nor the dates for the graves (Figure 6c) yield consistent time spans. A

38



whole series of dates fall into the third millennium calBC (Ki-6800–6810, see Appendix 1). They stem from graves at the Akkembetskiy kurgan, district of Odessa — the archaeological material has yet to be published (Szmyt and Chernyakov 1999). The absolute dates of additional graves from this kurgan, into which secondary burials were placed at various times, correspond to the stratigraphic sequence according to M. Szmyt and I. Chernyakov (1999), but appear altogether too late.

Groups of the Final Steppe Aeneolithic

The Steppe Aeneolithic north of the Black Sea is described mainly on the basis of graves, but a few settlements are also known, some of which have been excavated. Y.Y. Rassamakin (1999; 2004) compiled and classified around 1000 graves. He distinguished four burial traditions on the basis of the criteria flat grave/ kurgan burial, grave structure, position and orientation of the dead (Figure 7). During the fourth millennium BC, various burial traditions existed simultaneously. For this period, the burial traditions I and III are divided into two phases (early and late), whereas the early phase of burial tradition II dates to the fifth millennium BC, and its late phase to the fourth millennium BC (Rassamakin 1999, fig. 3.5; 2004, fig. 125). The graves of the early phase of burial tradition II correspond to the horizon of the so-called sceptre graves (Govedarica 2004), also named the Novodanilovka-Suvorovo group (Telegin 1986, 311–20; Telegin *et al.* 2001, 57–108); they will not be considered here.

Burial tradition I

Burial tradition I (group I in Figure 7) comprises graves where the dead were placed into simple oval to rectangular burial pits or stone cists in extended supine position (Figures 7, Figure 8a). The graves may have been covered with wooden beams and there are regional differences in grave design. The heads of the dead are mostly oriented towards the north-east, more rarely towards the south-west. In the grass steppe between the Don and the lower Danube river, there are noticeably more kurgan burials than flat graves, with a larger concentration on both sides of the Dnipro river and its rapids (Rassamakin 2004, figs 3-4). The graves and skeletons are often coloured with ochre. Grave goods are rare in the Steppe Aeneolithic. The extended burials contained shaped pieces of ochre, vessels with a pointed base, anthropomorphic figurines of the Serezlievka type, necklaces made of bone and copper and occasional objects made of rock, flint, copper or bone (Rassamakin 1999, fig. 3.21–22; 2004, fig. 115 top).







Figure 11. a) Graves of the Zhivotilovka-Volchansk culture (burial tradition III C according to Rassamakin 2004, figs 47.3, 48.1–2.5–6); b) calibrated radiocarbon dates for graves of burial tradition III C (for details, see Appendix 1).

Rassamakin assigned the extended burials to the Kvityana group (or culture, named after a burial ground at the Dnipro rapids; Figure 1). In previous research, these burials are also referred to as the post-Mariupol type (Kovaleva 1984). B. Govedarica und I. Manzura (2011, 56-58) discussed the extended burials in the north-western Black Sea region, where around 30 such grave complexes have been documented. They are mostly secondary burials in kurgans with primary burials of the Usatovo group or the preceding Cernavoda-1 culture. There are, however, also reverse sequences where a grave with an extended supine burial predates the burials of the presumed older cultural groups. In the west Pontic region, comparable observations have also been made (Alexandrov 2011), so that the relative chronological classification of the extended burials in kurgans during the Late Aeneolithic still remains open: they possibly date not only to the end of the Aeneolithic, but also to the Early Bronze Age.

So far, five radiocarbon dates for graves of burial tradition I from the northern Black Sea region are available (Figure 8b). Except for one very late date pointing to the third millennium BC, all the others fall into the second half of the fourth millennium BC (Rassamakin 2013, fig. 4) and thus correspond to the archaeological expectation. Additional insights will require more radiocarbon dates and a comparative study of this obviously widespread burial custom. Individual small settlements with Kvityana pottery are known and classified based on the comparison with pottery from graves of the same cultural group (Rassamakin 2004, 206–07 fig. 136).

Burial tradition II

Rassamakin (2004, 35–48) divided burial tradition II into four groups. Group 1 comprises 56 flat grave cemeteries with more than 312 burials (Rassamakin 2004, fig. 5). The other three groups describe kurgan burials that are distinguished according to various characteristics. Rassamakin (2004, 46) also noted that no uniform burial ritual can be identified. The only shared characteristic is the supine position with bent legs, the knees either upright, or lying on one side, or in a rhomboid position. Only the flat graves can be described consistently, thanks to additional, repeatedly occurring similarities. As already mentioned, the supine burials with bent legs can be divided into two phases, the older one dating to the fifth millennium BC. Close to the Dnipro, the relative chronology of the flat-grave cemeteries of the later phase can only be determined more specifically when vessel imports from the Cucuteni-Trypillian cultural complex are among the grave goods. However, these imports range from phase B2 to phase C2 (Rassamakin 2004, 207–08) (Figure 1). Dereivka 2, close to the settlement of the same name, is one of the cemeteries with flat graves. The problematic radiocarbon dates from the cemetery and the settlement, which was for a long time presumed to be a centre of horse domestication (Telegin 1986), have been discussed repeatedly (most recently by Rassamakin and Kaiser 2020), but a definitive explanation for the diverging absolute dates has yet to be provided.

Burial tradition III A-B

The burial tradition III A–B (group III, variants A and B in Figure 7) is characterised by the crouched position of the dead, who lay on their side with legs moderately bent at the knees and hips (Figure 10a). They were placed into oval to rectangular burial pits under or in a kurgan. The soil and the skeleton are usually heavily coloured with ochre. To achieve a large colour spectrum, various types of haematite were apparently used. The kurgans always have the same characteristic structure: they are surrounded by a ditch, and the inner kurgan consists of black earth or blocks of sod topped by a layer of clay — presumably the material from the ditch (Rassamakin 1999, fig. 3.27). The kurgan was apparently used for additional ritual acts because places for offerings containing charcoal, ash, animal bones, pottery sherds and so on were often found in the ditch or in the kurgan. During the late phase, the grave goods mainly consisted of vessels, but the graves were rarely equipped at all. In isolated cases, beads or other small pieces of jewellery were found. Some vessels were imported from Trypillia C2 groups (Rassamakin 2004, fig. 124 top).

Kurgans with graves in burial tradition III A-B are spread from the western Azov region to the lower Danube river (Figure 1). They border the distribution area of the Kvityana-group graves (burial tradition I) to the south and can mainly be found near the coast (Rassamakin 2004, fig.9). Below the Kakhovka reservoir on the Dnipro river, there is also the settlement of Mikhailivka, which was excavated in the 1950s (Lagodovs'ka et al. 1955). Three layers were identified. The top layer is consistently associated with the Yamnaya cultural complex. Using three radiocarbon dates, N. Kotova and L. Spitsyna dated the middle layer to the long time span of 3600-3000 calBC (Kotova and Spitsyna 2003). They assumed this layer to be contemporaneous with Trypillia stage C1, based on imported pottery from various sites that they thought were synchronous with the middle layer. Rassamakin (2004, 201), on the other hand, dated the bottom layer of Mikhailivka to the transition from Trypillia C1 to C2. He assigned at least some of the graves of burial tradition III A-B to this layer and called it the Nizhnemikhailivka culture (nizhne = lower).

The chronological classification of the two bottom layers of this settlement is therefore contradictory. However, the settlement is important in order to understand the transregional chronology in the eastern European steppe. Kotova und Spitsyna (2003) synchronised the find material of the middle layer of Mikhailivka with sites such as Repin in the southern Urals and the settlement of Konstantinovka on the lower Don river (see also Anthony 2001). Rassamakin (2004, 185) also recognises such references in the material that supposedly comes from an upper horizon of the middle layer. If the radiocarbon dates for the middle layer are taken as a *terminus ante quem*, the lower layer of Mikhailivka is thus to be dated before 3600/3500 calBC (Figure 10b). A more recent phase of the Nizhnemikhailivka culture could therefore hardly last until the second half of the fourth millennium BC.

Burial tradition III C

Burial tradition III C is also characterised by a crouched position of the dead on their left side, but the legs tend to be bent more at the hips than in variants A–B (Figure 11a). The arms are also bent so that the hands are in front of the upper body or the skull (Rassamakin 2004, 58). I. Manzura (2016) compiled more than 150 graves from more than 90 kurgans (Figure 1). Forty-one percent of the graves are central burials of a kurgan. Their orientation varies: the dead who lie on their left side are mostly oriented towards the south-east and east. Those who were buried on their right side often have their heads oriented towards the south (Manzura 2016, fig. 4). In addition to the rectangular and oval burial pits, there are also catacomb graves (Figure 11a). Often, the pits were covered with wooden beams. Compared with the other burial traditions, these graves are more often equipped with grave goods, i.e. in more than 71 % of the cases. Among the grave goods, pottery predominates, often representing imports or imitations. Vessels have been identified that were either in the tradition of the Maykop-Novosvobodnaya cultural complex or were comparable to those of the Trypillia C2 stage (Rassamakin 1999). However, vessels and objects reflecting other cultural traditions were also used as grave goods. This variety among the artefacts can possibly be explained by the fact that the graves were distributed over the entire northern Black Sea region, mainly in the grass steppe; a main area, however, cannot be determined (Manzura 2016, fig. 1) (Figure 1).

A total of eight radiocarbon dates are available. All but one point to a time between 3350 and 3000 calBC (Figure 11b). In contrast to the other burial traditions in the grass steppe, no settlements are known that were associated with these graves.

The graves are called the Zhivotilovka-Volchansk group. For Rassamakin (1999) and Manzura (2016), there is no question that they reflect different cultural influences that range from the Maykop-Novosvobodnaya cultural complex to the Late Trypillia culture and the Usatovo group. Manzura (2016, 71) refers to the steppe zone of this period as a "melting pot."

An epoch-making upheaval? The beginning of the Yamnaya cultural complex

This variety of archaeological cultural groups ended with the emergence of the Yamnaya cultural complex. For now, this transition cannot be described in more detail—neither chronologically, nor for individual regions — mainly due to the insufficient number of radiocarbon dates for the groups portrayed above. Presumably, there was a gradual change from a mosaic of various expressions of material culture towards a complex that is archaeologically reflected almost exclusively in the form of kurgan burials (Kaiser 2019, 24-31). The most important characteristic is the burial in a kurgan that was constructed above a central pit grave (hence the name: "yama" means "pit" in Russian and Ukrainian). In addition, numerous pit graves were dug into already existing kurgans. The deceased were buried in a crouched position on their back or side (Figure 12). The base of the grave or the buried person was usually coloured with ochre. Other attributes are found in the grave design, for example the cover made of blocks of stone, or more often of wooden beams, a step at the side, as well as plant material at the base. Only every third to fifth grave was equipped with one or two vessels. Both the percentage of burials with grave goods and the vessel types often vary considerably from region to region. The defining characteristic of this cultural complex is therefore not the pottery, but the burial custom and grave structure.

The Yamnaya cultural complex was spread from the Urals to the eastern Tisza region, as well as the eastern Balkans. Numerous regional variants have been distinguished in research, but the differences in grave structure, burial customs and grave goods are gradual in comparison to the many archaeological groups of the late fourth millennium BC. We can safely speak of a homogenisation of the material culture in the funerary sphere. Settlements have been systematically excavated mainly along the middle and lower Dnipro river, albeit in small numbers (Kaiser 2019, 107–21). Settlements are known from areas close to rivers, especially along the Dnipro. The animal bone spectra from six Yamnaya settlements examined along the Dnipro show consistent percentages of cattle (around 60 %) and sheep/ goat (20-30 %). Wild animals represent less than 5 % (see below).

There are more than 300 radiocarbon dates available for the Yamnaya cultural complex (Rassamakin and Nikolova 2008). D. Diaconescu (2015) used Bayesian modelling to evaluate ¹⁴C-dates of kurgan burials from the Balkans to the Azov region, for which stratigraphic observations are also available. He was thus able to date an early phase of the Yamnaya cultural complex to 3100–2900 calBC, a classical phase to 2900–2600 calBC and a late phase to 2700–2400 calBC. Some of the kurgans he analysed contained burials assigned to Final Aeneolithic



Figure 12. Grave with typical characteristics of the Yamnaya culture: Sugokleya kurgan, grave 10, in the city of Kirovohrad, Ukraine (Nikolova and Kaiser 2009, fig. 17).

groups dating to between 3400 and 3050 calBC. Based on radiocarbon dates, D.W. Anthony (2021) likewise argued for the beginning of the early phase of the Yamnaya cultural complex as early as around 3300 calBC. However, he does not provide any statistical analyses of the ¹⁴C-dates but argues with typological similarities in the Nizhnemikhailivka and Repin cultures (or cultural group, see above). A better understanding of this transition from the Final Aeneolithic to the Yamnaya horizon will only be possible when more material will be published, this is especially true for the find complexes of the Repin culture.

Taking stock

The second half of the fourth millennium BC constitutes a time of upheaval. The Cucuteni-Trypillian cultural complex that had spread in the forest steppe between the eastern Carpathians and the Dnipro river eventually dissolved. It was replaced by a larger number of regionally limited cultural entities that have been evaluated very differently in research. The focus often lies on the assessment of the dissimilarities in the material remains. Continuities in the production of pottery, particularly fine ware painted in varied and complex patterns, and in the structure of houses — large rectangular clay platforms developed to so-called rudimentary platforms — were interpreted as the continuation of traditions of the Cucuteni-Trypillian cultural complex. Accordingly, a late Trypillia stage C2 was distinguished in Moldavian-Ukrainian-Russian research (Dergachev 2022). Romanian archaeology saw this differently and dates the end of the last phase, Cucuteni B2, to around the middle of the fourth millennium BC. Sites such as those of the Horodiştea-Erbiceni group were considered to be independent cultural entities. In the Republic of Moldova, however, sites with comparable remains are assigned to the Gordineşti group and are thus placed in the same tradition as the Trypillia culture.

Regardless of how strongly individual researchers emphasise the continuities in material research, the cultural border between forest and grass steppe undisputedly dissolved during that time (Manzura 2016 coins the term "broken border"). In most of the regional groups of the Late Trypillia phase C2,





graves appear again for the first time since the Neolithic. To what extent they can be attributed to influences from the Steppe Aeneolithic cannot yet be answered. Research on the Steppe Aeneolithic is extremely diverse. Various scholars have distinguished numerous cultures (or groups; for an overview, see Rassamakin 1999, tab. 3.1.). Here as well, two fundamentally different concepts can be identified: N.Y. Merpert (1974; 1991) and V.N. Danilenko (1974) interpreted the Aeneolithic graves in the eastern European steppe region as an early phase of the Yamnaya cultural complex (or cultural-historical community), thus placing them in a long-lasting tradition. Others, such as D.Y. Telegin (1985) and O.G. Shaposhnikova (1985), defined Aeneolithic cultures (or groups) and evaluated the occurrence of Yamnaya graves as a new phenomenon. Rassamakin's work, repeatedly referred to here, adheres to this concept.

Whereas the cultural borders in the northern Black Sea region of the late fourth millennium BC are archaeologically hardly discernible, they are still being stressed in research aimed at understanding culturalhistorical processes, as I have already pointed out at the beginning of this paper. The publications on Trypillia C2 sites are usually limited to the forest steppe and include the Usatovo group only because painted pottery was found in its graves and settlements. Although the interactions with the forest steppe and the Late Trypillian culture are stressed in the publications on the Final Steppe Aeneolithic, their focus is on reconstructing the emergence of the Yamnaya cultural complex with its comparatively homogeneous burial rite. This is quite understandable because the Yamnaya graves indeed dominate the archaeological picture for several centuries from 3100/3000 BC onwards. First, though, the transformations preceding this cultural complex have to be described and analysed comprehensively. To do this, the entire area between the eastern Carpathians and the Don river needs to be considered. In another step, the insights have to be related to the Maykop-Novosvobodnaya cultural complex and to the archaeological cultures in the Volga-Ural region.

According to the current state of research, the main changes from 3500 BC onwards are as follows:

- In the forest steppe, the dead were buried in a way that is archaeologically identifiable again for the first time. Heterogeneous funerary practices are discernible, and in some areas kurgans were created or, in the grass steppe, existing ones re-used.
- The number and size of the settlements in the forest steppe obviously decreased. There is, however, still a lack of sufficient data to evaluate settlement patterns, the settlements' inner structure, construction designs and so on, and these still need to be compared for the individual regional groups.
- Subsistence economy can hardly be assessed based on the available data, although the osteological material from some of the settlements has been studied (Zhuravlev 2001; 2008). Figure 13b compiles the data for the settlements that have been assigned to various regional groups of Trypillia stage C2. Whether they belong to the early or the late phase of C2 is not taken into account because not all sites could be assigned to a particular phase. The percentage of horse bones is given, too. It remains an open question, however, whether these were already domesticated animals. In five of nine settlements, the percentage of wild animals is between less than 10 % and at most 20 %; hunting obviously played a minor role. In another four settlements, the bones of wild animals have higher percentages. Are the reasons for these discrepancies in the faunal spectra chronological or rather regional? We need to await additional archaeozoological studies to be published together with the excavation results of the settlements in order to gain reliable indications of possible changes in the subsistence economy of the late fourth millennium BC.
- The same applies to the few settlements of the Steppe Aeneolithic where excavations and archaeozoological studies have been simultaneously conducted (Figure 13a). Very few settlements from the grass steppe are known. Mayaki and Usatovo can be assigned to the Usatovo group for archaeologically reliable reasons despite the inconsistent absolute dates, which have already been pointed out. I have already discussed elsewhere (Kaiser 2010) whether the livestock profile of mainly small ruminants being kept at both Mayaki and Usatovo is specific to this time and for the north-western steppe region, which might thus constitute a significant change in the subsistence economy. Due to the previously described problematic absolute dating of the settlement layers, we cannot assess whether the percentages of animal bones from the lower layer of the settlement at Mikhailivka on the Dnipro river should chronologically be directly related to the two sites of the Usatovo group, or whether they are older by a few centuries. Also for other settlements from the end of the Steppe Aeneolithic, we either lack radiocarbon dates, or they differ enormously, as in the case of the Dereivka site, so that we need to assume that the sites were established and occupied at different times (Rassamakin and Kaiser 2020).
- Agriculture is another important area of the subsistence economy. Charred plant remains have survived in settlements of the Cucuteni-Trypillian cultural complex. They indicate the cultivation of certain types of grain (Pashkevych and Videiko 2006). According to Kyiv archaeobotanist G. Pashkevych, however, there was no systematic sampling by means of wet-sieving or flotation: "Carbonized grains were found in some settlements of this culture, but the record is formed mainly from pottery impressions" (Pashkevych 2003, 290). Accordingly, no quantitative analyses of the few archaeobotanical macro-remains are possible.
- The existing series of radiocarbon dates are not sufficient to reliably classify the regional groups of the Trypillia C2 stage and of the Late Steppe Aeneolithic chronologically. So far, clear discrepancies between the archaeological classification and the absolute dating are visible (Diachenko and Harper 2017). Without reliable absolute dates, it is impossible to compare the changes that took place in the late fourth millennium BC, both with each other and transregionally, and to work out spatial and chronological differences.

Conclusions

Already from 3500 calBC, distinct transformations took place in the area of distribution of the Cucuteni-Trypillia cultural complex. Their causes are still in the dark. The current state of research cannot conclusively determine whether the increasingly observed interactions with population groups in the grass steppe, the so-called Steppe Aeneolithic, are one of the causes, or whether they only developed noticeably as a result. This overview illustrates that the last centuries of the fourth millennium BC have not been studied sufficiently, and this includes all of the described archaeological groups. Each of them requires that additional sites, as far as they still exist, are excavated and analysed systematically with the help of scientific methods; above all, though, they must be reliably dated. Only on such a basis will comparisons within the respective cultural groups be possible so that the conventional definition based on pottery typologies can be supplemented with new arguments and information - and can also be changed if necessary, at least within Trypillia stage C2.

The transregional relations between the described protagonists in the eastern European steppe region constitute the next step. The contacts with the Maykop-Novosvobodnaya cultural complex, which are discernible from imports and imitations but could not be described in detail here, as well as the contacts with other cultures, such as the Globular Amphora culture, the Baden culture, and various others, will then have to be assessed on a reliable material basis, as will the formation of the Yamnaya cultural complex. Nevertheless, we can already say now that the changes in the steppe region were not caused by the formation of the Yamnaya cultural complex but had already begun much earlier.

References

- Alaiba, R. 2004. Cultura Horodiştea/Erbiceni-Gordineşti-Kasperovcy: plastica antropomorfă. *Carpica* 33, 78–93.
- Alexandrov, S. 2011. Prehistoric barrow graves between the Danube and Balkan range: stratigraphy and relative chronology. In E. Borgna and S. Müller Celka (eds), Ancestral landscapes. Burial mounds in the Copper and Bronze Ages (central and eastern Europe — Balkans — Adriatic — Aegean, 4th–2nd millennium B.C.). Travaux de la Maison de l'Orient 58, 307–20. Lyon: Maison de l'Orient et de la Méditerranée.
- Allentoft, M.E. [+65 others] and Willerslev, E. 2015. Population genomics of Bronze Age Eurasia. *Nature* 522, 167–72.
- Anthony, D.W. 2021. Early Yamnaya chronology and origins from an archaeological perspective. In
 V. Heyd, G. Kulcsár and B. Preda-Bălănică (eds), *Yamnaya interactions. Proceedings of the international* workshop held in Helsinki, 25–26 April 2019, 15–45.
 Budapest: Archaeolingua.

Antoniewicz, W. 1925. Eneolityczne groby szkieletowe wo wsi Złota w pow. Sandomirskim. *Wiadomości Archeologiczne* 9, 191–245.

Danilenko, V.N. 1974. *Eneolit Ukrainy. Etnoistoricheskoe issledovanie*. Kiev: Naukova dumka.

- Dergačev, V.A. 1991. Bestattungskomplexe der späten Tripolje-Kultur. Allgemeine und Vergleichende Archäologie Materialien B vol. 45. Mainz: Philip von Zabern.
- Dergachev, V.A. 2022. Pozdnee Tripolye Maykop (с каталогом погребальных комплексов позднего Триполья) = Late Tripolye – Maykop (with the catalogue of burial finds of the Late Tripolye communities). Kishinev: CEP USM.
- Drummer, C., Lazarovici, C.-M. and Mischka, D. 2016. Rekonstruktionsversuch eines kupferzeitlichen Hauses aus Scânteia, Kr. Iaşi, Rumänien. *Eurasia Antiqua* 22, 101–14.
- Dumitrescu, H. 1945. La station préhistorique à Horodistea, sur la Pruth. *Dacia* IX/X, 127–63.
- Lyashko, S.M., Burdo, N.B. and Videiko, M.Y. 2004. Entsiklopediya Trypilskoï kultury vol. 2. Kyïv: TOV Ukrpoligrafmediya.
- Furholt, M. 2019. Re-integrating archaeology: a contribution to aDNA studies and the migration discourse on the 3rd millennium BC in Europe. Proceedings of the Prehistoric Society 85, 115–29.
- Goslar, T., Klochko, V., Kośko, A., Włodarczak, P. and Żurkiewicz, D. 2015. Chronometry of Late Eneolithic and "Early Bronze" cultures in the Middle Dniester area: investigations of the Yampil Barrow Complex. *Baltic-Pontic Studies* 20, 257–92.
- Govedarica, B. 2004. Zepterträger Herrscher der Steppen. Die frühen Ockergräber des älteren Äneolithikums im karpatenbalkanischen Gebiet und im Steppenraum Südost- und Osteuropas. Internationale Interakademische Kommission für die Erforschung der Vorgeschichte des Balkans 6. Mainz: Philip von Zabern.
- Govedarica, B. and Manzura, I. 2011. Grundzüge einer Kulturgeschichte des nordwestlichen Schwarzmeergebietes im 5. und 4. Jahrtausend v. Chr. In E. Sava, B. Govedarica and B. Hänsel (eds), Der Schwarzmeerraum vom Äneolithikum bis in die Früheisenzeit (5000–500 v. Chr.). Band 2: Globale Entwicklung versus Lokalgeschichten. Internationale Fachtagung von Humboltianern für Humboldtianer im Humboldt-Kolleg in Chişinău, Moldavien (4.–8. Oktober 2010). Prähistorische Archäologie in Südosteuropa 27, 41–61. Rahden: Marie Leidorf. Haak, W. [+36 others] and Reich, D. 2015. Massive
- migration from the steppe was a source for Indo-European languages in Europe. *Nature* 522, 207–11. Heyd, V. 2017. Kossinna's smile. *Antiquity* 91, 348–59.

Kaiser, E 2010. Der Übergang zur Rinderzucht im nördlichen Schwarzmeerraum. *Godišnjak Centar za balkanološ ispitivanja* 39, 23–34.

Kaiser, E. 2016. Migrationen von Ost nach West. Die Archäologie von Wanderungsbewegungen im 3. Jahrtausend v. Chr. Mitteilungen der Berliner Gesellschaft für Anthropologie, Ethnologie und Urgeschichte 37, 31–44.

Kaiser, E. 2021. Population dynamics in the third millennium BC — The interpretation of archaeological and palaeogenetic information. In V. Heyd, G. Kulcsár and B. Preda-Bălănică (eds), Yamnaya interactions. Proceedings of the international workshop held in Helsinki, 25–26 April 2019, 83–99. Budapest: Archaeolingua.

Kotova, N.S. and Spitsyna, L.A. 2003. Radiocarbon chronology of the "middle layer" of the Mikhailivka settlement. *Baltic-Pontic Studies* 12, 121–31.

Kovalyuk, N., Videiko, M. and Skripkin, V. 1995. Chronology of Sofievka type cemeteries: archaeological and isotopic one. *Baltic-Pontic Studies* 3, 135–40.

Kruts, V.A. 1971. Pam'yatki sofiïvs'kogo typu. *Arkheologiya URSR* 1, 201–05.

Kruts, V. 2012. The latest stage of development of the Tripolye culture. In F. Menotti and A.G. Korvin-Piotrovsky (eds), *The Tripolye culture giant settlements in Ukraine. Formation, development and decline,* 230–53. Oxford: Oxbow Books.

Lagodovs'ka, O.F., Shaposhnikova, O.G. and Makarevich, M.L. 1955. *Mikhailivs'ke poselennya*. Kyïv: Vydavnistvo AN URSR.

Lazarovici, C.-M. 2010. New data regarding the chronology of the Precucuteni, Cucuteni and Horodiştea-Erbiceni cultures. In J. Šuteková (ed.), Panta rhei: studies on the chronology and cultural development of south-eastern and central Europe in earlier prehistory. Presented to Juraj Pavúk on the occasion of his 75th birthday. Studia Archaeologica et Mediaevalia 11, 71–94. Bratislava: Comenius University.

Manzura, I. 2016. North Pontic steppes at the end of the 4th millennium BC: the epoch of broken borders. In A. Zanoci, E. Kaiser, M. Kashuba, E. Izbitser and M. Băţ (eds), Mensch, Kultur und Gesellschaft von der Kupferzeit bis zur Frühen Eisenzeit im nördlichen Eurasien. Beiträge zu Ehren zum 60. Geburtstag von Eugen Sava. Tyragetia International 1, 53–75. Chişinău: Tipografia Bons Offices.

Mathieson, I. [+115 others] and Reich, D. 2018. The genomic history of southeastern Europe. *Nature* 555, 197.

Merpert, N.Y. 1974. Drevneishie skotovody Volzhsko-Uralskogo mezhdurechya. Moscow: Izdatelstvo Nauka. Merpert, N.Y. 1991. Die neolithisch-äneolithischen Denkmäler der pontisch-kaspischen Steppen und der Formierungsprozess der frühen Grubengrabkultur. In J. Lichardus (ed.), Die Kupferzeit als historische Epoche. Symposium Saarbrücken und Otzenhausen 6.–13.11.1988. Saarbrücker Beiträge der Altertumskunde 55, 35–46. Bonn: Rudolf Habelt.

Nikolova, A.V. and Kaiser, E. 2009. Die absolute Chronologie der Jamnaja-Kultur im nördlichen Schwarzmeergebiet auf der Grundlage erster dendrochronologischer Daten. *Eurasia Antiqua* 15, 205–36.

Papac, L. [+41 others] and Haak, W. 2021. Dynamic changes in genomic and social structures in third millennium BCE central Europe. *Science Advances* 7, p.eabi6941. DOI:10.1126/sciadv.abi6941

Pashkevych, G.O. and Videiko, M.Y. 2006. *Rilnytstvo* plemen trypils'skoï kultury. Kiïv: Tovaristvo Kolo-Ra.

Pashkevych, G. 2003. Palaeoethnobotanical evidence of agriculture in the steppe and forest steppe of east Europe in the Neolithic and Bronze Age. In M.A.
Levine, C. Renfrew and K. Boyle (eds), *Prehistoric steppe adaptation and the horse*, 287–97. Cambridge: McDonald Institute for Archaeological Research.

Petrenko, V., Gerling, C. and Kaiser, E. 2015. Majaki – ein komplexes Denkmal der Usatovo-Kultur. Isotopendaten werfen neue Fragen auf. *Eurasia Antiqua* 21, 45–74.

Popovici, S. and Kaiser, E. 2021. A burial mound in the town of Cimişlia in southern part of Republic Moldova: relative and absolute chronology of the burials. *Archeologija I davnja istorija Ukraïny* 39 (2), 270–79.

Rassamakin, Y.Y. 1999. The Eneolithic of the Black
Sea steppe: dynamics of cultural and economic
development 4500–2300 BC. In M. Levine, Y.
Rassamakin, A. Kislenko and N. Tatarintseva (eds), *Late prehistoric exploitation of the Eurasian steppe*,
59–182. Oxford: McDonald Institute for Archaeological
Research.

Rassamakin, J.J. 2004. Die nordpontische Steppe in der Kupferzeit. Gräber aus der Mitte des 5. Jts. bis Ende des 4. Jts. v. Chr. Archäologie in Eurasien 17. Mainz: Philip von Zabern.

Rassamakin, J.J. 2011. Zur absoluten Chronologie des Äneolithikums in den Steppen des Schwarzmeergebietes. In E. Sava, B. Govedarica and B. Hänsel (eds), Der Schwarzmeerraum vom Äneolithikum bis in die Früheisenzeit (5000–500 v. Chr.). Band 2: Globale Entwicklung versus Lokalgeschichten. Internationale Fachtagung von Humboltianern für Humboldtianer im Humboldt-Kolleg in Chişinău, Moldavien (4.–8. Oktober 2010). Prähistorische Archäologie in Südosteuropa 27, 80–100. Rahden: Marie Leidorf. Rassamakin, Y.Y. 2013. Pokhovannya kvityanskoï kulturi v konteksti absolyutnoï khronologiï. *Arkheologiya Ky*üv 4, 17–41.

Rassamakin, J.J. and Kaiser, E. 2020. Dereivka und äneolithische Siedlungen mit Keramik des Dereivka-Турs: Probleme der absoluten Chronologie / Дереивка и энеолитические поселения с керамикой дереивского типа: проблемы абсолютной хронологии. In M.T. Kašuba, S. Reinhold and J.J. Piotrovskij (eds), Der Kaukasus zwischen Osteuropa und Vorderem Orient in der Bronze- und Eisenzeit: Dialog der Kulturen, Kultur des Dialoges. Archäologie in Iran und Turan 19, 247–80. Berlin: Reimer.

Shaposhnikova, O.G. 1986. Yamnaya kulturnoistoricheskaya obshchnost. In S.S. Berezanskaja, Y.G. Kolosov, V.A. Kruts, V.V. Otroshchenko, D.Y. Telegin and N.N. Cherednichenko (eds), *Arkheologiya Ukrainskoy SSR tom 1*, 336–52. Kiew: Naukova Dumka.

Shatilo, L. 2021. Tripolye typo-chronology: mega and smaller sites in the Sinyukha river basin. Leiden: Sidestone Press.

Sîrbu, G. 2019. Late Cucuteni-Tripolye communities of the Prut-Dniester interfluve. Gordineşti cultural group. Unpublished summary of PhD thesis, Chişinău.

Sîrbu, G. and Król, D. 2021. Dwellings and their nearest surroundings in the 4th millennium BC in the eastern Carpathian area: a case study from the Gordineşti II-Stînca Goală settlement. *Sprawozdania Archeologiczne* 73, 93–108. Sîrbu G., Król D. and Heghea S. The Late Eneolithic groups from the Dniester–Prut interfluve: some questions of their external contacts and chronology. *Baltic-Pontic Studies* 24, 104–39.

Szmyt, M. and Chernyakhov, I.T. 1999. Radiocarbon chronology of "Akkiembetskiy kurgan". A preliminary report. *Baltic-Pontic Studies* 7, 196–202.

Telegin, D.Y. 1986. Srednestogovskaja kul'tura i pamyatniki Novodanilovskogo tipa v Podneprove i stepnom Levoberezhe Ukrainy. In S.S. Berezanskaja, Y.G. Kolosov, V.A. Kruc, V.V. Otroshchčenko, D.Y.
Telegin and N.N. Cherednichenko (eds), *Arkheologiya* Ukrainskoy SSR tom 1, 305–19. Kiew: Naukova Dumka.

Telegin, D.Y., Nechitailo, A.L., Potekhina, I.D. and Panchenko, Y.V. 2001. *Srednestogovskaya i Novodanilovskaya kultury eneolita Azovo-Chernomorskogo regiona. Archeologoantropologicheskiy analiz materialov i katalog pamyatnikov*. Luhansk: Shlyakh.

Videiko, M.Y. 1999. Radiocarbon dating chronology of the Late Tripolye culture. *Baltic-Pontic Studies* 7, 34–71.

Walter, H. and Breckle, S.-W. 1999. *Vegetation und Klimazonen: Grundriß der globalen Ökologie*. Stuttgart: Ulmer.

Zhuravlev, O.P. 2001. Osteologicheskie materialy iz pamyatnikov epokhi bronzy lesostepnoi zony Dnepro-Donskogo mezhdurechya. Kyïv: NAN Ukraïny.

Zhuravlev, O.P. 2008. Tvarnistvo i myslyvstvo u trypils'kikh plemen na territoriï Ukraïny. Kyïv: NAN Ukraïny.

Figure	Lab number	Site	Sample material	Radiocarbon age (bp)	calBC (95.4 %)	Literature
2b	Ki-5038	Krasnyi Khutor. Bur. 2	Cremated bone	4280 ± 110	3331-2576	Kovalyukh <i>et al</i> .1995, 138 tab. 1
	Ki-5016	Krasnyi Khutor. Bur. 6	Cremated bone	4140 ± 110	3011-2411	Kovalyukh <i>et al</i> .1995, 138 tab. 1
	Ki-5039	Krasnyi Khutor. Bur. 98	Cremated bone	4160 ± 90	2913-2476	Kovalyukh <i>et al</i> .1995, 138 tab. 1
	Ki-5012	Sofievka Bur. 1	Cremated bone	4320 ± 70	3327-2698	Kovalyukh <i>et al</i> .1995, 138 tab. 1
	Ki-5013	Sofievka cemetery 1963 (c) sq. 11	Cremated bone	4270 ± 90	3314-2577	Kovalyukh <i>et al</i> .1995, 138 tab. 1
	Ki-5029	Sofievka cemetery (a)	Cremated bone	4300 ± 45	3082-2780	Kovalyukh <i>et al</i> .1995, 138 tab. 1
	Ki-5015	Zavalovka Bur. 6	Cremated bone	4290 ± 90	3327-2586	Kovalyukh <i>et al</i> .1995, 138 tab. 1
	Ki-5014	Zavalovka Bur. 6	Cremated bone	4230 ± 80	3022-2576	Kovalyukh <i>et al</i> .1995, 138 tab. 1
3b	Ki-6752	Gorodsk settlement	Animal bone	4495 ± 45	3360-3028	Videiko 1999, 48 tab. 5
	GrN-5090	Gorodsk settlement	Shell	4651 ± 35	3499-3369	Videiko 1999, 48 tab. 5
	Ki-6747	Sandraki settlement sq. 3–7, hearth	Animal bone	4210 ± 45	2907-2633	Videiko 1999, 36 tab. 1
	Ki-6746	Sandraki settlement sq. 3–7, hollow	Animal bone	4175 ± 50	2893-2585	Videiko 1999, 36 tab. 2
3c	Poz-94779	Vynnyky-"Zhupan" settlement	Information not available	4430 ± 35	3330-2922	Dergachev 2022, tab. 1
	Poz-94779	Vynnyky-"Lysivka" settlement	Information not available	4370 ± 35	3092-2905	Dergachev 2022, tab. 1
4b	Hd-15024	Horodiștea II settlement, 1969, S. L., H1	Animal bone	4377 ± 21	3082-2914	Lazarovici 2010, 83
	Hd-14785	Horodiștea I settlement, S. L., -1.50–1.70m, pit 2	Animal bone	4495 ± 18	3340-3099	Lazarovici 2010, 83
	Hd-14898	Horodiștea III settlement, S. L., H1	Animal bone	4235 ± 30	2910-2701	Lazarovici 2010, 83
	Hd-19528	Grumezoaia, burial	Human bone	4499 ± 24	3352-3095	Lazarovici 2010, 83, 252
	Poz-83658	Gordineşti II – stînca goală settlement	Triticum sp.	4480 ± 35	3346-3028	Sîrbu <i>et al.</i> 2020
	Poz-83659	Gordinești II – stînca goală settlement	Triticum sp.	4480 ± 35	3346-3028	Sîrbu <i>et al.</i> 2020
	Poz-83660	Gordineşti II – stînca goală settlement	Triticum sp.	4475 ± 35	3344-3026	Sîrbu <i>et al</i> . 2020
	Poz-81804	Gordineşti La Izvor, bur. 1	Human teeth	4460 ± 35	3342-3013	Sîrbu <i>et al.</i> 2020
	Poz-83728	Gordineşti II – stînca goală settlement	Animal bone	4430 ± 35	3330-2922	Sîrbu <i>et al.</i> 2020
	Poz-81806	Hancăuți I La Frasin settlement	Animal bone	4445 ± 35	3335-2933	Sîrbu <i>et al.</i> 2020
	Hd-17959	Hancăuți I settlement, 1986, surface IV, complex of firing pots no.1	Charcoal and wood	4621 ± 95	3634-3043	Sîrbu <i>et al.</i> 2020
	MAMS-35075	Gordineşti I, bur. 1	Human teeth	4511 ± 25	3493-3111	Sîrbu <i>et al.</i> 2020, 128 tab. 1
	MAMS-35076	Pocrovca, bur. 98	Human bone	4579 ± 25	3485-3105	Sîrbu <i>et al.</i> 2020, 128 tab. 1
	MAMS-35078	Pocrovca, bur. 98	Human bone	4560 ± 25	3489-3104	Sîrbu <i>et al.</i> 2020, 128 tab. 1

Appendix 1. List of radiocarbon dates presented in the article

Figure	Lab number	Site	Sample material	Radiocarbon age (bp)	calBC (95.4 %)	Literature
	MAMS-35079	Pocrovca, bur. 98	Human bone	4562 ± 28	3353-3101	Sîrbu <i>et al.</i> 2020, 128 tab. 1
	Poz-66214	Pridnestryanske I, bur. 1	Wood	4640 ± 40	3521-3356	Goslar <i>et al.</i> 2015, 261 tab. 2
	Poz-66222	Pridnestryanske II, bur. 2	Wood	4655 ± 35	3518-3366	Goslar <i>et al.</i> 2015, 261 tab. 2
	Poz-66221	Pridnestryanske II, bur. 1	Charcoal	4485 ± 35	3366-2929	Goslar <i>et al.</i> 2015, 261 tab. 2
	Poz-66224	Pridnestryanske III, bur. 1	Human bone	4540 ± 35	3368-3102	Goslar <i>et al.</i> 2015, 261 tab. 2
	Poz-66225	Pridnestryanske III, bur. 2	Human bone	4530 ± 35	3506-2931	Goslar <i>et al</i> . 2015, 261 tab. 2
	Poz-71367	Pridnestryanske III, bur. 2	Wood	4510 ± 40	3359-3097	Goslar <i>et al.</i> 2015, 261 tab. 2
	Poz-66234	Pridnestryanske IV, bur. 10	Human bone	4520 ± 40	3361-3099	Goslar <i>et al.</i> 2015, 261 tab. 2
6b	Le-645	Mayaki settlement ditch 1	Charcoal	4340 ± 65	3328-2782	Petrenko <i>et al</i> . 2015, 66 tab. 2
	Ki-870	Mayaki settlement ditch 3?	Charcoal	4670 ± 100	3644-3102	Petrenko <i>et al</i> . 2015, 66 tab. 2
	UCLA-1642B	Mayaki settlement ditch 1?	Charcoal	4375 ± 60	3328-2899	Petrenko <i>et al.</i> 2015, 66 tab. 2
	UCLA-1642G	Mayaki settlement ditch 1?	Charcoal	4375 ± 60	3328-2899	Petrenko <i>et al.</i> 2015, 66 tab. 2
	Ki-9527	Mayaki settlement ditch 4	Animal bone	4380 ± 70	3333-2899	Petrenko <i>et al</i> . 2015, 66 tab. 2
	Ki-9751	Mayaki settlement ditch 1	Animal bone	4600 ± 90	3627-3030	Petrenko <i>et al.</i> 2015, 66 tab. 2
	Ki-9752	Mayaki settlement ditch 1	Animal bone	4490 ± 90	3491-2914	Petrenko <i>et al.</i> 2015, 66 tab. 2
	Ki-9753	Mayaki settlement	Animal bone	4180 ± 90	3005-2476	Petrenko <i>et al.</i> 2015, 66 tab. 2
6c	OxA-22959	Mayaki kurgan 7, bur. 2	Human bone	5530 ± 32	4446-4336	Petrenko <i>et al.</i> 2015, 59
	OxA-22960	Mayaki kurgan 9, bur. 2	Human bone	5471 ± 24	4357-4257	Petrenko <i>et al.</i> 2015, 60
	Le-2944	Mayaki kurgan 3, bur. 9	Human bone	5080 ± 60	3982-3712	Petrenko <i>et al.</i> 2015, 66 tab. 2
	Ki-9524	Aleksandrovskiy κ., bur. 35	Human bone	4720 ± 70	3634-3371	Petrenko <i>et al.</i> 2015, 66 tab. 2
	Ki-9525	Aleksandrovskiy κ., bur. 22	Human bone	4760 ± 70	3647-3372	Petrenko <i>et al.</i> 2015, 66 tab. 2
	Le-1054	Dancu 2, bur. 2	Charcoal	4600 ± 80	3524-3101	Petrenko <i>et al.</i> 2015, 66 tab. 2
	Ki-11252	Utkonosovka, kurgan 3, bur. 2	Charcoal	4830 ± 70	3773-3378	Petrenko <i>et al.</i> 2015, 66 tab. 2
	Ki-6800	Akkembetskyi sacrifice	Animal bone	4170 ± 60	2893-2581	Szmyt and Chernyakhov 1999
	Ki-6801	Akkembetskyi sacrifice	Animal bone	4045 ± 65	2875-2476	Szmyt and Chernyakhov 1999
	Ki-6802	Akkembetskyi bur. 6	Human bone	4020 ± 65	2863-2344	Szmyt and Chernyakhov 1999
	Ki-6803	Akkembetskyi bur. 6	Human bone	4090 ± 60	2872-2476	Szmyt and Chernyakhov 1999
	Ki-6804	Akkembetskyi bur. 9	Human bone	3990 ± 60	2842-2296	Szmyt and Chernyakhov 1999
	Ki-6805	Akkembetskyi bur. 10	Human bone	3930 ± 55	2574-2209	Szmyt and Chernyakhov 1999
	Ki-6806	Akkembetskyi bur. 7	Human bone	3975 ± 55	2630-2293	Szmyt and Chernyakhov 1999
	Ki-6807	Akkembetskyi bur. 7	Human bone	3950 ± 60	2622-2209	Szmyt and Chernyakhov 1999
	Ki-6808	Akkembetskyi bur. 7	Human bone	3935 ± 45	2571-2290	Szmyt and Chernyakhov 1999
	Ki-6809	Akkembetskyi bur. 23	Human bone	3920 ± 60	2572-2206	Szmyt and Chernyakhov 1999
	Ki-6810	Akkembetskyi bur. 24	Human bone	3945 ± 50	2575-2290	Szmyt and Chernyakhov 1999
	UCLA-1642A	Usatovo, kurgan 1, bur. 12 (?)	Charcoal	4330 ± 60	3319-2777	Petrenko <i>et al.</i> 2015, 66 tab. 2

Figure	Lab number	Site	Sample material	Radiocarbon age (bp)	calBC (95.4 %)	Literature
8b	Bln-5530	Rostov, Verloletnoe Pole, kurgan 1, bur. 8	Human bone	4556 ± 50	3496-3093	Rassamakin 2011, Fig. 10a
	Hd-19429	Orekhov, Tarasova mog., bur. 6	Human bone	4673 ± 44	3622-3363	Rassamakin 2011, Fig. 10a
	Hd-18822	Orekhov, Tarasova mog., bur. 33	Human bone	4460 ± 30	3337-3021	Rassamakin 2011, Fig. 10a
	Ki-9562	Oleksandrivka, kurgan, bur. ?	Human bone	4010 ± 60	2852-2343	Rassamakin 2011, Fig. 10a
	Lu-2477	Sărăteni, kurgan 2, bur. ?	Human bone	4530 ± 40	3367-3098	Rassamakin 2011, Fig. 10a
10b	Ki-8012	Mikhailivka 2nd layer, -2.06 m	Animal bone	4710 ±80	3646-3348	Kotova and Spitsyna 2003
	Ki-8186	Mikhailivka 2nd layer, -1,08–1.26 m	Animal bone	4480 ± 70	3364–2929	Kotova and Spitsyna 2003
	Ki-8010	Mikhailivka 2nd layer, -1.08–1.26 m	Animal bone	4570 ± 80	3526-3021	Kotova and Spitsyna 2003
11b	Hd-19362	Bursuceni, kurgan 1, grave 20	Human bone	4548 ± 28	3370-3103	Rassamakin 2011, Fig. 12a
	Hd-19933	Bursuceni, kurgan 1, grave 21	Human bone	4462 ± 22	3334-3026	Rassamakin 2011, Fig. 12a
	Hd-19389	Crasnoe kurgan 9, grave 10	Human bone	4467 ± 34	3340-3026	Rassamakin 2011, Fig. 12a
	Lu-2455	Sărăteni, kurgan 4, grave 8	Human bone	4410 ± 50	3331-2909	Rassamakin 2011, Fig. 12a
	Ki-15166	Vynohradne Kurgan 2, grave 4	Human bone	4020 ± 60	2858-2347	Rassamakin 2011, Fig. 12a
	Hd-19933(?)	Crasnoe kurgan 9, grave 17	Human bone	4434 ± 23	3326-2930	Rassamakin 2011, Fig. 12a
	Poz-121048	Cimişlia, bur. 6	Human bone	4520 ± 35	3361-3099	Popovici and Kaiser 2021
	Poz-121008	Cimişlia, bur. 8	Human bone	4475 ± 35	3344-3026	Popovici and Kaiser 2021

The arrival of the Corded Ware in eastern Switzerland

A settlement archaeological view

Niels Bleicher

Abstract

I test the hypothesis whether the arrival of the Corded Ware phenomenon in eastern Switzerland caused visible changes in the settlement system that we might interpret as a sign of the sudden arrival of new traditions. For this, I use mainly evidence of dendroarchaeological pile field analyses at lakes Zurich, Constance and Zug. In fact, with the arrival of the Corded Ware we find new spatial patterns in settlement ground plans that are markedly different from the earlier concept of social space, which was dominant for a number of centuries in a large area. However, changes in social space and architecture happen already a century before the arrival of the Corded Ware in the study area, and in some instances the older spatial pattern persists well into Corded Ware times. Settlement durations and relocation dynamics change only gradually, but seem to keep their general character. Altogether, one can state that upon arrival, bearers of the Corded Ware phenomenon met a society that was already changing and took up new inspirations while keeping a number of traditions.

Keywords: lakeside settlements, northern Alpine Foreland, settlement dynamics, social space, dendroarchaeology

Introduction

Recent years have seen genetic results based on Late Neolithic human bones that have given rise to the hypothesis that the spread of what is widely known as the Corded Ware culture involved the migration of people from eastern European steppe areas into central Europe. This seems to have caused a relatively intense genetic shift (e.g. Haak *et al.* 2015). Notably, the results suggested that predominantly male individuals migrated and that they were extraordinarily successful in passing on their genes, which gave rise to inspiring and colourful archaeological interpretations (Kristiansen *et al.* 2017). This narrative has since been challenged and criticised (e.g. Furholt 2018; 2021) and especially the lack of reflection on the actual meaning of genetic data was debated (e.g. Frieman and Hofmann 2019). However, these "steppe" genetic signatures have also been found in Switzerland close to the lake shores (Furtwängler *et al.* 2020). Consequently, the question arises how the cultural change from what was often called "Horgen culture" to the "Corded Ware culture" around 2770 BC



Figure 1. Examples of the "traditional" pattern of social space (Bleicher and Harb 2018).

(Harb 2016) actually took place and whether there are indications that it involved some kind of disruption that could be interpreted as a sign of a sudden advent of new individuals bringing with them — and quickly establishing — new customs.

Material and methods

For this study, I will focus on settlement archaeological data based on dendroarchaeological analyses. These are mainly the results of pile field analyses from lakeside settlements that have been studied in recent years. Those that I will focus on most are situated on the shores of lakes Zurich and Zug, as well as lake Constance (Table 1). Pile field analysis involves a systematic process of iterative dendrochronological testing of archaeological hypotheses on non-random pile arrangements. The method has been described in detail in Bleicher and Burger (2015) and in Bleicher (2015a). In optimal cases, pile field analysis gives results concerning the social space and architecture of the site in question, even though I have argued earlier that the pile arrangements probably mirror only the carrying structure of the buildings and give little information on what was built on this structure or how (Bleicher 2015b).

The rationale of applying these methods to the question of cultural change is as follows: I hypothesise that societal worldviews, social rules and relations are mirrored in the structure of social space. They may also be expressed by means of architecture and carry over into economic choices, which in turn may affect the duration and rhythm of presence and absence at a certain location. We thus might expect changes in spatio-temporal behaviour, i.e. the dynamics of how often and how far people relocate their habitations. Therefore, I test the hypothesis that the arrival of the Corded Ware phenomenon involved disruptive changes in architecture, settlement relocation and especially in social space by tracking and dating actual changes in these aspects in the dataset.

Results

Pile field analysis of Zurich-Parkhaus Opéra has revealed four Horgen period settlement episodes between 3234 and 3055 denBC (all denBC-dates in this article are based on the historical calendar without a year zero). Their dominant settlement structure comprises parallel twoaisled buildings arranged in lines with their narrow sides oriented towards the lake. For the second settlement phase around 3170 denBC, three settlement quarters could be distinguished, with each repeating a spatial pattern that is well known from bog settlements in France and Upper Swabia (Bleicher and Harb 2018). This consists of two lines of parallel buildings forming a central alley. In several cases, there were groups of

Site	Country	Canton / County	Literature
Zurich-Parkhaus Opéra	СН	Zurich	Bleicher and Burger 2015
Zurich-Mozartstrasse	СН	Zurich	Bleicher 2015a
Zurich-Seefeld	СН	Zurich	Bleicher and Walder 2019
Wädenswil-vorder Au	СН	Zurich	Bleicher 2019a
Meilen-Schellen	СН	Zurich	Altorfer and Conscience 2005
Hombrechtikon-Feldbach west	СН	Zurich	Ebersbach <i>et al</i> . 2016
Allensbach-Strandbad	D	Baden-Württemberg	Billamboz 2015
Hornstaad	D	Baden-Württemberg	Billamboz 2006
Sipplingen-Osthafen	D	Baden-Württemberg	Billamboz <i>et al</i> . 2010
Steinhausen-Sennweid	СН	Zug	Ruoff 2007
Cham-Bachgraben	СН	Zug	Bleicher et al. 2023
Immensee-Dorfplatz	СН	Schwyz	Bleicher <i>et al.</i> 2021
Pestenacker	D	Bavaria	Schönfeld 2009

Table 1. Sites with pile fields or dendro-data covered in this article.

larger houses standing along the central trackway, while smaller buildings stood in a second row without direct access to the central axis (Figure 1).

A similar pattern was also found in neighbouring sites, although it is less clear, possibly because the pile field analyses were confronted with methodological problems at these sites (Bleicher 2015a; Bleicher and Walder 2019). Furthermore, this spatial pattern was also identified at lake Zug in Cham-Bachgraben (Bleicher et al. 2023) and in Küssnacht-Immensee Dorfplatz (Bleicher et al. 2021). It has predecessors on the shores of lake Constance as early as 3860 BC (Billamboz 2006) and others as far away as Bavaria that are several hundred years earlier than the Horgen sites in Zurich (Schönfeld 2009). The pattern is known in western Switzerland from the early thirtysixth century BC onward (Suter and Schlichtherle 2009) and there are numerous further examples. The meaning of this spatial pattern is not yet well researched. For the purpose of this article, it suffices to say that this pattern was a widespread, if not the dominant traditional model of social space in the northern Alpine foreland for at least 1000 years, until the Corded Ware phenomenon arrived.

However, even before this arrival, we already see noteworthy changes in architecture and spatial organisation. While the traditional spatial model persisted until around 2900 BC at Allensbach-Strandbad on the shore of lake Constance in southern Germany (Billamboz 2015; Braun 2015), we find a completely altered spatial pattern in Zurich-Parkhaus Opéra phase 6 in 2887 BC (Figure 2) (Bleicher and Burger 2015). The strict organisation into rows of parallel two-aisled houses oriented towards a central alley has been abandoned, and we instead find houses that can be turned by 90° from the main direction, with no trace of a central alley. The structures are not perfectly clear, but it seems possible that there are even three-aisled buildings. At roughly the same time, at lake Zug in Steinhausen-Sennweid (ZG), we find a row of square buildings (Ruoff 2007) measuring some 5×3.75 m. These are clearly different from the two-aisled buildings that we know from Horgen sites and they are also clearly distinguishable from the small huts in the second row that we know from Horgen sites such as Bad Buchau-Torwiesen 2 (Bleicher 2009). Therefore, the changes in layout and building size are two remarkable introductions into the settlement concept and they arrive some 100 years before the Corded Ware phenomenon is attested in our study area.

The oldest dendro-dates that are most likely to be connected with Corded Ware ceramics are from Pfäffikon-Irgenhausen (ZH) and testify to building activity around 2765 denBC (Altorfer 2010, 251). Starting around 2753 denBC, we also have a ground plan of buildings associated with Corded Ware ceramics at Zurich-Parkhaus Opéra. Here, we find large, three-aisled buildings both parallel and at 90° to each other (Figure 3). Furthermore, we find clearly distinct smaller buildings, as well as a relatively large structure with a square layout (Bleicher and Burger 2015). At the neighbouring site of Zurich-Mozartstrasse, in the settlement phase dating to the years between 2605 and 2568 BC, we encounter several further examples of these square buildings and most interestingly, these are accompanied by several buildings with ground plans with two, three or even without any visible aisles (Bleicher 2015). Again, they are arranged either parallel or at 90° to each other. In this



Figure 2. Comparison of developed and late Horgen settlement ground plans in Zurich-Parkhaus Opéra (graphic: N. Bleicher).

somewhat more complete settlement ground plan, two parallel alleys or trackways are visible, entering the site from the shore.

A few hundred metres further south, several parts of the settlement at Zurich-Seefeld were investigated in a series of excavations in recent decades and the site has been dendro-dated to the decades between 2717 and 2675 denBC. Here, we find a similar structure with longer and smaller two-aisled buildings and a square building arranged in a row. Trackways lead to them from the shore (Bleicher and Walder 2019, 201). This new spatial pattern is not restricted to the city of Zurich, as a similar arrangement of a twoaisled and a square building is known in Wädenswil-Vorder Au (ZH), dated to 2570 denBC (Figure 4) (Bleicher 2019a; Wehrle 2021). Square buildings are also known from Meilen-Schellen (ZH), dating to 2560 denBC (Altorfer and Conscience 2005). One example from lake Constance has been recorded in Maurach-Ziegelhütte (D), dating to 2668–2666 denBC (Billamboz and Köninger 2008). This building is also interesting because its piles follow no clear organisation into aisles or rows, similar to the mentioned buildings in Zurich-Mozartstrasse.

However, it is also in Corded Ware settlements that we find examples of the older settlement pattern persisting far into the middle third millennium BC. A classic example of the two rows of parallel double-aisled buildings with a central trackway is Hombrechtikon-Feldbach West (ZH), dating to around 2520 denBC (Figure 5) (Bolliger 2013; Ebersbach et al. 2016). A second example is the Corded Ware phase of Cham-Bachgraben (ZG), where yet again the same old settlement ground plan was repeated between around 2550 and 2440 denBC (Bleicher et al. 2023). In the latter case, it should be noted that the temporal structure of the settlement is not understood, because the dendrochronological analyses revealed a wide variety of end years without a peak in the distribution frequency that would allow identifying a certain year as the date of building erection.

A further aspect that we can compare is the spatiotemporal settlement behaviour of Corded Ware communities as compared to earlier Late Neolithic groups. Both the settlements in Mozartstrasse and in Zurich-Seefeld had a duration of about 40 years, which is notably longer than the normal settlement duration in Horgen times, which was mostly around eight to 15 years and only rarely reached some 25 years (Bleicher 2009; Bleicher and Walder 2019, 182; Ebersbach 2010). On the other hand, the late Horgen phase of Sipplingen-Osthafen gave evidence of houses that were in use for up to 60 years (Billamboz *et al.* 2010).

A more detailed analysis of settlement relocations in the city of Zurich shows that in the late fourth millennium, settlements were not only frequently relocated, with low individual settlement durations, but people also often chose to establish several settlements in close proximity (Figure 6). In 3204 denBC, for example, there were four separate sites at distances of just a few hundred metres from each other. Interestingly, the Corded Ware settlers in Zurich still moved around the shore, and there are still very short settlement phases of only some eight years. In contrast, other settlements were in use for several decades and we have so far found fewer examples of several contemporaneously occupied sites separated by very small distances (Figure 7).

A similar aspect of separation are fences that run through settlements. These are, again, a feature that is already known in Horgen times and persists well into Corded Ware times. A fence between settlement quarters was documented in Zurich-Parkhaus Opéra both in a thirty-second century BC Horgen village and a twentyeighth century BC Corded Ware settlement (Bleicher and Burger 2015), but a similar construction was also found in Wädenswil-vorder Au in a settlement from the twenty-



Figure 3. Comparison of three Corded Ware settlements in Zurich. a) Parkhaus Opéra, phase 7 (2753–2747 denBC); b) Mozartstrasse (2605–2568 denBC); c) Pressehaus (2717–2675 denBC). Bold black lines show the edges of excavation; the dashed line indicates the edges of the settlement. Gray bars indicate trackways (from Bleicher 2019b, fig. 408).



piles in the settlement of Wädenswil-Vorder Au (from Bleicher 2019a).

Figure 4. Excavation

plan and distribution of





sixth century BC (Wehrle 2021, fig. 4). Thus, in both periods tools for structuring social space and balancing social relations by physical co-localisation and differentiation were available.

Discussion

The arrival of the Corded Ware phenomenon is associated with a new concept of social space in our area, involving a different way of arranging buildings to form a settlement. However, a local and internal development, breaking up earlier Horgen culture spatial patterns, had already begun at least a hundred years before the arrival of the Corded Ware phenomenon. What is more, one of the key features of the new pattern is the square building, which is documented in Steinhausen-Sennweid a full century before the arrival of the Corded Ware in the Zurich region. So, while it is with the arrival of the Corded Ware phenomenon that the new pattern is clearly visible, and repeated in several places and across centuries, the development leading to it actually began much earlier. Most interestingly, the earlier spatial pattern was not abandoned completely but stayed in use for centuries.

The seemingly unstructured or aisle-less buildings with densely set piles are certainly a new element that appears during Corded Ware times. But since two-aisled buildings with a clear central post row continued to be built, this element cannot be taken as indication that there were new settlers who did not know how to build houses in the shallow water. It is probably only a different technical solution for the construction of a foundation. This may have made lower demands on construction timbers in terms of length and straightness. Certainly, these pile constructions support the view, mentioned above, that the piles only carried the platform on which the buildings were erected. What they looked like and whether there was actually a change in architecture is probably impossible to reconstruct.



Figure 6. Settlement relocations in Zurich in Horgen times (from Bleicher 2019b, fig. 406).



Figure 7. Settlement relocations in Zurich in Corded Ware times (from Bleicher 2019b, fig. 407).

Settlement durations and relocations were at least partly a cultural choice — after all, the settlers at Sipplingen-Osthafen (2917–2855 denBC) show that pre-Corded Ware builders were perfectly able to stay longer when they intended to do so (Billamboz et al. 2010). However, more often than not they chose to keep relocating frequently, which was probably a means of constantly performing and confirming the ties of a structured community (Bahss and Bleicher 2022). This is something that obviously changed to a certain degree in some settlements after the arrival of the Corded Ware phenomenon. However, the will to stay a few years longer in one place seems to have emerged only in the course of the Corded Ware period, rather than being present from the beginning, as the earliest Corded Ware settlements in Zurich (Parkhaus Opéra, Phase 7 (2753–2747 denBC) and 8 (2727–2735 denBC)) have durations of around eight years. This fits perfectly into pre-Corded Ware patterns. Even two centuries later, in Hombrechtikon-Feldbach West (Figure 5), the settlement was most likely erected in 2523 denBC and the last repair date is from 2516 denBC, which, again, fits well with Horgen habits. Obviously, Corded Ware settlement systems resulted in occasional and localised longer presences, while in other cases the pre-Corded Ware customs were continued.

Conclusion

Based on a reappraisal of extant data, this paper rejects the hypothesis that the arrival of the Corded Ware phenomenon brought about notable changes in social space, architecture and spatio-temporal behaviour. Important changes to former customs had already happened a hundred years before the Corded Ware phenomenon was manifested in the region. On the other hand, pre-Corded Ware traditions persisted for centuries across the transition. Thus, it seems that the arrival of the Corded Ware probably fuelled an ongoing cultural change to a certain extent, and certainly added new ideas, but it did not establish something altogether new. Although ceramics are markedly different in the Corded Ware horizon, we find no indications of a sudden drastic cultural change that accompanied a massive migration, or even the forceful introduction of new ideas or social structures. Innovations that seem typical for Corded Ware settlements, like their longer duration, the square houses and the new layout, actually only built on earlier foundations

This is in accordance with the conclusion that Harb (2016) reached for ceramics and other find categories: since in the region of Zurich most cultural deposits from the decades of the transition are not preserved well or were excavated very early and without modern standards, it remains somewhat unclear whether and for how long both ceramic traditions were in use contemporaneously.

However, there are very rare examples of ceramics of a hybrid Horgen–Corded Ware style that are notably older than Corded Ware pottery. The same holds true for other artefacts such as arrowheads, which start to resemble what will later be typical during Corded Ware times already a century earlier. In western Switzerland, Harb (2016) argues for a coexistence of both traditions for many decades.

Taken together, it seems that along the Swiss and southern German lake shores, the Corded Ware phenomenon met a society that was already changing and willing to take up further inspiration, while keeping and applying many older customs and traditions.

References

- Altorfer, K. 2010. Die prähistorischen Feuchtbodensiedlungen am Südrand des Pfäffiker Sees. Monographien der Kantonsarchäologie Zürich 41. Zürich/Egg: Fotorotar.
- Altorfer, K. and Conscience, A.-C. 2005. Seeufersiedlungen: Meilen-Schellen. Die neolithischen und spätbronzezeitlichen Funde und Befunde der Untersuchungen 1934–1996. Zürcher Archäologie 18. Zürich/Egg: Fotorotar.
- Bahss, A. and Bleicher, N. 2022. Stability through movement: theoretical and practical considerations of social space in central European Neolithic lakeside settlements. *Journal of Archaeological Method and Theory* 30, 1378–403.
- Billamboz, A. 2006. Dendroarchäologische Untersuchungen in den neolithischen Ufersiedlungen von Hornstaad-Hörnle. In Regierungspräsidium Stuttgart, Landesamt für Denkmalpflege (eds), *Siedlungsarchäologie im Alpenvorland IX. Forschungen und Berichte zur Vor- und Frühgeschichte in Baden-Württemberg 98*, 297–414. Stuttgart: Theiss.
- Billamboz, A. 2015. Uferdörfer und Stockwälder:
 Dendroarchäologische Untersuchungen in den
 Ufersiedlungen von Allensbach-Strandbad
 mit Schwerpunkt auf der Grabung 2002–2003.
 In Landesamt für Denkmalpflege Baden-Württemberg
 (eds), Allensbach-Strandbad AsC1. Eine Ufersiedlung
 der späten Horgener Kultur am Bodensee-Untersee,
 Kreis Konstanz. Funde und Befunde aus den Sondagen
 und Grabungen 2002–2003. Hemmenhofener Skripte 10,
 187–98. Freiburg i.Br.: Janus.
- Billamboz, A. and Köninger, J. 2008. Dendroarchäologische Untersuchungen zur Besiedlungs- und Landschaftsentwicklung im Neolithikum des westlichen Bodenseegebietes. In J. Müller and W. Dörfler (eds), Umwelt – Wirtschaft – Siedlungen im dritten vorchristlichen Jahrtausend Mitteleuropas und Südskandinaviens. Internationale Tagung in Kiel, 4–6 Nov. 2005, 317–34. Neumünster: Wachholtz.

Billamboz, A., Maier, U., Matuschik, I., Müller, A., Out,
W.A., Steppan, K. and Vogt, R. 2010. Die jung- und
endneolithischen Seeufersiedlungen von Sipplingen
"Osthafen" am Bodensee: Besiedlungs- und
Wirtschaftsdynamik im eng begrenzten Naturraum
des Sipplinger Dreiecks. In I. Matuschik and C. Strahm
(eds), Vernetzungen. Aspekte siedlungsarchäologischer
Forschung. Festschrift für Helmut Schlichtherle zum 60.
Geburtstag, 253–86. Freiburg i.Br.: Lavori.

Bleicher, N. 2009. Altes Holz in neuem Licht. Archäologische und dendrochronologische Untersuchungen an spätneolithischen Feuchtbodensiedlungen in Oberschwaben. Materialhefte zur Archäologie in Baden-Württemberg 83. Stuttgart: Theiss.

Bleicher, N. 2015a. Dendrochronologie und Pfahlfeldanalyse. In R. Ebersbach, B. Ruckstuhl and N. Bleicher (eds), Zürich Mozartstrasse. Band 5: Die neolithischen Befunde und die Dendroarchäologie. Monographien der Kantonsarchäologie Zürich 47, 122–65. Zürich/Egg: Fotorotar.

Bleicher, N. 2015b. Theorien und Interpretationen zu Topographie und Architektur. In N. Bleicher and C. Harb (eds), Zürich-Parkhaus Opéra. Eine neolithische Feuchtbodenfundstelle. Band 1: Befunde, Schichten und Dendroarchäologie. Monographien der Kantonsarchäologie Zürich 48, 198–202. Zürich/Egg: Fotorotar.

Bleicher, N. 2019a. Dendrochronologischer Untersuchungsbericht Nr. 1968. ZH/Wädenswil-Vorder Au. Unveröffentlichter Laborbericht 1968. Zürich: Unterwasserarchäologie und Dendroarchäologie, Amt für Städtebau Zürich.

Bleicher, N. 2019b. Siedlungsdynamik und Organisation. In T. Baum, N. Bleicher, R. Ebersbach, B. Ruckstuhl, F. Walder and M. Weber (eds), Jungsteinzeitliche Ufersiedlungen im Zürcher Seefeld. Band 3: Die Siedlungsgeschichte. Monographien der Kantonsarchäologie Zürich 52, 259–62. Zürich: FO-Publishing.

Bleicher, N. and Burger, M. 2015. Dendroarchäologie und Pfahlfeldanalyse in den neolithischen Siedlungen von Zürich-Parkhaus Opéra. In N. Bleicher and C. Harb, (eds), Zürich-Parkhaus Opéra. Eine neolithische Feuchtbodenfundstelle. Band 1: Befunde, Schichten und Dendroarchäologie. Monographien der Kantonsarchäologie Zürich 48, 100–42. Zürich/Egg: Fotorotar.

Bleicher, N. and Harb, C. 2018. Settlement and social organisation in the late fourth millennium BC in central Europe: the waterlogged site of Zurich-Parkhaus Opéra. Antiquity 92 (365), 1210–30.

Bleicher, N. and Walder, F. 2019. Die Dendroarchäologie von Zürich-Kanalisationssanierung, Zürich-AKAD und Zürich-Pressehaus. In T. Baum, N. Bleicher, R. Ebersbach, B. Ruckstuhl, F. Walder and M. Weber (eds), *Jungsteinzeitliche Ufersiedlungen im Zürcher Seefeld. Band 3: Die Siedlungsgeschichte. Monographien der Kantonsarchäologie Zürich 52*, 173–218. Zürich: FO-Publishing.

Bleicher, N., Gleich, P., Ries, M.-C., Isler, M. and Gross, E. 2021. Durch diese Hohle Gasse muss er kommen, der grüne Stein vom Gotthard. Ein Werkstattbericht aus der neolithischen Pfahlbausiedlung in Immensee SZ-Dorfplatz. Mitteilungen des Historischen Vereins Schwyz 113, 19–54.

Bleicher, N., Walder, F. and Gut, U. 2023.
Dendrochronologie und Dendroarchäologie. In A. de Capitani (ed.), Die Seeufersiedlungen von Cham-Bachgraben (Kanton Zug). Band 1: Befunde aus dem Neolithikum, der Bronzezeit, dem Mittelalter und der Neuzeit. Antiqua 57, 126–65. Basel: Archäologie Schweiz.

Bolliger, M. 2013. Wenn's taut wird gebaut! Schnurkeramische Besiedlungsdynamik am Zürichsee. Unpublished MA dissertation, University of Basel.

Braun, C. 2015. Die Ausgrabungen 2002–2003 in der neolithischen Seeufersiedlung Allensbach-Strandbad am Bodensee (Kreis Konstanz). Befunde, Stein-, Knochen- und Geweihartefakte der Siedlungsphase AsC1. In Landesamt für Denkmalpflege Baden-Württemberg (eds), Allensbach-Strandbad AsC1. Eine Ufersiedlung der späten Horgener Kultur am Bodensee-Untersee, Kreis Konstanz. Funde und Befunde aus den Sondagen und Grabungen 2002–2003. Hemmenhofener Skripte 10, 19–94. Freiburg i.Br.: Janus.

Ebersbach, R. 2010. Vom Entstehen und Vergehen. Überlegungen zur Dynamik von Feuchtbodenhäusern und -siedlungen. In I. Matuschik and C. Strahm (eds), Vernetzungen. Aspekte siedlungsarchäologischer Forschung. Festschrift für Helmut Schlichtherle zum 60. Geburtstag, 41–50. Freiburg i.Br.: Lavori.

Ebersbach, R., Bleicher, N. and Bolliger, M. 2016. Siedeln ohne Bauvorschriften. Vielfalt vor 4500 Jahren.
In Archäologisches Landesmuseum Baden-Württemberg and Landesamt für Denkmalpflege im Regierungspräsidium Stuttgart (eds), 4.000 Jahre Pfahlbauten. Begleitband zur Landesausstellung, 128–33. Ostfildern: Jan Thorbecke.

Frieman, C.J. and Hofmann, D. 2019. Present pasts in the archaeology of genetics, identity, and migration in Europe: a critical essay. *World Archaeology* 51, 528–45.

Furholt, M. 2018. Massive migrations? The impact of recent aDNA studies on our view of third millennium Europe. *European Journal of Archaeology* 21, 159–91. Furholt, M. 2021. Mobility and social change: understanding the European Neolithic period after the archaeogenetic revolution. *Journal of Archaeological Research* 29, 481–535.

Furtwängler, A. [+18 others] and Krause, J. 2020. Ancient genomes reveal social and genetic structure of Late Neolithic Switzerland. *Nature communications* 11 (1), 1915, DOI:10.1038/s41467-020-15560-x

Haak, W. [+37 others] and Reich, D. 2015. Massive migration from the steppe was a source for Indo-European languages in Europe. *Nature* 522, 207–11.

Harb, C. 2016. Schnurkeramik. In C. Harb and N. Bleicher (eds), Zürich-Parkhaus Opéra. Eine neolithische Feuchtbodenfundstelle. Band 2: Funde. Monographien der Kantonsarchäologie Zürich 49, 58–63. Zürich/Egg: Fotorotar.

Kristiansen, K. [+10 others] and Willerslev, E. 2017. Retheorising mobility and the formation of culture and language among the Corded Ware culture in Europe. *Antiquity* 91 (356), 334–47. Ruoff, U. 2007. Dendrochronologische Auswertungen der Rettungsgrabungen 1988–91 und der Rettungsgrabung Cosmetochem. In B. Röder and R. Huber (eds), Archäologie in Steinhausen "Sennweid" (Kanton Zug). Ergebnisse der Untersuchungen von 1942 bis 2000. Antiqua 41, 119–42. Basel: Archäologie Schweiz.

Schönfeld, G. 2009. Die altheimzeitliche Feuchtbodensiedlung von Pestenacker. *Bericht der Bayerischen Bodendenkmalpflege* 50, 137–56.

Suter, P. and Schlichtherle, H, 2009. *Pfahlbauten, Palafittes, Palafitte, Pile dwellings, Kolišča*. Bern: Palafittes.

Wehrle, T. 2021. *Kontinuität und Wandel – Der Siedlungsplatz Wädenswil-Vorder Au*. Unpublished MA dissertation, University of Bern.

Pots without plots?

Danubian and other non-local finds in Horgen cultural contexts of the thirty-second century BC and beyond at lake Constance and in Upper Swabia

Joachim Köninger

Abstract

A significant find assemblage of the thirty-second century BC, with more than 1000 catalogued individual finds, has been obtained from the lakeshore settlement of Nußdorf-Strandbad on the northern shore of lake Überlingen (lake Constance). Non-local elements characterise the ceramics, namely lugs, applied plastic decorations, handles and a large number of spindle whorls. Additionally, other lake Constance settlements have yielded, amongst others, individual sherds with applied sculpted bands or cord ornamentations. Sherds of haematite- and limestone-tempered wares were brought here from the central Alb region further to the north. Very good reference material comes from the context of the Cham culture in Bavaria and the Goldberg III group in Upper Swabia. The associated ¹⁴C dates, however, are in general 200 years later. According to the dendro-dated finds from Nußdorf, therefore, there must also have been earlier Cham and Goldberg III phases.

Keywords: lake Constance, Late Neolithic, Horgen culture, Cham culture, Goldberg III group, pottery, Danubian influence, non-local elements

Introduction

There are basic questions of how and why non-local finds or foreign elements reached settlements at lake Constance, involving issues of whether they were imported, local imitations or the result of migration... and where these non-local finds came from and how they got there — as ideas or in the form of the objects themselves. And finally, there is the question of what their appearance means. In the following paper I try to present some aspects of such non-local finds from Horgen culture pile dwellings at lake Constance.

When discussing Danubian and other non-local finds in the thirty-second century BC, we are predominantly talking of ceramic objects. Mostly they belong to the Horgen assemblage of Nußdorf-Strandbad, a pile dwelling settlement on the northern shore of lake Überlingen (Überlinger See), the north-westerly branch of lake Constance (Figures 1–2).

In D. Hofmann, D. Mischka and S. Scharl (eds) 2025. *The eve of destruction? Local groups and large-scale networks during the late fourth and early third millennium BC in central Europe*, 63–94. Leiden: Sidestone Press.



Figure 1. The shallow water zone off Nußdorf with the alluvial cone of the Nußbach (N). In the 1982 aerial photograph, the brownish shoal of Liebesinsel (white arrow) is clearly visible near the mouth of the Nußbach in the centre of the photo (aerial photograph: J. Köninger 1982).



Figure 2. Lake Constance and the northern Alpine foothills: branches of the lake, tributaries, other inland waterways and natural landscapes (base map generated from LiDAR data provided by Landesamt für Denkmalpflege Baden-Württemberg). Locations: Nu Nußdorf-Strandbad; Me Meersburg; Kn Konstanz; Fn Friedrichshafen; Ab Arbon; Br Bregenz; 1 Alpine Rhine; 2 Argen; 3 Schussen; 4 Rotach; 5 Seefelder Aach; 6 Stockacher Aach; 7 Radolfzeller Aach; 8 High Rhine; 9 Thur.



Figure 3. Nußdorf-Strandbad, sondage trenches and recorded surface areas (yellow 1981, 1992-1993) around the Horgen cultural layer (H). 1 Sn19/34, Q193.196.199/ O349C/D (1992/93); 2 Sn4, O40 and 41/ A8 (1981/82); 3 Sn5, Q50 and 51/A18 (1981/82); 4 A19 (1981/82) profile D; A exploration point; Q =square; Sn = section; stars: single finds.

Nußdorf-Strandbad

The Nußdorf-Strandbad settlement on lake Überlingen is one of the first pile dwellings to be discovered, having been found in the 1860s. It is located in the shallow zone east of the mouth of the Nußbach, a small stream on the north shore of lake Überlingen. It includes settlement areas of the Younger Neolithic Hornstaader group and the Early Pfyn culture. Additionally, there are scattered finds of the Corded Ware culture and of the Early and Late Bronze Age. The Horgen settlement is situated on the tip of a protruding shoal, the so-called Love Island (Figure 3).

An early inventory of lake Constance pile dwellings was begun with the Lake Constance/Upper Swabia Project of the State Office for Cultural Management Baden-Württemberg (Landesamt für Denkmalpflege Baden-Württemberg) in the winter of 1981/1982 (Billamboz and Schlichtherle 1981, 41–42) and was a prelude to further underwater sondages in 1992 and 1993 (Figure 3) (Köninger 1999, 19–30; Köninger and Schlichtherle 1993, 73–78). The onset of increasing surface erosion, beginning in the 1960s and particularly marked in the 1980s and 1990s, had washed free finds which ended up in private collections. The following paper is based on both the materials collected from secure contexts in the course of the diving sondages, and on recorded finds from the Horgen cultural layer collected from the eroding surface and housed in private collections.

Horgen cultural layer

The Horgen cultural layer, from which the finds come, is mostly between 10–20 cm, but up to 50 cm thick (Figure 4). Apart from erosion processes at the lakeside margin, the cultural layer has been extensively disturbed by shovel excavations probably of the late nineteenth and early twentieth century (see Figure 5). However, in the areas with deeper water on the lakeward side of the settlement, these interventions reach depths of little more than 20 cm. Here, settlement deposits of 50 cm thickness have been preserved in trough-shaped depressions, with layer thickness varying between 15 and 50 cm even over short distances. This unusual pattern can probably be traced back to several mutually reinforcing causes. It is conceivable that there were shallow troughs prior to the deposition of the Horgen cultural layer which were



Figure 4. Nußdorf-Strandbad 1992/1993, section A. Original (below) and interpretative redrawing (above) of the section.







Figure 6. Nußdorf-Strandbad, plan of the dated piles and building structures of the Middle Horgen 2a (MH2a). The timber numbers of the piles are supplemented with the last two digits of the wane dating (e.g. 217_76: timber number 217, dated to 3176 BC; sapwood boundary dating only indicated by "S-" without year). Top right: cumulative chart of impact dates (wane dates only). Green: number of young trees (<50 annual rings; see Nelle and Billamboz 2020, 133-40).

deepened and extended under the additional load of the settlement deposits. On the lakeward side of the settlement, tipped piles and sloping layers near the boundary of the shallow zone indicate subsidence in the underlying lake marl. Taken together, this may have acted as a sediment trap and ensured that, in some circumscribed areas, preservation of the Horgen cultural layer was up to 50 cm thick (Köninger 2020, 34).

The deposit consists of organic detritus, which is split by two distinct fire layers in the landward sondage profile A (Figure 4). Two additional fire events are peripherally recorded in profile A and recognisable by charred wooden remains. It is uncertain whether the entire settlement was affected by a conflagration or just individual houses (Köninger 2020, 33). In any case, the stratigraphic evidence reflects several phases of construction, which is also supported by dendrochronological examination of the oak timbers (Nelle and Billamboz 2020, 136–39). However, individual layer sections must have been deposited within a narrow time frame, as indicated by matching sherds for section 4.2–4.6 (detritus – fire layer – detritus) and a branch obliquely cutting across the 30 cm thick detritus deposit 4.11u at the base of the layer (Köninger 2020, 33). The sequence of the feature indicates no long-term interruptions of settlement and disruption to the settlement sequence due to increasing water levels can be largely excluded on the basis of the palaeolimnological investigations.

The dendrochronological examination of the recovered oak timbers indicated two settlement phases in close succession, with the second settlement phase consisting of three construction phases (Nelle and Billamboz 2020, 136–38). The first settlement phase (MH1; MH=Middle Horgen), confirmed by seven timbers, dates to W3176–3175 (all dates BC; W=wane/Waldkante), the three building phases of the second settlement phases date to W3169–3160 (MH2a), W3149–3140 (MH2b) and W3131–3127 (MH2c). The dated oak piles allow reconstruction of 3–4 m wide and approximately 11 m long two-aisled buildings that stood close together, arranged in two rows (Figure 6). A total of five building ground plans were recorded.

The links between the Horgen layer and the dendrodates are sparse. Two stratified timbers with dendrodates of S3125 (S=sapwood dating) and W3128 from the



Alleshausen-Grundwiesen; Ol3 Olzreute-Enzisholz 3; Sr Wolpertswende-Schreckensee, TwI Alleshausen-TäschenwiesenI; DC dendrochronology. Data lake Constance: Billamboz and Maier 2009; Bleicher 2009; Bollacher 2001; de Capitani 2002; Kolb 1993; Köninger 2009; Nelle and Billamboz 2020; Schlichtherle 2004; 2009. Data Upper Swabia: -igure 7. Phasing of the Horgen culture at lake Constance and the Horgen culture and Goldberg III group in Upper Swabia. Ceramic complexes and dendro data. Ag Bleicher 2009; Schlichtherle 1999; Wolf et al. 2016.

		Coromico	TCo	Stone	Chart	Bono	Antior	Daub	Total
		Ceramics	100	Stone	Chert	Bone	Antier	Daub	IULAI
sondages	number	2669	30	82	136	2235	13	891	6056
	weight (g)	108692	638	15391	1037	6047	436	26823	159064
collections	number	2522	62	63	250	13	-	-	2910
	weight (g)	87492	950	112119	1500	100	-	-	202161

Table1. Nußdorf-Strandbad, finds from sondages 1981–1993 and collections. Number and weight broken down by find categories. TCe: textile-decorated ceramics.







Figure 10. Nußdorf-Strandbad, vessel with biconical profile and stamped band along the rim.



Figure 9. Nußdorf-Strandbad, pottery. Shape and decorative spectrum (drawings LAD, J. Köninger and H. Schlichtherle).

		_	Gr	Can	Can-Pri	RSt	Pri/Pe	В	B-Can	B-Pri/Pe	B-Fi	Fi-Pri	Fi-Can/Pri	Fi	FN	Total
Dec total	No	15	m	19	19	2	188	115	-	48	7	2	2	48	2	471
	%	3.2	0.6	4.0	4.0	0.4	39.9	24.4	0.2	10.2	1.5	0.4	0.4	10.2	0.4	100
RS dec total	No	ß	-	13	11	2	159	48	0	41	ß	-	2	36	۲	325
	%	1.5	0.3	4.0	3.4	9.0	48.9	14.8	0	12.6	1.5	0.3	9.0	11.1	0.3	100
Nu81-93 dec total	No	-	0	12	9	-	81	71	-	20	-	2	-	18	0	215
	%	0.5	0	5.6	2.8	0.5	37.7	33.0	0.5	9.3	0.5	0.9	0.5	8.4	0	100
Nu81-93 RS dec	° Z	-	0	10	ß	-	64	30	0	17	-	-	0	12	0	142
	%	0.7	0	7.0	3.5	0.7	45.1	21.1	0	12.0	0.7	0.7	0	8.5	0	100
Nu81-93 dec layer 4	°Z	-	0	9	-	2	27	29	0	∞	0	-	0	10	0	85
	%	1.3	0	7.1	1.2	2.4	31.8	34.1	0	9.4	0	1.2	0	11.8	0	100
Table 2. Nußdorf-Stra	ndbad, p	otterv ve	ssels. Num	a pher and p	bercentage	of ornam	iental types.	. Total as	semblage	e includinc	i collecti	ons (tota) and assem	blage fror	n the sonc	lades

THE EVE OF DESTRUCTION?

lakeward area of the culture layer were found in the upper part of the layer and in the lake marl above it, respectively. Therefore, for the lakeward parts of the culture layer, we can envisage that the Horgen stratigraphic complex was deposited before 3128 BC or, taking into account the life cycle of the timbers, a little later (Köninger 2020, 35). Five dendro-dated piles which puncture the Horgen layer suggest a similar dating framework (Köninger 2020, 35). The finds themselves can be attributed to the Middle Horgen (Köninger 2020, 35–38). Figure 7 provides an overview of the phasing of the Horgen culture at lake Constance and in Upper Swabia (Köninger 2020, 35–38).

The find materials — ceramics

ίΞ

Nu81-93) are listed separately. RS rim sherd; dec decorated; Lincised line; Gr groove; Can fluting/cannelure; Pri pricking; RSt rectangular stamp; Pe perforation; B band;

înger impressions; FN fingernail impressions.

The Horgen find assemblage consists of the finds from the sondages and rescue excavations of the State Office (c. 6000 finds) and from private collections (c. 2900 finds). It is thus one of the most extensive find assemblages of the Horgen culture on lake Constance. Apart from bone, ceramics are the dominant type of find in terms of number of pieces and weight (Table 1) and the most informative type of find regarding non-local elements. The pottery is predominantly typical of the Horgen style, the surfaces are mostly hand-smoothened and grey to light beige in colour. Quartz and chert were predominantly used as tempering agents, but additions of sand and grog were also common. Small stones up to a centimetre in diameter and organic materials were rare.

A handful of sherds were tempered differently, with calcareous grit and haematite (Figure 8), but the red-staining haematite is rather to be understood as a natural component of the raw clay (Köninger 2020, 42). The existence of multiple fracture lines indicates that the pots were probably mostly constructed using coiling techniques. The bases are sometimes connected to the lower walls, sometimes the lower wall is placed on the base plate, and more rarely the bases are inserted into the already formed walls.

In terms of shape, pots with tapering rims prevail, straight rims are more unusual, curved and funnel-shaped rims are rarer still (Köninger 2020, 43 tab. 9). In contrast, the pot with a biconical shoulder (*Knickwand*) (Figure 9.29; Figure 10) and a bowl of nearly identical profile (Figure 9.30) are atypical. An amphora-like handled vessel and a handled pot/beaker, as well as other handles and lugs (Figure 9.6–8.10–12), are extraneous to the Horgen range of vessel forms.

The ceramic ornamentation is extraordinarily rich, going far beyond the fluting, rows of holes, incised and grooved decoration usually found under the rim (Table 2). It includes fingertip-impressed decorations, typical for the lake Constance area and Upper Swabia, in varied combinations, alongside diffusely arranged fine dotted incisions. First and foremost, however, the ornamental
		B-indet	DB	NB	SB	B-seg	StB	B total	Dec total
Dec total	No	6	99	7	44	18	1	175	471
	%	1.3	21.0	1.5	9.3	3.8	0.2	37.2	100
RS dec total	No	4	49	3	25	14	1	96	325
	%	1.2	15.1	0.9	7.7	4.3	0.3	29.5	100
Nu81-93 dec total	No	5	52	4	22	8	1	92	215
	%	2.3	24.2	1.9	10.2	3.7	0.5	42.8	100
Nu81-93 RS dec	No	3	23	2	12	8	1	49	142
	%	2.1	16.2	1.4	8.5	5.6	0.7	34.5	100
Nu81-93 dec layer 4	No	1	17	2	7	3	1	31	85
	%	1.2	20.0	2.4	8.2	3.5	1.2	36.5	100

Table 3. Nußdorf-Strandbad, band ornamentation on pottery vessels. Number and percentage of ornamental types. Total assemblage including collections (total) and assemblage from the sondages (Nu81–93) are listed separately. RS rim sherd; dec decorated; B-indet indeterminate bands; DB dotted bands; NB notched bands; SB smooth bands; B-seg band segments (short bands); StB stamped bands.

spectrum is surprising due to the high proportion (between 30 and 40 % of the ornaments depending on the counting method) of vessels decorated with richly varied sculpted bands (Leistenware) (Table 3). Most of these bands are dotted (Tupfenleiste) or smooth (glatte Leiste), but there are also notched ones (Kerbleiste) and short segments (Kurzleiste/Leistensegment), as well as a stamped band (Stempelleiste) and one vessel with multiple bands (Mehrfachleiste) (Figure 11). There are also a rich variety of knobs (Figure 9), in particular so-called ring (indented) knobs (*Ringknubbe/gedellte Knubbe/Ringlinse*) (Figure 9.13–15), vertical lugs/ribs (Vertikalknubbe/ *Rippen*) and gynaecomorphic double lugs (*Doppelknubbe*) (Figure 9.17.22).

Finally, ornamentation is applied to the vessel body using incision techniques (*Ritzziertechnik*; Figure 9.1–6, Figure 12). Concentrically arranged hanging semi-circular patterns (Figure 9.1.4–6) are interpreted as sun symbols. So-called genealogical motifs include fir branches or fishbone-like incised lines and bundles of lines with zigzags connecting both sides (Figure 9.2–3). According to H. Schlichtherle (2016), fir branch patterns are genealogical motifs used since the Early Neolithic to symbolise ancestral lines. The zigzag lines are thought to represent a superimposed anthropomorphic figure shown in the act of giving birth.

Internally "decorated" bases are another specific feature of the Nußdorf ceramics, 54 of a total of 193 base sherds (c. 28 %) have impressions of fingertips on the inside (Figure 9.35–36, Figure 13). The fingertip impressions can be distinct from each other and form a dotted pattern, or can be overlapping and sometimes drawn out. They were evidently intentionally applied and not "accidently" created during the making of the pots. The distribution of the internally stippled bases reaches as far as the Paris Basin, but concentrates around lake Constance and in the western part of Switzerland (Figure 14). At lake Constance, lake Zurich and in western Switzerland, their dating range is uniformly in the thirty-second and thirty-first centuries BC, with most finds dating to the thirty-second century. In contrast, according to ¹⁴C dates, the stippled bases of the Groupe Gord date much younger (Köninger 2020, 54–55).

Further ceramic features include textile tools, mainly spindle whorls, of which there are 95 pieces in various forms. Only five of them are decorated (Figure 15). Except for "decorated" bases and incised motif ornamentation, most of the non-local ceramic elements were identified as input from the Danubian region (see below).

Spatial distribution of non-local elements

Only some of the non-local ceramic elements in Nußdorf are limited to individual buildings, despite the multiple taphonomic filters of the old excavations and collecting activities extending over decades. Thus, the ceramics from the two lakeside buildings 2 and 5 clearly show more varied influences from the Danubian area (Figure 16) than, for example, building 4, which is located landwards of them. Here, simple rows of finger-impressions and perforated rims of different shapes, all common in Horgen, are frequent. The ceramic decorations seem to differ in emphasis from building to building, with Danubian influences and possible Wartberg elements (see below) playing a role, especially in building 5. In any case, Danubian-influenced pottery is documented for all house sites and not limited to only a few, as in Zurich-Parkhaus Opéra 3 (Weber 2016, 49).



Figure 11. Nußdorf-Strandbad, vessels with applied plastic bands. Smooth bands (5 and 7), segmented bands (8 and 1), stamped band (4), spotted or stippled band (3), notched bands (2 and 6), multiple bands (7). Various scales (photos LAD, M. Erne).

Figure 12. (right) Nußdorf-Strandbad. Pottery with incised decoration (photo LAD, M. Erne).



Figure 13. (above) Nußdorf-Strandbad. Base with internal dotted decoration (photo LAD, M. Erne).

72





Figure 14. Cultural groups in the thirty-second century BC and sites with internally dotted bases. 19 and 20 belong to the younger Groupe Gord (after Köninger 2020, 54–55 fig. 66). Base map after Schlichtherle, LAD, supplemented. Regional groups of the Horgen culture: I lake Constance and Upper Swabia including the northern part of the Alpine Rhine valley; II central Switzerland; III western Switzerland and eastern France. Sites: 1 Nußdorf-Strandbad; 2 Sipplingen-Osthafen; 3 Ludwigshafen-Seehalde; 4 Bodman-Weiler I; 5 Bad Buchau-Dullenried; 6 Goldburghausen "Goldberg"; 7 Mumpf-Kapf; 8 Pfäffikon-Burg; 9 Horgen-Scheller (courtesy R. Ebersbach); 10 Muntelier-Platzbünden; 11 Portalban les Grèves; 12 Gletterens les Grèves; 13 Chevroux; 14 Yvonand IV; 15 Saint-Blaise "Bains des Dames"; 16 Auvernier-les Graviers; 17 Concise-la Lance; 18 Chalain 3; 19 Écury-le-Repos; 20 Paris Bercy.



Figure 15. Nußdorf-Strandbad, textile tools. Fired clay spindle whorls of different sizes and states of preservation.



Figure 16. Nußdorf-Strandbad, distribution of pottery with different decorative features. For knobs, handles and plastic decorations, each symbol represents one find.

The wider context: Horgen applied decorations

The origin of the Horgen applied plastic decorations and other non-local elements

Applied plastic decorations do not belong to the classical spectrum of Horgen ceramic ornamentation in southern Germany or central and eastern Switzerland. They appear at lake Constance for the first time during the earliest Horgen culture at Arbon Bleiche 3, together with Baden-Boleráz pottery (de Capitani 2002, 209–16, 268–70 figs 362.6, 364.6–8). During the middle Horgen culture, they go on to become one of the influential elements of ceramic ornamentation, at least in the find assemblage of Nußdorf-Strandbad.

Traditionally, applied decorations, especially notched and stippled bands, belong to the ceramic repertoire of the Late Neolithic cultural groups (Späteolithikum sensu Lüning 1996) located east and north-east of lake Constance. There, they are found frequently and are sometimes rich in variety, for example in the Cham group, or as the case may be, the Baden culture in Bavaria (see below), the Burgerroth/Altenberg group in Franconia (Matuschik 1999; also Link 2016, 124) or the Wartberg group in Hesse (Schwellnus 1979). From there, most likely via the Cham/Baden culture, the applied decoration techniques could have spread to Upper Swabia and lake Constance by the middle Horgen culture. Linked to these cultural groups are the biconical profiles, the ring knobs, the double lugs and vertical knobs, as well as the numerous spindle whorls.

In the case of the Middle Horgen, problems are still caused by the fact that potential mediating cultural groups from a comparable time horizon — such as the Early Cham culture or a possible independent Baden horizon in Bavaria — are only weakly attested by find



Figure 17. Sites of Horgen pottery with applied plastic bands and multiple bands in the southern foothills of the Alps (for further literature see Köninger 2020, 50 fig. 58). 1 Nußdorf-Strandbad; 2 Bad Buchau-Dullenried; 3 Sipplingen-Osthafen; 4 Ludwigshafen-Seehalde; 5 Bodman-Weiler I; 6 Wallhausen-Ziegelhütte; 7 Dingelsdorf indet.; 8 Wangen-Hinterhorn; 9 Schallstadt-auf der Leimgrub; 10 Zürich-Parkhaus Opéra 3; 11 Zurich-KanSan 4; 12 Greifensee-Furren; 13 Pfäffikon-Burg; 14 Uetikon-Schifflände; 15 Feldmeilen-Vorderfeld; 16 Hünenberg-Chämleten; 17 Muntelier-Platzbünden; 18 Lüscherz-Bingeli; 19 Sutz-Lattrigen; 20 Twann OH; 21 Lac Chalain 3. cVIII; 22 Borscht-Schellenberg; 23 Eschen-Lutzengüetle; 24 Wartau-Ochsenberg; 25 Untervaz-Haselboden; 26 Tamins-Crestis; 27 Cazis-Petrushügel; 28 Bellinzona "Castel Grande"; 29 Bellinzona "Carasso-Lusanico"; 30 Ascona "San Michele"; 31 Breno, Valcamonica; 32 Isera-La Toretta 5.

material and ¹⁴C dates, and thus remain badly understood (see below section "Cham, Horgen and Goldberg III"; Gohlisch 2005, 145–55; Köninger *et al.* 2001, 648–49; Matuschik 1990, 434; 2001, 675–76, 716; Ottaway 1999; 2001, 17–18; Raetzel-Fabian 2001a, 110–12, 440; Raßhofer 2017, 77–110, 103 fig. 31).

The introduction of applied plastic decoration from the Alpine Rhine valley (Bollacher 2001, 217), on the other hand, is highly unlikely. Applied decoration styles are not found there and, apart from a few exceptions in the northern Alpine Rhine valley (Itten 1970, pl. 45.1–4), smooth bands dominate.

Distribution and dating of Horgen applied plastic decorations

As far as dendro-data allow an assessment, all the ceramic complexes with applied decorations mentioned above date to the thirty-second century BC (Köninger 2020, 48–51). The different types of plastic decorations show four different regions of distribution (Figure 17):

1. In the lake Constance area, with Upper Swabia bordering to the north, plastic decorations are represented in many variations and large numbers. In addition to smooth, notched and segmented bands, there are mainly single



Figure 18. Thirty-second century BC lakeshore settlements on lake Constance (base map generated from LiDAR data provided by Landesamt für Denkmalpflege Baden-Württemberg). 1 Nußdorf-Strandbad; 2 Überlingen-Osthafen; 3 Maurach-Ziegelhütte; 4 Unteruhldingen-Stollenwiesen; 5 Sipplingen-Osthafen; 6 Ludwigshafen-Seehalde; 7 Ludwigshafen-Holzplatz; 8 Bodman-Weiler I; 9 Wallhausen-Ziegelhütte; 10 Dingelsdorf-Seewiesen; 11 Dingelsdorf, station unknown; 12 Allensbach-Strandbad; 13 Hornstaad-Hörnle V; 14 Wangen-Hinterhorn; 15 Steckborn-Turgi; 16 Ermatingen-Westerfeld; 17 Arbon-Bleiche 1.

stippled bands around the vessel's circumference. The numerous notched plastic decorations along the rim in the Dullenried assemblage are striking.

- 2. In central and eastern Switzerland, plastic decorations occur only sporadically; here they are predominantly smooth bands. Dotted and multiple bands are only occasionally present.
- 3. In the Alpine Rhine valley and in canton Ticino between Liechtenstein and Ascona — multiple bands are common. It is unclear to what extent smaller sherds with smooth bands belong to vessels with multiple bands. There are only few stippled bands.
- 4. In western Switzerland and eastern France, Horgen plastic decorations are rare and limited to individual sites. Apart from a few smooth bands from lake Murten and lake Biel, the Horgen ware from Lac Chalain, decorated with stippled bands, is an exception.

The Alpine Rhine valley is thus divided into two parts. The north, up to about Liechtenstein, can be linked with the lake Constance region on the basis of the circumferential finger-impressed bands and plastic decorations of Eschen-Lutzengüetle (Itten 1970), while the area to the south with its smooth multiple bands belongs to the Alpine region.

Horgen lakeside settlements of the thirtysecond century BC at lake Constance

Based on dendro-data and the presence of vessels with plastic decoration similar to the Nußdorf ceramics, 17 shore settlements of the thirty-second century BC can be identified among the numerous Horgen sites of lake Constance (Figure 18). They are mainly located on the shores of lake Überlingen, where they are mostly attested by ceramics with applied plastic decoration. On the other parts of the lake, settlements of the thirty-second century BC are predominantly attested by dendro-dates, a sure sign that the spatial distribution has been masked by taphonomic factors. This fits with the fact that they are predominantly standard settlement sites, such as Wangen-Hinterhorn, Allensbach-Strandbad or Arbon Bleiche. It is also striking that the repeatedly documented shore sections of Nußdorf-Überlingen, Bodman-Ludwigshafen and Maurach-Unteruhldingen connect the lake Constance area to the north via the streams Stockacher and Seefelder Aach.

Comparison of Horgen assemblages

Typologically comparable pottery assemblages from the lake Constance area and from Upper Swabia are rare and relatively small. The closest parallels from lake Constance are the ceramics from Sipplingen-Osthafen, ensemble SiJ (Kolb 1993, layer 13A) and ensemble SiK (Kolb 1993, layer 13B) (ensemble denomination after Matuschik and Müller 2023, 58–60, 163–72) and the finds from the wetland settlement of Bad Buchau-Dullenried (Bollacher 2001) in the Federseeried, excavated in the 1920s. A representative assemblage from lake Zurich is the recently excavated site Zurich-Parkhaus Opéra 3 (Harb and Bleicher 2016).

Sipplingen-Osthafen ensemble SiJ, lake Constance

The ceramic assemblage of this ensemble (3150–3148 BC) includes 28 usable rim, decorated wall, and base pieces (Figure 19). The pot forms are rather profiled with inverted, straight or funnel-shaped rims. The bases are more or less stepped (Figure 19.19–28). Perforated rims, stippled rim lips, circumferential finger impressions and fluting are present, as well as smooth and stippled plastic bands. Rim and base forms largely correspond to the spectrum known from layer 4 at Nußdorf. With the exception of the cord-decorated sherds of a profiled pot (Figure 19.3) and the rim sherd of a small biconical bowl, extensively decorated with shallow incisions (Figure 19.4), the decorative spectrum is also found in Nußdorf. Spindle whorls, on the other hand, are missing, as are internally stippled bases. These are found in the overlying layer 13B (ensemble SiK), which is dated to 3085–3060 BC. Among the 19 sherds catalogued from



Figure 19. Sipplingen-Osthafen, ensemble SiJ. Complete pottery vessel inventory (after Kolb 1993, layer 13A).

ensemble SiK, however, there are none with applied plastic decoration (Kolb 1993, 207; the pot decorated with notched bands, pl. 22.162, comes from layer 13 — see catalogue Kolb 1993, 10; in the plate caption it is erroneously assigned to layer 13B).

Bad Buchau-Dullenried, Upper Swabia

The find assemblage, excavated in the 1920s (Figure 20), is dendrochronologically undated. ¹⁴C dates from the 2000/2001 post-excavation study fall between 3332 and 3035 calBC (Schlichtherle 2004, 21). The multi-phased construction of the settlement possibly indicates a certain temporal depth for the find material (Schlichtherle 2004, 19). 122 vessel sherds and three spindle

whorls were available for evaluation (Bollacher 2001). The range of shapes basically consists exclusively of pots with predominantly straight to inverted mouths. Curved or stepped rim forms are only documented four and two times respectively and are thus the exception (Bollacher 2001, 205). Three vessels reported as beakers (Bollacher 2001) (e.g. Figure 20.7) can also be seen as small pots.

The decoration spectrum is dominated by occasional fluting and a few perforated rims (incisions and actual perforations combined), single circumferential rows of finger impressions (Figure 20.22.23.26–27) and horizontal borders (Figure 20.1–3.9.11–12). Segmented plastic bands, also known as short bands (*Kurzleisten*), are relatively common (Figure 20.1), but are rarely found in Nußdorf.



Figure 20. Bad Buchau-Dullenried. Selection of pottery vessels and textile tools (after Bollacher 2001).

It is also noticeable that the bands are often marginal (Figure 20.1–3.9.12) (Bollacher 2001, 206–07). Smooth bands are rare (Figure 20.20.26). The pot with a circumferential bulge (Figure 20.21) suggests a biconical vessel profile of the kind that later becomes popular in the context of the Goldberg III group of Upper Swabia (Schlichtherle 1999, 35–48; see below). In addition, some bases are stippled on the inside (Figure 20.15). This means that the Dullenried pottery is easily comparable with that from layer 4 of Nußdorf-Strandbad.

A cleft-hafted antler sleeve, spindle whorls as well as elbowshaped wooden hafts with parallel cleft hafts fit easily into the inventory of the Middle Horgen culture (Bollacher 2001, 224–25, 284 fig. 63). It is noticeable that marginal notched bands and so-called short or segmented bands occur much more frequently in Dullenried than in Nußdorf. In the context of the Cham culture of Bavaria, marginal bands are attributed to the arcade rims of the Altheim culture (Matuschik 2001, 676) and are thus regarded as an indication of an older period. Together with the fact that short bands in Nußdorf also occur in the landward side of the settlement area, i.e. potentially before 3169 BC, this could mean that Dullenried has to be dated somewhat earlier than the bulk of the Nußdorf pottery.

Taken together, the two inventories from Nußdorf and Dullenried in the lake Constance/Upper Swabia region are trendsetting and at the same time characterise the ceramic facies of the "Nußdorf-Dullenried type", which can be dated to the thirty-second century BC (Köninger 2009, 109; Schlichtherle 2004, 18).



Figure 21. Zürich-Parkhaus Opéra 3. Selection of pottery vessels and textile tools (after Harb and Bleicher 2016).

Zürich-Parkhaus Opéra 3, lake Zürich

The rescue excavations carried out from April 2010 to the end of January 2011 during the construction of an underground car park in front of the opera house in the centre of Zurich (Bleicher and Harb 2015, 9) yielded one of the most extensive find assemblages of the thirty-second century BC for eastern Horgen in layer 13, an assemblage now known as Opéra 3 (Figure 21). The linked dendro-dates between 3176 and 3153 BC (around 3165 BC) fall within the time frame of Nußdorf-Strandbad (Bleicher and Harb 2015; 2017; Harb and Bleicher 2016).

The pottery spectrum is predominantly distinguished by slightly profiled, globular vessels, which are mostly decorated below the rim with grooves or fluting and rows of holes. A rim sherd decorated with plastic bosses (*Lochbuckel*) is remarkable (Figure 21.17). As far as can be determined, rims are predominantly inverted or straight; internally stippled bases are absent (Weber 2016, 32–33).

Considering that 3000 m² were excavated at Zurich-Parkhaus Opéra 3, yielding 26,767 sherds, the number of decorative elements common to the Nußdorf-Strandbad pottery is incredibly small. Five sherds decorated with smooth bands (Figure 21.19) (Weber 2016, 38) and four with circumferential fingernail impressions on the vessel wall (Figure 21.1.10.16) are worth mentioning. Fingernail impressions (Figure 21.1.5.21–22) on the vessel wall, gynaecomorphic double knobs (Figure 21.1.8), a ring (indented) knob and sun or bow motifs (Figure 21.8.11.13) are also present in only limited numbers (Weber 2016, 34–57). Measured against the total quantity of finds, the number of 31 spindle whorls is relatively low (Harb 2016, 202–03).

The selected pottery complexes show striking differences. In the lake Zurich area, perforated rims, fluting and grooved/scored bands (Weber 2016, 39–41) are dominant, while Danubian or north-eastern influences occur only sporadically, as in the other Horgen find assemblages from lake Zurich (e.g. de Capitani 1993, 63 pl. 7.1; Hardmeyer 1994, 83–84; Stöckli 2009, 253 pl. 17B.17; Weber 2016, 43). In addition to the regionally widespread decoration of simple circumferential finger impressions, the Horgen ceramics of the Nußdorf-Dullenried type include



Figure 22. Nußdorf-Strandbad. Vessel with "thickened neck".

Danubian influences, such as applied plastic decorations, vessels with handles or ring knobs. These were to become much more frequent later. Substantial Danubian influences in pottery apparently did not reach beyond the region of lake Constance/Upper Swabia.

Non-local influences — translocality at lake Constance in the thirty-second century BC

Indications of external influences (Bleicher *et al.* 2017, 253–62) in the Nußdorf find assemblage, as in the find material from the other shore settlements on lake Constance, can mainly be deduced from the pottery. The find material will have found its way into the lake Constance pile dwellings either as actual barter or trade goods, as ideas or conventions for their production by people, or through communication.

Long-distance trade routes and communication axes apparently ran along the major river systems (Köninger 2007, 50; Köninger and Schlichtherle 1999, 43–53; 2009, 390; Köninger and Schöbel 2010, 420–21; Mainberger 2016, 349–60; Mottes *et al.* 2002, 119–35), which may have been used less as actual waterways but rather as orientation aids (Mainberger 2016, 350 with dissenting hypothesis). Shallow headwaters and fast-flowing to torrential waters such as the Alpine Rhine would have been navigable with rafts or dugout canoes, if at all, then only to a limited extent, for example when water levels were favourable.

Lake Constance is in a central position in terms of transport geography, as it is indirectly or directly connected to the major central European river systems of the Rhine and the Danube. The Alpine Rhine opens the lake Constance basin to the south towards the central Alpine watershed, to the north it is connected to the Danube via the Schussen and the Federsee basin, and to the west and south-west it opens up via the High Rhine and the Aare. The extent to which the High Rhine area influenced developments further west cannot be determined beyond doubt, although this can be considered in individual cases (see below).

The west

Contacts to the regions west of lake Constance are sparse. Among the pottery, apart from a few stepped rims and the single piece of a pot with thickened neck (*Blähhals*) (Figure 22) (Stöckli 2009, pl. 38A.16), it is mainly



Figure 23. Nußdorf-Strandbad. Sherd with elongated vertical knobs ("ribs") (photo LAD, M. Erne).

the internally stippled bases that are known in some numbers from the Horgen shore settlements of western Switzerland on lakes Neuchâtel and Chalain in eastern France (see Figure 17.17–21). Surprisingly, similarities to eastern France are clearest in the Combe d'Ain, where at Lac de Chalain Station 3, Layer VIII yielded a larger number of internally stippled bases and band-decorated wares (Giligny *et al.* 1995, 314–40). The layer is likely to date between 3182 and 3158 BC on the basis of sapwood boundary dating of stratified timbers (Stöckli 2009, 184). In northern France, there are at least two other sites with internally stippled bases in the context of the Late Neolithic "Groupe Gord", which, however, are likely to be younger than the bulk of the Horgen bases of this type (Salanova *et al.* 2011, 78–79 fig. 1, tab. 1, 85–88 fig. 8).

The east/north-east

A few sherds of pottery are tempered with calcareous grit and haematite. They probably come from the area of the central Swabian Alb, directly to the north of Upper Swabia, where white limestone and nodules of bean iron ore with red haematite occur naturally (Köninger 2007, 23–24).

The majority of the non-local decorative and typological elements in the Nußdorf pottery spectrum are to be found further to the north and east, and predominantly in the Danube region. These include handled vessels, subcutaneously pierced handle lugs and ring knobs (also called "ring lenses" [*Ringlinsen*], Matuschik 1999, 84), the richly varied plastic decorations — dotted, notched, smooth and segmented bands (Matuschik 1999, 84–85; also listed under short bands and stippled or notched knobs) — so-called skimmed or smeared rims (*abgestrichene Ränder*, where a spatula or similar tool has been used



Figure 24. Foreign influences in the central Horgen area on lake Constance and sites mentioned in the text. Arrow sizes reflect intensity of contact (map based on Schlichtherle LAD, supplemented; for further literature see Köninger 2020, 78–79). Sites: 1 Nußdorf-Strandbad; 2 Bad Buchau-Dullenried; 3 Zürich-Parkhaus Opéra 3; 4 Chalain 3, cVIII; 5 Ochsenberg-Wartau; 6 Untervaz-Haselboden; 7 Tamins "Crestis"; 8 Cazis "Petrushügel"; 9 Civate "Bucco della sabbia"; 10 Monte Covolo; 11 Isera-La Toretta; 12 Stare gmajne; 13 Baden "Königshöhle"; 14 Parkstetten; 15 Goldberg; 16 Burgerroth; 17 Stuttgart-Hofen; 18 Stuttgart-Münster "Schnarrenberg"; 19 Stuttgart-Stammheim "Neubaugebiet Süd"; 20 Stuttgart-Stammheim "Sieben Morgen"; 21 Stuttgart-Mühlhausen "Viesenhäuser Hof"; 22 Eyersheimer Mühle; 23 Wiesbaden "Hebekies"; 24 Bad Homburg "Klinikum"; 25 Inheiden "Auf der Mauer". Abbreviations: E noble serpentine (*Edelserpentin*); G antler; Hä haematite and lime-grit temper; K ceramics; M megalith; S flint; SOM Seine-Oise-Marne culture. Regions: I lake Constance/Upper Swabia; II lake Zurich/ central Switzerland; III western Switzerland.

to join the everted portion of the rim to the vessel wall), biconical vessels (see below) and numerous spindle whorls (Köninger *et al.* 2001, 648), for which H. Schlichtherle (1990, 223), following R.A. Maier (1959), already suspected influences from the south-eastern European Baden culture. Individual pieces of Baden ceramics can be found as far as the Nördlinger Ries, following the Danube (Matuschik 2001, 682, 718–19 figs 11–12) and their inspiration is thought to be responsible for the applied plastic decorations found in the Cham culture (Matuschik 2001, 676–84).

A handled biconical bowl with rectangular stamps (socalled *Formstiche* according to Burger's 1988 definition, as seen on the carination of the vessel Figure 9.30) and the biconical pot with a rim stamped in the same way (Figure 9.29) also find comparanda in the Cham culture (Gohlisch 2005, 91 fig. 52,19; Matuschik 1990, pl. 55.3), but also in the Wartberg group of Hesse (Schwellnus 1979, pl. 36.15) and the Globular Amphora culture (Beier 1988, 202 pl. 21.4). Long oval vertical lugs or ribs (Figure 23) are found at the "Alter Berg" near Burgerroth in Lower Franconia (Spennemann 1984, 122 fig. 70.41), as well as among the Cham culture finds at Moosham-Flickermühle (Matuschik 1990, pl. 247.5; 1999, 88 fig. 17.9.10). Finally, rib-like vertical bands are also known on Baden amphorae from Bavaria (Raßhofer 2020, 210, 213), so it is possible that the ribs are a genuinely Baden decorative element. Evidence of lithic material of eastern provenance, in contrast, is the exception. The find of a flint knife is worth mentioning (Kieselbach 2020, 96–99).

The Danubian-oriented contact structure (Figure 24) outlined so far in the Nußdorf pottery can also be found in smaller pottery assemblages of the Nußdorf-Dullenried type and on individual pieces. Noteworthy are the above-mentioned sherds with applied plastic decoration from Ludwigshafen-Seehalde (Figure 25 A), Bodman-Weiler I (Figure 25 B), Dingelsdorf (Figure 25 C), Überlingen-Osthafen



Figure 25. Pottery of Nußdorf-Dullenried type from lake Constance pile dwellings. A Ludwigshafen-Seehalde, layer 5; B Bodman-Weiler I, layer 7; C Dingelsdorf (site indet.; old find); D Überlingen-Osthafen (most likely attribution, old find); E Wallhausen-Ziegelhütte, layer 20 (sherds with plastic decorations, others from the surface of the lake bed); F Wangen-Hinterhorn (old finds). After Köninger 2020, 49 figs 56–57, 85–87 figs 108–10.

(Figure 25 D), Wallhausen-Ziegelhütte layer 20 (Figure 25 E) and Wangen-Hinterhorn (Figure 25 F). A sherd from Sipplingen ensemble SiJ, decorated extensively and slightly pierced on the surface (Figure 19.4), as well as cord-decorated vessel sherds from Ludwigshafen-Seehalde layer 5 (Figure 26) and Sipplingen-Osthafen ensemble SiJ (Figure 19.3), also point to the north and the east.

The decorated bowl with horizontal cord impressions from Ludwigshafen-Seehalde (Figure 26) finds good

parallels at Kopfham-Galgenberg (Ottaway 1999, 108 fig. X3.12b — instead of cord impressions, there are incised lines), but comparable pieces can also be found in the context of the Globular Amphora culture in Poland (Köninger 2007, 47–48). Parallels to the biconical bowl extensively decorated with vertical incisions from Sipplingen ensemble SiJ (layer 13A) (Figure 19.4) are represented in the Cham culture (see Matuschik 1990, pl. 21.7, 133.27) and also occur among the finds of the Wartberg group (see Schwellnus 1978, 36, 47, pl. 27.15, 36.9). Only the vessel



Figure 26. Ludwigshafen-Seehalde, layer 5. Cord-decorated biconical bowl.

with perforated lugs and cord impressions (Figure 19.3) from Sipplingen-Osthafen ensemble SiJ (layer 13A) can be assigned to the Globular Amphora culture (see Szmyt 2003, 107); in any case, no acceptable parallels can be found in the context of the Cham culture (Kolb 1993, 376).

The south

The relatively high number of "noble" serpentine (*Edelserpentin*) axes indicate a link to the south. The deposits of noble serpentine closest to lake Constance are in the Grison Alps (Köninger and Schlichtherle 1999, 43–53). Possible production sites of the axe blades can be found at Cazis-Petrushügel in the immediate vicinity of the deposits around the Piz Platta and Tamins-Crestis, Untervaz-Haselboden and Ochsenberg-Wartau downstream in the Alpine Rhine valley (see Figure 24.5–7). The hilltop settlements belong to the Alpine group of the Horgen culture, whose distribution reaches as far as canton Ticino and thus crosses the main Alpine watershed.

The provenance of the few Jurassic flints in the Nußdorf inventory is thought to be west of lake Garda near Monti Lessini (Kieselbach 2020, 98), and thus from the southern foothills of the Alps. It is uncertain whether the perforated rim with horizontal multiple bands from Nußdorf-Strandbad (Figure 9.25, Figure 11.7) also points in this direction. The corresponding pottery of the Tamins-Carasso type also has multiple plastic decorations, but the spacing between the bands is much greater and the rims are not usually perforated (Primas 1979, 13–27). The smooth multiple bands from the Cham context, which can also be associated with perforated rims, actually make a better match (Gohlisch 1999, 58–59 figs 3–4; Matuschik 1990, pl. 253.1a).

Cham, Horgen and Goldberg III

As already mentioned, most of the non-local elements on the Nußdorf ceramics are found in the context of the Cham culture, which is widespread in the Bavarian Alpine foothills along the Danube and in the Franconian Jura (Matuschik 1999, 87). In general, the cultural groups of Altenberg/Wartberg/Bernburg, which are located further north, are linked to the Cham culture by numerous similarities, including perforated rims (Matuschik 1990, 493), so that these decorative and formal elements may also partly indicate contacts with these cultural groups (see above).

The problem is that these comparative Cham culture finds almost all come from later Cham assemblages (on the internal division of the Cham culture see Matuschik 1992; 1999, 83–92; 2001, 675–82), which according to ¹⁴C dates is most likely dated to the twenty-ninth/twenty-eighth century BC, at least after 3000 BC (Gohlisch 2005, 131–35, 146, 155 fig. 89; Stöckli 2009, 147–52). They are therefore clearly younger than the Nußdorf ceramics. According to ¹⁴C dates, the earliest possible beginning of the Early Cham culture lies in the thirty-first century BC or not much later than 3000 BC (Gohlisch 2005, 145). One reason to postulate an earlier onset of the Cham culture perhaps in the thirty-second century BC (Matuschik 2001, 675) are the dendro-dated Nußdorf finds themselves. In this respect — pots without plots?

Find assemblages which can be dated with some degree of certainty to the thirty-second century BC do exist in Lower Bavaria, but their cultural affiliation is disputed. If one follows G. Raßhofer (2017, 107), it is a matter of judgement whether one considers the Lower Bavarian find assemblages with Baden pottery to indicate an independent Baden settlement phase (Engelhardt 2011, 153), or whether one assigns them to an Early Cham group (Matuschik 2001, 683–84). Both Early Cham, Classic Baden in Lower Bavaria (Raßhofer 2017, 77) and an older phase of Cham following Gohlisch (2005, 146) are only sparsely attested by finds (Figure 27), so the possibilities for comparison are limited.

Were these influences visible on the pottery instead to be ascribed in a general way to the Wartberg/Bernburg or Globular Amphora cultural groups further north or east, which according to ¹⁴C dates (Raetzel-Fabian 2002, 5 fig. 2; Szmyt 2003, 112 tab. 2) are more likely to be contemporary with Middle Horgen, the problem would merely be



Figure 27. Comparative finds from Bavaria, Upper Swabia and lake Constance. 1 Altenmarkt, Baden/Early Cham? (after Raßhofer 2017); 2 Galgenberg, Early/Older? Cham (after Ottaway 1999); 3 Bad-Buchau-Dullenried, Middle Horgen (after Bollacher 2001); 4 Sipplingen-Osthafen, Middle? Horgen (old find); 5 Hienheim, Early/Older? Cham (after Modderman 1971); 6 Bad-Buchau-Dullenried, Middle Horgen (see Figure 20.21).

displaced, since only the Cham and Goldberg III cultural groups could act as possible mediators, unless one were to envisage transmission via the Upper Rhine (see Figure 24). On the one hand, however, there are only a few sites (Figure 24.17–20) between the Wetterau and the area around the confluence of the Neckar and the Rhine which could prove this (Raetzel-Fabian 1990, 161–76), and on the other hand, their find material is difficult to classify precisely, both chronologically and culturally.

The heterogeneous find assemblage from the old excavations at Eyersheim mill (Figure 24.8) (Bantelmann 1984, 16-36 pl. 1-7) with stab-and-drag ornamented pottery, cord decorations, biconical profiles and two antler sleeves could cover a longer time period, roughly between the thirty-third and thirtieth/twenty-ninth centuries BC. The pottery from Bad Homburg "Klinikum" (Figure 24.10) (Meyer 2010, 28), decorated with textile impressions and presented descriptively in preliminary report form, is more likely to date to the thirtieth/twenty-ninth centuries BC. This also applies to the finds from Inheiden "Auf der Mauer" with collared bottles, biconical bowls and cups and biconical vessels (Figure 24.20) (Sailer 1998, 243 fig. 40). Typologically comparable pieces to the finds from Wiesbaden "Hebenkies" (Figure 24.18), namely to the sherds with elongated perforated knobs (Bantelmann et al. 1980, 226 fig. 23.3-10), can be found among the finds from the "Alter Berg" near Burgerroth (Spennemann 1984, 122 fig. 70.5), which have

been ¹⁴C-dated to the middle of the third millennium BC (Link 2016, 123). In contrast, the ¹⁴C date of 4610 ± 50 BP (3410 ± 50 calBC) obtained at Hebenkies (Bantelmann *et al.* 1980, 233) would in any case fall before 3200 BC.

The long-distance connection via the Upper Rhine and Middle Rhine to the mountain ranges of central Germany is, therefore, definitely an option that should be kept open, also in view of the partly contradictory dating approaches, even though it is currently only weakly documented and cannot contribute anything substantial to the problem of Early Cham or Early Goldberg III, given that a good part of the non-local elements in the Nußdorf material is clearly of Danubian character.

The resulting hypothesis could therefore be that there must have been an early phase of the Goldberg III group or Cham culture in the thirty-second century BC, whose find material is, however, currently difficult to characterise. In the case of the Older Cham, this could be indicated by the statistically less probable sections in the 2σ range of the ¹⁴C data series (Matuschik 1999, 83 fig. 12); for Early Cham or Classic Baden in Lower Bavaria, this hypothesis, supported by the four ¹⁴C dates from Parkstetten (Raßhofer 2017, 103 fig. 31), is already more probable. The hypothetically assumed thirtysecond century Early Cham culture in Bavaria is thus a little more than just an unsatisfactory construct resulting from the aforementioned dilemma, but is in the process



Figure 28. Bad Buchau-Torwiesen II. Ceramic spectrum (after Schlichtherle 2004, 18 fig. 7).

of being substantiated by ¹⁴C dates and find material (see Figure 27).

For the early phase of the Goldberg III group, the starting point is more favourable. While the dendro-dates of the Goldberg III group of Upper Swabia, neighbouring the lake Constance area, lie between 2906 and 2856 BC (Wolf *et al.* 2016, 79–80), contours of an Early Goldberg III are beginning to emerge for the central Neckar region thanks to ¹⁴C dates falling well before 3000 BC and the associated find material from the sites and pithouses of Mühlhausen "Viesenhäuser Hof", Hofen, Stammheim "Sieben Morgen"

and "Neubaugebiet Süd" to the north-east of Stuttgart (Matuschik and Schlichtherle 2009, 35, 48–49; Schlichtherle and Joachim 2008, 42–43). At these sites, biconical bowls (Schlichtherle and Joachim 2008, 41 fig. 20.1.4), wall sherds of collared bottles (Matuschik and Schlichtherle 2009, 48–49, 52–53, pl. 5.68.78), and applied plastic decorations (Matuschik and Schlichtherle 2009. pl. 5.69.70.73.74.76), as well as antler sleeves with strikingly elaborate extended lobes (Matuschik and Schlichtherle 2009 pl. 1.5, 4.57), underline the mediating role of the middle Neckar region between north and south even for the thirty-second century BC.



Figure 29. Wallhausen-Ziegelhütte, layer 2a. Ceramic spectrum with lower part of a bowl decorated with cord imprints (8), spindle whorls (12–16) and ring-shaped knobs (21, 25) (after Köninger 2009, 104–05 fig. 33).

Discussion: Danubian influences in the Horgen culture at lake Constance and in Upper Swabia

Danubian influences are here primarily understood as ornamental and typological elements of ceramic style in the sense of J. Lüning (1996). Accordingly, they can often serve as parameters when it comes to changes in the social or economic structure of settler communities. Such Danubian links have repeatedly been identified in the south-western German–Swiss Alpine foothills since the Early Neolithic (Köninger *et al.* 2001, 653) and have also repeatedly been attested in the context of the Horgen culture for the region of lake Constance/Upper Swabia (see Figure 30). The sequence can be summarised as follows:

An early Danubian impulse can be seen in the Late Neolithic in the earliest Horgen culture at lake Constance already in the thirty-fourth century BC, attested by Baden-Boleráz-type pottery. This can be supported by well-stratified material from Arbon-Bleiche 3 (de Capitani 2002), as well as by the old finds from lake Constance pile dwellings on the German shore (Köninger *et al.* 2001, 643–49, 664 fig. 2). The small find ensemble from Bad Buchau-Bachwiesen III in Upper Swabia may also belong here (see Figure 7, bottom right) (Schlichtherle 2009, 70–75).

In the ensuing thirty-third century BC, elements of Baden or Baden-Boleráz are evident in the bog settlement of Bad Buchau-Torwiesen II in the Federsee area in the shape of a sherd with fluted decoration (Figure 28.1), a saddled handle (*gesattelter Henkel*) (Figure 28.2), a cup with its handle protruding above the rim (*überrandständiger Henkel*) (Figure 28.3) and a short band (Figure 28.6). In addition, there are numerous spindle whorls (Figure 28.4.5) (Schlichtherle 2011, 23–24). At lake Constance, on the other hand, such clear Baden elements are lacking in the pottery of the thirty-third century BC, although it must be pointed out that the material base is poor. For Sipplingen, the stippled knob from ensemble SiH (layer 12) (Kolb 1993, pl. 11.3), which could also be regarded as a band segment, and a smooth band (Kolb 1993, pl. 12.92) could be regarded as weak indications of Danubian influences. This is clearer for the ceramics from layer 2a of Wallhausen-Ziegelhütte, which yielded Danubian ring knobs (Figure 29.21.25) and spindle whorls (Figure 29.12–16) (Köninger 2009, 104–05, 107–08, pl. 1–3). Furthermore, the sherds of a vessel base with braided cord decoration (Figure 29.8) point to the north-east, to the Luboń group of the Polish Funnel Beaker culture (Köninger 2009, 108).

In the thirty-second century BC, strong Danubian influences are recorded both at lake Constance and in Upper Swabia with pottery of the Nußdorf-Dullenried type (see above).

The material base for the thirty-first century is weak. With Sipplingen ensemble SiK (layer 13B), the small sherd of a biconical pot with shallow incisions (Figure 30) (Kolb 1993, pl. 22.160) can perhaps be regarded as an isolated indication of Danubian influences — on the basis of ¹⁴C dates it is rather unlikely to see this as a contact find to the "Burgerroth/Altenberg group" (Link 2016, 123).

In the early thirtieth century BC, the Horgen culture of the lake Constance area seems to have oriented itself more towards the west, as indicated by a butterfly bead (Kolb 1993, 253 pl. 58.568 layer 14), a rim with knob garlands (*Knubbenkranz*) (Kolb 1993 195, 378; see also Figure 7 ensemble SiM) or a stepped rim from Sipplingen ensemble SiM (layer 14). Isolated smooth bands from layer 14 (Kolb 1993, pl. 31.243.245) could therefore also be attributed to western contacts. Once again, however, this result is based on sparse data and potentially subject to revision.

Finally, for the late thirtieth and the first half of the twenty-ninth century BC, a last phase of Danubian influence is indicated by the well-stratified biconical bowls of the Goldberg III type in several lakeshore settlements at lake Constance (Köninger 2007, 47–50 fig. 51) (Figure 7 ensemble Sipplingen SiN). In addition, there is an isolated sherd with vertical and horizontal bands from Haltnau-Oberhof and a multipeaked knob from the Late Horgen context in Bodman-Weiler II (Köninger 2007, 25–26 fig. 25, 47–48 fig. 48), both at lake Constance.

The assemblage from Meersburg-Ramsbach (Figure 31) on the northern shore of lake Constance also deserves to be highlighted, as it contains wares with applied plastic decoration in combination with biconical bowls and a handled vessel suggesting influences from the Goldberg III group, which was established in Upper Swabia by the twenty-ninth century BC at the latest. In the thirty-second and thirtieth/twenty-ninth centuries BC, pottery tempered with haematite and calcareous grit also reached lake Constance; its origin can be assumed to be in the central Swabian Jura.



Figure 30. Sipplingen-Osthafen, Ensemble SiK. Biconical pot with shallow incisions.

Thus, from the thirty-fourth century BC onwards, Danubian influences are recognisable at lake Constance in the context of the Horgen culture in three time windows. According to M. Kolb (Kolb 1993, 380-81), a more westward-oriented phase is perhaps indicated by Sipplingen ensemble SiM (layer 14; see Figure 7) for the early thirtieth century BC. It remains unclear whether the ceramic finds indicate a continuous influx of people or ideas from the Danube region, which can only be established archaeologically at certain points, or whether they were in fact individual, temporary processes which, as in the case of Bad Buchau-Torwiesen II, hardly went beyond the Federsee area in the thirty-third century BC. It is striking that in the thirty-fourth century BC, Baden-Boleráz type pottery is present at lake Constance, but absent in Upper Swabia. In this case, one would think that the lack of evidence is more likely to be due to taphonomy and does not reflect actual processes.

No matter how continuous the influx of Danubian influences may have been, it is a phenomenon that can be traced over several centuries, beginning as early as the Early Neolithic and having a lasting influence on the Horgen culture in the region of lake Constance and Upper Swabia. It is difficult to say with any certainty what was behind these influences, which can be identified first and foremost in the pottery. Indications can be gleaned from the different types of these foreign wares. Four aspects can be identified that could be subsumed under the term influence.

Firstly, it is likely that people from the central Swabian Alb actually reached lake Constance. Secondly, people from outside may also have joined the settlements at lake Constance, where they produced their pottery in the traditional way (de Capitani 2002, 216; Hosch and Jacomet 2004, 157). Thirdly, and this is not so clear-cut, "non-local" pottery could have been imitated by local people (de Capitani 2002, 216), or the new arrivals could have produced their traditional



Figure 31. Meersburg-Ramsbach, feature 2 and the lake floor. Ceramic spectrum of the thirtieth/twenty-ninth centuries BC. Sherds 3, 4, 8, 9, 11, 13 and 14 come from the uppermost cultural layer of feature 2 (after Köninger 2007, 41–43 fig. 44).

pottery with local technology. The final possibility is particularly fascinating. Here, pots of local shapes were decorated in a non-local manner. This is especially true of the Horgen wares from Nußdorf, but also applies to those from Meesburg-Ramsbach. In one or two cases, it cannot be ruled out that mobile individuals actually reached the lake Constance area by following the Danube upstream.

The diffusion processes envisaged by Schlichtherle (Köninger *et al.* 2001, 653) could therefore also have come about in part through migration (Heitz and Stapfer 2016, 151; 2017). At least for the last stage between the Swabian Alb and lake Constance, this is likely. Whatever the provenance of the Horgen applied plastic ornamentations and handled vessels is, it is clear that these "non-local wares" do not stand alone (Lüning 1996, 236), but that processes of upheaval, development, reorientation or demographic change went hand in hand with ceramic change. Therefore, this will hardly have been solely a change in ceramic style.

It can be assumed that the associated contacts were also linked to economic innovations (Figure 32). It is hardly a coincidence that economic changes can be observed with the appearance of foreign elements from the Danube. With the change in cereal and weed spectra, spelt wheat species — especially durum wheat — become dominant (Herbig 2009, 38; Kohler-Schneider and Caneppele 2009, 67), flax and opium poppy play an increasingly important role in the cultivated crop spectrum and a small-seeded fibre flax appears for the first time (Herbig 2009, 40-41; Karg 2020, 141-52; Karg et al. 2018, 33–38; Kohler-Schneider and Caneppele 2009, 67). The emerging use of draught animals (Deschler-Erb and Marti-Grädel 2004, 245–54; Hosch and Jacomet 2004, 135-57; Leuzinger 2007; Steppan 2007, 58-60) and at the same time — at least on the western shores of lake Constance — the increasing formation of colluvia (Vogt 2014) suggests that from the Late Neolithic



Figure 32. Cultural succession and innovation in the lake Constance/Upper Swabia area and foreign elements from the Danube in the pottery inventories. Open star: Younger Neolithic; filled star: Final Neolithic. Symbol size reflects frequency. MK: Michelsberg culture (after de Capitani 2002; Köninger 2009; Köninger *et al.* 2001; Schlichtherle 2004; 2009. Graphic: H. Schlichtherle, supplemented).

(Spätneolithikum sensu Lüning 1996) onwards, arable land was cultivated intensively over a longer period of time. This ultimately signals the beginning of arable farming in the true sense of the word (Köninger et al. 2001, 651–53) — although the botanical indications do not seem to be quite so clear-cut (Herbig 2009, 58). At the same time, pollen and macro-remains for the lake Constance/Upper Swabia/lake Zurich area signal the continuing opening up of the landscape (Herbig 2009; Köninger et al. 2001, 651-53) and the emergence of grasslands (Herbig 2009). The development of the crop spectra in the lake Constance/Upper Swabia area and at lake Zurich run largely parallel in the Late Neolithic (Herbig 2009, 38-39). In contrast to the lake Constance/ Upper Swabia area, however, the accompanying innovations are not strongly expressed in the ceramic spectra of lake Zurich.

The high number of spindle whorls indicates the intensification of textile production, accompanied by an intensification in flax cultivation (Herbig 2009,

31, 38) and presumably also by the emerging use of sheep's wool (Grabundžija 2020, 59–61; Grabundžija and Schlichtherle 2021, 640). The wheel and wagon may have arrived here in the course of Danubian technology transfers from the Carpathian Basin and the Lower Danube, traced using pottery (Köninger *et al.* 2001, 651). This is conceivable despite striking differences in wheel and wagon technology (Schlichtherle 2002; 2016). The eastward-oriented translocality of the Nußdorf pottery style was thus only the visible expression of profound transformation processes that began in the thirty-fourth century BC.

Translation: Jamie R. McIntosh

References

Bantelmann, N. 1984. Die neolithischen Funde von der Eyersheimer Mühle in der Pfalz. *Prähistorische Zeitschrift* 59 (1), 16–36.

Bantelmann, N., Lanting, A.E. and van der Waals, I.P. 1980. Wiesbaden-Hebenkies. Das Grabmal auf dem Weg nach der Platte. *Fundberichte Hessen* 19/20, 183–249.

Billamboz, A. and Schlichtherle, H. 1981. Moor- und Seeufersiedlungen. Die Sondagen 1981 des
Projekts Bodensee-Oberschwaben. Archäologische Ausgrabungen in Baden-Württemberg 1981, 36–50.

Bleicher, N. and Harb, C. (eds) 2015. Zürich-Parkhaus
Opéra. Eine neolithische Feuchtbodenfundstelle.
Band 1: Befunde, Schichten und Dendroarchäologie.
Zürich: Baudirektion Kanton Zürich.

Bleicher, N. and Harb, C. (eds) 2017. Zürich-Parkhaus Opéra. Eine neolithische Feuchtbodensiedlung. Band 3: Naturwissenschaftliche Analysen und Synthese. Zürich: Baudirektion Kanton Zürich.

Bleicher, N., Jochum, E., Kienholz, A., Ruckstuhl, B. and Weber, A. 2017. Mensch und Gesellschaft. In N.
Bleicher and C. Harb (eds), Zürich-Parkhaus Opéra. Eine neolithische Feuchtbodensiedlung. Band 3: Naturwissenschaftliche Analysen und Synthese, 246–62.
Zürich: Baudirektion Kanton Zürich.

Bollacher, C. 2001. Die endneolithische Siedlung im Dullenried bei Bad Buchau, Lkr. Biberach. Neue Untersuchungen zu den Funden und Befunden der Reinert'schen Grabungen von 1920, 1928 und 1929. *Fundberichte aus Baden-Württemberg* 25, 132–294.

Burger, I. 1988. Die Siedlung der Chamer Gruppe von Dobl, Gemeinde Prutting, Landkreis Rosenheim und ihre Stellung im Endneolithikum Mitteleuropas. Materialhefte zur bayerischen Vorgeschichte A56. Fürth: Graf.

de Capitani, A. 2002. Gefässkeramik. In A. de Capitani, S. Deschler-Erb, U. Leuzinger, E. Marti-Grädel and J. Schibler (eds), *Die jungsteinzeitliche Seeufersiedlung Arbon Bleiche 3. Funde. Archäologie im Thurgau 11*, 135–276. Frauenfeld: Amt für Archäologie.

Deschler-Erb, S. and Marti-Grädel, E. 2004. Viehhaltung und Jagd. Ergebnisse der Untersuchung der handaufgelesenen Tierknochen. In S. Jacomet, U. Leuzinger and J. Schibler (eds), *Die jungsteinzeitliche Seeufersiedlung Arbon Bleiche 3. Umwelt und Wirtschaft. Archäologie im Thurgau 12*, 158–254. Frauenfeld: Amt für Archäologie.

Engelhardt, B. 2011. Der südbayerische Raum im 3. Jahrtausend v. Chr. Forschungsfortschritte der letzten 20 Jahre. In M. Chytráček, H. Gruber, J. Michálek, R. Sandner and K. Schmotz (eds), *Fines Transire 20*, 149-87. Rahden: Marie Leidorf.

Giligny F., Maréchal D., Pétrequin P. and Pétrequin A.-M. 1995. La séquence néolithique final des Lacs de Clairvaux et de Chalain (Jura). Essai sur l'évolution culturelle. In J.-L. Voruz (ed.), *Chronologies néolithiques. De 6000 à 2000 avant notre ère dans le Bassin rhodanien. Actes du colloque d'Ambérieu-en-Bugey, 19 et 20 séptembre 1992 (XIe Rencontre sur le Néolithique de la région Rhone-Alpes),* 313–46. Ambérieu-en-Bugey: Société Préhistorique Rhodanienne.

Gohlisch, T.H. 1999. Die Keramik der endneolithischen Siedlung Dietfurt a.d. Altmühl, Lkr. Neumarkt/OPf. – Ein Überblick. In H. Schlichtherle and M. Strobel (eds), Aktuelles zu Horgen–Cham–Goldberg III–Schnurkeramik in Süddeutschland. Rundgespräch Hemmenhofen 26. Juni 1998. Hemmenhofener Skripte 1, 55–60. Freiburg i.Br.: Janus.

Gohlisch, T.H. 2005. Die Grabungsbefunde und die Keramik der endneolithischen Siedlung von Dietfurt a.d. Altmühl, Lkr. Neumarkt i.d. OPf. Archäologie am Main-Donau-Kanal 17. Rahden: Marie Leidorf.

Grabundžija, A. 2020. Archaeological evidence for early wool exploitation in south east and central Europe. PhD dissertation, Freie Universität Berlin. Available at: DOI:10.17169/refubium-27129.

Grabundžija, A., Schlichtherle, H., Leuzinger, U., Schier, W. and Karg, S. 2021. The interaction of distant technologies: bridging central Europe using a technotypological comparison of spindle whorls. *Antiquity* 95, 627–47.

Hafner, S., Gross-Klee, E., Hochuli, S., Jacquat, C., Moor, B.,
Schibler, J. and Sormaz, T. 1996. *Die jungsteinzeitlichen Seeufersiedlungen von Hünenberg-Chämleten ZG. Antiqua 28.* Basel: Schweizer Gesellschaft für Ur- und Frühgeschichte.

Harb, C. 2016. Textilkeramik. In C. Harb and N. Bleicher (eds), Zürich-Parkhaus Opéra. Eine neolithische Fechtbodenfundstelle. Band 2: Funde, 197–204. Zürich: Baudirektion Kanton Zürich.

Harb, C. and Bleicher, N. (eds) 2016. Zürich-Parkhaus Opéra. Eine neolithische Feuchtbodenfundstelle. Band 2: Funde. Zürich: Baudirektion Kanton Zürich.

Hardmeyer, B. 1994. Die Horgener Keramik. In Y. Gerber, C. Haenicke and B. Hardmeyer (eds), *Ufersiedlungen im Zürcher Seefeld 1. Die Keramik*, 57–105. Zürich: Zürcher Denkmalpflege.

Heitz, C. and Stapfer, R. 2017. Mobility and pottery production, what for? Introductory remarks. In C. Heitz and R. Stapfer (eds), *Mobility and pottery production*. *Archaeological and anthropological perspectives*, 11–38. Leiden: Sidestone Press.

Herbig, C. 2009. Archäobotanische Untersuchungen in neolithischen Feuchtbodensiedlungen am westlichen Bodensee und in Oberschwaben. Frankfurter Archäologische Schriften 10. Bonn: Rudolf Habelt.

Hosch, S. and Jacomet, S. 2004. Ackerbau und Sammelwirtschaft. Ergebnisse der Untersuchung von Samen und Früchten. In S. Jacomet, U. Leuzinger and J. Schibler (eds), *Die jungsteinzeitliche Seeufersiedlung Arbon Bleiche 3. Umwelt und Wirtschaft. Archäologie im Thurgau 12*, 112–57. Frauenfeld: Amt für Archäologie.

Itten, M. 1970. Die Horgener Kultur. Monographien zur Urund Frühgeschichte der Schweiz 17. Basel: Birkhäuser.

- Karg, S. 2020. Neolithic flax production in the pre-Alpine region – knowledge increase since the 19th century. In W. Schier and S. Pollock (eds), *The competition of fibres. Early textiles in western Asia, south-east and central Europe (10.000–500 BC)*, 141–52. Oxford: Oxbow Books.
- Karg, S., Diederichsen, A. and Jeppson, S. 2018. Discussing flax domestication in Europe using biometric measurements on recent and archaeological flax seeds — a pilot study. In M. Siennicka, L. Rahmstorf and A. Ulanowska (eds), *First textiles: the beginnings of textile manufacture in Europe and the Mediterranean*, 31–38. Oxford: Oxbow Books.
- Kieselbach, P. 2020. Die Silexfunde der Horgener Siedlung Nußdorf-Strandbad an der Liebesinsel. In Dienststelle Hemmenhofen (ed.), Nußdorf-Strandbad – Die Hogener Pfahlbausiedlungen an der Liebesinsel. Archäologische und naturwissenschaftliche Untersuchungen. Hemmenhofener Skripte 12, 95–118. Freiburg i.Br.: Janus.
- Kohler-Schneider, M. and Caneppele, A. 2009.
 Late Neolithic agriculture in eastern Austria: archaeobotanical results from sites of the Baden and Jevišovice cultures (3600–2800 B.C.). Vegetation History and Archaeobotany 18, 61–74.
- Köninger, J. 1999. Nußdorf-Strandbad Das Fundmaterial der Horgener Siedlung an der Liebesinsel, Überlingen-Nußdorf, Bodenseekreis. In H. Schlichtherle and M. Strobel (eds), Aktuelles zu Horgen–Cham–Goldberg III– Schnurkeramik in Süddeutschland. Rundgespräch Hemmenhofen 26. Juni 1998. Hemmenhofener Skripte 1, 19–30. Freiburg i.Br.: Janus.
- Köninger, J. 2007. Funde und Befunde aus den Tauchsondagen 1987, 1988 und 2005 und weiteres Fundmaterial aus den Sammlungen Klaus Kiefer und Hans-Joachim Krass. In J. Köninger, K. Steppan and J. Wahl (eds), Bodman-Weiler II – eine Ufersiedlung der Horgener Kultur vor Bodman, Kreis Konstanz. Archäologische und naturwissenschaftliche Untersuchungen. Hemmenhofener Skripte 7, 9–54. Freiburg i.Br.: Janus.
- Köninger, J. 2009. Funde und Befunde aus den Tauchsondagen und Rettungsgrabungen unter Wasser in den Flächen 1 und 3 an der Hafeneinfahrt und im Osten der Station. In Dienststelle Hemmenhofen (ed.), Tauchsondagen und Rettungsgrabungen unter Wasser in der jung- und endneolithischen Seeufersiedlung Wallhausen-Ziegelhütte, Kreis Konstanz. Archäologische

und naturwissenschaftliche Untersuchungen. Hemmenhofener Skripte 8, 83–127. Freiburg i.Br.: Janus.

- Köninger, J. 2020. Befunde und Funde aus den Sondagen und Prospektionen des "Projekts Bodensee-Oberschwaben" zwischen 1981 und 1993 ergänzt um Funde aus Privatsammlungen und Museumsbeständen – Keramik, Textilien, Felsgestein und Holz. In Dienststelle Hemmenhofen (ed.), Nußdorf-Strandbad – Die Hogener Pfahlbausiedlungen an der Liebesinsel. Archäologische und naturwissenschaftliche Untersuchungen. Hemmenhofener Skripte 12, 11–94. Freiburg i.Br.: Janus.
- Köninger, J. and Schlichtherle, H. 1994. Nußdorf-Strandbad – Die Tauchsondagen 1992 und 1993 in der Horgener Siedlung westlich der Liebesinsel, Überlingen-Nußdorf, Bodenseekreis. Archäologische Ausgrabungen in Baden-Württemberg 1993, 73–77.
- Köninger, J. and Schlichtherle, H. 1999. Foreign elements in south-west German lake-dwellings. Transalpine relations in the Late Neolithic and Early Bronze Age. *Preistoria Alpina* 35, 43–53.
- Köninger, J. and Schöbel, G. 2010. Bronzezeitliche
 Fundstellen zwischen Bodensee und Oberschwaben.
 In I. Matuschik and C. Strahm (eds), Vernetzungen –
 Aspekte siedlungsarchäologischer Forschungen.
 Festschrift für Helmut Schlichtherle zum 60. Geburtstag,
 385–438. Freiburg i.Br.: Lavori.
- Köninger, J., Kolb, M. and Schlichtherle, H. 2001. Elemente von Baden und Boleráz in den Feuchtbodensiedlungen des südwestdeutschen Alpenvorlandes und ihre mögliche Rolle im Transformationsprozess des lokalen Endneolithikums. In P. Roman and S. Diamandi (eds), Symposium Cernavodă III – Boleráz. Ein vorgeschichtliches Phänomen zwischen dem Oberrhein und der unteren Donau. Mangalia/Neptun (18.–24. Oktober 1999), 641–72. Bucharest: S.C. Vavila Ed.
- Kolb, M. 1993. Die Horgener Siedlungen in Sipplingen. Ergebnisse taucharchäologischer Untersuchungen im Sipplinger Osthafen 1982–1987. Unpublished PhD dissertation, University of Freiburg i.Br.
- Leuzinger, U. 2007. *Pfyn Breitenloo. Die jungsteinzeitliche Pfahlbausiedlung. Archäologie im Thurgau 14.* Frauenfeld: Amt für Archäologie.
- Link, T. 2016. Zwei endneolithische Grubenhäuser auf dem "Alten Berg" bei Burgerroth (Lkr. Würzburg, Unterfranken). In J. Pechtl, T. Link and L. Husty (eds), Neue Materialien des Bayerischen Neolithikums 2 – Tagung im Kloster Windberg vom 21. bis 23. November 2014. Würzburger Studien zur vor- und frühgeschichtlichen Archäologie 2, 99–126. Würzburg: Würzburg University Press.
- Lüning, J. 1996. Erneute Gedanken zur Benennung der neolithischen Perioden. *Germania* 74, 233–37.

Maier, R.A. 1959. Neolithische Tonspinnwirtel aus Ufersiedlungen des Bodensees. *Germania* 37, 35–52.

- Mainberger, M. 2016. Die Einbäume der "Siedlung Forschner" und des Federseeriedes. In Landesamt für Denkmalpflege im Regierungspräsidium Stuttgart (ed.), Die früh- und mittelbronzezeitliche "Siedlung Forschner" im Federseemoor. Naturwissenschaftliche Untersuchungen. Bohlenwege, Einbäume und weitere botanische Beiträge. Siedlungsarchäologie im Alpenvorland XIII. Forschungen und Berichte zur Vorund Frühgeschichte in Baden-Württemberg 128, 321–60. Stuttgart: Theiss.
- Matuschik, I. 1990. Die neolithische Besiedlung in Riekofen "Kellnerfeld". Beiträge zur Kenntnis des Spätneolithikums im südlichen Bayern. Unpublished PhD dissertation, University of Freiburg.
- Matuschik, I. 1999. Riekofen und die Chamer Kultur Bayerns. In H. Schlichtherle and M. Strobel (eds), Aktuelles zu Horgen–Cham–Goldberg III–Schnurkeramik in Süddeutschland. Rundgespräch Hemmenhofen 26. Juni 1998. Hemmenhofener Skripte 1, 69–95. Freiburg i.Br.: Janus.
- Matuschik, I. 2001. Boleráz und Baden aus Sicht des südbayerischen Spätneolithikums, zugleich ein Beitrag zur Genese der Chamer Kultur. In P. Roman and S. Diamandi (eds), Symposium Cernavodă III – Boleráz. Ein vorgeschichtliches Phänomen zwischen dem Oberrhein und der unteren Donau. Mangalia/Neptun (18.–24. Oktober 1999), 673–720. Bucharest: S.C. Vavila Ed.
- Matuschik, I. and Müller, A. 2023. Befunde der taucharchäologischen Untersuchungen 1978–2012 in Sipplingen. In Landesamt für Denkmalpflege im Regierungspräsidium Stuttgart (ed.), Die Pfahlbausiedlungen von Sipplingen-Osthafen am Bodensee 1. Befunde und dendrochronologische Untersuchungen. Siedlungsarchäologie im Alpenvorland XV. Forschungen und Berichte zur Vorund Frühgeschichte in Baden-Württemberg, 13–282. Wiesbaden: Reichert.
- Matuschik, I. and Schlichtherle, H. 2009. Zeitgenossen des Gletschermannes am Mittleren Neckar. Die Siedlungen von Stuttgart-Stammheim und -Mühlhausen. Archäologische Informationen aus Baden-Württemberg 56. Esslingen: Landesamt für Denkmalpflege Baden-Württemberg.
- Meyer, J. 2011. Spätneolithische–frühbronzezeitliche Siedlungsreste in Bad Homburg. *Hessen Archäologi*e 2010, 26–28.
- Modderman, P.J.R. 1971. Neolithische und frühbronzezeitliche Siedlungsspuren aus Hienheim, Ldkr. Kelheim. *Analecta Praehistorica Leidensia* 4, 1–25.
- Mottes, E., Nicolis, F. and Schlichtherle, H. 2002. Kulturelle Beziehungen zwischen den Regionen nördlich und südlich der Zentralalpen während des

Neolithikums und der Kupferzeit. In Archäologisches Landesmuseum Baden-Württemberg (eds), *Über die Alpen. Menschen, Wege, Waren*, 119–35. Stuttgart: Theiss.

- Nelle, O. and Billamboz, A. 2020. Dendroarchäologische Untersuchungen in den horgenzeitlichen Ufersiedlungen von Nußdorf-Strandbad. In Dienststelle Hemmenhofen (ed.), Nußdorf-Strandbad – Die Hogener Pfahlbausiedlungen an der Liebesinsel. Archäologische und naturwissenschaftliche Untersuchungen. Hemmenhofener Skripte 12, 133–40. Freiburg i.Br.: Janus.
- Ottaway, B.S. 1999. A changing place. The Galgenberg in Lower Bavaria from the fifth to the first millennium BC. Oxford: BAR.
- Ottaway, B.S. 2001. Der Galgenberg: Funde, Befunde und Auswertung. In T. Gohlisch and L. Reisch (eds), Die Stellung der endneolithischen Chamer Kultur in ihrem räumlichen und zeitlichen Kontext. Kolloquien des Institutes für Ur- u. Frühgeschichte Erlangen 1, 10–19. Erlangen: Institut für Ur- und Frühgeschichte.
- Primas, M. 1979. Archäologische Untersuchungen in Tamins GR: Die spätneolithische Station "Crestis". Jahrbuch der Schweizerischen Gesellschaft für Urund Frühgeschichte 62, 13–27.
- Raetzel-Fabian, D. 1990. Diskontinuität im Neolithikum Südwestdeutschlands? In F.M. Andraschko and W.-R. Teegen (eds), *Gedenkschrift für Jürgen Driehaus*, 161–76. Mainz: Philip von Zabern.
- Raetzel-Fabian, D. 2001. Der nordwestliche Nachbar.
 Neue Aspekte zur Wartbergkultur. In T. Gohlisch and L. Reisch (eds), Die Stellung der endneolithischen Chamer Kultur in ihrem räumlichen und zeitlichen Kontext. Kolloquien des Institutes für Ur- und Frühgeschichte Erlangen 1, 110–19. Erlangen: Institut für Ur- und Frühgeschichte.
- Raetzel-Fabian, D. 2002. Absolute chronology and cultural development of the Neolithic Wartberg culture in Germany. *Journal of Neolithic Archaeology* 4, DOI:10.12766/jna.2002.82
- Raßhofer, G. 2017. Neue Funde der Badener Kultur von Parkstetten, Lkr. Straubing-Bogen, und weiteren Fundplätzen in Niederbayern. In O. Chvojka, M. Chytráček, H. Gruber, L. Husty, J. Michálek, R. Sandner, K. Schmotz and S. Traxler (eds), *Fines Transire 26*, 77–110. Rahden: Marie Leidorf.
- Raßhofer, G. 2020. Keramik der Badener Kultur aus Feldkirchen, Lkr. Straubing-Bogen. Eine Fundvorlage. In L. Husty, T. Link and J. Pechtl (eds), *Neue Materialien des Bayerischen Neolithikums 3 – Tagung im Kloster Windberg vom 16. bis 18. November 2018. Würzburger Studien vor- und*

frühgeschichtlicher Archäologie 6, 199–229. Würzburg: Würzburg University Press.

Sailer, T. 1998. *Materialhefte Hessen 1998, Katalog 243 Nr 40*. Wiesbaden: Landesamt für Denkmalpflege Hessen.

Salanova, L., Brunet, P., Cottiaux, R., Hamon, T., Langry-François, F., Martineau, R., Polloni, A., Renard, C. and Sohn, M. 2011. Du Neolithique récent à l'Âge du Bronze dans le centre nord de la France: les étapes de l'évolution chrono-culturelle. In F. Bostyn, E. Martial and I. Praud (eds), *Le Néolithique du Nord de la France* dans son contexte européen: habitat et économie aux 4e et 3e millénaires avant notre ère. Actes du 29e colloque interrégional sur le Néolithique, Villeneuved'Ascq 2–3 octobre 2009. Revue Archéologique de Picardie No spécial 28, 77–101.

- Schlichtherle, H. 1990. Aspekte der siedlungsarchäologischen Erforschung von Neolithikum und Bronzezeit im südwestdeutschen Alpenvorland. *Berichte der Römisch-Germanischen Kommission* 71, 208–44.
- Schlichtherle, H. 1999. Die Goldberg III-Gruppe in Oberschwaben. In H. Schlichtherle and M. Strobel (eds), Aktuelles zu Horgen–Cham–Goldberg III– Schnurkeramik in Süddeutschland. Rundgespräch Hemmenhofen 26. Juni 1998. Hemmenhofener Skripte 1, 35–48. Freiburg i.Br.: Janus.
- Schlichtherle, H. 2002. Die jungsteinzeitlichen Radfunde vom Federsee und ihre kulturgeschichtliche Bedeutung. In J. Köninger, M. Mainberger, H.
 Schlichtherle and M. Vosteen (eds), Schleife, Schlitten, Rad und Wagen. Zur Frage früher Transportmittel nördlich der Alpen. Hemmenhofener Skripte 3, 9–34.
 Freiburg i.Br.: Janus.
- Schlichtherle, H. 2004. Große Häuser kleine Häuser. Archäologische Befunde zum neolithischen Siedlungswandel am Federsee. In Ökonomischer und ökologischer Wandel am vorgeschichtlichen Federsee. Hemmenhofener Skripte 5, 13–56. Freiburg i.Br.: Janus.
- Schlichtherle, H. 2011. Die Ausgrabungen in der endneolithischen Moorsiedlung Bad Buchau-Torwiesen II. Eine Einführung in Befunde und Fundverteilungen. Hemmenhofner Skripte 9, Band 1, 11–28. Freiburg i.Br.: Janus.

Schlichtherle, H. 2016. Wandbilder in neolithischen Pfahlbausiedlungen des Bodensees. Überlegungen zur Deutung von Bildern und Zeichen des südwestdeutschen Neolithikums. In G. Bosinski and H. Strohm (eds), Höhlen, Kultplätze, sakrale Kunst. Kunst der Urgeschichte im Spiegel sprachdokumentierter Religionen, 207–43. Paderborn: Wilhelm Fink.

Schlichtherle, H. and Joachim, W. 2008. Eine endneolithische Siedlung im Neckartal bei Stuttgart-Hofen. Archäologische Ausgrabungen in Baden-Württemberg 2008, 40–43.

- Schwellnus, W. 1979. Wartberg-Gruppe und hessische Megalithik. Ein Beitrag zum späten Neolithikum des Hessischen Berglandes. Materialien zur Vor- und Frühgeschichte von Hessen 4. Wiesbaden: Landesmt für Denkmalpflege Hessen.
- Spennemann, D. 1984. *Burgerroth. Eine spätneolithische Höhensiedlung in Unterfranken*. Oxford: BAR.

Steppan, K. 2007. Die Tierknochenfunde aus der Seeufersiedlung Bodman-Weiler II, Kreis Konstanz. Hemmenhofener Skripte 7, 55–66. Freiburg i.Br.: Janus.

- Stöckli, W.E. 2009. Chronologie und Regionalität des jüngeren Neolithikums (4300–2400 v. Chr.) im Schweizer Mittelland, in Süddeutschland und in Ostfrankreich aufgrund der Keramik und der absoluten Datierungen, ausgehend von den Forschungen in den Feuchtbodensiedlungen der Schweiz. Antiqua 45. Basel: Archäologie Schweiz.
- Szmyt, M. 2003. On the studies of the south-western peripheries of the Globular Amphora culture. *Przeglad Archeologiczny* 51, 87–122.

Vogt, R. 2014. Kolluvien als Archive für anthropogen ausgelöste Landschaftsveränderungen an Beispielen aus der westlichen Bodenseeregion. Materialhefte zur Archäologie in Baden-Württemberg 99. Darmstadt: Theiss.

Weber, M. 2016, Horgener Keramik. In C. Harb and N. Bleicher (eds), Zürich-Parkhaus Opéra. Eine neolithische Fechtbodenfundstelle. Band 2: Funde, 20–57. Zürich: Baudirektion Kanton Zürich.

Wolf, C., Ebersbach, R., Nelle, O., Hohl, W., Schlichtherle, H. and Hagmann, S. 2016. Archäologische
Untersuchungen im Olzreuter Ried – ein
Publikumsmagnet. Archäologische Ausgrabungen in Baden-Württemberg 2016, 79–83.

The time of the cord rollers

Textile-roughened pottery of the early third millennium BC and cultural transmission networks from a south-western German perspective

Philipp Gleich

Abstract

Researching supra-regional contact networks shortly before the spread of the Corded Ware is an important step towards a better understanding of the cultural changes during the early third millennium BC in central Europe. A widespread feature connecting different pottery styles during that time are textile-roughened surfaces. The starting point of this study is an analysis of pottery from south-western Germany and Switzerland. In agreement with older examinations, the use of cord-wrapped roulettes is considered a valid explanation for most of these finds. In order to follow Late Neolithic textile-roughened pottery in space and time, a literature survey of its distribution and absolute chronology is undertaken. The use of different textile tools for the treatment of pottery surfaces appears between the Upper Rhine and the northern Carpathians within the first centuries of the third millennium BC, indicating a wide-ranging contact network. The question of a continuation of this practice after the emergence of the Corded Ware culture is still open for most areas. Radiocarbon dates from the Baltic states indicate similar or even higher ages of the oldest textile-roughened pottery within that area. Potential connections between the central and eastern European clusters of occurrences are not yet clear.

Keywords: textile-roughened pottery, Goldberg III pottery, Late Neolithic, supra-regional networks, chronology

General problem: the question of transmission networks in central Europe before the spread of the Corded Ware

The spread of single burial customs and an increasing standardisation of pottery styles in central Europe are considered important symptoms of the spread of the archaeological phenomenon of the so-called "Corded Ware culture". Several explanation models for these processes have been suggested. They either emphasise a spread through migration processes from the eastern European steppe zone or transmission processes within cultural networks in central Europe (Furholt 2017; 2019; Haak *et al.* 2015; Heyd 2017; Kristiansen *et al.* 2017; Kroon *et al.* 2019).

To make progress in this debate and to gain more insights into the overall developments during the early third millennium BC, a deeper understanding of pre-Corded Ware

German term	English translation (P. Gleich)	Literature (examples)		
Binsenkeramik	rush pottery	Schneider 1924		
textilverzierte Keramik	pottery with textile decoration	Dirks 2000		
mattengerauhte Keramik	mat-roughened pottery	Dehn and Sangmeister 1954; Müller-Karpe 1951		
Keramik mit Textilabdrücken	pottery with textile impressions	Schlabow 1960; 1971		
abrollgerauhte Keramik / abgerollte Abdruckzier / Keramik mit Schnurabrollungen	pottery with roulette roughening / roulette-im- pressed decoration / pottery with rolled cord decoration	Matuschik 1999; Schlichtherle 2018; Schrickel 1969; Spennemann 1984		

Table 1. German terms for textile-roughened pottery and their English translations.

English term	German term	Explanation
textile roughening	Textilrauung	general term for a roughening with textiles of as yet unknown character (detailed examination missing)
corded roulette roughening	Abrollrauung mittels Schnurwicklung	use of a roulette with a simple cord (twisted or turned) wrapped around it
braided roulette roughening	Abrollrauung mittels Flechtröllchen	use of a more complex roulette produced by some kind of braiding technique

Table 2. Terms used to describe textile-roughened pottery in this article.

cultural networks is crucial. On which spatial scale did cultural transmission operate within these networks, and which cultural practices were affected? Did an increasing supra-regional standardisation only begin with the spread of the "Corded Ware culture"?

Supra-regional connections visible in pottery styles have already been recognised by many scholars who studied pre-Corded Ware remains in central Europe (e.g. Iversen 2015; Matuschik 1992; Pape 1978; Szmyt 2003; Woidich 2014). However, the theoretical framework of the archaeological culture concept with its focus on modern political units still hampers the consideration of prehistoric cultural developments at a continental or semi-continental scale.

The aim of this article is to shed light on a distinct feature in the context of these problems: textile-roughened pottery surfaces. This technological trait is part of many different pottery styles (Figure 4) that are considered "type fossils" of "archaeological cultures". Based on an empirical study of south-western German and Swiss material and a comparative literature survey, the following questions will be asked: How were these special surfaces made? Where do they occur? When do they occur? What do they tell us regarding the spatial scale and character of transmission networks in the early third millennium BC?

Since the archaeological culture concept is critically assessed here, archaeological cultures will be treated as pottery styles rather than shorthands for identity groups. The timeframe under consideration is fuzzy. Thus, the working term "early third millennium BC" will be used to refer to the period from around 3000 BC to the beginning of the Corded Ware, i.e. up to 2700 or 2600 BC in some parts of central Europe. This period is part of the Late Neolithic (3500–2800 BC) and the Final Neolithic (2800-2200 BC) in the periodisation system of Lüning (1996). A diachronic consideration of textile-roughened pottery with a focus on the Bronze Age has been published by S. Schaefer-Di Maida (2017).

Late Neolithic textile-roughened pottery in German research: terms and explanations

The research history and terminology of Late Neolithic textile-roughened pottery surfaces in Germany has recently been treated in detail by H. Schlichtherle (2018). Table 1 presents an overview of common German terms and English translations.

In the middle of the twentieth century the term "matroughened pottery" became popular, meaning that these surfaces were created by impressing mat-like textiles. After conducting archaeological experiments, W. Schrickel introduced the idea that roulettes wrapped with a cord or sometimes a leather band were used on Late Neolithic pottery from the Wartberg in Hesse (Schrickel 1969, 67-71). In the following decades, corded roulette roughening or other rolling techniques were identified at many sites of the early third millennium BC in Germany (see below). Recently, a large series of rolling experiments was conducted by Schlichtherle, who already identified the use of cordwrapped roulettes for pottery finds from south-western Germany (Schlichtherle 2018). His publication was the foundation for examining textile-roughened surfaces from the south-western German state of Baden-Württemberg and Switzerland described in the following section. Considering these recent studies, Table 2 summarises the terms used in this article to name rough pottery surfaces with textile impressions.

A case study: roughening techniques in Baden-Württemberg and Switzerland

A sample of 155 pottery reconstructed vessel units from Baden-Württemberg and 41 reconstructed vessel units from Switzerland was analysed by the author.

Chronology and stylistic contexts

In Baden-Württemberg, pottery assemblages of the early third millennium BC containing textile-roughened pottery are attributed to the Goldberg III style (Driehaus 1960; Schlichtherle 1999). In Upper Swabia, which is located between lake Constance and the Swabian Alb, six wetland settlements of the early third millennium BC have been examined by the cultural heritage service of Baden-Württemberg (Landesamt für Denkmalpflege Baden-Württemberg) since 1979 (Figure 1). Despite the limited size of the trial trenches, the small pottery assemblages from these sites are important. The good preservation of the vessel surfaces allows detailed observations of impressions (Figure 2.1–2, Figure 3).

Using dendrochronology, N. Bleicher was able to place most of these sites within the twenty-ninth century BC (Bleicher 2009, 166-67). Textile roughening is missing at Seekirch-Stockwiesen and Alleshausen-Täschenwiesen, which are the oldest sites with pottery of the Goldberg III style and dated around 2900 BC (Figure 1). Since textile roughening is present at Alleshausen-Grundwiesen, a site dated to the middle of the twenty-ninth century by wigglematching (Bleicher 2009, 132), the introduction of this technique must be assumed to have taken place during the first half of the twenty-ninth century BC. The sites Olzreute-Enzishollz and Wolpertswende-Schreckensee have both yielded textile-roughened pottery. However, they were both occupied several times during the twentyninth century, and the time of the occurrence of textile roughening cannot be determined precisely. Seekirch-Achwiesen can so far only be placed within the rather broad timespan 2860 to 2490 calBC by radiocarbon dating (Schlichtherle 2004, 44-45). This is problematic, since this site has revealed a high number of well-preserved textile-roughened vessels (Figure 3). It cannot currently be decided if textile roughening was still practiced in Upper Swabia after the Corded Ware had already appeared in neighbouring regions (around 2720 BC at lake Constance and around 2750 BC at lake Zürich, see Suter 2017, 277–87). Although pollen diagrams indicate continuous human impact on the landscape in Upper Swabia during the third millennium BC (Liese-Kleiber 1993, 45), no settlements are known until the Early Bronze Age. Thus, it is not clear whether Corded Ware was introduced in Upper Swabia.

Textile-roughened pottery also occurs on the eponymous Goldberg, a hilltop site in the Nördlinger Ries (Figure 2.3–4). Since stratigraphic information is sparse, these finds can only be roughly placed



Figure 1. Wetland settlements in Upper Swabia with pottery of the Goldberg III style. Red dots: evidence of textileroughened pottery; yellow dot: no evidence of textileroughened pottery. Geodatasets used: NASA Shuttle Radar Topography Mission (SRTM) (2013). Distributed by OpenTopography (DOI: 10.5069/G9445JDF); bodies of water based on European Environment Agency (https://www.eea.europa.eu/data-and-maps/data/ wise-large-rivers-and-large-lakes).

within the early third millennium BC using typology (Schröter 1975). The finds known from most Swiss sites are not stratified and could either be associated with the Late Horgen style and date before the Corded Ware or they could be contemporary with the early occurrence of Corded Ware. The only association between Corded Ware pottery and textile-roughened sherds has been reported for Diessenhofen-Unterhof (Baeriswyl and Trachsel 1995, 34–36). However, due to the absence of absolute dates, the genesis of the reported cultural layer within the medieval castle seems unclear and thus the association is uncertain.

Characteristics of the textile-roughened vessels

Textile structures could be clearly identified on the majority of the roughened pottery surfaces from Baden-Württemberg and Switzerland. Other roughening techniques like brushstroke or the rolling of antler only occur on single sherds (Figure 5).

97



Figure 2. Examples of textile-roughened pottery surfaces from Baden-Württemberg. 1 Seekirch-Achwiesen, 2 Olzreute-Enzisholz, 3-4 Riesbürg/ Goldburghausen-Goldberg. Scale: 1:1. (1,2,6: ©Landesamt für Denkmalpflege im Regierungspräsidium Stuttgart/photos: Philipp Gleich. 3,4,5: ©Landesmuseum Württemberg Stuttgart/ photos: Philipp Gleich).

Parallel bundles of impressed lines could be identified on most of the textile-roughened sherds. The narrowest lines are 1 mm wide, the broadest up to 4 mm (Figure 2.1). Diagonal microstructures are visible in the interior of these lines. These diagonal structures indicate that cords were an important component of the tools used. The fibre structures reveal a varying width, sometimes below 0.1 mm. Most probably, the cords were made from plant fibres. Substantial textile finds from Seekirch-Achwiesen suggest that bast and flax fibres were important resources for cord production at that time (Feldtkeller 2004), but a use of simple plant blades or stalks is also possible for some pieces.

Two types of cords could be distinguished from the impressions: twisted cords made from two or more orderly twisted strands (Figure 2.1; Figure 3.1) account for about 10 % of the 196 examined samples from Baden-Württemberg and Switzerland. In the other cases rather



Figure 3. Textileroughened pots from Seekirch-Achwiesen with identified rolling pattern repetition. Rim diameter of the pots c. 32 cm. (©Landesamt für Denkmalpflege im Regierungspräsidium Stuttgart/drawings and photos: Philipp Gleich).

loosely turned fibre strands reminiscent of raw yarn or blades/stalks of plants were used (Figure 2.2–4; Figure 3.2).

Usually, the cord lines occur in curved or straight bundles with a width of some centimetres that can be followed over the surface until they are cut or overlain by other bundles (Figure 3). These bundles were also described for similar pottery of the Cham style by I. Matuschik (1999, 72) and for the Globular Amphora style by K. Grebe (1962, 31) and indicate the use of a rolling technique. Applying strict research criteria, the use of a rolling tool can only be confirmed if pattern repetition can be identified. This will be illustrated by two examples from Seekirch-Achwiesen.

The first pot was already described by Schlichtherle (2018, 164–65 fig. 8). It is covered by impression bundles of twisted cord on its lower part (Figure 3.1). The single bundles are 2.5 cm wide and consist of eight parallel cord impressions. A knot repeatedly occurs at the edge of the bundles at a distance of 7.8 cm. This indicates that the cord was wrapped around a roulette of 2.5 cm diameter eight times. Thus, a rather small, one-handed roulette was used. The knot impression often appears in clusters indicating a zigzag rolling movement over the vessel body. This

movement was performed in a more horizontal way on the carination/shoulder and in a more oblique way towards the base of the vessel.

In the second case (Figure 3.2), a turned cord was used. The pattern repetition could be observed at 4.5 cm, indicating the use of a roulette with a diameter of 1.1 cm. The photo illustrates that the pattern repetition "jumps" one line further during the rolling process, a phenomenon described by Schlichtherle (2018, 160 fig. 4.5). The roughened zone starts below a cordon decoration at the shoulder of the pot. The bundles of linear impressions appear rather vertical on this example and densely overlap, so that the width of the cord winding can only be estimated at around 4 cm. The change of the angle between the rolling bundles also indicates a zigzag rolling. The lower part of the pot was covered by several horizontal zones with vertical zigzag-rolling patterns. The width of the horizontal zones is around 15 cm and could be rolled over with a single handspan.

The use of simple roulettes, such as sticks with a cord loosely wrapped around them, is typical for the examined material. This is indicated by gaps of differing widths



Figure 4. Central European sites of the early third millennium BC with finds of textile-roughened or "honeycomb"patterned pottery. Hatched area: only selected sites mapped. For references and details see Appendix 1. Geodatasets used: NASA Shuttle Radar Topography Mission (SRTM) (2013). Distributed by OpenTopography (https://doi.org/10.5069/ G9445JDF); bodies of water based on European Environment Agency (https://www.eea.europa.eu/data-and-maps/data/ wise-large-rivers-and-large-lakes); political borders based on Natural Earth Data (https://www.naturalearthdata.com/ downloads/10m-cultural-vectors/10m-admin-1-states-provinces/).

between the single cord impression lines (Figure 2). Braided roulettes leave more regular patterns on the surface. This can be seen on archaeological examples from Abora I in Estonia (see below). Positive evidence for this practice could not be identified in the material from Baden-Württemberg and Switzerland.

The percentage of textile-roughened vessels can only be estimated since the degree of fragmentation is rather high. Like in other regions, the feature almost exclusively appears on the outer surfaces of pots. Pots account for 85 % of the vessels at the Upper Swabian sites. At Alleshausen-Grundwiesen around 25 % of the pots have textile-roughened surfaces, at Seekirch-Achwiesen around 40 %. At Wolpertswende-Schreckensee similar proportions can be expected. At Olzreute-Enzisholz only four out of 8000 sherds have textile roughening. It is not yet clear if there is a constant increase in the percentage of textile-roughened pottery over the twenty-ninth century BC in Upper Swabia. Considering the general dynamics of pottery-making practices during that time, diverging proportions of textile-roughened vessels and different traditions of pottery surface treatment must be assumed even in roughly contemporaneous assemblages.

Occurrences, find contexts and chronology in other parts of Germany and central Europe

Map overview and finds contexts in Germany

In addition to the analysed finds from Baden-Württemberg and Switzerland, a literature survey was conducted. Sites with textile-roughened pottery were mapped for Germany and Switzerland (Figure 4; Appendix 1). For the neighbouring countries of eastern central Europe only a small number of selected sites could be recorded and mapped (Figure 4, shaded areas). The map is also heavily influenced by the state of publication. For instance, E. Kirsch (1993) conducted a thorough survey of archives and private collections in the 1980s in the German state of Brandenburg. For the western surroundings of Berlin he reported the densest site agglomeration within Germany so far (Figure 4.79–143; Kirsch 1993, map 10). Other areas lack similar projects and thus appear rather empty. Figure 5. Proportions of different pottery roughening techniques for selected sites and areas. Upper Swabia: examinations by the author. Riekofen-Kellnerfeld: Matuschik 1999, 72. Kutná Hora-Denemark: Zápotocký and Zápotocká 2008, 165 tab. 9. Klučov-Na vrchu: Zápotocký and Kudrnáč 2008, 75.



In addition, radiocarbon dates were collected. While some of the dates are directly related to textile-roughened pottery or pit features containing it (Figures 6–8, yellow marks), others are only generally connected to site occupation (Figures 6–8; Appendix 2).

Most roughened vessels were found within settlement features like pits, cultural layers or ditches. Of the 141 sites recorded for Germany, only eleven (8 %) are burial places or potential burial places (Appendix 1).

The phenomenon is mainly concentrated in southern, central and north-eastern Germany. It seems absent in the distribution area of the Late Funnel Beaker styles of Scandinavia and northern/north-western Germany. The apparent boundary across the northern German plain can hardly be explained by geographical features, but is likely a cultural phenomenon. The westernmost distribution areas are Hesse and Baden-Württemberg, where find spots reach the Upper Rhine valley. No occurrences are known from France. The rather isolated finds on the Swiss plateau mark the south-western boundary. Noteable occurrences are Cazis-Petrushügel in Grisons in the southern Alpine Rhine Valley (Primas 1985, 95 fig. 67, T47-T52) and the Rocca di Rivoli near Verona, marking the only find spot in Italy (Primas 1982, 578 fig. 1.1). These sites indicate that the practice was occasionally transmitted over the Alps, probably from north to south.

Bavaria, western Bohemia, and Upper Austria (pottery styles: Cham, Burgerroth)

The pottery found in settlements along the Danube and its tributaries in southern Bavaria is attributed to the Cham style. According to the periodisation suggested by Matuschik (1999), textile-roughened surfaces are typical for the late phase of this style. Considering radiocarbon dates, this phase can be roughly placed between 2900 and 2600 calBC (Engelhardt 2002; Matuschik 1999, 83–86). One slightly older radiocarbon date has been reported from a settlement pit at Aiterhofen-Ödmühle, which contained textile-roughened pottery (Figure 6). At this potentially earlier site the textile-roughening technique is infrequent. Thus, an initial phase of textile roughening from around 3000 calBC onward is possible.

In his study of the Late Cham site Riekofen-Kellnerfeld, Matuschik concludes that corded roulette roughening was very important, but not the only technique used to produce textile-roughened surfaces (Matuschik 1996, 106-10; 1999, 72–73). Other techniques like brushstroke or coating are also important there (Figure 5). The textile-roughening technique can also be found in the Czech Republic, where it occurs on pottery of the western Bohemian Cham style together with other techniques like brushstroke and brush impressions (Prostředník 2001, 165). Although precise quantitative data are not available for these sites, textile roughening seems to be very frequent at sites like Bzí-Veliká Skála and Šťahlavice-Lopata (e.g. Jílková 1957, 27 fig. 9.9, 34 fig. 15.4). The Cham style is also present in Upper Austria. A sherd from Steyregg-Pulgarn has potentially been roughened with a twisted cord (Maurer 2013, 122-23). However, brushing and coating is more frequent at this site (Maurer 2013, 122 note 393).

Northern Bavarian pottery of this time is attributed to the Burgerroth style, named after the most important site. Corded rouletting was the main roughening technique applied at Burgerroth (Spennemann 1984, 106). The rolling technique has recently been confirmed by the identification of a pattern repetition (Link 2018, 191 fig. 12).

The chronological relationship of the Late Cham and Burgerroth styles to the Corded Ware style is not clear yet. Due to plateaus in the calibration curve, this question can not be decided by radiocarbon dates alone (Figure 6). Corded Ware pottery occurs in small numbers at several sites of the Cham style (Furholt 2008, 20), and also in the upper layers of the ditch at Riekofen-Kellnerfeld (Matuschik 1999, 91 fig. 20), but the significance of this is under debate. While Matuschik



Neolithic sites with evidence of textile-roughened pottery. Dates obtained directly from textile-roughened vessels or from pit features containing textile-roughened pottery are marked in yellow. For references and details see Appendix 2. Plotted using OxCal v4.4.4 (Bronk Ramsey 2009; https://c14. arch.ox.ac.uk/oxcal/OxCal. html).

Figure 6. Southern Germany. Radiocarbon dates from Late

Calibrated date (calBC)

(1999, 82–84) expects a longer chronological overlap of the Late Cham and Early Corded Ware styles, W. Stöckli (2009, 158–59) is sceptical. At Burgerroth, textile-roughened pottery was found together with Corded Ware in the fill of a pit house. Radiocarbon dates from this feature fall around 2600 calBC (Link 2016). An even younger radiocarbon date was reported from Chieming-Markstatt in southern Bavaria, where textile-roughened pottery was found in the fill of a pit house and in a cultural layer covering the pit house (Pechtl and Möslein 2020). However, as the sample comes from the layer above the pit house, its association with the textileroughened pottery is not fully clear. Three radiocarbon dates from Vlkov-Babiny, western Bohemia, cover the first and the second half of the third millennium BC (John 2009a, 37). This site has yielded Late Cham pottery. Brushstroke ("slámování") and "honeycomb" roughening ("voštinování") appear together at this site (John 2009b, 17). Judging from the published photos, this "honeycomb" roughening has strong similarities with the pieces termed "textile roughening" here (e.g. John and Bouda 2009, 95 nr. 416; see discussion below). Although their stratigraphic position is not published in detail, the radiocarbon dates from Vlkov could point to a longer use of such roughening techniques until Corded Ware was present in western Bohemia.







Hesse, Thuringia, and southern Lower Saxony (pottery styles: Wartberg, Bernburg)

The Hessian settlement sites of the Wartberg style with occurrences of textile roughening are concentrated around the town of Fritzlar (Figure 4.44–48). The exact proportions of other roughening techniques cannot be extracted from the existing literature. The most detailed examination is available for the Wartberg itself. Schrickel (1969) reports over 2000 textile-roughened sherds for that site, which were mainly produced by corded roulette roughening. Besides that, other techniques like the rolling of antler or a roulette wrapped with a leather band are mentioned (Schrickel 1969, 67–68). As D. Raetzel-Fabian (2002, 7–8) has demonstrated, sites with textile-roughened pottery belong to a late development of the Wartberg style that roughly dates between 3000 and 2700 calBC. An overlap with the Corded Ware style is possible.

Some sites in southern Lower Saxony and in the Thuringian Basin have also yielded textile-roughened pottery. The pottery from these sites is often attributed to the Bernburg style, but also has similarities with other styles like Wartberg, Burgerroth and Globular Amphora. Cord rolling and corded rouletting techniques have also been suggested for Lower Saxony and Thuringia (Bücke 1986, 55–56; Dirks 2000, 75).

Saxony-Anhalt, eastern Lower Saxony and western Brandenburg (pottery styles: Globular Amphora, Bernburg, Schönfeld)

Within these areas textile roughening is connected to the pottery styles Bernburg, Globular Amphora and Schönfeld. These styles often appear in mixed assemblages at the same site. Thus, a stylistic classification of the roughened pottery is not always possible (Figure 4).





Textile roughening is frequent on Bernburg style pottery in the fortified settlement of Halle-Langer Berg in Saxony-Anhalt. H. Behrens and E. Schröter (1980, 51) explain the roughening by the direct rolling of twisted cords. The published photos do not only reveal impressed lines of twisted cords but also gaps of different widths between the single cord lines (Behrens and Schröter 1980, 171 pl.8). In comparison to the pieces from Baden-Württemberg (Figure 2.1; Figure 3.1), it is highly probable that a corded roulette technique with twisted cord was at least one of the roughening techniques used in Halle. H.-J. Beier (1988, 28) considers cord rolling techniques important for the Globular Amphora vessels of Saxony-Anhalt. Drawings indicate the use of twisted cords, potentially wrapped around roulettes, at many sites of the Globular Amphora style in Germany (Becker 2002, pl. 4.2.4.13; Beier 1988, pl. 20.6, 53.10, 54.31; Kirsch 1993, fig. 145, fig. 177.1080).

It is still difficult to establish an absolute time frame for textile-roughened pottery in the Bernburg

and Globular Amphora pottery styles. Considering radiocarbon dates, J. Müller suggested a maximum duration of 3100 until 2700 calBC for the Bernburg style with a potential overlap with the Corded Ware (J. Müller 2001, 170-73). R. Schwarz (2018) disagrees with this model. Based on Bayesian modelling of radiocarbon dates from several sites in Saxony-Anhalt, he suggests a duration of 3075-2800 calBC for the Bernburg style and no overlap with the Corded Ware (Schwarz 2018, 36–37). In his model, the practice of textile roughening is part of the youngest development of the Bernburg style (phase 3), which he places within a modelled timespan between 2925 and 2800 calBC (Schwarz 2018, 29). This estimate comes close to the dendrochronological dates from Upper Swabia. However, the number of published radiocarbon dates connected to contexts with textileroughened pottery in central and north-eastern Germany is still low. The best association occurs in grave K16 at the burial site Pevestorf 19. The fill of the grave contained textile-roughened sherds that were probably grave goods.

The date (KN-2459) falls between 3000 and 2700 calBC, with the highest probability in the twenty-ninth century calBC (Figure 7).

The radiocarbon dates from Halle-Dölauer Heide have too broad error margins to contribute to more detailed chronological discussions (Figure 7). The dates from Derenburg-Steinkuhlenberg belong to a rather early horizon between 3100 and 2900 BC (Figure 7). Interestingly, this site has only revealed a small number of textile-roughened sherds in the fill of a settlement burial, which is not absolutely dated itself (Hille 2020, 93 nr. 72). Like in Bavaria, this could indicate an earliest possible occurrence of the practice around 3000 BC and a main phase of popularity from the twenty-ninth century BC for textile roughening in the Bernburg style of Saxony-Anhalt. G. Wetzel's (1979, 43) mentions of textile-roughened pottery associated with the Schönfeld style were critically discussed by J. Beran (1990, 30-31), who noted that textile roughening only occurs in closed assemblages of the Fischbeck style, the initial phase of the Schönfeld style. This phase could predate the Corded Ware, yet its absolute date is not fully clear (J. Müller 2001, 247). To my knowledge, there are no clear associations of textile-roughened pottery and Corded Ware in closed and absolutely dated contexts in central and north-eastern Germany.

Further to the east: textile roughening and related techniques

Eastern central Europe (pottery styles: Řivnáč, Jevišovice, Late Baden)

Textile-roughened pottery vessels are present in the Řivnáč style in eastern Bohemia. Stehelčeves-Homolka (Ehrich and Pleslová-Štiková 1968, 72) and Kutná Hora-Denemark (Zápotocký and Zápotocká 2008, 164–65) yielded multiple vessels of this kind. For Kutná Hora-Denemark the quantitative relation of different roughening techniques is published in detail, indicating that textile roughening is rare in comparison to brushstroke (Figure 5). Radiocarbon dates from Kutná Hora-Denemark fall into the first third of the third millennium BC. Slightly earlier radiocarbon dates from the very beginning of the third millennium BC come from settlement features containing textile-roughened pottery at Tuchoměřice and Prague 9-Miškovice (Figure 8; Ernée *et al.* 2007; Sankot and Zápotocký 2011).

Brushstroke is the most frequent roughening technique of the Jevišovice pottery style of Lower Austria and Moravia. No textile roughening is reported from Melk-Wachberg, a site considered early within the Austrian development of the Jevišovice style (Ruttkay 2001). However, Raabs-Oberndorf has yielded textile-roughened vessels. The drawings could indicate the use of twisted cords there (Ruttkay 2000, 569 fig. 245). Only brushstroke is reported from the Moravian site Brno-Starý Lískovec

(Medunová-Benešová and Vitula 1994, 18-19). From the eponymous site of Jevišovice-Starý Zámek (Medunová-Benešová 1972, pl. 51.12.17, 106.5, 110.6.8) and Grešlové Mýto-Nad Mírovcem (Medunová-Benešová 1973, pl. 4.1, 8.1) rather few textile-roughened vessels are known. However, there is a whole series of vessels from Vysočany-Palliardiho hradisko, which is considered a late Jevišovice site (Medunová-Benešová 1977, pl. II). The relative and absolute chronology of the Jevišovice style is still under debate (Peška 2011, 315-17; Schmitsberger 2006). It can be assumed that most sites with textile-roughened vessels date to the early third millennium BC and are rather late in the relative development of the style. The radiocarbon dates from Brno-Starý Lískovec indicate that there are also sites without textile-roughened pottery during the late phase around 2900-2700 calBC (Görsdorf 1994).

V. Struhár, M. Soják and M. Cheben (2015, 247–48) have recently published a review of the so-called "honeycomb" patterns that occur on vessel surfaces of the Late Baden and Bronze Age pottery styles in Slovakia and Hungary. The Slovakian term for these surfaces is "voštinovaný", the Czech term "voštinování". These surfaces typically bear patchy groups of oval depressions. Although detailed technological examinations have not come to my attention, it must be assumed that rolling — potentially using a cord-wrapped or braided roulette — often played a role in the creation of these surfaces. M. Zápotocký and M. Zápotocká (2008, 165 tab. 9) translate the term with the German "mattenabdruckverziert", meaning "decorated by mat impressions".

Although these surfaces are an important feature of Bronze Age pottery styles of the Carpathian area, especially of the Hatvan style (Nešporová 1969), Struhár and colleagues (2015, 247-48) have pointed to their occurrence in several Late Baden hilltop settlements in Slovakia. In some cases, it is not fully clear if the honeycomb pottery actually belongs to Late Eneolithic or Early Bronze Age occupation events (Novotná and Soják 2013, 24; Struhár et al. 2015, 247). Important evidence for a Late Eneolithic occurrence comes from the hilltop settlement of Lieskovec-Hrádok in Slovakia. Following R. Malček (2013, 125), all the pottery found there belongs to a short timespan within the Late Baden style. The "honeycomb" pattern appears in rather low numbers alongside brushstroke in the pottery assemblage (Malček 2013, 37 fig. 24.V503, 74 fig. 48. V49, pl. XLVI.15, XLVII.15.19). Further examples of "honeycomb" patterns are known from sites of the Bošaca style in Plotiště nad Labem in eastern Bohemia (Vokolek and Zápotocký 1990, 34 fig. 5.20, 36 fig. 6.15.16) and from Podolie in western Slovakia, where this technique only accounts for 1 % of the roughening techniques (Šuteková 2008, 285). V. Němejcová-Pavúková (1968, 413 fig. 40.7.8) reported comparable finds from Iža in southern Slovakia, which is attributed to the Kostolac

style. She noted that the "honeycomb" pattern also occurs within the wider distribution area of the Kostolac style in northern Hungary (Němejcová-Pavúková 1968, 414–15).

These considerations show that brushstroke dominates in the Late Baden pottery styles north of the Carpathians, and that potential textile-roughened pottery is rather rare in this area. However, an example from east of the Carpathians is reported from a Moldavian burial containing pottery of the Globular Amphora style. V. Mihailescu-Bîrliba (2005, 95) uses the old German term "Binsenkeramik" ("rush pottery", see Table 1) to describe the pottery surfaces that were produced by some kind of textile roughening. Interestingly, textile roughening does not occur in the central and eastern parts of the overall distribution area of the Globular Amphora style (pers. comm. Marzena Szmyt). According to Wiślański (1966, 10), it is a typical feature of the western Globular Amphora style within the borders of modern-day Germany.

Finland and the Baltic states

Alongside central and eastern central Europe, there is a second cluster of textile-roughened pottery in northeastern Europe (Schaefer-Di Maida 2017, 33 fig. 4). In his seminal work, M. Lavento (2001) presented an overview of the "textile pottery" in this area, where it often appears in mixed assemblages containing finds of the prehistoric Metal Ages and the Neolithic. Although the practice of textile roughening is important during the Bronze and Iron Ages in Finland and the Baltic states, Lavento (2000; 2001, 88-108 with detailed discussion) demonstrated that the beginning of this practice lies in the Neolithic. Evidence for this early beginning comes from the Estonian settlement sites Riigiküla XIV and Lemmetsa I. Both yielded textileroughened pottery as well as Combed Ware and Corded Ware. Later occupation is absent (Lavento 2000, 111-12). B. Dumpe (2005; 2006) conducted a detailed experimentbased analysis of Neolithic textile-roughened pottery from the Abora I settlement at lake Lubān in Estonia. She showed that the pottery surfaces were mainly treated by directly rolling a double- or triple-twisted cord over the vessel (not wrapped around a roulette). For some examples, she demonstrated the use of more complex braided roulettes (Dumpe 2006, 83-84). Although no clear evidence for either technique has been found in Baden-Württemberg or Switzerland, it is possible that they occur in other areas of central Europe. Especially the vessel surfaces from the Moravian Jevišovice site Vysočany-Palliardiho hradisko (Medunová-Benešová 1977, pl. II) show similarities to the dense and regular depression patterns on vessels from Abora I (Dumpe 2006, 75 fig. 4).

Radiocarbon dates on organic residue on textileroughened vessels found at the Estonian sites of Akali, Kullamägi and Loona fall into the early third millennium calBC (Kriiska *et al.* 2005, 6 tab. 1). Thus, they have the same

radiocarbon age as the majority of dates obtained for central European contexts of textile-roughened pottery (Figure 8). For the Lithuanian site of Žemaitiške 3, which revealed pottery of the Narva style and textile-roughened pottery, a much older radiocarbon date between 4230-4060 calBC was published (Piličiauskas 2012, 49). Although this date could be affected by a freshwater reservoir effect (Piličiauskas et al. 2011, 639-40), an earlier beginning of textile roughening in north-eastern Europe is possible. For a detailed discussion as to which Neolithic pottery styles the early textile-roughened pottery is related to, Lavento's (2000; 2001) work is a good starting point. A chronological association with Narva pottery, the Combed Ware style, as well as the Corded Ware style is discussed for Finland and the Baltic states (Lavento 2000; Piličiauskas 2012; Piličiauskas et al. 2011). A. Kriiska's excavation results for the Estonian site of Riigiküla XIV indicate that the practice of textile impression is present in Corded Ware assemblages in Estonia (Kriiska 2000, 66).

A further search for textile-roughened surfaces would exceed the scope of this paper. However, the phenomenon also occurs in the Upper and Middle Volga areas of Russia, where this long-lasting practice might begin in the Pitted-Combed Ware style of the Late Neolithic (Lavento 2000, 115–16).

Discussion

The bigger picture of the occurrence of textile-roughened pottery in the European Neolithic is still fragmented and blurred. Open questions concerning the techniques, absolute chronology and associations with pottery styles demand further research. Nonetheless, the archaeological research of the last decades has brought to light observations of general importance for the understanding of transmission networks in the early third millennium BC.

The wide geographical distribution of Late Neolithic textile-roughened pottery

The central and eastern European occurrences can be traced from the Upper Rhine rift in the west to the river Siret in Moldavia and from the shore of the Baltic Sea in Mecklenburg Western Pomerania in the north to the area north of the Carpathians in the south (Figure 4). At present, a geographical connection between the central European areas of distribution and the eastern areas in Finland, the Baltic states and western Russia cannot be established. Thus, it cannot be decided if the practice of textile roughening was invented independently in these two areas or if this practice was transmitted between them. Considering the visual similarity of the pottery surfaces and the similar use of rolling techniques, a transmission process of some kind can be assumed. From a central European perspective, it is worth mentioning that textile roughening dominates over other roughening techniques
especially in Germany, which is the westernmost part of the whole distribution area. The quantitative importance of textile roughening decreases in the Řivnáč, Jevišovice and Late Baden styles in eastern central Europe (Figure 5). This could indicate that potential transmission processes between east and west did not take place via overland connections but via the Baltic Sea.

The similarity and dissimilarity of practices

Especially for the German occurrences, most authors agree on the use of rolling techniques and on the use of cordwrapped roulettes or sometimes other kinds of roulettes. The use of rolling techniques and even braided roulettes has been confirmed for Abora I in Estonia. It is not clear if this technique played a role in the production of textileroughened surfaces in the west. A detailed analysis of the "honeycomb" patterns of eastern central Europe has not yet been carried out. Yet, the use of textile-rolling techniques in the widest sense may be assumed for at least some of these finds. Thus, it can be stated that the use of textiles, twisted or turned cords and rouletting techniques was most probably part of the textile-roughening techniques within their whole distribution area, although in most areas it was certainly not the only technique applied.

The temporal proximity of the absolutely dated occurrences

The temporal proximity of the radiocarbon dates in Figures 6-8 is remarkable. For central Europe, the earliest dates belong to the timespan of 3100-2900 calBC. These dates are rare and could indicate an initial phase. Most dates fall between 2900 calBC and 2600 calBC. Chronological differences between different areas of occurrence cannot be seen at the current state of research. It rather seems that textile-roughening practices, which have no predecessors in central Europe, spread within a barely measurable timeframe at the beginning of the third millennium BC. The Upper Swabian sites in Baden-Württemberg are so far the only ones dated by dendrochronology. Here, it is evident that textile roughening begins in the twenty-ninth century and thus clearly before the earliest regional occurrence of the Corded Ware style in Baden-Württemberg. A beginning of textile-roughened pottery before the introduction of the Corded Ware style is also highly probable for the other areas of occurrence in central Europe. It must be assumed that textile roughening continued to be practised into the time of the Corded Ware in some areas. However, the details of regional processes and potential overlaps are less clear. Closed find contexts containing Corded Ware and textile-roughened pottery are rare. The same is true for radiocarbon dates after 2700 calBC that are clearly related to textile-roughened pottery. The best evidence, to my knowledge, for both of these phenomena comes from the pit houses at the northern Bavarian site of Burgerroth

(Link 2016). For the many "mixed" sites under debate, it could be helpful in the future to obtain direct radiocarbon dates from charred remains or lipids in textile-roughened and Corded Ware vessels.

Conclusion

In central Europe the textile-roughening technique is important as a diagnostic feature for the identification of sites dating to the transitional horizon into the time of the Corded Ware. Indeed, textile roughening seems to have spread within a short time just before the first Corded Ware vessels appear. The transmission processes behind this spread are unknown. Bipartite pots with a smooth upper part, lugs or cordons at the carination and a textile-roughened lower body are found in most pottery styles of the early third millennium BC in central Europe (see the examples in Figure 3). Most probably, the rough surfaces were appreciated on a supra-regional scale since they facilitated the handling and transportation of vessels. Sometimes, textile roughening appears on vessels bearing more distinct styles. From north-eastern Germany, globular amphorae with textile roughening on their round lower bodies are known (Kirsch 1993, fig 177,1080). A closer comparative examination could answer the question of regional peculiarities of the textile-roughening techniques themselves. The overall picture suggests that the practices of textile roughening were picked up by pottery making communities operating at a more regional or local scale. Obviously, these pottery making communities had grown together in a dynamic and wide-ranging transmission network before the Corded Ware appeared. This network allowed for the transmission of distinct practices within timespans that can barely be measured by radiocarbon dating. The discontinuous spatial distribution shows that individual communities stayed somewhat autonomous in choosing to adopt the practice or not. Textile roughening was especially popular among the Late Neolithic pottery making communities within the area of modernday Germany.

It is not the goal of this article to explain this transmission network in terms of exchange and mobility practices. Yet, it is quite probable that it played a role in the spread of the Corded Ware. One argument is the spatial structure of this network. Its western and southern boundaries in central Europe come close to the boundaries of the distribution of Corded Ware pottery (Figure 4). The second argument are the contents transmitted within this network. The use of textiles, braided roulettes and especially twisted cords is at the core of textile roughening. Other features encompassing most of the mentioned pottery styles are geometric decorations made by twistedcord impressions. Some cord decorations from Baden-Württemberg and Bavaria are directly comparable to cord decorations of the Globular Amphora style (Woidich 2014, 215–19). Cord decorations are also very common in the Řivnáč (Zápotocký and Zápotocká 2008, 206–07 fig. 92) and Jevišovice styles (Medunová-Benešová 1977, pl. XV) of eastern central Europe. This important phenomenon cannot be covered further in the scope of this paper. Cord decorations and textile roughening show that the use of cords for ornamenting pottery was an important and well-established feature in the growing supra-regional networks on the eve before and potentially also on the morning after the introduction of the Corded Ware.

Whether Early Corded Ware vessels were also circulated within these networks is an important question. The regular occurrence of Corded Ware sherds within settlements of the early third millennium BC throughout central Europe could indicate this (see the discussion in Furholt 2008).

Acknowledgements

My greatest thanks go to the following institutions for granting me access to textile-roughened pottery finds: Landesamt für Denkmalpflege Baden-Württemberg, Archäologisches Landesmuseum Württemberg Stuttgart, Kantonsarchäoloige Luzern, Kantonsarchäologie Zürich, and Archäologischer Dienst Graubünden. Personally, I want to thank Helmut Schlichtherle for introducing me to the analysis of cord-rolling techniques.

References

- Baeriswyl, A. and Trachsel, M. 1995. Das Unterhofareal vor dem Burgenbau. Prähistorische Perioden.
 In A. Baeriswyl and M. Junkes (eds), Der Unterhof in Diessenhofen. Von der Adelsburg zum Ausbildungszentrum, 34–47. Frauenfeld: Departement für Erziehung und Kultur des Kantons Thurgau.
- Becker, D. 2002. Die neolithische Inselsiedlung am Löddigsee bei Parchim. In D. Becker and N. Benecke (eds), Die neolithische Inselsiedlung am Löddigsee bei Parchim. Archäologische und archäozoologische Untersuchungen, 9–79. Lübstorf: Buck.
- Behrens, H. and Schröter, E. 1980. Siedlungen und Gräber der Trichterbecherkultur und Schnurkeramik bei Halle (Saale). Berlin: VEB Deutscher Verlag der Wissenschaften.
- Beier, H.-J. 1988. Die Kugelamphorenkultur im Mittelelbe-Saale-Gebiet und in der Altmark. Berlin: VEB Deutscher Verlag der Wissenschaften.
- Beran, J. 1990. Funde der Einzelgrabkultur im Bezirk Magdeburg. Halle a.d. Saale: Universitätsverlag.
- Bleicher, N. 2009. Altes Holz in neuem Licht. Archäologische und dendrochronologische Untersuchungen an spätneolithischen Feuchtbodensiedlungen in Oberschwaben. Stuttgart: Theiss.

- Breunig, P. 1987. 14C-Chronologie des vorderasiatischen, südost- und mitteleuropäischen Neolithikums. Köln: Bölau.
- Bronk Ramsey, C. 2009. Bayesian analysis of radiocarbon dates. *Radiocarbon* 51 (1), 337–60.
- Bücke, S. 1986. Zwei Siedlungen der Bernburger Kultur im Thüringer Becken. *Alt-Thüringen* 21, 26–96.
- Burger, I. 1988. Die Siedlung der Chamer Gruppe von Dobl, Gem. Prutting, Lkr. Rosenheim und ihre Stellung im Endneolithikums Mitteleuropas. Fürth: Grafische Werkstätte Graf Fürth.
- De Capitani, A. 1993. Maur ZH-Schifflände. Die Tauchuntersuchungen der Ufersiedlung 1989– 1991. Jahrbuch der Schweizerischen Gesellschaft für Ur- und Frühgeschichte 76, 45–70.
- Dehn, W. and Sangmeister, E. 1954. Die Steinzeit im Ries. Katalog der steinzeitlichen Altertümer im Museum Nördlingen. Kallmünz: Michael Lassleben.
- Dirks, U. 2000. *Die Bernburger Kultur in Niedersachsen*. Rahden: Marie Leidorf.
- Driehaus, J. 1960. *Die Altheimer Gruppe und das Jungneolithikum in Mitteleuropa*. Mainz: Römisch-Germanisches Zentralmuseum.
- Dumpe, B. 2005. New conclusions regarding Neolithic all-over cord-impressed ware. In H. Kars and E. Burke (eds), Proceedings of the 33rd International Symposium on Archaeometry, 22–26 April 2002, Amsterdam, 165–68. Amsterdam: Institute for Geoand Bioarchaeology, Vrije Universiteit.
- Dumpe, B. 2006. Agrās Tekstilās Keramikas Faktūru Veidošanas Īpatnības. *Arheologija un Etnografija* 23, 71–84.
- Ehrich, R.W. and Pleslová-Štiková, E. 1968. *Homolka. An Eneolithic site in Bohemia*. Prague: Academia.
- Engelhardt, B. 2002. Die Chamer Kultur. In K. Schmotz (ed.), *Vorträge des 20. Niederbayerischen Archäologentages*, 245–65. Deggendorf: Marie Leidorf.
- Ernée, M., Dobeš, M., Hlaváč, J., Kočár, P., Kyselý, R. and Šída, P. 2007. Zahloubená chata ze středního eneolitu v Praze 9 - Miškovicích. Výsledky archeologických a přírodovědných analýz. *Památky Archeologické* XCVII, 31–108.
- Feldtkeller, A. 2004. Die Textilien von Seekirch-Achwiesen. In Landesdenkmalamt Baden-Württemberg (ed.), Ökonomischer und ökologischer Wandel am vorgeschichtlichen Federsee. Archäologische und naturwissenschaftliche Untersuchungen, 56–70. Freiburg i.Br.: Janus.
- Furholt, M. 2004. Entstehungsprozesse der Schnurkeramik und das Konzept des Einheitshorizontes. *Archäologisches Korrespondenzblatt* 34 (4), 479–98.
- Furholt, M. 2008. Erscheinungen asynchroner kultureller Entwicklung am Übergang vom Spät- zum Endneolithikum in Mitteleuropa. Eine Untersuchung

der Siedlungsfunde mit Schnurkeramik. In W. Dörfler and J. Müller (eds), *Umwelt – Wirtschaft – Siedlungen im dritten vorchristlichen Jahrtausend Mitteleuropas und Südskandinaviens*, 9–34. Neumünster: Wachholtz.

- Furholt, M. 2017. Massive migrations? The impact of recent aDNA studies on our view of third millennium Europe. *European Journal of Archaeology* 21 (2), 159–91.
- Furholt, M. 2019. Re-integrating archaeology: a contribution to aDNA studies and the migration discourse on the 3rd millennium BC in Europe. *Proceedings of the Prehistoric Society* 85, 115–29.
- Görsdorf, J. 1994. ¹⁴C-Datierungsergebnisse der Siedlung Brno-Lískovec. In A. Medunová-Benešová and P. Vitula, *Siedlung der Jevišovice-Kultur in Brno, Starý Lískovec* (*Bez. Brno-město*), 80–87. Brno: Archeologický Ustav AV ČR Brno.
- Gohlisch, T.H. 2005. Die Grabungsbefunde und die Keramik der endneolithischen Siedlung von Dietfurt a. d. Altmühl, Lkr. Neumarkt i. d. OPf. Rahden: Marie Leidorf.
- Grebe, K. 1962. Gräber der Kugelamphorenkultur aus Ketzin, Kr. Nauen, und Brandenburg (Havel)-Neuendorf. Veröffentlichungen des Museums für Ur- und Frühgeschichte Potsdam 1, 16–35.
- Grimmer-Dehn, B. 1998. Zu einigen Neufunden der frühen Bronzezeit aus dem Breisgau und dem Markgräfler Land. In B. Fritsch, M. Maute, I. Matuschik, J. Müller and C. Wolf (eds), *Tradition und Innovation. Prähistorische* Archäologie als historische Wissenschaft. Festschrift für Christian Strahm, 371–84. Rahden: Marie Leidorf.
- Grote, K.1994. Die Abris im südlichen Leinebergland bei Göttingen. Archäologische Befunde zum Leben unter Felsschutzdächern in urgeschichtlicher Zeit. Oldenburg: Isensee.
- Haak, W. [+27 others] and Reich, D. 2015. Massive migration from the steppe is a source for Indo-European languages in Europe. *Nature* 522, 207–11.
- Hanöffner, A. and Siftar, L. 2006. Die Ausgrabungen in Ödmühle, Gemeinde Aiterhofen, Lkr. Straubing-Bogen 1975–1980. *Jahresbericht des Historischen Vereins für Straubing und Umgebung* 108, 31–278.
- Hecht, D. 2003. Die endneolithische Besiedlung des Atzelberges bei Ilvesheim (Rhein-Neckar-Kreis). Ein Beitrag zum endneolithischen Siedlungswesen am nördlichen Oberrhein. Heidelberg: Books On Demand.
- Heyd, V. 2017. Kossinna's smile. Antiquity 91 (356), 348–59.
- Hille, A. 2020. Die Siedlung der Bernburger Kultur auf dem Steinkuhlenberg bei Derenburg, Lkr.
 Harz nach den Ausgrabungsergebnissen in den Jahren 1960–1964 und 1966. Halle a.d. Saale: Löhnert.
- Hopert, S., Schlichtherle, H., Schöbel, G., Spatz, H. and Walter, P. 1998. Der "Hals" bei Bodman.
 Eine Höhensiedlung auf dem Bodanrück und ihr Verhältnis zu den Ufersiedlungen des Bodensees.
 In H. Küster, A. Lang and P. Schauer (eds),

Archäologische Forschungen in urgeschichtlichen Siedlungslandschaften. Festschrift für Georg Kossack zum 75. Geburtstag, 91–54. Bonn: Rudolf Habelt.

- Iversen, R. 2015. Creolisation processes in the later south Scandinavian Neolithic. An approach to cultural heterogeneity. In K. Brink, S. Hydén, K. Jennbert, L. Larsson and D. Olausson (eds), *Neolithic diversities: perspectives from a conference in Lund, Sweden*, 58–65. Värnamo: Elanders Fälth & Hässler.
- Jílková, E. 1957. Západní Čechy na počátku doby bronzové. *Památky Archeologické* XLVIII (1), 15–57.
- John, J. 2009a. Absolutní data. In J. John, *Eneolitická výšinná lokalita Vlkov-Babiny (okr. Plzeň-jih)*, 37–38. Plzeň: Západočeská univerzita v Plzni.
- John, J. 2009b. Keramické artefakty a mazanice. In J. John, Eneolitická výšinná lokalita Vlkov-Babiny (okr. Plzeňjih), 17–18. Plzeň: Západočeská univerzita v Plzni.
- John, J. and Bouda, J. 2009. Katalog nálezů. In J. John, Eneolitická výšinná lokalita Vlkov-Babiny (okr. Plzeňjih), 49–100. Plzeň: Západočeská univerzita v Plzni.
- Kirsch, E. 1993. Funde des Mittelneolithikums im Land Brandenburg. Potsdam: Brandenburgisches Landemuseum für Ur- und Frühgeschichte.
- König, P. 2016. Beiträge zur Vorgeschichte Heidelbergs und der Schauenburg in Dossenheim (Rhein-Neckar-Kreis). *Fundberichte aus Baden-Württemberg* 36, 77–102.
- Köninger, J. 2003. Reusenreste und Scherben mattengerauhter Ware – abschließende Tauchsondagen im Ostteil der Ufersiedlungen von Ludwigshafen-Seehalde, Gde. Bodman-Ludwigshafen, Kreis Konstanz. Archäologische Ausgrabungen in Baden-Württemberg 2002, 53–56.
- Kriiska, A. 2000. Corded Ware culture sites in north-eastern Estonia. In V. Lang and A. Kriiska (eds), *De temporibus antinquissimis ad honorem Lembit Janits*, 103–31. Tallinn: Ajaloo Instituut.
- Kriiska, A., Lavento, M. and Peets, J. 2005. New AMS dates of the Neolithic and Bronze Age ceramics in Estonia: preliminary results and interpretations. *Estonian Journal of Archaeology* 4 (1), 3–31.
- Kristiansen, K. [+10 others] and Willerslev, E. 2017. Retheorising mobility and the formation of culture and language among the Corded Ware culture in Europe. *Antiquity* 91 (356), 334–47.
- Kroon, E.J., Huisman, D.J., Bourgeois, Q., Braekmans, D. and Fokkens, H. 2019. The introduction of Corded Ware culture at a local level: an exploratory study of cultural change during the Late Neolithic of the Dutch west coast through ceramic technology. *Journal of Archaeological Science: Reports* 26, 101873. DOI:10.1016/j.jasrep.2019.101873
- Lavento, M. 2000. Some viewpoints on early textile ceramics in the Baltic countries, Russia and Finland. In V. Lang and A. Kriiska (eds), *De temporibus*

antinquissimis ad honorem Lembit Janits, 103–31. Tallinn: Ajaloo Instituut.

Lavento, M. 2001. Textile ceramics in Finland and on the Karelian isthmus. Nine variations and fugue on a theme of C.F. Meinander. Helsinki: Suomen muinaismuistoyhdistys.

Liese-Kleiber, H. 1993. Settlement and landscape history at the Federsee, south-west Germany, as reflected in pollen diagrams. *Vegetation History and Archaeobotany* 2, 37–46.

Link, T. 2016. Zwei endneolithische Grubenhäuser auf dem "Alten Berg" bei Burgerroth (Lkr. Würzburg, Unterfranken). In J. Pechtl, T. Link and L. Husty (eds), Neue Materialien des Bayerischen Neolithikums. Tagung im Kloster Windberg vom 21. bis 23. November 2014, 99–26. Würzburg: Würzburg University Press.

Link, T. 2018. Eine mehrphasige Grabenanlage des 3. Jahrtausends v. Chr. in Burgerroth, Lkr.
Würzburg. In L. Husty, T. Link and J. Pechtl (eds), Neue Materialien des Bayerischen Neolithikums.
2. Tagung im Kloster Windberg vom 18. bis 20.
November 2016, 179–98. Würzburg: Würzburg University Press.

Lippmann, E. 1982. Schnurkeramische Bestattung von Erfurt. *Ausgrabungen und Funde* 5, 223–27.

Lüning, J. 1996. Erneute Gedanken zur Benennung der neolithischen Perioden. *Germania* 74 (1), 233–37.

Malček, R. 2013. *Lieskovec-Hrádok. Výšinné sídlisko Badenskej Kultúry*. Nitra: Archeologický Ústav Slovenskej Akad. Vied.

Matuschik, I. 1992. Die Chamer Kultur Bayerns und ihre Synchronisation mit den östlich und südöstlich benachbarten Kulturen. *Studia Praehistorica* 11/12, 200–20.

Matuschik, I. 1996. Die neolithische Besiedlung in Riekofen-"Kellnerfeld" – Beiträge zur Kenntnis des Spätneolithikums im südlichen Bayern. PhD dissertation, University of Freiburg.

Matuschik, I. 1999. Riekofen und die Chamer Kultur Bayerns. In H. Schlichtherle and M. Strobel (eds), Aktuelles zu Horgen – Cham – Goldberg III – Schnurkeramik in Süddeutschland. Rundgespräch Hemmenhofen 26.06.1998, 69–95. Freiburg i.Br.: Janus.

Matuschik, I. 2001. Boleráz und Baden aus Sicht des südbayerischen Spätneolithikums, zugleich ein Beitrag zur Genese der Chamer Kultur. In P. Roman and S. Diamandi (eds), *Cernavodă III – Boleráz: ein vorgeschichtliches Phänomen zwischen dem Oberrhein und der unteren Donau. Symposium Mangalia/ Neptun 18.–24.10.1999*, 673–720. Bukarest: S.C. Vavila.

Matuschik, I. and Schlichtherle, H. 2009. Zeitgenossen des Gletschermannes am Mittleren Neckar. Die Siedlungen von Stuttgart-Stammheim und -Mühlhausen. Esslingen: Folio.

Maurer, J. 2013. Steyregg-Windegg. Eine Siedlung der Chamer Kultur – Struktur und Fundmaterial. Mit einem Katalog der mittelneolithischen Funde. Linz: Easy-Media.

Medunová-Benešová, A. 1972. *Jevišovice – Starý Zámek. Schicht B. Katalog der Funde.* Brno: Československé Akademie Věd.

Medunová-Benešová, A. 1973. *Grešlové Mýto. Äneolithische Höhensiedlung "Nad Mírovcem". Katalog der Funde.* Brno: Československé Akademie Věd.

Medunová-Benešová, A. 1977. *Jevišovická kultura na jihozápadní Moravě*. Prague: Academia.

Medunová-Benešová, A. and Vitula, P. 1994. *Siedlung der Jevišovice-Kultur in Brno, Starý Lískovec (Bez. Brno-město).* Brno: Československé Akademie Věd.

Meyer, J. 2011. Spätneolithische-frühbronzezeitliche Siedlungsreste in Bad Homburg. *Hessen Archäologie* 2010, 26–28.

Meyer, M. 1993. Pevestorf 19. Ein mehrperiodiger Fundplatz im Landkreis Lüchow-Dannenberg. Oldenburg: Isensee.

Mihailescu-Bîrliba, V. 2005. Mormântul unei tinere căpetenii de la începutul epocii bronzului (Mastacăn, jud. Neamţ: "Cultura amforelor sferice"). *Arheologia Moldovei* XXVIII, 75–124.

Müller, D.W. 1972. Gefäßfund mit Zackenkragenflasche vom Kleinen Seeberg bei Gotha. Bezirk Erfurt. *Ausgrabungen und Funde* 17, 233–42.

Müller, J. 2001. Soziochronologische Studien zum Jungund Spätneolithikum im Mittelelbe-Saale-Gebiet (4100– 2700 v.Chr.). Eine sozialhistorische Interpretation prähistorischer Quellen. Rahden: Marie Leidorf.

Müller-Karpe, H. 1951. *Niederhessische Urgeschichte*. Melsungen: Heimatschollen.

Němejcová-Pavúková, V. 1968. Äneolithische Siedlung und Stratigraphie in Iža. *Slovenská Archeológia* 16, 353–433.

Nešporová, T. 1969. K problematike hatvanskej kultúry na južnom Slovensku. *Slovenská Archeológia* 17, 369–402.

Novotná, M. and Soják, M. 2013. Veľká Lomnica – Burchbrich. Urzeitliches Dorf unter den hohen Tatra. Nitra: Slovakian Academy of Sciences.

Pape, W. 1978. Bemerkungen zur relativen Chronologie des Endneolithikums am Beispiel Südwestdeutschlands und der Schweiz. Tübingen: Archaeologica Venatoria.

Pechtl, J. and Möslein, S. 2020. Angekratzt – Kirche, Friedhof und ein Grubenhaus des späten Neolithikums in Chieming-"Markstatt", Lkr. Traunstein, Oberbayern. In L. Husty, T. Link and J. Pechtl (eds), Neue Materialien des Bayerischen Neolithikums. 3. Tagung im Kloster Windberg vom 16. *bis 18. November 2018*, 231–53. Würzburg: Würzburg University Press.

Peška, J. 2011. Nové poznatlky o jevišovickém osídlení v regionu střední Moravy. *Praehistorica* XXIX, 297–322.

Piličiauskas, G. 2012. Lietuvos neolito ir ankstyvojo metalų laikotarpio chronologija naujų radiometrinių datų šviesoje. *Lietuvos archeologija* 38, 11–52.

Piličiauskas, G., Lavento, M., Oinonen, M. and Grižas, G. 2011. New ¹⁴C dates of Neolithic and early Metal Period ceramics in Lithuania. *Radiocarbon* 53 (4), 629–43.

Primas, M. 1982. Lago di Garda – Lago di Costanza.
Rapporti interregionali di età Neolitica superiore ed Eneolitica. In Società Archeologica Comense, Museo Gruppo Archeologico Cavriana and Museo Gruppo Grotte Gavardo (eds), Studi in onore di Ferrante Rittatore Vonwiller. Parte prima: preistoria e protostoria. Volume II, 571–84. Como: Malinverno.

Primas, M. 1985. Cazis-Petrushügel in Graubünden: Neolithikum, Bronzezeit, Spätmittelalter. Zürich: Juris.

Prostředník, J. 2001. Chamská kultura západnich Čechách. *Praehistorica* 25/26, 7–177.

Rademacher, R. 1987. Neue Funde endneolithischer Keramik mit sog. "Mattenrauhung" vom Veitsberg bei Ravensburg, Oberschwaben. *Fundberichte aus Baden-Württemberg* 12, 53–63.

Raetzel-Fabian, D. 2000. Calden. Erdwerk und Bestattungsplätze des Jungneolithikums. Architektur – Ritual – Chronologie. Bonn: Rudolf Habelt.

Raetzel-Fabian, D. 2002. Absolute chronology and cultural development of the Neolithic Wartberg culture in Germany. *Journal of Neolithic Archaeology* 2002, 1–11. DOI:10.12766/jna.2002.82

Ruttkay, E. 2000. KG Oberndorf bei Raabs, SG Raabs an der Thaya, VB Waidhofen an der Thaya. *Fundberichte aus Österreich* 39, 561–70.

Ruttkay, E. 2001. Wachberg bei Melk – eine Siedlung der frühen Jevišovice-Kultur. Überlegungen zur Chronologie des älteren Endneolithikums in Niederösterreich. In T.H. Gohlisch and L. Reisch (eds), Die Stellung der endneolithischen Chamer Kultur in ihrem räumlichen und zeitlichen Kontext, 56–85. Büchenbach: Dr. Faustus.

Sankot, P. and Zápotocký, M. 2011. Eneolitický sídlištní areál (jordanovská a řivnáčská kultura) s kruhovým objektem – rondelem v Tuchoměřicích, okr. Prahazápad. Památky Archeologické CII, 59–116.

Schaefer-Di Maida, S. 2017. "Textilkeramik" – Textileindrücke auf bronzezeitlicher Keramik vom Fundplatz Bruszczewo. *Światowit* LVI, 23–42.

Schlabow, K. 1960. Abdrücke von Textilien an Tongefäßen der Jungsteinzeit. Jahresschrift für Mitteldeutsche Vorgeschichte 44, 51–56. Schlabow, K. 1971. Textileindrücke auf Tongefäßen der Jungsteinzeit. In K. Gripp, R. Schütrumpf and H.
Schwabedissen (eds), *Frühe Menschheit und Umwelt I. Festschrift A. Rust*, 419–22. Köln: Böhlau.

Schlichtherle, H. 1999. Die Goldberg III Gruppe in Oberschwaben. In H. Schlichtherle and M. Strobel (eds), Aktuelles zu Horgen – Cham – Goldberg III – Schnurkeramik in Süddeutschland. Rundgespräch Hemmenhofen 26.06.1998, 35–48. Freiburg i.Br.: Janus.

Schlichtherle, H. 2018. Abgerollt: Zur sogenannten "Mattenrauhung" auf Keramik der endneolithischen Goldberg III-Gruppe. In L. Husty, T. Link and J. Pechtl (eds), Neue Materialien des Bayerischen Neolithikums. 2. Tagung im Kloster Windberg vom 18. bis 20. November 2016, 155–77. Würzburg: Würzburg University Press.

Schmitsberger, O. 2006. Neue ¹⁴C-Daten zur Jevišovice-Kultur in Niederösterreich. In A. Krenn-Leeb (ed.), *Wirtschaft, Macht und Strategie. Höhensiedlungen und ihre Funktionen in der Ur- und Frühgeschichte*, 41–51. Wien: Österreichische Gesellschaft für Ur- und Frühgeschichte.

Schneider, M. 1924. Die Binsen-Keramik, eine neue steinzeitliche Gattung. Prähistorische Zeitschrift 15, 75–77.

Schrickel, W. 1969. *Die Funde vom Wartberg in Hessen.* Marburg: N.G. Elwert.

Schröter, P. 1975. Zur Besiedlung des Goldberges im Nördlinger Ries. In Römisch-Germanisches Zentralmuseum Mainz (ed.), Ausgrabungen in Deutschland. Gefördert von der Deutschen Forschungsgemeinschaft. Teil 1. Vorgeschichte, Römerzeit, 98–114. Mainz: Römisch-Germanisches Zentralmuseum.

Schwarz, R. 2018. *Typentafeln zur Chronologie in Mitteldeutschland – Die Bernburger Kultur*. Halle a.d. Saale: Grafisches Centrum Cuno.

Spennemann, D.R. 1984. Burgerroth. Eine spätneolithische Höhensiedlung in Unterfranken. Oxford: BAR.

Stöckli, W.E. 2009. Chronologie und Regionalität des jüngeren Neolithikums (4300–2400 v.Chr.) im Schweizer Mittelland, in Süddeutschland und in Ostfrankreich aufgrund der Keramik und der absoluten Datierungen, ausgehend von den Forschungen in den Feuchtbodensiedlungen der Schweiz. Basel: Reinhardt Druck.

Struhár, V., Soják, M. and Cheben, M. 2015. The Baden culture hilltop settlements in northern Slowakia and their "socio-symbolic" importance. In M. Nowak and A. Zastawny (eds), *The Baden culture around the western Carpathians*, 237–72. Krakow: Krakowski Zespol do Badan.

Šuteková, J. 2008. Opevnené sídlisko bošáckej kultúry (skupiny) v Podolí, okr. Nové Mesto nad Váhom (predbežná štúdia). In M. Cheben and I. Kuzma (eds), Otázky neolitu a eneolitu našich krajín – 2007, 273–86. Nitra: Archeologický ústav SAV.

Suter, P. 2017. Keramik des 3. Jahrtausends v. Chr. In P. Suter, Um 2700 v. Chr. – Wandel und Kontinuität in den Ufersiedlungen am Bielersee. Band 1, 248–87. Bern: Archäologischer Dienst des Kantons Bern.

Szmyt, M. 2003. Verbreitung und Kontakte der Kugelamphorenkultur: Ein Blick auf die polykulturellen Peripherien. *Germania* 81, 401–42.

Vokolek, V. and Zápotocký, M. 1990. Východní Čechy ve střednim eneolitu (otázka záhasu bošácké skupiny). *Památky Archeologické* LXXXI, 28–58.

Walter, D., Bücke, S. and Schulze, J. 1987. Beiträge zur Archäologie der Erfurter Mulde I. *Alt-Thüringen* 22/23, 63–164.

Wetzel, G. 1969. Ein Dünenwohnplatz bei Lanz, Kreis Ludwigslust. *Denkmalpflege in Mecklenburg* 1967, 129–69. Wetzel, G. 1979. *Die Schönfelder Kultur*. Berlin: VEB Deutscher Verlag der Wissenschaften.

Wiślański, T. 1966. Über die territorialen und chronologischen Einteilungen der Kugelamphorenkultur. *Archaeologia Polona* 7, 7–26.

Woidich, M. 2014. Die Westliche Kugelamphorenkultur. Untersuchungen zu ihrer raumzeitlichen Differenzierung, kulturellen und anthropologischen Identität. Berlin: De Gruyter.

Zápotocký, M. and Kudrnáč, J. 2008. Eneolitický sídlištní a pohřební areál v Klučově – "Na vrchu". Příspěvek k periodizaci řivnáčské kultury. *Památky Archeologické* XCIX, 35–92.

Zápotocký, M. and Zápotocká, M. 2008. *Kutná Hora-Denemark: hradiště řivnáčské kultury (ca 3000–2800 př. Kr.).* Prague: Tiskárna Protisk.

Site nr.	Site name	Site type	Municipality	District	Province	Country	Pottery style	Reference
1	Egolzwil 2	Settlement			Luzern	Switzerland	Undetermined/ mixed	Unpublished
2	Feldmeilen-Vorderfeld	Stray finds/ unclear		Meilen	Zürich	Switzerland	Undetermined/ mixed	Unpublished
3	Maur-Schifflände	Stray finds/ unclear		Uster	Zürich	Switzerland	Undetermined/ mixed	De Capitani 1993
4	Diessenhofen- Unterhof	Potential settlement		Frauenfeld	Thurgau	Switzerland	Undetermined/ mixed	Baeriswyl and Trachsel 1995
5	Cazis-Petrushügel	Settlement		Viamala	Grisons	Switzerland	Undetermined/ mixed	Primas 1985
6	Mauchen- Fundstelle 25a	Stray finds/ unclear	Schliengen	Lörrach	Baden- Württemberg	Germany	Undetermined/ mixed	Grimmer- Dehn 1998
7	Ilvesheim-Atzelberg	Stray finds/ unclear		Rhein-Neckar- Kreis	Baden- Württemberg	Germany	Undetermined/ mixed	Hecht 2003
8	Heidelberg-Kirchheim	Stray finds/ unclear		Heidelberg	Baden- Württemberg	Germany	Undetermined/ mixed	König 2016
9	Duchtlingen- Hohenkrähen	Stray finds/ unclear	Hilzingen	Konstanz	Baden- Württemberg	Germany	Undetermined/ mixed	Matuschik 1996, list 3 nr. 1
10	Mühlhausen- Ehingen-Bei der Mauer	Stray finds/ unclear		Konstanz	Baden- Württemberg	Germany	Undetermined/ mixed	Matuschik and Schlichtherle 2009, nr. 3
11	Hausen am Tann-Lochenstein	Stray finds/ unclear		Zollernalbkreis	Baden- Württemberg	Germany	Undetermined/ mixed	Matuschik 1996, list 3 nr. 5
12	Bodman-Hals	Potential settlement	Bodman- Ludwigshafen	Konstanz	Baden- Württemberg	Germany	Undetermined/ mixed	Hopert <i>et. al</i> . 1998
13	Ludwigshafen- Seehalde	Stray finds/ unclear	Bodman- Ludwigshafen	Konstanz	Baden- Württemberg	Germany	Undetermined/ mixed	Köninger 2003
14	Wolpertswende- Schreckensee	Settlement		Ravensburg	Baden- Württemberg	Germany	Goldberg III	Rademacher 1987
15	Ravensburg-Veitsberg	Settlement		Ravensburg	Baden- Württemberg	Germany	Goldberg III	Matuschik 1996, list 3 nr. 11
16	Alleshausen- Grundwiesen	Settlement		Biberach	Baden- Württemberg	Germany	Goldberg III	Schlichtherle 1999
17	Seekirch-Achwiesen	Settlement		Biberach	Baden- Württemberg	Germany	Goldberg III	Matuschik 1996, list 3 nr. 13
18	Aulendorf-Steeger- See	Potential settlement		Ravensburg	Baden- Württemberg	Germany	Goldberg III	Unpublished
19	Olzreute-Enzisholz	Settlement	Bad Schussenried	Biberach	Baden- Württemberg	Germany	Goldberg III	Schlichtherle 1999
20	Goldburghausen- Goldberg	Settlement	Riesbürg	Ostalbkreis	Baden- Württemberg	Germany	Goldberg III	Schlichtherle 1999
21	Burgerroth-Alter Berg	Settlement	Aub	Würzburg	Bavaria	Germany	Burgerroth	Matuschik 1996, list 2 nr. 3
22	Prosselsheim	Settlement		Würzburg	Bavaria	Germany	Burgerroth	Matuschik 1996, list 2 nr. 7
23	Krautheim	Stray finds/ unclear	Volkach	Kitzingen	Bavaria	Germany	Burgerroth	Matuschik 1996, list 2 nr. 5
24	Fessenheim-Bürg	Stray finds/ unclear	Wechingen	Donau-Ries	Bavaria	Germany	Undetermined/ mixed	Burger 1988, cat. nr. 56
25	Weißenburg-Alte Bürg	Stray finds/ unclear		Weißenburg- Gunzenhausen	Bavaria	Germany	Cham	Burger 1988, cat. nr. 54
26	Voitmannsdorf	Settlement	Königsfeld	Bamberg	Bavaria	Germany	Burgerroth	Matuschik 1996, list 2 nr. 11
27	Landersdorf-Hinterer Berg	Settlement	Thalmässing	Roth	Bavaria	Germany	Cham	Burger 1988, cat. nr. 51
28	Obermässing	Stray finds/ unclear	Greding	Roth	Bavaria	Germany	Cham	Burger 1988, cat. nr. 52
29	Dietfurt an der Altmühl	Settlement		Neumarkt in der Oberpfalz	Bavaria	Germany	Cham	Gohlisch 2005

Appendix 1. Central European sites of the Late Neolithic with evidence of textileroughened pottery (mapped in Figure 4).

Site nr.	Site name	Site type	Municipality	District	Province	Country	Pottery style	Reference
30	Kemnathen	Potential settlement	Breitenbrunn	Neumarkt in der Oberpfalz	Bavaria	Germany	Cham	Matuschik 1996, list 1 nr. 16
31	Eichenhofen-Adelburg	Stray finds/ unclear	Seubersdorf	Neumarkt in der Oberpfalz	Bavaria	Germany	Cham	Burger 1988, cat. nr. 47
32	Winkl-Lauterach- Rötelberg	Potential settlement	Kastl	Amberg-Sulzbach	Bavaria	Germany	Cham	Burger 1988, cat. nr. 55
33	Prutting-Dobl	Settlement		Rosenheim	Bavaria	Germany	Cham	Burger 1988, cat. nr. 62
34	Chieming-Markstatt	Settlement		Traunstein	Bavaria	Germany	Undetermined/ mixed	Pechtl and Möslein 2020
35	Alteglofsheim- Sportzentrum	Settlement		Regensburg	Bavaria	Germany	Cham	Matuschik 1996, list 1 nr. 5
36	Köfering-Kelleräcker	Settlement		Regensburg	Bavaria	Germany	Cham	Matuschik 1996, list 1 nr. 17
37	Moosham- Flickermühle	Settlement	Mintraching	Regensburg	Bavaria	Germany	Cham	Burger 1988, cat. nr. 24
38	Riekofen-Kellnerfeld	Settlement		Regensburg	Bavaria	Germany	Cham	Burger 1988, cat. nr. 29
39	Aiterhofen-Ödmühle	Settlement		Straubing-Bogen	Bavaria	Germany	Cham	Burger 1988, cat. nr. 1
40	Ettling-Westerndorf	Settlement	Wallersdorf	Dingolfing-Landau	Bavaria	Germany	Cham	Burger 1988, cat. nr. 12
41	Aldersbach- Schloßberg	Potential settlement		Passau	Bavaria	Germany	Cham	Burger 1988, cat. nr. 2
42	Bad Homburg-Klinikum	Settlement		Hochtaunuskreis	Hesse	Germany	Wartberg	Meyer 2011
43	Ebsdorfergrund- Wittelsberg	Settlement	Ebsdorfergrund	Marburg- Biedenkopf	Hesse	Germany	Wartberg	Raetzel- Fabian 2000, cat. nr. 45
44	Altendorf-Eierfeld	Cemetery	Naumburg	Kassel	Hesse	Germany	Wartberg	Raetzel- Fabian 2000, cat. nr. 18
45	Lohne-Hasenberg	Settlement	Fritzlar	Schwalm-Eder- Kreis	Hesse	Germany	Wartberg	Raetzel- Fabian 2000, cat. nr. 55
46	Kirchberg-Wartberg	Settlement	Niedenstein	Schwalm-Eder- Kreis	Hesse	Germany	Wartberg	Raetzel- Fabian 2000, cat. nr. 52
47	Gudensberg-Bürgel	Settlement	Niedenstein	Schwalm-Eder- Kreis	Hesse	Germany	Wartberg	Raetzel- Fabian 2000, cat. nr. 48
48	Gudensberg- Güntersberg	Settlement		Schwalm-Eder- Kreis	Hesse	Germany	Wartberg	Raetzel- Fabian 2000, cat. nr. 49
49	Ballenhausen-Abri Mühltal I	Rock shelter	Friedland	Göttingen	Lower Saxony	Germany	Wartberg	Raetzel- Fabian 2000, cat. nr. 71
50	Reiffenhausen-Abri Schierenberg II	Rock shelter	Friedland	Göttingen	Lower Saxony	Germany	Wartberg	Raetzel- Fabian 2000, cat. nr. 76
51	Reiffenhausen-Abri Schierenberg II	Rock shelter	Friedland	Göttingen	Lower Saxony	Germany	Undetermined/ mixed	Grote 1994, 183–84
52	Reinhausen-Abri Reiseberg I	Rock shelter	Gleichen	Göttingen	Lower Saxony	Germany	Undetermined/ mixed	Grote 1994, 211–15 and pl. 124.6
53	Westerode-Rosental	Stray finds/ unclear	Duderstadt	Göttingen	Lower Saxony	Germany	Undetermined/ mixed	Dirks 2000, 158 nr. 30
54	Werlaburgdorf- Lietfeld	Settlement		Wolfenbüttel	Lower Saxony	Germany	Bernburg	Dirks 2000, cat. nr. 33
55	Werlaburgdorf- Kreuzberg	Settlement		Wolfenbüttel	Lower Saxony	Germany	Undetermined/ mixed	Dirks 2000, cat. nr. 32
56	Remlingen-Hohberg	Cemetery	Remlingen- Semmelstedt	Wolfenbüttel	Lower Saxony	Germany	Bernburg	Dirks 2000, cat. nr. 21

Site nr.	Site name	Site type	Municipality	District	Province	Country	Pottery style	Reference
57	Schöningen-Fährberg	Settlement		Helmstedt	Lower Saxony	Germany	Bernburg	Dirks 2000, cat. nr. 13
58	Helmstedt- Pfingstberg	Settlement		Helmstedt	Lower Saxony	Germany	Undetermined/ mixed	Dirks 2000, cat. nr. 10
59	Höhbeck	Stray finds/ unclear		Lüchow- Dannenberg	Lower Saxony	Germany	Undetermined/ mixed	Dirks 2000, cat. nr. 45
60	Pevestorf 19	Cemetery	Höhbeck	Lüchow- Dannenberg	Lower Saxony	Germany	Undetermined/ mixed	Meyer 1993
61	Kapern	Stray finds/ unclear	Schnackenburg	Lüchow- Dannenberg	Lower Saxony	Germany	Undetermined/ mixed	Dirks 2000, cat. nr. 46
62	Nägelstedt-Bornhög	Settlement		Unstrut-Hainich- Kreis	Thuringia	Germany	Bernburg	Bücke 1986
63	Gräfentonna-Lohberg	Settlement	Tonna	Gotha	Thuringia	Germany	Bernburg	Bücke 1986
64	Gotha-Kleiner Seeberg	Potential settlement		Gotha	Thuringia	Germany	Bernburg	D.W. Müller 1972
65	Erfurt-Fundstelle 13	Potential settlement		Erfurt	Thuringia	Germany	Undetermined/ mixed	Walter <i>et al</i> . 1987, 107
66	Erfurt-Pappelstieg	Potential settlement		Erfurt	Thuringia	Germany	Undetermined/ mixed	Lippman 1982
67	Hanum	Potential cemetery	Jübar	Salzwedel	Saxony-Anhalt	Germany	Globular Amphora	Beier 1988, cat. nr. 16
68	Derenburg- Steinkuhlenberg	Settlement	Blankenburg	Harz	Saxony-Anhalt	Germany	Bernburg	Hille 2020
69	Sargstedt-Thieberg	Cemetery	Halberstadt	Harz	Saxony-Anhalt	Germany	Globular Amphora	Beier 1988, cat. nr. 106
70	Magdeburg-Altstadt, Fundplatz 1	Potential settlement		Magdeburg	Saxony-Anhalt	Germany	Undetermined/ mixed	Beier 1988, cat. nr. 74
71	Gerwisch 9	Settlement	Biederitz	Burg	Saxony-Anhalt	Germany	Undetermined/ mixed	Wetzel 1979, 135 cat. nr. 524
72	Latdorf	Cemetery	Nienburg (Saale)	Salzlandkreis	Saxony-Anhalt	Germany	Globular Amphora	Beier 1988, cat. nr. 143
73	Wolterslage 1	Settlement	Osterburg (Altmark)	Stendal	Saxony-Anhalt	Germany	Undetermined/ mixed	Wetzel 1979, 188 cat. nr. 34
74	Barby	Cemetery		Salzlandkreis	Saxony-Anhalt	Germany	Undetermined/ mixed	Beier 1988, cat. nr. 82
75	Halle-Dölauer Heide	Settlement		Halle	Saxony-Anhalt	Germany	Bernburg	Behrens and Schröter 1980, 51
76	Rietzmeck	Settlement		Dessau-Roßlau	Saxony-Anhalt	Germany	Undetermined/ mixed	Beier 1988, cat. nr. 179
77	Kleinkühnau- Fundplatz 4	Settlement	Dessau	Dessau-Roßlau	Saxony-Anhalt	Germany	Undetermined/ mixed	Beier 1988, cat. nr. 169
78	Lanz	Settlement		Prignitz	Brandenburg	Germany	Undetermined/ mixed	Wetzel 1969
79	Strodehne- Fundplatz 10	Settlement	Havelaue	Havelland	Brandenburg	Germany	Schönfeld	Kirsch 1993, cat. nr. 1264
80	Strodehne- Fundplatz 8	Settlement	Havelaue	Havelland	Brandenburg	Germany	Globular Amphora	Kirsch 1993, cat. nr. 1263
81	Kietz-Fundplatz 1	Stray finds/ unclear		Havelland	Brandenburg	Germany	Undetermined/ mixed	Kirsch 1993, cat. nr. 1246
82	Kietz-Fundplatz 3	Settlement		Havelland	Brandenburg	Germany	Schönfeld	Kirsch 1993, cat. nr. 1247
83	Bahnitz-Fundplatz 3	Settlement	Milower Land	Havelland	Brandenburg	Germany	Undetermined/ mixed	Kirsch 1993, cat. nr. 1238
84	Siegrothsbruch- Fundplatz 2	Stray finds/ unclear	Dreetz	Ostprignitz-Ruppin	Brandenburg	Germany	Undetermined/ mixed	Kirsch 1993, cat. nr. 974
85	Plaue	Stray finds/ unclear	Brandenburg (Havel)	Brandenburg	Brandenburg	Germany	Undetermined/ mixed	Kirsch 1993, cat. nr. 887
86	Havelsee/ Briest-Fundplatz 2	Stray finds/ unclear		Potsdam- Mittelmark	Brandenburg	Germany	Undetermined/ mixed	Kirsch 1993, cat. nr. 807

Site nr.	Site name	Site type	Municipality	District	Province	Country	Pottery style	Reference
87	Giesenhorst- Bredowscher Sandhorst	Stray finds/ unclear	Dreetz	Ostprignitz-Ruppin	Brandenburg	Germany	Undetermined/ mixed	Kirsch 1993, cat. nr. 962
88	Lochow-Fundplatz 3	Stray finds/ unclear	Stechow- Ferchesar	Havelland	Brandenburg	Germany	Globular Amphora	Kirsch 1993, cat. nr. 1250
89	Tieckow-Fundplatz 7	Stray finds/ unclear	Havelsee	Potsdam- Mittelmark	Brandenburg	Germany	Undetermined/ mixed	Kirsch 1993, cat. nr. 857
90	Dreetz	Stray finds/ unclear		Ostprignitz-Ruppin	Brandenburg	Germany	Undetermined/ mixed	Kirsch 1993, cat. nr. 960
91	Dreetz-Fundplatz 9	Stray finds/ unclear		Ostprignitz-Ruppin	Brandenburg	Germany	Schönfeld	Kirsch 1993, cat. nr. 956
92	Dreetz-Fundplatz 5	Stray finds/ unclear		Ostprignitz-Ruppin	Brandenburg	Germany	Globular Amphora	Kirsch 1993, cat. nr. 955
93	Hohenferchesar- Fundplatz 1	Stray finds/ unclear	Havelsee	Potsdam- Mittelmark	Brandenburg	Germany	Globular Amphora	Kirsch 1993, cat. nr. 829
94	Hohenferchesar- Hasenberg	Stray finds/ unclear	Havelsee	Potsdam- Mittelmark	Brandenburg	Germany	Undetermined/ mixed	Kirsch 1993, cat. nr. 832
95	Görden-Butterlake	Stray finds/ unclear	Brandenburg (Havel)	Brandenburg	Brandenburg	Germany	Undetermined/ mixed	Kirsch 1993, cat. nr. 872
96	Michaelisbruch	Potential settlement	Dreetz	Ostprignitz-Ruppin	Brandenburg	Germany	Globular Amphora	Kirsch 1993, cat. nr. 968
97	Brandenburg Altstadt-Fundplatz 13	Potential cemetery		Brandenburg	Brandenburg	Germany	Globular Amphora	Kirsch 1993, cat. nr. 865
98	Brandenburg Altstadt-Fundplatz 35	Stray finds/ unclear		Brandenburg	Brandenburg	Germany	Undetermined/ mixed	Kirsch 1993, cat. nr. 866
99	Görden-Am Betzsee	Stray finds/ unclear	Brandenburg (Havel)	Brandenburg	Brandenburg	Germany	Undetermined/ mixed	Kirsch 1993, cat. nr. 873
100	Friesack-Fundplatz 4	Settlement		Havelland	Brandenburg	Germany	Undetermined/ mixed	Kirsch 1993, cat. nr. 1027
101	Friesack-Am Haagschen See	Stray finds/ unclear		Havelland	Brandenburg	Germany	Undetermined/ mixed	Kirsch 1993, cat. nr. 1033
102	Friesack- Lankenbrücke Süd	Stray finds/ unclear		Havelland	Brandenburg	Germany	Undetermined/ mixed	Kirsch 1993, cat. nr. 1035
103	Friesack- Lankenbrücke Nord	Potential settlement		Havelland	Brandenburg	Germany	Undetermined/ mixed	Kirsch 1993, cat. nr. 1034
104	Friesack-Fundplatz 49	Potential settlement		Havelland	Brandenburg	Germany	Globular Amphora	Kirsch 1993, cat. nr. 1031
105	Wildberg-Fundplatz 2	Stray finds/ unclear	Temnitztal	Ostprignitz-Ruppin	Brandenburg	Germany	Undetermined/ mixed	Kirsch 1993, cat. nr. 1112
106	Wagenitz	Potential settlement	Mühlenberge	Havelland	Brandenburg	Germany	Undetermined/ mixed	Kirsch 1993, cat. nr. 1081
107	Brädikow	Settlement	Wiesenaue	Havelland	Brandenburg	Germany	Undetermined/ mixed	Kirsch 1993, cat. nr. 994
108	Brädikow- Fundplatz 13	Settlement	Wiesenaue	Havelland	Brandenburg	Germany	Globular Amphora	Kirsch 1993, cat. nr. 996
109	Brädikow- Fundplatz 11	Potential settlement	Wiesenaue	Havelland	Brandenburg	Germany	Globular Amphora	Kirsch 1993, cat. nr. 995
110	Paulinenaue- Fundplatz 6	Potential settlement		Havelland	Brandenburg	Germany	Undetermined/ mixed	Kirsch 1993, cat. nr. 1072a
111	Groß Behnitz-Fundplatz 9	Stray finds/ unclear	Nauen	Havelland	Brandenburg	Germany	Undetermined/ mixed	Kirsch 1993, cat. nr. 1040
112	Wachow	Potential cemetery	Nauen	Havelland	Brandenburg	Germany	Globular Amphora	Kirsch 1993, cat. nr. 1080
113	Wachow-Fundplatz 5	Stray finds/ unclear	Nauen	Havelland	Brandenburg	Germany	Undetermined/ mixed	Kirsch 1993, cat. nr. 1078
114	Gohlitz-Fundplatz 5	Potential settlement	Nauen	Havelland	Brandenburg	Germany	Globular Amphora	Kirsch 1993, cat. nr. 1038
115	Groß Kreutz-Fundplatz 3	Stray finds/ unclear		Potsdam- Mittelmark	Brandenburg	Germany	Undetermined/ mixed	Kirsch 1993, cat. nr. 1160

Site nr.	Site name	Site type	Municipality	District	Province	Country	Pottery style	Reference
116	Niebede-Fundplatz 2	Stray finds/ unclear	Nauen	Havelland	Brandenburg	Germany	Undetermined/ mixed	Kirsch 1993, cat. nr. 1070
117	Schmergow- Fundplatz 1	Settlement		Potsdam- Mittelmark	Brandenburg	Germany	Undetermined/ mixed	Kirsch 1993, cat. nr. 1203
118	Lietzow	Stray finds/ unclear	Nauen	Havelland	Brandenburg	Germany	Undetermined/ mixed	Kirsch 1993, cat. nr. 1060
119	Fehrbellin-Hakenberg	Stray finds/ unclear	Fehrbellin	Ostprignitz-Ruppin	Brandenburg	Germany	Undetermined/ mixed	Kirsch 1993, cat. nr. 1101
120	Lietzow-Fundplatz 3	Stray finds/ unclear	Nauen	Havelland	Brandenburg	Germany	Undetermined/ mixed	Kirsch 1993, cat. nr. 1059
121	Lietzow-Fundplatz 2/3	Stray finds/ unclear	Nauen	Havelland	Brandenburg	Germany	Globular Amphora	Kirsch 1993, cat. nr. 1058
122	Ketzin-Fundplatz 2	Cemetery		Havelland	Brandenburg	Germany	Globular Amphora	Kirsch 1993, cat. nr. 1048
123	Ketzin-Fundplatz 8	Potential settlement		Havelland	Brandenburg	Germany	Undetermined/ mixed	Kirsch 1993, cat. nr. 1050
124	Nauen	Stray finds/ unclear		Havelland	Brandenburg	Germany	Undetermined/ mixed	Kirsch 1993, cat. nr. 1069
125	Nauen-Fundplatz 24	Potential settlement		Havelland	Brandenburg	Germany	Globular Amphora	Kirsch 1993, cat. nr. 1065
126	Nauen-Fundplatz 51	Stray finds/ unclear		Havelland	Brandenburg	Germany	Undetermined/ mixed	Kirsch 1993, cat. nr. 1067
127	Kienberg-Fundplatz 1	Settlement		Havelland	Brandenburg	Germany	Undetermined/ mixed	Kirsch 1993, cat. nr. 1054
128	Alt Töplitz-Fundplatz14(c)	Potential cemetery	Werder (Havel)	Potsdam- Mittelmark	Brandenburg	Germany	Globular Amphora	Kirsch 1993, cat. nr. 1140
129	Kienberg-Fundplatz 3	Stray finds/ unclear		Havelland	Brandenburg	Germany	Undetermined/ mixed	Kirsch 1993, cat. nr. 1055
130	Brieselang/ Bredow-Fundplatz 12	Settlement	Brieselang	Havelland	Brandenburg	Germany	Undetermined/ mixed	Kirsch 1993, cat. nr. 1001
131	Brieselang/ Bredow-Fundplatz 2	Settlement	Brieselang	Havelland	Brandenburg	Germany	Globular Amphora	Kirsch 1993, cat. nr. 1000
132	Hoppenrade	Stray finds/ unclear		Havelland	Brandenburg	Germany	Undetermined/ mixed	Kirsch 1993, cat. nr. 1047
133	Wustermark- Fundplatz 11	Settlement		Havelland	Brandenburg	Germany	Globular Amphora	Kirsch 1993, cat. nr. 1086
134	Buchow-Karpzow-Am Wublitzsee	Stray finds/ unclear	Wustermark	Havelland	Brandenburg	Germany	Undetermined/ mixed	Kirsch 1993, cat. nr. 1013
135	Hoppenrade- Fundplatz 1	Potential settlement		Havelland	Brandenburg	Germany	Globular Amphora	Kirsch 1993, cat. nr. 1044
136	Wustermark-Am ehemaligen Bahnhof	Stray finds/ unclear		Havelland	Brandenburg	Germany	Undetermined/ mixed	Kirsch 1993, cat. nr. 1088
137	Buchow-Karpzow- Fundplatz 2	Stray finds/ ritual site?	Wustermark	Havelland	Brandenburg	Germany	Undetermined/ mixed	Kirsch 1993, cat. nr. 1005
138	Dyrotz-Fundplatz 6	Potential settlement	Wustermark	Havelland	Brandenburg	Germany	Undetermined/ mixed	Kirsch 1993, cat. nr. 1017
139	Satzkorn-Fundplatz 3	Potential settlement	Potsdam	Potsdam	Brandenburg	Germany	Globular Amphora	Kirsch 1993, cat. nr. 1194
140	Rohrbeck-Fundplatz 1	Potential settlement	Dallgow- Döberitz	Havelland	Brandenburg	Germany	Globular Amphora	Kirsch 1993, cat. nr. 1074
141	Neu Fahrland-Fundplatz 4	Stray finds/ unclear	Potsdam	Potsdam	Brandenburg	Germany	Undetermined/ mixed	Kirsch 1993, cat. nr. 1176
142	Potsdam-Fundplatz 3	Settlement		Potsdam	Brandenburg	Germany	Undetermined/ mixed	Kirsch 1993, cat. nr. 1222
143	Sacrow-Fundplatz 1	Potential settlement	Potsdam	Potsdam	Brandenburg	Germany	Undetermined/ mixed	Kirsch 1993, cat. nr. 1227
144	Mildenberg- Fundplatz 10	Stray finds/ unclear	Zehdenick	Oberhavel	Brandenburg	Germany	Undetermined/ mixed	Kirsch 1993, cat. nr. 897

Site nr.	Site name	Site type	Municipality	District	Province	Country	Pottery style	Reference
145	Stralau-Fundplatz 3	Stray finds/ unclear		Berlin	Berlin	Germany	Undetermined/ mixed	Kirsch 1993, cat. nr. 2
146	Schmöckwitz- Fundplatz 1	Potential settlement		Berlin	Berlin	Germany	Globular Amphora	Kirsch 1993, cat. nr. 11
147	Müggelheim- Fundplatz 11	Settlement		Berlin	Berlin	Germany	Globular Amphora	Kirsch 1993, cat. nr. 8
148	Müggelheim- Fundplatz 4	Settlement		Berlin	Berlin	Germany	Globular Amphora	Kirsch 1993, cat. nr. 6
149	Parchim-Löddigsee	Settlement		Ludwigslust- Parchim	Mecklenburg Western Pomerania	Germany	Undetermined/ mixed	Becker 2002
150	Pernarec	Settlement		Plzeň North	Plzeň	Czech Republic	Cham	Matuschik 1996, list 1 nr. 126
151	Skupeč-Vinice	Settlement		Plzeň North	Plzeň	Czech Republic	Cham	Burger 1988, cat. nr. 93
152	Kaliště-Tepla skála	Settlement		Klatovy	Plzeňský kraj	Czech Republic	Cham	Burger 1988, cat. nr. 81
153	Bzi-Velká skála	Settlement		Plzeň South	Plzeň	Czech Republic	Cham	Burger 1988, cat. nr. 80
154	Starý-Plzenec-Hurka	Settlement		Plzeň South	Plzeň	Czech Republic	Cham	Burger 1988, cat. nr. 94
155	Šťáhlavice-Lopata	Settlement		Plzeň South	Plzeň	Czech Republic	Cham	Burger 1988, cat. nr. 86
156	Vlkov-Babiny	Settlement		Plzeň South	Plzeň	Czech Republic	Cham	Burger 1988, cat. nr. 87
157	Stehelčeves-Homolka	Settlement		Kladno	Středočeský kraj	Czech Republic	Řivnáč	Ehrich and Pleslová- Štiková 1968
158	Tuchoměřice	Settlement		Prague-West	Hlavní město Praha	Czech Republic	Řivnáč	Sankot and Zápotocký 2011
159	Prague 9-Miškovicích	Settlement		Prague	Hlavní město Praha	Czech Republic	Řivnáč	Ernée <i>et al</i> . 2007
160	Klučov-Na vrchu	Settlement		Kolín	Středočeský kraj	Czech Republic	Řivnáč	Zápotocký and Kudrnáč 2008
161	Kutná Hora-Denemark	Settlement		Kutná Hora	Středočeský kraj	Czech Republic	Řivnáč	Zápotocký and Zápotocká 2008
162	Vysočany-Palliardiho hradisko	Settlement		Znojmo	Jihomoravský kraj	Czech Republic	Jevišovice	Medunová- Benešová 1977
163	Plotiště nad Labem	Settlement	Hradec Králové	Hradec Králové	Královéhradecký kraj	Czech Republic	Bošaca	Vokolek and Zápotocký 1990
164	Grešlové Mýto-Nad Mírovcem	Settlement		Znojmo	Jihomoravský kraj	Czech Republic	Jevišovice	Medunová- Benešová 1973
165	Jevišovice-Starý Zámek	Settlement		Znojmo	Jihomoravský kraj	Czech Republic	Jevišovice	Medunová- Benešová 1972
166	Raabs-Oberndorf	Settlement	Raabs	Waldviertel	Lower Austria	Austria	Jevišovice	Ruttkay 2000
167	Podolie	Settlement		Nové Mesto nad Váhom	Trenčiansky kraj	Slovakia	Bošaca	Šuteková 2008
168	Iža	Settlement		Komárno	Nitriansky kraj	Slovakia	Kostolac	Němejcová- Pavúková 1968
169	Lieskovec-Hrádok	Settlement	Lieskovec	Zvolen	Banskobystrický kraj	Slovakia	Late Baden	Malček 2013
170	Mastacăn	Cemetery		Neamţ	Moldavia	Romania	Globular Amphora	Mihailescu- Bîrliba 2005
171	Verona-Rocca di Rivoli	Stray finds/ unclear		Verona	Venetia	Italy	Undetermined/ mixed	Primas 1982

Appendix 2. Central and eastern European sites of the Late Neolithic with evidence of textile-roughened pottery and published radiocarbon dates (for calibration plots see Figures 6–8).

Lab code	Site nr. Appendix 1	Site	Country	BP	Std. dev. ±	Sampled material	Feature type	Pottery style	Association with texti- le-roughened pottery	Reference
Beta-372689	21	Burgerroth-Altenberg	Germany	3950	30	Grain	Pit house	Burgerroth	Feature containing tex- tile-rougehened pottery	Link 2018
Beta-372690	21	Burgerroth-Altenberg	Germany	4050	30	Grain	Pit house	Burgerroth	Feature containing tex- tile-rougehened pottery	Link 2018
Erl-20204	21	Burgerroth-Altenberg	Germany	4036	39	Grain	Ditch	Burgerroth	No direct relation/general site activities	Link 2018
Erl-20206	21	Burgerroth-Altenberg	Germany	4098	40	Grain	Ditch	Burgerroth	No direct relation/general site activities	Link 2018
Fra-86	21	Burgerroth-Altenberg	Germany	4040	100	Bone	Settlement	Burgerroth	No direct relation/general site activities	Link 2018
MAMS-25468	21	Burgerroth-Altenberg	Germany	4091	27	Hazelnut/ grain	Ditch	Burgerroth	No direct relation/general site activities	Link 2018
Erl-2143	29	Dietfurt an der Altmühl	Germany	4048	88	Bone	Pit feature 4	Cham	No direct relation/general site activities	Gohlisch 2005
Erl-2144	29	Dietfurt an der Altmühl	Germany	4089	90	Bone	Pit feature 4	Cham	No direct relation/general site activities	Gohlisch 2005
Erl-2145	29	Dietfurt an der Altmühl	Germany	4129	110	Bone	Pit feature 4	Cham	No direct relation/general site activities	Gohlisch 2005
Erl-2146	29	Dietfurt an der Altmühl	Germany	4257	54	Bone	Settlement	Cham	No direct relation/general site activities	Gohlisch 2005
Erl-2147	29	Dietfurt an der Altmühl	Germany	4440	56	Bone	Settlement	Cham	No direct relation/general site activities	Gohlisch 2005
Erl-2148	29	Dietfurt an der Altmühl	Germany	3989	53	Bone	Settlement	Cham	No direct relation/general site activities	Gohlisch 2005
Hv-17224	29	Dietfurt an der Altmühl	Germany	4360	175	Charcoal	Pit feature 151	Cham	No direct relation/general site activities	Gohlisch 2005
Hv-17225	29	Dietfurt an der Altmühl	Germany	4175	130	Charcoal	Pit feature 86	Cham	No direct relation/general site activities	Gohlisch 2005
Hv-17226	29	Dietfurt an der Altmühl	Germany	4315	75	Charcoal	Pit feature 52	Cham	No direct relation/general site activities	Gohlisch 2005
Hv-17228	29	Dietfurt an der Altmühl	Germany	4245	145	Charcoal	Pit feature 48	Cham	No direct relation/general site activities	Gohlisch 2005
Hv-17229	29	Dietfurt an der Altmühl	Germany	4105	105	Charcoal	Stone paving feature 148	Cham	No direct relation/general site activities	Gohlisch 2005
GrN-7798	33	Prutting-Dobl	Germany	4150	60	Charcoal	Ditch	Cham	No direct relation/general site activities	Burger 1988
GrN-7799	33	Prutting-Dobl	Germany	4240	60	Charcoal	Ditch	Cham	No direct relation/general site activities	Burger 1988

Lab code	Site nr. Appendix 1	Site	Country	BP	Std. dev. ±	Sampled material	Feature type	Pottery style	Association with texti- le-roughened pottery	Reference
MAMS-47639	34	Chieming-Markstatt	Germany	3869	25	Bone	Cultural layer	Cham	No direct relation/general site activities	Pechtl and Möslein 2020
Hd- 8113-8166	37	Moosham- Flickermühle	Germany	4180	65	Charcoal	Ditch feature 1	Cham	No direct relation/general site activities	Matuschik 2001
Hd- 8114-8165	37	Moosham- Flickermühle	Germany	4230	60	Charcoal	Ditch feature 1	Cham	No direct relation/general site activities	Matuschik 2001
Hd- 7409-7435	38	Riekofen-Kellnerfeld	Germany	4170	35	Charcoal	Enclosure A, ditch 1	Cham	No direct relation/general site activities	Matuschik 2001
Hd- 7411-7437	38	Riekofen-Kellnerfeld	Germany	4225	45	Charcoal	Enclosure A, ditch 1	Cham	No direct relation/general site activities	Matuschik 2001
Hd- 7412-7439	38	Riekofen-Kellnerfeld	Germany	4245	35	Charcoal	Wall trench feature 73	Cham	No direct relation/general site activities	Matuschik 2001
Hd- 15029-15543	39	Aiterhofen-Ödmühle	Germany	4444	31	Bone	Pit feature 196	Cham	Feature containing tex- tile-rougehened pottery	Hanöffner and Siftar 2006
Hd- 15057-15673	39	Aiterhofen-Ödmühle	Germany	4335	36	Bone	Ditch feature 93	Cham	Other features/ site activities	Hanöffner and Siftar 2006
Hd-16974	43	Ebsdorfergrund- Wittelsberg	Germany	4348	57	Charcoal	Pit	Wartberg	No direct relation/general site activities	Raetzel- Fabian 2000
Hd-16976	43	Ebsdorfergrund- Wittelsberg	Germany	4202	69	Charcoal	Pit	Wartberg	No direct relation/general site activities	Raetzel- Fabian 2000
UtC-3321	43	Ebsdorfergrund- Wittelsberg	Germany	4010	120	Charcoal	Pit	Wartberg	No direct relation/general site activities	Raetzel- Fabian 2000
Hd-17559	45	Lohne-Hasenberg	Germany	4319	23	Bone	Pit	Wartberg	No direct relation/general site activities	Raetzel- Fabian 2000
KN-3056	45	Lohne-Hasenberg	Germany	4160	50	Bone	Pit	Wartberg	No direct relation/general site activities	Raetzel- Fabian 2000
Hd-16871	47	Gudensberg-Bürgel	Germany	4105	42	Bone	Western ditch part	Wartberg	No direct relation/general site activities	Raetzel- Fabian 2000
Hd-17123	47	Gudensberg-Bürgel	Germany	3848	47	Bone	Eastern ditch part	Wartberg	No direct relation/general site activities	Raetzel- Fabian 2000
KN-2459	60	Pevestorf 19	Germany	4270	55	Charcoal	Burial pit	Undetermined/ mixed	Feature containing tex- tile-rougehened pottery	Meyer 1993
KN-2460	60	Pevestorf 19	Germany	4130	55	Charcoal	Burial pit	Undetermined/ mixed	No direct relation/general site activities	Meyer 1993
KN-4903	68	Derenburg- Steinkuhlenberg	Germany	4291	42	Bone	Pit 68	Bernburg	No direct relation/general site activities	Hille 2020
KN-4904	68	Derenburg- Steinkuhlenberg	Germany	4084	27	Bone	Pit 79	Bernburg	No direct relation/general site activities	Hille 2020
M-16312	68	Derenburg- Steinkuhlenberg	Germany	4411	25	Bone	Pit 13	Bernburg	No direct relation/general site activities	Hille 2020
M-16314	68	Derenburg- Steinkuhlenberg	Germany	4386	24	Bone	Pit 37	Bernburg	No direct relation/general site activities	Hille 2020

Lab code	Site nr. Appendix 1	Site	Country	BP	Std. dev. ±	Sampled material	Feature type	Pottery style	Association with texti- le-roughened pottery	Reference
M-16315	68	Derenburg- Steinkuhlenberg	Germany	4377	23	Bone	Pit 46	Bernburg	No direct relation/general site activities	Hille 2020
M-16316	68	Derenburg- Steinkuhlenberg	Germany	4440	27	Bone	Pit 68	Bernburg	No direct relation/general site activities	Hille 2020
M-16317	68	Derenburg- Steinkuhlenberg	Germany	4358	26	Bone	Pit 79	Bernburg	No direct relation/general site activities	Hille 2020
M-16318	68	Derenburg- Steinkuhlenberg	Germany	4383	24	Bone	Pit 96	Bernburg	No direct relation/general site activities	Hille 2020
Bln-838	75	Halle-Dölauer Heide	Germany	4105	100	Charcoal	Pit	Bernburg	No direct relation/general site activities	Breunig 1987
Bln-838A	75	Halle-Dölauer Heide	Germany	4380	100	No information	Pit	Bernburg	No direct relation/general site activities	Breunig 1987
Bln-912	75	Halle-Dölauer Heide	Germany	4340	100	No information	Pit	Bernburg	No direct relation/general site activities	Breunig 1987
Bln-3825	149	Parchim-Löddigsee	Germany	4080	150	Charcoal	Mixed cultural layer	Undetermined/ mixed	No direct relation/general site activities	Becker 2002
Bln-3828	149	Parchim-Löddigsee	Germany	4290	100	Charcoal	Mixed cultural layer	Undetermined/ mixed	No direct relation/general site activities	Becker 2002
Poz-27423	156	Vlkov-Babiny	Czech Republic	3840	35	No information	Settlement	Cham	No direct relation/general site activities	John 2009
Poz-27424	156	Vlkov-Babiny	Czech Republic	4095	35	No information	Settlement	Cham	No direct relation/general site activities	John 2009
Poz-27425	156	Vlkov-Babiny	Czech Republic	4005	35	No information	Settlement	Cham	No direct relation/general site activities	John 2009
GrN-4065	157	Stehelčeves-Homolka	Czech Republic	4260	70	No information	Settlement	Řivnáč	No direct relation/general site activities	Ehrich and Pleslová-Štiková 1968
OxA-15797	158	Tuchoměřice	Czech Republic	4316	36	Grain	Obj. 12	Řivnáč	Feature containing tex- tile-rougehened pottery	Sankot and Zápotocký 2011
KIA-30944	159	Prague 9-Miškovicích	Czech Republic	4330	31	Bone	Pit house	Řivnáč	Feature containing tex- tile-rougehened pottery	Ernée <i>et al.</i> 2007
Bln-2892	161	Kutná Hora-Denemark	Czech Republic	4150	60	No information	Obj. 22	Řivnáč	No direct relation/general site activities	Zápotocký and Zápotocká 2008
Bln-3265	161	Kutná Hora-Denemark	Czech Republic	4120	50	Plant remains	Obj. 41a	Řivnáč	Feature containing tex- tile-rougehened pottery	Zápotocký and Zápotocká 2008
Bln-3266	161	Kutná Hora-Denemark	Czech Republic	4280	70	Plant remains	Obj. 41a	Řivnáč	Feature containing tex- tile-rougehened pottery	Zápotocký and Zápotocká 2008
Bln-3267	161	Kutná Hora-Denemark	Czech Republic	3890	50	Charcoal	Obj. 41	Řivnáč	Feature containing tex- tile-rougehened pottery	Zápotocký and Zápotocká 2008
Bln-3268	161	Kutná Hora-Denemark	Czech Republic	4200	70	Charcoal	Obj. 36	Řivnáč	Feature containing tex- tile-rougehened pottery	Zápotocký and Zápotocká 2008

Lab code	Site nr. Appendix 1	Site	Country	BP	Std. dev. ±	Sampled material	Feature type	Pottery style	Association with texti- le-roughened pottery	Reference
Bln-3269	161	Kutná Hora-Denemark	Czech Republic	4110	50	Charcoal	Obj. 1	Řivnáč	No direct relation/general site activities	Zápotocký and Zápotocká 2008
Bln-2170	167	Podolie	Slowakia	4215	65	No information	Settlement	Bošáca	No direct relation/general site activities	Breunig 1987
Bln-556	167	Podolie	Slowakia	4455	80	Charcoal	Settlement	Bošáca	No direct relation/general site activities	Breunig 1987
Hela-2470	not mapped	Žemaitiškes 2	Lithuania	4351	32	Charred residue	Pottery vessel	Baltic Textile Pottery	Direct date from pottery adhesions	Piličiauskas 2012
Hela-2566	not mapped	Žemaitiškes 3	Lithuania	5319	35	Charred residue	Pottery vessel	Baltic Textile Pottery	Direct date from pottery adhesions	Piličiauskas 2012
Hela-751	not mapped	Loona Saare	Estonia	4165	90	Charred residue	Pottery vessel	Baltic Textile Pottery	Direct date from pottery adhesions	Kriiska <i>et al.</i> 2005
Hela-752	not mapped	Akali	Estonia	4055	40	Charred residue	Pottery vessel	Baltic Textile Pottery	Direct date from pottery adhesions	Kriiska <i>et al.</i> 2005
Hela-754	not mapped	Kullamägi	Estonia	4140	70	Charred residue	Pottery vessel	Baltic Textile Pottery	Direct date from pottery adhesions	Kriiska <i>et al.</i> 2005
Hela-755	not mapped	Kullamägi	Estonia	3605	40	Charred residue	Pottery vessel	Baltic Textile Pottery	Direct date from pottery adhesions	Kriiska <i>et al.</i> 2005
Hela-761	not mapped	Akali	Estonia	4155	65	Charred residue	Pottery vessel	Baltic Textile Pottery	Direct date from pottery adhesions	Kriiska <i>et al.</i> 2005

Decades of drought in the twenty-eighth century BC and its effects on settlement and culture

Joachim Pechtl and Alexander Land

Abstract

Tree rings of subfossil oaks from southern Germany document a 19-year drought phase from 2745–2727 denBC. This drought phase is one of the most severe anomalies during the Holocene in terms of duration and accumulated precipitation deficit. Significant yield reductions are likely to have occurred in all sectors of the food economy, but especially in crop production. In the long run, it was not possible to compensate for such losses either by stockpiling or by expanding gathering, hunting and fishing. The most successful strategy would have been to expand extensive forms of livestock farming, provided there was sufficient grazing land. At least in particularly hard-hit regions of southern central Europe, such a food crisis could have caused a collapse of settlement. Due to the existing dating uncertainties in most region, however, this can only be verified for the pile dwelling settlements of Switzerland and neighbouring south-western Germany, which are also dated by dendrochronology. In fact, construction activities in the only recently established settlements of the Corded Ware culture in this area declined in parallel with the onset of the drought and eventually ceased altogether. However, as the drought phase progressed, activities increased again and reached their highest intensity soon after the end of the drought. It is possible that the general trend in the Corded Ware culture towards a greater emphasis on livestock farming facilitated successful adaptation to drought conditions and thus promoted the spread of this new lifeway, which led to a permanent increase in the proportion of animal food.

Keywords: Corded Ware culture, settlement, livestock, precipitation reconstruction, drought

Introduction

There is no question that climatic conditions set the frame for the development of human economic and cultural systems and are thus of crucial importance. The same applies to fluctuations of varying duration, ranging from extreme weather events on single days to glacial cycles lasting for many millennia. Hence, weather and climate fluctuations have great potential to decisively influence the course of human history



Figure 1. Map of study area in central Europe. The two orange ellipsoids indicate where ancient (subfossil) trees from the Main river and Danube river (southern Germany) were found. The red dots show archaeologically analysed Neolithic settlements (see Appendix 1 for detailed information). Superimposed is the modern multi-annual (AD 1991-2020) mean of spring (March-May) precipitation rates for Germany (source: Deutscher Wetterdienst, HYRAS version 5). Lightdark blue = 100-550 mm.

(Behringer 2007; Gerste 2015; Lamb 1982; Meller and Puttkammer 2017). Although such connections can be proven in historical times, there is — quite rightly often a strong scepticism when applying such reasoning in prehistoric archaeology (e.g. Lüning 1997, 29). While in areas with extreme conditions even small changes are sufficient to cross tipping points in ecosystems, central Europe has a temperate climate and the Holocene is considered as a guite stable climate phase, so that very resilient systems can be expected. Nevertheless, extremely dry or extremely wet conditions during individual years have the potential to cause serious crop failures (e.g. Rahlf 1996). Especially when several years of low yields occur in succession, this can cause severe famine and create lasting trauma in the collective memory. An example is the "great famine" in Ireland (1845–1849), which was triggered by summer dampness (Lamb 1982, 279-80), and independently of the question of its historical accuracy the biblical myth of Joseph and the seven years of famine in the eastern Mediterranean is remembered even millennia later (Gen. 41).

There are two fundamental problems in dealing with such questions. The first is simply the temporal correlation between climate events and cultural changes. This problem exists especially for events with a duration of years to decades at the most. Such a high temporal resolution is far beyond the possibilities of ¹⁴C dating, but the dating of both archaeological material and many climatic proxies mostly depends on exactly this method. The second problem is that both human societies as well as the climate and the ecosystems influenced by it are highly complex systems. Therefore, it is often questionable what exactly caused an observed change and what the consequences of it were. Simple cause– effect relationships are therefore not necessarily to be expected and there is much room for interpretation.

This study investigates the possible consequences of a 19-year drought period in southern central Europe in the twenty-eighth century BC, which is one of the most extreme fluctuations of the entire Holocene (Figure 1). This happened in a highly dynamic period, as Late Neolithic phenomena such as the Horgen culture and the Cham culture were replaced by the Final Neolithic Corded Ware culture in southern central Europe around this time, which was part of a profound supra-regional change (Dörfler and Müller 2008; Kaiser 2019; Klejn et al. 2018). The evidence of drought is provided by precisely dated tree rings and their sensitivity to rainfall. Since almost the entire vegetation suffered from the same drought stress, economic losses for human societies of the time can be inferred in close connection with this. In addition, the dendrochronological dating of pile dwelling settlements makes it possible to check for effects on contemporaneous settlement. Dendroclimatology thus offers a key to dating and correlating climatic fluctuations and human responses with annual precision.



Figure 2. a) Radial growth of tree-ring records (ten-year weighted average). b) Reconstructed annual (black) and decadal (red) warm-season (spring–summer) precipitation anomalies for southern Germany as inferred from tree rings. Orange bar indicates the prolonged warm-season drought event starting from 2745 denBC.

Precipitation anomalies during the fourth and third millennia BC as inferred from tree rings

Tree-ring data and precipitation reconstruction

Tree rings are suitable for reconstructing past climatic conditions. They are frequently used to visualise the dynamic of past climate conditions at different spatial (e.g. continental-local) and temporal (e.g. decadalannual) resolutions. Such tree-ring inferred climate reconstructions are vital for example for archaeological investigations and are key in the debate of modern climate change.

To develop a precipitation record of high temporal resolution, spanning from the middle of the fourth to the entire third millennium BC, precisely dated tree-ring series of ancient (subfossil) oaks from the Main river and Danube river (southern Germany) were used, allowing an investigation of the dynamic of past spring–summer (warm-season) rainfall variability on a high–low temporal scale, as well as the identification of single-year drought events and multi-year drought periods. The tree-ring series used are part of the Hohenheim tree-ring archive and were found in alluvial deposits of the Main and Danube (Figure 1). The distance between the two rivers is ~150 km. In the first instance, these oak trees represent local–regional climate conditions, but also hold valuable central European-wide climate information. Thus, the developed record of precipitation anomalies is suited to yield insights into the spatio-temporal behaviour of warm-season rainfall fluctuations (e.g. Land *et al.* 2019; Pechtl and Land 2019; Spurk *et al.* 2002).

Before a precise reconstruction of past climate conditions was developed, living oak trees were investigated in order to assess their sensitivity to different climatic parameters (temperature, precipitation etc.). This so-called calibration/verification process is a standard procedure in dendroclimatology (for details see e.g. Cook and Kairiukstis 1990; Cook et al. 1999; Land 2022; Land et al. 2019) and was carried out for oak trees along the Main river and Danube river (Figure 1). The living oak trees revealed a high, significant sensitivity to spring-summer precipitation amounts. Thereafter, a climate-growth model was developed and applied in order to reconstruct the amount of spring-summer (warm-season) precipitation on the basis of subfossil tree-ring series from the Main river oaks. As can be seen from Figure 2, the annual-decadal growth dynamics of the trees in the Main river and Danube river regions show highly similar behaviour, indicating that the trees reacted in similar ways to past precipitation conditions. The oak trees from the Main river are thus representative for southern Germany (and central Europe). For the final reconstruction of warm-season precipitation anomalies, the Main river tree-ring series were used, and a record of deviations with respect to (henceforth abbreviated w.r.t.) the modern period AD 1901-2000 was calculated.

Long-lasting severe drought from 2745–2727 denBC

During the third millennium BC an unusually severe and marked drought occurred, as inferred from the tree rings. Even though the ancient trees reflect climatic conditions primarily on a regional scale, such a severe, long-lasting drought clearly affects the entire central European region. Figure 2a highlights that the trees from the Main river and Danube river reveal similar growth dynamics. In both areas, tree growth suddenly decreased in the year 2745 denBC (Main river) and 2743 denBC (Danube river). This growth reduction persists for two decades before growth recovers. Figure 2b depicts the reconstruction of warm-season precipitation anomalies (w.r.t. AD 1901–2000) at annual resolution.

From the middle of the fourth millennium BC, warmseason rainfall exhibits high year-to-year as well as decadal changes. Dry seasons appeared for instance in the years 3457, 3363 and 3078 denBC and a decade with belowaverage rainfall around 3450 denBC. Two decades before the long-lasting drought event (2745–2727 denBC), a wet period is documented before rainfall severely drops, leading right into the decadal-long dry period. During the severe drought event itself, warm-season rainfall was consistently low for 19 years. The following decade is still characterised by below-average rainfall, interrupted by occasionally occurring wet seasons. Between 2715 and 2660 denBC a high year-toyear fluctuation is detected, meaning that a wetter season was followed by a drier season and vice versa. Furthermore, three exceptionally dry seasons occur in the years 2689, 2667 and 2666 denBC. Thereafter, rainfall increases and a period with above-average precipitation amounts follows with single, exceptionally wet seasons.

Considering the precipitation reconstruction before and after the long-lasting drought, it is evident that rainfall is much more variable (high year-to-year changes and high number of dry/wet seasons) from 2700–2000 denBC than from 3500–2800 denBC. This indicates a sudden change in the regional/European-wide weather and atmospheric circulation that may have been triggered by changes in the overall climate system.

Setting the long-lasting drought from 2745–2727 denBC into a Holocene context, and when we consider the intensity as well as the duration of that extraordinarily dry period, it is in the top five list of the severest and most prolonged droughts within the past ten millennia in southern Germany, and central Europe as a whole. During the past century (AD 1901–2000), central Europe did not suffer such a longlasting drought period. But during single-year dry seasons, such as in the years AD 1976 and 2018, our society has been confronted with the consequences of extreme droughts. These single-year droughts led to dramatic crop failures due to a heavy reduction in soil moisture, in turn resulting in severe European-wide turbulences on the financial markets.

Presumed drought effects on the Late and Final Neolithic economy

Severe droughts lead to a variety of effects that influence the yield of human subsistence strategies even under central European conditions. Recent drought events provide actualistic insights into the mechanisms involved. Due to the current public and political attention regarding the effects of the ongoing anthropogenic climate change, there is vast data especially for the exceptional drought years AD 2003 and 2018 (Baverisches Landesamt für Umwelt 2017: Bundesanstalt für Gewässerkunde 2006; Bundesministerium für Landwirtschaft und Ernährung 2018; Buras et al. 2020; Deutscher Bundestag 2019; Gobin 2012; Stahl et al. 2016). In 2003 and 2018, precipitation in Germany was about a quarter lower than the long-term average (Deutscher Bundestag 2019, 81-82; Imbery et al. 2018). In 2018, the precipitation deficit from April to August, i.e. in a crucial phase of the growing season for both wild plants and crops, was -150 mm in Germany, which is 40.6 % lower than the long-term average of the years 1961-1990 (Imbery et al. 2018, 3–4). In addition to the severity of the precipitation deficit, numerous other factors determine the intensity of drought effects. Important factors include time and duration of the drought, temperature, soil moisture present at the beginning, and many local factors such as soil type, sun exposure, wind and local vegetation (e.g. Buras et al. 2020, 1667; Deutscher Bundestag 2019, 81; Gobin 2012). Accordingly, even during large-scale droughts, the consequences differ considerably on a small scale (e.g. Buras et al. 2020). For instance, paradoxically, in extremely humid locations the growth conditions for some plants may even improve. Furthermore it should be noted that the effects of a multi-year drought presumably do not simply add up annual effects (Deutscher Bundestag 2019, 8), but that complex interactions are also likely to occur in the entire ecological system (Sutanto et al. 2020).

Actualistic comparison therefore to some extent allows for qualitative assessment of the consequences of a prehistoric drought period on human subsistence. But quantification of losses would be a very complex task and is far beyond the aims of this study. First of all, lack of precipitation causes a reduction in soil moisture as well as a reduction in runoff, and thus a decrease in the levels of groundwater and surficial water bodies (Bundesanstalt für Gewässerkunde 2006, 173-79, 191; Deutscher Bundestag 2019, 75-77, 89). As a result of lower soil moisture, less water is available for evapotranspiration of the vegetation, which leads to a lower primary production of biomass (Bundesanstalt für Gewässerkunde 2006, 173-79; Buras et al. 2020, 1656; Ciais et al. 2005). Finally, this has a negative impact on the fauna — and on the human population as well.

Economically, Late and Final Neolithic communities in central Europe largely relied on agricultural practices, as shown by archaeological (e.g. Hafner and Suter 2012, 24-27; Jacomet and Maier 2016; Lüning 1997) and isotopic data (e.g. Asam et al. 2006; Münster et al. 2018, 10 fig. 3). It should be emphasised that there is no evidence of artificial irrigation in central Europe. Any threat to the crop yield of arable farming and horticulture thus constituted a fundamental problem. Moderate drought only marginally reduces crop yields, especially of cereals. Thus, during the period AD 1971-1976, the moderate losses of five drought years were largely compensated by the above-average yields of the wetter year 1974 (Deutscher Bundestag 2019, 81–82). In contrast, severe droughts cause significant crop losses, as in AD 2003 and 2018, when various cereals saw an average decline of 11-17 %, but in some places even around 80 % (Bundesanstalt für Gewässerkunde 2006, 176). Prehistoric communities are likely to have suffered particularly badly from crop failures during a multi-year drought, for two reasons. Firstly, the soil moisture deficit would have gradually worsened in many places over the years. It should be emphasised that even the oaks used here for rainfall reconstruction show significant growth losses, although they grew in floodplains. Hence, an adequate supply of crops is likely to have become problematic at times, in particular in the densely populated "Altsiedellandschaften" such as the usually dry loess plains next to the rivers Danube and Main (Figure 1). Secondly, repeated crop losses in larger areas could not be compensated either by own storage or by imports.

Animal husbandry was also an important component of the economic strategies of Late and Final Neolithic communities and often its role as a stabilising factor in times of crisis is emphasised (Hafner and Suter 2012, 25-27; Lüning 1997; Schibler 2008; Stephan and Steppan 2016). Although generally of less importance for nutrition than plant cultivation, meat and dairy products from livestock farming played an increasingly important role (Evershed et al. 2022, 2 fig. 1c). During severe droughts, both livestock yields (meat and milk) and reproduction can decrease due to restrictions on feed and water, as well as heat stress (Stahl et al. 2016, 807). However, this is likely to have been sufficiently counteracted by flexible herd management and spatial relocation. An increased use of livestock could therefore initially mitigate the consequences of a drought on plant cultivation. In a drought phase lasting several years, however, the goals of a short-term increase in slaughter rates on the one hand and a build-up of herds as an adaptive strategy on the other contradict each other.

The collection of wild plants and probably also of mushrooms contributed to the diet of Late and Final Neolithic populations (Jacomet and Maier 2016; Lüning 1997, 62–63). In terms of nutritional value, nuts and fruit — the products of forests or forest edges and

hedges - were probably the most important. At least locally, however, resources from other locations were also used, such as fruit of the water caltrop from shallow water areas of lakes (Karg 2016). Although growth conditions can improve during a drought in particularly humid locations, there are significant declines in most areas. In forests, severe leafloss, significant growth reduction and increased tree mortality have been observed during recent droughts. Frequently, weakened trees are additionally damaged by fungal infestation, insects and forest fires. Severe damage to the trees is often particularly pronounced in the following year and prolonged droughts lead to irreversible damage (Schuldt et al. 2020; Zimmermann et al. 2020). In shrublands, too, biomass production suffers from droughts and species richness decreased in AD 2003 at most sites (Peñuelas et al. 2007). Finally, grasslands proved to be particularly sensitive to recent droughts (Buras et al. 2020, 1656). Overall, gross primary production fell by about 30 % during the 2003 drought (Buras et al. 2020, 1665; Ciais et al. 2005). Accordingly, an expansion of the gathering economy during a Neolithic drought is a way to compensate for harvest declines in plant cultivation. But this is associated with an enormous amount of work, especially since wild plants also suffer considerably at the same time. Especially in densely populated areas, an overuse of collecting areas is to be expected in the long term.

Drinking water supply is of paramount importance to all humans. During recent droughts, water levels dropped and some springs and streams dried up. Above all, the water quality of many surface waters deteriorated (Bundsanstalt für Gewässerkunde 2006, 191; Deutscher Bundestag 2019, 75–77; Stahl *et al.* 2016, 807–09). Under comparable conditions, it was certainly more difficult for some Neolithic communities to maintain an adequate supply of drinking water. However, at most settlement sites in central Europe this problem could probably have been solved by accepting to travel longer distances to water sources.

The last component of the Neolithic diet is hunting and fishing, which fluctuated considerably in importance over space and time (Baumeister and Köninger 2016; Lüning 1997, 66–92; Schibler 2010; Stephan and Steppan 2016). Observations in Swiss Neolithic wetland settlements show that the intensification of hunting activities was a strategy frequently chosen in times of crisis (Hafner and Suter 2012, 25). Red deer, roe deer, aurochs and wild boar were the most important meat suppliers (Lüning 1997, 82; Schibler 2010; von den Driesch 2004, 334, 345–46). As a result of the effects of droughts, prey also suffers from water and food shortages (Deutscher Bundestag 2019, 11). Such a weakening of the animals, combined with increased hunting pressure, is likely to have a negative impact on the reproduction of game. In the event of longer droughts, game populations could therefore

have collapsed regionally. Hence, an intensification of hunting could only be sustained in the long term if there were sufficiently large hunting grounds. The same applies to fisheries. A reduction of water surfaces and thus the habitat, increased water temperature, declining oxygen content and often poorer ecological quality of the water damage the stocks of fish, crabs and mussels (Bayerisches Landesamt für Umwelt 2017, 12, 191–92; Bundesanstalt für Gewässerkunde 2006, 170-71; Stahl et al. 2016, 807-09). Sinking water levels with a concomitant concentration of animals in a smaller area with fewer hiding places and escape routes may have facilitated fishing at first. During a short but severe drought, fishing is likely to have provided an easily accessible food source. However, this would soon have changed if the drought event lasted for many years, when on the one hand the reproduction of the animals is disturbed and on the other hand fishing is intensified, so that stocks decrease locally.

The 19-year drought of 2745–2727 denBC undoubtedly led to considerable reductions in biomass production over a large area, at least in southern central Europe. Precipitation deficits during the growing seasons probably did not reach the extreme values of the reference years AD 2003 and 2018 (-110 mm in 2018: Bundesministerium für Landwirtschaft und Ernährung 2018, 4). But due to the repeated rainfall deficits of 50-80 mm during the growing seasons (Figure 2), the damage to flora and fauna accumulated. Severe and long-term consequences for the human subsistence economy are therefore to be expected in any case, although this might have taken regionally different forms. In particular, plant cultivation, the most important cornerstone of the Neolithic diet, would have suffered severe losses. For example, famines as a direct result even of one-year crop failures are well documented in historical times (Abel 1978, 28). Therefore, the drought phase during the third millennium BC, which lasted almost one human generation, presumably resulted in massive stress for both economic and social structures. This, in turn, could have had serious consequences for population and settlement, at least in particularly affected areas. Traditional strategies to compensate for crop losses, such as storage, reliance on social networks, the intensification of hunting activities and the slaughter of livestock, would only have had a limited effect due to the long duration of the drought. Apart from relocating settlements to wetter areas, more extensive strategies of hunting and animal husbandry would have been successful ways to cope with the crisis. For this to succeed, however, the availability of correspondingly large economically usable areas was a mandatory prerequisite. Especially in the densely populated centres of Late Neolithic settlement, which are usually located in extremely dry areas, this could have led to considerable problems.

Testing possible drought effects on Late and Final Neolithic settlement

Method for the determination of human settlement intensity

Neither typochronology nor radiocarbon dates allow us to date settlements of the later fourth and third millennia BC with sufficient accuracy to investigate occupation intensity at a decadal or annual resolution (Furholt 2008). Hence, for this purpose only dendrochronologically dated sites can be used. In central Europe such sites are largely restricted to Switzerland and adjacent areas of southern Germany and eastern France. However, sites in western Switzerland and France are not included because of the great distance to the areas which we have here investigated dendroclimatologically.

Our archaeological analyses are thus based on available data from central and eastern Switzerland, as well as southern Germany (southern Baden-Württemberg, southern Bavaria) (Figure 1; Appendix 1). The use of a site as a settlement during a given year is assumed if at least one reliable dendrochronological date is available. Subsequently, the number of settlements per year for which settlement activities are attested is statistically evaluated (e.g. Billamboz and Köninger 2008). Limitations arise not only from the relatively small number of settlements that can be included and the geographical distance from the Danube and Main, where the oak trees we have used were found. More importantly, pile dwellings represent a special form of settlement with spatially and temporally limited distribution. In the northern Alpine area pile dwellings appeared in the later fifth millennium BC and were present through the Late Neolithic to the Final Neolithic until about 2400 BC. Later on, pile dwellings are absent for several centuries and only reappear in the developed Early Bronze Age in the second millennium BC (Hafner et al. 2016). This specific settlement system was extremely flexible: the period of use at individual sites was usually in the range of only one or two decades. Often, the settlements moved and returned decades later to the same sites (e.g. Matuschik and Müller 2016). A long-term absence of this type of settlement certainly is due to cultural reasons. A short-term absence, on the other hand, can have a variety of reasons, such as gaps in research, lake-level fluctuations or social factors. Finally, it is not totally clear whether the special location of the pile-dwelling settlements correlated with special economic strategies, and thus whether there were fundamental differences to contemporaneous settlements in the loess areas, for example.

In the time span 3550–2400 BC, a total of 1068 identifiable years of settlement from 66 sites have



Figure 3. Number of settlements with direct dendrochronological settlement evidence per year between 3550–2400 denBC in central and eastern Switzerland and southern Germany (see Appendix 1 for detailed information). Cultural attribution is based on the find material.



Figure 4. a) Number of settlements from different cultural groups with superimposed warm-season (spring–summer) precipitation deficits (red line, 21-year weighted average) from the central European tree-ring network (horizontal bar = duration of drought event). Culture-specific ceramics from Zürich in central Switzerland (reproduced from Stöckli *et al.* 1995, fig. 19.1–3, fig. 20.11.14.17 with kind permission of Archäologie Schweiz); b) Late Horgen culture; c) Corded Ware culture.

been registered (Figure 3; Appendix 1). In addition, the cultural affiliation of a settlement, as determined by the finds material, has been assigned. The frequency of settlement occurrences per year is used as a proxy of the overall settlement intensity in southern central Europe. Of course, it is a questionable proxy for the named reasons, but nevertheless it is the best proxy available.

Development of pile-dwelling settlement and the probable effect of the great drought

In the research area, settlements of the Younger Neolithic (mostly Pfyn culture) as well as the Late Neolithic (mostly Horgen culture) and the Final Neolithic (mostly Corded Ware culture and later on Bell Beaker culture) are attested quite regularly but with low frequency from the beginning of the study period at 3550 BC up to about 2400 BC (Figure 3). Thus, pile dwellings were an integral part of the respective cultural systems for more than 1000 years. Gaps in the evidence up to several decades are often documented. It is remarkable that during the final phase of the Horgen culture, the frequency of pile dwellings is rather low until its most recent occurrence at 2765 denBC, which marks the end of this culture (Figure 4).

The highest frequency of pile dwellings is found during the older Corded Ware culture of 2754–2679 denBC (Figure 3). There is a gap of only a decade between the youngest Horgen and the oldest Corded Ware settlements. As there is no temporal overlap between the two cultures, the Corded Ware culture has obviously spread very quickly. A frequency peak around 2749 denBC shows that the establishment of this new culture was initially very successful. Then, however, a rapid decline in the number of settlements is observed. From 2745-2739 denBC the settlement record breaks down completely. From 2739 denBC onwards, a process of continuous recovery of the settlement numbers took place over two decades and at 2695 denBC the highest settlement density of the entire period under consideration is reached. Decline, settlement abandonment and the beginning of the recovery phase coincide exactly with the drought period of 2745-2727 denBC (Figure 4). Thus, it is very likely that the onset of the great drought caused the collapse of the settlement system of the Corded Ware culture, which was still in the establishment phase. It took some years to achieve steady settlement again. It is therefore highly probable that the supra-regional severe drought phase and the breakdown of pile dwelling settlement in eastern Switzerland and south-western Germany are indeed causally related. This is particularly noteworthy, as the economy of pile dwelling settlements was presumably less dependent on cereal cultivation than that of contemporaneous settlements in loess areas, for example. Due to poorer preservation conditions, there is relatively little data available on the consumption of plant food in settlements located on loess soils, but it is becoming apparent that cereals, and barley in particular, played a major role (Zuber 2019, 282). It can therefore be assumed that the effects of the drought were much more severe in these kinds of settlement landscapes.

Any effects on cultural systems?

It is thus very likely that the 19-year drought period from 2745–2727 denBC had direct consequences for settlement in southern central Europe, whereby in some regions the existing settlement systems may have collapsed. Another question is whether this also had long-term consequences for entire cultural systems. Over roughly six centuries pile dwellings of the Late Neolithic Horgen culture were present in varying numbers (Figure 3). The latest maximum is attested around 2890 denBC. From then on, the number of settlements dropped until the most recent site at 2765 denBC. After a decade without any attested pile dwellings, settlement of the same region by the Corded Ware culture started at 2754 denBC and flourished a few years later. This took place immediately before the onset of the great drought. Neither the end of the Horgen culture nor the beginning of the Corded Ware culture can therefore be linked to the drought in any way (Figure 4). This sudden shift in the cultural systems in the study area is clearly independent of the drought. On the contrary, the dynamically developing settlement system of the Corded Ware culture apparently collapsed under the drought at first. Remarkably, however, settlement gradually recovered already during the drought phase from 2739 denBC onwards, and soon after the end of the drought, in 2695 denBC, it even reached the highest values within the 1150 years studied (Figure 3). The population associated with the Corded Ware settlements thus seems to have coped exceptionally well with the situation. It should be borne in mind that successful active economic adaptation to drought conditions is unlikely to have been achieved within a few years, as populations initially may have waited for conditions to improve. Social groups who in any case already followed a subsistence regime that happened to be more adapted to the new conditions (as the Corded Ware groups did) would, in contrast, have been able to react more quickly.

This leads to another hypothesis: the phenomenon of the Corded Ware culture spread from eastern Europe, where much older settlements are attested (Furholt 2008). There is much to suggest that not only people and cultural features, like new prestige systems, found their way from the eastern European steppes to central Europe as part of the Corded Ware culture, but also economic preferences (Furholt 2008; Haak et al. 2015; Kaiser 2019). Analyses of carbon and nitrogen isotopes from skeletal remains show that in large parts of central Europe the share of animal products in human nutrition increased with the Corded Ware culture (Asam et al. 2006; Münster et al. 2018). At least in Bavaria, at the same time regular use of milk is attested by isotope analysis on human bones (Hagl et al. 2013). This chimes with the fact that animal bone assemblages from settlements, for example in Switzerland, show an intensification of animal husbandry in general and of cattle in particular (Schibler 2008). However, due to the widespread lack of burials of the late forth and early third millennia BC in southern Germany, there is no possibility to isotopically date the beginning of significant milk consumption closely. Nevertheless, lipid analyses of pottery finds now prove that milk was already used in the period of the preceding Cham culture in southern



Figure 5. Settlement areas of the Late Neolithic (left) and Corded Ware culture (right) in Bavaria. Green: attested settlements and burial sites; purple: single finds. Technical data: Bayerisches Landesamt für Denkmalpflege (data query 29.7.2021); base map: ESRI shaded relief; graphics: T. Ruhland and J. Pechtl.

Bavaria (Dunne et al. 2023). In addition, the same tendency is already evident earlier in the eastern European steppe regions and in the presumed area of origin of the Corded Ware culture (Kadrow 2008; Kaiser 2019). In this respect, it should be considered whether the Corded Ware culture, due to its connections to the steppe area with its more pastoral economies, showed an economic preadaptation which proved to be advantageous especially during the long drought period. If so, the severe drought event would not have directly promoted the first spread of the Corded Ware culture to southern central Europe, but its recovery and more solid establishment when climate became more humid again. Competing cultural models that were more focused on agriculture may therefore have fallen behind and a diet with a higher proportion of animal components became permanently established in central Europe.

A comparison of the settlement distribution shows how fundamental the change from the Late Neolithic to the Corded Ware culture actually was (Figure 5). In Bavaria, for example, the strong focus of settlement on the zones with the highest soil quality was abandoned. Instead, areas that had previously been largely uninhabited, though probably already used for economic purposes, were now more regularly colonised. The new system of subsistence farming thus obviously opened up far more choices and thus probably also laid the foundations for Bronze Age development.

References

- Abel, W. 1978. Agrarkrisen und Agrarkonjunktur. Eine Geschichte der Land- und Ernährungswirtschaft Mitteleuropas seit dem hohen Mittelalter. Hamburg and Berlin: Paul Parey.
- Asam, T., Grupe, G. and Peters, J. 2006. Menschliche Subsistzenstrategien im Neolithikum: Eine Isotopenanalyse bayerischer Skelettfunde. *Anthropologischer Anzeiger* 64, 1–23.
- Baumeister, R. and Köninger, J. 2016. Nachgehakt.
 Fischerei am Bodensee und in Oberschwaben.
 In Archäologisches Landesmuseum BadenWürttemberg and Landesamt für Denkmalpflege
 im Regierungspräsidium Stuttgart (eds), 4.000 Jahre
 Pfahlbauten, 341–44. Ostfildern: Jan Thorbecke.
- Bayerisches Landesamt für Umwelt 2017. *Niedrigwasser in Bayern. Grundlagen, Veränderungen und Auswirkungen.* Augsburg: Bayerisches Landesamt für Umwelt.
- Behringer, W. 2007. Kulturgeschichte des Klimas von der Eiszeit bis zur globalen Erwärmung. München: C.H. Beck.
- Billamboz, A. 2006. Dendroarchäologische Untersuchungen in den neolithischen Ufersiedlungen von Hornstaad-Hörnle. In B. Dieckmann, A. Harwarth, J. Hoffstadt and A. Billamboz (eds), Siedlungsarchäologie im Alpenvorland 9. Forschungen und Berichte zur Vor- und

Frühgeschichte in Baden-Württemberg 98, 297–414. Stuttgart: Theiss.

- Billamboz, A. 2010. Die jung- und endneolithischen Seeufersiedlungen von Sipplingen "Osthafen" am Bodensee: Besiedlungs- und Wirtschaftsdynamik im eng begrenzten Naturraum des Sipplinger Dreiecks. In M. Matuschik, C. Strahm, B. Eberschweiler, G. Fingerlin, A. Hafner, M. Kinsky, M. Mainberger and G. Schöbel (eds), Vernetzungen: Aspekte siedlungsarchäologischer Forschung. Festschrift für Helmut Schlichtherle zum 60. Geburtstag, 253–86. Freiburg i.Br.: Lavori.
- Billamboz, A. and Köninger, J. 2008. Dendroarchäologische Untersuchungen zur Besiedlungs- und Landschaftsentwicklung im Neolithikum des westlichen Bodenseegebietes. In W. Dörfler and J. Müller (eds), Umwelt – Wirtschaft – Siedlungen im dritten vorchristlichen Jahrtausend Mitteleuropas und Südskandinaviens. Offa-Bücher 84, 317–34. Neumünster: Wachholtz.
- Billamboz, A. and Köninger, J. 2009. Erste dendroarchäologische Untersuchungen in der Ufersiedlung von Wallhausen-Ziegelhütte. In Arbeitsstelle Hemmenhofen des Landesamtes für Denkmalpflege im Regierungspräsidium Stuttgart (eds), Tauchsondagen und Rettungsgrabungen unter Wasser in der jung- und endneolithischen Seeufersiedlung Wallhausen-Ziegelhütte, Kreis Konstanz. Hemmenhofer Skripte 8, 145–54. Freiburg i.Br.: Janus.
- Bleicher, N. 2009. Altes Holz in neuem Licht: Archäologische und dendrochronologische Untersuchungen an spätneolithischen Feuchtbodensiedlungen in Oberschwaben. Berichte zu Ufer- und Moorsiedlungen Südwestdeutschlands 5. Stuttgart: Theiss.
- Bleicher, N. 2015. Dendrochronologie und Pfahlfeldanalysen Zürich "Mozartstraße". In R.
 Ebersbach, B. Ruckstuhl and N. Bleicher, Neolithische und bronzezeitliche Ufersiedlungen 5: Die neolithischen Befunde und die Dendroarchäologie. Monographien der Kantonsarchäologie Zürich 47, 122–65. Zürich: Kantonsarchäologie Zürich.
- Bleicher, N. and Harb, C. (eds) 2015. Zürich-Parkhaus Opéra: Eine neolithische Feuchtbodenfundstelle.
 Band 1, Befunde, Schichten und Dendroarchäologie.
 Monographien der Kantonsarchäologie Zürich 48.
 Zürich: Fotorotar.
- Bundesanstalt für Gewässerkunde 2006. Mitteilungen Nr. 27. Niedrigwasserperiode 2003 in Deutschland. Ursachen – Wirkungen – Folgen. Koblenz: Bundesanstalt für Gewässerkunde.
- Bundesministerium für Landwirtschaft und Ernährung 2018. *Ernte 2018. Mengen und Preise*. Berlin: Bundesministerium für Landwirtschaft und Ernährung (BMEL).

Buras, A., Ramming, A. and Zang, C.S. 2020. Quantifying impacts of the drought 2018 on European ecosystems in comparison to 2003. *Biogeosciences* 17, 1655–72.

Ciais, P. [+31 others] and Valentini, R. 2005. Europe-wide reduction in primary productivity caused by heat and drought in 2003. *Nature* 437, 529–33.

Cook, E.R. and Kairiukstis, L.A. (eds) 1990. *Methods of dendrochronology: applications in the environmental sciences.* Dordrecht: Kluwer Academic Publishers.

Cook, E.R., Meko, D.M., Stahle, D.W. and Cleaveland, M.K. 1999. Drought reconstructions for the continental United States. *Journal of Climate* 12, 1145–62.

Deutscher Bundestag 2019. Bericht zur Risikoanalyse im Bevölkerungsschutz 2018. Köln: Deutscher Bundestag – 19 Wahlperiode, Drucksache 19/9521. https://dserver. bundestag.de/btd/19/095/1909521.pdf

- Dörfler, W. and Müller, J. (eds) 2008. Umwelt Wirtschaft – Siedlungen im dritten vorchristlichen Jahrtausend Mitteleuropas und Südskandinaviens. Offa-Bücher 84. Neumünster: Wachholtz.
- Dunne, J., Szilágyi, M., Casanova, E., Griffiths, S., Knowles, T.T.J., Evershed, R.P. and Hofmann, D. 2023. The milky way: mobility and economy at the turn of the 3rd millennium in southern central Europe. *Proceedings of the Prehistoric Society* 89, 23–50.
- Eberli, U. 2002. Horgenzeitliche Siedlungsstrukturen. In C. Achour-Uster, U. Eberli, R. Ebersbach and P. Favre (eds), Die Seeufersiedlungen in Horgen: Die neolithischen und bronzezeitlichen Fundstellen Dampfschiffsteg und Scheller. Monographien der Kantonsarchäologie Zürich 36, 87–118. Zürich: Fotorotar.
- Evershed, R.P. [+104 others] and Wolfram, S. 2022. Dairying, diseases and the evolution of lactase persistence in Europe. *Nature* 608, 1–10.
- Furholt, M. 2008. Erscheinungen asynchroner kultureller Entwicklung am Übergang vom Spät- zum Endneolithikum in Mitteleuropa. Eine Untersuchung der Siedlungsfunde mit Schnurkeramik. In W. Dörfler and J. Müller (eds), Umwelt – Wirtschaft – Siedlungen im dritten vorchristlichen Jahrtausend Mitteleuropas und Südskandinaviens. Offa-Bücher 84, 9–34. Neumünster: Wachholtz.
- Gerste, R.D. 2015. Wie das Wetter Geschichte macht. Katastrophen und Klimawandel von der Antike bis heute. Stuttgart: Klett-Cotta.
- Gobin, A. 2012. Impact of heat and drought stress on arable crop production in Belgium. *Natural Hazards and Earth System Sciences* 12, 1911–22.
- Haak, W. [+37 others] and Reich, D. 2015. Massive migration from the steppe was a source for Indo-European languages in Europe. *Nature* 522, 207–11.

Hafner, A. and Suter, P.J. 2012. Das Neolithikum in der Schweiz. *Journal of Neolithic Archaeology* 5, 1–75 and supplementary data. DOI: 10.12766/jna.2003.4

Hafner, A., Pétrequin, P. and Schlichtherle, H. 2016. Ufer- und Moorsiedlungen. Chronologie, kulturelle Vielfalt und Siedlungsformen. In Archäologisches Landesmuseum Baden-Württemberg and Landesamt für Denkmalpflege im Regierungspräsidium Stuttgart (eds), *4.000 Jahre Pfahlbauten*, 59–64. Ostfildern: Jan Thorbecke.

Hagl, P., Becker, C. and Grupe, G. 2013. Establishment of dairying economy in the Bavarian Neolithic revealed by isotopic foodwebs. In G. Grupe, G. McGlynn and J. Peters (eds), *Beiträge zur Anthropologie und Paläoanatomie. Documenta Archaeobiologiae 11*, 79–93. Rahden: Marie Leidorf.

Hochuli, S., Huber, R. and Schaeren, G.F. 2010.
Seeufersiedlungen am Zugersee: Geschichte und Stand der Forschung. In I. Matuschik, C. Strahm,
B. Eberschweiler, G. Fingerlin, A. Hafner, M.
Mainberger and G. Schöbel (eds), Vernetzungen.
Aspekte siedlungsarchäologischer Forschung.
Festschrift für Helmut Schlichtherle zum 60.
Geburtstag, 377–83. Freiburg i.Br.: Lavori.

Imbery, F., Friedrich, K., Koppe, C., Janssen, W., Pfeifroth, U., Daßler, J. and Bissolli, P. 2018. 2018 wärmster Sommer im Norden und Osten Deutschlands. https://www.dwd.de/DE/leistungen/ besondereereignisse/temperatur/20180906_ waermstersommer_nordenosten2018.pdf; jsessionid=D29375CAE56AF78297A51777CD2B2B1E. live11051?__blob=publicationFile&v=7

Jacomet, S. and Maier, U. 2016. Breit gefächert. Nahrungspflanzen zwischen Feld und Wald. In Archäologisches Landesmuseum Baden-Württemberg and Landesamt für Denkmalpflege im Regierungspräsidium Stuttgart (eds), 4.000 Jahre Pfahlbauten, 320–27. Ostfildern: Jan Thorbecke.

Kadrow, S. 2008. Settlement and subsistence strategies of the Corded Ware culture at the beginning of the 3rd millennium BC in southeastern Poland and in western Ukraine. In W. Dörfler and J. Müller (eds), Umwelt – Wirtschaft – Siedlungen im dritten vorchristlichen Jahrtausend Mitteleuropas und Südskandinaviens. Offa-Bücher 84, 243–52. Neumünster: Wachholtz.

Kaiser, E. 2019. Das dritte Jahrtausend im osteuropäischen Steppenraum: Kulturhistorische Studien zu prähistorischer Subsistenzwirtschaft und Interaktion mit benachbarten Räumen. Berlin: Edition Topoi.

Karg, S. 2016. Abgefischt – Kohlenhydratspender
Wassernuss. In Archäologisches Landesmuseum Baden-Württemberg and Landesamt für Denkmalpflege
im Regierungspräsidium Stuttgart (eds), 4.000 Jahre
Pfahlbauten, 345. Ostfildern: Jan Thorbecke. Klejn, L.S., Haak, W., Lazaridis, I., Patterson, N., Reich, D., Kristiansen, K., Sjögren, K.-G., Allentoft, M., Sikora, M. and Willerslev, E. 2018. Discussion: are the origins of Indo-European languages explained by the migration of the Yamnaya culture to the west? *European Journal of Archaeology* 21, 3–17.

Lamb, H.H. 1982. Klima und Kulturgeschichte. Der Einfluss des Wetters auf den Gang der Geschichte. Reinbeck: Rowolt.

Land, A. 2022. Klimarekonstruktion mittels Jahrringen anhand eines markanten, holozänen Klimaereignisses. *Jahrbücher des Nassauischen Vereins für Naturkunde* 143, 131–46.

Land, A., Remmele, S., Hofmann, J., Reichle, D., Eppli, M., Zang, C., Buras, A., Hein, S. and Zimmermann, R. 2019. Two millennia of Main region (southern Germany) hydroclimate variability. *Climate of the Past* 15, 1677–90.

Landesamt für Denkmalpflege im Regierungspräsidium Stuttgart (ed.) 2011. UNESCO-Welterbe. Prähistorische Pfahlbauten um die Alpen in Baden-Württemberg und Bayern. https://www.unescopfahlbauten.org/allgemeine-informationen/ praehistorische-pfahlbauten-um-die-alpen/

Lüning, J. 1997. Anfänge und frühe Entwicklung der Landwirtschaft im Neolithikum (5500–2200 v. Chr.). In J. Lüning, A. Jockenhövel, H. Bender and T. Capelle (eds), *Deutsche Agrargeschichte. Vor- und Frühgeschichte*, 15–139. Stuttgart: Eugen Ulmer.

Matuschik, I. and Müller, A. 2016. Ein "Hotspot" am Bodensee. 16 x Sipplingen-Osthafen. In Archäologisches Landesmuseum Baden-Württemberg and Landesamt für Denkmalpflege im Regierungspräsidium Stuttgart (eds), *4.000 Jahre Pfahlbauten*, 93–95. Ostfildern: Jan Thorbecke.

Meller, H. and Puttkammer, T. (eds) 2017. *Klimagewalten. Treibende Kraft der Evolution.* Halle: Landesamt für Denkmalpflege and Archäologie Sachsen-Anhalt – Landesmuseum für Vorgeschichte.

Michel-Tobler, C., Brombacher, C. and Rekazek, A. 2010.
Stansstad-Kehrsiten – Neolithische Seeufersiedlungen hart am Alpenrand. In I. Matuschik, C. Strahm, B.
Eberschweiler, G. Fingerlin, A. Hafner, M. Mainberger and G. Schöbel (eds), Vernetzungen. Aspekte siedlungsarchäologischer Forschung. Festschrift für Helmut Schlichtherle zum 60. Geburtstag, 287–96.
Freiburg i.Br.: Lavori.

Million, S. and Billamboz, A. 2015. Bauen mit Esche: Dendroarchäologische Untersuchungen in den neolithischen Ufersiedlungen des Degersees. In
M. Mainberger, J. Merkt and A. Kleinmann (eds), *Pfahlbausiedlungen am Degersee: Archäologische und naturwissenschaftliche Untersuchungen*, 285–302.
Darmstadt: Theiss. Münster, A. [+16 others] and Alt, K.W. 2018. 4000 years of human dietary evolution in central Germany, from the first farmers to the first elites. *PLoS ONE* 13(3), e0194862. DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0194862

Pechtl, J. and Land, A. 2019. Tree rings as a proxy for seasonal precipitation variability and Early Neolithic settlement dynamics in Bavaria, Germany. *PLoS ONE* 14(1), e0210438. DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0210438

Peñuelas, J. [+18 others] and Tietema, A. 2007. Response of plant species richness and primary productivity in shrublands along a north–south gradient in Europe to seven years of experimental warming and drought: reductions in primary productivity in the heat and drought year of 2003. Global Change Biology 13, 2563–81.

Rahlf, T. 1996. Getreide in der Sozial- und Wirtschaftsgeschichte vom 16. bis 18. Jahrhundert: Das Beispiel Köln im regionalen Vergleich. Kleine Schriften zur Geschichte und Landeskunde 3. Trier: Auenthal.

Ruoff, U. 2007. Dendrochronologische Auswertungen der Rettungsgrabungen 1988–91 und der Rettungsgrabung Cosmetochem. In B. Röder and R. Huber (eds), Archäologie in Steinhausen "Sennweid" (Kanton Zug). Antiqua 41, 119–42. Basel: Archäologie Schweiz.

Schibler, J. 2008. Die wirtschaftliche Bedeutung der Viehzucht während des 3. Jahrtausends v.Chr. aufgrund der Tierknochenfunde der Fundstellen im Schweizer Alpenvorland. In W. Dörfler and J. Müller (eds), Umwelt – Wirtschaft – Siedlungen im dritten vorchristlichen Jahrtausend Mitteleuropas und Südskandinaviens. Offa-Bücher 84, 379–92. Neumünster: Wachholtz.

Schibler, J. 2010. Crisis? What crisis? Die Nahrungskrise im 37. Jh. v. Chr. und ihre Bewältigung. In C. Lichter (ed.), Jungsteinzeit im Umbruch. Die "Michelsberger Kultur" und Mitteleuropa vor 6.000 Jahren, 173–78. Darmstadt: Badisches Landesmuseum.

Schönfeld, G. 2009a. Die altheimzeitliche Feuchtbodensiedlung von Pestenacker. *Bericht der Bayerischen Bodendenkmalpflege* 50, 137–56.

Schönfeld, G. 2009b. Ein jungsteinzeitliches Filialsiedlungssystem im Talgrund des Losbachs bei Unfriedshausen. *Bericht der Bayerischen Bodendenkmalpflege* 50, 157–68. Schuldt, B. [+26 others] and Kahmen, A. 2020. A first assessment of the impact of the extreme 2018 summer drought on central European forests. *Basic and Applied Ecology* 45, 86–103.

Spurk, M., Leuschner, H.H., Baillie, M.G.L., Briffa, K.R. and Friedrich, M. 2002. Depositional frequency of German subfossil oaks: climatically and non-climatically induced fluctuations in the Holocene. *The Holocene* 12(6), 707–15.

Stahl, K. [+17 others] and van Lanen, H.A.J. 2016. Impacts of European drought events: insights from an international database of text-based reports. *Natural Hazards and Earth System Sciences* 16, 801–19.

Stephan, E. and Steppan, K. 2016. Tierhaltung und Jagd. In Archäologisches Landesmuseum Baden-Württemberg and Landesamt für Denkmalpflege im Regierungspräsidium Stuttgart (eds), 4.000 Jahre Pfahlbauten, 332–37. Ostfildern: Jan Thorbecke.

Stöckli, W.E., Niffeler, U. and Gross-Klee, E. (eds) 1995. Neolithikum. Die Schweiz vom Paläolithikum bis zum frühen Mittelalter 2. Basel: Schweizerische Gesellschaft für Ur- und Frühgeschichte.

Sutanto, S.J., Vitolo, C., di Napoli, C., d'Andrea, M. and van Lanen, H.A.J. 2020. Heatwaves, droughts, and fires: exploring compound and cascading dry hazards at the pan-European scale. *Environment International* 134, 105276. DOI: 10.1016/j.envint.2019.105276

von den Driesch, A. 2004. Fortschritte der Archäozoologie in Niederbayern während der letzten beiden Dezennien. In K. Schmotz (ed.), *Vorträge des 22. Niederbayerischen Archäologentages*, 331–51. Rahden: Marie Leidorf.

Zimmermann, L., Raspe, S., Dietrich, H.-P. and Wauer, A. 2020. Dürreperioden und ihre Wirkung auf Wälder. *LFW aktuell* 3/2020, 18–23.

Zuber, J. 2019. Verbreitung und Struktur der Chamer Kultur in Ostbayern. In O. Chvojka, M. Chytráček, H. Gruber, L. Husty, J. Michálek, R. Sandner, K. Schmotz and S. Traxler (eds), *Fines Transire* 28, 269–85. Rahden: Marie Leidorf. Atemperatur/20180906waermstersommernordenosten2018. pdf;jsessionid=D29375CAE56AF78297A51777CD2B2B1E. live11051?__blob=publicationFile&v=7.

Appendix 1. Dendrochronologically documented years with settlement activities in pile-dwelling settlements in central and eastern Switzerland and southern Germany.

Site	Country	District	Final Neolithic (year denBC)	Late Neolithic (year denBC)	Younger Neolithic (year denBC)	References
Allensbach-Strandbad	D	Konstanz		2821-2842, 2998-3001,3142-3147 (Horgen)		Hafner and Suter 2012; Landesamt für Denkmalpflege im Regierungspräsidium Stuttgart 2011
Bodman-Schachen II	D	Konstanz	2666 (Corded Ware)			Hafner and Suter 2012
Degersee I	D	Bodenseekreis		2956 (Goldberg III?)		Million and Billamboz 2015
Hegne-Galgenacker	D	Konstanz	2672, 2681 (Corded Ware)			Hafner and Suter 2012
Hornstaad-Hörnle	D	Konstanz	2690 (Corded Ware)	3176 (Horgen)		Landesamt für Denkmalpflege im Regierungspräsidium Stuttgart 2011
Hornstaad-Hörnle IB	D	Konstanz			3507–3512, 3517–3521, 3528–3542 (Pfyn)	Billamboz 2006; Hafner and Suter 2012
Hornstaad-Schlössle	D	Konstanz	2672, 2681 (Corded Ware)			Hafner and Suter 2012
Litzenstetten- Ebnewiesen II	D	Konstanz	2575–2576 (Corded Ware)			Billamboz and Köninger 2008
Ludwigshafen- Seehalde	D	Konstanz	2418–2421 (Corded Ware)			Hafner and Suter 2012
Maurach-Ziegelhütte	D	Bodenseekreis	2666–2668 (Corded Ware)	2865, 3134–3160, 3316–3331 (Horgen)		Billamboz and Köninger 2008
Nussdorf-Seehalde	D	Bodenseekreis		3308–3309, 3332–3333 (Horgen)		Hafner and Suter 2012
Olzreute-Enzisholz	D	Biberach		2897 (Goldberg III)		Landesamt für Denkmalpflege im Regierungspräsidium Stuttgart 2011
Pestenacker	D	Landsberg am Lech			3476–3495 (Altheim/ Lechgruppe)	Schönfeld 2009a
Schreckensee	D	Ravensburg		3263, 3265 (Horgen)		Bleicher 2009; Landesamt für Denkmalpflege im Regierungspräsidium Stuttgart 2011
Sipplingen-Osthafen	D	Bodenseekreis	2415-2424, 2665-2666	2854–2917, 2981, 2983, 2990–2991, 3019–3032, 3060–3063, 3065, 3077, 3085, 3148–3150, 3200, 3303–3316, 3330 (Horgen)		Billamboz 2010; Hafner and Suter 2012
Torwiesen II	D	Biberach		3279–3281, 3283 (Horgen)		Bleicher 2009
Unfriedshausen	D	Landsberg am Lech			3519–3537 (Altheim/ Lechgruppe)	Schönfeld 2009b
Wallhausen- Ziegelhütte	D	Konstanz		2838–2839, 3025, 3255, 3274–3275, 3282–3285, 3292, 3301–3303, 3305 (Horgen)		Billamboz and Köninger 2009
Wangen-Hinterhorn	D	Konstanz		2844, 3246 (Horgen)		Landesamt für Denkmalpflege im Regierungspräsidium Stuttgart 2011
Arbon-Bleiche 3	СН	Thurgau		3370–3384 (Horgen)		Hafner and Suter 2012
Cham-St. Andreas-Strandbad	СН	Zug	2535, 2540, 2669, 2680–2697, 2701 (Corded Ware)	3133–3134 (Horgen)		Hochuli <i>et al.</i> 2010; Hafner and Suter 2012

Site	Country	District	Final Neolithic (year denBC)	Late Neolithic (year denBC)	Younger Neolithic (year denBC)	References
Erlenbach-Winkel	СН	Zürich	2432–2435, 2460, 2467, 2480–2481 (Bell Beaker/Corded Ware) 2501–2524, 2535 (Corded Ware)	2765–2766 (Horgen)		Hafner and Suter 2012
Erlenbach-Wyden	СН	Zürich	2731 (Corded Ware)			Hafner and Suter 2012
Ermatingen- Westerfeld	СН	Thurgau		2862, 2889, 3049, 3146 (Horgen)		Hafner and Suter 2012
Fällanden-Rietspitz	СН	Zürich	2692–2696, 2705–2708 (Corded Ware)			Hafner and Suter 2012
Freienbach-Hurden Seefeld	СН	Schwyz	2748 (Corded Ware)			Hafner and Suter 2012
Greifensee-Furren	СН	Zürich	2677, 2686, 2693 (Corded Ware)			Hafner and Suter 2012
Greifensee-Storen/ Wildsberg	СН	Zürich	2686, 2694–2695, 2707 (Corded Ware)			Hafner and Suter 2012
Hombrechtikon- Feldbach West	СН	Zürich	2523, 2539 (Corded Ware)			Hafner and Suter 2012
Hombrechtikon- Rosenberg	СН	Zürich	2726, 2735 (Corded Ware)	2869–2870, 3034 (Horgen)		Hafner and Suter 2012
Horgen- Dampfschiffsteg	СН	Zürich	2698 (Corded Ware)			Hafner and Suter 2012
Horgen-Scheller	СН	Zürich	2457–2470 (Bell Beaker/Corded Ware)	3037, 3039, 3044–3045, 3048–3051 (Horgen)		Eberli 2002; Hafner and Suter 2012
Hühnenberg- Chämleten (1980)	СН	Zug		3159–3161, 3240–3256 (Horgen)		Hafner and Suter 2012
Küsnacht-Hörnli	СН	Zürich	2433–2434, 2448, 2460, 2479–2482 (Bell Beaker/Corded Ware) 2501, 2506 (Corded Ware)			Hafner and Suter 2012
Männedorf- Leuenhaab	СН	Zürich		2785–2787 (Horgen)		Hafner and Suter 2012
Männedorf-Strandbad	СН	Zürich	2468, 2480 (Bell Beaker/Corded Ware)			Hafner and Suter 2012
Maur-Schifflände	СН	Zürich	2674–2677 (Corded Ware)			Hafner and Suter 2012
Maur-Weierwis	СН	Zürich	2738 (Corded Ware)	3038–3049 (Horgen)		Hafner and Suter 2012
Meilen-Feldmeilen- Vorderfeld	СН	Zürich	2652–2653, 2746 (Corded Ware)	3023–3040, 3058, 3080, 3195, 3209–3217, 3235–3239 (Horgen)		Hafner and Suter 2012
Meilen-Im Grund	СН	Zürich	2595 (Corded Ware)	3038–3043 (Horgen)		Hafner and Suter 2012
Meilen-Rorenhaab	СН	Zürich	2618, 2621–2625, 2647, 2663–2667, 2679, 2687–2688, 2696–2698 (Corded Ware)	2890, 2896, 2988–2990, 2998, 3406, 3423 (Horgen)		Hafner and Suter 2012
Meilen-Schellen	СН	Zürich	2484–2503 (Bell Beaker/Corded Ware) 2505–2509, 2709–2726, 2749 (Corded Ware)	2890–2894, 3135 (Horgen)		Hafner and Suter 2012
Pfäffikon-Irgenhausen	СН	Zürich		2765 (Horgen)		Hafner and Suter 2012
Rapperswil-Jona- Untiefe Ost	СН	St. Gallen		3271, 3301 (Horgen)		Hafner and Suter 2012
Sempach-See	СН	Luzern	2428–2429 (Bell Beaker/Corded Ware)	2836–2838 (Horgen)		Hafner and Suter 2012
Stäfa-Uerikon im Länder	СН	Zürich		3036 (Horgen)		Hafner and Suter 2012

Site	Country	District	Final Neolithic (year denBC)	Late Neolithic (year denBC)	Younger Neolithic (year denBC)	References
Stansstad-Kehrsiten	СН	Nidwalden		3172 (Horgen)	3431, 3436, 3442-3443, 3446-3449, 3456, 3478, 3480-3482, 3484 (Pfyn)	Michel-Tobler <i>et al.</i> 2010
Steckborn-Schanz	СН	Thurgau		3322 (Horgen)		Hafner and Suter 2012
Steckborn-Turgi	СН	Thurgau	2695 (Corded Ware)	3107, 3307 (Horgen)		Hafner and Suter 2012
Steinhausen- Sennweid	СН	Zug	2724, 2726, 2730, 2739, 2745, 2751, 2754 (Corded Ware)	2850–2854, 2864–2869 (Horgen)		Hochuli <i>et al</i> . 2010; Ruoff 2007; Hafner and Suter 2012
Uetikon-Schifflände	СН	Zürich	2747–2752 (Corded Ware)			Hafner and Suter 2012
Wädenswil-Vorder Au	СН	Zürich	2426–2427, 2440 (Bell Beaker/Corded Ware) 2569–2571 (Corded Ware)			Hafner and Suter 2012
Wetzikon- Robenhausen	СН	Zürich	2682, 2705–2707 (Corded Ware)			Hafner and Suter 2012
Zug-Schutzengel	СН	Zug		3155 (Horgen)		Hafner and Suter 2012
Zug-Schützenmatt	СН	Zug		3152–2168 (Horgen)		Hafner and Suter 2012
Zug-Vorstadt- Rössliwiese	СН	Zug		3050 (Horgen)	3541 (Pfyn)	Hafner and Suter 2012
Zürich-AKAD/ Pressehaus	СН	Zürich	2681, 2690, 2713–2719 (Corded Ware)	3172 (Horgen)		Hafner and Suter 2012
Zürich- Breitingergasse 1994	СН	Zürich	2681–2724 (Corded Ware)			Hafner and Suter 2012
Zürich-Grosser Hafner	СН	Zürich		3196–3199, 3201–3209 (Horgen)		Hafner and Suter 2012
Zürich-KanSan	СН	Zürich	2679–2685, 2689–2706, 2710–2718 (Corded Ware)	2882–2887, 2911, 3078, 3158, 3168, 3175–3179,3201–3216, 3226–3239 (Horgen)		Hafner and Suter 2012
Zürich-Kleiner Hafner	СН	Zürich		2781–2782, 2788–2802, 3201–3206, 3213–3222, 3242 (Horgen)		Hafner and Suter 2012
Zürich-Mozartstrasse	СН	Zürich	2498 (Bell Beaker/ Corded Ware) 2510-2522, 2538, 2544, 2568-2625, 2700-2705 (Corded Ware)	2882-2888, 2929-2943, 3098-3120, 3123-3124, 3126 (Horgen)	3538–3547 (Pfyn)	Bleicher 2015; Hafner and Suter 2012
Zürich-Mythenschloss	СН	Zürich	2584, 2680 (Corded Ware)			Hafner and Suter 2012
Zürich-Parkhaus Opéra	СН	Zürich	2727–2735, 2749–2754 (Corded Ware)	2877–2885, 3063, 3090, 3153–3176, 3204, 3226–3234 (Horgen)		Bleicher and Harb 2015
Zürich-Wollishofen- Hausmesser	СН	Zürich		3182, 3196 (Horgen)		Hafner and Suter 2012
Zürich-Wollishofen- Strandbad	СН	Zürich	2725, 2749 (Corded Ware)			Hafner and Suter 2012

In the middle of nowhere — Burgerroth and the Early Final Neolithic in Franconia

Thomas Link

Abstract

Evidence for the Late Neolithic and Early Final Neolithic period is very sparse in the region of Franconia (northern Bavaria/northern Württemberg). However, recent investigations give at least some new information and raise questions concerning inter-regional as well as chronological connections and cultural relations. Geophysical prospections and test excavations at the hilltop settlement of Burgerroth (Lkr. Würzburg, Lower Franconia) in 2012–2014 provided new insights into one of the major sites of the period. A previously unknown ditch system came to light and several settlement features can be interpreted as pit houses of a type characteristic for the Late and Final Neolithic. Surprisingly, Late Neolithic elements seem to have remained present at Burgerroth until the mid third millennium and associated finds of Corded Ware domestic pottery point to the parallel existence of regional Late Neolithic traditions and Final Neolithic innovations.

Keywords: Late Neolithic, Final Neolithic, Corded Ware culture, Franconia, Burgerroth, hilltop settlement, pit houses

Numerous "cultural groups", which have a rather limited regional extent in comparison with the larger-scale entities of the preceding Younger Neolithic, characterise the archaeological map of the late fourth and early third millennium BC (e.g. von Schnurbein 2009, 70–76). This is why regionalisation is often supposed to be a major culture-historical trend of the period. However, archaeological data is scarce in many regions and virtually absent in others. At the same time, the individual regional groups share many material culture features. The supposedly regionalised character



Figure 1. Geographical position and topographic situation of the site Burgerroth "Altenberg" (maps: Bundesamt für Kartographie und Geodäsie and Bayerische Vermessungsverwaltung, www.geodaten.bayern.de).

of the Late Neolithic (LN) and Early Final Neolithic (EFN)¹ groups thus could very well be a product of lack of data rather than a reflection of prehistoric reality.

Cultural attribution is especially problematic for regions in between the larger and better-defined "cultural groups". Franconia (northern Bavaria/ northern Württemberg) is one of these regions. Evidence for the LN/EFN is very limited and most find complexes are small. Already in 1985, D. Spennemann summarised the relevant sites and the state of research has not changed much since then (Spennemann 1985). A Late Neolithic pit house had already been excavated in 1979 at Schwanfeld (Lkr. Schweinfurt), but was only published after Spennemann's synopsis (Lüning 1999), as was a Bernburg culture grave complex from Großeibstadt (Lkr. Rhön-Grabfeld; Koch 2014). The only recent addition to Spennemann's list is a settlement at Gollhofen (Lkr. Neustadt a.d. Aisch-Bad Windsheim) with a ditched enclosure measuring 50-60 m in diameter and four small pit houses (Beigel and Nadler 2013). Two of the sites already listed by Spennemann have been further investigated during the last two decades: Voitmannsdorf (Lkr. Bamberg; Dürr et al. 2004) and Burgerroth (Lkr. Würzburg; Link 2013; 2018; 2023; Link and Herbig 2016).

There is some variation in the use of the terms "Late Neolithic" (LN) and "Early Final Neolithic" (EFN) between different traditions of chronological terminology. J. Lüning (1996) established the term "Late Neolithic" as a phase between the Younger Neolithic and Final Neolithic (which mainly comprises the beaker-using cultures), while in some literature from southwestern Germany "Early Final Neolithic" is still being used for the Late Neolithic or the younger part of it. However, this is not only a nomenclature problem. "Late Neolithic" traditions originating in the late fourth millennium BC have a long duration and exist in parallel with the "Final Neolithic" Corded Ware culture (CWC) almost until the middle of the third millennium BC. To avoid a terminological overlap in the chronological model, this phase (c. 2800–2600 calBC) should be referred to as "Early Final Neolithic". At the same time, tradition and continuity imply that there cannot be a sharp boundary between the "Late" and the "Early Final" Neolithic. This means that the "cultural" groups of the transition phase at the end of the "Late" and the beginning of the "Final" Neolithic cannot be satisfactorily covered by either one or the other of the two terms. They are therefore summarised as "Late Neolithic/Early Final Neolithic" or "LN/EFN" here, which refers to the timespan between c. 3200 and 2600 calBC.



Figure 2. Magnetogram with archaeological interpretation. Magnetic survey with dual fluxgate gradiometer Bartington Grad 601-2, point density 12.5 × 50 cm (interpolated to 12.5 × 25 cm), dynamics ±6 nT / 256 grey levels (aerial photo: © Bayerische Vermessungsverwaltung, www.geodaten.bayern. de; magnetogram T. Link, University of Würzburg).

Recent investigations at Burgerroth

Burgerroth "Altenberg" has been a major reference point for the LN/EFN since the first excavations in 1919–1921. Even 100 years later it remains the most abundant LN/ EFN find complex in Franconia and probably the region's most promising site for future research on this period.

The site is situated on a promontory rising about 40-50 m above the valley of the Gollach (Figure 1), a tributary of the Tauber river. Large parts of the hilltop were affected by quarrying in the nineteenth and early twentieth centuries. Rescue excavations led by G. Hock and J. Maurer in 1919–1921 uncovered several LN/EFN features, which were dug into the Middle Triassic limestone bedrock. Some of them had a more or less rectangular shape and were interpreted as building structures. A Neolithic ditch was excavated, too, but could not be clearly separated from a medieval fortification. Six decades later, Spennemann (1984) put together and analysed the available data and material systematically, complemented by some small-scale field activities. His seminal work remained the status quo until 2012.

In 2012–2014, the University of Würzburg carried out new investigations at Burgerroth. The first results of the fieldwork have already been presented in some detail elsewhere (Link and Herbig 2016; Link 2018; 2023) and will only be shortly summarised here.

Geophysical prospection

Magnetic prospection in the outer areas of the promontory helped to clarify the layout of the Neolithic ditch, which had already been cut by the first excavation and was again observed by Spennemann (1984, 36–38, 42 fig. 22). But what is more, a previously unknown system of two or three linear anomalies was discovered about 80 m further north-west (Figure 2), indicating a multi-phase ditch system. While the previously known inner ditch system enclosed about 1–1.5 ha, this newly discovered structure has enlarged the site to around 4 ha.

Between the inner and the outer ditch systems, the magnetic survey plan shows a significant number of square or slightly rectangular anomalies, with sides measuring about 4–6 m. In shape and size these features





Figure 3. Overlay of the magnetogram (Figure 2) and photogrammetric plans of trench 1 (planum 3) and 2 (planum 2) (T. Link, University of Würzburg).



Figure 4. Central pit of the pit dwelling in trench 2 (T. Link, University of Würzburg).


Figure 5. Photogrammetric plan with highlighted phases of the ditch system (white: stones in the backfill/third phase; blue: limestone bedrock). Numbers indicate stratigraphic features (T. Link, University of Würzburg).

conform very closely to the "pit houses" known from numerous Late and Final Neolithic sites (see below).

Test trenches

In 2013, two small test trenches measuring 1×8 m each were excavated through two of the square anomalies (Link and Herbig 2016) (Figure 2, Nos 1–2, Figure 3). In both trenches, pits with straight, steep sides measuring 6.3 m (trench 1) and 5.7 m (trench 2) came to light, which had been dug into the limestone bedrock to a depth of about 30–40 cm (i.e. c. 50–60 cm below the modern ground surface). Both features had a flat, level bottom and a shallow pit in their centre, which was about 10–20 cm deeper than the rest of the base and measured around 1–1.5 m in diameter (Figure 4). No postholes were identified, but the overall square structures with a level base and especially the central pits confirm the interpretation of these features as buildings (see discussion on "pit houses" below). Both features were very rich in LN/EFN find material.

In 2014, a test trench measuring 14×6 m was excavated through the outer ditch system at a position where the two ditches overlap each other (Figure 2, Nr. 3). The ditch system had been dug into the limestone bedrock to a maximum depth of c. 50 cm (80 cm below the modern ground surface) and varied in width from 2.5–3.5 m. The stratigraphy turned out to be rather complex (see Link 2018, 182–86 for more detail): at least two building phases followed by a phase of intentional backfilling have been identified (Figure 5). In its first phase, the ditch system probably had multiple entrances formed by ridges of residual bedrock. In the second phase, the upper layers of these ridges were removed and the fill of the ditch was partly dug out again. Both the first and the second phase are associated with LN/EFN material only. Finally, the ditch was intentionally filled



Figure 6. Typical LN/EFN pottery from trenches 1, 2 and 3 (drawings P. Schinkel, photos T. Link, University of Würzburg).

with stone blocks and large cobbles. Finds of Iron Age pottery indicate that this third phase of building activity may have taken place a long time after the Neolithic use life of the ditch system. A human skeleton of a juvenile individual, which lay in supine position transversally to the ditch axis, is stratigraphically associated with the Iron Age stone backfill.

A single radiocarbon date from the second quarter of the fourth millennium calBC (Erl-20205: 4871±43 BC, 3763–3534 calBC [2 σ]) and a single sherd with an arcade rim (Link 2018, 188 fig. 9.9) indicate that the earthwork could have had its origin already in the Younger Neolithic and have been recut during the LN/EFN. The assumed entrances of the first phase would also fit very well into a Younger Neolithic context. Ditch systems with a large number of entrances located close to each other are a characteristic element of the Michelsberg culture and other groups of the Younger Neolithic (Seidel 2008, 356–58). They can be laid out in a closed, round or oval shape (e.g. Ilsfeld-Ebene: Seidel 2008, 72–83) or as ditch sections on mountain spurs, as was the case at Burgerroth (e.g. Heilbronn-Klingenberg: Seidel 2008, 187–229).

The find material

The excavations in 2013 and 2014 yielded a high quantity of finds, most of them heavily fragmented. The material has already been presented in some detail elsewhere (Link 2018, 187–95; Link and Herbig 2016, 108–20), so I here focus on the discussion of its cultural and chronological context.



Figure 7. Cord ornamented pottery (1, 2 and 5) and CWC domestic pottery (3, 4 and 6–10) from trenches 1 and 2; possible loom weight, burnt daub (11); examples of chert (12), bone (13–15) and antler (16) tools (drawings P. Schinkel, photos T. Link, University of Würzburg).

Pottery

The pottery shows typical LN/EFN elements. It is predominantly coarse, thick-walled and strongly tempered with sand and crushed limestone or quartz. Information concerning vessel shapes is limited due to the high degree of fragmentation; closed shapes with slightly biconical profiles and flat bases prevail. Shoulders are often accentuated by a slight offset in the profile or ornamentation (Figure 6.5–7). Upper and lower parts of the vessels are often contrasted by surface decoration being restricted to the lower part only.

The degree of ornamentation is low and its spectrum is limited. "Functional" decorations, such as plastic bands (Figure 6.2.5) and especially surface roughening, are most common. The latter was in most cases created by rolling cord coils across the vessel's surface (Figure 6.2–4.7.8) (commonly called "mat roughening" or "textile impression", see Gleich this volume; Schlichtherle 2018 for critical review and technological details). Roughening by brushing or barbotine application occurs only rarely. The spectrum of plastic elements is complemented by lugs, plastic cordons and handles (e.g. Link 2018, 188 fig. 9.10).

Two well-preserved ceramic sieves were found close together inside the central pit in trench 1 (Figure 6.1). Both are slightly conical in shape and open at both the upper and lower ends. Holes measuring 5–8 mm are evenly distributed all over their surface. They differ typologically from the sieves of the Bernburg culture, which typically have only two rows of holes near the vessel's upper and lower rims, but find close parallels in the Cham culture (Matuschik 1990, 176–84 pl. 146; Spennemann 1984, 129–30).

Cord impressions occur on three sherds in total (Figure 7.1.2.5). They fit well into the typological spectrum of the Corded Ware culture (CWC). But as cord ornamentation already appears earlier during the LN/EFN (e.g. Cham group or Globular Amphora culture: Beran 1999, e.g. pl. 86.4-5.13-14.20, pl. 89.14; Matuschik 1990, 434-36, 503-19), they do not necessarily prove the presence of CWC. However, some clearly identifiable sherds of CWC domestic pottery were found in the two pit houses. Five sherds from trench1 (e.g. Figure 7.4.7.9) with notched plastic cordons on the vessels' neck and rim find close comparisons in pottery from lakeside settlements in south-western Germany and northern Switzerland (e.g. Zürich-Mozartstrasse: Hardmeyer 1992, 180-85; 1993, 328–33) or, geographically much closer, from the settlement of Motzenstein in Upper (i.e. eastern) Franconia (Seregély 2008, pl. 23.9). At least three sherds from trench 2 with incised lines accompanied by dots or short strokes can probably be interpreted as fragments of "Strichbündel" amphorae (Figure 7.3.6.8, possibly also Figure 7.10). These are typical of CWC domestic pottery and also especially well known from Swiss lakeside settlements (e.g. Beran 1999, pl. 88.17.20; Hardmeyer 1992, figs 2-3; 1993, 296 fig. 428, 319 fig. 466).

Bone and antler tools

Antler and bone finds were abundant and well preserved, due to the calcareous conditions in the limestone. Apart from typical settlement refuse, in particular the material from the two pit houses contained a large number of bone tools, such as chisels, axes and various pointed tools (Figure 7.13–15). Most noteworthy among them are seven antler sleeves (Figure 7.16) of a type that is well known from Goldberg III, Horgen and CWC contexts in Upper Swabia, at lake Constance and in the Swiss Lakes region (Billamboz and Schlichtherle 1985, 164, figs 1-2, figs 9-10; Hafner and Suter 2003, 12–14; Schlichtherle 1999, 42–45). An antler hoe with a rectangular shaft hole (Link 2018, 192 fig. 13.3) finds its closest parallels in the same region (e.g. Hafner and Suter 2003, 14-15). The abundance of antler sleeves is a special characteristic of Burgerroth, as 32 specimens had already been found during the 1920s excavations (Spennemann 1984, 80).

Stone tools

Unlike pottery, bone and antler, lithic finds are not very abundant. Two triangular chert arrowheads and a fragment of a bilaterally retouched blade, probably made of Baiersdorf tabular chert, are the most noteworthy pieces among the flint artefacts (Figure 7.12; Link and Herbig 2016, 117 fig. 13.6–8). Stone axes are represented only by some tiny fragments of metamorphic rock with small parts of polished surfaces. Grinding stones are missing from the two pit houses, but three heavily worn fragments were found in the backfill of the ditches.

A loom weight?

Among a larger quantity of burnt daub, a singular object can with some plausibility be interpreted as a fragment of a loom weight. It is roughly ball-shaped with a straight perforation (Figure 7.11). While early loom weights from the Younger Neolithic are mostly cone- or pearshaped, the more round or ovoid forms with vertical perforation are primarily known from Early Final Neolithic contexts, such as Horgen or CWC settlements in Switzerland (Hafner and Suter 2005, fig. 5A; Suter 1987, 142 pl. 79.6–10, pl. 81.8–9) or the Cham culture in Bavaria (Matuschik 1990, 190–92 pl. 29.2; 1991, fig. 4.16–17; 1999, 74 fig. 4.16–17).

Cultural context and interregional relations

Several attempts have been made to define a new local group based mainly on Burgerroth (e.g. Burger 1988: "Wartberg-Burgerroth-Gruppe"; U. Fischer 1981: "Altenberg Gruppe"; Matuschik 1990: "Burgerroth/'Altenberg"). However, they remain unsatisfying, as there are no exclusive typological features that could define this group. On the contrary, all of its elements can also be found in neighbouring groups like Goldberg III, Wartberg, Bernburg, Cham or Řívnač (Seregély 2008, 155; also already Spennemann 1984, 137–42; 1985, 135).

Connections to the north, i.e. to the Bernburg and Wartberg cultures, are an apparent element of the LN/EFN in Franconia. This is best documented at Prosselsheim and Schwanfeld in the eastern Main triangle (Lüning 1999; Pescheck 1976), Voitmannsdorf in Upper Franconia (Dürr *et al.* 2004, 27–29) and by the collective graves at Großeibstadt in the north of the region (Koch 2014). However, connections to other regions are present as well and interregional entanglements are much more complex. As the type spectrum in many regions is very similar in the LN/EFN and mainly differs quantitatively, it is virtually impossible to identify types that are characteristic for only one LN/EFN group and could be classified as foreign elements if found in another region.

For example, surface roughening of the vessels' lower parts by coiled cord impression (so-called "mat roughening") is especially typical for the Wartberg and Goldberg III groups, but also appears in Cham, Bernburg and other groups. Roughening by brushing, on the other hand, is mainly known from the eastern groups of Cham, Řivnáč and Jevišovice, but not from Goldberg III (Burger 1988, 147–48; Gohlisch 2006, 184; Matuschik 1999, 72–73; Schlichtherle 1999, 44). At Burgerroth, "mat roughening" is far more abundant, but brushing also sporadically appears.

Plastic cordons are another example for a widespread typological element. In the Cham culture, cordons with deep notches or finger impressions are especially common, and these are often grouped together horizontally and vertically (Burger 1988, 56; Gohlisch 2006, 174-77; Matuschik 1990, 434-36; 1999, 73, 84–85). Cordons of the Cham type sporadically also occur at Burgerroth (Figure 6.2.5 or Spennemann 1984, pl. 47.389). In the Goldberg III group, cordons are typically left plain, run horizontally along the vessel's shoulder and separate the roughened lower from the undecorated upper part (Schlichtherle 1999, 39, figs 5–9). This layout is also common at Burgerroth (Spennemann 1984, pl. 33.236; or Figure 6.5, but with a notched cordon and a shape that finds better parallels in Cham than in Goldberg III). On other vessels from Burgerroth, the transition between the roughened lower and the plain upper parts is in most cases not emphasised by a cordon, but only by a slight offset in the profile (Spennemann 1984, pl. 41.310, pl. 49.438, pl. 51). This is common in the Goldberg III group, too, but more abundant in the Wartberg culture.

Broad band handles - like a specimen from the ditch (Link 2018, 188 fig. 9.10) and several others from the 1920s excavation (Spennemann 1985, 136, figs 1-3, figs 6–10) — are most common in the Bernburg culture (cf. Dirks 2000, 41-67; Gohlisch 2006, 181-82; Matuschik 1990, 491, 495; Torres-Blanco 1994, 161-62, 169-72). However, handles and lugs are to some degree known from most regions during the LN/EFN and for this reason cannot be regarded as a cultural connection to the Bernburg region.

The abundance of antler sleeves at Burgerroth is especially striking as they are rather uncommon in the neighbouring cultural groups to the south-east (Cham) and to the north (Wartberg, Bernburg) (Matuschik 1990, 206-09, 495-99 pl. 157.8-11), but very common in the lakeside settlements of the Alpine foothills. Burgerroth stands out as the northernmost site where antler sleeves occur in large quantities, which clearly illustrates cultural connections towards the south. Interestingly, the regional contrast in the distribution of antler sleeves remains the same during the CWC. The presence of antler sleeves obviously reflects a long-standing regional differentiation in the use of a specific tool type and not a distinction between archaeological "cultures".

At other sites in Franconia, such as Schwanfeld, Prosselsheim and Großeibstadt, connections to the north are much more predominant than at Burgerroth, where connections towards the north, south and east are more or less equally present. On the other hand, there are strong connections to the south at Burgerroth, which are missing at other sites in the region.

"Pit houses" of the Late and Final Neolithic

"Pit houses" or "sunken floor dwellings" - i.e. buildings with a floor dug deep enough into the ground that the lower part of the walls was formed by the depression's edges — are a widespread phenomenon throughout prehistory and historic times (Wüstehube 1996). However, the interpretation of archaeological features as "pit houses" in contrast to other settlement pits is highly problematic in many cases (see also Lichter 1993, 24–25). In central Europe, the oldest plausible examples date from the first half of the fifth millennium BC (Middle Neolithic according to the southern and western German chronological systems). S. Friederich (2011, 410-14) compiled the existing evidence, although her list includes some rather uncertain examples. The most clearly interpretable houses are the ones from Osterhofen-Schmiedorf and Aldersbach-Kriestorf (Riedhammer et al. 1999, 16–29), both in eastern Bavaria and dating to SOB (South-East Bavarian Middle Neolithic) phase IIa and II/III respectively, and two features from Těšetice-Kyjovice in Moravia (Lengyel culture/Moravian Painted Ware; Podborský 1993, 126 fig. 69.4.7). The pits vary in size from 2.1 × 2.6 m (Osterhofen-Schmiedorf) to around 4.5 x 4.5 m (Těšetice-Kyjovice) and all of them have interior posts in different configurations, which indicates some kind of roof construction. Because of its small size, the pit from Osterhofen has been interpreted as a cellar or storage facility (Riedhammer et al. 1999, 29). As we know large above-ground house constructions from the Middle Neolithic period, the same could hold true for the larger "pit houses" as well, and they probably had some special economic function, for instance as workshops or storerooms, rather than being used as dwellings.

In the initial phase of the Younger Neolithic in the second half of the fifth millennium a new type of buildings with sunken floors emerges. They are much larger than the Middle Neolithic pit houses and can reach lengths of more than 15 m, with a rectangular or slightly trapezoidal shape. At a number of sites, uniformly constructed buildings of this type are closely arranged in parallel rows (Zeeb 1996, 105-16), which indicates an organised settlement structure with a pathway system and makes the interpretation as regular dwellings very plausible.

Rectangular sunken floor dwellings of similar sizes sporadically also occur in the fourth millennium Michelsberg culture (Höhn 2002, 5-28). But also small square to rectangular pit constructions similar to the Middle Neolithic features continue to exist during the Younger Neolithic. For the Michelsberg culture, five features from the enclosure at Urmitz in the middle Rhine valley, and another one from Hattersheim in Hessen, are the best examples (Bergmann 2008; Boelicke 1976/77, 79–80, 104). The houses from Urmitz range from 3.8 \times



Figure 8. Pit houses from the fourth and third millennia BC in southern central Europe. The "Goldberg-Burgerroth type" is characterised by a square or slightly rectangular shape and a central pit (T. Link). 1 Baar-Früebergstrasse; 2 Baunach-Hahnleite; 3 Bramois; 4 Burgerroth; 5 Burnhaupt-le-Bas; 6 Castaneda-Pian del Remit; 7 Černošice-Kazín; 8 Chieming; 9 Ebsdorfergrund-Wittelsberg; 10 Gering; 11 Großobringen; 12 Gollhofen; 13 Gudensberg-Bürgel; 14 Halle-Dölauer Heide; 15 Halberstadt-Sonntagsfeld; 16 Kleinzerbst; 17 Klučov; 18 Köfering-Kelleräcker II; 19 Landshut-Sallmannsberg; 20 Luckaer Forst; 21 Kutná Hora-Denemark; 22 Maifeld-Gering; 23 Mayen "An der Sauperg"; 24 Mendig-Thür; 25 Mintraching-Sengkofen; 26 Mühlheim a. d. Donau-Stetten; 27 Mülheim; 28 Mumpf-Kapf; 29 Neftenbach-Aspach; 30 Oberwerschen; 31 Oberwinterthur-Römerstrasse 229; 32 Ochtendung; 33 Paderborn; 34 Praha-Bubeneč; 35 Praha-Bohnice Zámka; 36 Praha-Lysolaje; 37 Praha-Vyšehrad; 38 Praha-Zlíchov "Klobouček"; 39 Riesbürg-Goldburghausen Goldberg; 40 Rudolfingen-Schlossberg; 41 Schraplau; 42 Schwanfeld; 43 Sandersdorf-Brehna; 44 Stehelčeves-Homolka; 45 Stuttgart-Hofen "Mittlere Wohlfahrt"; 46 Stuttgart-Stammheim "Neubaugebiet Süd"; 47 Stuttgart-Stammheim "Sieben Morgen"; 48 Thür; 49 Uerschhausen-Horn; 50 Urmitz; 51 Vraný-Čertovka; 52 Wang "Ziegelberg"; 53 Wartau-Ochsenberg; 54 Wattendorf-Motzenstein; 55 Weißenfels-Eselsweg; 56 Werlaburgdorf-Lietfeld; 57 Žalov-Řivnáč (base map by maps-for-free.com). 3.6 m to 6×4.6 m. They have posts in their corners and in the centre, as well as a central fireplace.

A number of similar examples exist in the mid fourth millennium Altheim culture in eastern Bavaria. The latest compilation by F. Eibl and G. Raßhofer (Eibl and Raßhofer 2015, 24-27 fig.5, based on Schönfeld 2001, 23-28 and Limmer 2010, 88-92) lists nine examples. All of them have a more or less regular rectangular or square shape. Their maximum wall lengths range from c. 2.8 m to 4.5 m. Post arrangements vary considerably. At least in one case, a shallow central pit was documented which seems to have served as a fireplace (Landshut-Sallmannsberg Obj. 186: Limmer 2010, 91; Schönfeld 2001, 27). As with the Middle Neolithic features, a dwelling function for the "pit houses" is generally thought unlikely. An interpretation as special-purpose buildings or cellars within above-ground constructions seems more plausible (Limmer 2010, 92; Schönfeld 2001, 28-36). G. Schönfeld also raised the idea that some of the features might in fact be foundations of larger above-ground buildings (Schönfeld 2001, 20-23, 36).

During the late fourth and the third millennium BC, "pit houses" or "sunken floor dwellings" become more widespread than before (or are at least more commonly known from the archaeological record). There is still a wide variety in constructions, but a specific "Goldberg-Burgerroth type" stands out, as the examples below will show. It is characterised by a square or slightly rectangular shape with wall lengths of around 3-6 m, a flat base, vertical edges and in many cases a shallow pit in the centre of the floor (Figure 4). Especially the central pit seems to be characteristic for a group of Late to Final Neolithic pit houses with a wide distribution across southern central Europe (Figure 8). As the above compilation shows, this specific type of building has some precursors in the Younger and even Middle Neolithic. Especially the features from Urmitz closely resemble the LN/EFN houses of the "Goldberg-Burgerroth type" and probably can be seen as immediate predecessors or earliest examples of the type.

Although not fully excavated, the two features from Burgerroth clearly qualify as representative examples of this building type. Some of the structures from the 1920s excavations complement the picture. The best and most abundant analogies to the pit houses from Burgerroth exist in southern, western and central Germany, Bohemia and Switzerland. More than 50 features were already excavated between 1911 and 1929 at the Goldberg (phase III) in the Nördlinger Ries (eastern Baden-Württemberg) by G. Bersu (Bersu 1937). It is a reasonable assumption that Maurer's and Hock's excavations at Burgerroth from 1919–1921 and probably also their interpretation of the excavated features were strongly inspired by Bersu's contemporary research. The pit houses at the Goldberg are square to slightly rectangular with rounded corners and sizes ranging from $12-28 \text{ m}^2$ or 6 m maximum side length. Postholes measuring 10-25 cm in diameter were documented in most of the buildings. Their arrangement varies, however: most commonly, posts run along the sides of the buildings, but in some cases they can also be located within the interior space. Almost all of the buildings have central pits, which are 20 cm deep on average. These central pits are commonly associated with traces of fire.

Although LN/EFN evidence is rare in Franconia, at least two more sites with pit houses complement the evidence from Burgerroth. The closest examples were excavated in 2013 only 12 km north-east of Burgerroth at Gollhofen (Beigel and Nadler 2013). Four rather small square pits measuring 3–3.9 m lie inside a ditch or palisade system. One of them has a central pit, two features show traces of posts. A single but well-documented pit house comes from Schwanfeld (Figure 9.5), 44 km north of Burgerroth (Lüning 1999). It is associated with find material of the Bernburg culture.

Some close analogies of pit dwellings with central pits come from Baden-Württemberg. At Stuttgart-Stammheim (Figure 9.3) and Stuttgart-Hofen, five dwellings were documented of which at least three had central pits (Matuschik and Schlichtherle 2009, 18–21; Schlichtherle *et al.* 2009). They were associated with early Goldberg III material and were radiocarbon dated to the last third of the fourth or the beginning of the third millennium. At Mühlheim-Stetten on the upper Danube (Figure 9.4) a square pit house was fully excavated (Hietkamp and Hanöffner 2005). It has a small central pit measuring 80 cm in diameter and 10 cm in depth. Find material can be associated with the Horgen culture, a radiocarbon date ranges between 3340–2885 calBC (2σ).

A larger number of pit houses is known from Late and Final Neolithic sites in Switzerland: Baar-Früebergstrasse, Kt. Zug (Gnepf Horisberger et al. 2005), two features at Bramois-Immeuble Pranoé D, Kt. Vallais (Figure 9.7) (Mottet et al. 2011), Castaneda-Pian del Remit, Kt. Graubünden (Vogt 2000), Mumpf-Kapf, Kt. Aargau (Harb 2009), Neftenbach-Aspach, Kt. Zürich (C. Fischer 1998), Oberwinterthur-Römerstrasse, Kt. Zürich (Janke 1996), Rudolfingen-Schlossberg, Kt. Zürich (Figure 9.6) (Hasenfratz 1989), Uerschausen-Horn, Kt. Thurgau (Figure 9.8) (Hasenfratz and Schnyder 1998, 156-57) and Wartau-Ochsenberg, Kt. St. Gallen (Primas et al. 2004, 73-137). Most of the features are roughly square with side lengths ranging from 3.4 to 5.3 m (except Castaneda, which is rectangular and only measures 2.5 × 3.3 m). A number of features have central pits (Rudolfingen, Wartau) or potential fireplaces (Bramois, Neftenbach, Uerschhausen). Posts along the pit edges or in the corners were documented in several cases (Bramois, Castaneda, Mumpf-Kapf), as were interior posts



Figure 9. Examples of pit houses of the "Goldberg-Burgerroth type". 1–2 Goldberg (Bersu 1937, figs 1–2); 3 Stuttgart-Stammheim (Matuschik and Schlichtherle 2009, 19 fig. 11); 4 Mühlheim-Stetten (Hietkamp and Hanöffner 2005, 64 fig. 16); 5 Schwanfeld (Lüning 1999, 421 fig. 5); 6 Rudolfingen-Schlossberg (Hasenfratz 1989, 55 fig. 5); 7 Bramois (Mottet *et al.* 2011, 64 fig. 73); 8 Uerschhausen-Horn (Hasenfratz and Schnyder 1998, 157 fig. 154); 9 Praha-Lysolaje (Pleslová-Štiková 1972, 9 fig. 6); 10 Klučov (Zápotocký and Kudrnać 2008, 45 fig. 6a); 11 Ochtendung (Fehr 1978, 100 fig. 5).

(Neftenbach, Rudolfingen). However, in many cases it is disputable whether the posts were static elements of a roof superstructure or rather parts of a wooden planking of the pit walls or of other interior installations. Most of the features date to the Late Neolithic (mainly Horgen culture), while Bramois, Wartau and Uerschhausen date to the Final Neolithic, the latter being culturally associated with the CWC. A potential CWC pit house from Burnhauptle-Bas in southern Alsace lies close to the Swiss cluster (Bleckmann 2006).

In southern and central Bavaria, pit houses of the Late and Final Neolithic are rare, although a considerable number of Cham culture settlements exists. One example comes from Köfering-Kelleräcker in eastern Bavaria (Nagel 2001, 3–4). Recently, a feature at Chieming was partially excavated, which showed a flat base with a central pit (Pechtl and Möslein 2020). Interestingly, and similar to Burgerroth, it contained pottery with textile impressions and produced a very young radiocarbon date (2461–2221 calBC [2σ]).²

Parallels to the pit houses from Burgerroth can also be found further to the north. At Ebsdorfergrund-Wittelsberg in Hessen, eight pit houses with square to slightly rectangular shapes and wall lengths of around 4 m were excavated (Drummer 2022, 43–58; Fiedler 1991). They date to the younger phase of the Wartberg culture (c. 2800–2600 calBC) and were associated with a double ditch system. Only some of the buildings had central pits, but they were regularly constructed with central posts, reaching depths of up to 60–70 cm below the floors.

A whole group of Late and Final Neolithic buildings (in some cases more precisely dateable to the CWC) stands out in the Middle Rhine region at Ochtendung (Figure 9.11), Mayen, Maifeld-Gering, Mülheim and Mendig-Thür (for further information and literature see Hecht 2007, 138–48; 2008, 258-59 fig. 5.1-3.9-10). Remarkably, it is the same region in which pit houses already occurred during the Younger Neolithic at Urmitz (see above), which could indicate a special regional building tradition. However, the interpretation of the features is controversial in a number of cases. Some of the features, especially four examples from Ochtendung, clearly belong to the Goldberg-Burgerroth type, while others have different construction principles and rather seem to be surface post-built structures with only slightly or partially sunken floors. Such sunken floor dwellings with various shapes and dimensions are widespread during the Late and Final Neolithic in central and especially in northern central Europe (Seregély 2008, 32-38, 116-18). They cannot be directly linked with the Goldberg-Burgerroth type pit houses, however, but reflect a different building tradition.

Sunken floor dwellings in this broader sense are also widespread in central Germany (e.g. Halle-Dölauer Heide: Behrens and Schröter 1980, 13–30). As many potential buildings are difficult to interpret for various reasons, only a few features from central Germany can be clearly assigned to the Goldberg-Burgerroth type. The best examples come from Großobringen in Thuringia, where two pit houses and a ditch system dating to the Bernburg culture were documented (Walter 1991).

Some of the best parallels to Burgerroth, not only regarding the houses but the site characteristics in general, come from Bohemia. The most important sites in this respect are Stehelčeves-Homolka and Kutná Hora-Denemark (Ehrich and Pleslová-Štiková 1968, esp. 20–51; Zápotocký and Zápotocká 2008, esp. 313-15 and chapter 3.1), both dating to the Řivnač culture. Just as Burgerroth, both of them are promontory settlements with fortification ditches and vielded a larger number of pit houses: 23 were documented at Denemark and at least six at Homolka, supplemented by a number of less clearly interpretable features and surface structures. At Klučov, also a hilltop site of the Řivnač culture, a small (2.8 × 2.9 m) but very distinct pit house with multiple posts along the sides and a central fireplace was excavated (Figure 9.10) (Zápotocký and Kudrnáč 2008, 35, 87-88). The Early Řivnač site Praha-Lysolaje yielded a similarly constructed building measuring 4.1×4.5 m (Figure 9.9) (Pleslová-Štiková 1972, 6). Four pit houses were documented at Vraný-Čertovka, another Řivnač hilltop site (Pleslová-Štiková 1981, 165). Pit houses are mentioned in the literature for several other sites dating to the Late Eneolithic in Bohemian terminology; however, many of them cannot be reliably evaluated on the basis of the published data.

To sum up, pit houses with various shapes, sizes and constructions occur virtually throughout the entire Neolithic. They are rare in the Early and Middle Neolithic, but become more frequent in the late fifth and during the fourth millennium BC. Beginning with some sporadic Younger Neolithic features, a specific type of square or slightly rectangular building with walls measuring 3-6 m evolves. It becomes more frequent towards the end of the fourth and in the first half of the third millennium BC. While wall and roof constructions seem to vary, many examples have a shallow central pit or fireplace. Pit houses of this specific "Goldberg-Burgerroth type" and of the more universal variant without a central pit occur in different cultural contexts like Goldberg III, Horgen, Wartberg, Bernburg, Cham, Řivnač and the CWC (Figure 8). This shows once more that LN/EFN groups were strongly interconnected in various aspects of material culture, including architecture. Furthermore, this specific building tradition persists from the Late Neolithic into the Final Neolithic CWC, which indicates aspects of cultural continuity despite all the obvious change in material culture at the beginning of the CWC.

² The Cham culture pit houses from Riedling (Dunne *et al.* 2023) were published too late to be fully taken into account here.



Figure 10. Radiocarbon dates from Burgerroth, calibrated with OxCal v4.3.2 (Bronk Ramsey and Lee 2013; Reimer et al. 2013).

The function of the pit houses remains an open question. Finds seem to indicate a workshop function in some cases. For example, a very high proportion of red deer bone in Baar-Früebergstrasse indicates antler or hide processing (Gnepf Horisberger et al. 2005, 130-35). In other cases, flint and ground stone artefacts and refuse could reflect the manufacturing of tools (e.g. Rudolfingen-Schlossberg, Mumpf-Kapf, Ebsdorfergrund-Wittelsberg: Drummer 2022, 52; Harb 2009, 17-18; Hasenfratz 1989, 54-55). However, taphonomic considerations have to be taken into account. It should not be taken as given that the find material from a pit house directly represents the activities that took place within it. On the contrary, finds from the infill most probably were deposited after the abandonment of the house and can originate from different contexts within the settlement. Only finds directly from the walking horizon could relate to the terminal use phase of the building. In some cases, it is argued that during the house's use life a process of stratigraphic accumulation took place and the finds from the different occupation layers (as opposed to the later infill) therefore reflect activities within the building (e.g. Lüning 1999, 421-28 for the house at Schwanfeld). The existence of such accumulation processes has to be carefully evaluated for each individual feature, however, and must not be generalised.

At some sites, the central pits showed traces of fire or contained burnt daub or stones and thus have been interpreted as hearths (e.g. Bramois, Uerschhausen-Horn, Rudolfingen-Schlossberg). In other cases (e.g. Stuttgart-Stammheim, Goldberg) charcoal and burnt stones were present in or around the pit, while no direct traces of fire were visible on the pit surface; this might indicate that the pit was used for collecting ash removed from a nearby hearth (Matuschik and Schlichtherle 2009, 18-23). In many other cases, no traces of fire were recorded at all (e.g. Wartau-Ochsenberg, Mühlheim-Stetten, Schwanfeld). The two pits from Burgerroth also did not show any direct traces of fire, although burnt stones were present within the house infills in some quantity, but without clear concentrations. The somewhat unsatisfactory conclusion is that although the central pits are a common characteristic, they probably did not have the same function in every building. They might also have had multiple purposes or changed their function during the use life of the buildings.

Finally, it is important to stress that pit houses were not the only buildings and probably not the main dwellings. At the Swiss and southern German lakeside settlements, a large number of Late and Final Neolithic post buildings give an idea about the above-ground constructions that we are largely missing in dry soil conditions. Some recently excavated ground plans from CWC mineral soil sites in central Germany indicate that similar post-built houses existed elsewhere, too (Friederich and Jarecki 2014; Kegler 2014, 177–84; Küßner 2019). These larger surface buildings probably were the actual residential dwellings, while the pit houses were presumably used for different economic purposes. This does not mean, however, that each pit house had the same function or was used for one specific task only. It rather looks like they were multifunctional facilities for a wide range of economic and technical activities.

Chronological context

In the course of the new investigations at Burgerroth, seven radiocarbon samples have been dated (Figure 10), all of them short-lived plant macro-remains (esp. cereals³). The dates have already been discussed elsewhere (Link 2018, 195–96; 2023), so only a short summary is given here. The dates from Burgerroth mainly span the wiggle zones 2880-2580 calBC and 2620-2480 calBC according to D. Raetzel-Fabian and M. Furholt (Furholt 2003a, 4-5; 2003b, 15-18; Raetzel-Fabian 2001), which indicates an end of the settlement during the twenty-sixth century or around 2500 calBC. They are therefore remarkably young for the LN/EFN. For example, the typologically related Goldberg III group is dendrochronologically dated to the thirtieth to twenty-ninth centuries BC in southern Baden-Württemberg (Bleicher 2009, 154–57, 166). In contrast, the dates from Burgerroth clearly overlap with the early and middle CWC (Furholt 2003a, 8-17; 2003b, 118-24). In the neighbouring Tauber valley, the CWC probably started around 2700 BC or during the twenty-seventh century at the latest (Furholt 2003b, 77–79).

Conclusion: Late Neolithic traditions and Final Neolithic innovations

Taking into account the surprisingly late absolute dates and their evident overlap with the CWC, Burgerroth can hardly be classified as "Late Neolithic" anymore, but rather as "Early Final Neolithic with Late Neolithic traditions". These traditions seem to have survived well into the third millennium BC and in parallel to the emerging CWC. This raises some interesting questions: how does Burgerroth relate to the contemporary CWC cemeteries? Is it a "conservative" settlement that stuck to older traditions longer than others in its surroundings did? Or is the parallel existence of CWC with Late Neolithic traditions far more common than we know so far? And what does this mean for the relations between LN/ EFN groups and the CWC in general?

CWC burials are abundant in the Main and Tauber valleys (Dresely 2004; Schußmann 2016), but no settlements are known in the region so far. This imbalance is characteristic of the CWC in many regions. The closest CWC settlements can be found in Upper Franconia, about 100 km east of Burgerroth. Interestingly, they are often located in peripheral settings, like hills or hillslopes, which seem rather unfavourable for prehistoric settlement (e.g. the Motzenstein and the Rothenstein: Seregély 2008; 2012). It remains an open question if this regional concentration and the absence of CWC settlements in other regions reflect prehistoric reality or are mainly biased by the state of research and specific research strategies.

Contact finds indicating contemporaneity and coexistence of CWC with LN/EFN groups are known from a considerable number of sites all over central Europe (see the compilation by Furholt 2008, 20–27). As a conclusion, and in contrast to migrationist models, Furholt (2003a, 13-22, 25-26; 2003b, 124-30; 2004) has pointed out that the early CWC evolved as a super-regional semiotic network that coexisted with persisting regional traditions. Similarly, C. Strahm argued that the CWC was a novel social and ideological concept based on a combination of elements from different regional groups and, once established, had a transformative effect on neighbouring groups (Strahm 2010, 321-23). The presence of CWC domestic pottery in the surprisingly young LN/EFN context at Burgerroth clearly supports these ideas. CWC innovations were not adopted as a "cultural package", but taken up selectively, while at the same time the community still held on to LN/EFN traditions.

The latest aDNA analyses (Furtwängler et al. 2020) at first glance seem to contradict this model. They suggest that genetic impact from eastern Europe first appeared during the first half of the third millennium BC in southwestern central Europe, which obviously fits well with the emergence of the CWC. In fact, the CWC did appear earlier in the east than in the west (Furholt 2003b, 118-24), which also would give room for migrations. A closer look, however, shows that there is no need to turn back to "steppe invasion" models. Genetic data also indicate that the newcomers from the east did not replace the local population right away, but that both genetic lineages slowly mixed over the course of several centuries. Migrant groups from the east might have been a major element in spreading the CWC, but they did not immediately replace the local populations. This again accords well with the archaeological record as described above: at sites like Burgerroth, CWC elements occurred within a cultural context that held on to LN/EFN traditions until the mid third millennium. Immigrant groups neither completely replaced native populations nor did CWC innovations completely supersede regional cultural traditions.

³ Botanical analysis courtesy of Christoph Herbig, Rodenbach.

References

- Behrens, H. and Schröter, E. 1980. Siedlungen und Gräber der Trichterbecherkultur und Schnurkeramik bei Halle (Saale). Veröffentlichungen des Landesmuseums für Vorgeschichte Halle 34. Berlin: Deutscher Verlag der Wissenschaften.
- Beigel, R. and Nadler, M. 2013. Ein Stützpunkt spätneolithischer Rindernomaden? Die Grabenanlage mit Grubenhäusern bei Gollhofen, Landkreis Neustadt a.d. Aisch-Bad Windsheim, Mittelfranken. Das Archäologische Jahr in Bayern 2013, 40–42.
- Beran, J. 1999. Schnurkeramische Kultur. In J. Preuß (ed.), Das Neolithikum in Mitteleuropa. Kulturen – Wirtschaft – Umwelt vom 6. bis 3. Jahrtausend v. u. Z. Übersichten zum Stand der Forschung, 95–106; plates 85–96; map 9. Weissbach: Beier & Beran.
- Bergmann, C. 2008. Grubenhaus? Kellergrube? Oder...?
 Ein michelsbergzeitlicher Baubefund aus Hattersheim am Main. In F. Falkenstein, S. Schade-Lindig and A.
 Zeeb-Lanz (eds), Kumpf, Kalotte, Pfeilschaftglätter.
 Zwei Leben für die Archäologie: Gedenkschrift für Annemarie Häußer und Helmut Spatz, 37–46. Rahden: Marie Leidorf.

Bersu, G. 1937. Altheimer Wohnhäuser vom Goldberg, OA. Neresheim, Württemberg. *Germania* 21, 149–58.

- Billamboz, A. and Schlichtherle, H. 1985. Les gaines de hache en bois de cerf dans le Néolithique du sud-ouest de l'Allemagne. Contribution à l'histoire de l'emmanchement de la hache au nord des Alpes. In H. Camps-Fabrer (ed.), L'industrie en os et bois de cervidé durant le Néolithique et l'âge des métaux: troisième réunion du Groupe de travail no. 3 sur l'industrie de l'os préhistorique, Aix-en-Provence, 26, 27, 28 octobre 1983, 162–89. Paris: Editions du Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique.
- Bleckmann, C. 2006. Eguisheim und Burnhaupt-le-Bas – zwei schnurkeramische Siedlungen im Elsaß und ihre Stellung im Endneolithikum der südlichen Oberrheinebene. *Archäologische Informationen* 29, 211–20.
- Bleicher, N. 2009. Altes Holz in neuem Licht.
 Archäologische und dendrochronologische
 Untersuchungen an spätneolithischen
 Feuchtbodensiedlungen in Oberschwaben. Berichte
 zu Ufer- und Moorsiedlungen Südwestdeutschlands V.
 Stuttgart: Theiss.

Boelicke, U. 1976/77. Das neolithische Erdwerk von Urmitz. *Acta Praehistorica et Archaeologica* 7/8, 73–121.

Bronk Ramsey, C. and Lee, S. 2013. Recent and planned developments of the program OxCal. *Radiocarbon* 55, 720–30.

Burger, I. 1988. Die Siedlung der Chamer Gruppe von Dobl, Gemeinde Prutting, Landkreis Rosenheim und ihre Stellung im Endneolithikum Mitteleuropas. Materialhefte zur Bayerischen Vorgeschichte Reihe A – Fundinventare und Ausgrabungsbefunde 56. Fürth: Grafische Werkstätte Graf.

Dirks, U. 2000. *Die Bernburger Kultur in Niedersachsen. Beiträge zur Archäologie in Niedersachsen 1.* Rahden: Marie Leidorf.

Dresely, V. 2004. Schnurkeramik und Schnurkeramiker im Taubertal. Forschungen und Berichte zur Vorund Frühgeschichte in Baden-Württemberg 81. Stuttgart: Theiss.

Drummer, C. 2022. Vom Kollektiv zum Individuum: Transformationsprozesse am Übergang vom 4. zum 3. Jahrtausend v. Chr. in der deutschen Mittelgebirgszone. Scales of Transformation 13. Leiden: Sidestone Press.

Dunne, J., Szilágyi, M., Casanova, E., Griffiths, S.,
Knowles, T., Evershed, R. and Hofmann, D. 2023.
The milky way: mobility and economy at the turn of the third millennium in southern central Europe. *Proceedings of the Prehistoric Society* 89, 23–50.

 Dürr, A., Müller, J., Riedmüller, A., Schulz, W., Seregély, T. and Tillmann, A. 2004. Die endneolithische Siedlung Voitmannsdorf, Lkr. Bamberg. Ergebnisse der Lehrund Forschungsgrabung 2001. *Journal of Neolithic Archaeology* 6, 1–34. DOI: 10.12766/jna.2004.8

Ehrich, R.W. and Pleslová-Štiková, E. 1968. *Homolka. An Eneolithic site in Bohemia. Monumenta Archaeologica 16.* Praha, Cambridge MA: Academia, Peabody Museum.

Eibl, F. and Raßhofer, G. 2015. Ein Grubenhaus und eine Bestattung der Altheimer Kultur von Niedertraubling, Lkr. Regensburg. In L. Husty and K. Schmotz (eds), *Vorträge des 33. Niederbayerischen Archäologentages*, 19–62. Rahden: Marie Leidorf.

Fehr, H. 1978. Becherzeitliche Häuser in der Gemarkung Ochtendung, Kreis Mayen-Koblenz. *Bonner Jahrbücher* 178, 93–110.

Fiedler, L. 1991. Eine befestigte Siedlung der Jungsteinzeit bei Wittelsberg, Kreis Marburg-Biedenkopf. *Denkmalpflege in Hessen* 1991, 23–27.

Fischer, C. 1998. Die urgeschichtliche Besiedlung von Neftenbach. Archäologie im Kanton Zürich 1995–1996, Berichte der Kantonsarchäologie Zürich 14, 177–94.

Fischer, U. 1981. Blick aus der Hessischen Senke auf Walternienburg-Bernburg. *Jahresschrift für mitteldeutsche Vorgeschichte* 63, 89–97.

Friederich, S. 2011. Bad Friedrichshall-Kochendorf und Heilbronn-Neckargartach. Studie zum mittelneolithischen Siedlungswesen im Mittleren Neckarland. Forschungen und Berichte zur Vorund Frühgeschichte in Baden-Württemberg 123. Stuttgart: Theiss. Friederich, S. and Jarecki, H. 2014. Eine

schnurkeramische Siedlung an der Westumfahrung (A 143) von Halle (Saale) bei Gimritz, Saalekreis. In T. Link and D. Schimmelpfennig (eds), *No future? Brüche und Ende kultureller Erscheinungen im Neolithikum. Kulturen – Siedlungen – Artefakte. Fokus Jungsteinzeit – Berichte der AG Neolithikum 4*, 161–71. Kerpen-Loogh: Welt und Erde.

Furholt, M. 2003a. Absolutchronologie und die Entstehung der Schnurkeramik. Journal of Neolithic Archaeology 5, 1–28. DOI:10.12766/jna.2003.7

Furholt, M. 2003b. Die absolutchronologische Datierung der Schnurkeramik in Mitteleuropa und Südskandinavien. Universitätsforschungen zur prähistorischen Archäologie 101. Bonn: Rudolf Habelt.

Furholt, M. 2004. Entstehungsprozesse der Schnurkeramik und das Konzept eines Einheitshorizontes. *Archäologisches Korrespondenzblatt* 34, 479–98.

Furholt, M. 2008. Erscheinungen asynchroner kultureller Entwicklungen am Übergang vom Spät- zum Endneolithikum in Mitteleuropa. Eine Untersuchung der Siedlungsfunde mit Schnurkeramik. In W. Dörfler and J. Müller (eds), Umwelt – Wirtschaft – Siedlungen im dritten vorchristlichen Jahrtausend: Internationale Tagung Kiel 4.–6. November 2005, 9–34. Neumünster: Wachholtz.

Furtwängler, A. [+18 others] and Krause, J. 2020. Ancient genomes reveal social and genetic structure of Late Neolithic Switzerland. *Nature Communications* 11, 1–11. DOI:10.1038/s41467-020-15560-x

Gnepf Horisberger, U., Deschler-Erb, S., Kühn, M.L. and Spörri, D. 2005. Die älteste Baarer Werkstatt? Das schnurkeramische Grubenhaus an der Früebergstrasse in Baar. *Tugium* 21, 115–37.

Gohlisch, T.H. 2006. Die Grabungsbefunde und die Keramik der endneolithischen Siedlung von Dietfurt a.d. Altmühl, Lkr. Neumarkt i.d. OPf. Archäologie am Main-Donau-Kanal 17. Rahden: Marie Leidorf.

Hafner, A. and Suter, P.J. 2003. Das Neolithikum in der Schweiz. *Journal of Neolithic Archaeology* 5, 1–75. DOI:10.12766/jna.2003.4

Hafner, A. and Suter, P.J. 2005. Neolithikum: Raum/Zeit-Ordnung und neue Denkmodelle. In P.J. Suter and M.
Ramstein (eds), *Fundberichte und Aufsätze. Chronique* archéologique et textes. Archäologie im Kanton Bern 6B, 431–98. Bern: Rub Media.

Harb, C. 2009. Mumpf AG-Kapf: Eine intensiv besiedelte Geländeterrasse am Rhein. *Jahrbuch Archäologie Schweiz* 92, 7–64.

Hardmeyer, B. 1992. Die Schnurkeramik in der Ost-Schweiz. In M. Buchvaldek (ed.), Die kontinentaleuropäischen Gruppen der Kultur mit Schnurkeramik. Schnurkeramik-Symposium 1990. Praehistorica 19, 179–87. Praha: Univerzita Karlova. Hardmeyer, B. 1993. Die Schnurkeramik. In E. Bleuer and B. Hardmeyer (eds), Zürich «Mozartstrasse». Neolithische und bronzezeitliche Ufersiedlungen. 3: Die neolithische Keramik. Zürcher Denkmalpflege Archäologische Monographien 18, 292–340. Egg: Fotorotar AG.

Hasenfratz, A. 1989. Ein Grubenhaus der Horgener Kultur vom Schlossberg bei Rudolfingen, Gemeinde Trüllikon (ZH). Jahrbuch der Schweizerischen Gesellschaft für Ur- und Frühgeschichte 72, 53–58.

Hasenfratz, A. and Schnyder, M. 1998. Das Seebachtal:
Eine archäologische und paläoökologische
Bestandesaufnahme. Archäologie im Thurgau 4.
Frauenfeld: Departement für Erziehung und Kultur
des Kantons Thurgau.

Hecht, D. 2007. Das schnurkeramische Siedlungswesen im südlichen Mitteleuropa. Eine Studie zu einer vernachlässigten Fundgattung im Übergang vom Neolithikum zur Bronzezeit. PhD dissertation, Universität Heidelberg. Accessible at: https://archiv. ub.uni-heidelberg.de/volltextserver/7313/

Hecht, D. 2008. Siedlungen der Schnurkeramik im südlichen Mitteleuropa. Siedlungsverteilung und Hausbau. In W. Dörfler and J. Müller (eds), Umwelt – Wirtschaft – Siedlungen im dritten vorchristlichen Jahrtausend: Internationale Tagung Kiel 4.–6. November 2005, 253–63. Neumünster: Wachholtz.

Hietkamp, K. and Hanöffner, A. 2005. Mühlheim an der Donau Stetten (Lkr. Tuttlingen). *Fundberichte aus Baden-Württemberg* 28, 61–67.

Höhn, B. 2002. Die Michelsberger Kultur in der Wetterau. Universitätsforschungen zur prähistorischen Archäologie 87. Bonn: Rudolf Habelt.

Janke, R. 1996. Prähistorische Funde aus Oberwinterthur. Archäologie im Kanton Zürich 1993–1994. Berichte der Kantonsarchäologie Zürich 13, 317–26.

Kegler, J.F. 2014. Schnurkeramische Reihenhäuser vs. Langhäuser der Aunjetitzer Kultur.
Siedlungsplatzkontinuität am Ende der ausgehenden Jungsteinzeit und der frühen Bronzezeit in Wennungen (Sachsen-Anhalt, Lkr. Burgenlandkreis).
In T. Link and D. Schimmelpfennig (eds), No future?
Brüche und Ende kultureller Erscheinungen im Neolithikum. Kulturen – Siedlungen – Artefakte. Fokus Jungsteinzeit – Berichte der AG Neolithikum 4, 173–85. Kerpen-Loogh: Welt und Erde.

Koch, J.K. 2014. Neolithische Kollektivgräber von Großeibstadt, Kr. Rhön-Grabfeld. In J. Müller (ed.), Denghoog – Großeibstadt – Rastorf. Frühe Monumentalität und soziale Differenzierung 5, 159–252. Bonn: Rudolf Habelt.

Küßner, M. 2019. Schnurkeramische Hausgrundrisse von Hardisleben, Lkr. Sömmerda. In H. Meller, S. Friederich, M. Küßner, H. Stäuble and R. Risch (eds), Siedlungsarchäologie des Endneolithikums und der frühen Bronzezeit: 11. Mitteldeutscher Archäologentag vom 18. bis 20. Oktober 2018 in Halle (Saale), 261–69. Halle a.d. Saale: Beier & Beran.

Lichter, C. 1993. Untersuchungen zu den Bauten des südosteuropäischen Neolithikums und Chalkolithikums. Internationale Archäologie 18. Buch am Erlbach: Marie Leidorf.

Limmer, B. 2010. Altheimzeitliche Siedlungs- und Hausstrukturen in Ostbayern sowie im westlichen Oberbayern und Schwaben – Ein Vergleich. In M. Chytráček, H. Gruber, J. Michálek, R. Sandner and K. Schmotz (eds), Archäologische Arbeitsgemeinschaft Ostbayern / West- und Südböhmen / Oberösterreich. 19. Treffen 17. bis 20. Juni 2009 in Prachatice. Fines Transire 19, 81–97. Rahden: Marie Leidorf.

Link, T. 2023. Same but different: cross-regional cultural entanglement during the first half of the 3rd millennium BC – a view from Franconia. In C. Heitz, M. Wunderlich, M. Hinz and M. Furholt (eds), *Rethinking Neolithic societies. New perspectives on social relations, political organization and cohabitation*, 221–45. Leiden: Sidestone Press.

Link, T. 2013. Neues vom Alten Berg – Untersuchungen auf einer spätneolithischen Höhensiedlung bei Burgerroth, Stadt Aub, Landkreis Würzburg, Unterfranken. *Das Archäologische Jahr in Bayern* 2013, 37–40.

Link, T. 2018. Eine mehrphasige Grabenanlage des 3. Jahrtausends v. Chr. in Burgerroth, Lkr.
Würzburg. In L. Husty, T. Link and J. Pechtl (eds), Neue Materialien des Bayerischen Neolithikums 2 – Tagung im Kloster Windberg vom 18. bis 20. November 2016.
Würzburger Studien zur Vor- und Frühgeschichtlichen Archäologie 3, 179–98. Würzburg: Würzburg University Press.

Link, T. and Herbig, C. 2016. Zwei endneolithische Grubenhäuser auf dem "Alten Berg" bei Burgerroth (Lkr. Würzburg, Unterfranken). In J. Pechtl, T. Link and L. Husty (eds), Neue Materialien des Bayerischen Neolithikums: Tagung im Kloster Windberg vom 21. bis 23. November 2014. Würzburger Studien zur Vor- und Frühgeschichtlichen Archäologie 2, 99–126. Würzburg: Würzburg University Press.

Lüning, J. 1996. Erneute Gedanken zur Benennung der neolithischen Perioden. *Germania* 74, 233–37.

Lüning, J. 1999. Ein Grubenhaus der Bernburger Kultur aus Schwanfeld, Landkreis Schweinfurt. In F.-R. Herrmann (ed.), Festschrift für Günter Smolla. Materialien zur Vor- und Frühgeschichte von Hessen 8, 415–69. Wiesbaden: Landesamt für Denkmalpflege Hessen.

Matuschik, I. 1990. Die neolithische Besiedlung in Riekofen-"Kellnerfeld" – Beiträge zur Kenntnis *des Spätneolithikums im südlichen Bayern*. PhD dissertation, Freiburg University. Accessible on microfiche.

Matuschik, I. 1991. Grabenwerke des Spätneolithikums in Süddeutschland. *Fundberichte aus Baden-Württemberg* 16, 27–55.

Matuschik, I. 1999. Riekofen und die Chamer Kultur Bayerns. In H. Schlichtherle and M. Strobel (eds), Aktuelles zu Horgen – Cham – Goldberg III – Schnurkeramik in Süddeutschland. Rundgespräch Hemmenhofen 26. Juni 1998. Hemmenhofener Skripte 1, 69–97. Freiburg i.Br.: Janus.

Matuschik, I. and Schlichtherle, H. 2009. Zeitgenossen des Gletschermannes in Baden-Württemberg 3400–2800 v. Chr. Archäologische Informationen aus Baden-Württemberg 56. Esslingen: Landesamt für Denkmalpflege Baden-Württemberg.

Mottet, M., Haller, A.-L.G., Haller, M. and Giozza, G. 2011. Les bâtiments semi-enterrés de Bramois. Un habitat du Néolithique final en Valais (Suisse): Archaeologia Vallesiana 8. Lausanne: Cahiers d'Archéologie Romande.

Nagel, A. 2001. Die Siedlung der Chamer Kultur von Köfering-"Kelleräcker", Lkr. Regensburg. In T.H. Gohlisch and L. Reisch (eds), *Die Stellung der* endneolithischen Chamer Kultur in ihrem räumlichen und zeitlichen Kontext: Erlangen 26.–28.3.1999, 3–9. Büchenbach: Dr. Faustus.

Pechtl, J. and Möslein, S. 2020. Angekratzt – Kirche, Friedhof und ein Grubenhaus des späten Neolithikums in Chieming-"Markstatt", Lkr. Traunstein, Oberbayern. In L. Husty, T. Link and J. Pechtl (eds), Neue Materialien des Bayerischen Neolithikums 3: Tagung im Kloster Windberg vom 16. bis 18. November 2018. Würzburger Studien zur Vor- und Frühgeschichtlichen Archäologie 6, 231–53. Würzburg: Würzburg University Press.

Pescheck, C. 1976. Ein Siedlungsfund der Bernburger Kultur aus Nordbayern. *Jahresschrift für mitteldeutsche Vorgeschichte* 60, 201–03.

Pleslová-Štiková, E. 1972. Eneolitické osídelní v Lysolajích u Prahy: Die äneolithische Besiedlung in Lysolaje bei Prag. *Památky Archeologické* 63, 3–141.

Pleslová-Štiková, E. 1981. Chronologie und Siedlungsformen der Řivnáč-Kultur und Kugelamphorenkultur Böhmens. *Jahresschrift für mitteldeutsche Vorgeschichte* 63, 159–71.

- Podborský, V. 1993. Pravěké dějiny Moravy: Die Vorgeschichte Mährens. Vlastivěda moravská země a lid nová řada 3. Brno: Muzejní a Vlastivědná Společnost.
- Primas, M., Della Casa, P., Jochum Zimmermann, E. and Huber, R. 2004. *Ur- und frühgeschichtliche*

Siedlungen im Alpenrheintal (Kanton St. Gallen, Schweiz) II. Bronzezeit, Kupferzeit, Mesolithikum. Universitätsforschungen zur prähistorischen Archäologie 108. Bonn: Rudolf Habelt.

- Raetzel-Fabian, D. 2001. Anmerkungen zur Interpretation von ¹⁴C-Daten. In J. Czebreszuk and J. Müller (eds), *Die absolute Chronologie in Mitteleuropa 3000–2000 v. Chr. Studien zur Archäologie in Ostmitteleuropa 1*, 11–23. Rahden: Marie Leidorf.
- Reimer, P.J. [+24 others] and van der Plicht, J. 2013. IntCal13 and Marine13 radiocarbon age calibration curves 0–50,000 years cal BP. *Radiocarbon* 55, 1869–87.

Riedhammer, K., Schmotz, K. and Wandling, W. 1999. Zwei ungewöhnliche Siedlungsbefunde des mittleren Neolithikums im östlichen Niederbayern. In K. Schmotz (ed.), Vorträge des 17. Niederbayerischen Archäologentages, 15–53.
Rahden: Marie Leidorf.

- Schlichtherle, H. 1999. Die Goldberg III Gruppe in Oberschwaben. In H. Schlichtherle and M. Strobel (eds), Aktuelles zu Horgen – Cham – Goldberg III – Schnurkeramik in Süddeutschland. Rundgespräch Hemmenhofen 26. Juni 1998. Hemmenhofener Skripte 1, 35–48. Freiburg i.Br.: Janus.
- Schlichtherle, H. 2018. Abgerollt: Zur sogenannten "Mattenrauhung" auf Keramik der endneolithischen Goldberg III-Gruppe. In L. Husty, T. Link and J. Pechtl (eds), Neue Materialien des Bayerischen Neolithikums 2 – Tagung im Kloster Windberg vom 18. bis 20. November 2016. Würzburger Studien zur Vor- und Frühgeschichtlichen Archäologie 3, 155–77. Würzburg: Würzburg University Press.
- Schlichtherle, H., Joachim, W. and Stephan, E. 2009. Eine endneolithische Siedlung im Neckartal bei Stuttgart-Hofen. Archäologische Ausgrabungen in Baden-Württemberg 2008, 40–45.

Schönfeld, G. 2001. Bau- und Siedlungsstrukturen der Altheimer Kulturgruppe – Ein Vergleich zwischen Feuchtboden- und Mineralbodensiedlungen. In K. Schmotz (ed.), Vorträge des 19. Niederbayerischen Archäologentags, 17–62. Rahden: Marie Leidorf.

Schußmann, M. 2016. Neue Gräber der schnurkeramischen Kultur zwischen Taubertal und Steigerwald. Bericht der Bayerischen Bodendenkmalpflege 57, 41–99.

Seidel, U. 2008. Michelsberger Erdwerke im Raum Heilbronn. Neckarsulm-Obereisesheim "Hetzenberg", Ilsfeld "Ebene", Landkreis Heilbronn und Heilbronn-Klingenberg "Schlossberg", Stadtkreis Heilbronn. Materialhefte zur Archäologie in Baden-Württemberg 81. Stuttgart: Theiss. Seregély, T. 2008. Wattendorf-Motzenstein: eine schnurkeramische Siedlung auf der Nördlichen Frankenalb. Studien zum dritten vorchristlichen Jahrtausend in Nordbayern. In T. Seregély (ed.), Endneolithische Siedlungsstrukturen in Oberfranken I. Universitätsforschungen zur prähistorischen Archäologie 154, 13–531. Bonn: Rudolf Habelt.

Seregély, T. 2012. Die Rothensteine bei Stübig. Felsturmopferplatz und schnurkeramische Steilhangsiedlung. In F. Falkenstein (ed.), Hohler Stein, Rothensteine und Jungfernhöhle. Archäologische Forschungen zur prähistorischen Nutzung naturheiliger Plätze auf der Nördlichen Frankenalb, 44–55. Scheinfeld: Universität Würzburg.

Spennemann, D.R. 1984. Burgerroth. Eine spätneolithische Höhensiedlung in Unterfranken. British Archaeological Reports International Series 219. Oxford: BAR.

Spennemann, D.R. 1985. Zum Einfluß der Bernburger Kultur auf das späte Jungneolithikum in Mainfranken und dem Untermaingebiet. *Jahresschrift für Mitteldeutsche Vorgeschichte* 68, 131–55.

Strahm, C. 2010. Endneolithische Siedlungsmuster. In I. Matuschik, C. Strahm, B. Eberschweiler, G. Fingerlin, A. Hafner, M. Kinsky, M. Mainberger and G. Schöbel (eds), Vernetzungen. Aspekte siedlungsarchäologischer Forschung: Festschrift für Helmut Schlichtherle zum 60. Geburtstag, 317–30. Freiburg i.Br.: Janus.

Suter, P.J. 1987. Zürich, "Kleiner Hafner". Tauchgrabungen 1981–1984. Berichte der Zürcher Denkmalpflege Monographien 3. Zürich: O. Füssli.

- Torres-Blanco, M. 1994. Bernburger Kultur (BeK). In H.-J. Beier and R. Einicke (eds), Das Neolithikum im Mittelelbe-Saale-Gebiet und in der Altmark. Eine Übersicht und ein Abriß zum Stand der Forschung. Beiträge zur Ur- und Frühgeschichte Mitteleuropas 4, 159–77. Willkau-Hasslau: Beier & Beran.
- Vogt, S. 2000. Der spätneolithische / kupferzeitliche Siedlungsplatz Castaneda-Pian del Remit. In
 P. Della Casa (ed.), Mesolcina praehistorica: Mensch und Naturraum in einem Bündner
 Südalpental vom Mesolithikum bis in römische Zeit. Universitätsforschungen zur prähistorischen Archäologie 67, 97–111. Bonn: Rudolf Habelt.
- von Schnurbein, S. 2009. Atlas der Vorgeschichte: Europa von den ersten Menschen bis Christi Geburt. Stuttgart: Theiss.
- Walter, D. 1991. Das jungneolithische Erdwerk von Großobringen, Kr. Weimar. Ergebnisse der Ausgrabungen 1959–1962. *Alt-Thüringen* 26, 7–56.

- Wüstehube, V. 1996. Das Grubenhaus in Deutschland, Dänemark und den Niederlanden. Seine Entwicklung vom Neolithikum bis zur Merowingerzeit. Unpublished PhD thesis, Universität Frankfurt.
- Zápotocký, M. and Kudrnáč, J. 2008. Eneolitický sídlištní a pohřební areál v Klučově - "Na vrchu". Přísěvek k periodizaci řivnáčské kultury. *Památky Archeologické* 94, 35–92.
- Zápotocký, M. and Zápotocká, M. 2008. Kutná Hora-Denemark. Hradiště řivnáčské kultury (ca 3000–2800 př.

Kr): Kutná Hora-Denemark. Ein Burgwall der Řivnáč-Kultur (ca. 3000–2800 v. Chr.). Památky Archeologické Supplementum 18. Praha: Archeologický Ústav Akad. Věd České Republiky.

Zeeb, A. 1996. Der neue Siedlungstyp: Frühjungneolithische Dorfanlagen in Südwestdeutschland. In H.-J. Beier (ed.), Studien zum Siedlungswesen im Jungneolithikum. Beiträge zur Ur- und Frühgeschichte Mitteleuropas 10, 111–18. Weißbach: Beier & Beran.

Networks at the turn of the millennium — the situation in northern Bavaria

Martin Nadler

Abstract

For thousands of years, northern Bavaria and especially Middle Franconia was in a contact zone between a large western European and the old Danubian communication area. This can also be observed in the materials of the late fourth millennium BC, which show elements from various neighbouring cultural phenomena. Despite the generally very small number of finds, influences from and references to sometimes distant cultural areas can be observed on the basis of typical features of the time in building and settlement forms, elements of grave construction and the spiritual world. The region was well integrated into the long-distance networks of the late fourth millennium and thus offered favourable conditions for the adoption of the Corded Ware and Bell Beaker elements that dominated the third millennium.

Keywords: Late Neolithic, settlement, long-distance exchange, anthropomorphic stelae, petroglyphs

The fourth millennium BC in northern Bavaria and especially its latter part is one of the darker chapters in southern German prehistory. The number of known sites, let alone excavations for this period, is still extremely limited. Nevertheless, based on the groups of finds and features mentioned below, it can be stated that this geographical area was in line with wider trends and was integrated into supra-regional developments.

As already shown elsewhere (Nadler 2022), the northern Bavarian area is characterised throughout the Neolithic by a strong connection to western cultural phenomena and emerges as a boundary zone within a supra-regional, Mediterranean–western European communication area. During the first half of the fourth millennium, this clear western orientation is reflected in distinctive long-distance trade products and their distribution, such as Rijckholt flint or western Alpine jadeite axes (Nadler 2022, 58–59). Northern Bavaria is part of the large Michelsberg koinë (Nadler 2023a) (Figure 1) at this time. From general considerations, the groups of import finds mentioned can largely be assigned to this period, even if they are almost entirely stray finds without context.

Unlike in southern Bavaria, after the end of Michelsberg, which is also only partially understood, there is a clear gap in knowledge in northern Bavaria. The few datable objects and sites belong to the end of the fourth millennium (Figure 2). Admittedly, there



Figure 1. Distribution of Michelsberg culture sites in northern Bavaria (map: U. Maaß, FAU, based on a draft by M. Nadler; geodata: Jarvis *et al*. 2008).



are a large number of bifacial dagger- and sickle-like flint implements of Late and Final Neolithic character as stray finds in the old settlement landscapes frequented more intensively by modern-day collectors, but these cannot be used further for developing a fine chronology. At least they indicate that the area was probably not as depopulated as it seems at first glance. Thomas Link has dealt with the essential settlement-related and chronological aspects in detail in his article for this volume, which is why only selected additional aspects and considerations will be presented and discussed below.

Various petroglyphic monuments have recently been named as evidence of participation in the supra-regional spiritual world. This concerns a well-known group of finds, the so-called "Zeichensteine" of the middle Regnitz valley (Figures 3-4; location: Figure 2.2). Their first complete presentation in the archaeological literature (Hennig 1970, 25-30) was still based on the traditional view that these objects dated from the Late Bronze Age to the Hallstatt period. In the meantime, it has been shown that these must be stone monuments of Late Neolithic origin incorporated secondarily into Metal Age burial monuments and that they exhibit a pan-European canon of motifs (Nadler 2011). It was possible to document that the representations on the stone slabs have analogies in various regions from central Germany via Hesse/Westphalia to the western Alps (Nadler 2011; see also Vierzig 2017, 70-71 cat. no. 8.15). The new date of these petroglyphic monuments to the Late Neolithic throws a surprising light on the northern Bavarian region, for which, as mentioned above, hardly any finds can be identified from the second half of the fourth and the beginning of the third millennium BC (Link, this volume).

Among the ornamented stone slabs there is a group that can be regarded as anthropomorphic representations, reduced to the extreme. The motif of the multiple collar garland (Figure 4.1.3.4) is represented a few times, once even with the characteristic nose line (Figure 3), which appears in different variants in many areas of central and western Europe on corresponding representations or stelae of the fourth to third millennium BC. In the relevant literature, it is commonly associated with the so-called "dolmen goddess" (e.g. Behrens et al. 1956, 31-34 with fig. 5; Müller 2001). The motif is directly reminiscent of the facial representation on the wellknown menhir stela from Pfützthal, Saalekreis, whose connection to a western European pictorial tradition has been repeatedly emphasised (Behrens et al. 1956, 41-43; Müller 1991, 25; Vierzig 2017, 71). As is well known, this group of monuments also includes the human figure from Schafstädt, district of Merseburg (Müller 2001), whose belt depiction can also be found on several of the Zeichensteineslabs and thus stylistically places them "in a European context" (Vierzig 2017, 71).

Another group of Zeichensteine shows what is known as the so-called cross-band (Figure 4.2), an X-shaped motif which recent research has convincingly interpreted as a "sign of female identity" (Schlichtherle 2006, 127-30; 2010, 275-76, most recently Vierzig 2017, 95-96). This motif, which is based on the female anatomy, appears on one of the two stelae from the Hallstatt period burial ground in Rottenburg (Reim 1988, 28-29). I. Matuschik and H. Schlichtherle have meanwhile rightly established the Copper Age origin of these monuments (Matuschik and Schlichtherle 2009, 39-40). Above all, the cross-band can be seen on various stelae and statue menhirs in the Alpine region, where the female connotation is often further highlighted through the addition of modelled breasts, as was also the case in the much older wall paintings from a burnt house in Ludwigshafen-Seehalde (Schlichtherle 2014, 120-23). Special reference can be made to the small stela from the impressive megalithic complex of Lutry in the canton of Vaud (Schlichtherle 2014, 130), which is also very similar to our Zeichensteine in its dimensions. Overall, the cross-band appears in the same regions and contexts as the figures with collar and belt depictions already described.

In addition to these anthropomorphic motifs, a large number of the Zeichensteine bear engraved carpet-like patterns consisting of combinations of ornamental bands in the form of herringbone decoration, wavy lines or ladder bands, as can be found, for example, in the stone cist from the Dölauer Heide in central Germany. This stone tomb, constructed from large rectangular slabs (Behrens et al. 1956; Müller 1991, 20-21; Schrickel 1957, catalogue entries 85-91) occupies a special position among the Copper Age burial structures in central Europe. The interior of the tomb was completely ornamented; the patterns were either pecked or, fortunately, preserved in painted form. In this richly decorated burial chamber, the all-over zigzag or wavy line ornamentation, as well as multiple combinations of herringbone and ladder bands, exhibits close analogies to the pictorial material of the Zeichensteine, in particular the slabs from the burial mound of Mark-Forst (Figure 4.5.8).

Another richly decorated burial chamber, which is also displayed in the Halle Museum today, is the burial chamber of Leuna-Göhlitzsch, which was uncovered in 1750 and was already well documented and published at this time (Müller 1991, 20–21; 2001; Schrickel 1957, catalogue entries 91–96). The interior decoration of this tomb is extraordinarily rich and diverse. The depictions are obviously intended to show wall hangings and decorations as well as equipment hanging on the walls, i.e. the interior of a house. Numerous analogies to the ornamental bands of the *Zeichensteine* can be found in the carpet patterns, again in pecked but also painted versions.



Figure 3. Ornamented slab from a cist grave near Gosberg, district of Forchheim (after Nadler 2011, fig. 16).



Figure 4. Selection of so-called *Zeichensteine* from the central Regnitz valley. Gosberg: numbers 1, 3, 4, 6 and 7; Mark-Forst: numbers 2, 5 and 8 (after Nadler 2023b, fig. 1).



Figure 5. The statue menhir from Gallmersgarten, district of Neustadt a.d. Aisch-Bad Windsheim. Height 110 cm (photo: F. Wagner).

Among the representations in this burial chamber, the double reflex bow with the associated quiver hanging on the northern wall of the chamber deserves attention. Depictions of bows are not very common, but I would like to go so far as to see at least one stone in Gosberg (Figure 4.6) as showing a greatly abstracted depiction of such a weapon. This motif provides a link to the stelae and statue menhirs of the Alpine region, where the simple as well as the reflex bow are repeatedly depicted as male attributes, particularly on the figures from Sion, but also on the related stelae from Aosta (Bocksberger 1966, 31; De Marinis 1995, 217; Harrison and Heyd 2007, 160-61; Vierzig 2017, 108). On the other hand, there is a surprising similarity between the bow and quiver depiction at Göhlitzsch and a depiction in a megalithic tomb from Klady in the western foothills of the Caucasus (Schunke 2013; Schwarz 2021, 403–04). How the contacts between these three distant regions could have functioned remains to



Figure 6. The stela from Birkach, district of Rothenburg o.d. Tauber. Height 105 cm (© S. Friedrich, Archaeological State Collection Munich).

be researched, but underlying common ideas are evident (see also Hansen 2018, 283–85). Furthermore, one of the *Zeichensteine* bears a fork-shaped motif (Nadler 2011, 202) (Figure 4.7), which is commonly interpreted as an abstract depiction of cattle and is known to be widespread in Copper Age Europe (Günther 1990, 52–54).

These monuments already illustrate how the northern Bavarian region at the end of the fourth millennium was connected to partly far away regions of Europe, especially western and western Alpine Europe, through similar images. Subsequently, a new find, secured by fortunate coincidence, has further complemented this picture. This is the statue menhir from Gallmersgarten (Figure 5; location: Figure 2.5), which has already been presented in several short preliminary reports (Nadler 2015; 2019b).

The figure consists of a very hard, fine-grained block of sandstone measuring about $110 \times 30 \times 20$ cm, which has been very accurately shaped into a flat bloc of rectangular



Figure 7. Comparison of the heads of the figures from Gallmersgarten (width of head 23 cm) and Birkach (width of head 25 cm) (photos: M. Nadler, F. Wagner).

cross-section with rounded edges. The front and back have been trimmed and oriented at a slight angle to the layering of the block. This trimming did not follow the stone's natural layers and thus this stela represents the oldest fully sculpted stonemasonry work to date in southern Germany. A semi-circular head section is carefully shaped over distinct shoulders. The highly stylised face has been created by pecking out a horseshoe- or heart-shaped indentation, in which the nose was left as a bridge, while eye holes and a narrow mouth line are pecked in. Other body parts are not shown, but may originally have been painted on.

The stela from Gallmersgarten is an outstanding representative of the group of stone anthropomorphic figures which were widespread in various areas of Europe between the Iberian peninsula and the Eurasian steppes at the end of the fourth millennium — sometimes with several dozen specimens in even a small region (Vierzig 2017). From the region north of the Alps, only few examples had been previously known: the already mentioned figures of Schafstädt and Pfützthal in Saxony-Anhalt, whose



Figure 8. Großeibstadt, district of Rhön-Grabfeld, grave II (modified after Koch 2014, 248).

stylistic connection to the western European/western Alpine world was beyond question from the beginning (Müller 1991, 25; Schrickel 1957, 52), as well as the already mentioned specimens from Rottenburg am Neckar. They had all been found in secondary contexts, as building material in younger burial monuments (Nadler 2011, 206–06; Vierzig 2017, 143–44). On all of them, however, the representations of facial contours, arms or various attributes are executed in the form of scratched or pecked lines. They consist of roughly trimmed stone slabs with a rather irregular outline.

Figures with plastic, mask-like faces and threedimensionally worked bodies were previously unknown in this area. These features connect the Gallmersgarten find with the well-known statues in southern France and in the Ligurian hinterland, where there are real landscapes of stelae with dozens of corresponding figures (Vierzig 2017, 42–43, 63–64). In the course of studying this stela, renewed attention was also accorded to a figure that had been known for a long time, but had lain neglected in a museum cellar for decades (Figure 6). At the time of its discovery it was situated in the foundation of an eighteenth century house in the hamlet of Birkach, which is only a few kilometres away from Gallmersgarten, and it has a secondary Baroque inscription. When it was first described in 1968, H. Dannheimer tried to explain it as a possible Hallstatt period grave marker, probably under the influence of the then recent sensational finds of the warrior from Hirschlanden and the figures from Tübingen-Kilchberg (Dannheimer 1969, 47–48). The possible existence of (Late) Neolithic stone sculptures in southern Germany was inconceivable at the time.

If one disregards the surface of the Birkach stela, as it was more severely damaged due to being made from a different type of sandstone, the stylistic similarity of



Figure 9. Examples of trapezoidal Late Neolithic so-called stone and walled chambers ("*Stein- und Mauerkammern*"). 1 Burgbernheim; 2 Rottenburg a. Neckar; 3 Neckarwestheim; 4 Oedheim-Degmarn (after Nadler 2022, fig. 8).



Figure 10. Distribution of so-called "sub-megalithic" monuments in southern and central Germany. 1 Großeibstadt; 2 Burgbernheim; 3 Gaubüttelbronn (M. Nadler, based on a map by Matuschik and Schlichtherle 2009, 41).





its face to that on the Gallmersgarten stela is undeniable (Figure 7). The two figures presumably mark the endpoints of a distinctive pass crossing the main European watershed, which reaches its northernmost point here and separates the catchment area of the Danube from that of the Main-Rhine river system — this region therefore functioned as a hub between the large western European and Danube communication areas for thousands of years (Nadler 2022, 61). In the Main-Franconian area there is further evidence of a western orientation, so that this area can be understood as a fringe zone of the "megalithic" world of ideas, or at least as clearly influenced by it.

Another key piece of evidence for this connection is the small group of grave constructions from Großeibstadt (Figure 8; location: Figures 2.1 and 10.1) (Koch 2014). The site is geographically half-way between a group of such monuments in central Germany and one in south-west Germany. Several small constructions with a trapezoidal layout are known from the latter area, such as those in Oedheim-Degmarn, Neckarwestheim and others (Figure 9), whose relationship and formal similarity with Großeibstadt has already been pointed out several times (Koch 2014, 229–30; Löhlein 1998, 206–07; Matuschik 2009, 85–86). Some of them are definitely funerary monuments, for the rest this can be assumed with high probability.

In the area of a large-scale rescue excavation in a gypsum quarry near Burgbernheim (Figure 2.6), a small post-built ground plan has recently come to light, which can be compared to some of these south-west German structures in terms of shape and size (Figure 9.1; location: Figure 10.2). Although there was no verifiable burial, the small amounts of bone fragments and a few cremation splinters from the area of the complex could perhaps serve as an indication of the site's possible function within burial events. Two stone cists of megalithic design from Gaubüttelbrunn, district of Würzburg (location: Figure 10.3), which have hitherto only been published as short notes (Bayerisches Landesamt für Denkmalpflege 1986, 40; 2006, 232) and whose further scientific study is eagerly awaited, could possibly also be seen in this context. Therefore, in northern Bavaria at the end of the fourth millennium, there are several finds that offer a glimpse as to the otherwise hard to characterise burial system of this time, albeit with some reservations and without being able to definitely elucidate their function.

Things do not look much better in terms of settlements. The most prominent place is of course the Altenberg near Burgerroth (Figures 2–3), which T. Link covers in detail in his article in this volume, together with the few more informative sites in northern Bavaria. Another settlement feature was discovered a few years ago just a few kilometres east of Burgerroth during the development of a commercial area near Gollhofen (Figure 2.4). It is a small ring palisade (Figure 11) with four square pit huts of Late Neolithic type (see Link, this volume). This is currently the only fully excavated Late Neolithic settlement from northern Bavaria (Beigel and Nadler 2014; Nadler 2019a, 704–05). Due to its special nature, the enclosure, and especially the pit huts, were examined and documented



Figure 12. Gollhofen, district of Neustadt a.d. Aisch-Bad Windsheim. Pit hut no. 22 from the Late Neolithic palisade enclosure with depiction of the finds from the floor (drawing: R. Beigel).

in as much detail as possible (Figure 12). On the whole, they resembled the well-known feature from Schwanfeld (Lüning 1999). Despite the greatest care, the number of finds remained extremely low (Figure 13a–b), causing problems for the typo-chronological assessment. The pierced canid tooth (Figure 13b.2), the small bone chisel (Figure 13b.1), individual sherds with broom-roughened surface (Figure 13b.5) or the flint implements made mainly of tabular chert (*Plattenhornstein*) (Figure 13a) can be regarded as typical of the time. A large part of the flint tools were made on Arnhofen and especially Baiersdorf variants from the Danube region near Kelheim. The barrel-shaped vessel (Figure 13b.3) fits into the range of pottery found at Schwanfeld and Burgerroth (Lüning 1999; Spennemann 1985). Comparisons for the cup (Figure 13b.4) can be found in nearby Thuringia, for example in the Bernburg complex of Großobringen (Walter 1991, fig. 7.2).



Since the chronology of the find material could be only roughly established through typological means, the only way out was to determine the age scientifically. In order not to sacrifice the few classifiable botanical remains, ¹⁴C dates were obtained on charcoal, with samples in each hut taken from the infill and directly from the floor or the shallow hollows which, similar to Schwanfeld (Lüning 1999), were found in the side walls of two huts. However, these are not centrally located rounded depressions, as often documented elsewhere (see Link, this volume). There was also no evidence of a fireplace. A few shallow traces of posts at the edges or just outside the outline of the pit are likely to be from a light, tent-like superstructure.

Fortunately, despite the limitations of charcoal dates, the results from the four huts show a fairly coherent picture (Figure 14). Even if the dates fall on a known plateau in the calibration curve, and also considering the dates from Burgerroth, one could cautiously suggest that such hut structures were built in the region for at least



Figure 14. Gollhofen, district of Neustadt a.d. Aisch-Bad Windsheim. Radiocarbon dates from the pit huts of the Late Neolithic palisade enclosure, 2 σ range (chart: R. Beigel).

half a millennium (see Link, this volume). The question of whether the four huts at Gollhofen were in use at the same time or were created in the course of repeated use naturally remains unanswered.

Similarly, the function or purpose of the Gollhofen pit huts also remains unclear. They seem rather unsuitable to form the main dwellings or storage features of societies practising a broad-based agricultural economy, especially since no storage or animal penning is possible or recognisable in these small buildings, a circumstance that G. Bersu already pointed out when presenting the Goldberg houses (Bersu 1937, 157). In my opinion, these are probably outbuildings for a variety of craft functions or activities in the area of a larger farmstead.

In this context, the southern interior of the palisade complex at Gollhofen is interesting, as a number of small post traces could be recognised, examined and documented by the excavators. However, given their rudimentary preservation and difficulties of identification, they were interpreted very cautiously. For the present author, it now seems reasonably certain that these are the remains of a building of light construction and with a trapezoidal layout (Figure 11) (Nadler 2019a, 705). There is no directly comparable ground plan, but there is a certain similarity to the somewhat younger Bell Beaker period houses from Klobikau, Saalekreis (Balfanz et al. 2015) and other sites in Saxony-Anhalt (Fröhlich 2019). Particularly similar light constructions have been documented for five house plans from the Schleenhain open-cast mine, which are tentatively attributed to the Bell Beaker complex (Conrad et al. 2018, 43).

For the chronologically closer sphere of the Corded Ware culture, a whole series of ground plans have been presented in recent years, including in central Germany, which show a completely different layout with a complex internal structure and changing numbers of bays within the building (as summarised in Friederich 2019). In order to bring more clarity to the formal structural development of Calibrated date (calBC)

this period, it will probably be worthwhile to look through older excavation plans lying dormant in the archives for possible building structures that have been overlooked up to now.

It should also be taken into account that in this period, construction methods that require no or only minor soil interventions are quite common. As examples, one can mention the contemporary houses and settlements of the south-west German Goldberg III group, which are only recognisable thanks to their preservation in wetlands (Schlichtherle 1999, 36–37), or the house locations in the Cham period settlement of Dietfurt an der Altmühl, which were determined only indirectly from the distribution of finds and hearths (Gohlisch 2001, 26–27).

The Gollhofen complex could therefore be something like an enclosed farmstead with one (or more?) main buildings and several functional outbuildings (namely the pit huts). However, the pronounced lack of finds indicates a rather short-term, marginal use, possibly as a seasonal, temporary base for a mobile, (partially) nomadic or transhumant population group. This is also indicated by the rather inconspicuous enclosure, which in its light and improvised appearance serves less as a fortification than as a cattle kraal, which was protected against wild animals by a fence made of thin sticks or brushwood.

Interestingly, its dimensions correspond to a number of small enclosures from the area of the southern Bavarian Cham culture, which have a comparable size and inner surface (Figure 15). Without being able to conclusively prove this at the current state of research, one could suggest that all these sites may have had a similar purpose as places of periodic and short-term use. Whether the Late Neolithic, presumably contemporary, fortified hilltop settlements such as Burgerroth, Goldberg and so on (see Link, this volume) are the corresponding central, permanently and densely populated places is



Figure 15. Small circular enclosures of the Cham culture. 1 Köfering-Scharwerkbreite; 2 Ergolding-Headham; 3 Hienheim; 4 Oberschneiding; 5 Obertraubling-Piesenkofen (after Nadler 2023a, fig. 17).

ultimately unclear, because the sometimes substantial accumulation of huts and other features in their interior may well be a palimpsest that reflects an unknown number of occupation phases.

As the situation in Burgerroth shows (see Link, this volume), Corded Ware elements are evidently adopted without any discernible cultural break. The new era manifests itself above all in the practice of the new, uniform, gender-differentiated single-grave custom. Groups of graves and regular grave areas (most recently Schussmann 2016) could be an indication of a stronger attachment to place.

Interestingly, quite a number of the few settlements in northern Bavaria that are definitely known to be Corded Ware are in defendable landscape positions or at higher altitudes (Nadler 2019a, 708). This is remarkable insofar as from the second half of the third millennium, with the increased appearance of the Bell Beaker complex, a structurally completely different settlement pattern emerges, which leads to the single farm structure of the Early Bronze Age, increasingly well documented at least for southern Germany. Obviously, at that time there was no longer any need or necessity to protect the farms and settlements in a conspicuous way (Nadler 2001, 45). Heights and sheltered locations are no longer chosen for settlement, and fortifications or other enclosures apparently no longer built — apart from the possibility of archaeologically undetectable markings or structural elements such as hedges, plants, and so on. Settlement activity has clearly shifted to the larger river valleys. On the extensive sandy areas in the foothills of the northern Franconian Jura, Bell Beaker sherds often indicate a pioneer occupation. Sites seem to reference the natural communication routes, as indicated by their location on the lower slopes and on the edges of lower terraces. A system of individual farmsteads with an associated group of graves is established. There were apparently no larger settlements, most of the sites are only indicated by a few surface finds.

As this article has shown, based on a few selected finds and features, the transition from the fourth to the third millennium BC in northern Bavaria is characterised by pronounced cross-regional connections in almost all spheres of life. These networks are likely to have significantly prepared and favoured the universal adoption and establishment of Corded Ware culture elements.

References

- Balfanz, K., Fröhlich, M. and Schunke T. 2015. Ein Siedlungsareal der Glockenbecherkultur mit Haugrundrissen bei Klobikau, Sachsen-Anhalt, Deutschland. In H. Meller, H.W. Arz, R. Jung and R. Risch (eds), 2200 BC – ein Klimasturz als Ursache für den Zerfall der Alten Welt? Tagungen des Landesmuseums für Vorgeschichte Halle 12, 747–63. Halle: Landesamt für Archäologie und Denkmalpflege Sachsen-Anhalt.
- Bayerisches Landesamt für Denkmalpflege, Abteilung Bodendenkmalpflege. 1986. Gaubüttelbrunn. Fundchronik für das Jahr 1986. *Bayerische Vorgeschichtsblätter, Beiheft* 2, 40.
- Bayerisches Landesamt für Denkmalpflege, Abteilung Bodendenkmalpflege. 2006. Gaubüttelbrunn. Fundchronik für die Jahre 2003/2004. *Bayerische Vorgeschichtsblätter, Beiheft* 18, 232.
- Behrens, H., Faßhauer, P. and Kirchner, H. 1956. Ein neues innenverziertes Steinkammergrab der Schnurkeramik aus der Dölauer Heide bei Halle (Saale). *Jahresschrift für Mitteldeutsche Vorgeschichte* 40, 13–50.
- Beier, H.-J. 1991. Die megalithischen, submegalithischen und pseudomegalithischen Bauten sowie die Menhire zwischen Ostsee und Thüringer Wald. Beiträge zur Urund Frühgeschichte Mitteleuropas 1. Wilkau-Haßlau: Beier & Beran.
- Beigel, R. and Nadler, M. 2014. Ein Stützpunkt spätneolithischer Rindernomaden? Eine Grabenanlage mit Grubenhäusern bei Gollhofen, Lkr. Neustadt a.d. Aisch-Bad Windsheim, Mittelfranken. Das Archäologische Jahr in Bayern 2013, 40–42.
- Bersu, G. 1937. Altheimer Wohnhäuser vom Goldberg, OA. Neresheim, Württemberg. *Germania* 21, 149–58.
- Bocksberger, O.J. 1966. Mise au point sur les découvertes préhistoriques du Petit-Chasseur à Sion (Valais). *Ur-Schweiz* 30, 21–36.
- Conrad, M., Schmalfuß, G. and Richter, K.-H. 2018. Vorbericht über ein endneolithisches Siedlungsareal im Tagebau Vereinigtes Schleenhain (SH-22). *Archaeo* 14, 43–48.

Dannheimer, H. 1969. Die Steinstele aus Birkach, Ldkr. Rothenburg o.d.T. (Mittelfranken) und verwandte Denkmäler aus Bayern. *Bayerische Vorgeschichtsblätter* 34, 41–54.

De Marinis, R.C. 1995. Le stele antropomorfe di Aosta. In S. Casini, C. Raffaele, R.C. De Marinis and A. Pedrotti (eds), Statue-stele e massi incise nell'Europa dell'Età del Rame. *Notizie Archeologiche Bergomensi* 3, 213–20.

Friederich, S. 2019. Schnurkeramische Siedlungen in Mitteldeutschland. In H. Meller, S. Friederich, M. Küßner, H. Stäuble and R. Risch (eds), Siedlungsarchäologie des Endneolithikums und der frühen Bronzezeit. Tagungen des Landesmuseums für Vorgeschichte Halle 20, 21–31. Halle: Landesamt für Archäologie und Denkmalpflege Sachsen-Anhalt.

Fröhlich, M. 2019. Siedlungsstrukturen der Glockenbecherkultur in Sachsen-Anhalt. In H. Meller, S. Friederich, M. Küßner, H. Stäuble and R. Risch (eds), Siedlungsarchäologie des Endneolithikums und der frühen Bronzezeit. Tagungen des Landesmuseums für Vorgeschichte Halle 20, 95–110. Halle: Landesamt für Archäologie und Denkmalpflege Sachsen-Anhalt.

Gohlisch, T.H. 2001. Bemerkungen zur Struktur der endneolithischen Siedlung Dietfurt a. d. Altmühl.
In T.H. Gohlisch and L. Reisch (eds), Die Stellung der endneolithischen Chamer Kultur in ihrem räumlichen und zeitlichen Kontext. Kolloquien des Instituts für Urund Frühgeschichte Erlangen 1, 20–34. Büchenbach: Dr. Faustus.

Günther, K. 1990. Neolithische Bildzeichen an einem ehemaligen Megalithgrab bei Warburg, Kreis Höxter (Westfalen). *Germania* 68, 39–65.

Hansen, S. 2018. Elements for an iconography of Bronze Age graves in Europe. In Ü. Yalçin (ed.), *Anatolian metal VIII. Der Anschnitt, Beiheft 39*, 281–93. Rahden: Marie Leidorf.

Hansen, S. and Renn, J. 2018. Technische und soziale Innovationen. In G. Graßhoff and M. Meyer (eds), *Innovationen der Antike*, 8–19. Darmstadt: Philipp von Zabern.

Harrison R. and Heyd, V. 2007. The transformation of Europe in the third millennium BC: the example of Le Petit-Chasseur I + III (Sion, Valais, Switzerland). *Prähistorische Zeitschrift* 82, 129–214.

 Hennig, H. 1970. Die Grab- und Hortfunde der Urnenfelderkultur aus Ober- und Mittelfranken.
 Materialhefte zur Bayerischen Vorgeschichte Heft 23.
 Kallmünz: Michael Lassleben.

Jarvis, A., Reuter, H.I., Nelson, A. and Guevara, E. 2008. Hole-filled seamless SRTM data V4. International Centre for Tropical Agriculture (CIAT). Available at http://srtm. csi.cgiar.org; http://ccm.jrc.ec.europa.eu/php/index. php?action=view&id=24

Koch, J.K. 2014. Neolithische Kollektivgräber von Großeibstadt, Kr. Rhön-Grabfeld. In J. Müller (ed.), Denghoog – Großeibstadt – Rastorf. Studien zu neolithischen Gräbern und Häusern. Frühe Monumentalität und soziale Differenzierung 5, 159–252. Bonn: Rudolf Habelt.

Küßner, M. 2019. Häuser der Schnurkeramiker. Archäologie in Deutschland 2-2019, 65.

Löhlein, W. 1998. Zeugnisse spätneolitischen Bestattungswesens – zu einigen hölzernen Grabkammerbauten aus Württemberg. *Fundberichte aus Baden-Württemberg* 22, 185–216.

Lüning, J. 1999. Ein Grubenhaus der Bernburger Kultur aus Schwanfeld, Landkreis Schweinfurt. In F.-R. Herrmann (ed.), *Festschrift für Günther Smolla II. Materialien zur Vor- und Frühgeschichte von Hessen 8*, 415–69. Wiesbaden: Landesamt für Denkmalpflege Hessen.

Matuschik, I. 2009. Grabanlagen des frühen Endneolithikums und der späten Hallstattzeit in Jettingen-Unterjettingen "Hau", Lkr. Böblingen – ein Beitrag zur Megalithik im Flussgebiet des Neckars. Fundberichte aus Baden-Württemberg 30, 65–94.

Matuschik, I. and Schlichtherle, H. 2009. Zeitgenossen des Gletschermannes am Mittleren Neckar. Archäologische Informationen aus Baden-Württemberg 56. Esslingen: Landesamt für Denkmalpflege im Regierungspräsidium Stuttgart.

Müller, D.W. 1991. Große Steine, alte Zeichen. Jungsteinzeitliches Bildgut in Grabbrauch und Religion. *Archäologie in Sachsen-Anhalt* 1, 20–26.

Müller, D.W. 2001. Die Göttin mit dem stechenden Blick. In H. Meller (ed.), *Schönheit, Macht und Tod. Begleitband zur Sonderausstellung im Landesmuseum für Vorgeschichte Halle*, 198–99. Halle: Landesamt für Archäologie und Denkmalpflege Sachsen-Anhalt.

Nadler, M. 2001. Einzelhof oder Häuptlingshaus?
Gedanken zu den Langhäusern der Frühbronzezeit.
In B. Eberschweiler, J. Köninger, H. Schlichtherle and
C. Strahm (eds), Aktuelles zur Frühbronzezeit und
frühen Mittelbronzezeit im nördlichen Alpenvorland.
Hemmenhofener Skripte 2, 39–46. Freiburg i.Br.: Janus.

Nadler, M. 2011. Spätneolithische Stelen und Petroglyphen?
Zu einer Neubewertung der sog. Zeichensteingräber im mittleren Regnitztal. In H.-J. Beier, R. Einicke and E. Biermann (eds), Varia Neolithica VII. Beiträge zur Ur- und Frühgeschichte Mitteleuropas 63, 183–210.
Langenweissbach: Beier & Beran.

Nadler, M. 2015. Bayerns älteste Skulptur – eine spätneolithische Menhirstatue aus Gallmersgarten, Lkr. Neustadt an der Aisch-Bad Windsheim, Mittelfranken. *Das Archäologische Jahr in Bayern* 2014, 34–36.

Nadler, M. 2019a. Haus und Siedlung im 3. Jahrtausend v. Chr. in Nordbayern. In H. Meller, S. Friederich, M. Küßner, H. Stäuble and R. Risch (eds),

NADLER 171

Siedlungsarchäologie des Endneolithikums und der frühen Bronzezeit. Tagungen des Landesmuseums für Vorgeschichte Halle 20, 701–16. Halle: Landesamt für Archäologie und Denkmalpflege Sachsen-Anhalt.

- Nadler, M. 2019b. Bayerns älteste Skulptur um 3000 v. Chr. In Bayerisches Landesamt für Denkmalpflege (ed.), *Aufgedeckt – Highlights der Bayerischen Bodendenkmalpflege*, 23–28. München: Bayerisches Landesamt für Denkmalpflege.
- Nadler, M. 2022. Niemandsland Versuch über eine physische oder psychische Grenze. In E. Kaiser, M. Meyer, S. Scharl and S. Suhrbier (eds), Wissensschichten. Festschrift für Wolfram Schier zu seinem 65. Geburtstag. Studia Honoraria 41, 53–63. Rahden: Marie Leidorf.
- Nadler, M. 2023a. 4. Jahrtausend v. Chr., Zeit der Innovationen. In T. Uthmeier and D. Mischka (eds), *Steinzeit in Bayern – Das Handbuch*, 891–925. Darmstadt: Theiss.
- Nadler, M. 2023b. 4. Jahrtausend v. Chr. Menhire und Petroglyphen. In T. Uthmeier and D. Mischka (eds), *Steinzeit in Bayern – Das Handbuch*, 938–42. Darmstadt: Theiss.
- Reim, H. 1988. Das keltische Gräberfeld bei Rottenburg am Neckar – Grabungen 1984–1987. Archäologische Informationen aus Baden-Württemberg 3. Stuttgart: Landesdenkmalamt Baden-Württemberg.
- Schlichtherle, H. 1999. Die Goldberg III-Gruppe in Oberschwaben. In H. Schlichtherle and M. Strobel (eds), Aktuelles zu Horgen–Cham–Goldberg III– Schnurkeramik. Rundgespräch Hemmenhofen 26. Juni 1998. Hemmenhofener Skripte 1, 35–48. Freiburg i.Br.: Janus.
- Schlichtherle, H. 2006. Kulthäuser in Pfahlbausiedlungen des Bodensees. In A. Hafner, U. Niffeler and U. Ruoff (eds), Die neue Sicht. Unterwasserarchäologie und Geschichtsbild. Akten des 2. Internationalen Kongresses für Unterwasserarchäologie in Rüschlikon bei Zürich, 21.–24. Oktober 2004. Antiqua 40, 122–45. Basel: Schweizerische Gesellschaft für Ur- und Frühgeschichte.

Schlichtherle, H. 2010. Kultbilder in den Pfahlbauten des Bodensees. In Badisches Landesmuseum Karlsruhe (ed.), Jungsteinzeit im Umbruch – Die "Michelsberger Kultur" und Mitteleuropa vor 6000 Jahren, 266–77. Darmstadt: Primus.

Schlichtherle, H. 2014. Weibliche Symbolik auf Hauswänden und Keramikgefäßen: Spuren frauenzentrierter Kulte in der Jungsteinzeit? In B. Röder (ed.), *Ich Mann. Du Frau: Feste Rollen seit Urzeiten*?, 114–35. Freiburg i.Br.: Rombach.

Schrickel, W. 1957. Westeuropäische Elemente im Neolithikum und in der frühen Bronzezeit Mitteldeutschlands. Veröffentlichungen des Landesmuseums für Vorgeschichte Dresden 5. Leipzig: VEB Bibliographisches Institut.

- Schunke, T. 2013. Klady Göhlitzsch. Vom Kaukasus nach Mitteldeutschland oder umgekehrt? In H. Meller (ed.), 3300 BC – Mysteriöse Steinzeittote und ihre Welt, 151–55. Mainz: Nünnerich-Asmus.
- Schussmann, M. 2016. Neue Gräber der Schnurkeramischen Kultur zwischen Taubertal und Steigerwald. *Bericht der Bayerischen Bodendenkmalpflege* 57, 41–99.
- Schwarz, R. 2021. Menhire und verzierte Steinkammergräber. In H. Meller (ed.), *Früh- und Mittelneolithikum. Kataloge zur Dauerausstellung im Landesmuseum für Vorgeschichte Halle* 2, 385–404. Halle: Landesamt für Denkmalpflege und Archäologie Sachsen-Anhalt.
- Spennemann, D. 1985. Zum Einfluß der Bernburger Kultur auf das späte Jungneolithikum in Mainfranken und dem Untermaingebiet. *Jahresschrift für Mitteldeutsche Vorgeschichte* 68, 131–55.
- Vierzig, A. 2017. Menschen in Stein Anthropomorphe Stelen des 4. und 3. Jahrtausends v. Chr. zwischen Kaukasus und Atlantik. Universitätsforschungen zur Prähistorischen Archäologie 306. Bonn: Rudolf Habelt.
- Walter, D. 1991. Das jungneolithische Erdwerk von Grossobringen, Kr. Weimar. Ergebnisse der Ausgrabungen 1959–1962. *Alt-Thüringen* 26, 7–58.

Long barrows, causewayed enclosures and the long term spiritual continuity in ritual landscape around Mount Říp in Bohemia (Czech Republic)*

Jan Turek, Petr Krištuf and Ondřej Švejcar

* The authors dedicate this study to the memory of the outstanding scholar Ladislav Šmejda, who left us prematurely on 27th November 2022.

Abstract

In two recent projects we focused on the possibilities of reconstruction of the ritual landscape and settlement areas in relation to Late Neolithic cemeteries and ancestral monuments, such as causewayed enclosures. Death as a social event was never isolated from other dimensions of the social, economic and symbolic life of farming communities. The ceremonial level of funerary events connected to ancestral worship is reflected in the landscape by a variety of monuments and their intra- and extra-territorial relations. The ritual landscape was constructed following a symbolic system of very early pedigree. The cultural landscape of prehistoric farmers was divided and structured in a continuous diachronic development and the archetypes of landscape divisions and monuments (enclosures; hilltop sites; long barrows) as landmarks were part of the cosmological legacy for generations. In this way, some monuments, seemingly isolated, fit into a much wider spatio-temporal structure of prehistoric community areas. This study presents selected case studies of the fifth and fourth millennium BC from the territory between the confluence of biggest Bohemian rivers and the mythical Mount Říp.

Keywords: Neolithic, ritual landscape, causewayed enclosures, long barrows, Bohemia

In this paper we try to reconstruct Neolithic ancestral worship and the representation of communal and personal identities in the monumental landscape of central/north Bohemia. Recently we have been focusing on causewayed enclosures (4300–3900 BC) and

In D. Hofmann, D. Mischka and S. Scharl (eds) 2025. The eve of destruction? Local groups and large-scale networks during the late fourth and early third millennium BC in central Europe, 173–188. Leiden: Sidestone Press. long barrows (3900-3500 BC). We will demonstrate how Late Neolithic (Proto-Eneolithic and Early Eneolithic, in the Czech terminology) monumental constructions were re-used and incorporated in the development of new patterns of developing ritual landscapes in central/north Bohemia. Enclosures as well as long barrows have been commonly interpreted as religious and funerary sites, perhaps constructed as part of a system of ancestral cult. They can also be perceived as territorial markers delineating the areas controlled by different farming communities and seen as landmarks of previous habitation enduring for millennia after their construction (Andersen 1997; Bertemes 1991: Eckert 1990: Geschwinde and Raetzel-Fabian 2009; Kuna 2002; Neustupný 2006; Seidel 2008; Vencl 1997; 2002; Zápotocký 2000). In our view, Neolithic long barrows were not only funerary structures but also important ancestral monuments structuring prehistoric ritual landscapes over a long period of time.

Monuments in the landscape and monumental landscapes

The cultural landscape of prehistoric farmers was divided and structured in a continuous diachronic development and according to the earliest agricultural colonisation archetypes (in Bohemia for instance settlement preference of fertile lowlands along the major rivers and funerary areas on elevated terraces) of landscape divisions and monumentality. Neolithic enclosures and long barrows acted as landmarks and elements of the cosmological legacy for generations (Neustupný 2006; Turek 2012). We attempt to study the palimpsest of funerary and ceremonial land use in order to reconstruct the long-term perception of the farmers' world and its structure. In this approach some monuments, seemingly isolated, fit into a much wider spatio-temporal structure of prehistoric community areas. Micro-regional case studies will be presented from territories of central/north Bohemia covering the fifth to fourth millennium BC.

Causewayed enclosures

The ditched enclosures of the earliest Late Neolithic period, the so-called causewayed enclosures (*unterbrochene Erdwerke* in German), occurred in a vast area of central and north-western Europe, including Britain and Ireland, after the mid-fifth millennium BC. Regardless of the regional variability of archaeological cultures, there is an apparent phenomenon unifying culturally and geographically very distant regions. This fairly orthodoxly replicated form of monument is obviously related to a shared cosmological concept that has allowed the rapid spread of this phenomenon across continental Europe, southern Scandinavia, Britain and Ireland (Andersen 1993; Cassen and Boujot 1990; Hubert 1971; Mercer 1990; Mordant and Mordant 1972; Seidel 2008).

The real nature of rituals and social interactions that were taking place within these enclosed areas has been disputed amongst archaeologists for a long time. A significant factor influencing the spread of these monuments to the northern and western peripheries of Neolithic Europe was the Neolithisation process. Both in Britain and Ireland and in modern-day Denmark and southern Sweden, this is equated with the spread of agriculture (for example Andersen 1993). The builders of these enclosures were the first farmers to settle the previously purely Mesolithic environment. The original Mesolithic population had a subsistence and cosmology different from that of settled farmers, with a close bond with nature (Tilley 1989). In contrast, Neolithic farmers exploit nature and, through their culture and subsistence strategy, separate themselves from nature and actively transform it. Enclosure monuments are therefore part of the demonstration of cultural diversity and part of the establishment of the new order of the world.

In continental Europe, ditched enclosures appear in already established Neolithic communities, based on the thousand-year-long sequence of landscape domestication and sedentary thinking. Here, the first contact of Mesolithic (including pottery-producing foragers like the Limburg and La Hoguette groups) and Neolithic communities took place much earlier, in the mid-sixth millennium BC. After the mid-fifth millennium, this first stage of Neolithisation is followed by the Late Neolithic, a time of progressive changes in agricultural production, social structure and the application of the earliest copper metallurgy in Europe. At this time of the so-called secondary products revolution (Sherratt 1981), there were also certain changes in ritual concepts, which continued to be based on the principles of agricultural communities, but with increasing emphasis on the symbolism of bovine animals and masculine warfare symbols (battle axes). In Bohemia, ditched enclosures appear in the context of the later phase of the Jordansmühl (or Jordanów) culture. The ceramics found in some causewayed enclosures also feature elements of the Schussenried culture, as well as the oldest phase of the Michelsberg culture. This development is indicative of the chronological continuity of this type of enclosures regardless of the formal changes in the style of ceramic production. The latest of the earliest Late Neolithic causewayed enclosures in Bohemia is the one in Kly (Mělník district). This site has exclusively yielded ceramics of phase II of the Michelsberg culture.

If we evaluate the geographic position of the earliest Late Neolithic causewayed enclosures in Bohemia, most of them are located on river terraces. A similar situation was observed in Germany, where most sites are in locations with open flat landscapes and are enclosed by ditch circuits of oval shape, sometimes several hundred meters long. In



Figure 1. Map of the Late Neolithic enclosures around the confluence of the Elbe and Vltava rivers (edited by Petr Krištuf).

most cases, the geomorphological setting encloses the site only partially or not at all. An important phenomenon in the Czech Republic is the preference of flat areas near the main watercourses, even in cases where there are significant geomorphological formations nearby (such as hilltop sites used in later periods to build fortifications and fortified settlements). This is also the case for a trio of enclosures (Vliněves, Kly and Vrbno) at the confluence of the Vltava and the Elbe rivers, close to the dominant ridge stretching between Všetaty and Mělník with an important fortified early medieval site on its northern edge. Despite these landscape features, locations on the first terrace of the Vltava and the Elbe river were preferred for all three earliest Late Neolithic causewayed enclosures. All three of them are located just a few metres above the floodplain. Although these locations provided long-term protection against flooding, they are undoubtedly not the most strategically advantageous locations with fortification potential within the surrounding landscape. Rather, the trio of earliest Late Neolithic enclosures at the confluence of the largest Czech rivers are located on the divide between the open flat agricultural landscape of the area around Mount Říp (with the natural dominating feature of Říp) in the west and the rugged landscape of the Kokořín region in the north-east, which forms a wild hilly counterpart to the plain surrounding Říp. Mount Říp (the Czech mythical mountain) was in direct sight of all three enclosures, and it is likely that this circumstance played a significant role in their spiritual exploitation.

The significant concentration of three earliest Late Neolithic sites in the relatively small confluence area of

the Labe and Vltava rivers leads us to re-consider the contemporaneity and the density of these sites in the landscape (Figure 1). Given the size of the causewayed enclosures, it can be assumed that the enclosures exceeded the needs of one community area and they probably served the activities of several communities within a wider region. The enclosures might have even maintained inter-regional social interaction. The fact that this enclosure concentration is located at the confluence of large rivers is certainly crucial. The Labe and Vltava rivers represented important landscape boundaries, but they also served as important communication corridors. At this point we have to discuss why three earliest Late Neolithic enclosures were created in such a limited space. The answer can perhaps be found in the chronological sequence of sites. The relatively short usage time, which is documented in Vrbno and Kly, and can also be assumed in the case of Vliněves, suggests that these constructions might have been built with the purpose of serving a particular ritual or series of rituals, not with the intention of stable long-term use. An interpretation of the successive establishment of these sites therefore seems plausible. Especially the enclosure at Kly (Figures 2-3) seems to be chronologically later and this is reflected also in a different style of material culture. Transferred into the terms of a living culture, one can suppose that after some time of upkeep by one community, a similar enclosure was built within another settlement area of this distinctive communication region, and thus a chronological sequence of inter-communal gathering monuments was established (Krištuf et al. 2019, 274–76).



Figure 2. Aerial view of the Michelsberg enclosure at Kly (photograph: M. Gojda).



Figure 3. Reconstruction of the Kly causewayed enclosure on the bank of the Elbe river, with Mount Říp in the background (drawing by Jiří Svoboda).

Especially if we consider the funerary significance of the enclosures, it is also necessary to consider the spiritual significance of the place where the waters run from different parts of the country and where people, perhaps from distant regions, gathered for funerary ceremonies. Local communities within the mythical confluence landscape (ritual landscape) would thus be a sort of steward of a far-reaching, sacred district, in particular given that evidence of causewayed enclosures is generally scarce in other parts of central and north Bohemia. There are 15 sites in total, usually located in isolated positions (see the map in Dobeš *et al.* 2016, fig. 34). The only currently known cluster of causewayed enclosures was recorded in the aforementioned confluence area. In this respect, it would be interesting to relate the location of the enclosures to contemporary settlements. Unfortunately, the evidence from the nearby earliest Late Neolithic settlement of Mělník is rather scarce. In addition to the three enclosures, only 15 sites have been documented; most of them belong to the early Jordansmühl culture and three to the later phase of the Michelsberg culture. Earliest Late Neolithic settlement in the area of Mělník is clearly linked to both large watercourses (Elbe and Vltava river) and concentrates in Kralupy nad Vltavou and Neratovice. However, this picture may be only due to the state of research and the concentration of current construction activity. Nevertheless, while the evidence for earliest Late Neolithic settlement was recorded mainly near the Elbe and Vltava rivers, in the immediate vicinity of their confluence only the three enclosures are known (Krištuf *et al.* 2019, 276–77).

Although there are formal differences between the sites we studied, they can be considered as one category of constructions covering a similar area. When we talk about enclosures as monuments, one should bear in mind that, especially in a flat landscape, the banks of no more than 1.5 m in height did not create any monumental impression. Seen in the terrain, they optically rather merged with the surroundings. The palisade was not a monumental structure either and the posts erected at the entrances were probably part of a light construction rather than a structure in the form of fortification gates (Krištuf et al. 2019, 277). However, the monumentality of the causewayed enclosures is undoubtedly based in the length of their perimeter and the extent of the area covered. Thus, the monumental was mainly the impression of a large interior area intended for the gathering of a large number of people and perhaps even animals at a time of repeated (?) ceremonies (Krištuf et al. 2019, 278).

So what kind of activities took place in these enclosures? Given the nature of archaeological and pedological evidence, the method of construction of enclosures, their location and the presumed character of Neolithic warfare (as described by Neustupný 1996), we do not assume any residential or defensive functions. In line with a number of publications (e.g. Andersen 1997) evaluating the purpose of the earliest Late Neolithic enclosures, we rather consider a relatively wide range of ceremonial activities associated with the use of these monuments. It is well possible that these sites actually served as a space for a variety of ceremonial activities, ranging from drinking festivals, ceremonial exchange of goods and livestock, astronomical observations linked to the ritual and agricultural cycle to funerary ceremonies and ancestor veneration (Krištuf et al. 2019, 278).

Drinking festivals as formalised rituals, astronomic orientations and ancestral cults

Drinking festivals played an important social role within European agricultural communities at least from the beginning of the Late Neolithic period (Turek 2020). Also, some finds of drinking vessels (a variety of beakers, jugs and cups) inside the enclosure ditches suggest the possible connection of drinking ceremonies with these super-community sites. Feasts and drinking rituals, as well as ceremonial exchange, played an important role in social communication within and between communities. Such ceremonies helped to reinforce communal identity, as well as establishing communication and external relations with neighbouring communities (Dietler 1990;

Dietler and Hayden 2001; Turek 2020). We consider the link between drinking ceremonies and enclosed areas as highly probable. Cyclical repetition of ceremonies can perhaps be assumed at Chleby. The four entrances of this enclosure are relatively precisely oriented to the cardinal points. The remaining eight entrances were regularly distributed, with two in each guadrant of the enclosure ditch. It is therefore possible that each gap was associated with the observation and worship of the sun in the various phases of the solar cycle. The number of twelve entrances is apparently not random and could be connected with the astronomical significance of the monument. The astronomical orientation of Late Neolithic enclosures is well documented in henge monuments in Britain and Ireland (Gibson 2005, with further references), but has also been discussed in the case of a rectangular TRB ditched enclosure at Makotřasy (Pleslová-Štiková 1985; Pleslová-Štiková et al. 1980). An astronomical orientation tied to the observation of sunset and sunrise is suggested for earlier Neolithic roundels (e.g. Goseck, Saxony Anhalt; Bertemes and Northe 2007). The focus on the solar cycle assumed for some enclosures, along with the worshipping of bucrania (such as at Bruchsal-Aue, Reiter 2005), perhaps represent two essential cornerstones of Late Neolithic religion. These symbols represent the basic subsistence prerequisites of prehistoric farmers, the vegetation cycle of cultivated plants and the management of cattle herds, and could therefore be seen as an integral part of the central sacred sites.

As cult places, enclosures could also be sought for the sacred legitimation of a wide range of economic and social interactions. The third and perhaps most significant aspect of Late Neolithic religion was the cult of ancestors, and its possible traces can also be identified in the earliest Late Neolithic enclosures. It is clear that the treatment of the remains of the deceased was amongst the ceremonial activities that took place in the earliest Late Neolithic enclosures, both in Bohemia, such as at Vliněves (Dobeš et al. 2016) or Chleby, and in Germany (e.g. Untergrombach-Michelsberg, see Nickel 1998; Bruchsal-Aue, see Reiter 2005) or Britain (Pietrzak 2014). In many cases, not only the burial of the deceased was documented, but also the manipulation of human remains, often even a long time after a person's death (Midgley 1992, 448-49). These practices seem to illustrate the role of enclosures in ancestral veneration, documented in agricultural communities since the beginning of the Neolithic period.

Undoubtedly, this is not the only burial practice in the earliest Late Neolithic. At that time, the dead were also buried in long barrows, whose genesis may have its roots already in the Early Neolithic in central Europe (Turek 2005). There seem to be two main ways of burial, either inside the house of the dead, that is a long barrow, which is a symbolic reflection of a small, closed social



Figure 4. Aerial photographs of long barrows in Dušníky (A) and Vražkov (B) (photograph: Martin Gojda).

group (household/family) particularly emphasising local ties, or a public way of burial within the supercommunal ritual space, emphasising a broader, shared cultural identity. Given the present state of knowledge of earliest Late Neolithic burial rites, we are not able to unambiguously identify the principles on the basis of which individuals or communities chose a person's place and manner of burial. The spectrum of treatment of human remains in the earliest Late Neolithic reflects considerable variability. There are inhumations in a crouched position, inhumations within settlement sites, skeletons or their parts in enclosure ditches, as well as cremation burials.

Despite this considerable variability, the archaeological record of earliest Late Neolithic burials is very scarce and it is obvious that the majority of the population was buried in an archaeologically invisible way. It is possible that some form of excarnation was common, and it is also conceivable that such funerary ceremonies may have taken place in the central super-communal areas, perhaps within the causewayed enclosures presented in this study. If this assumption is correct, then the skeletons and their fragments found in the enclosure ditches and pits are just the tip of the iceberg of a much more common funerary practice. Therefore, in the present state of knowledge, the most likely interpretation of causewayed enclosures is as super-community sanctuaries of death and ancestors that accumulated further social functions.

Long barrows as ancestral shrines — longterm spiritual traditions and legacies

Long barrows in Bohemia date between 4000-3300 BC (Neustupný 2008). Unlike the burials in contemporary enclosures, the barrows usually contain single burials, particularly emphasizing the familial local ties and more private and intimate relationships towards ancestors. The barrow recently excavated at Dušníky (Figure 4) is 86 m long and oriented east-west. Its width is 26 m at the eastern and 17 m at the western end. The mound was constructed of dark earth dug from alongside the barrow. Its current height is still around 1 m in the ploughed field. The barrow was built over a timber burial chamber containing remains of an eleven-year-old child. The chamber was made of wooden planks and contained a small jug (dating to the Baalberge phase of the TRB culture) and a flint arrowhead. After the primary burial and the completion of the barrow construction, the site probably served as an ancestral shrine. The evidence of sacrificial activity consists of several broken ceramic vessels near the eastern façade. Such ceremonial activity lasted up to 100 years.

The end of use of this sanctuary was manifested by the ditch surrounding the mound. It symbolically closes off the entire area of the monument. The sand extracted from the ditch covered the remains of the ritual place. After a certain period of time the mound was abandoned as a sanctuary and ritual activities moved elsewhere. According to radiocarbon dates, the mound or shrine was in use sometime during the thirty-seventh century BC. We have no records of any subsequent activities or further burials in the mound. It was not until around 600 BC, i.e. in the Iron Age, that an inhumation burial was inserted into the mound, the remains of which were discovered at the interface between the present plough-zone topsoil and the subsoil, just some 35 cm below the present surface.

A similar situation is recorded at the nearby site of Vražkov (Figure 4). The mound here is only 31 m long and significantly less well preserved. The mound cover has been completely destroyed. Nevertheless, we believe that its purpose was similar to that of the Dušníky mound. In addition to the primary grave, which is related to the construction of the mound, there is a second grave in the rear narrow part of the monument. The mound was again surrounded by a ditch, into which some of the earth from the mound, which was again black earth, gradually sedimented. The remains of a tulip beaker of the late phase of the Michelsberg culture were discovered in the centre of the eastern ditch. This is again evidence of ritual


Figure 5. Mythical landscape between the Mělník confluence and Mount Říp (photograph: Jiří Jiroušek).

activity in the area of the eastern forecourt and also an important clue for dating the structure. In addition, from this site we have no evidence of the use of the monument in the following centuries. This, however, changed in the Early Bronze Age, when a second burial was inserted into the mound. Its significantly shallower depth suggests that it was placed into the then surviving mound cover. Contemporary with this Únětice culture burial in the western end of the barrow, a hoard of 100 copper rib-bars was deposited into the north-east corner of the partially infilled ditch.

The most recently excavated mound in the Říp area, that at Račiněves, was of a different construction than the previous ones. It was rectangular and was not surrounded by a ditch. Its mound was reinforced with a wooden palisade. The barrow was over 120 m long and oriented east–west. In the eastern, entrance part of the mound we discovered the foundations of a building, sometimes referred to as house of the dead (Socha 2015). This is a remarkable and for us largely unexpected discovery. No such mound had ever been found in our region before.

Two burials were uncovered in this barrow. We know from the artefacts that the remains are from two different Neolithic periods. The main burial in the mound dates to the Funnel Beaker culture, around 3800 BC. We are not yet able to determine the sex of the deceased, as investigation is ongoing. The body was buried on its left side, head to the west. At this time, people did not distinguish the position of men and women in the burial ritual. What might give us a clue is the remarkable archery equipment. The deceased was carrying twelve flint arrowheads, which in the Late Neolithic period was usually tied to the gender role of the male. At this point, therefore, we assume that this was more likely the burial of an important man, a warrior, an archer.

A thousand years later in the Corded Ware culture, a woman was buried in the same mound, equipped with two jugs and a small sickle blade made of flint. She was laid on her left side, facing east, a typical position for female burials at that time. She was placed in an already abandoned mound, which was still clearly visible on the surface after thousands of years and which reminded the inhabitants of the area around Říp that their ancestors had lived there before them. Even a thousand years later, they understood the importance of the monument as a sacred place.

Re-use of monuments and long-term spiritual traditions

The archaeological evidence of human ritual behaviour recorded in the prehistoric cultural landscape suggests a great degree of palimpsest, the re-use of monuments and the keeping of *longue durée* patterns in the creation and continuity of ritual space. In what follows, we present some case studies of such transformation of the spiritual archetypes in terms of re-use and re-creations of Late Neolithic monuments in different prehistoric periods.

Elbe and Vltava confluence: chronological sequence of causewayed enclosures

Earlier in this text we have mentioned the concentration of enclosures in the area around Mělník, at the confluence of the Vltava and Elbe rivers (Figure 5). In this context, the rivers are the most important landscape element. Not only are they important thoroughfares connecting even widely separated regions, but on a symbolic and ritual level they are one of the conditions for the establishment of sacred enclosures. In the case of all three enclosures near Mělník, the watercourses can be considered as part of the enclosure of the entire sacred area. The rivers probably played an important divine role in this respect and may have been part of funerary and sacrificial rituals. The three enclosures were not contemporary. A relatively short time of use, which is documented in Vrbno and Kly, can be assumed also in the case of Vliněves (Dobeš et al. 2016). This suggests that these constructions could have been built with the purpose of serving a particular ritual or series of rituals, not with the intention of stable long-term use.



Figure 6. Aerial photograph of the Late Neolithic enclosure at Vrbno with three ditches and indication of the 2015 excavation (edited by Petr Krištuf).



Figure 7. Section through one of the Late Neolithic ditches of the enclosure at Vrbno (photograph: Ladislav Rytíř).

Therefore, the sites probably represent three subsequently built sacred complexes fulfilling the same functions and used by a larger number of communities. It seems as if the communities living near the confluence of the major rivers took turns in preparing the sacred area for a great trans-regional ritual. The oldest enclosure is the one in Vliněves (Jordansmühl culture), followed by the one in Vrbno (Jordansmühl culture) and finally the youngest one in Kly (Michelsberg culture).

Following this line of thought, we would be faced with the re-use of the ceremonial landscape near the sacred confluence of the great rivers. The temporal continuity suggests that people focused on this region as a crucial part of their beliefs and mythology. Within this sacred area along the holy rivers, the local inhabitants potentially hosted pilgrims from a much wider region. Gradually, they created at least three sacred districts which, one after another, served to maintain the cult and rituals important for the agricultural population of Bohemia at that time. This possible reading should in the future be backed up by additional evidence.

Vrbno — re-use of the causewayed enclosure

At the site of Vrbno (Figure 6) three ditch circuits were recorded (Krištuf et al. 2019, 160-70). The individual ditches appeared to be filled with mixed sandy clay and sunk into the gravel-sand subsoil. The outer ditch (1004) was U-shaped in cross section, 144–148 cm wide and dug only 34 cm deep into the subsoil. The ditch was filled with only one layer, consisting of light ochre-brown silty sand with pebbles (1005). Two fragments of pottery and a fragment of daub came from this layer. On the outer side of the trench was a gravel layer at most 18 cm thick, which directly overlay the subsoil. This layer was not identified anywhere else in the test trench and we suggest that it may represent material displaced during the excavation of the ditch. The maximum width of the middle ditch ranged between 110 and 190 cm, but quickly narrowed to 72 cm. The depth of the ditch ranged from 76–102 cm. The V-shaped open ditch thus became a trough with almost perpendicular walls. The fill consisted of a sandy clay layer and yielded three fragments of pottery and two fragments of animal bone. In the western profile the fill consisted of seven layers, which were deposited horizontally on top of each other.

The shape of the inner ditch followed the shape of the middle ditch (Figure 7). Its maximum width varied between 80–120 cm, however, in the eastern part of the test trench it was already visible in the subsoil and here its width reached 162 cm. Its depth was 100–108 cm and again it quickly narrowed to a trough-like shape with almost perpendicular walls. The fill consisted of sandy loam, gravel and sand. It yielded four fragments of pottery, two fragments of daub, two fragments of animal bone and two pieces of charcoal.

The general appearance and the macroscopically observed nature of the fills of each ditch led us to consider in the field whether the outer line of the enclosure might be chronologically different from the other two ditches. These differ from the outer ditch in size, shape and nature of the fill. The composition of the individual layers in the central and inner ditches indicates their relatively dynamic silting.

Also of interest is the evidence of a gravel layer entirely outside the enclosure with only a connection to the outer ditch. Pottery sherds, stone artefacts, animal bones and small charcoal fragments were recovered from the site during the course of the investigation. However, the assemblage is relatively poor and comes mainly from the ditch fills.

Pottery

In all layers of the middle ditch, there are fragments that are well above the assemblage average in size and weight. The size distribution of the sherds shows the distinctness of the outer and middle ditch fills. While the fill of the outer ditch has the character of a cultural layer with very fragmentary pottery, which was probably exposed to the elements for a long time, the much larger sherds of the middle ditch indicate either deliberate deposition or that material from a cultural layer was washed in without moving around for a long time. The pottery in the inner ditch is more akin to that of the outer ditch in its fragmentary nature, but sherds here were only found in the upper part of the fill. Shapeless small fragments of greywacke were identified in the topsoil and subsoil, as well as the outer ditch fill (SJ 1005) and in the upper layer of the inner ditch fill (SU 1008). In the lower parts of the ditches, the daub was not identified and does not appear to be related to ditch construction, but washed into the fills secondarily. Its origin may be seen in activities that took place on the site after the original function of the enclosure had ceased and the ditches had been partially filled in.

In our opinion, the finds from the lower layers of the inner and middle ditches are crucial for dating the ditches or the enclosure. As we have already noted, however, these layers are very poor in finds. Only two diagnostic ceramic fragments were recovered that would allow chronological classification of the site. These are a tunnel lug from the spout of an amphora, which was discovered in the lower part of the inner ditch. This can be tentatively placed in the early Late Neolithic. Far more reliable is the discovery of part of the higher neck of a jug with a broken-off handle from the lower part of the fill of the middle ditch. Between the neck and shoulder, there is an engraved decoration in the form of a horizontal ladder, followed by diagonally hatched triangles. The profiles and decoration of the jugs are typical of the later phase of the Jordansmühl culture. We therefore place the formation of the lower layers of both ditches into this culture. Other ceramic finds do not exclude this classification. Only one radiocarbon date has been recovered from the site. The dating of a charcoal sample was carried out by the laboratory in Kiel. The date obtained (KIA51306: 5318±34 BP, 4260–4044 calBC at 2σ) supports the classification of this enclosure site as earliest Late Neolithic, specifically the later phase of the Jordansmühl culture.

Pedological evidence

Since the quantity and nature of the archaeological finds and features do not allow a more detailed interpretation of the purpose of the enclosure and reconstruction of the activities carried out, we sought to obtain further information by means of pedological analyses of the fills of all three sections by Klement Rejšek (Krištuf *et al.* 2019, 160–69). The concentration of elements that show the presence of humans or could indicate the use of the ditches and enclosures for burials was analysed. Several basic questions were thus addressed. What led to the creation of these features? Is there evidence of human habitation or cattle rearing inside the enclosure? Were these features related to burial or were they spaces used only for occasional rituals?

In terms of distinguishing the nature of the fill and dating the outer ditch, it is important that elevated levels of manganese have been identified in layer 1005. Analytically, this is important data because the soil manganese content — just like copper, lead and zinc — remains stable in the soil over the long term due to both adsorption on the clay surface and the formation of insoluble sulphates and carbonates.

At the Vrbno site there is a limit of 500 mg.kg⁻¹ dry weight (limit = the value of the natural contents in the soil), which is exceeded by the topsoil layers and the fill of feature 1004 (layer 1005). Copper has a significant soil limit of 17 mg.kg⁻¹ dry weight, lead has a significant soil limit of 16 mg.kg⁻¹ dry weight and tin, which is used in bronze production, has a significant soil limit of 2 mg.kg⁻¹ dry weight. At the Vrbno site, the values of all three are again exceeded in the topsoil and in layer 1005 in feature 1004. The data obtained for tin, copper, lead and manganese indicate that the real source of their presence in the topsoil is intensive agriculture in the 1970s and 1980s. However, the situation in the outer ditch fill, which is also enriched in these elements, is interesting. This may be explained as a result of prehistoric metallurgy carried out in the vicinity of the ditch, which would suggest a Final Bronze Age date for the ditch.

The research carried out, despite its small areal extent, brings some interesting findings about the enclosure under study and also contributes to the interpretation of the purpose of these sites in general. First of all, the chronological classification of the site should be noted. The modest finds of pottery, especially a fragment of a jug, suggest a cultural affiliation of the enclosure to the later phase of the Jordansmühl culture. This classification is supported by the radiocarbon date. However, there were probably only two ditches at this time. These were relatively quickly filled in to about half their depth by erosion, and this was still the case during the earliest Late Neolithic use of the ditch.

Thereafter, both ditches stabilised and no further infilling took place. This state lasted at least until the Late Bronze Age, when the outer ditch was probably excavated in such a way that its course, shape and dimensions followed those of the already partially filled Late Neolithic ditches. The upper fills of the inner ditches and the entire fill of the outer ditch contain material from the Štítary phase of the Knovíz culture and the presence of metal elements related to Bronze Age metallurgy has been detected. Pedological analyses suggest that the use of the site was not very intensive in the earliest Late Neolithic, or that there was not a large accumulation of waste. A residential purpose for the enclosure is therefore highly unlikely.

The enclosure at Vrbno shows us that the traces of earliest Late Neolithic enclosures were often visible on the surface for hundreds to thousands of years and were perceived by many later generations. It seems that the monumental construction of the enclosure was well visible until the modern era, including elevated parts of the banks. It is therefore well possible that the sacred place of the enclosure remained in people's memory for millennia after its abandonment. Over most of the third millennium BC, people did not create or re-use ditched enclosures, but since the Early Bronze Age we can see a certain level of reintroduction of enclosures into the cultural landscape. The site of Vrbno was probably repeatedly re-used, including in the Final Bronze Age (c. 950–800 BC), more than three thousand years after its construction.

Re-use of long barrows

For all mounds we have examined in the Říp region (Figures 8–9), a similar pattern of use was discovered. They were built some time between the thirty-ninth and thirty-seventh centuries BC. These are always structures built above the burial of a single individual with different social status (child, adult warrior). The eastern end of the mounds served as a ritual place for some time, but there is no evidence of further burials added to the mound by its builders. Thus, these are not collective family tombs, as some have previously suggested (Midgley 2005; Neustupný 2001, 204–05), but rather ancestral shrines built to mark the death of a selected member of the community. Although the artefacts suggest that these shrines were







Figure 9. Superposition of a shrine in the eastern part of the Funnel Beaker culture long barrow at Račiněves and a grave of the Corded Ware period (in the middle of the photograph), inserted c. 1000 years later (photograph: Martin Mykiska).



Figure 10. Foundations of the shrine in the eastern façade of the Funnel Beaker culture long barrow at Račiněves, with Mount Říp in the background (photograph: Jan Turek).

only used for a limited period of time, and some were then ritually enclosed by ditches, we have indications that they remained spiritually significant over several millennia. Chemical analyses of the soil around the long barrows show that these areas were not used for everyday activities such as inhabitation or agriculture even thousands of years after the mounds were built (Krištuf et al., unpublished results of current project). Although the mound builders did not use them for subsequent burials, their later successors did (Figure 9). In all excavated mounds later secondary use in form of additional burials was recorded, but this is separated from the initial construction period of the mound by at least 1000 years, sometimes even 3000 years. Long barrows seem to have been an important part of the cultural landscape for a long time, structuring its perception. Mound builders and their immediate followers perceived the site as sacred, associated with ancestor worship, but adding more burials was perhaps taboo. Over time, however, the perception of the mound changed. After a certain period of time, the direct link and memory of the ancestors who built the mound was lost and only the mound itself, and in some cases the surrounding ditches, remained visible. It was perceived by many cultures as the burial place of important ancestors, and these ancestral monuments were re-used for burial purposes by other cultures, some of which also buried their dead under barrows (Krištuf and Švejcar 2013; Turek 2021).

Most long barrows have one primary burial for which they were built. The more sites we have explored, the more our conviction grows that these were not just simple tombs, but that they served as memorials to the communities that built them for a long time. People went there to worship and commune with the souls of their ancestors. We imagine these places were frequently visited and votive offerings were repeatedly deposited here. People gathered there at certain times of the year and held celebrations there (for example at the solstice). We have found remains of pottery vessels, animal bones and so on testifying to such use.

Mount Říp plays a quite exceptional role in the whole region (Figure 10). It is a kind of landmark, a place that structures the landscape, showing the way to central and northern Bohemia. It is located between two important confluences, that of the Elbe with the Vltava and of the Elbe with the Ohře. There is less evidence of long-term settlement, but a number of burial mounds and burial sites as such have been found in the area. It seems that this hill, which much later became the mythical mountain of the Czech nation, already attracted the attention of people in prehistoric times and was sacred to them. It is not surprising that shrines and tombs were built near Říp, which may have been a deity in its own right and where many ceremonies and rituals probably took place.

Conclusion

Death as a social event was never isolated from other dimensions of the social, economic and symbolic life of farming communities. The ceremonial level of funerary events connected to ancestral worship is reflected in our case study area through the variety of monuments and their intra- and extra-regional relations. In our ongoing project we investigate the dynamics and duration of the monumental traditions in Bohemia represented by the sequence of ancestral worship and its changing forms. The crucial three stages that create a distinctive cosmological continuity can be summarised as follows:

4300–3800 BC: causewayed enclosures. These represent a public way of burial within the super-communal ritual space emphasising a broader shared cultural identity. As we mentioned above, these monumental enclosures served several communities from a fairly large region, with significant connection to main river courses. Big rivers were not only the means of people's mobility, bringing worshippers together during collective ceremonial festivals, but were often perceived as sacred themselves. The funerary function was not the only, nor the primary function of enclosures, but the manipulation of ancestral relics was an important part of the ceremonial activities practised there. Despite the limited time of periodical use of enclosures, their sacred legacy was sustained for a very long time. More than three millennia after their abandonment, we can see the evidence of re-use of the sacred area for ceremonial purposes.

4000–3300 BC: long barrows. These burials particularly emphasise the familial local ties and more private and intimate relationships towards ancestors. The long barrows in fact served only for burials of a very limited number of persons in the community. In most long barrows in Bohemia, only burials of single individuals were recorded, with no sign of any collective funerary use of the monument. However, long barrows with initial burial of an important community representative were used as collective monuments of ancestral worship by people expressing their relationship with this clan/familial identity. Long barrows are important landmarks in the prehistoric ritual landscape, structuring the perception of space and carrying the memory and legacy of deceased ancestors. Thanks to their visibility in the landscape, awareness of the dead ancestors persisted for millennia. As such, long barrows are good examples of artefactual memory (Neustupný 2010, 195–96). These monuments are material reminders of important events in the past and carry the memory of dead ancestors.

2900–2300 BC: individual burials and natural shrines. Single burials under round barrows of the Corded Ware and Bell Beaker cultures emphasise personal identity (such as gender) and social differentiation. The tradition of ancestral shrines was terminated in the Corded Ware period and we can see a new trend towards creating natural shrines with evidence of ancestral worship in the form of offerings (Turek 2022a). New discoveries of Bell Beaker ritual structures suggest a possible return to some kind of ancestral shrines, possibly referring to the ancestral sacrificial function of the earlier long barrow sanctuaries (Turek 2022b).

The archaeological evidence of the Late Neolithic and later developments of ritual behaviour in the landscape suggest the existence of *longue durée* processes and archetypes of human spirituality.

Acknowledgements

This study is part of the research project "Eneolithic long barrows in Bohemia and reconstruction of the ritual landscape around the hill of Říp", financed by the GAČR -Czech Science Foundation, grant No. GA21-25440S.

References

- Andersen, N.H. 1993. Causewayed camps of the Funnel Beaker culture (Tragtbagerkulturens store samlingspladser). In S. Hvass and B. Storgaard (eds), *Digging into the past*, 100–03. Aarhus: Aarhus University Press.
- Andersen, N.H. 1997. The Sarup enclosures: the Funnel Beaker culture of the Sarup site including two causewayed camps compared to the contemporary settlements in the area and other European enclosures. Moesgaard: Jysk Arkaeologisk Selskab.
- Bertemes, F. and Northe, A. 2007. Der Kreisgraben von Goseck: ein Beitrag zum Verständnis früher monumentaler Kultbauten Mitteleuropas. In K. Schmotz (ed.), Vorträge des 25. Niederbayerischen Archäologentages, 137–68. Rahden: Marie Leidorf.
- Bertemes, F. 1991. Untersuchungen zur Funktion der Erdwerke der Michelsberger Kultur im Rahmen der kupferzeitlichen Zivilisation. In J. Lichardus (ed.), Die Kupferzeit als historische Epoche. Teil 1, 441–64. Bonn: Rudolf Habelt.
- Cassen, S. and Boujot, C. 1990. Grabenumfriedungen im Frankreich des 5. bis 3. Jahrtausends v. u. Z. *Jahresschrift für Mitteldeutsche Vorgeschichte* 73, 455–68.
- Dietler, M. 1990. Driven by drink: the role of drinking in the political economy and the case of Early Iron Age France. *Journal of Anthropological Archaeology* 9, 352–406.

Dietler, M. and Hayden, B. 2001. *Feasts. Archaeological* and ethnographic perspectives on food, politics, and power. Washington: Smithsonian Institution Press.

Dobeš, M., Stránská, P., Křivánek, R. and Limburský, P. 2016. Časně eneolitické ohrazení ve Vliněvsi. Příspěvek k povaze kontaktu mezi jordanovskou a michelsberskou kulturou v Čechách. *Památky archeologické* 107, 51–115.

Eckert, J. 1990. Überlegungen zu Bauweise und Funktion Michelsberger Erdwerke im Rheinland. *Jahresschrift für Mitteldeutsche Vorgeschichte* 73, 399–414.

Geschwinde, M. and Raetzel-Fabian, D. 2009. *EWBSL: eine Fallstudie zu den jungneolithischen Erdwerken am Nordrand der Mittelgebirge*. Rahden: Marie Leidorf.

Gibson, A. 2005. *Stonehenge and timber circles*. Stroud: Tempus.

Hubert, F. 1971. Neue Ausgrabungen im Michelsberger Erdwerk in Boitsfort (Belgien). *Germania* 49, 214–18.

Krištuf, P. and Švejcar, O. 2013. Kontinuita pohřebních areálů: struktura a vývoj pohřebiště ve Velkých Žernosekách – The continuity of burial grounds: the structure and development of the cemetery in Velké Žernoseky (northwest Bohemia). Archeologické rozhledy 65, 599–617.

Krištuf, P., Turek, J., Gojda, M., Rejšek, K., Rytíř, L., Švejcar, O. and Vranová, V. 2019. Arény předků. Posvátno a rituályna počátku eneolitu. Ancestral arenas. The cult and ritual at the beginning of the Eneolithic period. Plzeň: Západočeská univerzita v Plzni.

Kuna, M. 2002. O věcech praktických a nepraktických: Komentář k poznámkám S. Vencla. Archeologické rozhledy 54, 436–38.

Mercer, R.J. 1990. *Causewayed enclosures*. Princes Risborough: Shire.

Mordant, C. and Mordant, D. 1972. Das Neolithische Erdwerk in Noyen-sur-Seine (Dép. Seine-et-Marne). Archäologisches Korrespondenzblatt 2/3, 253–59.

Neustupný, E. 1996. On prehistoric warfare. *Journal of European Archaeology* 4, 367–73.

Neustupný, E. 2001. The origin of megalithic architecture in Bohemia and Moravia. In P. Biehl, F. Bertemes and H. Meller (eds), *The archaeology of cult and religion*, 203–07. Budapest: Archaeolingua.

Neustupný, E. 2006. Enclosures and fortifications in central Europe. In A. Harding, S. Sievers and N. Venclová (eds), *Enclosing the past: inside and outside in prehistory*, 1–4. Sheffield: Equinox Publishing.

Neustupný, E. (ed.) 2008. Archeologie pravěkých Čech/4 – Eneolit. Praha: Institute of Archaeology.

Midgley, M. 1992. *TRB culture. The first farmers of the north European plain.* Edinburgh: Edinburgh University Press. Midgley, M. 2005. *The monumental cemeteries of prehistoric Europe*. Stroud: Tempus.

Nickel, C. 1998. Menschliche Skelettreste aus Michelsberger Fundzusammenhängen: Zur Interpretation einer Fundgattung. Bericht der Römisch-Germanischen Kommission 78, 31–195.

Pietrzak, A.C. 2014. Understanding Early Neolithic human remains at causewayed enclosure sites. Unpublished PhD thesis, University of Birmingham.

Pleslová-Štiková, E. 1985. *Makotřasy: a TRB site in Bohemia.* Praha: Národní museum.

Pleslová-Štiková, E., Marek, F. and Horský, M. 1980.
A square enclosure of the Funnel Beaker culture (3500 B.C.) at Makotřasy (central Bohemia):
a palaeoastronomic structure. Archeologické rozhledy 32, 3–35.

Reiter, S. 2005. *Die beiden Michelsberger Anlagen von Bruchsal "Aue" und "Scheelkopf": Zwei ungleiche Nachbarn*. Stuttgart: Landesamt für Denkmalpflege Stuttgart.

Seidel, U. 2008. Michelsberger Erdwerke im Raum Heilbronn: Neckarsulm-Obereisesheim "Hetzenberg" und Ilsfeld "Ebene", Lkr. Heilbronn, Heilbronn-Klingenberg "Schlossberg", Stadtkreis Heilbronn. Stuttgart: Theiss.

Sherratt, A.G. 1981. Plough and pastoralism: aspects of the Secondary Products Revolution. In I. Hodder,
G. Isaac and N. Hammond (eds), *Pattern of the past. Studies in honour of David Clarke*, 261–305.
Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Socha, K. 2015. Zagadnienie tzw. domów kultowych w megalitycznym obrządku pogrzebowym ludności kultury pucharów lejkowatych w Polsce. *Folia Praehistorica Posnaniensia* 20, 497–529.

Tilley, C. 1989. Hunter-gatherers, farmers and the social structuring of material culture. In T. Larsson and H. Lundmark (eds), *Approaches to Swedish prehistory*, 239–86. Oxford: BAR.

Tilley, C. 1997. A phenomenology of landscape: places, paths and monuments. London: Berg.

Turek, J. 2005. Praha kamenná. Neolit – mladší doba kamenná; Eneolit – pozdní doba kamenná. In M. Lutovský and L. Smejtek (eds), *Pravěká Praha*, 157–348. Praha: Libri.

Turek, J. 2012. The Neolithic enclosures in transition. Tradition and change in the cosmology of early farmers in central Europe. In A. Gibson (ed.), *Enclosing the Neolithic: recent studies in Britain and Europe*, 185–201. Oxford: Archaeopress.

Turek, J. 2020. Beer, pottery, society and early European identity. Archaeologies. Journal of the World Archaeological Congress 16, 396–423.

- Turek, J. 2021. Neolithic long barrows and enclosures as landmarks of ritual landscape of central and north Bohemia. *Open Archaeology* 2021, 1674–84.
- Turek, J. 2022a. Sacred mountains and Corded Ware cosmology. From farmers to heroes? In M. Dębiec, J. Górski, J. Müller, M. Nowak, A. Pelisiak, T. Saile and P. Włodarcak (eds), Archaeological studies in honor of Sławomir Kadrow, 17–31. Bonn: Rudolf Habelt.
- Turek, J. 2022b. From long barrows to ancestral shrines: Bell Beaker monuments and cosmology in central Europe. *Archaeologies. Journal of the World Archaeological Congress* 18, 402–35.
- Vencl, S. 1997. K problému počátku pravěkých fortifikací. Sborník prací Filosofické fakulty brněnské univerzity řada archeologická 46, 29–39.
- Vencl, S. 2002. Poznámky k interpretaci ohrazení v Klech, okr. Mělník. *Archeologické rozhledy* 54, 431–36.
- Zápotocký, M. 2000. Cimburk und die Höhensiedlungen des frühen und älteren Äneolithikums in Böhmen. Památky archeologické – Supplementum 12. Praha: Institute of Archaeology.

The third millennium BC in the German lower mountain ranges: are social ties falling apart?

Clara Drummer

Abstract

In the light of recent discussion on migrations and aDNA, the example of the German lower mountain ranges during the transition from the fourth to the third millennium BC will be used to examine the extent to which migrations are visible in the archaeological material and how social connections changed during this transitional phase. To achieve this, findings on changes in pottery decorations and pottery use will be presented, as well as studies on personal ornaments as a means of expressing social roles. Furthermore, social networks are reconstructed on the basis of these ornaments and their development explained. Additional observations, such as changes in aDNA, technological changes and the increasing representation of weapons and warriors, are drawn upon to explain how the expression of social identity changed during the Final Neolithic. It is argued that social ties did not dissolve, but that the focus shifted to the social status of individuals and their importance for social networks.

Keywords: central Europe, German lower mountain ranges, Corded Ware culture, social networks, third millennium BC, social transformations, migration debate

Old ideas in new guises: aDNA studies and the migration debate

The spread of Indo-European languages has often been interpreted as the consequence of massive migrations from the north Pontic steppe to central Europe during the Final Neolithic. This has been tied to Yamnaya and Corded Ware graves because of their similarities in burial practices and grave architecture. The uniformity of the Corded Ware across Europe and Eurasia, as well as its connections to Yamnaya graves, had already been linked to linguistic developments by various researchers at the end of the nineteenth century and consistently since, amongst them G. Kossinna, M. Gimbutas, J.P. Mallory, D.W. Anthony and K. Kristiansen (Drummer 2022, 27–28; Kaiser 2017, 193–94, 198, 202, 214–15).

This historic debate of archaeologists and linguists has been reignited by the aDNAstudies of the last decades. The papers by M. Allentoft and colleagues (2015) and W. Haak



Figure 1. Investigated sites dating between 3500–2200 BC (based on Drummer 2022).

and colleagues (2015) suggested that the pan-European spread of Corded Ware groups was caused by massive migrations from the north Pontic steppe, based on the similarities of aDNA between regions. In spite of criticism of an overall generalisation and the lack of integrating local and regional studies (e.g. Furholt 2018; Kleijn *et al.* 2017), less emphasis had been laid on the social relations of the involved groups and how they may have been affected by migrations (Drummer 2022, 24–30, 209–22).

Therefore, the question of how the social relations of groups were influenced during the transition from the Late Neolithic to the Corded Ware culture is a focus of this paper, which aims to provide insights into what kind of formation of new group identities can be seen in the archaeological record. To this end, it combines different lines of evidence, such as pottery styles, indicators for migrations and results from aDNA studies. The main focus are personal ornaments as grave goods and the reconstruction of social networks based on their appearance in Late and Final Neolithic graves in the central German lower mountain ranges. Before this, a short introduction to the area of research and the local pottery groups is provided.

The third millennium BC in the German lower mountain ranges

There are now several regions where links between Corded Ware sites and local predecessors have been documented in the archaeological record. One of these is the central German lower mountain ranges (=GLMR), including the Main Valley near Frankfurt (with the Upper Rhine plain and the Wetterau region) and the surrounding hills in the centre of Germany (Figure 1). The western hills and mountains are the Westerwald, Rhenish massif and Rothaar mountains. In the centre of the study area are the East and West Hesse highlands, with the West Hesse depression. Next to the East Hesse highlands are the Knüll and the Vogelsberg mountains. In these topographically heterogeneous regions, local Late Neolithic groups are defined by different pottery styles. Amongst them is the local Wartberg pottery group, which is partly contemporary to Funnel Beaker or Pitted Ware groups in the northern parts of Europe and to southern German and circum-Alpine pottery styles such as Horgen and Cham (Figure 2).

The Late Neolithic archaeological record in the GLMR is dominated by grave finds. The Late Neolithic



Figure 2. Typochronological development in the German lower mountain ranges (WBC and MK after Raetzel-Fabian 2000, 173–75; GAC after Furholt 2003, 16 tab. 2.54; Woidich 2014, 172–73; CWC after Großmann 2016, 112 fig. 5.27; Giant Beaker after Hartz and Müller 2017, 36–37; periods for northern Europe: Kirleis *et al.* 2012, 222 fig. 45).

MK=Michelsberg pottery; WBC=Wartberg pottery; GAC=Globular Amphora pottery; CWC=Corded Ware MES=Mittel-Elbe-Saale

 ${\tt EN=Early Neolithic; MN=Middle Neolithic; YN=Younger Neolithic; LN=Late Neolithic}$

Wartberg and Bernburg pottery styles are mostly found in collective graves (Figure 2). In some of these graves remains of Globular Amphora and Corded Ware pottery and axes were found, which raised the question of a transition period between the Late and Final Neolithic (Raetzel-Fabian 2002a).

The Late Neolithic groups, here in particular the Wartberg group, are mainly characterised by their megalithic collective graves and undecorated pottery (Raetzel-Fabian 2002b, 6–8 fig. 1). These collective graves contain the remains of up to several hundred human individuals, as well as mostly undecorated coarse ware and cups (Schierhold 2012, 65–66, 75–78, 153–54). The few known settlements (n=24) with Wartberg pottery are poorly preserved and therefore less is known about settlement structures (Drummer 2022, 39 fig. 6; Pollmann 2007, 46; Schierhold 2012, 152). Pit structures have occasionally been found and interpreted as houses (Dirks 2000, 99; Schierhold 2012, 152–59). Their locations vary from lowland settings (e.g. Wittelsberg; Fiedler 1991, 26) to hilltop settlements (Pollmann 2007, 46; Schierhold 2012, 152). In contrast, Final Neolithic sites concentrate in the lower-lying areas near Frankfurt as well as in the eastern part of the research area and consist mainly of single burials associated with beaker pottery (Wiermann 2004, 46–50 fig. 2).

Typical for the Corded Ware culture are single graves under burial mounds with flexed inhumations in genderdifferentiated positions, and with grave goods such as beakers and personal ornaments (Furholt 2019, 4 fig. 1). Females are generally placed in a flexed position on their left side with their heads to the east and looking south, while males are laid on their right side with head to the west and looking south. Their orientation is along the west–east axis (Wiermann 2004, 49). In total more than 1500 graves are recorded for the Final Neolithic, while only 25 settlements are known (Drummer 2022, 60 fig. 15). As with the Late Neolithic sites, their preservation, which is influenced by soil conditions and erosion, hinders the interpretation of internal settlement structures (Hecht 2007, 245; Hille 2012, 69; Wiermann 2004, 50).

The Globular Amphora culture (=GAC) is a pottery style which is found in Late and Final Neolithic contexts in this region. Given the ¹⁴C-calibration plateaus, this pottery group can only be roughly placed around 3100 to 2600 calBC (Figure 2). The characteristic pottery, decorated amphorae, is found in graves and settlements (Woidich 2014, 12–35) and sometimes appears together with other pottery styles. The GAC has been referred to as an own group based on its wide distribution and regional differences. Usually burials with GAC pottery consist of single graves with stone cists, but multiple burials and cremations are also known (Müller 2001, 193; Szmyt 2002, 210; Woidich 2014, 107).

In addition to human burials, cattle were famously also buried in graves across the wider region of central Germany (Montag 1994, 220). The finds of cremations and cattle burials can be seen as one reason to treat the GAC as an own social group with a different burial practice instead of interpreting it as simply a specific pottery style at the end of the Neolithic (Szmyt 2003, 401, 431; Woidich 2014, 89–95, 214).

The changes in burial practices from collective graves to single graves with gender differentiation, alongside the change from coarse undecorated pottery to decorated beakers, are some of the reasons why the Final Neolithic is referred to as a substantial change in the archaeological material (Quiles 2017, 210–11; Raetzel-Fabian 2002a, 1–2, 12). However, this region has so far not been included in large-scale aDNA studies, despite these transformations and the geographical proximity to famous sites such as Eulau (Schroeder *et al.* 2019) and other graves from which samples were taken (amongst them: Esperstedt, Quedlinburg [Haak *et al.* 2015] and Halberstadt [Lipson *et al.* 2017]). Although not every burial can be considered for aDNA sampling because of preservation and simply costs, a region where Corded Ware and local Late Neolithic groups co-occur should be included in the debate surrounding the changes at the end of the third millennium BC. A possible reason that this has not happened lies in the research history of the central German lower mountain ranges, which will be briefly introduced next.

Local research history and new approaches

The study of pottery styles in this region has a long research history going back to the discovery of the megalithic graves in the eighteenth and nineteenth century and with a peak in the early twentieth century (Schierhold 2012, 6-7). The first description of Corded Ware pottery in central Germany was already published in 1884 (Großmann 2016, 33). These early discoveries were paired with attempts at placing them into the typological development of pottery styles, which was not yet established at this time. Naturally, chronological and stylistic developments were the focus of researchers and with the advent of more advanced dating methods the refinement of chronologies was emphasised (Großmann 2016, 36). Socio-cultural questions became more important (for example Müller 2001) along with the increasing criticism of archaeological cultures, followed by questions on social structures (Drummer 2019, 46). Although new excavations and finds were published, research which focused on the social transformation between Late and Final Neolithic in this region was lacking (Drummer 2019, 46).

In the attempt, some challenges had to be overcome. The first challenge was the distinction between Late and Final Neolithic sites per se, as this differentiation is based on the different pottery decorations and systematic comparisons between Late and Final Neolithic groups were not made. Traditionally, scholars focused only on the distinction of pottery decoration between Late and Final Neolithic sites and assumed that these reflected distinct social or cultural groups. In contrast, in this work, neither were definitions of social groups based solely on pottery decorations, nor was a distinction in the sense of a chronological break made between Late and Final Neolithic. Instead, ceramic plurality was considered as one possibly contemporary mixture of styles with local differences, where different styles may have different regional and chronological distribution foci (Drummer 2022).

The second challenge was that building an absolute chronology is hampered by the ¹⁴C-calibration plateau, so that an exact chronological development cannot be reconstructed for the transitional phase based on ¹⁴C-dates. ¹⁴C-dating cannot per se distinguish between the re-use of a Late Neolithic site after a break, or a smooth

transition at the same site (Drummer 2022, 63–65). Every date, even if it did not fit the expectation, was included in this study (except for those exhibiting sample quality issues, such as insufficient data quality and failed control tests).

Although the use of a different pottery decoration was often seen as the only necessary indication of different group identity (Bernbeck 1997, 231–50; Jones 1997, 110–12; Sackett 1977, 377–79; Schortmann 1989, 56; Zeeb-Lanz 2003, 246–47), in this article it was considered as only one possible part of expressing social group identity. Groups can perform their identity through different media, and not all groups necessarily use the same medium (Drummer 2022, 17–20).

As an attempt to investigate if some pottery decorations were preferred or neglected in the study area and to see if there are geographic differences that could indicate different group identities, the amount of different pottery decorations per site and their association to a pottery style were researched. It could be observed that choices were made depending on the kind of site (settlement or grave) and also between local and non-local pottery styles in different regions.

The distribution of different pottery decorations (Bernburg, Elb-Havel, Globular Amphora and Corded Ware pottery) in Late Neolithic sites shows that some sites contain non-local pottery, such as Bernburg pottery in typical Wartberg graves. While the local Late Neolithic pottery (Wartberg or Bernburg) dominates in the material of typical Wartberg or Bernburg graves, the respective other, non-local style was also present in some of the collective graves (Table 1). Because the total sum of pottery cannot be counted based on publications and existing catalogues, the counts of non-local pottery in relation to the unknown amount (=99) of local pottery were given. But always a few non-local pottery decorations are found in both contexts — graves and settlements (Table 1).

While non-local Late Neolithic pottery decorations (Wartberg or Bernburg) are commonly found in settlement contexts, Corded Ware is absent in Late Neolithic settlements, but mainly found in Late Neolithic grave contexts. Globular Amphora decoration is found in both graves and settlement contexts. This can be interpreted as a distinction between burial practices and settlement activities (Drummer 2022, 77-78), as it appears that choices regarding preferences for certain pottery decorations were made depending on the context. It supports the argument that Corded Ware activities in collective graves are more widespread than previously stated (Raetzel-Fabian 2002a, 11 fig. 7), thus underlining the existence of a transitional phase, where Corded Ware decorations on pottery were used in Late Neolithic collective graves.

Site type	Site name	WBC	ввс	EHC	GAC	cwc
Collective grave	Altendorf	99				4
	Warburg I	99				2
	Henglarn II	99				1
	Rimbeck	99				1
	Wewelsburg I	99			6	1
	Hiddingsen	99			1	
	Hohenwepel	99			1	
	Lohra	99	1	1		
	Muschenheim	99				5
	Niedertiefenbach	99				1
	Züschen I	99				6
	Börnecke		99			1
	Ditfurt		99			1
	Frohndorf		99	1		
	Gotha		99	1		
	Latdorf		99			1
	Mittelhausen		99	1		
	Niederbösa		99			1
	Schönstedt	1	99			
	Wandersleben		99	1		
Sum for graves without 99	40	1	1	5	8	25
Settlement	Bürgel bei Gudensberg	99	15	8	4	1
	Wartberg bei Kirchberg	99	8	1	2	
	Güntersberg	99	7		2	
	Hasenberg bei Lohne	99	5	2	1	1
	Wittelsberg	99	1	1		
	Hungen-Inheiden	99				
	Calden	99				
	Odenberg					
	Lich					
	Wiesbaden Hebenkies					
Sum for settlements without 99	59		36	12	9	2

Table 1. Number of decorated sherds of a given style in graves and settlements in the study region. WBC = Wartberg pottery; BBC = Bernburg pottery; EHC= Elb-Havel pottery; GAC = Globular Amphora pottery; CWC=Corded Ware pottery; 99 = indefinite number (data after Drummer 2022, 76 tabs 13–14).

Regional case study for social transformations

Since Final Neolithic pottery styles occur in Late Neolithic contexts, the question arises if these reflect two different group identities or if this is one group that changed its identity expression over time. For the investigation of group identities, burial contexts are considered good sources, because a burial of a deceased person is an important social event for a group (Gramsch 2010, 11). Therefore, graves are the place and occasion where a group can reaffirm its shared identity during the burial (Gramsch 2015, 346; Veit 2008, 49, 51).

In this case, comparing collective graves with single burials and comparing undecorated pottery with decorated pottery would be comparing apples and oranges. Instead, grave goods with a possible social significance were chosen, in this case personal ornaments such as perforated animal tooth pendants, shells, boar tusks, small copper artefacts and amber. A large amount of such ornaments were found in both grave types (Drummer 2022, sup. 14, 15). Ethnoarchaeological studies document that personal ornaments serve multiple functions, amongst them holding symbolic meanings (Geßner 2005, 3; or the Turkana example: Wiessner 1989; Williams 1987, 37). For example, while belt buckles have a functional purpose, aesthetic choices were also made during production, such as the chosen material and decorations. Some of these elements can also have religious, magical, therapeutic or apotropaic meanings (Geßner 2005, 2-3; Volz-Kinzler 1969, 10-19; 78-85). As an archaeological find, personal ornaments open the possibility to study social meaning, because they function as non-verbal group communication and can express group identity (Geßner 2005, 1, 3-4; Mühlmann 1985, 19; Taylor 2016, 40).

Especially adornments on clothes often function as a medium to express social roles based on age/gender (Roach and Eicher 1965, 58), such as the tooth pendants in this case. Animal teeth can be found in large quantities in Late and Final Neolithic graves, predominantly perforated canine teeth. Sometimes the teeth were also imitated in bone. The imitation of these teeth and the repairs of some actual canine teeth can be seen as evidence of the high social value of these goods (Deschler-Erb et al. 2002, 311–13; Geßner 2004, 20). A considerable amount of time was invested to create these ornaments, in particular taking into account the large numbers of pieces. In addition, animal teeth had to be distributed and shared amongst people (Drummer 2022, 102-04). Consequently, personal ornaments were chosen as a test case to establish the relation between different social groups. First, groups based on age/gender are reconstructed for Late and Final Neolithic graves separately, then the reconstruction of social networks is presented.

For the Late Neolithic, the association of personal ornaments with individuals in collective graves is problematic given the repeated manipulation of inhumations in these graves. There were only five graves in which it was possible to associate personal ornaments with a total of 24 individuals (Drummer 2022, sup. 14). Therefore, the results for age/gender groups are neither conclusive nor representative for the Late Neolithic graves.

Based on the catalogue of ornaments by K. Geßner (2004), some conclusion on social roles can be drawn. Gender was determined by the body position of the inhumation burials. In total, the gender and age of a deceased individual could be determined in 145 out of 159 graves (Drummer 2022, 109 fig. 37). In the next step, the frequency of personal ornaments with certain genders/ages was investigated (Drummer 2022, 109–18). Ornaments such as boar tusks or bone pins are often personal items of male adult or mature individuals. Adult female and juvenile individuals often received other animal teeth, shell and amber objects. Younger individuals (juveniles, infants) had copper artefacts and beads as grave goods (Drummer 2022, 117–18).

In some cases, the biological sex or age derived from physical anthropology did not correspond with these rules. This suggests that a personal ornament was not used to express the individuality of the deceased but rather the assignment of this individual to specific social roles (Bücke et al. 1989, 83; Drummer 2022, 118; Geßner 2005, 6). Based on these findings, the social roles of elderly men, adult and subadult females and children seem to be associated with specific personal ornaments. This tradition of formal grave good sets continues into the Bronze Age and serves as an important medium for expressing social roles (Drummer 2022, 118). Moreover, based on the personal ornaments, the social relations between buried individuals can now be studied based on the reconstruction of their networks (Drummer 2022, 149).

Social networks based on personal ornaments

By studying social networks with the help of social network analysis, the focus is not on the objects but on their relation to each other (Terrell 2013, 19). This enables the reconstruction of social networks based on archaeological material. This case study concerns relations of grave goods (personal ornaments), which do not mirror the actual social status of a living individual but represent a display of their social importance as a deceased individual (Drummer 2022, 149–50).

As a methodological approach, the objects and their types were defined by the associated archaeological culture name; ¹⁴C-dates were preferred for their



Figure 3. Graph of social network of personal ornaments for phase 1 from 3500–3000 BC.

chronological differentiation. If not available, the pottery style was used to assign the grave. Where the ¹⁴C-date is younger than the archaeological pottery style, for instance where a Late Neolithic collective grave has a 14C-date consistent with a Corded Ware attribution, both archaeological groups were considered as possible. This was done to open the archaeological group definitions, and in order to indicate the transition phase often represented in collective graves (Drummer 2022, 150; Rinne et al. 2019). Due to the shape of the ¹⁴C-calibration curve and the plateaus, as well as typochronological issues, the phases do not have the same time interval and therefore may not represent smaller or short-term developments. However, larger developments and especially possible large-scale social changes may be made visible with this method.

The reconstructed social networks were investigated by analysing the centrality and connectiveness between the nodes (in this case the graves). Changes and shifts in different phases were interpreted according to the following questions:

- Do these changes indicate different social meanings in the funeral contexts?
- Is there a discernible "destruction" of Late Neolithic group identity?
- If so, is a new Final Neolithic group identity discernible, which is distinct from the previous one?
- How is the transitional phase from Late to Final Neolithic reflected in the social networks of graves?

The personal ornaments are sorted by grave, as it was not possible to associate them with single individuals in every case. The total quantity as a percentage of the object category and amount per grave was used to sort ornaments on the basis of a similarity matrix using the Jaccard-coefficient. This coefficient is suitable for large datasets where some information is missing (Jaccard 1912, 42–45), for example where the total number of animal teeth is unknown. The social network graphs are undirected, and each node is one grave. None of the nodes were filtered or edited. In addition to the graphs, the following centrality values were used for further investigation:





Degree of centrality: total amount of direct connections of a node to all other nodes. A value of 0 means that all nodes have the same number of direct connections, while 1 means that one node is the centre of the network and all other nodes have only one direct connection to this node (Schweizer 1996, 183–86).

Closeness centrality: shows the shortest path between nodes and reflects the effectiveness and dependency between nodes. The normalised average distance between the single nodes is used (Brandes 2001, 163–77; Isaksen 2013, 61–63; Schweizer 1996, 183–86, 188). Betweenness centrality: shows the indirect connections between nodes and reflects to which extent two nodes are connected via another node which has control over this link. Here, the shortest path between two nodes is calculated with the possibility that a node lies in between them (Brandes 2001, 163–77; Isaksen 2013, 61–63; Schweizer 1996, 183–86, 188).

These values provide information about which nodes are important due to their connections within the network, but also about the influence of every individual node within the network. Not only can the



Figure 5. Graph of social network of personal ornaments for phase 2a from 3000–2600 BC.

overall network connectiveness and its structure be studied and interpreted, but structural changes can also be detected by comparing the temporal development of the network in different phases.

Social network analysis

A total of 155 personal ornaments from 24 Late Neolithic burial contexts and 16,252 from 266 Final Neolithic burial contexts were used to calculate similarity matrices for four different chronological phases. These will now be presented phase by phase.

Phase 1: 3500-3000 BC

Geographically, the social network of the first phase covers the whole research area with its centre in the eastern part. Regional subgroups are not visually prominent, but the betweenness centrality suggests some regional subgroups. For example, the group of nodes nr. 108, 109, 113 can be considered as a small regional subgroup (Figure 3).

The connections between nodes are independent of their betweenness centrality, meaning even nodes with a low betweenness centrality do not have fewer connections to other nodes than nodes with high betweenness centralities. The degree of centrality ranges from 6 to 27.3, with most between 13.1 and 20.2. This can thus be considered as a not highly centralised network.

The distributions of closeness centrality show a similar pattern, with values between 0.5-1.0. The majority of values are between 0.7 and 0.87, reflecting the close and direct connection of most of the nodes with very little variation. Therefore, the network in phase 1 is characterised by direct connections between nodes and only a few nodes control the connection between other nodes based on the betweenness centralities (Figure 4).

Phase 2a: 3000-2600 BC

In the next phase, the whole network and its density shrink because the distant nodes are now absent. Some Final Neolithic graves appear as nodes, but Late Neolithic nodes are also still part of the network. The centre continues to be in the geographically eastern part of the research area (Figure 5).

The closeness and betweenness centralities become more homogeneous, with one exception (Nr. 149). None of the nodes has an exceptionally high centrality value. Among the nodes with higher values are Late Neolithic



Figure 6. Centrality values for phase 2a from 3000–2600 BC. X-axis corresponds to the node number and y-axis to its centrality value.

	Averaged degree of centrality	Network density	Averaged cluster coefficient*
Late Neolithic	46.269	0.701	0.866
Final Neolithic	116.555	0.416	0.913

Table 2. Comparison of overall network values. * cluster coefficient after Latapy (2008).



Figure 7. Graph of social network of personal ornaments for phase 2b from 2600–2500 BC.

(Nr. 94, 113, 149, 178) as well as Final Neolithic ones (Nr. 373, 384, 501, 505). No disruption in the social network is discernible, as no gaps or disconnections are evident (Figure 6).

Phase 2b: 2600-2500 BC

Again, the network's centre is in the eastern part of the study area. However, clusters of nodes now appear, and the centrality values vary: overall, the network becomes denser because there are many nodes with low closeness centralities. The nodes in the eastern part that stand out are those with higher betweenness centralities due to their many connections (Figure 7).

Many of the nodes become more centralised based on their high degree of centrality and betweenness centrality values. The distribution of closeness centrality is split into two groups. One group has low closeness centralities and another, larger group has values in the middle range. Single nodes stand out due to their higher betweenness centralities and therefore influence the network more than the other nodes. This can be seen as the beginning of a centralisation of the network, where single nodes become more important (Figure 8). In their late phases of use, collective graves (Nr. 68, 78, 89) have high degrees of centrality, while some (Nr. 60, 66, 68, 78, 89, 92) also have a higher betweenness centrality. However, they are not ruling over the network, i.e. they have more connections but do not dominate over other nodes. Among the Final Neolithic graves, nodes 415, 469, 929 and 1041 are more centralised based on their centrality degree, but do not have many connections based on their closeness centrality. A change within the network becomes visible, characterised by some nodes having more connections, while other nodes have a greater impact on the network. This is regardless of their assignment to the Late or Final Neolithic.

Phase 3: 2500-2300 BC

In the last phase, the Late Neolithic graves are located north of the mountain range. In addition, the development of many nodes with homogeneous closeness centralities and single nodes with higher betweenness centralities continues. This is also reflected in all of the values (Figures 9–10).







Figure 8. Centrality values for phase 2b from 2600–2500 BC. X-axis corresponds to the node number and y-axis to its centrality value.



Figure 9. Graph of social network of personal ornaments for phase 3 from 2500–2300 BC.

Comparison of overall network values

The trend that single nodes become more dominant in the network based on their betweenness centrality can be confirmed by the overall network values. The average centrality value in phases 1 and 2a is comparable, with values between 17.6 and 18.7 (Table 2). In phase 2b, this value drops significantly to 7.0 and reaches its maximum in phase 3 with 36.9.

This can be explained as a dissolution of the network structure in phase 2b, i.e. between 2600–2500 BC. This process already began in phase 2a with a decrease in the network's centrality and a sparser network density. The latter starts to increase in phase 2b, and the grouping of nodes begins to cluster and become more centralised through direct connections. In phase 3, the network reaches its lowest density, while the clusters of nodes become increasingly dominant. This can also be seen in the averaged cluster coefficients of the different phases. In phase 2b the lowest point is reached and in phase 3 the peak. This effect is described as a small-world-effect, in which the nodes are only indirectly connected via individual nodes that act as "communication hubs". In this case, the dominant nodes from phase 2b also dominate in phase 3, for example in the case of Late Neolithic graves 60, 68, 78, 79 and 91, to which nodes 104 and 108 are added in phase 3. In phase 2b, Final Neolithic graves are the nodes with higher closeness and betweenness centralities and these graves become even more dominant in phase 3. These findings can now be interpreted in terms of the social relations during the transitional phase at the end of Neolithic.

Shape of social ties through the third millennium BC

The social relations based on the network of personal ornaments as grave goods indicate a decline between 2600 and 2500 BC (phase 2b). This was at a time when the Corded Ware had already appeared in this region. It can therefore be concluded that the Corded Ware was not the trigger for these changes. In addition, collective graves are also part of the social network at this time and some of these collective graves have strong evidence for Corded Ware presence, for example at Altendorf (Drummer 2023; Rinne *et al.* 2019, 81–83).

This is followed by a phase characterised by increasing centralisation. Clusters and single nodes emerge, which hold the indirect connections of the network and thus



betweenness centrality





Figure 10. Centrality values for phase 3 from 2500–2300 BC. X-axis corresponds to the node number and y-axis to its centrality value.

dominate it. The nodes are graves both from the Late and Final Neolithic, and some of the nodes with a dominance of the network maintain their position also in phase 3.

This shows that the network does not change completely but transforms through a defragmentation and clustering process, where social ties had fallen apart completely. Instead, local and direct connections transform into a network of supra-regional hubs, which are connected by prominent nodes of the network.

In terms of the archaeological interpretation of the changes in the third millennium BC, the developments based on the social networks allow us to draw some new conclusions. Firstly, the Late and Final Neolithic graves together form a social network. They cannot be divided into two separate groups, since during the transitional phases (phase 2a and 2b) graves from both archaeological units form the network. This is supported by the fact that the graves which dominate the network do not come from only one archaeological classification unit. Secondly, the social decline takes place chronologically after the first introduction of the Corded Ware in this region. There must have been a coexistence of Late and Final Neolithic elements which did not immediately lead to social conflict. Thirdly, the phases after 2500 BC can be described as an increasing centralisation of social networks, while Late Neolithic graves were still in use. It can be argued that the conflict was resolved without abandoning all former graves and thus neglecting the past. It seems more likely that regional and local developments disappeared in the supraregional elements of what archaeologists associate with the Corded Ware and Final Neolithic. This phenomenon will now be examined in more detail.

Discussion: local and supra-regional phenomena of the third millennium BC

As in the case of Altendorf (Rinne *et al.* 2019) some of the Late Neolithic collective graves show traces of Final Neolithic activities. These activities include archaeological finds such as axes, rock art or Corded Ware pottery and are additionally evidenced in ¹⁴C-dates on human remains, such as possible Corded Ware burials in collective graves (Drummer 2022, 225–28). This has been known for a long time and is often referred to as a re-use of collective graves. However, the character of the re-use was uncertain, as it was not known whether it was an appropriation of former graves or whether they were actually used as Final Neolithic graves. With the case of Altendorf and the extensive ¹⁴C-dating of human remains, it has been demonstrated that this re-use was connected to funerary activities and lasted far longer than previously thought.

This does not mean that every Late Neolithic collective grave has the same long-term use. Instead, the ¹⁴C-dates on the human remains from the collective grave at Niedertiefenbach indicate intensive use of the grave in different phases between 3200 and 3100 calBC (Meadows *et al.* 2020, 20). Here, different local practices appear and need to be taken into consideration. Similarly, preliminary aDNA results of collective graves from this region also show local differences.

The aDNA analyses from Niedertiefenbach show close kinship relations between individuals and across different phases of grave use (Immel *et al.* 2019). The genetic makeup of these humans based on their haplogroups includes a strong component of individuals with so-called "hunter-gatherer" signatures, instead of an expected predominance of what is generally called "Neolithic" ancestry. Haplogroups associated with people from the north Pontic steppe and referred to as "Yamnaya" are also missing.

In comparison, the preliminary results for the individuals from Altendorf show a different genetic make-up: they are mostly characterised by haplogroups that have not so far been linked to specific archaeological events or time periods, in the way some haplogroups are for example "typical" for the so-called Early Farmer populations and associated with the spread of the Neolithic lifestyle in central Europe (Drummer 2022, 197–201). However, "Neolithic" components absent in Niedertiefenbach are present at Altendorf. This shows local differences between the collective graves in terms of the genetic make-up of the buried individuals, but also in the temporal depth of grave use (Drummer 2022, 201–02).

Coming back to the question of migrations from the north Pontic steppe, recent aDNA studies provide a deeper understanding of possible migrations. The aforementioned steppe component in the aDNA is visible in Y-chromosome haplogroup R (Haak et al. 2015, 208). Certain subgroups of this haplogroup (R1b1a1b1b for the marker R-M269 and R1a1a1b2 for marker R-M41, after Borges 2019) have been linked to a possible migration from the north Pontic steppe. By using open-access databases, 38 samples with matching R-subgroups were found, of which 12 samples originate from three German sites in close proximity to the research area (Drummer 2022, 217-19 fig. 91). The oldest of these samples dates to the Younger Neolithic and comes from a Baalberge burial in Quedlinburg (Drummer 2022, 220-21). This echoes the results of aDNA studies on burials from south-east and central Europe, where a steppe component was detected in the middle of the fifth millennium BC in two individuals from Bulgaria (Varna I and Smyadovo) (Mathieson et al. 2018, 4). Therefore, the first appearance outside the north Pontic steppes occurred before the third millennium BC and the highest peak was not reached until the Bronze Age (Haak et al. 2015, 208; Mathieson et al. 2018, 4). This shows that massive migration may not have been the reason for the spread of these haplogroups during the Final Neolithic in central Europe. An increase of the specific haplogroups seems to happen during the

Weapons in Corded Ware burials	Oldest	Older	Middle	Sum
Axe	3	60	72	135
Adze	10	59	131	200
Arrow	1	1	31	33
Dagger	0	1	0	1
Wrist-guard/bracer	0	0	7	7
Other	0	1	1	2
Sum	14	122	242	378

Table 3. Corded Ware burials with weapons as grave goods (after Großmann 2016). Typochronological phases of Corded Ware after Figure 2.

Neolithic, where multiple migrations or movements of people from different locations may have contributed to these genetic trends. The history seems rather complex and needs further research (Wang *et al.* 2019).

Nevertheless, migrations did take place and had an influence on social ties and group identities during the Final Neolithic. Therefore, some possible indicators for migrations in the archaeological material will now be presented. This is based on D. Anthony's (1990, 900–05) work on forms of migrations and their possible evidence in the archaeological material.

For example, imported goods or transferred technologies can be an indicator of migrations. In the case of pottery, some Corded Ware decorations from the German lower mountain ranges have been compared with Yamnaya pottery (Shishlina 2008, 60–68, esp. 68 fig. 43), however the typical round base of Yamnaya pottery is not found in the GLMR during the Late and Final Neolithic. Cord impression on pottery already occurs in Late Neolithic contexts, but not in large numbers. This could be interpreted as migrations of single individuals and/or smaller groups who brought their pottery (or technology) with them.

Copper artefacts, in particular the change from flat axes to adzes during the Final Neolithic, can be considered a second indicator for migration. Interestingly, some studies argue for a west–east technology transfer, but focus on the Baltic Sea (Libera *et al.* 2009). Also, an increase of copper finds has been observed for the German lower mountain ranges, but only in parts of the region during specific times (Drummer 2022, 146). This makes it difficult to interpret them as traces of migrations, because it is unclear whether this distribution pattern is due to preservation, or to copper as a new material being neglected. If migrating groups introduced copper finds, they would only be locally distributed in the GLMR.

A third aspect could be the changes in social organisation, such as the emergence of age/gender roles and the introduction of warrior stelae. Given the pan-European scale of distribution of these monuments, a largescale effect caused by long-distance migrations is implied. This contradicts all the other indicators, which point to local or smaller scales of migrations with regional differences (Drummer 2022, 212).

The strongest parallel between the central European material and Yamnaya sites is seen in burial practices, as both comprise single graves located under burial mounds. The biggest difference in burial practices is the lack of gender-specific deposition rules for the deceased in Yamnaya graves (Häusler 1992, 344). Ochre is also missing in Corded Ware burials (Kaiser and Schier 2009, 21; Shishlina 2008, 44, 47), as are organic remains that could be compared with the Yamnaya finds (Furholt 2014, 82; Heyd 2016, 56–65; Morgunova and Turetskij 2016, 141).

All of these results do not show strong evidence for large-scale migrations, but rather that migrations of smaller groups may have taken place and that this may have been the case even before the Corded Ware emerged. This means that an aggressive intrusion of foreign people replacing indigenous cultural traditions is not visible at the beginning of the Corded Ware in the German lower mountain ranges. There is neither a strict distinction between Late and Final Neolithic graves, nor does the aDNA indicate replacement by a dominant haplogroup. Moreover, the social network shows a decline long after the first appearance of Final Neolithic finds. After this decline, the social network transforms more and more into a centralised network. This can be described as a transformation in the sense of a transition from A to B rather than an abrupt cut-off point followed by a replacement with something completely new and foreign.

Another aspect contributes to this conclusion of a transformation instead of a sudden replacement: among the Final Neolithic grave goods are weapons, especially arrowheads and axes, which can be seen as indicators of tense relations and conflicts. The distribution of weapons according to the relative typochronology shows that the majority do not date to the first phases of the Corded Ware culture (Table 3). This means that the practice of using weapons as grave goods came later and seems to be more a reflection of status and dominance around 2600 BC. This fits into the development of the social networks, where single outstanding nodes dominate the social network and had a stronger impact and therefore higher status within the network.

This becomes even more relevant when one considers that there are gender- and age-specific rules for personal ornaments in graves. It is important to note that these rules seem to be connected to the representation of the social category to which an individual belonged, which does not necessarily reflect the reality of their life. For example, boar tusks were grave goods for older male individuals, but some child burials were also found to have such grave goods. These findings are important for the interpretation of social ties based on grave goods, both for the weapons and the personal ornaments (Drummer 2022, 116–18).

The display shown in Final Neolithic graves begins to highlight single individuals and their social (imagined) roles within their societies. Based on social networks, single graves had a stronger influence on the networks. Therefore it seems logical that the focus of social expression within burial practices falls more and more on single individuals, who had more influence on the networks than others based on their grave goods, which were given to them by their social group (Drummer 2022, 225–27). This phenomenon is also reflected in the anthropomorphic stelae and warrior representations (Drummer 2022, 128–29; Robb 2009, 174–77; 2015, 647–48). It is not actual conflict or aggression that is shown, but its increasing social importance.

This is in contrast to previous, collective burial practices, where single individuals did not stand out within the burial collective. This is a profound change of burial practices, where social groups no longer reaffirm their identity by expressing their collectiveness, but rather accord social importance to the individual deceased. But as shown here, it was a change that evolved over decades and centuries. While supra-regional phenomena such as Corded Ware pottery, single burials under mounds, weapons and warrior representations appear everywhere, studies of local technologies and regional differences point strongly to local continuities and heterogeneous developments in various regions (Drummer 2022, 223–36).

Social transformation in the German lower mountain ranges during the third millennium BC

Instead of a horizon of destruction in the Final Neolithic, the social network in the German lower mountain ranges during the fourth to the third millennium BC shows profound social changes, leading to centralisation over time. Funerary modes of expression shift from a focus on the collective to a focus on outstanding individuals and their social roles within the group. Based on genderspecific deposition rules for grave goods, it could be shown

that the social role of the individual was emphasised in Final Neolithic single burials. This fits with the trend of single graves beginning to dominate social networks and with the increasing representation of warriors through weapon finds in Final Neolithic graves and supra-regional phenomena such as warrior stelae. But these supraregional phenomena appear differently in each local context and were adapted differently. Therefore, it has been argued here that social ties had changed profoundly without falling apart completely. In the process, a new mode of social expression emerged out of the earlier context; this is the focus on the social role of an individual and their status within the networks. However, earlier burial practices, such as the use of collective graves, were not completely abandoned. This case study shows the complexity of social developments during this time, which cannot be explained by one single massive migration event.

Acknowledgements

This research was funded by the German Research Foundation (DFG), project number 2901391021 – SFB 1266. I also thank Jonathan Ethier (Kiel University) for his contribution, which improved this paper, and the editors for their patient and helpful support.

References

- Allentoft, M.E. [+34 others] and Willerslev, E. 2015. Population genomics of Bronze Age Eurasia. *Nature* 522, 167–72.
- Anthony, D.W. 1990. Migration in archaeology: the baby and the bathwater. *American Anthropologist* 92, 895–914.
- Bernbeck, R. 1997. *Theorien in der Archäologie*. Tübingen: A. Francke.
- Brandes, U. 2001. A faster algorithm for betweenness centrality. *Journal of Mathematical Sociology* 25, 163–77.
- Bücke, S., Barthel, H.-J. and Gall, W. 1989. Beiträge zur Kultur der Mitteldeutschen Schnurkeramiker III. Alt-Thüringen 24, 33–116.
- Dirks, U. 2000. *Die Bernburger Kultur in Niedersachsen*. Rahden: Marie Leidorf.
- Deschler-Erb, S., Marti-Grädel, E. and Schibler, J. 2002. Die Knochen-, Zahn- und Geweihartefakte. In A. de Capitani and U. Leuzinger (eds), *Die jungsteinzeitlichte Seeufersiedlung Arbon-Bleiche 3: Funde. Archäologie im Thurgau 11*. Frauenfeld: Amt für Archäologie.
- Drummer, C. 2019. Vom Kollektiv zum Individuum: Transformationsprozesse am Übergang vom 4. zum 3. Jahrtausend v. Chr. in der Deutschen Mittelgebirgszone. Unpublished PhD dissertation, Universität zu Kiel.
- Drummer, C. 2022. Vom Kollektiv zum Individuum: Transformationsprozesse am Übergang vom 4.

zum 3. Jahrtausend v. Chr. in der Deutschen Mittelgebirgszone. Scales of Transformation in Prehistoric and Archaic Societies 13. Leiden: Sidestone Press.

- Drummer, C. 2023. Grabhandlungen oder Handlungen am Grab? Die Bedeutung schnurkeramischer Scherben und unterschiedlicher Bestattungskonzepte am Beispiel des Galeriegrabes Altendorf, Lkr. Kassel. In N. Balkowski, I. Hohle, K. Hofmann and A. Schülke (eds), Mensch – Körper – Tod. Der Umgang mit menschlichen Überresten im Neolithikum Mitteleuropas, 267–88. Leiden: Sidestone Press.
- Fiedler, L. 1991. Eine befestigte Siedlung der Jungsteinzeit bei Wittelsberg, Kreis Marburg-Biedenkopf. Zur Archäologie des 4. und 3. Jahrtausends vor Christus. Denkmalpflege in Hessen 1991, 23–27.
- Furholt, M. 2003. Die absolutchronologische Datierung der Schnurkeramik in Mitteleuropa und Südskandinavien. Universitätsforschungen zur prähistorischen Archäologie 101. Bonn: Rudolf Habelt.
- Furholt, M. 2014. Upending a "totality": re-evaluating Corded Ware variability in Late Neolithic Europe. *Proceedings of the Prehistoric Society* 80, 67–86.
- Furholt, M. 2018. Massive migrations? The impact of recent aDNA studies on our view of third millennium Europe. *European Journal of Archaeology* 21, 159–91.
- Furholt, M. 2019. Re-integrating archaeology: a contribution to aDNA studies and the migration discourse on the 3rd millennium BC in Europe. *Proceedings of the Prehistoric Society* 85, 115–29.
- Geßner, K. 2004. *Endneolithischer Schmuck aus dem Mittelelbe-Saale-Gebiet*. Unpublished PhD dissertation, Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin.
- Geßner, K. 2005. Vom Zierrat zum Zeichen von Identitäten: Soziokulturelle Betrachtungen auf der Grundlage des endneolithischen Schmucks im Mittelelbe-Saale-Gebiet. *Ethnographisch-Archäologische Zeitschrift* 46, 1–26.
- Gramsch, A. 2010. Ritual und Kommunikation. Altersklassen und Geschlechterdifferenz im spätbronze- und früheisenzeitlichen Gräberfeld Cottbus Alvensleben-Kaserne (Brandenburg). Universitätsforschungen zur prähistorischen Archäologie 181. Bonn: Rudolf Habelt.
- Gramsch, A. 2015. Culture, change, identity approaches to the interpretation of cultural change. *Anthropologie* 53, 341–49.
- Großmann, R. 2016. Das dialektische Verhältnis von Schnurkeramik und Glockenbecher zwischen Rhein und Saale. Universitätsforschungen zur prähistorischen Archäologie 287. Bonn: Rudolf Habelt.
- Haak, W. [+37 others] and Reich, D. 2015. Massive migration from the steppe was a source for Indo-European languages in Europe. *Nature* 522, 207–11.
- Hartz, S. and Müller, J. 2017. Riesenbecher reloaded. Die mediale Bedeutung einer Fundkategorie und ein einzigartiger Keramikbefund von Göhl LA 142.

In B. Valentin (ed.), *Interaktion ohne Grenzen: Beispiele archäologischer Forschungen am Beginn des 21. Jahrhunderts*, 35–47. Schleswig: Stiftung Schleswig-Holsteinische Landesmuseen.

- Häusler, A. 1992. Zum Verhältnis von Ockergrabkultur und Schnurkeramik. In M. Buchvaldek (ed.), Die Kontinentaleuropäischen Gruppen der Kultur mit Schnurkeramik. Schnurkeramik-Symposium 1990. Praehistorica: Acta Instituti Archaeologici Universitatis Carolinae Pragensis 19, 341–48. Prag: Univerzita Karlova.
- Hecht, D. 2007. Das schnurkeramische Siedlungswesen im südlichen Mitteleuropa. Eine Studie zu einer vernachlässigten Fundgattung im Übergang vom Neolithikum zur Bronzezeit. Unpublished PhD dissertation, Universität Heidelberg.
- Heyd, V. 2016. Das Zeitalter der Ideologien: Migration,
 Interaktion und Expansion im prähistorischen Europa des 4. und 3. Jahrtausends v. Chr. In M. Furholt,
 R. Großmann and M. Szmyt (eds), *Transitional landscapes? The 3rd millennium BC in Europe*.
 Proceedings of the international workshop "Socioenvironmental dynamics over the last 12,000 years: the creation of landscapes III (15th–18th April 2013)" in Kiel. Universitätsforschungen zur Prähistorischen Archäologie 292, 53–84. Bonn: Rudolf Habelt.
- Hille, A. 2012. *Die Glockenbecherkultur in Mitteldeutschland.* Halle: Landesamt für Denkmalpflege und Archäologie Sachsen-Anhalt, Landesmuseum für Vorgeschichte.
- Immel, A., Pierini, F., Rinne, C., Meadows, J., Barquera, R., Szolek, A., Susat, J., Böhme, L., Dose, J. and Bonczarowska, J. 2021. Genome-wide study of a Neolithic Wartberg grave community reveals distinct HLA variation and hunter-gatherer ancestry. *Communications Biology* 4, 1–10.
- Isaksen, L. 2013. "O what a tangled web we weave" towards a practice that does not deceive. In C. Knappett (ed.), Network analysis in archaeology. New approaches to regional interaction, 43–70. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Jones, S. 1997. *The archaeology of ethnicity. Constructing identities in the past and present*. London: Routledge.
- Kaiser, E. 2017. Das Wandern ist des Hirten Lust! Der osteuropäische Steppenraum in der Diskussion um die Ausbreitung der indogermanischen Grundsprache.
 In F. Wiedemann, K. Hofmann and H.-J. Gehrke (eds), Vom Wandern der Völker. Migrationserzählungen in den Altertumswissenschaften, 191–222. Berlin: Topoi.
- Kaiser, E. and Schier, W. 2009. Mobilität, Migration und Innovation als archäologischer Forschungsgegenstand. Jahrbuch der historischen Forschung in der Bundesrepublik Deutschland 2008, 17–30.
- Kirleis, W., Klooß, S., Kroll, H. and Müller, J. 2012. Crop growing and gathering in the northern German

Neolithic: a review supplemented by new results. *Vegetation History and Archaeobotany* 21, 221–42.

- Klejn, L.S., Haak, W., Lazaridis, I., Patterson, N., Reich, D., Kristiansen, K., Sjögren, K.-G., Allentoft, M., Sikora, M. and Willerslev, E. 2017. Discussion: are the origins of Indo-European languages explained by the migration of the Yamnaya culture to the west? *European Journal* of Archaeology 21, 1–15.
- Libera, J., Sobieraj, J. and Konopla, V. 2009. Some Late Neolithic stone axes as potential markers of cultural exchange in Baltic-Pontic inter-regional routes. *Baltic-Pontic Studies* 14, 223–31.
- Lipson, M. [+25 others] and Reich, D. 2017. Parallel palaeogenomic transects reveal complex genetic history of early European farmers. *Nature* 551, 368.
- Lüning, J. 1996. Erneute Gedanken zur Benennung der neolithischen Perioden. *Germania* 74, 233–37.
- Mathieson, I., Alpaslan-Roodenberg, S., Posth, C.,
 Szécsényi-Nagy, A., Rohland, N., Mallick, S., Olalde, I.,
 Broomandkhoshbacht, N., Candilio, F. and Cheronet,
 O. 2018. The genomic history of southeastern Europe.
 Nature 555, 197–203.
- Meadows, J., Rinne, C., Immel, A., Fuchs, K., Krause-Kyora, B. and Drummer, C. 2020. High-precision Bayesian chronological modeling on a calibration plateau: the Niedertiefenbach gallery grave. *Radiocarbon* 62, 1261–84.
- Montag, T. 1994. Kugelamphorenkultur (KAK). In H.-J. Beier and R. Einicke (eds), *Das Neolithikum im Mittelelbe-Saale-Gebiet und in der Altmark. Eine Übersicht und ein Abriß zum Stand der Forschungen*, 215–28. Wilkau-Haßlau: Beier & Beran.
- Morgunova, N.L. and Turetskij, M.A. 2016. Archaeological and natural scientific studies of Pit-Grave culture barrows in the Volga-Ural. *Estonian Journal of Archaeology* 20, 128–49.
- Mühlmann, W. 1985. Ethnogonie und Ethnogenese. Theoretisch-ethnologische und ideologiekritische Studie. In Rheinisch-Westfälische Akademie der Wissenschaften (ed.), *Studien zur Ethnogenese 1. Abhandlungen der Rheinisch-Westfälischen Akademie der Wissenschaften 72*, 9–27. Oplaaden: Westdeutscher Verlag.
- Müller, J. 2001. Soziochronologische Studien zum Jungund Spätneolithikum im Mittelelbe-Saale-Gebiet (4100–2700 v. Chr.). Eine sozialhistorische Interpretation prähistorischer Quellen. Vorgeschichtliche Forschungen 21. Rahden: Marie Leidorf.
- Pollmann, O. 2015. Hausbau und Siedlungswesen im Neolithikum als Spiegel sozialer Phänomene.
 In T. Otten, J. Kunow, M.M. Rind and M. Trier (eds), *Revolution JungSteinzeit. Begleitkatalog zur* archäologischen Landesaustellung Nordrhein-Westfalen, 130–39. Bonn: Theiss.

- Quiles, C. 2017. *Indo-European demic diffusion model*. 3rd ed. Badajoz: Universidad de Extremadura.
- Raetzel-Fabian, D. 2002a. Absolute chronology and cultural development of the Neolithic Wartberg culture in Germany. *Journal of Neolithic Archaeology* 4, 1–11. DOI: 10.12766/jna.2002.82
- Raetzel-Fabian, D. 2002b. Revolution, Reformation, Epochenwechsel? Das Ende der Kollektivgrabsitte und der Übergang von der Wartberg- zur Einzelgrabkultur in Nordhessen und Westfalen. Journal of Neolithic Archaeology 4, 1–20. DOI:10.12766/jna.2002.81
- Rinne, C., Drummer, C. and Hamann, C. 2019. Collective and individual burial practices. Changing patterns at the beginning of the third millennium BC: the megalithic grave of Altendorf. *Journal of Neolithic Archaeology* 21, 75–88. DOI: 10.12766/jna.2019.4
- Roach, M.E. and Eicher, J. 1965. *Dress, adornment and the social order*. New York: Wiley.
- Robb, J. 2009. People of stone: stelae, personhood, and society in prehistoric Europe. *Journal of Archaeological Method and Theory* 16, 162–83.
- Robb, J. 2015. Prehistoric art in Europe: a deep-time social history. *American Antiquity* 80, 635–54.
- Sackett, J. 1977. The meaning of style in archaeology: a general model. *American Antiquity* 42, 369–80.
- Schierhold, K. 2012. Studien zur hessisch-westfälischen Megalithik: Forschungsstand und -perspektiven im europäischen Kontext. Münstersche Beiträge zur Ur- und Frühgeschichtlichen Archäologie 6. Rahden: Marie Leidorf.
- Schortman, E. 1989. Interregional interaction in prehistory: the need for a new perspective. *American Antiquity* 54, 52–65.
- Schroeder, H., Margaryan, A., Szmyt, M., Theulot, B., Włodarczak, P., Rasmussen, S., Gopalakrishnan, S., Szczepanek, A., Konopka, T. and Jensen, T.Z. 2019. Unraveling ancestry, kinship, and violence in a Late Neolithic mass grave. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 116, 10705–10.
- Schweizer, T. 1996. Muster sozialer Ordnung. Netzwerkanalyse als Fundament der Sozialethnologie. Berlin: Reimer.
- Shishlina, N. 2008. *Reconstruction of the Bronze Age* of the Caspian steppes. Life styles and life ways of pastoral nomads. Oxford: BAR.
- Szmyt, M. 2002. Kugelamphoren-Gemeinschaften in Mittel- und Osteuropa. Siedlungsstrukturen und soziale Fragen. In J. Müller (ed.), Vom Endneolithikum zur Frühbronzezeit: Muster sozialen Wandels? (Tagung Bamberg 14.–16. Juni 2001). Universitätsforschungen zur Prähistorischen Archäologie 90, 195–33. Bonn: Rudolf Habelt.

Szmyt, M. 2003. Verbreitung und Kontakte der Kugelamphorenkultur: Ein Blick auf die polykulturellen Peripherien. *Germania* 81, 401–42.

Taylor, N. 2016. Burning questions. Identity and Late Bronze Age/Early Iron Age cremation cemeteries. Universitätsforschungen zur Prähistorischen Archäologie 286. Bonn: Rudolf Habelt.

Terrell, J.E. 2013. Social network analysis and the practice of history. In C. Knappett (ed.), *Network analysis in* archaeology. New approaches to regional interaction, 17–42. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Veit, U. 2008. Über die Anfänge menschlichen Totengedenkens und die Entstehung "monumentaler" Grabanlagen im westlichen und nördlichen Europa. In C. Kümmel, B. Schweizer and U. Veit (eds), Körperinszenierung – Objektsammlung – Monumentalisierung. Totenritual und Grabkult in frühen Gesellschaften. Tübinger Archäologische Taschenbücher 6, 33–74. Münster: Waxmann.

Volz-Kinzler, U. 1969. Zähne als Amulett, Fetisch und Talisman. Unpublished PhD dissertation, Universität Düsseldorf.

Wang, C.-C., Reinhold, S., Kalmykov, A., Wissgott, A., Brandt, G., Jeong, C., Cheronet, O., Ferry, M., Harney, E. and Keating, D. 2019. Ancient human genome-wide data from a 3000-year interval in the Caucasus corresponds with eco-geographic regions. *Nature Communications* 10, 1–13. Wiermann, R.R. 2004. Die Becherkulturen in Hessen: Glockenbecher, Schnurkeramik, Riesenbecher. Freiburger Archäologische Studien 4. Rahden: Marie Leidorf.

Wiessner, P. 1989. Style and changing relations between the individual and society. In I. Hodder (ed.), *The meanings of things. Material culture and symbolic expression*, 56–63. London: Routledge.

Williams, S. 1987. An "archaeology" of Turkana beads. In I. Hodder (ed.), *The archaeology of contextual meanings. New directions in archaeology*, 31–38. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Woidich, M. 2014. Die Westliche Kugelamphorenkultur. Untersuchungen zu ihrer raumzeitlichen Differenzierung, kulturellen und anthropologischen Identität. Berlin: Topoi.

Zeeb-Lanz, A. 2003. Keramikverzierungsstil als
Kommunikationsmittel: Ein Beispiel aus dem frühen
Jungneolithikum Südwestdeutschlands. In U. Veit,
T. Kienlin, C. Kümmel and S. Schmidt (eds), Spuren
und Botschaften: Interpretationen materieller Kultur.
Tübinger Archäologische Taschenbücher 4, 245–61.
Münster: Waxmann.

Lithics, Lousberg axes and no settlements

In search of the late fourth millennium BC in the Lower Rhine area

Silviane Scharl and Ingrid Koch

Abstract

Compared to the preceding Neolithic phases, the Late Neolithic in the Rhineland is barely known due to a highly patchy archaeological record. So far, this has been explained with a population decrease during this period. We hypothesise, however, that the lack of evidence is rather due to a lack of knowledge on what the archaeological record looks like. Therefore, in a first part, we describe proxies that can be used for the identification of Late Neolithic sites. While pottery is only rarely preserved and exhibits hardly any diagnostic features, we can describe a set of specific types of lithic tools and certain types of lithic raw material which characterise the Late Neolithic sites known so far. Based on this, in a second part we compile potential Late Neolithic sites in order to obtain information on further characteristics of these sites and thus contribute to a better knowledge of this so far badly understood period.

Keywords: Late Neolithic, Rhineland, lithics, settlements

Introduction

The archaeological record of the Late Neolithic (c. 3500–2800 BC) in the Rhineland is sparse (Richter 1997). For a long time, this was ascribed to a local population decrease during this period (Zimmermann *et al.* 2006, 55). However, there are indications that the lack of evidence is due to a lack of knowledge on what the archaeological record from this period looks like, rather than reflecting a lack of sources. Based on this, our article is divided into two parts. First we present our ideas on why we think the Late Neolithic in the Rhineland has barely been recognised so far and suggest how this could be improved. In a second part we take a closer look at the archaeological record of this period, in order to gain a more detailed understanding of how the Late Neolithic in the Rhineland is to be characterised.



Figure 1. Lousberg flint axe (reworked after polishing) from the Rur valley near Koslar (photo: M. Thuns/LVR-ABR).

Identifying human presence during the Late Neolithic in the Rhineland

Indirect proxies for human activities

For a long time, only a handful of archaeological sites in the Rhineland could be ascribed to the Late Neolithic. However, indirect proxies like pollen archives and geoarchaeological archives reflect a further expansion of open land at that time (Meurers-Balke et al. 1999, 30-31). Pollen diagrams show an increase of oak and hazel, which hint at an increasing significance of animal husbandry (or more generally managed forests). Moreover, the increase of maple (acer), birch (betula) and narrowleaf plantain (plantago lanceolata) does not correspond to a natural vegetation but indicates human impact, too. Human impact is also reflected in the geoarchaeological archives. R. Gerlach and E. Eckmeier identified black carbon as a possible indicator for slash and burn agriculture in off-site features that mainly date to the fourth and third millennia BC (Gerlach and Eckmeier 2012, 110-11). Therefore, we would assume that the low number of known sites reflects low visibility rather than a real decline in settlement activity.

Direct proxies for human activities

This invisibility is amongst others due to the fact that characteristic archaeological finds from Late Neolithic contexts are hard to recognise. In particular pottery can be rather unspecific, as pots are usually not decorated and, except for an s-shaped profile and flat bases, the form does not exhibit any diagnostic features. Moreover, the quality is poor, probably due to rather low firing temperatures, which is why pottery is usually only preserved in tiny pieces. The only trait that could be used as a diagnostic feature is coarse tempering with quartz. However, this practice starts already in the late Michelsberg phase and is still in use in the Early Bronze Age, so quartz-tempered pottery on its own need not indicate Late Neolithic contexts.

There is, however, another proxy that can be used for identifying Late Neolithic contexts, namely the distribution of flint axes made from Lousberg flint. This medium- to coarse-grained tabular chert is characterised by a contrasting colour between the grey core and a brown band below the cortex (Figure 1). This is why it can be identified easily with the naked eye. It was mined in the area of what is now the city of Aachen (Schyle 2010; Weiner 1998). ¹⁴C dates taken from short-lived material, namely antler artefacts from the mine, document intensive activities during the second half of the fourth millennium BC (Schyle 2010, 26-27, tab. 26, fig. 42). This corresponds to the very few finds of Lousberg axes known from stratified contexts. The only two documented in situ finds are from the Late Neolithic collective burial of Schmerlecke in Westphalia, which is attributed to the Wartberg culture (Baales et al. 2016).

So far, there has been no evidence for the use of Lousberg flint axes from Early Michelsberg or Final Neolithic stratified contexts. But one has to consider that Late Michelsberg sites (stage V in J. Lüning's 1967 periodisation) have not been recognised or documented in the Rhineland to date and the number of known sites from the Final Neolithic is quite low. It is therefore quite conceivable that mining on the Lousberg began slightly earlier than 3500 BC and was also in operation for longer than 2800 BC. Nevertheless, Lousberg axes currently represent the best proxy for human activity in the Rhineland during the Late Neolithic. Consequently, axe blades, axe blade fragments, production waste, flakes with a polished surface, or hammerstones made from Lousberg flint axe blades, to name just a few, at present might be taken as indicators for Late Neolithic activities.

Figure 2 shows all flint axes made from Lousberg flint documented so far. To date c. 400 sites are known among which c. 200 are situated in the Rhineland — apart from the two axe fragments from Schmerlecke in Westphalia, all finds come from surface collections. Based on this picture, Lousberg flint can be characterised as a raw material of mainly regional significance which according



Figure 2. Distribution map of Lousberg axes (dots). Star: Lousberg/Aachen. Triangle: collective burial at Schmerlecke (map: S. Suhrbier and D. Schyle).

to D. Schyle (2010, 111) was distributed by down-the-line exchange networks. A similar distribution pattern has been documented for Late Neolithic axes made from silicates containing rock called "Wiedaer Slate", which occurs in Lower Saxony. These axes, too, are Late Neolithic and mainly documented in central Germany (Juergens 2018, 179, fig. 3).

If all finds of Lousberg axes mapped in Figure 2 are taken as evidence for Late Neolithic activities, settlement density and population density during this period must not be underestimated. This is emphasised by a rough estimate of production volume at the Lousberg flint mine. Based on excavation finds, an output of up to 300,000 axe blades is calculated for about 500 years of mining (= 600 axe blades per year; Schyle 2006, 42). Alongside Lousberg axe blades, further diagnostic finds for the Late Neolithic have been documented in the Rhineland which we interpret as imports from neighbouring regions. There are, for instance, two sites (an excavated site at Euskirchen-Großbüllesheim and a surface site at Kerpen-Sindorf "Pferdbruchsfeld") that have yielded fragments of collared flasks, known e.g. from TRB contexts, which can also be dated to this period (Figures 3–4). And there are several sites with finds of very specific types of projectile points known from the Late Neolithic in neighbouring regions, for instance the Wartberg culture (see below). Finally, there are a few sites in the Rhineland with Late to Final Neolithic ¹⁴C dates, like the Lousberg or Rheinbach-Taubenpfad. In addition,



Figure 3. Diagnostic pottery from Late Neolithic contexts in the Rhineland (actual size): 1–3 Broichweiden 6b (modified after Boelicke et al. 1979a, 392 fig. 20.1-3); 4 Hambach 9 (modified after Boelicke et al. 1979b, 327 fig. 19); 5-9 Kirchberg in Morken (modified after Hinz 1969, 17 fig. 5.5-14); 10-12 Niedermerz 1b (modified after Kuper et al. 1974, 439 fig. 9.8-10). Graphics: S. Suhrbier.

all these sites have also yielded quartz-tempered pottery, which, however, cannot be used on its own as a clear indicator for a Late Neolithic date (see above). Taking all these diagnostic Late Neolithic finds together, we can use them to characterise the other finds from and the nature of these sites more precisely. This can then be used to identify further sites dating to this period.

In a first step, we had a look at the few Late Neolithic settlement sites that have been excavated so far (Figure 5). They are characterised by a small number of features, usually single pits (see below; recently Claßen *et al.* 2018), and few finds, usually lithic artefacts, while pottery is only rarely found. This might explain their archaeological invisibility, because these finds and features have often not been recognised as Late Neolithic (Koch *et al.* 2014; 2017). From this we can conclude that lithics are best suited for the identification of further Late Neolithic sites — surface sites in particular — since they constitute the major part of finds from this period. These lithic assemblages are dated to the Late Neolithic because of the presence of Lousberg flint in the form of axe blades, axe blade fragments, production waste, flakes with a polished surface, or hammerstones made from Lousberg flint axe blades. They differ markedly from those dating to the earlier Linear Pottery culture, the Middle Neolithic and the Michelsberg culture, and from artefacts dating to the succeeding Final Neolithic. A closer look allows us to identify further characteristics of Late Neolithic flint assemblages.

During the Linear Pottery culture and the Middle Neolithic, flint artefact production was focused on the production of blades. During the Michelsberg culture, blade production started to lose significance, but was still of relevance (Höhn 1997a, 408, 411). In contrast, during the Late Neolithic lithic assemblages mainly consist of flakes,



Figure 4. Distribution of collared flasks with the finds from Kerpen-Sindorf "Pferdbruchsfeld" (1) and Euskirchen-Großbüllesheim (2) shown as red stars (modified after Huysecom 1986; map: I. Koch).

not blades. These flakes can best be described as ad-hoc artefacts. Lithic analysis shows that they were produced without any systematic strategy of core reduction (e.g. Koch et al. 2017). Another transformation is reflected in the selection of raw materials used for artefact production. For the preceding stage of the Michelsberg culture, several lithic assemblages have been analysed (Koslar 10: Höhn 1997a; Inden 9: Höhn 1997b; Lich-Steinstrass: Hübert 2020; Eschweiler-Röhe: Roeder 2022). One example is the assemblage of Koslar 10, which dates to the early Michelsberg culture (Höhn 1997a). The assemblage comprises 918 artefacts. Of these, 58.4 % were made of Rijckholt flint, which was probably mined on slopes near what is now the city of Maastricht (De Grooth et al. 2011), located about 50 km west of the sites in the Rhineland. A further 26.5 % were made of flint from bench gravel of the river Old Maas (Weiner 1997), which can be found in layers near Koslar 10. A small number of artefacts were made of raw material like light grey Belgian flint/silex gris de Hesbaye, Rullen flint and Obourg flint from Belgium, Valkenburg flint from the Netherlands and Orsbach/Vetschau flint locally found in Aachen. Some pieces — however no axe blades, their fragments or related production waste — are of Lousberg flint. Another example is the assemblage of Inden 9, which yielded 1635 artefacts (Höhn 1997b, 544). The pottery from the site documents two phases of use: one during the later part of Lüning's phase Michelsberg II, the younger one during Michelsberg III/IV (Höhn 1997b, 559-60). As the analysis by B. Höhn (1997b, 547 fig. 49) shows, blades are still preferred for the production of modified artefacts (tools); 27.6 % of all (modified and unmodified) artefacts at Inden 9 are blades (Höhn 1997b, fig. 48). The raw material used mainly (c. 95 %) comes from Rijckholt. Compared to earlier Neolithic phases (Linear Pottery culture and Middle Neolithic), blanks are quite large and show a standardised size. They were for instance used for the production of laterally retouched blades, scrapers or pointed blades. In Koslar 10 and Inden 9 laterally retouched blades dominate the assemblages with c. 26 % and c. 33 % respectively, followed by splintered pieces with a proportion of 25 % (Höhn 1997a, 427 fig. 23). Rijckholt flint was also used for the production of axe blades during the Michelsberg period (Höhn 1997a, 427 fig. 23, 446). Arrowheads are characterised by surface retouch and a triangular shape with a straight or convex base, sometimes the base is slightly concave (e.g. Höhn 1997b, 553, pl. 9). In addition, leaf-shaped arrowheads have also been documented, for example at Koslar 10 (Höhn 1997a, 430).

During the Late Neolithic this changes markedly. This can be illustrated with the example of Tanneck (Koch *et al.* 2017), which can be dated to the Late Neolithic thanks to its lithic inventory consisting of Lousberg axe blade fragments, flakes with a polished surface, or hammerstones



Figure 5. Late Neolithic sites in the Rhineland: 1 Broichweiden 6b (excavated in 1976); 2 Niedermerz 1b (excavated in 1972–74); 3 Hambach 9 (excavated in 1977); 4 Lich-Steinstraß (excavated in 1986–87); 5 Hasselsweiler (excavated in 1976–80); 6 Tanneck (surface site); 7 Kirchberg in Morken (excavated in 1955–56); 8 Kerpen-Sindorf "Pferdbruchsfeld" (surface site); 9 Sindorf "Zuckerberg" (surface site); 10 Euskirchen-Großbüllesheim (excavated in 2013); 11 Rheinbach-Taubenpfad (excavated in 2017); 12 Serm-Hasselberg (surface site); 13 Stetternich (surface site); 14 Veen (excavated in 1962/1965); 15 Worringer Bruch (surface site); 16 Schmerlecke (gallery grave, excavated 2008–2013); 17 Neuss-Büderich (surface site). Map: S. Suhrbier, I. Koch and S. Scharl.

made from Lousberg flint axe blades.¹ The analysis of this surface site in the loess region around Jülich, with its assemblage of 1526 pieces of flint, shows that Rijckholt flint had lost significance. Its proportion decreases to 20 %. Instead, Lousberg flint gains importance, amounting to 23 %. The inventory is dominated by a grey flint with many inclusions of white fossil fragments and residual or slightly rolled cortex which accounts for 56 %. The source of this raw material may be located in the surroundings of Liège (Marjorie De Grooth, pers. comm.) or in the alluvial terraces of the Maas (Knippenberg 2016, 168). Blank production is now dominated by flakes (of 1085 determinable blanks 73.3 % were flakes and 12.2 % were blades). Cores and debris indicate that the raw material was worked within the settlement. The cores, however, do not show any systematic strategy of reduction. Moreover, artefacts are quite small compared to earlier periods. One third of

¹ We would like to thank G.M. Pütz for collecting the finds at Tanneck and making them available for scientific analysis.
the whole assemblage consists of pieces shorter than 2 cm. Many artefacts are characterised by retouch that does not form a standardised implement, in contrast to the earlier Neolithic phases. Up to 14 % are splintered pieces, 24 % are laterally retouched flakes. If we differentiate the artefacts according to raw material used, c. 15.6 % of the pieces from Lousberg flint (n = 327) are axe blades or fragments of them. We could document 23 axe blades, of which six were used as hammerstones and 13 as cores, plus six unfinished axe blades and 22 flakes of axe blades defined by the remains of a polished surface. The "axe blade cores" were used for the production of tools like scrapers, laterally retouched or truncated pieces. The artefacts made from Rijckholt flint (n = 172) are mainly flakes (n = 86) but also a few blades. Out of 18 blades, nine can be characterised as large blades. That Rijckholt flint is still in use during the Late Neolithic - even if in small quantities — can be explained by the fact that the flint mine at Rijckholt is still active at that time (de Grooth et al. 2011, 81 fig. 3). This is confirmed by the finds from the Late Neolithic gallery grave of Schmerlecke, Westphalia, where several tools made of large Rijckholt blades were found (Schierhold 2015). When we look at the whole assemblage, however, our impression is that systematic production of blades as blanks for formal tool types continued to lose significance in the course of the Late Neolithic of the Rhineland.

In addition, there are a few formal types of arrowheads (about 5 %) and thumbnail scrapers (about 21 %) which seem to be typical for Late Neolithic lithic assemblages in the Rhineland. The arrowheads are mainly transverse arrowheads similar to what we know from Late Neolithic Vlaardingen-Stein contexts in the neighbouring Netherlands (Amkreutz *et al.* 2016). At Tanneck, 24 out of 31 pieces are transverse projectile points. The fragment of a tanged arrowhead with a pronounced "shaft tongue" and two opposite notches on the wings (a so-called "Wartberg point"; Koch *et al.* 2017, 81 fig. 3.3) is a characteristic type of the Late Neolithic Wartberg culture in Hesse (Schwellnus 1979).

Another lithic assemblage we would address as Late Neolithic comes from Serm-Hasselberg near Duisburg. The site is located directly on the banks of the river Rhine. Overall, 694 pieces have been documented during field surveys.² About one third (n = 225) represent local raw material like Baltic Morainic flint, Maas gravel flint and Meuse "eggs" flint, i.e. a Tertiary surf zone gravel flint reworked by the rivers Maas and Rhine. Around 12 % (n = 83) come from sources in modern-day Belgium, and 25 % (n = 174) were made of Rijckholt flint. However, the high amount of this raw material could be explained by two Michelsberg sites in the immediate vicinity, from which Late Neolithic people could have collected those pieces. Furthermore, 19 transverse arrowheads and two Lousberg flint axe blades, used as cores for artefact production, have been documented. Thirty-one small scrapers, 38 laterally retouched pieces and 105 splintered pieces complete the picture.

Final Neolithic settlement sites are rare in the Rhineland. So far, the only site of the so-called "Rhineland Beaker culture" (a local mixture of Corded Ware and Bell Beaker culture) that could be interpreted as settlement is Neuss-Buederich, due to the quantity and variety of ceramics (mainly corded ware) and lithics and a ¹⁴C-date on the bone of a wild animal. It is situated on the banks of the river Rhine (Krull and Weiner 2001; Lenerz and Schyle 2008). The lithic inventory, comprising c.1000 flint artefacts, shows that during the Final Neolithic in the Rhineland the proportion of blades in the lithic assemblages drops to almost zero and the raw material for artefact manufacture comes from local sources only. At Neuss-Buederich the artefacts are almost completely made from local bench gravel sources or morainic flint and one can observe an "ad hoc" blank production similar to the Late Neolithic. Tools are flakes with lateral retouches or some thumbnail scrapers. Furthermore, locally produced axes consist of small, black Devonian siliceous rock pebbles with polished cutting edges. The characteristic arrowheads of this period are bifacially retouched barbed and tanged triangular points. Mining products of supra-regional origin are represented by fragments of axe blades with a rectangular cross-section made from Baltic flint and particularly a few fragments of dagger blades made from Tertiary Paris Basin flint and Grand Pressigny flint (Lenerz and Schyle 2008, 55 fig. 56.5–7). The latter indicate that the site was integrated into the extensive Final Neolithic networks of northern and western Europe.

To sum up, there are only few sites which yielded absolute dates of the Late Neolithic period, such as the Lousberg flint mine in Aachen or Rheinbach-Taubenpfad. This has been used to argue for depopulation. However, the pollen diagrams as well as geoarchaeological archives hint at a more substantial population density during the Late Neolithic in the Rhineland. Using Lousberg axe blades and specific features of the lithic inventories, we can try to identify Late Neolithic assemblages.

Flint assemblages of the Michelsberg culture, dating from 4200 to 3800 BC are characterised by:

- a high proportion of Rijckholt flint (at Inden 9 even 95 %), which was also used for the production of axe blades
- a high proportion of blades (c. 30 %)
- the production of large blanks
- triangular or leaf-shaped arrowheads with surface retouch

² We would like to thank Thomas van Lohuizen for collecting the finds at Serm-Hasselberg and making them available for scientific analysis.

In contrast, Late Neolithic assemblages are characterised by:

- axe blades of Lousberg flint, the presence of semi-finished products of Lousberg flint, fragments of Lousberg axe blades and their secondary use as cores, flakes and tools with polished surface
- supply with locally and regionally available raw materials which mainly comprise residual and gravel flint types
- a high proportion of unmodified flakes, and a low proportion of blades (c. 15 % or less)
- a small number of standardised tool types (e.g. transverse arrowheads, notched arrowheads with a "shaft tongue" tang, thumbnail scrapers, few large blades of Rijckholt flint)
- the lack of standardised core reduction and
- a high degree of "ad-hoc" domestic blank production

Based on this, and adding the Late Neolithic sites with diagnostic imported pieces or absolute dates (see above), in the second part of our article we try to develop a clearer idea of what the archaeological record of the Late Neolithic in the Rhineland looks like.

The current state of research on Late Neolithic sites in the Rhineland

Figure 5 shows sites that have been dated to the Late Neolithic, either because of the specific composition of their lithic assemblage or — in rare cases — by diagnostic pottery like collared flasks, or by absolute dates, as in the case of Rheinbach-Taubenpfad or the flint mine on the Lousberg. Also the flint mines at Valkenburg and Rijckholt in the neighbouring Netherlands show traces of Late Neolithic activities. We will leave aside the flint mines in our article and will focus on those sites that are interpreted as settlements.

Interestingly, they are situated in quite different geological settings. Rheinbach-Taubenpfad, Broichweiden 6b, Euskirchen-Hasselsweiler, Lich-Steinstrass or Großbüllesheim, for example, are situated on loess soils and elevated areas, often associated with features of the preceding Linear Pottery culture and the Middle Neolithic, which preferred these habitats. Hambach 9 lies on a terrace of the river Rur, the two sites at Kerpen-Sindorf (Pferdbruchsfeld and Zuckerberg) are situated in the meadow of the river Erft and Serm-Hasselberg is located directly on the banks of the river Rhine. Therefore, our patchy archaeological maps of the Late Neolithic are not simply caused by a settlement behaviour that focused on marginal areas, like meadows, where archaeological investigations are rare.

Often, sites have been identified in the course of largescale excavations. This applies above all to the sites in loess areas, where for example the establishment of industry parks necessitated rescue excavations. These Late Neolithic sites are usually characterised by single pits or a small number of pits with diagnostic finds, interspersed between much more plentiful features of other periods. For example, the site of Euskirchen-Großbüllesheim was discovered in the context of a large-scale excavation of almost 1 ha. Here, one pit was identified as Late Neolithic, since it yielded a fragment of a collared flask (Tutlies *et al.* 2016). All other pits can be either dated to earlier Neolithic periods or to the Iron Age.

Another example is the Michelsberg enclosure of Lich-Steinstrass, which was excavated in the Rhenish lignite mining area. Here, over 5 ha have been investigated, mainly in order to document the enclosure. Two pits in the area east of the enclosure have been identified as Late Neolithic, as they yielded mainly Lousberg flint and some flakes made of Belgian Hesbaye flint. In addition, south of the enclosure, eight pits and several postholes have been interpreted as Late Neolithic features, since they also yielded Lousberg axe blades, thumbnail scrapers, transverse arrowheads and quartz-tempered pottery.

At Rheinbach-Taubenpfad more than 5 ha have been excavated in the course of rescue excavations. The area yielded pits and postholes of the Linear Pottery culture, the Middle Neolithic and the Late Neolithic. The latter was represented by three pits that hint at the remains of a settlement. The guartz-tempered pottery shows clear similarities to finds from the Vlaardingen culture. Two radiocarbon dates were taken on two pig bones from the upper and lower fill of pit 48. Both dates fall into the transition from Late Neolithic to Final Neolithic as defined by Lüning's scheme, they date between 2870 and 2570 calBC (Claßen et al. 2018). Correspondingly late radiocarbon dates have been obtained from settlements which - based on the pottery found there - were ascribed to the Late Neolithic Vlaardingen culture/Stein group in the Netherlands (e.g. Amkreutz 2013, 397 tab. 8.8; Van Hof et al. 2013, 80 tab. 7.3; Verhart 2010, 218 tab. 2). This chronological disaccord might be explained by the persistence of the Vlaardingen ceramic tradition (production process and pot types) well into the time of the beaker cultures, especially the Corded Ware culture, as recent research in the Netherlands shows (Kleijne and Huisman 2023; Kroon et al. 2019). This continuity in the material culture should also be considered as a possibility for ceramic traditions in the Dutch Limburg (Stein group) and the Rhineland, too.

All these sites and several more have been discovered only because large-scale excavations have been conducted. Therefore, except for the Lousberg in Aachen, Broichweiden 6b and Hambach 9, all Late Neolithic sites in the Rhineland have been discovered as "bycatch" in the context of other prehistoric periods. And all these sites are characterised by a small number of pits, sometimes only a single pit.

Looking at the archaeological finds, all these sites are moreover characterised by a low number of finds. In Lich-



Figure 6. Diagnostic Late Neolithic lithic finds from Sindorf-Pferdbruchsfeld (1–11, 16–18 actual size, 12–15 at a scale of 1:2). 1–6 transverse arrowheads, brown colour caused by waterlogging; 1, 2, 5 silex de Hesbaye/gravel flint; 7–8 scrapers, 7 gravel flint, 8 light grey Belgian flint/silex de Hesbaye with traces of heat exposure; 9-10 splintered pieces, brown colour caused by waterlogging, 9 Rijckholt flint, 10 light grey Belgian flint/silex de Hesbaye; 11 tanged and short-winged arrowhead, brown colour caused by waterlogging; 12–14 axe blade fragments of Valkenburg flint; 15 axe blade fragment, light grey Belgian flint/silex de Hesbaye, traces of heat exposure and brown colour caused by waterlogging; 16 axe blade fragment used as a core; 17 butt of an axe blade; 18 flake from an axe blade, 16–18 Lousberg flint, brown colour caused by waterlogging (photos: I. Koch, A Kotitschke and S. Suhrbier).



Figure 7. Diagnostic Late Neolithic finds from Sindorf-Zuckerberg (actual size). 1–2 guartz-tempered pottery; 3-5 transverse arrowheads, silex de Hesbaye/gravel flint with brown colour caused by waterlogging; 6 triangular arrowhead with brown colour caused by waterlogging; 7 arrowhead with a "shaft-tongue" tang and two opposite notches, residual flint from the Liège region or Maas terraces: 8 flake of an axe blade. Lousberg flint: 9 flake of an axe blade, Rullen flint; 10 flake of an axe blade, Rijckholt flint partly with brown colour caused by waterlogging; 11 large blade with use retouch, Rijckholt flint, partly brown colour caused by waterlogging; 12 large sidescraper fragment, Rijckholt flint; 13 blade fragment with lateral retouch on both sides, Rijckholt flint, partly with brown colour caused by waterlogging; 14 scraper, Rijckholt flint, partly with brown colour caused by waterlogging; 15 scraper on a blade with lateral retouch, Rijckholt flint/gravel flint; 16 fragment of a large blade with lateral retouch, Rijckholt flint partly with brown colour caused by waterlogging (photos: I. Koch, A. Kotitschke and S. Suhrbier).



Figure 8. Diagnostic Late Neolithic pottery from Sindorf-Pferdbruchsfeld (actual size). 1–5 quartz-tempered pottery; 6 fragment of a flat base with parts of the profile; 7 fragment of the neck of a collared flask; 8 fragment of a flat base; 9 rim sherd (photos: I. Koch, A. Kotitschke and S. Suhrbier).

Steinstrass, for example, ten pits yielded diagnostic finds. T. Hübert, who has analysed the archaeological record for his MA thesis, ascribed 14 features to this period. For another twelve he considers a date in the Late Neolithic probable (Hübert 2020). To date this is one of the largest Late Neolithic sites we have in the Rhineland. Three pits yielded pottery, together 116 sherds, but they were tiny and badly preserved. The only more or less diagnostic piece is a fragment of a flat base with quartz temper. This fits into a Late Neolithic context, but might also be a bit earlier or a bit later. It is only the lithic artefacts which allowed him to assign this site more confidently to the Late Neolithic.

This also goes for the other sites that have been documented so far. If there is pottery, sherds are mostly tiny and badly preserved. These pieces usually do not exhibit any diagnostic features. Figure 3 shows a selection of diagnostic pieces of pottery we know so far from Late Neolithic sites in the Rhineland. These show flat bases, an s-shaped profile or a

quartz-tempered matrix and sometimes fragments of collard flasks, as in Euskirchen-Großbüllesheim or Kerpen-Sindorf "Pferdbruchsfeld" (Figure 4). Since the pottery in most cases is only badly preserved, however, it is quite difficult to recognise these tiny pieces during fieldwalking surveys. Therefore, Tanneck and the two concentrations at Kerpen-Sindorf (Pferdbruchsfeld and Zuckerberg) were identified as Late Neolithic sites mainly because of the lithic assemblage we could collect there: Lousberg axe blades, Valkenburg axe blades,³ thumbnail scrapers, transverse arrowheads, a single tanged and short-winged arrowhead (Figure 6; also known from Late and Final Neolithic contexts in western and central Europe), a single arrowhead with a "shaft tongue" tang and two opposite notches on the wings (Figure 7; also known from Late Neolithic contexts in France, Switzerland and the Wartberg culture in Hesse), raw material that is dominated by local and regional sources, Lousberg flint and a — compared to Michelsberg — lower amount of Rijckholt flint. In addition we found small pieces of quartz-tempered pottery (Figures 7-8).

Conclusion

The Late Neolithic in the Rhineland is definitely there, and based on specific characteristics of the pollen record, geoarchaeological archives and lithic assemblages we would posit that we have a more substantial human activity in this region during the second half of the fourth and the early third millennium BC than we thought ten or 15 years ago. Whether this human activity was discontinuous or not is an important question for future research. To clarify this, we need more absolute dates and therefore also more excavated sites, especially settlements.

Another point we want to make is that the Late Neolithic in the Rhineland is not only hard to recognise in the archaeological record, but it is also hard to delimit from neighbouring regions. What we see is a kind of mixture of what we would call local types, like the Lousberg axe blades, and supra-regionally distributed types like the collared flasks, which are also known from TRB, Vlaardingen or Wartberg contexts (Figure 4), or the s-shaped, flat-based pots (also known from contexts in the Netherlands, i.e. Vlaardingen and Stein), tanged and short-winged arrowheads (also known from Late and Final Neolithic contexts in western and central Europe) or notched arrowheads with a "shaft-tongue" tang also known from France, Switzerland and the Wartberg culture in Hesse. However, this admixture or spatial continuum is also recognisable in other regions, which is why it seems to be a more general characteristic of this period.

³ Since all radiocarbon dates from the extraction pits and workshops at the Valkenburg flint mine range between 3600 and 2600 calBC (Drenth and de Kruyck 2017, 131), axe blades from this raw material can also be taken as an indicator of Late Neolithic activity.

References

- Amkreutz, L. 2013. Persistent traditions. A long-term perspective on communities in the process of Neolithisation in the Lower Rhine Area (5500–2500 cal BC). Leiden: Sidestone Press.
- Amkreutz, L., Verhart, L. and van Gijn, A. 2016.
 Vlaardingen-cultuur en Stein-Groep. In L. Amkreutz,
 F. Brounen, J. Deeben, R. Machiels, M.F. van Oorsouw
 and B. Smit (eds), Vuursteen verzameld. Over het
 zoeken en onderzoeken van steentijdvondsten
 en -vindplaatsen. Nederlandse Archeologische
 Rapporten 50, 169–75. Amersfoort: Rijksdienst voor
 het Cultureel Erfgoed.
- Baales, M., Koch, I., Schierhold, K. and Schyle, D. 2016. Licht f
 ür die Toten – Feuerzeuge in den neolithischen Großsteingr
 äbern von Erwitte-Schmerlecke (Kr. Soest, Westfalen). Arch
 äologisches Korrespondenzblatt 46, 27–41.
- Boelicke, U. [+13 others] and Zimmermann, A. 1979a. Untersuchungen zur neolithischen Besiedlung der Aldenhovener Platte IX. *Bonner Jahrbücher* 179, 363–441.
- Boelicke, U. [+12 others] and Zimmermann, A. 1979b. Untersuchungen zur neolithischen Besiedlung der Aldenhovener Platte VIII. Bonner Jahrbücher 179, 299–362.
- Claßen, E., Nolde, N. and Zerl, T. 2018. Licht ins Dunkel der späten Jungsteinzeit. *Archäologie im Rheinland* 2017, 58–60.
- De Grooth, M.E.T., Lauwerier, R.C.G.M. and ter Schegget, M.E. 2011. New ¹⁴C dates from the Neolithic flint mines at Rijckholt-St.Geertruid, the Netherlands. In M. Capote, S. Consuegra, P. Diaz-del-Rio and X. Terradas (eds), Proceedings of the 2nd International Conference of the UISPP Commission on Flint Mining in Pre- and Protohistoric Times. BAR International Series 2260, 77–89. Oxford: Archaeopress.
- Drenth, E. and de Kruyk, H. 2017. Artefacten van Valkenburg-vuursteen uit Drenthe. *Nieuwe Drentse Volksalmanak, Jaarboek voor geschiedenis en archeologie* 134, 125–42.
- Gerlach R. and Eckmeier E. 2012. Das Problem der Schwarzerden im Rheinland im archäologischen Kontext. In A. Stobbe and U. Tegtmeier (eds), Verzweigungen – Eine Würdigung für A.J. Kalis und J. Meurers-Balke, 105–24. Bonn: Rudolf Habelt.
- Hinz, H. 1969. Die Ausgrabungen auf dem Kirchberg in Morken, Kreis Bergheim (Erft). Von der Steinzeit bis ins Mittelalter. Rheinische Ausgrabungen 7. Düsseldorf: Rheinland-Verlag.
- Höhn, B. 1997a. Das Steinmaterial der Michelsberger
 Siedlung Koslar 10, Gem. Jülich, Kr. Düren. In J.
 Lüning (ed.), Studien zur neolithischen Besiedlung der
 Aldenhovener Platte und ihrer Umgebung. Rheinische
 Ausgrabungen 43, 399–472. Bonn: Rudolf Habelt.

- Höhn, B. 1997b. Das Michelsberger Erdwerk Inden 9, Gem. Jülich, Kr. Düren. In J. Lüning (ed.), Studien zur neolithischen Besiedlung der Aldenhovener Platte und ihrer Umgebung. Rheinische Ausgrabungen 43, 473–598. Bonn: Rudolf Habelt.
- Hübert, T. 2020. Untersuchungen zu den jungneolithischen Silexartefakten und Keramikfunden aus dem Erdwerk bei (alt) Lich-Steinstraß, Kreis Düren. Unpublished MA dissertation, University of Cologne.
- Huysecom, E. 1986. La Question des bouteilles à collerette: identification et chronologie d'un groupe méridional répandu de l'Ukraine à la Bretagne. In
 A. Chancerel, B. Jéhanne and G. Verron (eds), Actes du Xe colloque interrégional sur le Néolithique. Revue archéologique de l'Ouest, supplément n° 1, 195–215.
 Rennes: Association pour la diffusion des recherches archéologiques dans l'ouest de la France.
- Juergens, F. 2018. Ein bemerkenswertes spätneolithisches Artefakt aus "Wiedaer Schiefer" aus Ostwestfalen-Lippe. Archäologisches Korrespondenzblatt 48, 177–89.
- Kleijne, J.P. and Huisman, D.J. 2023. The times they are a-changing. Reconsidering the occupation history and character of a 3rd millennium BCE settlement in the Lower Rhine Area. *Journal of Archaeological Science: Reports* 49, 1–13. DOI:10.1016/j.jasrep.2023.103982
- Knippenberg, S. 2016. The LBK flint material from the Cannerberg. In I.M. van Wijk (ed.), *Settlement dynamics on the Cannerberg (Maastricht, the Netherlands). Archol Report 300*, 161–96. Leiden: Archol.
- Koch, I., Scharl, S. and Gerlach, R. 2014. Kerpen-Sindorf eine spätneolithische Fundstelle am Auenrand. *Archäologie im Rheinland* 2013, 79–81.
- Koch, I., Scharl, S. and Schyle, D. 2017. Das 4. Jahrtausend in der Niederrheinischen Bucht – erste Schritte auf dem Weg zur Kenntnis einer kaum fassbaren Epoche. In J. Pyzel (ed.), *Das 4. Jahrtausend. Fokus Jungsteinzeit. Berichte der AG Neolithikum 6*, 77–91. Kerpen-Loogh: Welt und Erde.
- Kroon, E.J., Huisman, D.J., Bourgeois, Q.P.J., Braekmans,
 D.J.G. and Fokkens, H. 2019. The introduction of
 Corded Ware culture at a local level: an exploratory study of cultural change during the Late Neolithic
 of the Dutch west coast through ceramic technology.
 Journal of Archaeological Science: Reports 26, 1–21.
 DOI:10.1016/j.jasrep.2019.101873
- Krull, H.-P. and Weiner, J. 2001. Ein bemerkenswertes Geweihgerät von einem endneolithischen Siedlungsplatz bei Büderich. *Archäologie im Rheinland* 2001, 38–40.
- Kuper, R., Löhr, H., Lüning, J. and Stehli, P. 1974. Untersuchungen zur neolithischen Besiedlung der Aldenhovener Platte IV. *Bonner Jahrbücher* 174, 424–508.

Lenerz, R. and Schyle, D. 2008. Eine Siedlung der Schnurkeramik in Meerbusch Büderich. Archäologie im Rheinland 2008, 53–55.

Lüning, J. 1967. Die Michelsberger Kultur. Ihre Funde in zeitlicher und räumlicher Gliederung. *Berichte der Römisch-Germanischen Kommission* 48, 1–350.

Meures-Balke, J., Kalis, A.J., Gerlach, R. and Jürgens, A. 1999. Landschafts- und Siedlungsgeschichte des Rheinlandes. In H. Koschik (ed.), *PflanzenSpuren. Archäobotanik im Rheinland: Agrarlandschaft und Nutzpflanzen im Wandel der Zeit. Materialien zur Bodendenkmalpflege im Rheinland 10*, 11–66. Köln: Rheinland-Verlag.

Richter, J. 1997. Geschichtlicher Atlas der Rheinlande II/2.2. Neolithikum. Köln: Rheinland-Verlag.

Roeder, A.-L. 2022. *Der jungneolithische Fundplatz von Eschweiler-Röhe*. Unpublished MA dissertation, University of Cologne.

Schwellnus, W. 1979. Wartberg-Gruppe und hessische Megalithik. Ein Beitrag zum späten Neolithikum des Hessischen Berglandes. Materialien zur Vor- und Frühgeschichte von Hessen 4. Wiesbaden: Landesamt für Denkmalpflege.

Schwitalla, G. 1997. Das Steinmaterial der altund mittelneolithischen Siedlungsplätze Hasselsweiler 1 und Hasselsweiler 2, Gmd. Titz, Kreis Düren. In J. Lüning (ed.), Studien zur neolithischen Besiedlung der Aldenhovener Platte und ihrer Umgebung. Rheinische Ausgrabungen 43, 319–81. Bonn: Rudolf Habelt. Schyle, D. 2006. Die spätneolithische Beilproduktion auf dem Lousberg in Aachen. Eine Hochrechnung von Angebot und Nachfrage und Rückschlüsse auf die spätneolithische Bevölkerungsdichte. *Archäologische Informationen* 29, 35–50.

Schyle, D. 2010. Der jungsteinzeitliche Feuersteinbergbau mit Beilproduktion auf dem Lousberg in Aachen. Rheinische Ausgrabungen 66. Bonn: Rudolf Habelt.

Tutlies, P., Müssemeier, U., Smani, R., Krajinovic, T. and White-Rahneberg, K. 2016. Euskirchen-Großbüllesheim, LEP B NW 2013/0068. Abschlussbericht. Bonn: LVR-Amt für Bodendenkmalpflege im Rheinland.

Van Hof, L.G.L., Van Wijk, I.M. and Van der Linde, C.M. 2013. Zwervende erven op de löss? Onderzoek van een nederzetting uit de vroege ijzertijd en van sporen uit de Stein-groep te Hof van Limburg (gemeente Sittard-Geleen). Archol Rapport 33. Leiden: Archol.

Verhart, L. 2010. De zuidelijke tegenhangers van de Vlaardingen-cultuur: een schamel spoor van Scherven. *Westerheem Special* 2, 208–23.

Weiner, J. 1997. Die Maasschotter der Niederrheinischen Bucht als Feuersteinlieferant für die bandkeramischen Siedlungsplätze Langweiler 8 und Langweiler 9. In J. Lüning (ed.), Studien zur neolithischen Besiedlung der Aldenhovener Platte und ihrer Umgebung. Rheinische Ausgrabungen 43, 599–646. Bonn: Rudolf Habelt.

Weiner, J. 1998. Der Lousberg in Aachen. Rheinische Kunststätten 436. Neuss: Rheinischer Verein für Denkmalpflege und Landschaftsschutz.

Zimmermann, A., Meurers-Balke, J. and Kalis, A. 2006. Das Neolithikum. In J. Kunow and H.-H. Wegner (eds), *Urgeschichte im Rheinland*, 159–202. Köln: Rheinischer Verein für Denkmalpflege und Landschaftsschutz.

In varietate concordia — united in diversity

Battle axes, coarse ware pottery and burial rituals during the Late Neolithic of western and central Europe and their meaning for the deconstruction of Final Neolithic narratives

Sebastian Schultrich

Abstract

During the Late Neolithic in western and central Europe, certain artefacts and behaviours appear that are quite similar. This concerns battle axes, burial rituals and a rather unspecific coarse ware pottery. These three attributes follow supra-regional rules, but the details are regionally distinct: *in varietate concordia*. By combining and critically reevaluating these attributes, we can reconstruct the existence of a dynamic network and the development of an idealised worldview that focuses on individuals. Thus, we can trace classic features of the Final Neolithic cultures back to the Late Neolithic.

Keywords: battle axes, Late Neolithic, coarse ware pottery, warrior symbology, single graves, collective graves

Introduction

Single graves, gender differences, individual grave goods, warrior-related identities, violence, high mobility, supra-regional networks, supra-regionally shared symbols — all these buzzwords are attached to the archaeological cultures of the Final Neolithic (FN, c. 2800–2200 BC) and they are interdependent. Once established at the onset of the FN, many phenomena last for a long time. For example, the warrior is a certain social role we see in single graves with supra-regionally significant symbols. Allegedly, it enters the stage in the FN in many parts of Europe and remains present for thousands of years (e.g. Kristiansen *et al.* 2017; Vandkilde 2006). The genetic pool of central Europeans changes a few times during prehistory, however, with the FN the dynamic seemingly gets lost. FN individuals have similar genotypes to modern-day Europeans (Haak *et al.* 2015). Connected to this, many scholars propose that the forerunners of our modern European languages spread in this phase (Olander 2019, 19–24).

Recent aDNA studies have revitalised old narratives (e.g. those of Gimbutas 1956; Glob 1944, 242; Kossinna 1928) and resulted in simple scenarios of violence, domination and the movement of people (Kristiansen *et al.* 2017; critiqued e.g. in Furholt 2019).



Figure 1. Model for the diffusion of innovations. The rate of adoption of an innovation changes when the tipping point is reached (after Fokkens 2012, 23).

However, discussions during the last years have shown that these processes were much more complicated (Furholt 2021; Papac *et al.* 2021; Włodarczak 2021). Sticking to the more simplistic narratives hinders a balanced evaluation of this period.

Similarly, for the Late Neolithic (LN c. 3500–2800 BC) narratives exist which also hinder a balanced assessment. Scholars often portray LN societies as acting in completely opposite ways to FN ones. They are said to be peaceful and group-oriented (Kristiansen *et al.* 2017, 342; Vandkilde 2004, 75). This is reflected by the erection and use of collective burials, causewayed enclosures and settlement agglomerations (Mischka and Furholt 2019; Müller 2019). On the basis of the graves, we can hardly reconstruct individual identities or gender differences. Also, the material culture, especially the pottery, is considered to be of much more local relevance (Ebbesen 2011, 301–06; Lorenz 2018). Then, with the onset of the FN, everything changes drastically — supposedly.

These assumptions, however, cannot be sustained. In this paper, I will investigate battle axes to show that supra-regionally shared signs existed during the LN. Moreover, I will critically re-evaluate what goes under the term collective grave and highlight regional differences. These differences help us to explore the potential for the reconstruction of certain social roles during the LN and thus tone down some of the narratives of the onset of the FN.

The beginning of the Corded Ware culture

The genetic evidence clearly shows that the early third millennium was a dynamic phase and new genes (esp. sub-haplotypes of R1a and R1b) reached central Europe (Haak *et al.* 2015; Papac *et al.* 2021). Some studies portray the spread of the Corded Ware culture (CWC) as a conquest, a monocausal process, and they imply that the archaeological culture itself had an agency (e.g. Kristiansen *et al.* 2017).

However, the spread of the CWC into its various regions was not one single process, nor was the CWC a homogeneous culture and there was no conquestlike mass migration — the CWC itself had no agency (Furholt 2019, 125; 2021; Papac et al. 2021). Moreover, the spread was not as fast as supposed. There is evidence for a distribution of pioneer graves of the so-called Kalbsrieth horizon which is consistent with leap-froglike migration (Heyd 2021). However, the backbone of this pioneer horizon must be put into perspective (see below). Recently a study confirmed early CWC dates¹ in Bohemia (Papac et al. 2021, 10). In Switzerland, CWC symbols appear in the late twenty-eighth/early twentyseventh century BC (Hafner and Suter 2003, 46; see also Włodarczak 2012, 130). Thus, the spread of the CWC lasts more than two centuries.

When we argue that CWC symbolism is an innovation, we should differentiate the term. Innovation can simply be a new artefact, material or way of production. However, it can be much more complex. CWC symbolism is a very specific way of expressing a certain supra-regional identity in the funerary domain through certain rules, arrangements and artefacts (Bourgeois and Kroon 2017; see also Barrett 2018, 18).

Often, the graph by E. Rogers (1995) is used to demonstrate the innovation process (Frieman 2021). Figure 1 shows that first, a minority accepts an innovation. After some time, more and more people accept it and the curve reaches a tipping point. Hereafter, this innovation is generally accepted in society. This simplified graph shows what many scholars see in their data: innovations are successful in pre-modern societies only when they become carefully embedded in existing cultural traditions (Bernbeck and Burmeister 2017, 7; Frieman 2021; Scharl 2019). This means that accepting an innovation takes some time.

The CWC did not spread by itself. The spread of innovations rests on communication and it is embedded in social contexts (Rogers 1995; see also Frieman 2021, 131; Scharl 2019). There is a certain meaning in burying someone according to specific rules. That the meaning is comprehensible for the executing societies requires socialisation within the narratological context (Ribeiro 2018, 114; see also Barrett 2018, 18). Accordingly, as CWC symbolism is widespread, a similar socialisation process must be present in all participating regions. Thus, by the time we as archaeologists can reconstruct the supra-regional "CWC package", supra-regional negotiation must already have happened. Consequently, the spread of the CWC as it appears in the archaeological

E.g. Vliněves (4225±81 bp, 3018–2901 calBC, Lab. Nr- CRL-9189, from long-bone), Stadice (4314±25 bp, 3010–2889 calBC, Lab. Nr-MAMS-45793, from skull) (Papac *et al.* 2021, tab. S3).



Figure 2. The LN battle axe types in western and central Europe addressed in this study (base map after Natural Earth, free vector and raster map data @ naturalearthdata.com).

record is not the time when new things are initiated. Rather it is the completed process we see — the tipping point in Rogers' (1995) curve.

If we do not think that mass migration was responsible for the changes at the onset of the FN, and when we consider the regional differences during the FN, we must look for a gradual process in our data on the LN. To show this, I will introduce the battle axe phenomenon. The battle axe is a highly symbolic object and key for reconstructing supra-regional networks during the fourth and third millennia BC. To reconstruct its symbolic function, I highlight its diverse appearance (stone, copper, depictions). Analysing these contexts reveals that important developments happened already during the LN, and not at the beginning of the FN. The growing data base of LN single graves, which I address in a later part of the paper, also supports this. Important in this respect is a differentiated perspective on what is termed "collective grave". To begin with, I will address some general and recent observations on the typology of battle axes, which are important for recognising their significance in the LN.

Late Neolithic stone battle axes

In the middle of the Younger Neolithic (YN, c. 4400–3500 BC), the battle axe emerges as a distinct type of object in central Europe (Figure 2). This shaft-hole axe is not primarily a tool which can in addition function as a weapon, such as flint axes. Instead, it is specifically designed for being a weapon or weapon-symbol (Zápotocký 1992, 195; cf. Horn 2014, 222).² Being a specialised weapon differentiates the battle axe from mundane shaft-hole axes. Morphologically, mundane axes and battle axes differ by their shape (simple vs complex), use (sharp vs blunt cutting edges) and use life (often vs almost never re-worked when broken) (Hoof 1970, 80). As it is a specialised weapon and accompanies deceased persons in burials in many regions and periods all over Europe, many interpret these individuals as having a special social function (e.g. leaders and/or warriors) (Vandkilde 2006). However, due to the geographically wide distribution

² The designation "weapon" does not necessarily mean that the item was used as such. It can be a signal element of being ready for defence and avoiding conflicts (Jung 2020, 622).

we cannot draw general conclusions. Yet in contrast to mundane tools, the typologies often are very similar over huge areas (Struve 1955; Zápotocký 1992). This indicates that although we are dealing with completely different societies and differences in the respective meaning of the battle axes, these axes do at the very least form one common denominator (Schultrich 2022, 347–49).

Introduction to the typology

Basically, two kinds of battle axes exist. On the one hand there are hammer axes, which possess two different ends (the cutting edge and a hammer-like butt). Such axes existed primarily during the YN (F- and K-axes; letters refer to the typology by M. Zápotocký 1992³) and again during the FN (CWC axes e.g. A-axe; Struve 1955). On the other hand, round-butted axes (R-axes) and double axes (*bipennes*, D- and L-axes) appear between these two periods in the LN.⁴ Double axes can be completely symmetrical with two similar cutting edges; round-butted axes in contrast have a roundish butt end which is, however, clearly not hammer-shaped. D/L- and R-axes are typologically related to each other and various hybrids exist (Schultrich 2022, 212, 263–65; Zápotocký 1992, 98–102).

LN typologies

In the LN of western and central Europe, several distinct, although related lithic battle axe traditions existed (Schultrich 2022, 199–340).⁵ Both R- and D-axes often occur in burials, so they are securely dated to the LN (Figure 9). In central Germany, R-axes clearly dominate. Here, very distinct local types occur, such as the RV-axes, also called *Hannoverscher Typ* (Figure 5) (Zápotocký 1992, 108–09), and the often decorated RII-axes (Figure 3.5), also known as *Salzmünder Äxte* (Müller 2001, 399; Schunke 2013b, 252; Zápotocký 1992, 107). Also in Bohemia, R-axes predominate (Furholt 2009). In Moravia, Slovenia and northern Italy, "iron-shaped" round-butted axes appear, which are not covered in this paper (Bernardini *et al.* 2018, 284; D'Amico *et al.* 2015; Schultrich 2022, 265). In northern central Europe, D-axes occur (Figure 3.1.2). It is unclear whether the D-axes develop from R-axes (Schultrich 2022, 277–78). On the basis of early D(I)-axes, DIII-axes evolve predominantly in Denmark and *Nackenkammäxte* ("neck-comb" axes/N-axes) in north-eastern Germany (Figure 3.4) (Woidich 2014, 75; Zápotocký 1992, 143). N-axes often have oval shaft holes. Typologically related is a type labelled "Bohemian type", which does not feature a neck-comb (Figure 3.6). It predominantly appears in central Germany and the Czech Republic (Schultrich 2022, 264–65).

For a long time, the L-axes (lancet-shaped double axes) (Figure 3.7.8) of southern central Europe were not welldated, as there is a general lack of LN burials in southern Germany and in the western Alps (Furholt 2009, 133). I. Burger (1988, 130) still questioned their attribution to the LN Cham culture. Since the late 1990s, however, there are enough settlement finds to date them to the LN (Matuschik 1999; Winiger 1999). Most dendrodates from the western Alps place them into the early third millennium denBC (Affolter and Suter 2017, 340; Schultrich 2022, 273–74). Moreover, burial contexts in western and central Germany and the eastern Alps date this type to the late fourth millennium BC (Beran 1990). Thus, the L-axes of the western Alps appear to be younger.

L-axes clearly are related to round-butted axes (Beran 1990; Maier 1964) and presumably they typologically evolved from them (Schultrich 2022, 274–78). Everywhere, except for the western Alps, L-axes of the so-called Halfing-Linz type occur (Figure 3.3). Such axes are very long (often more than 30 cm), with a marked profile, made of shining stones and polished very thoroughly. Often, they occur as single deposits in rivers (Maier 1964, 20–22; Schultrich 2022, 269–73). In the western Alps in contrast, where the L-axes seem to be younger, specimens with oval shaft holes are frequent (Figure 3.8) (Schultrich 2022, 275, 283–84).

In western and central France, *bipennes* appear. As Zápotocký (1992) did not address them, I pay them special attention here. Although the term *bipenne* is the French translation of double axe, it covers both round-butted and double axes (Schultrich 2022, 208–16). Some axes are rather simple, with roundish butt ends and round cross-sections (Figure 3.10). Other axes, in contrast, are very elaborate, with a marked profile, an angular cross-section and almost symmetrical shape — both vertically and horizontally. There is also a special variant which is symmetrical on the vertical axis only (Figure 3.9). Boat-shaped axes are called *bipenne naviforme* (Schultrich 2022, 208–16; see also Giot 1959).

Due to morphological similarities to the so-called I-axes of the Late FN Single Grave culture (Hübner 2005, 120–27; Schultrich 2018, 109–13), P. Giot (1959) proposed a similar date for the *bipennes* (late third millennium BC). The only

³ His studies are an important source for central European battle axes. Many of his suggestions are still valid, while others are disproven or set into perspective. He did neither address the LN specimens of southern central Europe (i.e. southern central Germany, southern Germany (Bavaria, Baden-Württemberg), Austria, Switzerland), nor the western European battle axes.

⁴ The simple concept of round-butted axes emerges prior to the LN (Hafner and Suter 2003, 15) and persists into the Metal Ages (Lekberg 2004). Rarely, double axes already appear in the late fifth millennium BC, as shown by an axe from a Swiss lake (Gnepf-Horisberger *et al.* 2000). They are, however, rather related to the Lengyel-type axes of more easterly regions (Zalai-Gaál 1991, 391).

⁵ Not addressed in this paper are the double axes of northwest Iberia, which are related to the French specimens (Schultrich 2022, 409–12).



Figure 3. Selected LN stone battle axe types mentioned in the text. 1 DIII-axe from Oddengårds Mølles Mark, Denmark (Ebbesen 1975, 181 fig. 147.6); 2 DII-axe from Skaderedegårds Mark, Denmark (Ebbesen 1975, 178 fig. 144.5); 3 Halfing-Linz type axe from Bischofsheim, southern Germany (Maier 1964, list 3 no. 1, fig. 89.1; Schultrich 2022, kat. 568, tab. 43.a); 4 NI-axe from Oldenburg, northern Germany (Zápotocký 1992, 521 tab. 121.5); 5 RII-axe from Rassnitz, central Germany (Zápotocký 1992, 481 tab. 81.11; Schultrich 2022, tab. 46.b); 6 "Bohemian type" axe from Reinhardshagen-Vaake (Schultrich 2022, kat. 754, tab. 48.b); 7 L-axe from Neßlbach, south Germany (Maier 1964, 20 fig. 1.4); 8 L-axe from Lüscherz, Switzerland (Schultrich 2022, kat. 717, tab. 41.e; Winiger 1999, 100 fig. 55.1); 9 *bipenne naviforme* axe from Beuzevillette, northern France (Schultrich 2022, kat. 228, tab. 25.b); 10 simple *bipenne* axe from Chaumont-Sur-Loire, central France (Schultrich 2022, kat. 151, tab. 15.f). All same scale.

known ¹⁴C-dates seemingly confirmed this (Gachina *et al.* 1975). However, in the original publication, the dates are not calibrated.

Only in Brittany do bipennes regularly come from burial contexts. As Giot (1959) noted, most contexts are passage graves. As they were erected in the late fifth and early fourth millennium BC and re-used for a long period (Scarre 2015, 79–81), these contexts do not help to date the axes. However, we know one gallery grave that yielded one bipenne (Herbaut 2001, fig. 66B). Gallery graves were erected in the second half of the fourth millennium BC — a *terminus post quem* for the dating of the axes. In western France, the fragment of a bipenne naviforme was found together with pottery of the so-called Peu-Richardien phase (3400–2900 BC) (Ard 2013). Calibrating the available 14C-dates reveals a thirty-first century BC date (Schultrich 2022, 202).⁶ The dating of the central European double axes is taken as further reference for the bipennes. Due to the lack of dated contexts, no internal typochronology exists (Schultrich 2022, 206-23).

Lastly, hammer axes do exist during the LN in some regions. Different forms occur in Baden, Ezero, and Cotofeni contexts, and in the Caucasus region — all dating to the late fourth millennium BC (Hansen 2010, 304; Zápotocký 1992, 194). Some knob-butted hammer axes (K-axes) appear in Copper Age contexts in northern and central Italy (Bernardini et al. 2018, 284; Skeates 1992, 401). In contrast to Zápotocký's (1992) suggestions, K-axes did exist during the LN of central Europe. A specific variant labelled knobhamerbijl (basically knob-butted hammer axe) occurs in the Netherlands and north-western Germany (Figure 2, Figure 5.2). Zápotocký (1992, 71–72) dated some of those axes to the YN and others to the Bronze Age. However, J.A. Bakker (1979) already suggested a quite different date for these axes. J.N. Lanting (2018) confirmed that the axes are a LN regional type. I shall return to these axes later.

Battle axes from other materials

During the FN, battle axes are depicted on stelae, albeit rarely (Figure 6.5). Miniature axes made of stone or clay occur (Seregély 2008, 281–82). In some regions, antler battle axes appear (Hafner and Suter 2005, 15). Copper hammer axes which resemble early CWC stone hammer axes are well-known and labelled *Eschollbrücker Äxte* (Kibbert 1980; Maran 2008). This multi-modular presence testifies to the high symbolic value of FN battle axes. However, the phenomenon of battle axes made in all these materials is not an invention of the FN.

LN copper double axes

Already during the Late YN, we know morphologically similar axes made of stone and copper. In the Alpine region and northern central Europe, many lithic hammer axes appear (Schultrich 2022, 249–51; Zápotocký 1992, 66–69) alongside a few copper hammer axes (e.g. Malmö, Sweden; Śmierdnica, Poland; Puch, Austria: Klassen 2000, 147; Zápotocký 1992, 196–97). The hammer axes confirm the network which becomes evident by examining the early copper distribution in general (Gebauer *et al.* 2020; Klassen 2000).

As there are both YN and FN copper axes, we should look for potential LN specimens. In some regions, so-called Zabitz-type copper double axes appear. Citing K. Kibbert's (1980) more than 40-year-old study, scholars mostly date them to the Late FN and Early Bronze Age. Judging from the material composition, the Zabitz-type axes are neither clearly LN, nor clearly not LN (Schultrich 2022, 322–23; see also Brozio *et al.* 2023). However, morphological considerations and spatial and contextual observations make a LN date plausible.

The general appearance of the copper double axes is very similar to lithic L-axes (Figure 4.4-5). Both are double-edged artefacts and in side view both are straight (Bunnefeld 2019, 191; Schultrich 2022, 323-26). This especially applies to the Zabitz sub-type Cochem, which has very small and oval shaft holes. We also know oval shaft holes from LN N- and L-axes, and the latter share their main distribution area in south-western Germany and Switzerland with the Cochem sub-type (Schultrich 2022, 285). One copper axe was found near a LN Horgen site, with no material dating to other phases known in the surroundings (Angeli 1953). This speaks in favour of a Horgen context and thus LN date. The ornamentation of the Flonheim sub-type was taken as indication for a younger date (Kibbert 1980). However, similar zig-zag and triangle motifs occur on LN pottery (Ebbesen 2011, 52-57; Lorenz 2018, 145-65) and LN stone slabs in graves (Schunke 2013a, 154).7

All these observations show that at least some of the Zabitz-type axes date to the LN. Whether they all are LN, or whether the smaller Westeregeln sub-type in central Germany is younger, is discussed elsewhere (Schultrich 2022, 319–29).

Copper and stone battle axes in northwestern and central Germany

In north-western Germany, four peculiar copper hammer axes exist, which are here named Lüstringen-type axes after the last place of discovery (Figure 2, Figure 5.3). They show similarities to copper shaft-hole axes of the so-called

R-Date 1 (Lab. Nr. Gif-2608): 4410±120 bp, 3496–2702 calBC (95.4 %), 3378–2857 calBC (91.2 %), 3328–2911 calBC (68.3 %); R-Date 2 (Lab. Nr. Gif-2610): 4360±120 bp, 3368–2637 calBC (95.4 %), 3368–2837 calBC (86.2 %), 3326–2882 calBC (68.3 %) (Gachina *et al.* 1975; Schultrich 2022, 203).

⁷ They are even found on a LN antler dagger (Brozio 2016, 332).

without marked neck: bottom: double axes. 1 RII-axe from Praha Sárka, Czech Republic (Zápotocký 1992, 479 tab. 79.3); 2 RIIaxe from Rassnitz, central Germany (Zápotocký 1992, 481 tab. 81.11; Schultrich 2022, tab. 46.b); 3 two Schafthalsäxte from burial mound 31/5 in Klady, Caucasus (Hansen 2009, 147 fig. 12.6.7). 4 axe of sub-type Cochem, unknown origin (Schultrich 2022, 324 fig. 4.28; see also Kibbert 1980); 5 L-axe from Hitzkirch-Seematte (Schultrich 2022, 324 fig. 4.28; see also Nielsen 2016, 14 fig. 24).

Figure 4. Comparison of lithic and copper battle axes. Top: axes

Bányabükk/Baniabic/Vâlcele type (*Schafthalsäxte*) of southeastern Europe (Szeverényi 2013). G. Jacob-Friesen (1970) saw the potential significance of these axes, but due to their then low number he refused to define a type. K. Grote (2004, 325) already dated the axe from Müsleringen to the late fourth millennium BC and traced the material to southeastern Europe. Recently, the Lüstringen copper hoard was discovered, consisting of a knob-butted axe, a large, thick ring and some *lunulae*. It was dated by the metal composition (high arsenic copper) to the late fourth millennium BC (Lehmann *et al.* 2018). A nearby cremation burial, which very likely is linked to the hoard, is ¹⁴C-dated to this phase,⁸ thus supporting this date for the hoard (Neumann and Ostrowski 2022).

The shaft holes of all four Lüstringen-type axes are near the butt ends. This is similar to copper *Schafthalsäxte* (see below) and some lithic R-axes (Zápotocký 1992, 93). However, their butt ends are different, as they do have a more or less pronounced knob-shaped butt. Especially the copper axe from Lüstringen is very similar to lithic *knobhamerbijl* axes from the Netherlands and northwestern Germany. The axe from Eldagsen, on the other hand, is closely related to *Schafthalsäxte*, and the two others (Müsleringen and Reiffenhausen) are typologically in between these axes (Schultrich 2022, 306–10; see also Neumann and Ostrowski 2022).

⁸ Beta-502565, 4430±30 bp (3328–2924 calBC); Poz-134314, 4240±35 bp (2916–2696 calBC).



Figure 5. Comparison of lithic and copper battle axes from north-western Germany with plastic rims on the top side. 1 RV stone axe from Bargenstedt, northern Germany (Schultrich 2022, tab. 46.f; Zápotocký 1992, 496 tab. 96.11); 2 knobhamerbijl stone axe, Netherlands (Lanting 2018, 114-15); 3 Lüstingen-type copper axe from Reiffenhausen, northern Germany (Grote 2004); 4 FN stone A-axe from Lindet, Denmark (Hübner 2005, 83 fig. 47.d).

Generally, *Schafthalsäxte* appear from the late fourth to the early second millennium BC in south-eastern Europe and the Caucasus region (Hansen 2009, 145–48; Kaiser 2019, 238–40). Some pieces occur in eastern central Europe, and two even in eastern Germany (Schultrich 2022, 306), thus not far from the Lüstringen-type axes addressed here (Figure 2).

Schafthalsäxte and central European R-axes possess some morphological parallels (Figure 4.1–3). Both have roundish butt ends and shaft holes near these ends. The Schafthalsäxte are sometimes decorated with herringbone patterns and rivets (Hansen 2010, 303). In central Germany, especially in the Halle region, so-called Salzmünder (RII-) axes possess herringbone patterns and round applications (Schunke 2013b, 252; Zápotocký 1992, 115),⁹ which could be related to rivets. Moreover, the contexts in which these axes are found are similar. In some areas, especially the Caucasus region, *Schafthalsäxte* are often grave goods (Hansen 2009). In central Europe, the number of battle axes in graves increases significantly with LN roundbutted axes (Figure 7).

There are more possible connections. Knob-butted axes which are similar to the German ones occur in some burial mounds of the Caucasus region (Hansen 2010, 299). Moreover, in both regions there is one example

⁹ Also a few L-axes, especially of the Halfing-Linz variant, bear herringbone ornamentation (Pittioni 1954, 241).



Figure 6. Axe representations and non-lithic pieces. 1 depiction of a LN hammer axe in the chambered tomb of Göhlitzsch, central Germany (Patzold et al. 2010, 16); 2 depiction of an antler axe in a rock-cut tomb at Maraisde-Saint-Gond, central France (Charpy 2014, 316); 3 antler battle axe from the gallery grave of Hayettes à Congy, central France (Martineau et al. 2014, 431); 4 stela with axe depiction from Arco (Bagolini et al. 1989); 5 stela with axe depiction from Gelnhausen (Kerig 2010, 64 fig. 4).

of an engraving of a recurve bow (Hansen 2010, 299; Schunke 2013a).

Two of the four Lüstringen-type axes have a cast shaft. This is noteworthy, as lithic battle axes with sleeves¹⁰ exist in this and adjacent regions (Figure 2). Strikingly, these are late LN types: the DII-axes of northern Germany, the RV-axes of central and north-western Germany and the *knobhamerbijl* axes of the Netherlands (Figure 5.3). Therefore, the sleeves might symbolically resemble the cast copper shafts (Schultrich 2022, 255).

Some of the stone axes (RV and *knobhamerbijl* types) even feature a plastic rim (Figure 5.1). Both axe types occur near the distribution of copper axes, which evidently were cast in two-piece moulds (Grote 2004, 325;

see also Kaiser 2019, 238–40). With this technique, a weak line occurs on the axe where the two parts met. Adding a similar rim on lithic axes could have been intended as a casting-seam imitation. This is further supported by the fact that the decorations are similar. This brings a new perspective for the assessment of FN hammer axes.

Consequences for the FN hammer axe

Plastic rims imitating casting seams occur on Early FN hammer axes (Figure 5.4) (Hübner 2005, 138–39; Maran 2008, 173–74). These so-called A-axes are often compared to FN *Eschollbrücken* axes, which appear primarily in western and central Germany (cf. Kibbert 1980; Maran 2008). The idea that the plastic rims are symbolic casting seams is widely accepted for the FN axes (e.g. Hübner 2005, 143; Struve 1955, 110). However, now we see that this pattern already appears in the (Late) LN. We could ask whether the casting seams on FN A-axes

¹⁰ Two thirds of all RV-axes have a sleeve (Zápotocký 1992, 101), as do a few DII-axes (Zápotocký 1992 124) and *knobhamerbijl* examples (Lanting 2018).

resemble *Eschollbrücken* axes or if they rather are a continuation of the casting seams on the Late LN stone axes. That FN casting seams occur very often in northern central Europe speaks in favour of the latter possibility (Schultrich 2018, 82).

One of the CWC narratives is that battle axes as constituting symbols came from the east and were brought into central Europe as part of a wider "Corded Ware package" (Furholt 2014). However, on the basis of the considerable diversity of Earliest FN battle axes in northern central Europe, Furholt (2014) suggested they were invented here. But he did not explain where the idea came from. Although scholars realised the typological similarities of YN and FN hammer axes, the chronological gap between them is too big to consider them as one tradition (Klimscha 2016, 92–94). However, now that we know about knobhamerbijl LN hammer axes they can fill the gap alongside the RV-axes with plastic rims, which occur in direct vicinity to both the knobhamerbijl and the Lüstringen-type axes. As the LN axes and Early FN hammer axes share one special attribute, the casting seam, the FN hammer axes likely developed in northern central Europe from LN axes and did not emerge through external influence from the east.

Antler axes and pictograms

Due to bad preservation conditions in some regions of central Europe, it is not possible to obtain a representative picture of the distribution of LN antler and bone tools (Schultrich 2022, 290–91). However, in some areas they are preserved, such as in the lakeshore settlements of the western Alps. Interestingly, when antler battle axes appear there in the middle of the fourth millennium BC, the number of stone battle axes decreases drastically (Hafner and Suter 2005, 15). Antler axes seem to replace, and thus fulfil a similar function to, the stone battle axes.

Some special antler battle axes consist of antler shafts with shaft holes and an inserted flint axe as cutting edge (Winiger 1999, 74–75) (Figure 6.2–3). They are found in western Switzerland and the Paris Basin (Figure 2). In the latter region they appear as stray finds or in burials — rarely in gallery graves, frequently in rock-cut tombs in the Marne region (Cottiaux *et al.* 2014, 507–10; Sohn 2002, 505). In these contexts, engraved antler axes appear as well (Charpy 2014, 413–16) (Figure 6.2). This highlights the symbolic value of antler axes. As stone battle axes are rare in this area, the antler axes seemingly have a similar function to the lithic pieces in other regions (Schultrich 2022, 478–80).

In northern Italy, there are many depictions of weapons. In Trentino, on the famous stela from Arco, one artefact can be interpreted as a double axe (Figure 6.4). In contrast, depictions of weapons are infrequent in the LN of central Europe (Drummer 2022, 125-27). Beside the antler axes just mentioned, a few images of weapons are known from central German burial contexts (Schunke 2013a). Often, they are strongly stylised (e.g. Seehausen, see Kerig 2010). However, in the chamber tomb of Göhlitzsch, a depiction of a special kind of battle axe appears: it has a shaft hole near the butt and is straight, with a thicker cutting edge (Figure 6.1). This pictogram is very similar to the LN knob-butted axes mentioned above or to Schafthalsäxte. Thus, the strongly stylised axes can perhaps also be dated to the LN (Hansen 2010, 303-04; Schultrich 2022, 558-59). The axe from Gelnhausen (Figure 6.5) is in a FN style. As Drummer (2022, 125-27) points out, the turn from the LN to the FN in central Europe correlates with a shift in the context in which engravings appear: from burials to (anthropomorphic) stelae. The axe engravings follow this general trend.

In addition, miniature axes appear, both in central (Zápotocký 1992, 160) as well as western Europe (Schultrich 2022, 228), including clay axes and symbolic axes made of amber (Zápotocký 1992, 160; see also Brozio 2016, 154). All this testifies to the high symbolic value of the battle axe concept during the LN.

United in diversity

For a long time, due to the state of research, scholars have erroneously dated copper double axes and *knobhamerbijl* examples (Kibbert 1980; Zápotocký 1992) and did not regard L-axes as being LN (Burger 1988), while also ignoring *bipennes* completely (Zápotocký 1992). Finally, the Lüstringen-type axes were not identified as a type of their own. Accordingly, neither was the morphological relation of LN stone and copper battle axes recognised, nor was the extent of the battle axe horizon connecting western and central Europe appreciated.

Antler axes and axes made on other materials, miniature axes, or engravings on stones belong to the LN battle axe horizon. In all regions, simple axes as well as very elaborate and distinctive axes exist. This all testifies to the symbolic value of the battle axe during the LN.

With the analysis of LN battle axes, we see a dynamic network, in which the shapes were negotiated supra-regionally. A prerequisite for this is constant communication between the actors, as well as a basic agreement on (one of) the meaning(s) of the battle axe. Apart from the shared attributes, in each region own characteristics occur, so that this horizon really follows the motto *united in diversity*.

When we accept that battle axes had a special social function, maybe attached to a certain social role or cosmological idea, we can reconstruct a specific network of shared values and ideas already during the LN, and not first with the onset of the FN.



Figure 7. The percentage of battle axes from burial contexts in northern central Europe plotted using the aoristic method (after Mischka 2007). The central dotted line marks the average of all regions, the lower and upper lines represent the extremes of individual regions (Schultrich 2022).

Differences in context

In some regions, stone, copper and antler battle axes are recovered from bogs, lakes or rivers, testifying to the activity of intentionally depositing battle axes as single finds (Howell 1986, 72; Iversen 2015, 46; Schultrich 2022, 353). LN copper axes were deposited mostly as single finds or, rarely, in multi-object hoards (Kibbert 1980; Neumann and Ostrowski 2022). It is important to note that no grave finds of copper axes are known in central and western Europe.

During the YN, lithic battle axes in all regions were predominantly deposited as single finds. Grave finds appear in only a few regions. These are often broken pieces, indicating deliberate destruction (Schultrich 2022, 356–59; Zápotocký 1992, 157–58).

During the LN, this pattern changes in northern central Europe, but persists in the south. Most L-axes are single finds and burial finds appear rarely (Schultrich 2022, 473). The same pattern occurs in France, except for Brittany. Here, battle axes were regularly deposited in burials (Figure 8). However, these axes are broken pieces, rough-outs or miniature axes (Schultrich 2022, 477–78). This strongly indicates a certain symbolic function that differs from the deposition strategy in northern central Europe. Here, complete, regular-sized R- and D-axes regularly come from burials (with a peak in the thirty-first century BC with on average >20 % of graves containing an axe, in Denmark even almost 40 %) (Figure 7) (Schultrich 2022, 459). Accordingly, with the emergence of new battle axe concepts (round-butted and double axes), a new pattern is established.

	All FN	Burials with battle axes			
	burials	N	%		
Southern Sweden	244	129	52.9		
Jutland	~2566	1129	44.0		
Netherlands	145	34	23.4		
Altenburg (T)	18	3	16.7		
Danube region	96	11	11.5		
Hesse	118	7	5.9		
Dittigheim	62	1	1.6		

Table 1. Absolute number of Final Neolithic burials and burials with battle axes. Grey: northern central Europe. No shading: central and southern Germany. T= Thuringia. Data from Schultrich 2022.

The difference between the north and the south is still visible during the FN. In the south, burials with battle axes are rare. While in the northern regions, 20–50 % of all known FN burials are furnished with a battle axe, in the south the figure is below 10 % (Schultrich 2022, 500) (Table 1). This pattern of restricted access to specific symbols in burials during the FN is likely rooted in the LN. Thus, a tradition is revealed which we do not recognise if we limit ourselves to generalised narratives of marked change at the transition between LN and FN.



Figure 8. Distribution of LN burials with battle axes (Schultrich 2022).

The burial evidence

In addition to the battle axe phenomenon, a critical assessment of the burial rites helps to recognise that certain developments which are important during the FN already began during the LN.

Single graves

A single grave furnished with a battle axe and a corddecorated beaker is said to be typical for the FN. In some areas, Early FN battle axes appear in burial contexts before cord-decorated beakers do (Hübner 2005, 655). In other areas, single burials completely without diagnostic CWC items predate those with typical burial assemblages. This is the so-called Kalbsrieth horizon that is defined by single crouched inhumations under burial mounds, without grave goods (or only with chronologically undiagnostic goods such as flint blades) (Kluttig 1994). Recently, there have been attempts to return this horizon to scholarly attention by collecting new data (Heyd 2021), but it remains problematic.

The Kalbsrieth horizon is based on the premise that the CWC is the beginning of something new. Accordingly, most attempts to prove the existence of this horizon deal with one side of the transformation only — the time after the onset of "the CWC". But there are certain developments during the late fourth and earliest third millennium BC which clearly show that many "CWC attributes" do appear much earlier.

During the LN, single graves appear regularly. In these, we often find a material culture that is similar to that in the collective graves of the respective regions. For example, Danish LN cattle burials in north-western Jutland very frequently contain flint axes, sometimes pottery and rarely battle axes — but if so then always in combination with flint axes (Fabricus and Becker 1996, 178–79; Jensen 2001, 400). The same pattern is typical for the late use of the Jutish passage graves (Ebbesen 2011, 316). A similar pattern even continues in early CWC burials. Although battle axes are much more frequent, the specific combination of flint and battle axes re-occurs and pottery is still rare (Hübner 2005, 625).

Sometimes in northern central Europe, single flat graves are located near passage graves, and they appear to be younger than the main use of the monument. This is particularly frequently documented in the Netherlands (Raemaekers and Van der Velde 2022, 190), for instance in connection with the passage grave at Mander (Lanting and Brindley 2004, 78). Recently, P. Borup and his team have also excavated such a site at Bygholm Nørremark, Denmark. With one exception, all single flat graves, located between a megalithic and a non-megalithic barrow, were unfurnished (Per Borup, pers. comm.; Seeberg 2020). The graves date to the final LN (Seeberg 2020). A similar observation was made by J.P. Brozio (2016, 159), who found one single grave without grave goods dating to the thirty-first century BC, in the mound of a passage grave. Thus, in some areas the transition from collective to single graves is gradual rather than abrupt.

In central Germany, different forms of single graves occur throughout the entire LN sequence (Müller 2001, 358–66). For example, within the enclosure of Salzmünde several crouched individual inhumations were found in conjunction with sherd deposits (Schunke 2014, 438). Clay extraction pits also yielded crouched inhumations with few grave goods. The burials date to the transition from the fourth to the third millennium BC (Schunke 2014, 432–33). The excavators suggest that these may be lowranking individuals (Schunke 2014, 439).

In the burial ground of Dalfsen (Netherlands), 84 of the 135 LN single flat graves are associated with pottery and 51 of them with just one pot (mostly Brindley's types 4–5, but also 6–7 and thus dating c. 3000–2750 BC) (Brindley 2022, 69, 118). Only a few burials contain more than two pots or even flint or ground-stone axes, and only one grave is furnished with a battle axe. A similar ratio between the different items is observed in the collective graves of the region, thus promoting the idea that each pot in collective burials was assigned to one individual (Raemaekers and Van der Velde 2022, 190). This explanation has been proposed for collective burials in other regions as well (Brozio 2016).¹¹ In Dalfsen, the graves are similar to CWC burials: crouched body position, standardised grave goods, wooden cists and indirect evidence for burial mounds (Van der Velde and Raemaekers 2022, 20).

There are quite a few cemeteries with single burials in the Netherlands and north-western Germany, although most are much smaller than Dalfsen.¹² Another recently excavated example is Heek, where 24 burials (c. 3300–3100 BC) were unearthed. Again, only one is furnished with a battle axe (Pak and Pfeffer 2020, 3; see also Lanting 2018).

According to R. Kossian's (2005) catalogue, single graves appear most frequently between 3600–3200 BC — the same time span in which collective graves were erected (Müller 2019, 46). However, the recent discoveries show that single burials appear more often than expected in a later part of the LN. And many of these graves fully or partly correspond to the definition of the Kalbsrieth horizon. This means that we can actually trace many of the attributes which define this horizon back to the LN. Accordingly, this horizon is not exclusively a CWC phenomenon.

The hidden significance of collective graves

Collective graves still make up the largest part of all known LN burials. As people erected and used them collectively for a long period, the common interpretation is that these societies were collectively oriented. This assumes that all these societies would have the same social structures and beliefs.

A society that only uses collective graves might indeed do this because of specific ideological reasons. However, this could also simply be "the correct way of doing this", i.e. a society's habitus. A combination of both is also possible. "Collective burials once were more common than they are today [...]. People are always treated individually when they die. [...] The difference between individual and collective deposition in prehistory does not reflect differences between communalist and individualistic people" (Weiss-Krejci 2011, 164; see also Müller 2003).

In interpreting societies building collective monuments, we have to take the huge regional differences in the treatment of the bodies and grave goods into consideration. Thus, the ideas and beliefs of the societies using these burial sites were potentially very different.

The LN collective burial traditions

In the late fifth and early fourth millennium BC, Neolithic societies in Europe used dolmens (northern central Europe) and passage graves (Brittany) (Mischka and Furholt 2019; Scarre 2015). However, in the middle of the fourth millennium BC, a remarkable phenomenon occurs. Now, people started erecting new forms of large collective graves with antechambers and entrances and used them for many centuries. At the entrances, ceremonies were held and artefacts deposited (Brindley 2003, 49; Gebauer 2014; Jensen 2001, 383). These graves had room for dozens or hundreds of individuals (Cottiaux *et al.* 2014, 515; see also Pape 2019).

Specifically, these are passage graves and *Großdolmen* in northern central Europe (Jensen 2001, 268; Mischka 2022; Mischka and Furholt 2019, 934), and different kinds

¹¹ In the passage grave of Wangels LA 69, Brozio (2016, 171–72) reconstructed 40 buried people on the basis of the number of pottery vessels.

¹² Netherlands: Uddel-Uddelermeer, Zeyen, Vledder (five burials each), Mander (nine cremation burials), Angelslo and Zuidwolde (ten burials each), maybe Hardenberg-Baalderes. Germany: Heek (24 burials), Averbeck (26 burials), Flensburg (29 burials), Ostorf (50 burials) (Van der Velde and Raemaekers 2022, 23–24; see also Kossian 2005).



Figure 9. Distribution of LN collective burials. Britain and Ireland not mapped (Schultrich 2022).

of gallery graves in Brittany,¹³ western Germany, the Paris Basin and the western Alps¹⁴ (Pape 2019; Siebke *et al.* 2020). Rock-cut tombs appear in the eastern Paris Basin (Blin 2015; Cottiaux *et al.* 2014). In Brittany, similar to passage graves, *sépultures à entrée latérale* were erected (Blanchard 2012, 355; Laporte 2009, 736–37). In central Germany different kinds of chamber tombs (*Mauerkammergräber*) appear (Müller 2001, 115) (Figure 9). In southern, western and central France, *dolmens simples* occur and in western France more complex *dolmens angevins* (not mapped) (Burnez 1976, 83). Also, caves (*grottes sépulcrales*) were used for burials there (Blanchard 2012, 360; Burnez 1976, 83). Caves were also used in northern France and Belgium (not mapped) (Cauwe *et al.* 2001, 81; Toussaint *et al.* 2007, 107).

Besides the common threads, there are differences, especially when we look at the grave goods and the treatment of the deceased. In the gallery graves, often hundreds of individuals are buried, whereas grave goods are rare (Figure 10). Most of the grave goods come from the entrance or antechamber and were thus deposited apart from the individuals (Cottiaux *et al.* 2014, 515; Sohn 2002, 505). Often the artefacts were deliberately broken and they are "common tools" — there is no difference between grave and settlement pottery (Cottiaux *et al.* 2014, 459). The bodies were secondarily manipulated. For instance, the bones were sorted and parts of an individual's body were not kept together. The dead were "collectivised" (Pape 2019). The same is true in the western Alps (Siebke *et al.* 2020).

In the passage graves of northern central Europe, it is uncertain how the bodies were treated due to the bad bone preservation. There are examples of both re-arrangements

¹³ In recent research, the Breton gallery graves are portrayed as a different tradition to the Paris Basin ones (Pape 2019, 164). However, architectural differences are minor. The Breton burials are not dug into the earth as the others are. From an architectural perspective, the gallery graves of the Paris Basin and western Germany differ much more from each other (Pape 2019, 164). The date of the Breton burials is not very clear, as they are almost never undisturbed or have been excavated early (Patton 1993, 134–43). However, LN pottery styles (Groh-Collé and Kerogou) clearly show that they were erected in the late fourth millennium BC (Blanchet 2012, 315; Patton 1993, 134–43).

¹⁴ We can add the collective burials of the western Alps to the tradition of gallery graves. Their layout and use, the treatment of the bodies and the grave goods are similar to gallery graves (see Sohn 2002, 502). A long discussion about the date of the graves was solved recently: they (also) date to the LN (Siebke *et al.* 2020).



Figure 10. Average number of individuals and grave goods in the gallery graves (GG) of the Paris Basin and western Germany, the rock-cut tombs (RCT) of the Marne region and the chamber tombs (CT) of central Germany. The relation of individuals and grave goods is given in brackets. The data come from the 53 sites selected by Cottiaux *et al.* (2014).

as well as of individuals who were kept in primary positions (Jensen 2001, 379; Mischka and Furholt 2019, 926), but we cannot draw general conclusions. However, there are huge differences to gallery graves when we consider the grave goods. The highly ornamented and thin-walled burial pottery is strikingly different from settlement pottery (Brozio 2016, 144–45). Apart from pottery destruction in front of some monuments (Brindley 2003, 49; Gebauer 2014; Jensen 2001, 383), pottery and other artefacts appear in the chambers and are thus directly linked to the deceased (Brozio 2016, 169-72; Ebbesen 2011, 315-16). Battle axes are mostly deposited complete in these burial contexts (Schultrich 2022, 356-57; Zápotocký 1992, 157-58). In the gallery graves of western Germany, in contrast, only three heavily fragmented battle axes were found alongside a few "working axes" (see Rinne 2003, 104); no complete battle axe is known (Schultrich 2022, 470).

In the rock-cut tombs of the Marne region (Figure 10), the individuals were not manipulated secondarily (Blin 2015, 591). Also, there are more grave goods than in the gallery graves (Cottiaux *et al.* 2014, 505; Sohn 2002, 505). The grave goods are often directly related to the bodies. Here, battle axes made of antler appear in large numbers (Sohn 2002, 505; see also Blin 2015). Accordingly, the treatment of the bodies and the burial good tradition are both similar to northern central European passage graves and to the chamber tombs of central Germany (Cottiaux *et al.* 2014, 505). Accordingly, we see completely different deposition strategies of humans and grave goods in the respective regions. There is nothing like a universal collective grave with an associated universal rite. Thus, these societies probably had strikingly differing beliefs. Again, the similarities and differences in the collective grave horizon correspond to the motto *in varietate concordia*. It is important to note that, similar to single graves, collective graves can yield deposits associated with a specific individual. Thus, certain social roles which are connected to battle axes could be articulated in the LN collective burials just as much as in the FN single burials.

The coarse ware horizon

Coarse ware

In many of the aforementioned regions a distinct — or rather, a very indistinct — kind of pottery appears: a coarse, unprofiled, barrel- or bucket-shaped vessel with flat base and no decoration, except for small holes beneath the rim. Many studies highlight its local origin in the diverse regions. However, its supra-regional significance is almost unknown (but see Iversen 2020).

E. Vogt (1938) already noted its significance. In the Paris Basin, coarse ware pottery belongs to a complex which was formerly labelled S.O.M. (or Seine-Oise-Marne) (Cottiaux *et al.* 2014, 515; Pape 2019, 8). In Switzerland, such pottery is called Horgen. The Paris Basin pottery

yields older dates than the archaeological complex known as Horgen (Cottiaux *et al.* 2014, 456). On the other hand, in the Alps, the process of ceramic coarsening (*Vergröberung* in German) already starts prior to Horgen, in Pfyn and Cortaillod contexts (Burri-Wyser and Jammet-Reynal 2016, 73; Hafner and Suter 2003, 9).

Even though J. Winiger (1998, 161) warns against labelling all coarse pottery as Horgen, there are some striking parallels to the pottery traditions of other regions. In south-western Germany pottery of the so-called Goldberg-III facies appears, in south-eastern Germany Cham and in western Germany the Late Michelsberg/Early Wartberg. In all of these archaeological complexes, the pottery is similar to Horgen (Raetzel-Fabian 2000, 101). Both the western and northern Funnel Beaker (FBC) pottery develop in a similar way. The complex shapes and decorations of the Late YN/ Early LN gradually decrease and, in the end, coarse pottery emerges (MN V/Brindley 7) (Brindley 1986, 100; Brozio *et al.* 2019, 129; see also Iversen 2015).

We also find coarse pottery in Belgium (Cauwe *et al.* 2001, 82; Toussaint *et al.* 2007, 108) and in western France (e.g. styles Seuil du Poitou and Taizé, see Ard 2013). In Brittany, it occurs side-by-side with fine pottery styles (Blanchard 2012, 314–15).

Many of these regions share more pottery types. Important are undecorated collared flasks (*Kragenflaschen*) which appear frequently in central and northern-central Europe, especially in the LN western FBC (Brindley 1986, 95–100; 2022, 108), but also in Brittany and the Paris Basin (Huysecom 1986, 201–07). In the latter region, hybrids of collared flasks and coarse ware appear — so-called *vases á col* (Cottiaux *et al.* 2014, 459–63). Their occurrence in the Netherlands and Brittany is noteworthy, as the Breton *sépultures à entrée latérale* are reminiscent of passage graves (Blanchard 2012, 355; Laporte 2009, 736–37).

Discussion: expanding networks and the equalisation of pottery styles

For northern central Europe, one interpretation of the LN loss in pottery diversity is that pottery's former importance as socially cohesive force decreases (Brozio *et al.* 2019, 141–42). At the same time, other collective efforts decrease: causewayed enclosures are abandoned, the short phenomenon of large-scale settlement agglomerations disappears and passage graves are no longer used frequently (Mischka and Furholt 2019, 936; Müller 2019, 39–40).¹⁵ Interestingly, at the same time as the "collective" efforts and regional signs disappear, battle axes — a warrior-related sign of individual power — increase in absolute numbers and become frequent

especially in burials (Figure 7). Additionally, in many areas we see a shift in land use which could be related to extensive grazing economies (Feeser *et al.* 2019, 1602). This kind of economy potentially intensifies supra-regional communication (Furholt 2021; Preda *et al.* 2015, 85). In sum, there seems to be a correlation between expanding communication networks and a loss of regional identity (see Brozio *et al.* 2019; Müller 2019). In this phase, pottery styles become more similar over vast territories.

It is not appropriate to ask which was the original coarse ware pottery tradition and which are its imitators. Similar to one suggestion for the supra-regional appearance of Bell Beakers,¹⁶ maybe the different local prototypes were reshaped according to supra-regionally negotiated ideas (see Jeunesse 2015), "[t]he process by which divergent origins might converge upon a common goal" (Barrett 2018, 18).

This does not mean that a supra-regional identification similar to that of Bell Beakers also applies to LN coarse ware pottery. Rather, the low importance of pottery for Late LN societies makes it vulnerable to changes. These changes happened in all regions, whose inhabitants were communicating with each other. Accordingly, a network connecting western and central Europe was present in the late fourth and early third millennium BC.

Conclusion: the LN as precursor of FN behaviours

In this contribution, my aim was not to ignore all significant features of the CWC. Without any doubt, the "CWC package" — battle axes, cord-decorated beakers and "male graves" — is very similar over a vast area (Bourgeois and Kroon 2017; Furholt 2019). Regional case studies demonstrate that during the LN, material culture symbols were more locally distributed and the networks were spatially smaller (Drummer 2022, 174–75).

However, we must stop thinking in absolutes. Just because certain aspects are more evident during the FN does not mean they are new. Coarse ware pottery, battle axes (especially double axes) and large collective burials are shared signs in western and central France. This "package", however, is regionally rather diverse *in varietate concordia.* Also, individual representation of certain idealised roles was possible during the LN. Collective graves do not necessarily hinder the representation of individual roles. The number of burials with battle axes increases during the LN. In addition, single graves appear — even graves that can be labelled as the Kalbsrieth horizon.

The main symbol of the LN and the FN is the battle axe. In both periods, this symbol was included in burials, made

¹⁵ However, this does not account for the Danish islands and Scania. Extensive settlements do appear in this phase, palisade enclosures were erected and megaliths re-used (Iversen 2015, 69).

¹⁶ Which also are regionally different (see contributions in Czebreszuk 2004).

in stone, copper and antler, and engraved on stones. There is even evidence that the early CWC A-axe could have been based on the LN hammer axes of northern central Europe.

The specific combination of single graves, crouched position, hammer axes and cord-decorated beakers the CWC innovations — are not the outcome of the rapid spread of a new idea or even people. Large-scale networks are rather a prerequisite for the spread of CWC symbols (Barrett 2018; Bernbeck and Burmeister 2017; Rogers 1995; Schultrich 2022, 608–13). The LN networks, through which the importance of battle axes and cosmological ideas were shared, paved the way for the spread of those symbols we term CWC. Thus, the early CWC does not mark the beginning of something new. Rather, it is the more established version of specific ideas which had already circulated for centuries.

References

- Affolter, J. and Suter, P.J. 2017. Felsgesteinartefakte. In P.J. Suter (ed.), Um 2700 v. Chr. – Wandel und Kontinuität in den Ufersiedlungen am Bielersee, Band 2, 332–55. Bern: Archäologischer Dienst des Kantons Bern.
- Angeli, W. 1953. Eine kupferne Doppelaxt aus dem Thurgau. *Jahrbuch der Schweizerischen Gesellschaft für Urgeschichte* 43, 134–41.
- Ard, V. 2013. Ceramic traditions and cultural identities: west-central France during the Late Neolithic II period (c. 3400–2900 cal. BC). Oxford Journal of Archaeology 32, 367–89.
- Bagolini, B., Lanzinger, M. and Pedrotti, A.L. 1989.
 Rinvenimento di quattro statue stele ad Arco (Valle del Sarca-Trentino meridionale). In Istituto Italiano di Preistoria e Protostoria (eds), *Atti della XXVIII Riunione Scientifica*, 355–70. Firenze: Istituto Italiano di Preistoria e Protostoria.
- Bakker, J.A. 1979. The TRB West Group. Studies in the chronology and geography of the makers of hunebeds and Tiefstich pottery. Amsterdam: Albert Egges van Giffen Instituut voor Prae- en Protohistorie.
- Barrett, J. 2018. The Dutch abroad? Interpreting the distribution of the "Beaker culture". In C.C. Bakels, Q. Bourgeois, D. Fontijn and R. Jansen (eds), *Local communities in the big world of prehistoric northwest Europe*, 13–22. Leiden: Sidestone Press.
- Beran, J. 1990. Lanzettförmige Doppeläxte des jüngeren Mittelneolithikums im Saalegebiet. *Alt-Thüringen* 25, 7–29.
- Bernardini, F., de Min, A., Lenaz, D., Tuniz, C., Velušcek,
 A. and Montagnari Kokelj, E. 2018. Neolithic and
 Copper Age polished stone axes in the Caput Adriae: synthesis of a long-term interdisciplinary project. In
 E. Borgna, G.P. Cassola and S. Corazza (eds), *Preistoria* e protostoria del Caput Adriae. Studi di preistoria e protostoria, 279–88. Firenze: IIPP.

- Bernbeck, R. and Burmeister, S. 2017. Archaeology and innovation: remarks on approaches and concepts. In S. Burmeister and R. Bernbeck (eds), *The interplay of people and technologies. Archaeological case studies on innovation. Berlin Studies of the Ancient World 43*, 7–19. Berlin: Topoi.
- Blanchard, A. 2012. Le Néolithique récent de l'Ouest de la France (IVe-IIIe millénaire avant J.-C.): Productions et dynamiques culturelles. PhD dissertation, Université de Rennes. Available at: https://theses.hal.science/file/ index/docid/745093/filename/Vol1thA_seBlanchard. pdf
- Bourgeois, Q. and Kroon, E. 2017. The impact of male burials on the construction of Corded Ware identity: Reconstructing networks of information in the 3rd millennium BC. *PLoS One* 12 (10), 0185971. DOI:10.1371/journal.pone.0185971
- Brindley, A.L. 1986. The typochronology of TRB West Group pottery. *Palaeohistoria* 28, 93–132.
- Brindley A.L. 2003. The use of pottery in Dutch hunebedden. In A. Gibson (ed.), *Prehistoric pottery*. *People, pattern and purpose*. *Prehistoric Ceramics Research Group: occasional publication* 4, 43–51. Oxford: British Archaeological Reports.
- Brindley, A.L. 2022. Pottery. In H. van der Velde, N. Bouma and D.C.M. Raemaekers (eds), *Making a Neolithic nonmegalithic monument. A TRB burial ground at Dalfsen (the Netherlands), c. 3000–2750 cal. BC,* 69–143. Leiden: Sidestone Press.
- Brozio, J.P. 2016. Megalithanlagen und Siedlungen im trichterbecherzeitlichen Ostholstein. Frühe Monumentalität und soziale Differenzierung 9. Bonn: Rudolf Habelt.
- Brozio, J.P., Filipović, D., Kirleis, W., Müller, J. and Schmölcke, U. 2019. The Dark Ages in the north? A transformative phase at 3000–2750 BCE in the western Baltic: Brodersby-Schönhagen and the Store Valby phenomenon. *Journal of Neolithic Archaeology* 21, 103–46. DOI: 10.12766/jna.2019.6
- Brozio, J.P., Stos-Gale, Z., Müller, J., Müller-Scheeßel, N., Schultrich, S., Fritsch, B., Jürgens, F. and Skorna, H. 2023. The origin of Neolithic copper on the central northern European plain and in southern Scandinavia: connectivities on a European scale. *PLoS ONE* 18(5), e0283007. DOI: 10.1371/journal. pone.0283007
- Bunnefeld, J.H. 2019. Werkzeuge, Waffen oder Insignien? Zu den sogenannten gerippten "Doppeläxten" der Aunjetitzer Kultur. In H. Meller and F. Bertemes (eds), Der Aufbruch zu neuen Horizonten. Neue Sichtweisen zur europäischen Frühbronzezeit, 183–203. Halle: Beier & Beran.
- Burger, I. 1988. Die Siedlung der Chamer Gruppe von Dobl, Gemeinde Prutting, Landkreis Rosenheim und

ihre Stellung im Endneolithikum Mitteleuropas. Fürth: Grafische Werkstätte Graf.

Burnez, C. 1976. Le Néolithique et le Chalcolithique dans le centre-ouest de la France. Mémoires de la Société Préhistorique Française 12. Paris: CNRS.

- Burri-Wyser, E. and Jammet-Reynal, L. 2016. Le Cortaillod: définitions, évolutions, filiations. In T. Perrin, P. Chambon, J.F. Gibaja and G. Goude (eds), Le Chasséen, des Chasséens... Retour sur une culture nationale et ses parallèles, Sepulcres de fosse, Cortaillod, Lagozza, 74–78. Toulouse: Archives d'Écologie Préhistorique.
- Cauwe, N., Vander Linden, M. and Vanmontfort, B. 2001. The Middle and Late Neolithic. *Anthropologia et Praehistorica* 112, 77–89.
- Charpy, J.-J. 2014. Nouvelle lecture des sculptures trouvées dans les hypogées des Marais-de-Saint-Gond (Marne). In R. Cottiaux and L. Salanova (eds), La fin du IVe millénaire dans le Bassin parisien: Le Néolithique récent entre Seine, Oise et Marne (3500–2900 avant notre ère), 411–22. Dijon: Société Archéologique de l'Est.
- Cottiaux, R. [+9 others] and Sohn, M. 2014. Néolithique récent dans le Bassin parisien (3600–2900 avant notre ère): périodisation et faciès régionaux. In R. Cottiaux and L. Salanova (eds), *La fin du IVe millénaire dans le Bassin parisien: Le Néolithique récent entre Seine, Oise et Marne (3500–2900 avant notre ère)*, 455–529. Dijon: Société Archéologique de l'Est.

Czebreszuk, J. (ed.) 2004. *Similar but different. Bell Beakers in Europe*. Poznan: Adam Mickiewicz University.

D'Amico, C., Gabriele Nenzioni, G., Casadei, S. and Lenzi, F. 2015. Copper Age axe-hammers, other tools and their raw materials in the sub-Apenninic area east of Bologna (Italy). *Rendiconti Lincei* 26, 433–53.

Drummer, C. 2022. Vom Kollektiv zum Individuum. Transformationsprozesse am Übergang vom 4. zum 3. Jahrtausend v. Chr. in der deutschen Mittelgebirgszone. Scales of Transformations in Prehistoric and Archaic Societies 13. Leiden: Sidestone Press.

Ebbesen, K. 1975. Die jüngere Trichterbecherkultur auf den dänischen Inseln. Arkæologiske Studier Vol. II. København: Akademisk Forlag.

Ebbesen, K. 2011. *Danmarks Megalitgrave*. København: Forfatterforlaget Attika.

Fabricus, K. and Becker, C.J. 1996. Stendyngegrave og Kulthuse. Studier over Tragtbægerkulturen i Nordog Vestjylland. København: Akademisk Forlag.

Feeser, I., Kneisel, J., Hinz, M. and Dreibrodt, S. 2019. Human impact and population dynamics in the Neolithic and Bronze Age: multi-proxy evidence from north-western central Europe. *The Holocene* 29 (10), 1596–606.

Fokkens, H. 2012. Background to Dutch beakers. A critical review of the Dutch model. In H. Fokkens

and F. Nicolis (eds), *Background to beakers. Inquiries into regional cultural backgrounds of the Bell Beaker complex*, 9–35. Leiden: Sidestone Press.

- Frieman, C. 2021. Make new things but keep the old: imitation, innovation and the communication of new ideas. In F. Klimscha, S. Hansen and J. Renn (eds), Contextualising ancient technology. From archaeological case studies towards a social theory of ancient innovation processes, 123–35. Berlin: Topoi.
- Furholt, M. 2009. Die nördlichen Badener Keramikstile im Kontext des mitteleuropäischen Spätneolithikums (3650–2900 v. Chr.). Studien zur Archäologie in Ostmitteleuropa 3. Neumünster: Wachholtz.

Furholt, M. 2014. Upending a "totality": re-evaluating Corded Ware variability in Late Neolithic Europe. *Proceedings of the Prehistoric Society* 80, 67–86.

Furholt, M. 2019. Re-integrating archaeology: a contribution to aDNA studies and the migration discourse on the 3rd millennium BC in Europe. *Proceedings of the Prehistoric Society* 85, 115–29.

Furholt, M. 2021. Mobility and social change: understanding the European Neolithic period after the archaeogenetic revolution. *Journal of Archaeological Research* 29, 481–535.

- Gachina, J., Gomez, J. and Coffyn, A. 1975. Supplément à l'inventaire des instruments perforés pour les départements de Charente, Charente-Maritime et Gironne. *Bulletin de la Société Préhistorique Française* 72, 368–81.
- Gebauer, A.B. 2014. Deponeringer udenfor megalitgravene. Indlæg til Kulturstyrelsens Neolitikum strategi. Københaven: Slots- og Kulturstyrelsen. Available at: https://slks.dk/arkaeologisk-strategier/ yngre-stenalder-3900-1800-fkr/grave#c110745
- Gebauer, A.B., Sørensen, L.V., Tauber, M. and Peel Wielandt, D.K. 2020. First metallurgy in northern Europe: an Early Neolithic crucible and a possible tuyère from Lønt, Denmark. *European Journal of Archaeology* 24, 27–47.

Giot, P.R. 1959. Haches de combat en hornblendite. Bulletin de la Société Préhistorique Française 56, 43–45.

Gnepf Horisberger, U., Gross-Klee, E. and Hochuli, S. 2000. Eine einzigartige Doppelaxt aus dem Zugersee. *Archäologie der Schweiz* 23 (1), 2–9.

Grote, K. 2004. Die spätneolithische Kupferaxt von Reiffenhausen, Ldkr. Göttingen (Südniedersachsen). Archäologisches Korrespondenzblatt 34, 321–36.

Haak, W. [+37 others] and Reich, D. 2015. Massive migration from the steppe was a source for Indo-European languages in Europe. *Nature* 522, 207–11.

Hafner, A. and Suter, P.J. 2003. Das Neolithikum in der Schweiz. *Journal of Neolithic Archaeology* 5, 1–75. DOI:10.12766/jna.2003.4 Hansen, S. 2009. Kupferzeitliche Äxte zwischen dem 5. und 3. Jahrtausend in Südosteuropa. Analele Banatului, SN. Archeologie – Istorie XVII, 139–58.

- Hansen, S. 2010. Communication and exchange between the northern Caucasus and central Europe in the fourth millennium BC. In S. Hansen, A. Hauptmann, I. Motzenbäcker and E. Pernicka (eds), Von Majkop bis Trialeti. Gewinnung und Verbreitung von Metallen und Obsidian in Kaukasien im 4.–2. Jt. v. Chr, 297–316. Bonn: Rudolf Habelt.
- Herbaut, F. 2001. *La parure néolithique dans l'ouest de la France*. PhD dissertation, University of Nantes. Available at: https://www.theses.fr/2001NANT3005
- Heyd, V. 2021. Yamnaya, Corded Wares, and Bell Beakers on the move. In V. Heyd, G. Kulcsár and B. Preda-Bălănică (eds), Yamnaya interactions. Proceedings of the international workshop held in Helsinki, 25–26 April 2019. The Yamnaya impact on prehistoric Europe 2, 383–414. Budapest: Archaeolingua.
- Hoof, D. 1970. Die Steinbeile und Steinäxte im Gebiet des Niederrheins und der Maas. Antiquitas. Reihe 2: Abhandlungen aus dem Gebiete der Vor- und Frühgeschichte. Bonn: Rudolf Habelt.

Horn, C. 2014. *Studien zu den europäischen Stabdolchen.* Bonn: Rudolf Habelt.

- Howell, J. 1986. The later Neolithic of the Paris Basin. In C. Scarre (ed.), Ancient France. Neolithic societies and their landscapes. 6000–2000 BC, 62–90. Edinburgh: Edinburgh University Press.
- Hübner, E. 2005. Jungneolithische Gräber auf der Jütischen Halbinsel. Typologische und chronologische Studien zur Einzelgrabkultur. København: Det kongelige nordiske Oldskriftselskab.
- Iversen, R. 2015. The transformation of Neolithic societies. An eastern Danish perspective on the 3rd millennium BC. Jysk Arkæologisk Selskabs Skrifter 88. Aarhus: Narayana Press.

Iversen, R. 2020. 65 years later ...: a re-evaluation of the Store Valby phase (MN V) of the Late Funnel Beaker North Group. *Journal of Neolithic Archaeology* 22, 119–36. DOI:10.12766/jna.2020.4

Jacob-Friesen, G. 1970. Die Kupferäxte vom Typ Eschollbrücken. Ein Beitrag zur Frage des Einflusses metallverarbeitender Kulturen auf das Neolithikum in Mittel- und Nordeuropa. *Die Kunde. Mitteilungen des Niedersächsischen Landesvereins für Urgeschichte* 21, 20–65.

Jensen, J. 2001. *Danmarks oldtid. Stenalder 13.000–2.000 f. Kr.* København: Gyldendal.

Jeunesse, C. 2015. The dogma of the Iberian origin of the Bell Beaker: attempting its deconstruction. *Journal of Neolithic Archaeology* 16, 158–66. DOI:10.12766/ jna.2014.5 Jung, M. 2020. Klassifikation, Typologie, Affordanzbestimmung und Funktionalitätsrekonstruktion. Verfahren zur Ordnung von Objekten am Beispiel bronzezeitlicher Waffen. *Prähistorische Zeitschrift* 95 (2), 606–28.

Kaiser, E. 2019. Das dritte Jahrtausend im osteuropäischen Steppenraum. Kulturhistorische Studien zu prähistorischer Subsistenzwirtschaft und Interaktion mit benachbarten Räumen. Berlin Studies of the Ancient World 37. Berlin: Edition Topoi.

Kerig, T. 2010. Ein Statuenmenhir mit Darstellung einer Axt vom Eschollbrückener Typ? Zu einem enigmatischen Steindenkmal aus Gelnhausen-Meerholz (Mainz-Kinzig-Kreis). *Prähistorische Zeitschrift* 85, 59–78.

Kibbert, K. 1980. Die Äxte und Beile im mittleren Westdeutschland I. Prähistorische Bronzefunde. Abteilung IX, 10. München: C. H. Beck'sche Verlagsbuchhandlung.

Klassen, L. 2000. Frühes Kupfer im Norden. Untersuchungen zu Chronologie, Herkunft und Bedeutung der Kupferfunde der Nordgruppe der Trichterbecherkultur. Jysk Arkæologisk Selskabs Skrifter 36. Aarhus: Aarhus Universitetsforlag.

- Klimscha, F. 2016. Axes and allies: long-range contacts in northern central Europe during the 4th and 3rd millennia BC as exemplified by stone and metal artefacts. In M. Furholt, R. Großmann and M. Szmyt (eds), *Transitional landscapes? The 3rd millennium BC in Europe*, 85–100. Bonn: Rudolf Habelt.
- Kluttig, R. 1994. Bemerkungen zur Gruppe Kalbsrieth. In H.-J. Beier and R. Einicke (eds), *Das Neolithikum im Mittelelbe-Saale-Gebiet*, 311–20. Wilkau-Hasslau: Beier & Beran.

Kossian, R. 2005. Nichtmegalithische Grabanlagen der Trichterbecherkultur in Deutschland und den Niederlanden. Veröffentlichungen des Landesamtes für Archäologie Sachsen-Anhalt. Halle: Beier & Beran.

Kristiansen, K. [+10 others] and Willerslev, E. 2017. Retheorising mobility and the formation of culture and language among the Corded Ware culture in Europe. *Antiquity* 91, 334–47.

Lanting, J.N. 2018. Midden-Neolitische hamerbijlen in Nederland opnieuw bekeken. In J.N. Lanting (ed.), *Combineren en deduceren*, 33–142. Groningen: Barkhuis.

Lanting, J.N. and Brindley, A.L. 2004. The destroyed hunebed O2 and the adjacent TRB flat cemetery at Mander (Gem. Tubbergen, province Overijssel). *Paleohistoriae* 45/46, 59–95.

Lekberg, P. 2004. Lives of axes — landscapes of men. On hammer axes, landscapes and society of the Late Neolithic in eastern central Sweden. In H. Knutsson (ed.), *Coast to coast — arrival. Results and reflections*, 259–93. Uppsala: Department of Archaeology and Ancient History. Lorenz, L. 2018. Kommunikationsstrukturen mittelneolithischer Gesellschaften im nordmitteleuropäischen Tiefland. Bonn: Rudolf Habelt.

Maier, R.A. 1964. Einige lanzettförmige Stein-Doppeläxte aus Bayern. *Germania* 42, 19–27.

Maran, J. 2008. Zur Zeitstellung und Deutung der Kupferäxte vom Typ Eschollbrücken. In F. Falkenstein, S. Schade-Lindig and A. Zeeb-Lanz (eds), *Kumpf, Kalotte, Pfeilschaftglätter. Gedenkschrift für Annemarie Häußer und Helmut Spatz. Internationale Archäologie 27*, 173–87. Rahden: Marie Leidorf.

Martineau, R., Charpy, J.-J., Langry-Francois, F. and Polloni, A. 2014. La sépulture collective du Néolithique récent de Congy, Ley Hayettes (Marne). In R. Cottiaux and L. Salanova (eds), La fin du IVe millénaire dans le Bassin parisien: le Néolithique récent entre Seine, Oise et Marne (3500–2900 avant notre ère), 423–44. Dijon: Société Archéologique de l'Est.

Matuschik, I. 1999. Riekofen und die Chamer Kultur. In H. Schlichterle and M. Strobel (eds), *Aktuelles zu Horgen – Cham – Goldberg III – Schnurkeramik in Süddeutschland. Hemmenhofer Skripte 1*, 69–95. Freiburg i.Br.: Janus.

Mischka, D. 2007. Methodische Aspekte zur Rekonstruktion prähistorischer Siedlungsmuster. Landschaftsgenese vom Ende des Neolithikums bis zur Eisenzeit im Gebiet des südlichen Oberrheins. Freiburger Archäologische Studien 5. Rahden: Marie Leidorf.

Mischka, D. 2022. Das Neolithikum in Flintbek. Eine feinchronologische Studie zur Besiedlungsgeschichte anhand von Gräbern. Frühe Monumentalität und soziale Differenzierung 20. Bonn: Rudolf Habelt.

Mischka, D. and Furholt, M. 2019. The phasing of megalithic construction activities and its implications for the development of social formations in northern-central Germany. In J. Müller, M. Hinz and M. Wunderlich (eds), Megaliths — societies — landscapes. Early monumentality and social differentiation in Neolithic Europe, 921–38. Bonn: Rudolf Habelt.

Müller, J. 2001. Soziochronologische Studien zum Jung- und Spätneolithikum im Mittelelbe-Saale-Gebiet (4100–2700 v. Chr.): Eine sozialhistorische Interpretation prähistorischer Quellen. Vorgeschichtliche Forschungen 21. Rahden: Marie Leidorf.

Müller, J. 2003. Zur doppelten Hermeneutik archäologischer Interpretationen. In M. Heinz, M. Eggert and U. Veit (eds), Zwischen Erklären und Verstehen? Beiträge zu den erkenntnistheoretischen Grundlagen archäologischer Interpretationen, 193–99. Münster: Waxmann.

Müller, J. 2019. Boom and bust, hierarchy and balance: from landscape to social meaning — megaliths and societies in northern central Europe. In J. Müller, M. Hinz and M. Wunderlich (eds), *Megaliths — societies — landscapes. Early monumentality and social differentiation in Neolithic Europe*, 29–74. Bonn: Rudolf Habelt. Neumann, D. and Ostrowski, K. 2022. Die erste Bronze im nördlichen Mitteleuropa? In L. Wiggering and F. Klimscha (eds), *Die Erfindung der Götter. Steinzeit im Norden*, 326–35. Hannover: Imhof.

Nielsen, E. 2016. Handel und Verkehr im Neolithikum und in der Bronzezeit der Schweiz. *Ferrum* 88, 11–17.

Olander, T. 2019. The Indo-European homeland: introducing the problem. In B.A. Olsen, T. Olander and K. Kristiansen (eds), *Tracing the Indo-Europeans. New* evidence from archaeology and historical linguistics, 7–34. Oxford: Oxbow Books.

Pape, E. 2019. A shared ideology of death? The architectural elements and the use of the Late Neolithic gallery graves of western Germany and the Paris Basin. Bonn: Rudolf Habelt.

Pak, L. and Pfeffer, I. 2020. Von der Steinzeit bis zum Zweiten Weltkrieg – Erste Ergebnisse zu den neuen Ausgrabungen in Heek-Nienborg. *Westmünsterland/ Jahrbuch des Kreises Borken* 2020, 184–91.

Patzold, S., Heizmann, W., and Brather, S. 2010. Steinkisten. In S. Patzold, W. Heizmann and S. Brather (eds), *Germanische Altertumskunde Online*, 1–18. Berlin: De Gruyter. DOI:10.1515/gao

Pittioni, R. 1954. Urgeschichte des Österreichischen Raumes. Wien: Franz Deuticke.

Preda, B., Frinculeasa, A. and Heyd, V. 2015. Pit-graves, Yamnaya and kurgans along the Lower Danube: disentangling IVth and IIIrd millennium BC burial customs, equipment and chronology. *Prähistorische Zeitschrift* 90, 45–113.

Raemaekers, D.C.M. and Van der Velde, H. 2022. The Dalfsen burial ground as a means of reconstructing TRB local social organisation. In H. van der Velde, N. Bouma and D.C.M. Raemaekers (eds), Making a Neolithic non-megalithic monument. A TRB burial ground at Dalfsen (the Netherlands), c. 3000–2750 cal. BC, 183–94. Leiden: Sidestone Press.

Raetzel-Fabian, D. 2000. *Calden, Erdwerk und Bestattungsplätze des Jungneolithikums. Architektur, Ritual, Chronologie.* Bonn: Rudolf Habelt.

Ribeiro, A. 2018. Death of the passive subject: intentional action and narrative explanation in archaeological studies. *History of the Human Sciences* 31, 105–21.

Rinne, C. 2003. Odagsen und Großenrode, Ldkr. Northeim: jungsteinzeitliche Kollektivgräber im südlichen Leinetal. Rahden: Marie Leidorf.

Rogers, E.M. 1995. *Diffusion of innovations*. 4th edition. New York: Free Press.

Scarre, C. 2015. Parallel lives? Neolithic funerary monuments and the Channel divide. In H. Anderson-Whymark, D. Garrow and F. Sturt (eds), Continental connections. Exploring cross-channel relationships from the Mesolithic to the Iron Age, 78–98. Oxford: Oxbow Books. Scharl, S. 2019. Innovationstransfer in prähistorischen Gesellschaften: eine vergleichende Studie zu ausgewählten Fallbeispielen des 6. bis 4. Jahrtausends vor Christus in Mittel- und Südosteuropa unter besonderer Berücksichtigung temporärer Grenzräume. Rahden: Marie Leidorf.

Schultrich, S. 2018. Das Jungneolithikum in Schleswig-Holstein. Leiden: Sidestone Press.

Schultrich, S. 2022. Kriegerideal und Netzwerke: Die Doppeläxte West- und Mitteleuropas im Kontext der jung- bis endneolithischen Kulturentwicklung. PhD dissertation, University of Kiel. Accessible at: macau. uni-kiel.de/receive/macau_mods_00002793

Schunke, T. 2013a. Vom Kaukasus nach Mitteldeutschland oder umgekehrt? In H. Meller (ed.), 3300 BC – mysteriöse Steinzeittote und ihre Welt, 151–55. Halle: Nünnerich-Asmus.

Schunke, T. 2013b. Die Salzmünder Kultur – eine außergewöhnliche Steinzeitkultur in Mitteleuropa. In H. Meller (ed.), 3300 BC – mysteriöse Steinzeittote und ihre Welt, 246–56. Halle: Nünnerich-Asmus.

Schunke, T. 2014. Bestattungen am Rand – Salzmünder
 Bestattungen in peripheren Siedlungsbereichen. In H.
 Meller and S. Friederich (eds), Salzmünde-Schiepzig – ein
 Ort, zwei Kulturen. Ausgrabungen an der Westumfahrung
 Halle (A143), Teil I, 412–40. Halle: Beier & Beran.

Seeberg, L. 2020. Bondestenalderfolk tog opgør med massegrave. Accessible at: https://slks.dk/omraader/ kulturarv/arkaeologi-fortidsminder-og-diger/ top-10-aarets-fund-2020

Seregély, T. 2008. Neue siedlungsarchäologische Erkenntnisse zum 3. Jahrtausend v. Chr. in Oberfranken. In W. Dörfler and J. Müller (eds), Umwelt – Wirtschaft – Siedlungen im dritten vorchristlichen Jahrtausend Mitteleuropas und Südskandinaviens, 275–85. Neumünster: Wachholtz.

Siebke, I., Furtwängler, A., Steuri, N., Hafner, A., Szidat, S. and Krause, J. 2020. Bioarchäologische Untersuchungen der Knochen aus dem Dolmen von Oberbipp, Steingasse. *Archäologie Bern* 2020, 202–30.

Skeates, R. 1992. The Neolithic and Copper Age of the Abruzzo-Marche region, central-Italy. Oxford: The Queen's College.

Sohn, M. 2002. Place et rôle du mobilier dans les sépultures collectives du Bassin parisien à la fin du Néolithique. Bulletin de la Société Préhistorique Française 99, 501–20.

Struve, K.W. 1955. Die Einzelgrabkultur in Schleswig-Holstein und ihre kontinentalen Beziehungen. Neumünster: Wachholtz.

Szeverényi, V. 2013. The earliest copper shaft-hole axes in the Carpathian Basin. Interaction, chronology and transformations of meaning. In A. Anders and G. Kulcsár (eds), *Moments in time. Papers presented to* *Pál Raczky on his 60th birthday*, 661–70. Budapest: Eötvös Loránd University.

Toussaint, M., Frébutte, C., Pirson, S., Hubert, F. and Masy, P. 2007. Les mégalithes de Belgique. Megalithic monuments of Belgium. In R. Joussaume, L. Laporte and C. Scarre (eds), Origine et développement du mégalithisme de l'ouest de l'Europe, 89–119. Bougon: Musée des Tumulus.

Van der Velde, H. and Raemaekers, D.C.M. 2022. The TRB West Group in the Netherlands and the archaeology of non-megalithic burials. In H. van der Velde, N. Bouma and D.C.M. Raemaekers (eds), Making a Neolithic nonmegalithic monument. A TRB burial ground at Dalfsen (the Netherlands), c. 3000–2750 cal. BC, 15–24. Leiden: Sidestone Press.

Vandkilde, H. 2004. The Neolithic and the Copper Age in eastern and central Europe 6000–2300 BC. In C. Gillis, D. Olausson and H. Vandkilde (eds), *Dawn of Europe*, 67–78. Lund: Department of Archaeology and Ancient History.

Vandkilde, H. 2006. Warriors and warrior institutions in Copper Age Europe. In T. Otto, H. Thrane and H.
Vandkilde (eds), Warfare and society. Archaeological and social anthropological perspectives, 393–422.
Aarhus: Aarhus University Press.

Vogt, E. 1938. Horgener Kultur, Seine-Oise-Marne-Kultur und nordische Steinkisten. *Anzeiger für Schweizerische Altertumskunde* 1, 1–14.

Weiss-Krejci, E. 2011. Changing perspectives on mortuary practices in Late Neolithic/Copper Age and Early Bronze Age Iberia. In K.T. Lillios (ed.), *Comparative archaeologies. The American Southwest (AD 900–1600) and the Iberian Peninsula (3000–1500 BC)*, 153–74. Oxford: Oxbow Books.

Winiger, J. 1998. *Ethnoarchäologische Studien zum Neolithikum Südwesteuropas*. Oxford: British Archaeological Reports.

Winiger, J. 1999. *Rohstoff, Form und Funktion. Fünf Studien zum Neolithikum Mitteleuropas.* Oxford: British Archaeological Reports.

Włodarczak, P. 2012. Die Gliederung der Schnurkeramik im Züricher Raum und in Mitteleuropa – Probleme der Synchronisation. In A. Boschetti-Maradi, A. de Capitani, S. Hochuli and U. Niffeler (eds), Form, Zeit und Raum. Grundlagen für eine Geschichte aus dem Boden. Festschrift für Werner E. Stöckli zu seinem 65. Geburtstag, 127–38. Basel: Archäologie Schweiz.

Włodarczak, P. 2021. Eastern impulses in cultural and demographic change during the end of the southeastern Polish Eneolithic. In V. Heyd, G. Kulcsár and B. Preda-Bălănică (eds), Yamnaya interactions. Proceedings of the international workshop held in Helsinki, 25–26 April 2019. The Yamnaya impact on prehistoric Europe 2, 435–62. Budapest: Archaeolingua.

- Woidich, M. 2014. Die Westliche Kugelamphorenkultur. Untersuchungen zu ihrer raumzeitlichen Differenzierung, kulturellen und anthropologischen Identität. Berlin: De Gruyter.
- Zalai-Gaál, I. 1991. Die chronologische und soziale Bedeutung der Mitgabe von Steinäxten in den spätneolithischen Gräbern Südtransdanubiens. In J. Lichardus (ed.), Die Kupferzeit als historische Epoche. Symposium Saarbrücken und Otzenhausen, 389–400. Bonn: Rudolf Habelt.
- Zápotocký, M. 1992. Streitäxte des mitteleuropäischen Äneolithikums. Weinheim: VCH Acta humaniora.

Continuation and change in settlement of the Polish Lowland in the period 3300–2700 BC

Marzena Szmyt

Abstract

In the Polish Lowland, 3300–2700 BC is a period when the symptoms of two opposing processes are discernible. One was oriented towards uniformity (in terms of settlement organisation based on medium-sized and small sites as well as a social organisation based on small groups), while the other led to increased cultural differentiation (in terms of manifestation of identity through material culture, rituals and ceremonial activities). The existence of small and dispersed communities was possible thanks to a kind of balance: on the one hand, a day-to-day and almost perfect adaptation to the local natural environment that could cause isolation of individual groups, and on the other hand, a deep social need to break this isolation through communal rituals, mostly performed at funerary sites. In turn, cultural transformations involved the rise of new cultural groups often contemporary in a single region. In such a diverse cultural landscape of the Lowland, material culture was very actively used to manifest identity and distinguish oneself from other groups.

Keywords: Late Neolithic, central Europe, social organisation, economic strategies, cultural diversification

This article aims to present prehistoric settlement in the Polish Lowland between 3300 and 2700 BC. The area covers the eastern part of the central European lowland, between the Odra and Vistula rivers (Figure 1), and consists of several regions: Kujawy in the east, Wielkopolska (Greater Poland) in the centre and Lubusz Land in the west (on the middle Odra). There, between the thirty-third and twenty-seventh century BC, the symptoms of two potentially contradictory processes are noted: on the one hand, a trend towards uniformity, and on the other hand, towards diversification.

The increase in uniformity is seen mainly in gradual changes in the social organisation of the Lowland inhabitants from stable and relatively large agricultural communities to small and dispersed groups of higher mobility. Various cultural units were part of this process in the fourth and third millennia BC (Czebreszuk and Szmyt 2008b; Czebreszuk *et al.* 2019; Szmyt 2022; Szmyt and Czebreszuk 2013).



Figure 1. Study area and the most important regions. 1 Kujawy; 2 Greater Poland (Wielkopolska); 3 Lubusz Land. Based on the map of physico-geographical mesoregions of Poland edited by J. Solon and J. Borzyszkowski (Solon *et al.* 2018).

А





Figure 2. North-western Poland. Distribution of sites related to: A. Funnel Beaker culture; B. Globular Amphora culture; C. Corded Ware culture (black) and Decline Neolithic (orange). Data from Czebreszuk *et al.* 2019, 818 pl. 1, 819 pl. 2, 820 pl. 3.

С

In turn, the increase in diversification is most visible in material culture, thanks to which it is used in archaeological taxonomy, producing a multitude of units such as cultures, groups, phases, sub-phases and phasegroups (Szmyt 2013). This process had both internal and external causes that intertwined with each other. These include extensive circulation of cultural information at the regional and supra-regional levels, enhanced by the multidirectional influx of new patterns and ideas, sometimes combined with migrations of human groups (Czebreszuk 2001; Kośko et al. 2017; Szmyt 2017; 2022). As a result, a network of relationships arose both within Lowland communities as well as between them and their neighbours, entailing cohabitation, cooperation and competition (Czebreszuk and Szmyt 2011; Szmyt and Czebreszuk 2010). This article attempts to conceptualise the above-mentioned processes from the perspective of long-term socio-cultural transformations in the Neolithic and Bronze Age.

Processes towards increased uniformity

The first process that led to a kind of uniformity or similarity in the Lowland communities was a consequence of the broader process of social transformation marked by changes in settlement and economic organisation. The current conception, various aspects of which have already been presented (Czebreszuk *et al.* 2019; Szmyt 2022; Szmyt and Czebreszuk 2013), holds long-term social and economic transformations to have been a series of successive changes that were not fast but followed one another gradually during the fourth and third millennia BC.

The changes affected primarily society and the economy in a correlated manner. As far as society is concerned, the size of the basic unit of social organisation and residential groups was reduced. Economic transformations, in turn, can be characterised as comprising three major trends: an increase in mobility, resulting in frequent changes of residence; a greater dispersion of settlement; and improved economic flexibility, following from the availability of different subsistence strategies (Szmyt and Czebreszuk 2013).

The starting point was the stable and centralised settlement system of the younger Danubian groups formed and developed in the fifth millennium BC in the Lowland. In central settlements (e.g. Brześć Kujawski, Krusza Zamkowa, Osłonki, Racot; e.g. Czerniak 2002; 2012; Czerniak *et al.* 2016; Grygiel 2008), the number of contemporaneous large trapezoid houses is estimated at eight to ten and the corresponding number of inhabitants can be expected to have been some 100 people. Recent studies show that such large and multi-house settlements came to an end in 4000/3900 BC (Czerniak and Pyzel 2019).

The process of gradual changes in the settlement system started with the Funnel Beaker culture onwards at

the turn of the fifth and fourth millennia BC (for discussion and opposite concepts, see Nowak 2017; Rzepecki 2003). It accelerated from the middle of the fourth millennium BC in both the late groups of this large cultural structure as well as in the newly formed structure of the Globular Amphora culture and, at the beginning of the third millennium BC, in the Corded Ware culture. The changes involved, on the one hand, the systematic reduction of the size of domestic sites (= *reduction trend*), while, on the other hand, there was an increase in the number of residential sites evidenced archaeologically (= *increase trend*). Moreover, areas used regularly by human groups were gradually getting larger (= *enlargement trend*).

These opposite trends (reduction and increase + enlargement) continued in parallel over time, and they even combined and connected. It can be argued that they reflected the deep transformations of social and economic relationships that led to the re-organisation of human groups and their adaptation to the Lowland natural environment.

The following stages of this process can be identified at various spatial scales. At a large scale, it is possible to analyse the arrangement of Funnel Beaker, Globular Amphora and Corded Ware culture settlements (together with indeterminate so-called "Decline Neolithic" sites), relying on the big data gathered in a long-term programme of archaeological surveys of the entire territory of Poland, the Archaeological Record of Poland (in Polish: Archeologiczne Zdjęcie Polski; Ławniczak in prep.). It can be concluded that the communities of the Funnel Beaker and Globular Amphora cultures preferred a moderately agglomerated settlement model (Figure 2 A-B), while in the Corded Ware culture, sites became increasingly dispersed across the entire study area (Figure 2 C). The turning point for the reverse shift that resulted in more agglomerated and complex settlement came around 2400 BC, together with impulses from the Bell Beaker milieu, and developed in the Early Bronze Age (Czebreszuk and Szmyt 2015; 2019).

At a small scale, it is possible to present the major features of each of the three trends mentioned above: reduction, increase and enlargement. How can they be defined and how have they manifested themselves in the archaeological record?

After a careful analysis of a very rich database from the Lowland, it is possible to identify several traits regarding the reduction of settlement sites compared to the previous period: the area of settlements contracts, the size of houses is reduced, the maximum number of contemporaneous houses is much smaller, the settlement infrastructure becomes simpler, and the number of artefacts left within a settlement drops. Extremely low sizes are identified in the Corded Ware culture. Its domestic sites are described as lacking any permanent structures, having very few, if any, accompanying features (such as pits or hearths) and only few artefacts (Czebreszuk and Szmyt 2011). That is why they are hard to even recognise in usual archaeological practice.

As a result, from the end of the fourth until the middle of the third millennium BC, the dominant form of settlement became somewhat ephemeral: small (one-dwelling) and medium-sized (several-dwelling) settlements. Additionally, the number of so-called camps — i.e. places with no permanent structures, with very few, if any, accompanying features such as pits or hearths, and only few artefacts — increased (Czebreszuk and Szmyt 2011; Kośko 1979). It is supposed that all these sites were used for a relatively short time.

Almost nothing is known of Corded Ware dwelling structures, whereas various dwelling forms were identified at Funnel Beaker and Globular Amphora sites (Czebreszuk and Szmyt 2011; Szmyt 2017). In the latter two cultural units, these were either above-ground post-built houses or shallow pit houses. The houses of the Globular Amphora culture were of various shapes (rectangular, trapezoid, polygonal and irregular), while their size covers between 15 and 60 m². The design of Funnel Beaker houses was similar, but they had more regular forms and their size range was greater (buildings of about 90 m² were encountered). The accompanying infrastructure included hearths, storage pits, waste disposal pits, wells and pits left by sand or clay extraction. In some Globular Amphora domestic sites, rituals, involving the deposition of animal carcasses, were also performed.

Settlements related to the Funnel Beaker and Globular Amphora cultures. Selected cases and general characteristics

Examples of newly analysed or re-analysed medium-sized and small settlements of Funnel Beaker communities come from Mrowino, site 3 (with four excavated houses) and Opatowice, site 42 (with one house). Relevant cases of Globular Amphora settlements include Opatowice, site 36 (one house with two phases of use) and Janowice, site 2 (three successive settlement phases).

Mrowino, site 3, Wielkopolska region

The first case is Mrowino, site 3 — a settlement related to the Funnel Beaker culture, the so-called Luboń style/stage, taxonomic phase V (Szmyt 2018). Based on detailed stratigraphic studies, two phases of Funnel Beaker occupation have been recorded there: an older one, MRO-A1, and a younger one, MRO-A2. Thanks to a series of AMS radiocarbon dates from secure contexts (Table 1) and associated modelling, the settlement is placed between 3374 and 2901 calBC (1 σ ; Goslar *et al.* 2018¹). The older phase (MRO-A1), dated between

1 See Goslar *et al.* 2018 for the discussion on various models of interpretation.

c. 3300 and 3150 calBC, was the most intensive time of human occupation and a majority of features and artefacts are related to that phase (Figure 3 A). Re-occupation of the site just after 3150 calBC, again by an FBC population (phase MRO-A2), left only four settlement features and a limited number of artefacts.

Four above-ground buildings were reconstructed and designated as Houses A, B, C and D in the excavated area (1,230 m²). All were related to phase MRO-A1. There could have been more houses, but no traces of them have been uncovered. All buildings were destroyed by fire, probably intentionally (Diachenko *et al.* 2018; 2021).² Surviving related features consisted of at least 100 pits.

A very large collection of artefacts testifies to a diversified economic activity, the vast majority of which relied on the processing of local resources: food (plants — about 240 palaeobotanic identifications, and animals about 100 bones) but also clay, flint, stone, wood, fibres, bone tools and antler. Mostly domestic plant species were used and processed (Rennwanz 2018; Sikorski 2018): cereals (including barley (Hordeum vulgare), emmer wheat (Triticum dicoccum), einkorn wheat (Triticum monococcum)) and leguminous plants (field pea (Pisum *sativum*)). Other plants that were used include crop weeds (brome grass (Bromus sp.) including rye brome grass (Bromus secalinus), poison darnel (Lolium temelentum), corn cockle (Agrostemma githago), goosefoot (Chenopodium sp.) and field poppy (Papaver rhoeas)), as well as trees and shrubs (Scots pine (Pinus sylvestris), willow (Salix sp.), European hornbeam (Carpinus betulus), European alder (cf. Alnus glutinosa)). The animals that were used included domestic and wild mammals, with the former clearly dominating (Makowiecki et al. 2018). Among the domestic mammals, cattle dominated, followed in terms of number by small ruminants, with the third most common species being the pig. Wild mammals were represented by the bones of deer.

The processing of local raw materials is also confirmed in flint production (Kabaciński and Winiarska-Kabacińska 2018). The flint assemblage (820 artefacts) is very homogeneous, being dominated by items made of erratic Cretaceous flint (so-called Baltic flint). About 98 % of the artefacts whose raw material could be identified (763 items) were made of this flint.³ Only 12 artefacts were made of flint coming from the south (upper Vistula catchment). Artefacts were made using two techniques of flint working: classic core exploitation and the bipolar technique. The former clearly dominates, as 82.7 % of the assemblage were made in this way. The basic method of flint working was the exploitation of single-platform

² Arguments for the proposed interpretation can be found in Diachenko *et al.* 2018; 2021.

^{3 55} artefacts were burnt and two others were not identified.





Figure 3. Examples of medium-sized and small settlements related to the late phases of the Funnel Beaker culture and dated to the last quarter of the fourth millennium BC. 1 Mrowino, site 3, Greater Poland region (A-D: houses reconstructed); 2 Opatowice, site 42, Kujawy region (location of the house (Op42-B2) and other features on the background of kernel density analysis of pottery). Based on Kośko and Szmyt 2007, 61 fig. 4.1; Diachenko et al. 2018, 133 fig. 4.9.

flake cores. The chief purpose of core exploitation was to procure flakes. Blades were relatively rarely produced (5.1 %). The bipolar technique was employed in the manufacture of 17.3 % of artefacts. It seems that it was used in two ways: to a limited extent, it served the purpose of recycling worn flake cores or even larger flakes. Use-wear analyses showed that the flint tools had been used in three clearly defined types of activity: processing wood, plants (including cutting cereals) and hides.

Opatowice, site 42, Kujawy region

The second example is Opatowice, site 42 — a settlement related to the Funnel Beaker culture, taxonomic phase IVB/

VB (Kośko and Szmyt 2007). Several occupation phases have been recognised at this site. A majority of features and artefacts are related to phase Op42-B, a single homestead related to the Late Funnel Beaker culture and dated to 3350–3100 calBC (Kośko and Szmyt 2015b). Its dominant element was a single house (Figure 3 B). During the time it was used, and continuing the same spatial formula, this building was remodelled, which justifies distinguishing two construction phases: an older one (Op42-B1), and a younger one (Op42-B2). As seen in the pottery distribution, in both construction phases the settlement covered at least 900–1000 m². The ground plan of the house in phase Op42-B1 was polygonal and its longer

No.	Site	Feature	Sample material	Lab. No.	BP	Context	References
1	Mowino site 3, Wielkopolska region	Pit 9	Cattle bone	Poz-101806	4405±35	FBC, phase MRO-A1	Goslar <i>et al</i> . 2018
2	Mowino site 3, Wielkopolska region	Pit 10	Animal bones	GrN-14017	4480±35	FBC, phase MRO-A1	Goslar <i>et al</i> . 2018; Tetzlaff 1989
3	Mowino site 3, Wielkopolska region	Pit 10	Pig bone	Poz-104189	4475±30	FBC, phase MRO-A1	Goslar <i>et al</i> . 2018
4	Mowino site 3, Wielkopolska region	Pit 55	Charcoal (Pinus)	Poz-107407	4495±35	FBC, phase MRO-A1	Goslar <i>et al</i> . 2018
5	Mowino site 3, Wielkopolska region	Pit 63	Cervidae, antler	Poz-107092	4590±35	FBC, phase MRO-A1	Goslar <i>et al</i> . 2018
6	Mowino site 3, Wielkopolska region	Pit 73	Charcoal (Pinus)	Poz-107405	4530±35	FBC, phase MRO-A1	Goslar <i>et al</i> . 2018
7	Mowino site 3, Wielkopolska region	Pit 91	Mammal bone	Poz-104190	4490±35	FBC, phase MRO-A1	Goslar <i>et al</i> . 2018
8	Mowino site 3, Wielkopolska region	Pit 94	Mammal bone	Poz-101920	4505±35	FBC, phase MRO-A1	Goslar <i>et al</i> . 2018
9	Mowino site 3, Wielkopolska region	Pit 98	Horse? bone	Poz-101921	4480±35	FBC, phase MRO-A1	Goslar <i>et al</i> . 2018
10	Mowino site 3, Wielkopolska region	Pit 99	Cattle bone	Poz-101922	4440±40	FBC, phase MRO-A1	Goslar <i>et al</i> . 2018
11	Mowino site 3, Wielkopolska region	Pit 101	Cattle bone	Poz-101923	4460±35	FBC, phase MRO-A1	Goslar <i>et al</i> . 2018
12	Mowino site 3, Wielkopolska region	Pit 123	Cattle? bone	Poz-101924	4300±35	FBC, phase MRO-A1	Goslar <i>et al</i> . 2018
13	Mowino site 3, Wielkopolska region	Pit 135	Cattle bone	Poz-101925	4395±35	FBC, phase MRO-A1	Goslar <i>et al</i> . 2018
14	Mowino site 3, Wielkopolska region	Hut 1	Cattle bone	Poz-104188	4420±30	FBC, phase MRO-A1	Goslar <i>et al</i> . 2018
15	Mowino site 3, Wielkopolska region	Post 8	Charcoal (Pinus)	Poz-107406	4635±35	FBC, phase MRO-A1	Goslar <i>et al</i> . 2018
16	Opatowice site 3, Kujawy region	Feature 1	Animal bone	Poz-37524	4145±35	GAC, phase Op3-C2	Kośko and Szmyt 2014
17	Opatowice site 3, Kujawy region	Feature 19	Pig bone	Poz-37523	4480±35	FBC, phase Op3-B1	Kośko and Szmyt 2014
18	Opatowice site 3, Kujawy region	Feature 19	Sheep/goat bone	Poz-37617	4440±40	FBC, phase Op3-B1	Kośko and Szmyt 2014
19	Opatowice site 3, Kujawy region	Feature 19	Cattle bone	Poz-37525	4440±35	FBC, phase Op3-B1	Kośko and Szmyt 2014
20	Opatowice site 3, Kujawy region	Feature 19	Animal bone	Gd-2642	4330±90	FBC, phase Op3-B1	Kośko and Szmyt 2014
21	Opatowice site 3, Kujawy region	Feature 35	Bone artefact	Poz-61634	4370±50	GAC, phase Op3-C1	Kośko and Szmyt 2014
22	Opatowice site 3, Kujawy region	Feature 35	Charcoal	KN-3765	4290±120	GAC, phase Op3-C1	Kośko and Szmyt 2014
23	Opatowice site 3, Kujawy region	Feature 44	Cattle? bone	Poz-15054	4280±40	FBC, phase Op3-B2	Kośko and Szmyt 2014
24	Opatowice site 3, Kujawy region	Feature 64	Cattle bone	Gd-4117	4230±110	GAC, phase Op3-C1	Kośko and Szmyt 2014
25	Opatowice site 42, Kujawy region	Feature 21	Clay mass	Kiev-13237	4380±80	FBC, phase Op42-B	Kośko and Szmyt 2007
26	Opatowice site 42, Kujawy region	Pit 52	Charcoal	Gd-2764	4460±80	FBC, phase Op42-B	Kośko and Szmyt 2007
27	Opatowice site 42, Kujawy region	Trench VIII	Wood tar	Poz-11040	4540±35	FBC, phase Op42-B	Kośko and Szmyt 2007

Table 1. List of radiocarbon dates used in the text. FBC = Funnel Beaker culture, GAC = Globular Amphora culture (continued on the following page).

No.	Site	Feature	Sample material	Lab. No.	BP	Context	References
28	Opatowice site 42, Kujawy region	Trench VIII	Wood tar	Poz-15056	4475±35	FBC, phase Op42-B	Kośko and Szmyt 2007
29	Janowice site 2, Kujawy region	Feature E70	Animal bone	Poz-83599	4375±35	GAC, phase JAN-D1	Goslar and Szmyt 2016
30	Janowice site 2, Kujawy region	Feature K79	Black grouse bone	Poz-48819	4055±30	GAC, phase JAN-D3	Goslar and Szmyt 2016
31	Janowice site 2, Kujawy region	Feature M686	Cattle bone	Poz-48820	4280±40	GAC, phase JAN-D2	Goslar and Szmyt 2016
32	Janowice site 2, Kujawy region	Feature M822	Cattle? bone	Poz-48821	4340±30	GAC, phase JAN-D2	Goslar and Szmyt 2016
33	Janowice site 2, Kujawy region	Feature O171	Cattle bone	Poz-48822	4315±30	GAC, phase JAN-D2	Goslar and Szmyt 2016
34	Opatowice site 36, Kujawy region	Feature 67	Cattle bone	Gd-6438	4010±100	GAC, phase Op36-B2	Kośko and Szmyt 2015
35	Opatowice site 36, Kujawy region	Feature 101A	Cattle bone	Kiev-5137	3920±60	GAC, phase Op36-B2	Kośko and Szmyt 2015
36	Opatowice site 36, Kujawy region	Feature 101A	Cattle bone	Gd-8037	3850±50	GAC, phase Op36-B2	Kośko and Szmyt 2015
37	Opatowice site 36, Kujawy region	Feature 123	Cattle bone	Gd-6522	4350±120	GAC, phase Op36-B1	Kośko and Szmyt 2015
38	Opatowice site 36, Kujawy region	Feature 123	Cattle bone	Poz-57540	4210±35	GAC, phase Op36-B1	Kośko and Szmyt 2015
39	Opatowice site 36, Kujawy region	Feature 123	Cattle bone	Kiev-5136	4180±70	GAC, phase Op36-B1	Kośko and Szmyt 2015

axis ran from the south-east to the north-west. Several cellars were connected to the house.

The younger house (Op42-B2) was located in part in the location of the older building. Its ground plan was trapezoidal and covered about 90 m². Two pits — probably cellars/storerooms — formed its integral elements. Inside the house, there was a great number of finds, mostly pottery. The vast majority of them were concentrated in the eastern half of the building. It was here that textile, flint and stone processing took place. In the same part of the house, there was also a concentration of vessels covered with birch tar coating. The space surrounding the house was structured into three zones. Right next to the house a kind of courtyard was located. This was an area where household activities concentrated and, consequently, a large number of movable finds accumulated. Inorganic waste, resulting from the accidental destruction of pottery or tools, or originating from different industries (e.g. stone or flint working), was usually left in place. The second zone (a farmyard) was an area where rather dispersed activities were carried out. It was there that most of the storage pits were located. In the third zone (the boundary), sand extraction took place (Kośko and Szmyt 2015b).

The settlement inhabitants consumed the meat of domesticated animals, mainly cattle with a smaller share of sheep/goats (Makowiecka 2007). The use of plants is evidenced by a large series of plant impressions, charcoal and traces of plant material processing (Koszałka 2007; Langer et al. 2007; Stepnik 2007). The major crop was cereals, mainly wheat in its four varieties: einkorn (Triticum monococcum), emmer (Triticum dicoccum), spelt (Triticum cf. spelta) and bread wheat (Triticum cf. aestivum). The most popular wood raw material was pine (Pinus sp.), used for construction and most likely burnt for heat as well. Its remains account for over 95 % of charcoal on site. Hardwood was only sporadically used for specialised manufacturing (in the case of oak) or — in the case of birch wood and bark — for producing wood tar. In pottery from settlement Op42-B, a "wood-tar glaze" was applied to the outer surface of vessels (Kośko et al. 2021). Exceptionally many instances of this practice (380 sherds) were recorded on this site within the eastern part of the younger house and the adjacent farmyard. Vessels were covered with a layer of birch tar about 1 mm thick. For the manufacturing of tools, local erratic flint was mostly used, while southern raw materials such as chocolate, Volhynian and Jurassic flint were far less frequent (Domańska 2007). Telltale flakes of Jurassic flint show that axes made of this material were re-utilised on site. Fibre processing is confirmed by spindle whorls, of which 30 were found in the house and its surroundings.

In sum, the site documents the daily life of a small group of inhabitants. They were farmers who cultivated plants, bred domestic animals and processed all materials they needed. Daily consumption, too, concentrated in the house and its immediate surroundings.


Figure 4. Opatowice, site 36, Kujawy region: a small Globular Amphora culture settlement dated to the first half of the third millennium BC. A Results of kernel density analysis of pottery distribution. B Spatial organisation. a) house; b) cattle deposit of phase Op36-B1; c) cattle deposits of phase Op36-B2; d) features of phase Op36-B1 or Op36-B2; e) other features, not connected to Op36-B; f) concentration of Globular Amphora pottery; g) range of settlement phases Op36-B1 and Op36-B2. After Kośko and Szmyt 2015, 487 fig. 20.2.

Opatowice, site 36, Kujawy region

The third example is Opatowice, site 36, a settlement related to the Globular Amphora culture, taxonomic phase IIIa (Kośko and Szmyt 2015a). This singlehomestead settlement had two construction phases called Op36-B1 and Op36-B2. The settlement was established in the twenty-eighth century BC, and a house erected on a rectangular plan (c. 35 m²) was its dominant architectural feature (Figure 4). The building was aligned on an eastwest axis and slightly sunken into the ground; its floor was made of clay. The processing of organic raw materials was focused inside the house, while around it were traces of other activities (including pits, cellars, fireplaces and sand extraction pits). A ritual feature containing the carcass of a cow was located near the house.

In total, the central part of the settlement extended over an area of approximately 250 m². In the described form, settlement Op36-B1 could have lasted at least 40 years (2730–2690 calBC). It is possible that in terms of both spatial organisation and the material culture characteristics it continued in the form of settlement Op36-B2. At the latest by the twenty-sixth century calBC, the then residents partially changed the inhabited space and sacralised its north-eastern edge by placing two animal deposits, containing parts of bovine carcasses, in this area. This was probably not a one-time event, but rather a repeated action that happened twice in 2570–2510 calBC. At the same time, the house did not alter much.

The everyday life of the residents of settlement Op36-B was reconstructed in some aspects. Their subsistence was based on animals and plants. Cattle were used, which is reflected not only in skeletal remains but also as traces of processed milk preserved in the form of lipids in the walls of clay vessels (Makowiecki *et al.* 2015; Szmyt 2015). Cereals and legumes were also utilised (including emmer wheat, *Triticum dicoccum*), which is confirmed by impressions identified on pottery (Koszałka and Szmyt 2015).

Mineral raw materials were mainly used for manufacturing tools, predominantly flint. Locally available erratic flint was of particular importance (Domańska 2015). It was supplemented to a small extent by banded flint imported from the south, which was mostly used to make axes. Tools (polishing plates,



Figure 5. Janowice, site 2: a multiphased domestic site of the Globular Amphora culture in the Kujawy region. a)-d) number of sherds within 100 m² (a: 1–10; b: 11–50; c: 51–300; d: 301–800); e) well. Grey colouring marks the probable settled area. Based on Szmyt 2017, 231 fig. 19.

K62K63

- K50

H2

grinders, axes) were also made of local erratic rocks (Szmyt and Zieliński 2015). Clay for pottery manufacture was mixed by the addition of two basic tempers: crushed igneous rocks and sand, occasionally also organic material (Rauba-Bukowska 2015). Vessels were fired mostly at low temperature (c. 700°C). Coniferous wood (mainly pine), the most easily available in the area, was used as the primary building material and fuel; deciduous wood was used only occasionally (Stępnik and Szmyt 2015). Imprints on pottery attest that fibrous materials in the form of braided cords, probably made of phloem, were used. Additionally, traces of the use of plain weave were identified (Kośko *et al.* 2015).

Janowice, site 2, Kujawy region

The last case is Janowice, site 2, where three settlement phases of the Globular Amphora culture have been identified and dated to the period from 3010–2923 calBC until at least 2674–2490 calBC, taxonomic phases IIb– IIIa (Goslar and Szmyt 2016; Szmyt 2016). From more than 100 features and a cultural layer, 7900 GAC pottery sherds were recovered, weighing in total 96.37 kg, as well as 2433 daub fragments, seven flint artefacts, 13 stone objects, two bone tools and 84 animal bones (Chachlikowski 2016; Makowiecki 2016; Sobkowiak-Tabaka 2016; Szmyt 2016). Further studies yielded a mineralogical-petrographic description of eight pottery samples and identified mollusc shells deposited in three GAC features, as well as charcoal and plant impressions on pottery (Koszałka 2016; Kurzawska 2016; Rauba-Bukowska 2016; Stępnik and Szmyt 2016).

The distribution pattern of finds and features showed several clusters. Major clusters were identified as belonging to three settlement phases dated to successive periods (Figure 5; Table 1):

- JAN-D1: 3010–2923 calBC
- JAN-D2: 2919–2901 calBC
- JAN-D3: 2851–2814 calBC or 2625–2568 calBC (68.2 % probability).

The clusters contained pits, cellars, hearths and postholes as well as features of more specific functions such as a dwelling structure (M822) and an oven (feature H1). Outside the clusters, the only well associated with the Globular Amphora settlement was located (M356). No stratigraphic sequence was recorded between the features under discussion. The pottery, being the most numerous find type, was assessed relying on technological and stylistic traits. The most important conclusions concerned differences in the technological, morphological and ornamentation traits of vessels. Thus, it can be justifiably claimed that the finds from the Janowice settlement are the results of several sojourns by GAC populations in the area, while the clusters distinguished above are a record of chronologically separate settlements (Szmyt 2020).

The cluster associated with phase JAN-D1 corresponds best to the typical GAC settlement module. It represents the first traces of the presence of GAC settlers on the site, who in the late thirty-first and thirtieth centuries BC established a settlement there. Most household features (above all pits, including cellars) concentrated in a restricted area of 30–40 m in diameter. Within it, however, a possible dwelling structure is hard to identify.

Some time later, towards the end of the thirtieth century BC, the southern part of the site was settled. This time the settlement (JAN-D2) occupied the summit of a small hill and its southern slope, descending towards a watercourse. In addition, the settlement inhabitants had a well at their disposal. What remained of their sojourn was a cluster of finds and features whose western portion saw the only dwelling feature (M822) identified on the site, which was partially sunk into the ground. The main row of pits and cellars extended east and north-east of the structure and the outermost features (a well, two hearths and a clay pit) stayed within a radius of 70–80 m from it.

In turn, the youngest remains, dating in all likelihood to the twenty-ninth century BC or late twenty-seventh to early twenty-sixth centuries BC (JAN-D3), were found in the central portion of the site and occupied the eastern slope of the principal elevation. The cluster distinguished there was rather dispersed. It could be divided into two smaller ones, tied to pottery concentrations: northern and central. These might be the remains of zones where special economic activities were carried out, for instance involving the use of fire in the northern portion. This is corroborated by an oven, which contained strongly burnt daub and a large set of pottery.

It follows from the above description that during the three sojourns of GAC settler groups on the site the area selected for settlement was intensively developed by building settlement infrastructure, including household features (e.g. cellars, pits, hearths, an oven or a well) and dwelling structures (not archaeologically visible for the most part), forming temporary or semi-permanent settlements (Kośko and Szmyt 2006).

The economic foundations of the GAC populations at Janowice can be reconstructed in part. Analyses confirmed the exploitation of grasses and cereals, including emmer wheat (*Triticum dicoccum*). In turn, the examination of animal remains provided evidence for the use of domesticated animals, mainly cattle and pigs. The role of wild animals was limited, but two interesting finds have to be mentioned in this context: black grouse bones were found in a feature from phase JAN-D3 and mollusc shells were discovered in features from phase JAN-D2. For both the oldest and the youngest settlements, there is evidence of the use of erratic Baltic flint, which was processed ad hoc, with the bipolar technique being the most popular. The inhabitants of all settlements used stone grinding tools, but the presence of stone axes is confirmed for both younger settlements (JAN-D2 and JAN-D3), while grinding stones are known only from the youngest phase — JAN-D3.

General characteristics

Summing up, the interpretation of material evidence suggests that the basic social units related to the Funnel Beaker and Globular Amphora cultures were limited and comprised medium-sized or small groups. Based on the number of contemporaneous houses, it can be assumed that they usually did not exceed 50 people.

Most production, distribution and consumption took place in these relatively small groups. This is confirmed by various productive activities (e.g. in pottery making and using, flint knapping and stone processing). It is quite clear that one of the most important traits of the societies in question was an extensive adaptation to local raw material resources, which caused changes in the technologies used. This can be seen in the analyses of flint and stone artefacts, which were made of even poorquality local raw materials. Thus, the principal agents of day-to-day production, distribution and consumption were small groups of people living together.

In this respect new information has come from stable isotope (13C and 15N) analyses. For instance, data from human remains deposited in multi-burial tombs of the Globular Amphora culture revealed a rather uniform diet with a poorly marked tendency to increase animal protein consumption "during the lifetimes of both males and females" (Eriksson and Howcroft 2013, 117; Pospieszny 2017, 297). All examined individuals consumed terrestrial food consisting of animal (including meat and dairy products) as well as plant products. The consumption of dairy foods was independently borne out by the identification of milk lipids in some vessels from Kujawy (Roffet-Salque et al. 2017). In turn, analyses of human remains related to the Corded Ware culture revealed individuals who had lived on a diet of mainly animal proteins, i.e. meat or milk (Pospieszny et al. 2015).

However, in contrast to the rather small and dispersed human groups that dominated everyday life there were also activities which involved larger communities, composed of several or a dozen or so basic groups. They were reflected in communal rituals mainly focused on ancestors' graves and included communal



Figure 6. Temporal relationships and phases of cultural traditions on the Polish Lowland in the period 3400–2600 BC. CWC: Corded Ware culture; FBC: Funnel Beaker culture; GAC: Globular Amphora culture; LH: Linin horizon; NC: Neman culture; SB: Subneolithic. Data adapted from Czebreszuk *et al.* 2000; Józwiak 2003; Kośko and Szmyt 2015; Szmyt 2013.



Figure 7. Opatowice, site 3, Kujawy region. A fortified settlement dated to the turn of the fourth millennium BC. Based on Kośko and Szmyt 2014, 43 fig. 2.6. feasts as well as additional ceremonial practices, such as depositions of animal carcasses. Relevant examples are related to the Funnel Beaker, Globular Amphora and Corded Ware societies. They have many different features, but also some common elements. The most important of these is group celebration of funeral rites and commemoration of selected deceased by making their graves monumental and highly visible in the landscape (Szmyt and Czebreszuk 2012).

The oldest examples of this are linked to the Funnel Beaker societies. In contrast to the rather modest houses people lived in, the tombs in which they buried the remains of some chosen dead were monumental (Midgley 2005; Rzepecki 2011). They were erected away from settlements, but often in deforested areas (e.g. in places where settlements once stood or in the fields), and had huge elongated earthen mounds, making them easily noticeable (Papiernik *et al.* 2020). Most of these long barrows have survived in forested areas, sometimes in clusters, and their remains have been located using new techniques such as airborne laser scanning (e.g. Gorczyca *et al.* 2019; Matuszewska and Schiller 2016; Żurkiewicz *et al.* 2020).

Globular Amphora communities interred their dead in graves of diverse kinds, but the most typical were tombs in the form of a stone cist (Szmyt 2017). A few were covered with a barrow while others were located under the ground surface. One of the best investigated is a monumental tomb in Kierzkowo, where long sequences of ritual activities have been identified (Nowaczyk *et al.* 2017). There are many other tombs with several phases of use, yielding traces of repeated rituals and feasts. In some of them, and also in some settlements, depositions of domestic animals, mainly cattle, were intentionally placed as articulated carcasses and with no evidence of consumption (Pollex 1999; Szmyt 2006). This special status of domesticated animals (especially cattle) made them an important part of the social life of human communities.

The most characteristic graves of the Corded Ware communities are those over which round barrows were built, surrounded by a ditch usually around 5 m in diameter. In the ditch stood a wooden palisade. Placed under a barrow, a grave, sometimes with an additional stone structure, usually held a single corpse — most often of an adult male (Pospieszny 2009; Pospieszny *et al.* 2015).

In sum, it can be argued that for the long existence of small and dispersed communities it was vital to strike a kind of balance between two opposites: on the one hand, a day-to-day and almost perfect adaptation to the local natural environment that could cause isolation of individual groups, and on the other hand, a deep social need to break this isolation through communal rituals, mostly performed at funerary sites and not within settlements. Such periodically repeated rituals legitimised the social organisation of communities.

Processes of differentiation

Cultural transformations involved the rise of new cultural groups (often living in parallel in a single region). As a result, in the period of 3300–2700 BC, several traditions can be identified: the Funnel Beaker culture (its final stages: end of phase III and phases IV and V), the Globular Amphora culture (phases IIb and IIIa), the Corded Ware culture (phases 1 and 2) as well as the differentiated groups of Subneolithic hunters and foragers (Figure 6).

At the same time, the Polish Lowland witnessed various influxes of ideas, innovations and even groups of people. The most profound was the impact of the Baden culture (Przybył 2017; Szmyt 2008) and cultural groups originating from the east European steppe area (Kośko and Szmyt 2009).

Importantly, in the highly diversified cultural landscape of the Lowland, material culture was very actively used to manifest identity and distinguish oneself from other groups. As mentioned earlier, several forms of interaction can be observed in this highly varied Lowland cultural milieu. Two of them can be mentioned: cooperation and competition.

A form of cooperation perhaps can be suggested for some interactions between the communities of the Funnel Beaker and Globular Amphora cultures, as well as those of the Funnel Beaker and Corded Ware cultures. The first case is well illustrated by Opatowice 3 in Kujawy (Kośko and Szmyt 2014), where badly damaged remains of a ditch (1.0-1.5 m wide and 0.7 m deep) and a bank have been uncovered in an area settled by Late Funnel Beaker communities of the Radziejów group (Figure 7). Postholes were identified in the ditch fill, testifying to the existence of a palisade. The remains of the bank were documented along the external, western side of the ditch (Kośko and Szmyt 2018). In the ditch fill, rich material of the Funnel Beaker culture (phase Vb) and the Globular Amphora culture (phase IIb) was found. A detailed planigraphic and stratigraphic analysis of the ditch fill revealed the cooccurrence of the Funnel Beaker and Globular Amphora artefacts at all levels. Together with chronometric data, this thus provides grounds for a hypothesis concerning the cohabitation of both communities using the enclosure. AMS radiocarbon measurements allow one to set this period to 3014-2990 calBC (Kośko and Szmyt 2014) (Table 1).

The second type of cooperation, this time between the communities of the Funnel Beaker and Corded Ware cultures, may be seen in similarities in the manufacture of ceramic vessels. In short, both microscopic examinations as well as macroscopic ones confirm the use of similar recipes for the ceramic paste, to which only grog (i.e. crushed pottery) was added. All the earliest Corded Ware beakers and amphorae contain such temper (Czebreszuk 2001). It differs completely from the recipes typical of Globular Amphora pottery, which usually contain an admixture of crushed stone (Szmyt 2013).

By contrast, the nature of the interactions between Globular Amphora and Corded Ware communities was completely different. A few years ago, we introduced the term "symbolic conflict" to characterise the specific relationship between the communities of the Globular Amphora and Corded Ware cultures (Czebreszuk and Szmyt 2011; Szmyt and Czebreszuk 2010). Its basic assumptions take into account the results of multifaceted studies, including in particular the following considerations: the long-lasting coexistence of these communities (2800–2500/2400 BC), their presence in the same area (both at the macro- and microscale), and their manifestation of differences in the various fields of material culture.

The long duration of the interaction in the form of symbolic conflict imposed specific behaviours on both communities, as both strengthened their internal cohesion and continually referenced the traditional models of community life. Thus, after 3000–2900 BC the Globular Amphora communities maintained their internal organisation and traditions, revealed by the long-lasting nature of communal rites tied to the "graves of the ancestors" and also involving animal sacrifice. Among Corded Ware communities, an equally active cultivation of traditions can be observed up to 2400 BC, when the appearance of Bell Beaker-using groups set in motion a slow change in social and economic systems (Czebreszuk and Szmyt 2008a).

Conclusion

In the Polish Lowland, 3300–2700 BC is a period when the symptoms of two opposing processes are discernible. One was oriented towards uniformity (in terms of settlement organisation based on medium-sized and small sites as well as a social organisation based on small, probably kin groups), while the other led to increased cultural differentiation (in terms of manifestation of identity through material culture, rituals and ceremonial activities). Both processes came to an end about 2400 BC when the first impulses from Bell Beaker groups reached Lowland communities. Then, a new trend led to a centralised or agglomerated settlement organisation, new ideas regarding social life and a greater similarity in how material culture was manipulated.

References

- Chachlikowski, P. 2016. Materiały kamienne. In M. Szmyt (ed.), Osadnictwo społeczności neolitycznych na stanowisku 2 w Janowicach, woj. kujawsko-pomorskie. Studia i materiały do badań nad późnym neolitem Wysoczyzny Kujawskiej VI, 331–44. Poznań: Wydawnictwo Naukowe UAM.
- Czebreszuk, J. 2001. Schyłek neolitu i początki epoki brązu w strefie południowo- zachodniobałtyckiej (III i początki II tys. przed Chr.). Alternatywny model kultury. Poznań: Wydawnictwo Naukowe UAM.

- Czebreszuk, J. and Szmyt, M. 2008a. Bell Beakers and their role in a settlement evolution during the Neolithic– Bronze interstage on Polish Lowlands. In M. Baioni, V. Leonini, D. Lo Vetro, F. Martini, R. Poggiani Keller and L. Sarti (eds), *Bell Beaker in everyday life. Proceedings of the 10th meeting "Archéologie et Gobelets" (Florence – Siena – Villanuova sul Clisi, May 12–15, 2006). Millenni. Studi di Archeologia Preistorica 6,* 221–33. Firenze: Museo Fiorentino di Preistoria "Paolo Graziosi".
- Czebreszuk, J. and Szmyt, M. 2008b. Siedlungsformen des III. Jahrtausends v. Chr. in der polnischen Tiefebene (Kulturen der Trichterbecher, Kugelamphoren und Schnurkeramik). Stand und Perspektiven der Untersuchungen. In J. Müller and W. Dörfler (eds), *Umwelt – Wirtschaft – Siedlungen im dritten vorchristlichen Jahrtausend Mitteleuropas und Südskandinaviens. Offa-Bücher 84*, 219–42. Neumünster: Wachholtz.
- Czebreszuk, J. and Szmyt, M. 2011. Identities, differentiation and interactions on the central European plain in the 3rd millennium BC. In S. Hansen and J. Müller (eds), Sozialarchäologische Perspektiven: Gesellschaftlicher Wandel 5000–1500 v. Chr. zwischen Atlantik und Kaukasus. Archäologie in Eurasien 24, 269–91. Mainz: Philipp von Zabern.
- Czebreszuk, J. and Szmyt, M. 2015. Living on the north European plain around 2200 BC: between continuity and change. In H. Meller, H.W. Arz, R. Jung and R. Risch (eds), 2200 BC – Ein Klimasturz als Ursache für den Zerfall der Alten Welt? 7. Mitteldeutscher Archäologentag vom 23. bis 26. Oktober 2014 in Halle (Saale). Tagungen des Landesmuseums für Vorgeschichte Halle 12, 539–59. Halle: Landesmuseum für Vorgeschichte.
- Czebreszuk, J. and Szmyt, M. 2019. Bell Beakers domestic sites and houses in the Polish lands: Odra and Vistula catchments. In A.M. Gibson (ed.), *Bell Beaker* settlement of Europe. The Bell Beaker phenomenon from a domestic perspective, 255–75. Oxford: Oxbow Books.
- Czebreszuk, J., Kośko, A., Makarowicz, P. and Szmyt, M. 2000. Podsumowanie. In A. Kośko (ed.), Archeologiczne badania ratownicze wzdłuż trasy gazociągu tranzytowego. III. Kujawy. 4. Osadnictwo kultur poźnoneolitycznych oraz interstadium epok neolitu i brązu: 3900–1400/1300 przed Chr., 569–71. Poznań: Wydawnictwo Poznańskie.
- Czebreszuk, J., Szmyt, M., Müller, J. and Ławniczak, M.
 2019. Late Neolithic and Early Bronze Age settlement archaeology on the Oder and Vistula rivers in northwest Poland. In H. Meller, S. Friederich, M. Küßner, H. Stäuble and R. Risch (eds), Siedlungsarchäologie des Endneolithikums und der frühen Bronzezeit.

Tagungen des Landesmuseums für Vorgeschichte Halle 20, 807–21. Halle: Landesmuseum für Vorgeschichte.

Czerniak, L. 2002. Settlements of the Brześć Kujawski type on the Polish Lowlands. *Archeologické rozhledy* 54, 9–22.

- Czerniak, L. 2012. After the LBK. Communities of the 5th millennium BC in north-central Europe. In R. Gleser and V. Becker (eds), *Mitteleuropa im 5. Jahrtausend vor Christus. Beiträge zur Internationalen Konferenz in Münster 2010. Neolithikum und ältere Metallzeiten 1*, 151–74. Berlin: LIT.
- Czerniak, L. and Pyzel, J. 2019. The Brześć Kujawski culture. The north-easternmost Early Chalcolithic communities in Europe. In M. Gleser and D. Hofmann (eds), *Contacts, boundaries and innovation. Exploring developed Neolithic societies in central Europe and beyond*, 59–90. Leiden: Sidestone Press.
- Czerniak, L., Marciniak, A., Bronk Ramsey, C., Dunbar, E., Goslar, T., Barclay, A., Bayliss, A. and Whittle, A. 2016. House time: Neolithic settlement development at Racot during the 5th millennium cal B.C. in the Polish Lowlands. *Journal of Field Archaeology* 41, 618–40.

Diachenko, A., Stróżyk, M., Szmyt, M. and Żurkiewicz,
D. 2021. Why do we need to weigh burned daub?
Destruction of wattle-and-daub houses and the internal chronology of Neolithic sites. *Journal of Archaeological Science: Reports* 38, 103052.
DOI: 10.1016/j.jasrep.2021.103052

Diaczenko, A., Stróżyk, M., Szmyt, M. and Żurkiewicz, D.
2018. Architektura osady ludności kultury pucharów lejkowatych. Materiały budowlane oraz rekonstrukcja budowli. In M. Szmyt (ed.), Mrowino, stanowisko 3.
Późny neolit nad środkową Wartą. Bibliotheca Fontes Archaeologici Posnanienses 22, 117–64. Poznań: Muzeum Archeologiczne w Poznaniu.

Domańska, L. 2007. Wytwórczość z krzemienia. Contribution in A. Kośko and M. Szmyt, Opatowice – Wzgórze Prokopiaka III. Studia i materiały do badań nad późnym neolitem Wysoczyzny Kujawskiej III, 299–314. Poznań: Wydawnictwo Poznańskie.

Domańska, L. 2015. Wytwórczość z krzemienia. Contribution in A. Kośko and M. Szmyt, Opatowice – Wzgórze Prokopiaka V. Studia i materiały do badań nad późnym neolitem Wysoczyzny Kujawskiej V, 395–430. Poznań: Wydawnictwo Naukowe UAM.

Eriksson, G. and Howcroft, R. 2013. Stable carbon and nitrogen isotope analysis of skeletal remains of humans and pigs. In M.M. Przybyła, A. Szczepanek and P. Włodarczak (eds), *Koszyce stanowisko 3. Przemoc i rytuał u schyłku neolitu. Ocalone Dziedzictwo Archeologiczne 4*, 115–23. Kraków– Pękowice: Profil-Archeo.

- Goslar, T. and Szmyt, M. 2016. Chronologia absolutna. In M. Szmyt (ed.), Osadnictwo społeczności neolitycznych na stanowisku 2 w Janowicach, woj. kujawskopomorskie. Studia i materiały do badań nad późnym neolitem Wysoczyzny Kujawskiej VI, 371–84. Poznań: Wydawnictwo Naukowe UAM.
- Goslar, T., Szmyt, M. and Żurkiewicz, D. 2018. Chronologia absolutna. In M. Szmyt (ed.), Mrowino, stanowisko 3. Późny neolit nad środkową Wartą. Bibliotheca Fontes Archaeologici Posnanienses 22, 533–48. Poznań: Muzeum Archeologiczne w Poznaniu.
- Gorczyca, K., Schellner, E. and Schellner, K. 2019. Grobowce kujawskie na rubieży powiatów konińskiego i mogileńskiego. In M. Szmyt, P. Chachlikowski, J. Czebreszuk, M. Ignaczak and P. Makarowicz (eds), Vir Bimaris. Od kujawskiego matecznika do stepów nadczarnomorskich. Studia z dziejów międzymorza bałtycko-pontyjskiego ofiarowane Profesorowi Aleksandrowi Kośko. Archaeologia Bimaris – Dyskusje 5, 51–70. Poznań: Adam Mickiewicz University.
- Grygiel, R. 2008. Neolit i początki epoki brązu w rejonie Brześcia Kujawskiego i Osłonek. II. Środkowy neolit. Grupa brzesko-kujawska kultury lendzielskiej / The Neolithic and Early Bronze Age in the Brześć Kujawski and Osłonki region. II. Middle Neolithic. The Brześć Kujawski group of the Lengyel culture. Łódź: Wydawnictwo Fundacji Badań Archeologicznych Imienia Profesora Konrada Jażdżewskiego.

Józwiak, B. 2003. Społeczności subneolitu wschodnioeuropejskiego na Niżu Polskim w międzyrzeczu Odry i Wisły. Materiały do syntezy pradziejów Kujaw 11. Poznań: Uniwersytet im. Adama Mickiewicza.

Kabaciński, J. and Winiarska-Kabacińska, M.
2018. Wykorzystanie krzemienia. In M. Szmyt (ed.), Mrowino, stanowisko 3. Późny neolit nad środkową Wartą. Bibliotheca Fontes Archaeologici Posnanienses 22, 345–437. Poznań: Muzeum Archeologiczne w Poznaniu.

Koszałka, J. 2007. Odciski roślin na ceramice i polepie kultury pucharów lejkowatych oraz kultury amfor kulistych. Contribution in A. Kośko and M. Szmyt, Opatowice – Wzgórze Prokopiaka III. Studia i materiały do badań nad późnym neolitem Wysoczyzny Kujawskiej III, 363–69. Poznań: Wydawnictwo Poznańskie.

Koszałka, J. 2016. Odciski roślin na ceramice. In M. Szmyt (ed.), Osadnictwo społeczności neolitycznych na stanowisku 2 w Janowicach, woj. kujawskopomorskie. Studia i materiały do badań nad późnym neolitem Wysoczyzny Kujawskiej VI, 361–63. Poznań: Wydawnictwo Naukowe UAM. Koszałka, J. and Szmyt, M. 2015. Odciski roślin na ceramice kultury pucharów lejkowatych i kultury amfor kulistych. Contribution in A. Kośko and M. Szmyt, Opatowice – Wzgórze Prokopiaka V. Studia i materiały do badań nad późnym neolitem Wysoczyzny Kujawskiej V, 449–51. Poznań: Wydawnictwo Naukowe UAM.

Kośko, A. 1979. *Rozwój kulturowy społeczeństw Kujaw w* okresach schyłkowego neolitu i wczesnej epoki brązu. Poznań: Wydawnictwo Naukowe UAM.

Kośko, A., Sikorski, A. and Szmyt, M. 2015. Odciski tekstyliów na ceramice kultury amfor kulistych. Contribution in A. Kośko and M. Szmyt, Opatowice – Wzgórze Prokopiaka V. Studia i materiały do badań nad późnym neolitem Wysoczyzny Kujawskiej V, 383–87. Poznań: Wydawnictwo Naukowe UAM.

Kośko, A. and Szmyt, M. 2006. Opatowice – Wzgórze Prokopiaka I. Studia i materiały do badań nad późnym neolitem Wysoczyzny Kujawskiej I. Poznań: Wydawnictwo Poznańskie.

Kośko, A. and Szmyt, M. 2007. Opatowice – Wzgórze Prokopiaka III. Studia i materiały do badań nad późnym neolitem Wysoczyzny Kujawskiej III. Poznań: Wydawnictwo Poznańskie.

Kośko, A. and Szmyt, M. 2009. Central European lowland societies and the Pontic area in the 4th– 4th/3rd millennium BC. *Baltic-Pontic Studies* 14, 191–213.

Kośko, A. and Szmyt, M. 2014. Opatowice – Wzgórze Prokopiaka IV. Studia i materiały do badań nad późnym neolitem Wysoczyzny Kujawskiej IV. Poznań: Wydawnictwo Naukowe UAM.

Kośko, A. and Szmyt, M. 2015a. Opatowice – Wzgórze Prokopiaka V. Studia i materiały do badań nad późnym neolitem Wysoczyzny Kujawskiej VI. Poznań: Wydawnictwo Naukowe UAM.

Kośko, A. and Szmyt, M. 2015b. Dom na wzgórzu, 3200 przed Chr. Mała osada ludności kultury pucharów lejkowatych na stanowisku Opatowice 42 (Kujawy) i jej południowo-wschodnie koneksje. In O. Diachenko, F. Menotti, S. Ryzhov, K. Bunjatjan and S. Kadrow (eds), Kulturnyj kompleks Kukuten'-Tripillia ta jugo susidi. Zbirka naukovikch prac pam'jati Volodimira Krutsa, 183–208. Lviv: Astrolabiya Press.

Kośko, A., Szmyt, M. and Goslar, T. 2017. Zespoły typu Bożejewice – Krusza Zamkowa w sekwencji przemian kulturowych na Niżu Polskim w pierwszej połowie III tys. przed Chr. In A. Marciniak-Kajzer, A. Andrzejewski, A. Golański, S. Rzepecki and M. Wąs (eds), Nie tylko krzemienie. Studia ofiarowane prof. Lucynie Domańskiej w 45-lecie pracy naukowodydaktycznej i w 70. rocznicę urodzin, 249–64. Łódź: Instytut Archeologii UŁ. Kośko, A. and Szmyt, M. 2018. 'Defense construction' of the 4th/3rd mill. BC on the Vistula and Odra: inspirations from the Baden culture. In P. Valde-Nowak, K. Sobczyk, M. Nowak and J. Źrałka (eds), *Multas per gentes et multa per saecula. Amici magistro et collegae suo Ioanni Christopho Kozłowski dedicant*, 521–30. Kraków: Institute of Archaeology, Jagiellonian University in Kraków.

Kośko, A., Szmyt, M. and Langer, J.J. 2021. Late Neolithic ceramic pigments in the Polish Lowland. In A. Diachenko, T.K. Harper, Y. Rassamakin and I. Sobkowiak-Tabaka (eds), Data systematization in the Neo-Eneolithic of southeastern and central Europe: essays in honor of Sergey Ryzhov, 343–68. Kyiv: National Academy of Sciences of Ukraine, Institute of Archaeology.

Kurzawska, A. 2016. Muszle mięczaków. In M. Szmyt (ed.), Osadnictwo społeczności neolitycznych na stanowisku 2 w Janowicach, woj. kujawskopomorskie. Studia i materiały do badań nad późnym neolitem Wysoczyzny Kujawskiej VI, 357–60. Poznań: Wydawnictwo Naukowe UAM.

Langer, J.J., Pietrzak, S., Tomaszewska, A., Kamińska, M., Kośko, A. and Szmyt, M. 2007. Substancje smoliste na ceramice kultury pucharów lejkowatych. Contribution in A. Kośko and M. Szmyt, Opatowice – Wzgórze Prokopiaka III. Studia i materiały do badań nad późnym neolitem Wysoczyzny Kujawskiej III, 339–57. Poznań: Wydawnictwo Poznańskie.

Ławniczak, M. in prep. Osadnictwo społeczności neolitycznych i wczesnobrązowych na obszarze Polski północno-zachodniej w świetle analiz dużych zbiorów danych przestrzennych. Ongoing PhD thesis, Muzeum Archeologiczne w Poznaniu.

Makowiecka, M. 2007. Zwierzęce szczątki kostne. Contribution in A. Kośko and M. Szmyt, *Opatowice – Wzgórze Prokopiaka III. Studia i materiały do badań nad późnym neolitem Wysoczyzny Kujawskiej III*, 359. Poznań: Wydawnictwo Poznańskie.

Makowiecki, D. 2016. Zwierzęce szczątki kostne. In M. Szmyt (ed.), Osadnictwo społeczności neolitycznych na stanowisku 2 w Janowicach, woj. kujawskopomorskie. Studia i materiały do badań nad późnym neolitem Wysoczyzny Kujawskiej VI, 345–56. Poznań: Wydawnictwo Naukowe UAM.

Makowiecki, D., Makowiecka, M. and Szmyt, M. 2015. Zwierzęce szczątki kostne. Contribution in A. Kośko and M. Szmyt, *Opatowice – Wzgórze Prokopiaka V. Studia i materiały do badań nad późnym neolitem Wysoczyzny Kujawskiej V*, 435–47. Poznań: Wydawnictwo Naukowe UAM.

Makowiecki, D., Makowiecka, M. and Szmyt, M. 2018. Eksploatacja zwierząt. In M. Szmyt (ed.), *Mrowino, stanowisko 3. Późny neolit nad środkową Wartą.* Bibliotheca Fontes Archaeologici Posnanienses 22, 479–501. Poznań: Muzeum Archeologiczne w Poznaniu.

Matuszewska, A. and Schiller, M. 2016. Dolicki mikroregion megalityczny w świetle wyników badań nieinwazyjnych. *Fontes Archaeologici Posnanienses* 52, 151–73.

Midgley, M. 2005. *The monumental cemeteries of prehistoric Europe*. Stroud: Tempus.

Nowaczyk, S., Pospieszny, Ł. and Sobkowiak-Tabaka, I. (eds) 2017. *Megalityczny grobowiec kultury amfor kulistych z Kierzkowa na Pałukach. Milczący świadek kultu przodków z epoki kamienia. Biskupińskie Prace Archeologiczne 12.* Biskupin: Muzeum Archeologiczne w Biskupinie.

Nowak, M. 2017. Ubiquitous settlers, consequent farmers, and monument builders. In P. Urbańczyk and P.
Włodarczak (eds), *The past societies. Polish lands* from the first evidence of human presence to the Early Middle Ages. Volume 2, 5500–2000 BC, 126–70.
Warszawa: Polish Academy of Sciences, Institute of Archaeology and Ethnology.

Papiernik, P., Wicha, J., Brzejszczak, R., Kittel, P. and Wroniecki, P. 2020. Źródła archeologiczne w rejonie parku kulturowego Wietrzychowice. I. Prospekcje nieinwazyjne i abiotyczne elementy środowiska geograficznego. Łódź: Wydawnictwo Fundacji Badań Archeologicznych Imienia Profesora Konrada Jażdżewskiego.

Pollex, A. 1999. Comment on the interpretation of the so-called cattle burials of Neolithic central Europe. *Antiquity* 73, 542–50.

Pospieszny, Ł. 2009. Zwyczaje pogrzebowe społeczności kultury ceramiki sznurowej w Wielkopolsce i na Kujawach. Studia i materiały do dziejów Kujaw – Niżu Polski 10. Poznań: Adam Mickiewicz University.

Pospieszny, Ł. 2017. Analizy izotopowe późnoneolitycznych szczątków ludzkich i zwierzęcych z grobowca megalitycznego w Kierzkowie. In S. Nowaczyk, Ł. Pospieszny and I. Sobkowiak-Tabaka (eds), Megalityczny grobowiec kultury amfor kulistych z Kierzkowa na Pałukach. Milczący świadek kultu przodków z epoki kamienia. Biskupińskie Prace Archeologiczne 12, 287–310. Biskupin: Muzeum Archeologiczne w Biskupinie.

Pospieszny, Ł., Sobkowiak-Tabaka, I., Price, T.D., Frei, K.M., Hildebrandt-Radke, I., Kowalewska-Marszałek, H., Krenz-Niedbała, M., Osypińska, M., Stróżyk, M. and Winiarska-Kabacińska, M. 2015. Remains of a Late Neolithic barrow at Kruszyn. A glimpse of ritual and everyday life in early Corded Ware societies of the Polish Lowland. *Praehistorische Zeitschrift* 90, 185–213.

Przybył, A. 2017. From south to north. Baden culture people and their neighbours. In P. Urbańczyk and P.

Włodarczak (eds), *The past societies. Polish lands from the first evidence of human presence to the Early Middle Ages. Volume 2, 5500–2000 BC*, 171–209. Warszawa: Polish Academy of Sciences, Institute of Archaeology and Ethnology.

Rauba-Bukowska, A. 2015. Mineralogiczno-petrograficzna charakterystyka ceramiki i polepy. Contribution in A. Kośko and M. Szmyt, *Opatowice – Wzgórze Prokopiaka V. Studia i materiały do badań nad późnym neolitem Wysoczyzny Kujawskiej V*, 361–73. Poznań: Wydawnictwo Naukowe UAM.

Rauba-Bukowska, A. 2016. Mineralogiczno-petrograficzna charakterystyka naczyń neolitycznych. In M. Szmyt (ed.), Osadnictwo społeczności neolitycznych na stanowisku 2 w Janowicach, woj. kujawsko-pomorskie. Studia i materiały do badań nad późnym neolitem Wysoczyzny Kujawskiej VI, 295–307. Poznań: Wydawnictwo Naukowe UAM.

Rennwanz, J. 2018. Eksploatacja roślin. In M. Szmyt (ed.), Mrowino, stanowisko 3. Późny neolit nad środkową Wartą. Bibliotheca Fontes Archaeologici Posnanienses 22, 503–24. Poznań: Muzeum Archeologiczne w Poznaniu.

Roffet-Salque, M., Banecki, B. and Evershed, R.P. 2017. Lipid residue analyses of Late Neolithic pottery vessels from the megalithic tomb at Kierzkowo. In S. Nowaczyk, Ł. Pospieszny and I. Sobkowiak-Tabaka (eds), *Megalityczny* grobowiec kultury amfor kulistych z Kierzkowa na Pałukach. Milczący świadek kultu przodków z epoki kamienia. Biskupińskie Prace Archeologiczne 12, 251–66. Biskupin: Muzeum Archeologiczne w Biskupinie.

Rzepecki, S. 2003. Społeczności środkowoeuropejskiej kultury pucharów lejkowatych na Kujawach. Materiały do syntezy pradziejów Kujaw 12. Poznań: Wydawnictwo Poznańskie.

Rzepecki, S. 2011. *The roots of megalithism in the TRB culture*. Łódź: Instytut Archeologii Uniwersytetu Łódzkiego, Fundacja Uniwersytetu Łódzkiego.

Sikorski, A. 2018. Odciski "tekstylne" na fragmentach ceramiki kultury pucharów lejkowatych. In M. Szmyt (ed.), Mrowino, stanowisko 3. Późny neolit nad środkową Wartą. Bibliotheca Fontes Archaeologici Posnanienses 22, 453–67. Poznań: Muzeum Archeologiczne w Poznaniu.

Solon, J. [+24 others] and Ziaja, W. 2018. Physicogeographical mesoregions of Poland: verification and adjustment of boundaries on the basis of contemporary spatial data. *Geographia Polonica* 91, 143–70.

Stępnik, T. 2007. Identyfikacja taksonomiczna węgli drzewnych. Contribution in A. Kośko and M. Szmyt, *Opatowice – Wzgórze Prokopiaka III. Studia i materiały do badań nad późnym neolitem Wysoczyzny Kujawskiej III*, 371–73. Poznań: Wydawnictwo Poznańskie.

Stępnik, T. 2016. Użytkowanie drewna. In M. Szmyt (ed.), Osadnictwo społeczności neolitycznych

SZMYT

259

na stanowisku 2 w Janowicach, woj. kujawskopomorskie. Studia i materiały do badań nad późnym neolitem Wysoczyzny Kujawskiej VI, 365–69. Poznań: Wydawnictwo Naukowe UAM.

- Stępnik, T. and Szmyt, M. 2015. Identyfikacja taksonomiczna węgli drzewnych. Contribution in A. Kośko and M. Szmyt, Opatowice – Wzgórze Prokopiaka V. Studia i materiały do badań nad późnym neolitem Wysoczyzny Kujawskiej V, 453–61. Poznań: Wydawnictwo Naukowe UAM.
- Szmyt, M. 2006. Dead animals and living society. *Journal of Neolithic Archaeology* 2006, DOI:10.12766/jna.2006.19
- Szmyt, M. 2008. Baden patterns in the milieu of Globular Amphorae: transformation, incorporation and long continuity. A case study from the Kujavia region, Polish Lowland. In M. Furholt, M. Szmyt and A. Zastawny (eds), *The Baden complex and the outside world. Studien zur Archäologie in Ostmitteleuropa 4*, 217–31. Bonn: Rudolf Habelt.
- Szmyt, M. 2013. Late Neolithic landscapes on the Polish Lowland. People, culture and economy in Kujawy — 4th and 3rd millennia BC. Studien zur Archäologie in Ostmitteleuropa 12. Poznań–Bonn: Wydawnictwo Naukowe UAM & Rudolf Habelt.
- Szmyt, M. 2016. Osadnictwo ludności kultury amfor kulistych. In M. Szmyt (ed.), Osadnictwo społeczności neolitycznych na stanowisku 2 w Janowicach, woj. kujawsko-pomorskie. Studia i materiały do badań nad późnym neolitem Wysoczyzny Kujawskiej VI, 157–362. Poznań: Wydawnictwo Naukowe UAM.
- Szmyt, M. 2017. Collective graves, flint axes and cows. The people of Globular Amphora culture on the Vistula and Odra. In P. Urbańczyk and P. Włodarczak (eds), *The past societies. Polish lands from the first evidence* of human presence to the Early Middle Ages. Volume 2, 5500–2000 BC, 211–73. Warszawa: Polish Academy of Sciences, Institute of Archaeology and Ethnology.
- Szmyt, M. 2020. Large sites versus small settlements (from research on Late Neolithic settlements in the Polish Lowland). In M. Dębiec and T. Saile (eds), A plantiebus usque ad montes. Studia archaeologica Andreae Pelisiak vitae anno sexagesimo quinto oblata, 337–50. Rzeszów: Wydawnictwo Uniwersytetu Rzeszowskiego.
- Szmyt, M. 2022. Nordpolen vom fünften bis zum dritten vorchristlichen Jahrtausend. In F. Klimscha and L.

Wiggering (eds), *Die Erfindung der Götter. Steinzeit im Norden. Katalog zur Ausstellung im Landesmuseum Hannover*, 224–43. Petersberg: Michael Imhoff.

- Szmyt, M. and Czebreszuk, J. 2010. Społeczności Niżu Polskiego w III tys. przed Chr.: propozycja interpretacji relacji kulturowo-społecznych. In S. Czopek and S. Kadrow (eds), *Mente et rutro. Studia archaeologica Johanni Machnik viro doctissimo octogesimo vita anno ab amicis, collegia et discipulis oblata / Myślą i łopatą. Studia archeologiczne dedykowane wybitnemu uczonemu Janowi Machnikowi w osiemdziesiątą rocznicę urodzin przez przyjaciół, kolegów i uczniów,* 153–65. Rzeszów: Fundacja Rzeszowskiego Ośrodka Archeologicznego.
- Szmyt, M. and Czebreszuk, J. 2012. Monumental funeral sites: creation, long-term use and re-use in the Neolithic and the Bronze Age. Case studies from the Polish Lowland. In M. Furholt, M. Hinz and D. Mischka (eds), "As time goes by?" Monumentality, landscapes and the temporal perspective. Proceedings of the international workshop "Socio-environmental dynamics over the last 12,000 years: the creation of landscapes II" (14th–18th March 2011) in Kiel. Universitätsforschungen zur Prähistorischen Archäologie 206, 169–94. Bonn: Rudolf Habelt.
- Szmyt, M. and Czebreszuk, J. 2013. Dispersed communities and diverse strategies: Late Neolithic economy on the Polish Lowland (3500–2500 BC). In T. Kerig and A. Zimmermann (eds), Economic archaeology: from structure to performance. Universitätsforschungen zur Prähistorischen Archäologie 237, 193–212. Bonn: Rudolf Habelt.
- Szmyt, M. and Zieliński, M. 2015. Wytwory z kamienia. Contribution in A. Kośko and M. Szmyt, Opatowice – Wzgórze Prokopiaka V. Studia i materiały do badań nad późnym neolitem Wysoczyzny Kujawskiej V, 431–33. Poznań: Wydawnictwo Naukowe UAM.
- Tetzlaff, W. 1989. Funnel Beaker culture. Mrowino, gm. Rokietnica, woj. Poznań, site 3, settlement. *Przegląd Archeologiczny* 36, 247–49.
- Żurkiewicz, D., Niebieszczański, J. and Bahyrycz, C. 2020. The first megalithic long barrows of the Funnel Beaker culture in the central Greater Poland in Sobota. *Sprawozdania Archeologiczne* 72, 333–54.

Societal rise, dissolution and diversity

From Funnel Beaker (TRB) societies to Single Grave groups on the north European plain (c. 3300–2700 BC)

Jan Piet Brozio

Abstract

On the north European plain, as in many other regions of central and northern Europe, significant transformations can be observed around the transition from the fourth to the third millennium BC. This study focuses on social processes in Funnel Beaker societies (TRB) on the eve of the Single Grave culture (SGC) phenomenon. It is shown that the last generations of TRB societies, before the arrival of SGC groups, are already characterised by a loss of social orientation within the TRB groups. This includes a differentiation of social processes, for example changes from agglomeration to disorganisation or from more collective to more individual behaviour. Thus, the TRB phenomenon does not end abruptly with the rise of the SGC, but was already undergoing internal changes that manifested themselves in increasing social differentiation.

Keywords: north European plain, Funnel Beaker societies (TRB), Single Grave groups (SGC), social processes

Introduction

In modern societies, profound transformations are associated with terms such as demographic change, pluralisation of lifestyles, individualisation, integration, as well as exclusion and conflicts. Evidence for equally profound transformations in prehistoric societies can be observed on the north European plain, as in many other regions of central and northern Europe, around the transition from the fourth to the third millennium BC (Dörfler and Müller 2008; Iversen 2020; Matuschik and Schlichtherle 2016; Szmyt 2008). Thus, the appearance of Single Grave culture (SGC) groups as a northern phenomenon of Corded Ware culture (CWC) societies is visible, amongst others, in characteristic changes in parts of the material culture and burial forms. In particular, new aDNA analyses have brought the phenomenon of the SGC back into focus (Allentoft *et al.* 2024; Furholt 2019; 2021; Heyd 2017; Kristiansen *et al.* 2017).

However, the groups of the SGC phenomenon (Brozio and Hage 2013; Hübner 2005; Jacobs 1991; Schultrich 2019; Strahl 1990) faced complex social structures when they



Figure 1. Megalithic tombs in northern central Europe and southern Scandinavia (Fritsch *et al.* 2010, 2 fig. 1).

reached the north European plain (Brozio 2019). They entered cultural landscapes which had been created and shaped centuries earlier by Funnel Beaker groups (TRB) due to two main factors: agricultural use, and thus the creation of open land for fields and domestic sites through the clearing of forests, as well as the distinctive monumental burial architecture of non-megalithic and megalithic long barrows (Behrens and Darvill 2021; Brozio *et al.* 2019a; Müller *et al.* 2014; Sørensen 2014). These developments culminated in a boom of megalithic tombs from 3450 BC onwards (Brozio *et al.* 2019a) (Figure 1).

Furthermore, changes in domestic sites, material culture (Müller and Peterson 2015), demography (Feeser *et al.* 2019), human impact on the landscape (Feeser *et al.* 2012), the development of new style categories, such as Store Valby ceramics (Brozio *et al.* 2019b), and contact with new influences, such as the Globular Amphora (GAC) phenomenon (Müller 2023), also point to groups

characterised by social dynamics at the end of the fourth millennium BC (Brozio 2020; Furholt 2021).

The discussion of the underlying social processes in TRB groups on the eve of the SGC phenomenon are the focus of this study and the following questions are of particular interest: what kind of social structures can be observed before the appearance of the SGC phenomenon on the north European plain? Did social changes already occur before the appearance of the SGC phenomenon? What social processes can we identify at the transition from the fourth to the third millennium? In order to address these questions, I first discuss the approach used in this study.

Basic considerations of the study

The social processes analysed in this study are defined as continuous, long-term, i.e. multi-generational changes in the way people lived together. This definition allows the use of conceptual pairs, such as societal rise and dissolution, or collectivity and individuality, which also indicate the direction of social processes from one situation to another. It is important to note that social processes are reversible, different processes can take place simultaneously and these processes can be interwoven (Elias 2018, 361–62). In order to define these pairs of terms, the spheres of social organisation, economy, demography and climate are included as fundamental aspects of human–environment interactions (Bowden and Hinz 2021; Müller 2014a, 32–33):

- The form of coexistence is a fundamental component of social organisation. Therefore, social space is created at different levels (Nakoinz 2013, 215-16). This includes the creation, visualisation and appropriation of cultural landscapes through their use (Earle 2000a), the construction of monuments or domestic sites and their relationship to each other, as well as the internal design of domestic sites and buildings (Bailey et al. 2005; Madella 2013; Souvatzi 2008), which are included and discussed in this study at various levels. In order to organise their relationships to each other, the individual actors of a society necessarily use forms of social ground rules, i.e. social forms of organisation, which are also manifested, for example, by concepts such as mentality. Closely connected to this is also the concept of ideology, i.e. the production of ideas, meanings and values in confrontation with social life (Lull et al. 2011).
- The sphere of the economy covers not only the production and reproduction of subsistence goods, but also status and prestige objects. This also includes the organisation of production, as well as the distribution and consumption of goods. At the same time, these aspects are int egrated into specific moral-ethical conceptions of societies (Beckert 2003, 773–79; Bernbeck 1994; Müller and Bernbeck 1996; Polanyi 2021; Windler 2017, 95–97).
- The demographic development of a society significantly influences its social, economic, symbolic and cultural spheres. Thus, group size as well as population density influence the economic and social opportunities of groups. This also encompasses forms of decision-making processes or the significance of kinship relationships as a social construct of living and residential communities (Bettencourt *et al.* 2010; Feinman 2011, 52; Roscoe 2012, 43–46; Shennan and Edinborough 2007, 1343–44; Shennan *et al.* 2017; Whitehouse *et al.* 2014).
- The influence of climatic changes on subsistence economies, as well as ecological changes, are essential aspects of human–environment interactions. Human impact on the landscape, as reflected

in the pollen data, can also be used as a demographic indicator. This is based on the assumption that increasing population density leads to an increased clearing of forests due to an increasing demand for resources and space (Feeser *et al.* 2019, 1600–04; Heitz *et al.* 2021; Lechterbeck *et al.* 2014, 1303–04).

The aspects listed above are, in many cases, closely interwoven and necessarily simplistic. Thus, categories such as economic capabilities, social ties and ideology — to name but a few examples — are also to be understood as ideas for the maintenance of power relations, since they enable the development and maintenance of power structures as the basis of political forms of organisation (Arendt 1970; Earle 2000b; Lund et al. 2022). Nevertheless, the listed spheres allow for a categorisation and thus a heuristic approach to discuss social processes at different spatial, qualitative and quantitative scales. Quantitative scales methodically use rates of built monuments and rates of deposited archaeological objects as approximations to describe trends in architecture and material culture. Ratios of botanical macroremains are used to describe changes in subsistence agriculture. Rates of land development are reconstructed using principal component analyses (PCAs) of palynological data, identifying eigenvectors that describe such developments. This allows the comparison of data from different archives with similar temporal resolutions. To compare the different data from palaeoecological, palaeoeconomic and archaeological records, the different values can also be statistically normalised as z-scores (Brozio et al. 2019a, 1560).

The aim of this study is thus to work out the most important lines of transformation, whereby diversity is already evident in the different reception and design of cultural landscapes in different regions.

A mosaic of spheres and activities around 3300–2700 BC

In the following, four spheres of human–environment interaction are examined which form the qualitative and quantitative background of social processes in this study.

Social organisation

Different arrangements of social space and thus different concepts of space use can be traced at the transition from the fourth to the third millennium on the Cimbrian peninsula (Müller *et al.* 2020, 117–21). Thus, GAC groups are almost completely absent in the west (Woidich 2014, 89–92), whereas in the east, they are represented in megalithic graves, in hoards and in domestic sites from 3100 BC (Brozio *et al.* 2019c, 217). In the west, SGC burial mounds appear rapidly, whereas in the east there seems to be no evidence of early graves (Figure 2), but axes of the SGC are deposited as fragments and as individual



Figure 2. Battle axes from single graves and megalithic graves of the Early Single Grave groups and stray finds of battle axes (modified after Schultrich 2019, 215 fig. 61, 216 fig. 62).

objects (Schultrich 2019, 213–19). In the west, the Dieksknöll (Albersdorf LA 68) enclosure was used until 2400 BC (Dibbern 2016, 49), while the activities at the Rastorf enclosure in the east ended around 3200 BC (Steffens 2009, 184–86). In the west, Store Valby and SGC burials in megalithic tombs are known (Brozio *et al.* 2019b). In the east, on the other hand, the re-use of megalithic graves by SGC societies did not occur until 2600 BC (Hübner 2005). Although the boom phase in the construction of megalithic tombs ended around 3100 BC, the number of individual tombs continued to increase (Brozio 2020, 108–09; Müller 2019, 46) until they were replaced by the burial mound traditions of the SGC (Schultrich 2019, 25–35).

The internal structure of domestic sites also changes in terms of size. Thus, by 3000 BC, villages (Kossian 2007) with occasionally more than 100 inhabitants exist (Brozio 2016, 113–18). Houses have uniform shapes and identical sizes, but no public buildings can be distinguished by either size or architectural design. In general, we can assume an agglomeration of people, at least in some regions (Brozio *et al.* 2019c, 211–16). The picture then changes to smaller hamlets/single farms and domestic sites with possible light building structures, often in wetlands (Brozio *et al.* 2021), and belonging to small groups on the north European plain (Brozio et al. 2023). There are also indications of an increase in violent conflicts from the later phases of the TRB (Lidke 2005, 222). However, a peak in young male human remains is not present in the osteological collections, which could indicate that they were not involved in conflicts as much as in other Neolithic societies of central Europe (Müller 2019, 68-70; Petrasch 2000). Changes in material culture can be traced, among other things, in pottery decorations and vessel forms, which became increasingly diverse at the transition from the fourth to the third millennium (Brozio 2020, 109 fig. 10.9; Lorenz 2018; Müller and Peterson 2015). At the same time, the Store Valby phenomenon is seen to continue the trend towards thicker axe bodies that already emerged in the earlier stages of the TRB (Nielsen 1979), whereas the pottery represents a clear separation in terms of vessel forms and decorations (Davidsen 1978; Iversen 2020).

Economy

In the Neolithic, cattle breeding (Benecke 1994; Hinz 2018, 217–23) and the cultivation of crops in horticultural plots as well as fields (Kirleis 2019; Kirleis *et al.* 2011), become the dominant forms of subsistence farming on the north European plain. Thus, in the bone assemblages present



Figure 3. Diagram of the percentages of domesticated and wild animals from selected animal bone inventories from domestic sites in eastern Holstein (Neustadt LA 156: Glykou 2016, 207; Wangels LA 505, Early Neolithic layer: Heinrich 1999, 44; Siggeneben-Süd/Grube LA 12: Nobis 1983, 115; Oldenburg LA 191: Kaczmarek 2017, 70; Matthey 2005, 9; Oldenburg LA 77: Brozio *et al.* in prep.; Wangels LA 505, Middle to Young Neolithic layer: Schmölcke 2001, 46). The distribution over 100 years was achieved by aoristic distribution.



Figure 4. Comparison of the relative abundance of *Plantago lanceolata*-type and cereal-type pollen from Bad Oldesloe-Wolkenwehe LA 154 and the pollen profiles of Poggensee and lake Seefeld on the Cimbrian peninsula (Feeser and Dörfler 2019, 202 fig. 23).



Figure 5. Compilation graph of the records for monumentality, artefacts, subsistence economy and palynological proxies for the southern Cimbrian peninsula and Mecklenburg-Western Pomerania, c. 4100–1750 BC (z-scores based on absolute numbers of projected artefacts per 50 years) (Brozio *et al.* 2019a).

at the domestic sites, there is a trend for domesticated animal bones to increase in relation to wild animal remains between c. 4000 and c. 3000 BC (Figure 3). Crucially, our information comes mainly from sites with permanently wet sediments, which provide excellent preservation conditions for organic material. In contrast to the terrestrial sites without bone preservation, sites with wet sediments have been investigated in much smaller numbers and are often located at former inland bodies of water or in coastal areas. Cattle are the most frequently used domestic animal species compared to pigs, sheep/goats and dogs. In contrast, the proportion of wild animals declined from about 40 to 10 % by the end of the fourth millennium BC, but hunting and fishing never lost their importance completely (Steffens 2005). Around 3000/2900 BC, however, a change can be observed. The proportion of wild animals rises again to about 40 %. Thus, at the transition from the fourth to the third millennium, a ratio is reached which corresponds to the first 500 years of the TRB, which had been characterised by experiments with agriculture and animal husbandry.

After phases of differentiation and uniformity in the cultivation of crops (Kirleis 2019; Kirleis *et al.* 2011), the subsistence economy changed in some regions. On the Wagrian peninsula on the Baltic shore of eastern Holstein, TRB societies relied largely on the expansion of arable land, while the SGC phase was less visible in the landscape archives (Knitter *et al.* 2019, 11). In contrast, at the site of Bad Oldesloe-Wolkenwehe LA 154 in the hinterland of the Cimbrian peninsula (Hartz *et al.* 2007; Mischka *et al.* 2007), for example, from 3000 BC onwards it is evident that the proportion of cereals in the pollen record falls abruptly, indicating a change or decline of local activities. *Plantago lanceolata* increases sharply, also indicating a regional opening of the landscape with increased cereal cultivation (Feeser and Dörfler 2019, 202) (Figure 4).

In addition, if the number of artefacts is considered as an indication of not only the economic but also the social potentials of societies, it becomes apparent that the potentials decrease in accordance with a decrease in artefacts from 3100 BC onwards and only begin to increase again around 2800 BC (Brozio *et al.* 2019a, 1562). Beyond that, a breakdown of the TRB exchange system, which had previously remained stable over generations, can be observed. In this system, new cereals (Kirleis and Fischer 2014, 91–92) as well as copper objects were transported northwards from the Alpine region and south-western Europe over centuries, until 3300 BC (Klassen 2000). Red Heligoland flint was also exchanged (Müller 2014b) and jadeite axes as well as hammer axes (Klassen 2004) were imported from the south (Figure 5).

Demography

Relative population development through radiometric sum calibration (Rick 1987) and the quantification of human impact proxies of pollen analyses indicate a demographic bust phase from c. 3400-3100 BC, followed by an increase (Feeser et al. 2019, 7). For the southern Cimbrian peninsula (15,800 km²), we can assume a population of about 30,000 persons (p) at c. 3300 BC and 10,000 p at c. 3000 BC (Müller 2019, 68). There are various more specific demographic calculations for the TRB; these amount to 1.0–7.4 p/km² on the north Frisian islands (Müller 2011, 277), 0.7–1.6 p/km² in Mecklenburg-Western Pomerania (Schiesberg 2012, 127) or 2.7-3.1 p/km² for the area of southern Scandinavia and central Europe (Müller and Diachenko 2019, 6). Such a development can also be observed at the level of domestic sites, as in the case of Oldenburg-Dannau LA 77 (Brozio 2016, 113–18). At this site we can trace an increase in the number of inhabitants between 3300 and 3000 BC, which can be deduced from an increase in houses, reaching its peak around 3000 BC. This development is associated with erosion as well as increased proportions of cereal pollen (Feeser and Dörfler 2019, 198–200) (Figure 6).

Climate

Drill cores in laminated sediments of lakes Woserin and Belau (Feeser *et al.* 2012), as well as intermediate and deep-water temperature reconstructions from the Skagerrak (Butruille *et al.* 2017), reveal colder summer temperatures from c. 3350 BC onwards, which did not recover until c. 2950 BC. Despite uncertainty concerning the intensity of climatic impact on these societies, an influence of climatic fluctuations can be assumed. For example, a period of cooler air temperatures between 3000 and 2600 BC could be associated with an increase in naked barley and the decline of emmer in northern Europe (Schirrmacher *et al.* 2024).

Rise and dissolution of social configurations around 3300–2700 BC

Following the general developments described above, two social configurations of the TRB societies, for the periods 3400–3000 and 3000–2700 BC respectively, can be identified.

Sharing and common organisations (3300–3100/3000 BC)

The construction boom of passage tombs for collective burials around 3350 BC points to TRB societies with tendentially low institutionalised forms of political organisation, whose individuals operated as actors of a community rather than an institutionalised social class, even if a deliberate concealment of social inequality is possible (Shanks and Tilley 1982). However, genetic kinship lineages, along with social bonds, may have played a significant role in the use of chambers for burials, as demonstrated in case studies from Britain (Fowler et al. 2022) and Ireland (Cassidy et al. 2020). Anthropological studies indicate that there was no segregation in terms of biological sex or age (Gerling et al. 2019; Grimm 1984). The burial chambers contained mainly decorated pottery, often highly ornamented, and jewellery (Lorenz 2018). Weapons, understood here as battle axes and arrowheads, were of little importance (Müller 2011). In the passage grave of Wangels LA 69, for example, one battle axe was found for every 50 vessels (Brozio 2016).

At domestic sites with several buildings, house layouts are characterised by predominantly identical house shapes and sizes, an observation that does not suggest any common buildings such as meeting houses or similar (Schaefer-Di Maida et al. 2024). Simultaneously, there seems to be a trend of population increase with agglomeration in villages, reaching group sizes of up to 100 people. Groups of this size can organise themselves without centralisation of power or institutionalised authority (Gonzalez 2014, 147). Moreover, comparisons of house inventories show that no hierarchical differences between buildings and domestic sites are detectable (Brozio 2016; Hage 2016). The development of village-like domestic sites and the coexistence of people and animals could have favoured zoonoses and epidemics, although there is no evidence for this (Fuchs et al. 2019).

The internal organisation of TRB groups can therefore be described as "prestige societies" (Brozio *et al.* 2019a; Iversen 2015; Wunderlich 2019). Livestock breeding with a focus on cattle, whose meat played a special role in burials, may have been of particular importance (Weber *et al.* 2020). The lack of evidence for conflict points to a tendency towards peaceful cooperation and/or competition between individuals and groups (Gebauer 2014). This includes the construction of tombs and the decoration of vessels as a common but also competitive stylistic device used as a strategy to maintain social balance. The integration of other ideas and probably also people into the social groups, such as the those of the GAC, also indicates a tendency towards openness (Müller 2023; Müller *et al.* 2020; Szmyt 2017;



Figure 6. Palynological proxies and deposition of colluvial layers indicate a boom of land opening around 3600–3400 BC which continues at a relatively high level until 3200 BC. Radiometric sum calibration indicates a possible population increase around 3300 BC, as well as a decline around 3050 BC in north-western central Europe (Feeser *et al.* 2019, 7; Müller 2019, 67).

Woidich 2014) of social groups that have their own concept of collective behaviour. These are certainly not societies that were free of conflict, but in contrast to the SGC, specialised weapons and therefore roles cannot be defined (Horn 2021).

Social dissolution and new concepts (3100/3000–2700 BC)

An emphasis on the individual becomes evident from 3100/3000–2700 BC onwards, when burials are not only carried out in the chambers of megalithic tombs, but also increasingly in single graves (Brozio 2020, 108–09; Müller 2019, 46). In addition to single flat graves, these burials also comprise graves with stone installations or even singular monumental transformations of megalithic burial mounds for a single burial (Brozio 2016, 174–75). Likewise, the concept of living together within villages in longhouses comes to an end. Village-like structures now include smaller areas with huts, for example at Hunte 1 (Brozio and Heumüller 2022; Kossian 2007) or Bad Oldesloe-Wolkenwehe LA 154 (Brozio 2016; Hartz *et al.* 2007; Mischka *et al.* 2007). Likewise, fences, such as those at Oldenburg-Dannau LA 77, built around 3100–2900 calBC (Brozio 2016, 99), and palisades, for example at Hunte 1, dated to between 2837–2744 denBC (Kossian 2007, 118–19), can be observed. They represent a demarcation of the interior and the exterior. In many cases, domestic sites were founded in areas that had not seen domestic activity in the period c. 3300–2900 BC (Brozio *et al.* 2019b, 136 tab. 6; Davidsen 1978, 159 fig. 77). The domestic sites become smaller, which suggests smaller groups such as extended families. In addition, a demographic decline is discernible across the region, indicating a disorganisation of social groups.

Furthermore, the pottery becomes more diverse in terms of vessel forms and decorations (Brozio 2020, 110; Müller et al. 2020; Saev 2015). This is an indication that the sign system expressed through material culture (Graves 1998) was changing and that smaller groups familiar with this sign system were emerging at the same time. Simultaneously, groups increasingly separate from each other symbolically and spatially in terms of how social differentiation is organised. This shows a gradual turning away from the old structures. At the same time, the lack of participation in a common set of signs based on ceramic types, as well as vessel forms and decorations, reveals increasing differentiation. An increase in battle axes between 3100 and 2900 BC can also be observed (Brozio 2020, 109-10), whereas flint axes, as multifunctional tools, occur in smaller numbers (Breske 2017). It is assumed here that battle axes, because of their shape, were seen as weapons and thus as symbols of power. While some meanings were shared across regions, others were regionally or contextually different. For instance, that axes of the SGC were used as potential tools for clearing roots shows that these objects served a variety of functions (Wentink 2020, 120-26).

With the transition from the fourth to the third millennium BC and the following centuries (Figure 7), social differentiation intensified in the SGC, characterised by battle axes, beakers and single graves (Brozio and Hage 2013; Hübner 2005; Schultrich 2019). Burial mounds and secondary burials show the emergence of a wide-ranging social system, probably related to kinship and based on smaller groups and their translocal relations (Hübner 2005, 85–87). In this context, SGC groups would also have been involved in the exchange of copper artefacts, albeit to a lesser extent. Quantitatively, these objects are detectable only in small numbers (Iversen 2015, 108–09; Klassen 2000, 198–209; Schultrich 2019, 156–58).



Figure 7. Vessels and axes of TRB (1), Store Valby (2), GAC (3) and SGC (4) groups (image: C. Reckweg, CAU Kiel; data: 1. Brozio 2016, 464 pl. 174, 511 pl. 221; 2. Brozio 2019a, 112 fig. 7, 113 fig. 8; 3. Brozio 2016, 481 pl. 191; Zápotocký 1992, pl. 120.11; 4. Zich 1999, fig. 13).

Conclusion

In this study, social processes have been understood as long-term comprehensive changes in the configurations formed by people, or in aspects of these. The last generations of TRB societies, before the arrival of SGC groups, were connected by social processes characterised by a shift from agglomeration to disorganisation in social spaces and from collective to individual behaviour in the context of social organisation. Related to this is also a social process in the late TRB societies shifting from groups in social balance to groups in social imbalance.

On the one hand, population increase can be suggested as a possible trigger (Brown 1981, 27). Although there is no evidence that a natural limit of potentially available land and associated resources had been reached (Knitter et al. 2019, 1582), larger societies may have triggered a greater degree of stress and conflict within groups (Dunbar 1993; Johnson 1982; Johnson and Earle 1987). In this context, it should be noted that there is no direct correlation between large groups and growing social inequality (Green 2021; Hodder 2014, 17; Sigrist 1967). On the other hand, mechanisms for conflict resolution were obviously not in place. For example, structures that served as assembly buildings or other spaces created for this purpose are not detectable at domestic sites. The causewayed enclosures seem to have been less and less able to fulfil the purpose of keeping groups together through ritual gatherings. However, this may have led to non-violent conflicts. The cold summer temperatures and the possibility of zoonoses and/or epidemics through the agglomeration of people could also have contributed to the dissolution of the TRB societies.

The social structure of society on the eve of the SGC is thus characterised by a loss of social orientation in the TRB groups that took place over generations. Linked to this was a shift of TRB societies to increasing social differentiation, which is represented by two factors: the increasing establishment of varied ritual behaviour and symbols through first contacts with the SGC, as well as, in the case of the Store Valby phenomenon, through an abandonment of practices and symbols passed down through generations (Brozio et al. 2019b; Iversen 2020). This dissolution of social bonds was at the same time the basis for openness associated with the adoption of a new ideology in the form of the GAC phenomenon. Therefore, an increasing symbolic separation from the ancestors and the rule systems of the previous generations can be seen, which can be explained by more individualised behaviour of groups and thus probably also of individuals, as suggested by the increasing number of graves.

However, the TRB phenomenon did not end abruptly with the appearance of the SGC, but was already subject

to internal changes that manifested themselves in differentiation. The TRB phenomenon was not even sustained by the TRB concept of monumentality introduced in the Early Neolithic, which, amongst others, also functioned as genealogical links to long-gone ancestral groups (Müller 2018).

Acknowledgements

I thank Carsten Reckweg for improving the graphics and Eileen Küçükkaraca for her English proofreading. I also thank the three editors for their valuable comments on the manuscript. This study was funded by the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (DFG, German Research Foundation), project number 2901391021 – SFB1266.

References

- Allentoft, M.E. [+158 others] and Willerslev, E. 2024. Population genomics of Stone Age Eurasia. *Nature* 625, 301–11. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41586-023-06865-0.
- Arendt, H. 1970. *On violence*. New York: Harcourt, Brace & World.
- Bailey, D., Whittle, A. and Cummings, V. 2005. Beyond the meaning of Neolithic houses: specific objects and serial repetition. In D. Bailey, A. Whittle and V. Cummings (eds), (Un)Settling the Neolithic, 90–97. Oxford: Oxbow Books.
- Beckert, J. 2003. Economic sociology and embeddedness: how shall we conceptualize economic action? *Journal* of Economic Issues 37, 769–87.
- Behrens, A. and Darvill, T. 2021. Barrow cemeteries in the Neolithic of north-west Europe. The case of Western Mecklenburg (Germany). *Materiały Zachodniopomorskie Nowa Seria* XVII, 125–62.
- Benecke, N. 1994. Archäozoologische Studien zur Entwicklung der Haustierhaltung in Mitteleuropa und Südskandinavien von den Anfängen bis zum ausgehenden Mittelalter. Schriften zur Ur- und Frühgeschichte 46. Berlin: Akademie-Verlag.
- Bernbeck, R. 1994. Die Auflösung der häuslichen Produktionsweise. Das Beispiel Mesopotamien. Berliner Beiträge zum Vorderen Orient 14. Berlin: Reimer.
- Bettencourt, A.M.S., Sanches, M.J., Alves, L.B. and Fábregas Valcarce, R. 2010. Conceptualising space and place: on the role of agency, memory and identity in the construction of space from the upper Palaeolithic to the Iron Age in Europe. Oxford: BAR Publishing.
- Bowden, M. and Hinz, M. 2021. Geschichte der Landschaftsforschung und Landschaftsarchäologie. Britische Inseln und Kontinentaleuropa. In D. Mölders, M.M. Rind, K. Schierhold, W. Neubauer

and J. Richards (eds), *Stonehenge. Von Menschen und Landschaften*, 40–49. Petersberg: Michael Imhof.

Breske, B.J. 2017. Untersuchungen zu neolithischen Beilen in Schleswig-Holstein. Unpublished Master's thesis, University of Kiel.

Brown, J.A. 1981. The search for rank in prehistoric burials. In R. Chapman, I. Kinnes and K. Randsborg (eds), *The archaeology of death*, 27–37. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Brozio, J.P. 2016. Megalithanlagen und Siedlungsmuster im trichterbecherzeitlichen Ostholstein. Frühe Monumentalität und soziale Differenzierung 9. Bonn: Rudolf Habelt.

Brozio, J.P. 2019. Zur absoluten Chronologie der Einzelgrabkultur in Norddeutschland und Nordjütland. *Germania* 96, 45–92.

Brozio, J.P. 2020. From hierarchies in balance to social imbalance — transformation processes in the later Funnel Beaker north societies in the western Baltic Sea region (3100–2900 BC). In A.B. Gebauer, L. Sørensen, A. Teather and A.C. Valera (eds), Monumentalizing life in Neolithic Europe: narratives of continuity and change, 99–114. Oxford: Oxbow Books.

Brozio, J.P. and Hage, F. 2013. Zwei Studien zu den neolithischen und bronzezeitlichen Grabanlagen der Lüneburger Heide. Beiträge zur Archäologie in Niedersachsen 17. Rahden: Marie Leidorf.

Brozio, J.P. and Heumüller, M. 2022. Ein jungsteinzeitliches Dorf am Ufer der Hunte – der Siedlungsplatz Hunte 1. In L. Wiggering and F. Klimscha (eds), *Die Erfindung der Götter. Die Steinzeit im Norden*, 372–77. Petersberg: Michael Imhof.

Brozio, J.P., Müller, J., Furholt, M., Kirleis, W., Dreibrodt,
S., Feeser, I., Dörfler, W., Weinelt, M., Raese, H. and
Bock, A.-L. 2019a. Monuments and economies —
what drove their variability in the Middle Holocene
Neolithic? *The Holocene* 29, 1558–71.

Brozio, J.P., Müller, J., Filipović, D., Kirleis, W.,
Schmölcke, U. and Meyer, J. 2019b. The Dark Ages in the north? A transformative phase at 3000–2750 BCE in the western Baltic: Brodersby-Schönhagen and the Store Valby phenomenon. *Journal of Neolithic Archaeology* 21, 103–46. DOI: 10.12766/jna.2019.6

Brozio, J.P., Filipović, D., Schmölcke, U.,
Kirleis, W. and Müller, J. 2019c. Mittel- bis
jungneolithische Siedlungshinterlassenschaften
zwischen 3300–2600 v. Chr. – Der Fundplatz
Oldenburg LA 232 im Oldenburger Graben,
Ostholstein. Praehistorische Zeitschrift 93, 185–224.

Brozio, J.P., Helmann, J., Filipović, D., Schmölcke, U., Kirleis, W. and Müller, J. 2021. Der Wohnplatz 15 (Labenz LA 11): Ein Vorbericht zu einem Fundplatz aus dem 3. vorchristlichen Jahrtausend im Duvenseer Moor. *Offa* 737, 23–53.

Brozio, J.P., Feeser, I., Heumüller, M., Müller, J., Corradini, E., Kirleis, W., Dörfler, W., Erkul, E. and Wunderlich, T. 2023. Hunte 4: re-validation of a Bell Beaker domestic site in the Dümmer region in northwestern Germany. *Praehistorische Zeitschrift* 98, 24–61.

Butruille, C., Krossa, V.R., Schwab, C. and Weinelt, M. 2017. Reconstruction of mid- to late-Holocene winter temperatures in the Skagerrak region using benthic foraminiferal Mg/Ca and δ^{18} O. *The Holocene* 27(1), 63–72.

Cassidy, L.M. [+12 others] and Bradley, D.G. 2020. A dynastic elite in monumental Neolithic society. *Nature* 582, 384–88.

Davidsen, K. 1978. *The final TRB culture in Denmark: a settlement study. Arkæologiske studier 5*. Copenhagen: Akademisk Forlag.

Dibbern, H. 2016. Das trichterbecherzeitliche Westholstein: Eine Studie zur neolithischen Entwicklung von Landschaft und Gesellschaft. Bonn: Rudolf Habelt.

Dörfler, W. and Müller, J. 2008. Umwelt – Wirtschaft – Siedlungen im dritten vorchristlichen Jahrtausend Mitteleuropas und Südskandinaviens: Internationale Tagung Kiel 4.–6. November 2005. Neumünster: Wachholtz.

Dunbar, R.I.M. 1993. Coevolution of neocortical size, group size and language in humans. *Behavioral and Brain Sciences* 16(4), 681–94.

Earle, T.K. 2000a. Archaeology, property, and prehistory. Annual Review of Anthropology 29, 39–60.

Earle, T.K. 2000b. *How chiefs come to power: the political economy in prehistory*. Stanford: Stanford University Press.

Elias, N. 2018. Prozesse, soziale. In J. Kopp and A. Steinbach (eds), *Grundbegriffe der Soziologie*, 361–66. Wiesbaden: Springer VS.

Feeser, I. and Dörfler, W. 2019. Land-use and environmental history at the Middle Neolithic settlement site Oldenburg-Dannau LA 77. *Journal of Neolithic Archaeology* 21, 157–207. DOI:10.12766/ jna.2019.8

Feeser, I., Dörfler, W., Averdieck, F.-R. and Wiethold, J.
2012. New insight into regional and local land-use and vegetation patterns in eastern Schleswig-Holstein during the Neolithic. In M. Hinz and J.
Müller (eds), Siedlung, Grabenwerk, Großsteingrab: Studien zu Gesellschaft, Wirtschaft und Umwelt der Trichterbechergruppen im nördlichen Mitteleuropa.
Frühe Monumentalität und soziale Differenzierung 2, 159–90. Bonn: Rudolf Habelt.

Feeser, I., Dörfler, W., Kneisel, J., Hinz, M. and Dreibrodt, S. 2019. Human impact and population dynamics in the Neolithic and Bronze Age: multi-proxy evidence from

OZIO 271

north-western central Europe. *The Holocene* 29(10), 1596–606.

Feinman, G.M. 2011. Size, complexity, and organizational variation: a comparative approach. *Cross-Cultural Research* 45, 37–58.

Fritsch, B., Furholt, M., Hinz, M., Lorenz, L., Nelson, H., Schafferer, G., Schiesberg, S. and Sjögren, K.-G. 2010. Dichtezentren und lokale Gruppierungen: Eine Karte zu den Großsteingräbern Mittel- und Nordeuropas. *Journal of Neolithic Archaeology* 12, 1–4. DOI:10.12766/ jna.2010.56

Fowler, C., Olalde, I., Cummings, V., Armit, I., Büster, L., Cuthbert, S., Rohland, N., Cheronet, O., Pinhasi, R. and Reich, D. 2022. A high-resolution picture of kinship practices in an Early Neolithic tomb. *Nature* 601, 584–87.

Furholt, M. 2019. Re-integrating archaeology: a contribution to aDNA studies and the migration discourse on the 3rd millennium BC in Europe. Proceedings of the Prehistoric Society 85, 115–29.

Furholt, M. 2021. Mobility and social change: understanding the European Neolithic period after the archaeogenetic revolution. *Journal of Archaeological Research* 29, 481–535.

Fuchs, K., Rinne, C., Drummer, C., Immel, A., Krause-Kyora, B. and Nebel, A. 2019. Infectious diseases and Neolithic transformations: evaluating biological and archaeological proxies in the German loess zone between 5500 and 2500 BCE. *The Holocene* 29, 1545–57.

Gebauer, A.B. 2014. Meanings of monumentalism at Lønt, Denmark. In M. Furholt, M. Hinz, D. Mischka,
G. Noble and D. Olausson (eds), Landscapes, histories and societies in the northern European Neolithic. Frühe Monumentalität und soziale Differenzierung 4, 101–12. Bonn: Rudolf Habelt.

Gerling, C., Maixner, F. and Schierhold, K. 2019. Neue Untersuchungen an Knochenmaterial aus dem Megalithgrab Rheine-Schotthock. *Archäologie in Westfalen-Lippe* 2017, 229–32.

Glykou, A. 2016. Neustadt LA 156 – ein submariner Fundplatz des späten Mesolithikums und des frühesten Neolithikums in Schleswig-Holstein. Untersuchungen zur Subsistenzstrategie der letzten Jäger, Sammler und Fischer an der norddeutschen Ostseeküste. Untersuchungen und Materialien zur Steinzeit in Schleswig-Holstein und im Ostseeraum 7. Neumünster: Wachholtz.

Gonzalez, R.A. 2014. Social organization in Nuragic Sardinia: cultural progress without "elites"? *Cambridge Archaeological Journal* 24, 141–61.

Graves, M.W. 1998. The history of method and theory in the study of prehistoric Puebloan pottery style in the American Southwest. *Journal of Archaeological Method and Theory* 5, 309–43. Green, A.S. 2021. Killing the priest-king: addressing egalitarianism in the Indus civilization. *Journal of Archaeological Research* 29(2), 153–202.

Grimm, H. 1984. Anthropologische Bemerkungen zu den Skelettresten aus einigen Megalithgräbern in den mecklenburgischen Bezirken der DDR. *Jahrbuch Bodendenkmalpflege Mecklenburg* 1983, 103–50.

Hage, F. 2016. Büdelsdorf/Borgstedt: Eine trichterbecherzeitliche Kleinregion. Frühe Monumentalität und soziale Differenzierung 11. Bonn: Rudolf Habelt.

Hartz, S., Mischka, D. and Müller, J. 2007. Die neolithische Feuchtbodensiedlung Bad Oldesloe-Wolkenwehe LA 154. Resultate der Untersuchungen 1950–1952. *Offa* 61/62, 7–24.

Heinrich, D. 1999. Die Tierknochen des frühneolithischen Wohnplatzes Wangels LA 505. *Offa* 54/55, 43–48.

Heitz, C., Hinz, M., Laabs, J. and Hafner, A. 2021. Mobility as resilience capacity in northern Alpine Neolithic settlement communities. *Resilience & Archaeology* 36(1), 75–106.

Heyd, V. 2017. Kossinna's smile. Antiquity 91, 348–59.

Hinz, M. 2018. From hunting to herding? Aspects of the social and animal landscape during the southern Scandinavian Neolithic. In A. Haug, L. Käppel and J. Müller (eds), *Past landscapes: the dynamics of interaction between society, landscape and culture*, 207–33. Leiden: Sidestone Press.

- Hodder, I. 2014. Çatalhöyük: the leopard changes its spots. A summary of recent work. *Anatolian Studies* 64, 1–22.
- Horn, C. 2021. Trouble in paradise? Violent conflict in Funnel-Beaker societies. *Oxford Journal of Archaeology* 40, 43–64.
- Hübner, E. 2005. Jungneolithische Gräber auf der Jütländischen Halbinsel. Typologische und chronologische Studien zur Einzelgrabkultur. Nordiske Fortidsminder B 24. København: Kongelige Nordiske Oldskriftselskab.

Iversen, R. 2015. *The transformation of Neolithic societies*. *Jysk Arkaeologisk Selskab skrifter 88*. Højbjerg: Jysk Arkaeologisk Selskab.

Iversen, R. 2020. 65 years later... — a re-evaluation of the Store Valby phase (MN V) of the late Funnel Beaker North Group. *Journal of Neolithic Archaeology* 22, 119–36. DOI:10.12766/jna.2020.4

Jacobs, J. 1991. Die Einzelgrabkultur in Mecklenburg-Vorpommern. Beiträge zur Ur- und Frühgeschichte Mecklenburg-Vorpommerns 24. Schwerin: Archäologisches Landesmuseum Mecklenburg-Vorpommern.

Johnson A.W. and Earle T.K. 1987. *The evolution of human societies: from foraging group to agrarian state.* Stanford: Stanford University Press. Johnson, G.A. 1982. Organizational structure and scalar stress. In M.J. Rowlands and B.A. Seagraves (eds), *Theory and explanation in archaeology*, 398–412. New York: Academic Press.

Kaczmarek, J. 2017. Oldenburg-Dannau LA 191. Die Auswertung der Funde und Befunde aus Fläche A. Unpublished MA dissertation, University of Kiel.

Kirleis, W. 2019. Atlas of Neolithic plant remains from northern central Europe. Advances in Archaeobotany 4. Groningen: Barkhuis Publishing.

Kirleis, W. and Fischer, E. 2014. Neolithic cultivation of tetraploid free threshing wheat in Denmark and northern Germany: implications for crop diversity and societal dynamics of the Funnel Beaker culture. *Vegetation History and Archaeobotany* 23, 81–96.

Kirleis, W., Klooß, S., Kroll, H. and Müller, J. 2011. Crop growing and gathering in the northern German Neolithic: a review supplemented by new results. *Vegetation History and Archaeobotany* 21, 221–42.

Klassen, L. 2000. Frühes Kupfer im Norden. Untersuchungen zur Chronologie, Herkunft und Bedeutung der Kupferfunde der Nordgruppe der Trichterbecherkultur. Jysk Arkaeologisk Selskabs skrifter 36. Aarhus: Aarhus University Press.

Klassen, L. 2004. Jade und Kupfer: Untersuchungen zum Neolithisierungsprozess im westlichen Ostseeraum unter besonderer Berücksichtigung der Kulturentwicklung Europas 5500–3500 BC. Jysk Arkaeologisk Selskabs skrifter 47. Aarhus: Aarhus University Press.

Knitter, D., Brozio, J.P., Dörfler, W., Duttmann, R., Feeser, I., Hamer, W., Kirleis, W., Müller, J. and Nakoinz, O. 2019. Transforming landscapes: modeling land-use patterns of environmental borderlands. *The Holocene* 29(10), 1572–86.

Kossian, R. 2007. Hunte 1: ein mittel- bis spätneolithischer und frühbronzezeitlicher Siedlungsplatz am Dümmer, Ldkr. Diepholz (Niedersachsen). Die Ergebnisse der Ausgrabungen des Reichsamtes für Vorgeschichte in den Jahren 1938 bis 1940. Veröffentlichungen der urgeschichtlichen Sammlungen des Landesmuseums zu Hannover 52. Hannover: Niedersächsisches Landesmuseum.

Kristiansen, K. [+10 others] and Willerslev, E. 2017. Retheorising mobility and the formation of culture and language among the Corded Ware culture in Europe. *Antiquity* 91, 334–47.

Lechterbeck, J., Edinborough, K., Kerig, T., Fyfe, R., Roberts, N. and Shennan, S.J. 2014. Is Neolithic land use correlated with demography? An evaluation of pollen-derived land cover and radiocarbon-inferred demographic change from central Europe. *The Holocene* 24(10), 1297–307. Lidke, G. 2005. Untersuchungen zur Bedeutung von Gewalt und Aggression im Neolithikum Deutschlands unter besonderer Berücksichtigung Norddeutschlands. Doctoral dissertation: University of Greifswald.

Lorenz, L. 2018. Kommunikationsstrukturen mittelneolithischer Gesellschaften im nordmitteleuropäischen Tiefland. Frühe Monumentalität und soziale Differenzierung 14. Bonn: Rudolf Habelt.

Lull, V., Micó, R., Herrada, C.R. and Risch, R. 2011. Ideology, archaeology. In R.H. McGuire, and R. Bernbeck (eds), *Ideology in archaeology*, 270–93. Tucson: University of Arizona Press.

Lund, J., Furholt, M. and Austvoll, K.I. 2022. Reassessing power in the archaeological discourse. How collective, cooperative and affective perspectives may impact our understanding of social relations and organization in prehistory. *Archaeological Dialogues* 29, 33–50.

Madella, M. 2013. *The archaeology of household*. Oxford: Oxbow Books.

Matthey, C. 2005. Untersuchungen an Tierknochenfunden der mittelneolithischen Trichterbecherkultur aus Oldenburg-Dannau LA 191, Kreis Ostholstein. Unpublished diploma thesis, University of Kiel.

Matuschik, I.M. and Schlichtherle, H. 2016. Steter Wandel: Von Aichbühl bis zur Schnurkeramik. Pfahlbaukulturen in Südwestdeutschland. In Archäologisches Landesmuseum Baden-Württemberg and Landesamt für Denkmalpflege im Regierungspräsidium Stuttgart (eds), 4.000 Jahre Pfahlbauten, 68–79. Ostfildern: Jan Thorbecke.

Mischka, D., Dörfler, W., Grootes, P., Heinrich, D., Müller, J. and Nelle, O. 2007. Die neolithische Feuchtbodensiedlung Bad Oldesloe-Wolkenwehe: Vorbericht zu den Untersuchungen 2006. *Offa* 59/60, 25–64.

Müller, J. 2011. Ritual cooperation and ritual collectivity: the social structure of the Middle and Younger Funnel Beaker North Group (3500–2800 BC). *Journal* of Neolithic Archaeology 12(2), 1–15. DOI: 10.12766/ jna.2010.44.

Müller, J. 2014a. *Exploring landscapes: the reconstruction* of social space. Investigations on prehistorical and historical societies and the environment. Bonn: Rudolf Habelt.

Müller, J. 2014b. Bemerkungen zur sozialen Relevanz des roten Helgoländer Flints/The social significance of red Heligoland flint. In F. Bittmann (ed.), Flint von Helgoland. Die Nutzung einer einzigartigen Rohstoffquelle an der Nordseeküste. Siedlungs- und Küstenforschung im südlichen Nordseegebiet 37, 189–93. Rahden: Marie Leidorf. Müller, J. 2018. Social memories and site biographies: construction and perception in non-literate societies. In C.C. Bakels, Q.P.J. Bourgeois, D.R. Fontijn and R. Jansen (eds), *Local communities in the Big World of prehistoric northwest Europe. Analecta Praehistorica Leidensia 49*, 9–17. Leiden: Sidestone Press.

Müller, J. 2019. Boom and bust, hierarchy and balance: from landscape to social meaning — megaliths and societies in northern central Europe. In J. Müller, M. Hinz and M. Wunderlich (eds), Megaliths societies — landscapes. Early monumentality and social differentiation in Neolithic Europe 1. Frühe Monumentalität und soziale Differenzierung 18, 29–74. Bonn: Rudolf Habelt.

Müller, J. 2023. Separation, hybridisation, and networks. Globular Amphora sedentary pastoralists ca. 3200–2700 BCE. Leiden: Sidestone Press.

Müller, J. and Bernbeck, R. 1996. Prestige – Prestigegüter – Sozialstrukturen: Beispiele aus dem europäischen und vorderasiatischen Neolithikum. Archäologische Berichte 6. Bonn: HOLOS.

Müller, J. and Diachenko, A. 2019. Tracing long-term demographic changes: the issue of spatial scales. *PLoS ONE* 14, e0208739. DOI:10.1371/journal. pone.0208739

Müller, J. and Peterson, R. 2015. Ceramics and society in northern Europe. In C. Fowler, J. Harding, and D. Hofmann (eds), *The Oxford handbook of Neolithic Europe*, 573–604. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Müller, J., Dibbern, H. and Hage, F. 2014. Nonmegalithic mounds beneath megaliths: a new perspective on monumentality in north central Europe. In M. Furholt, (ed.), Landscapes, histories and societies in the northern European Neolithic. Frühe Monumentalität und soziale Differenzierung 4, 171–82. Bonn: Rudolf Habelt.

Müller, J., Brozio, J.P., Dörfler, W. and Kirleis, W. 2020. Narratives of 3rd millennium transformations: new biographies of Neolithic societies, landscapes and monuments. In A.B. Gebauer, L. Sørensen, A. Teather and A.C. Valera (eds), *Monumentalizing life in Neolithic Europe: narratives of continuity and change*, 115–24. Oxford: Oxbow Books.

Nakoinz, O. 2013. Archäologische Kulturgeographie der ältereisenzeitlichen Zentralorte Südwestdeutschlands. Universitätsforschungen zur prähistorischen Archäologie 224. Bonn: Rudolf Habelt.

Nobis, G. 1983. Wild- und Haustierknochen des Fundplatzes Siggeneben-Süd. In J. Meurers-Balke (ed.), Siggeneben-Süd. Ein Fundplatz der frühen Trichterbecherkultur an der holsteinischen Ostseeküste. Offa-Bücher 50, 115–18. Neumünster: Wachholtz. Nielsen, P.O. 1979. De tyknakkede flintøkser kronologi: Zur Chronologie der dicknackigen Flintbeile. *Aarbøger for nordisk oldkyndighed og historie* 1977, 5–71.

Petrasch, J. 2000. Menschenknochen in neolithischen Siedlungen: Spuren sepulkraler Riten oder Abfall? Archäologisches Korrespondenzblatt 30(3), 353–68.

Polanyi, K. 2021. The great transformation: Politische und ökonomische Ursprünge von Gesellschaften und Wirtschaftssystemen. Berlin: Suhrkamp.

Rick, J.W. 1987. Dates as data: an Examination of the Peruvian preceramic radiocarbon record. *American Antiquity* 52(1), 55–73.

Roscoe, P. 2012. Before elites: the political capacities of Big Men. In T. Kienlin and A. Zimmermann (eds), *Beyond* elites. Alternatives to hierarchical systems in modelling social formations. International conference at the Ruhr-Universität Bochum, Germany, October 22–24 2009. Universitätsforschungen zur Prähistorischen Archäologie 215, 41–54. Bonn: Rudolf Habelt.

Saev, I. 2015. Gefäßkeramik: Funktion, Form, Habitus. Universitätsforschungen zur prähistorischen Archäologie 269. Bonn: Rudolf Habelt.

Schaefer-Di Maida, S., Laabs, J., Wunderlich, M., Hofmann, R., Piezonka, H., Kreuz, P.A., Sabnis, S., Brozio, J.P., Dickie, C. and Furholt, M. 2024. Scales of politocal practice and patterns of power relations in prehistory. In J. Müller, W. Kirleis and N. Taylor (eds), *Perspectives on socio-environmental transformations in ancient Europe*, 257–339. New York: Springer.

Schiesberg, S. 2012. Bevölkerungsdichten und Populationsgrößen in der Trichterbecherzeit. Eine hermeneutische Diskussion. In M. Hinz and J. Müller (eds), Siedlung, Grabenwerk, Großsteingrab: Studien zu Gesellschaft, Wirtschaft und Umwelt der Trichterbechergruppen im nördlichen Mitteleuropa. Frühe Monumentalität und soziale Differenzierung 2, 121–41. Bonn: Rudolf Habelt.

Schirrmacher, J., Feeser, I., Filipović, D., Stika, H.-P., Oelbüttel, M. and Kirleis, W. 2024. Cereal agriculture in prehistoric north-central Europe and southeast Iberia: changes and continuities as potential adaptations to climate. In J. Müller, W. Kirleis and N. Taylor (eds), *Perspectives on socio-environmental transformations in ancient Europe*, 143–74. New York: Springer.

Schmölcke, U. 2001. Wangels MN V – erste Auswertung der Tierknochenfunde von einem ungewöhnlichen Fundplatz der Trichterbecherkultur in Ostholstein. *Beiträge zur Archäozoologischen und Prähistorischen Anthropologie* 3, 44–49.

Schultrich, S. 2019. Das Jungneolithikum in Schleswig-Holstein. Scales of Transformation in Prehistoric and Archaic Societies 1. Leiden: Sidestone Press. Shanks, M. and Tilley, C. 1982. Ideology, symbolic power and ritual communication: a reinterpretation of Neolithic mortuary practices. In I. Hodder (ed.), Symbolic and structural archaeology. New directions in archaeology, 129–54. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Shennan, S. and Edinborough, K. 2007. Prehistoric population history: from the Late Glacial to the Late Neolithic in central and northern Europe. *Journal of Archaeological Science* 34, 1339–45.

Shennan, S., Edinborough, K. and Kerig, T. 2017.
Demographische Modellbildung als ein Schlüssel zu Kulturkontakt und Kommunikation: Fallbeispiel Neolithisierung Zentral- und Nordwest-Europas.
In J. Pyzel and T. Link (eds), *Kulturkontakte und Kommunikation. Fokus Jungsteinzeit – Berichte der AG Neolithikum 5*, 33–47. Kerpen-Loogh: Welt und Erde.

Sigrist, C. 1967. Regulierte Anarchie: Untersuchungen zum Fehlen und zur Entstehung politischer Herrschaft in segmentären Gesellschaften Afrikas. Olten: Walter.

Sørensen, L. 2014. From hunter to farmer in northern Europe: migration and adaptation during the Neolithic and Bronze Age. Acta Archaeologica 85. Oxford: Wiley.

Souvatzi, S.G. 2008. A social archaeology of households in Neolithic Greece: an anthropological approach. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Steffens, J. 2005. Die Bedeutung der Jagd in der Trichterbecherkultur. *Journal of Neolithic Archaeology* 7, 1–12. DOI: 10.12766/jna.2005.14

Steffens, J. 2009. Die neolithischen Fundplätze von Rastorf, Kreis Plön. Eine Fallstudie zur Trichterbecherkultur im nördlichen Mitteleuropa am Beispiel eines Siedlungsraumes. Bonn: Rudolf Habelt.

Strahl, E. 1990. Das Endneolithikum im Elb-Weser-Dreieck. Veröffentlichungen der urgeschichtlichen Sammlungen des Landesmuseums zu Hannover 36. Hildesheim: Lax.

Szmyt, M. 2008. Baden patterns in the milieu of the Globular Amphorae: transformation, incorporation and long continuity. A case study from the Kujavian region, Polish Lowland. In M. Furholt, M. Szmyt and E. Schalk (eds), *The Baden complex and the outside world. Proceedings of the 12th annual meeting of the EAA in Cracow 19–24th September 2006*, 217–31. Bonn: Rudolf Habelt. Szmyt, M. 2017. Collective graves, flint axes, and cows. The people of Globular Amphora culture on the Vistula and Odra. In P. Urbańczyk and P. Wlodarcak (eds), The past societies 2. Polish lands from the first evidence of human presence to the Early Middle Ages, 5500–2000 BC, 211–73. Warsaw: Polish Academy of Sciences Publishing House.

Weber, J., Brozio, J.P., Müller, J. and Schwark, L. 2020. Grave gifts manifest the ritual status of cattle in Neolithic societies of northern Germany. *Journal of Archaeological Science* 117, 105122. DOI: 10.1016/j. jas.2020.105122

Wentink, K. 2020. *Stereotype: the role of grave sets in Corded Ware and Bell Beaker funerary practices*. Leiden: Sidestone Press.

Whitehouse, N.J., Schulting, R.J., McClatchie, M., Barratt, P., McLaughlin, T.R., Bogaard, A., Colledge, S., Marchant, R., Gaffrey, J. and Bunting, M.J. 2014. Neolithic agriculture on the European western frontier: the boom and bust of early farming in Ireland. *Journal of Archaeological Science* 51, 181–205.

Windler, A. 2017. From the Aegean Sea to the Parisian Basin: Spondylus shell exchange in Europe during the process of Neolithisation. In P. Eisenach, T. Stöllner and A. Windler (eds), *The RITaK Conferences 2013– 2014. Raw materials, innovation, technology of ancient cultures. RITaK 1. Veröffentlichungen aus dem Deutschen Bergbau-Museum Bochum 219*, 95–110. Rahden: Marie Leidorf.

Woidich, M. 2014. Die Westliche Kugelamphorenkultur: Untersuchungen zu ihrer raum-zeitlichen
Differenzierung, kulturellen und anthropologischen Identität. Berlin Studies of the Ancient World 24. Berlin: De Gruyter.

Wunderlich, M. 2019. Megalithic monuments and social structures: comparative studies on recent and Funnel Beaker societies. Scales of Transformation in Prehistoric and Archaic Societies 5. Leiden: Sidestone Press.

Zápotocký, M. 1992. Streitäxte des mitteleuropäischen Äneolithikums. Weinheim: VCH, Acta Humaniora.

Zich, B. 1999. Das Hügelgräberfeld von Flintbek nach zwanzig Ausgrabungsjahren. *Jahrbuch für das ehemalige Amt Bordesholm* 1, 7–58.

Global transformation?

Globular Amphora sedentary pastoralists 3200–2700 BC

Johannes Müller

Abstract

How, why and for what purpose did Globular Amphora communities (GAC) develop? A new study on this subject is available (Müller 2023a), some aspects of which are discussed here. Firstly, two spatially different Globular Amphora networks are reconstructed as communication spaces (Elbe in the west, Vistula–Podolia in the east); secondly, a common formation between the Middle Elbe and the Lower Vistula from c. 3200 BC is described; and thirdly, on the basis of palaeogenetic analyses, a causal separation from local Funnel Beaker (TRB) societies is highlighted. The foundation for this are the different ecological and economic orientations and the development of a new socio-cultural identity with, among other aspects, the monopolisation of the practice of cattle burials (from c. 3000 BC). This GAC separation is interpreted as a levelling mechanism that becomes effective in a phase of increased social differences within Funnel Beaker societies and leads to a type of sedentary pastoralism.

Keywords: prehistoric archaeology, Neolithic, globular amphorae, separation, hybridisation, transformation, sedentary pastoralism

Introduction and research questions

Around 3000 BC, social transformations become discernible in central and eastern Europe, involving both local and regional groups as well as socio-cultural phenomena developing supra-regionally for the first time in European history. Within these processes, which bring about a new structure in numerous societies, the Globular Amphora societies represent the first socio-cultural practice of a "new type" that is archaeologically visible beyond the region. In the following, we will first briefly consider the spatio-temporal constitution of this phenomenon as it emerges from the archaeological sources, in order to then pursue specific questions:

- 1. How and why did the Globular Amphora phenomenon arise?
- 2. What were the consequences of the Globular Amphora phenomenon for existing regional Neolithic societies?
- 3. How did the Globular Amphora phenomenon transform the processes taking place between the thirty-second and twenty-eighth centuries BC?

In D. Hofmann, D. Mischka and S. Scharl (eds) 2025. *The eve of destruction? Local groups and large-scale networks during the late fourth and early third millennium BC in central Europe*, 277–290. Leiden: Sidestone Press.



Figure 1. Globular Amphora communities occur in a wide variety of regions between the Baltic Sea and the north-west Pontic plateaus. In the west: the south-west Baltic (WBA), the Elbe-Saale-Havel region (EHA), the Middle-Elbe Saale region (MES), Hessen (HES), Bohemia (BOE), and Moravia (MOR); on the eastern European plain: Middle Noteć (NOT), Kujawy (KUJ), Chełmno Land (CHE), Podlasie on the Upper Narew (NAR), and sites on the upper reaches of the Neman (NEM); on the southern plateaus and the lower mountain ranges: Lower Silesia (SIL), Lesser Poland (LEP), and the Lublin Plateau (LUB); followed in the east by Volhynia (VOL), Podolia (POD), and the Moldavian plateau on the Siret (SIR). Some influences are visible even further east in the Dnieper area (FOR). The colours indicate geographical links, the dots sites from which fully reconstructed vessel shapes of the GAC are known (data: Müller 2023a, fig.1; drawing: Ralf Opitz and Johannes Müller).

Conceptually, we define "transformation" or "transformative practices" as episodes in which temporally accelerated processes of change arise from various events (Müller and Kirleis 2019). These lead to irreversible new structures and practices in the social (e.g. questions of the justification of power), cultural (e.g. the regulation of rites of passage such as funerals) or ecological spheres (e.g. the organisation of the subsistence economy in relation to the environment). Often, these are not only socio-cultural but socio-environmental interactions in which specific cultural landscapes are newly formed. Terminologically, we want to identify "societies" as groups that exhibit a comparable *habitus*. The latter becomes recognisable archaeologically through common practices that can be recorded, for example, through the use of specific ceramic objects with characteristic decorative motifs, or specific spatial structures of huts or houses (Bourdieu 1977; Kadrow and Müller 2019).

Basic patterns of Globular Amphora societies

"Globular amphorae" were defined at the end of the nineteenth century as a special vessel form and classified spatio-temporally for the first time (Götze 1900). Since then, numerous studies have documented the large-scale distribution of the "Globular Amphora" phenomenon (e.g. Beier 1988; 1991; Szmyt 1996; 1999; 2017; Wiślański 1966; Woidich 2014). Apart from the new shape of the globular amphora, there are often decorations comparable with older or contemporaneous



Figure 2. The 1st eigenvector of a Principal Component Analysis (PCA) of eigenvectors of the Correspondence Analysis (CA) for vessel types, decoration motifs and decoration techniques is used to illustrate the typological distances of GAC inventories (details in Müller 2023a). The GAC Elbe network and the GAC Vistula–Podolia network are visible. *Nackenkammäxte* or Krzemionki flint are two examples for the distribution pattern in the GAC Elbe and the Vistula–Podolia network (data: Müller 2023a, figs 65, 276; Schultrich 2022; Szymt 2017, fig. 22; drawing: Ralf Opitz and Johannes Müller).

groups of Funnel Beakers.¹ Globular amphorae are found from Podolia and Volyhnia in the east to the south-west Baltic in the west. Geographically, these are regions of the north central European lowlands, the northern low mountain zones and the western Pontic forest-steppe area (Figure 1). Globular amphorae are distributed over an area of 230,000 km², which contrasts with the "normal extent" of contemporaneous regional Neolithic groups (i.e. with a populated area of less than 10,000 km²; Wotzka 1997, 167 fig. 3).

Dissemination patterns and networks

Numerous spatial groupings of the large-scale Globular Amphora distribution area have been presented using

different methodological approaches (Beier 1991; Szmyt 2003; Wiślański 1964). They are partly the result of differences in regional research traditions, whose delimitation is also due to recent language and national borders. Therefore, in a new analysis c. 2000 globular amphorae for which the reconstruction of the entire vessel body is available were compared with each other with regard to vessel form, decoration technique and decoration motifs (Müller 2023a). With separate correspondence analyses for the three categories mentioned, similar spatial patterns emerged, which could be fully described in a summarising principal component analysis. Figure 2 shows the result with the eigenvector values of the dominant PCA eigenvector. We interpret the representation of spatial typological differences as indications of different communication networks. Patterns of decoration and vessel forms, but also techniques of decoration are the result of local practices of pottery

¹ In this context, there has recently been talk of so-called hybrid ceramics, for example in connection with regional central German Bernburg pottery (Woidich 2014).



Figure 3. Both local production and exchange of GAC ceramics took place within a radius of at most 50 km. This is exemplified by the distribution pattern of the production groups L1 (volcanic trachyte "Leuchtenburg rock", "Großobringen"), L4 (kaolinised orthoclase with quartz inclusions, "Derenburg") and M (quartz porphyry outcrops or outcropping monzonitic rocks, "Meissen") (Lehmann 2000, 105 fig. 33, suppl. 16). In the case of magmatic materials, volcanic rock fragments, kaolinised orthoclase with quartz inclusions and metamorphic gneiss fragments are primarily used for GAC ceramics of the West Group. Key: a) E907 Pevestorf 19; b) E894 Schinne 1 (after Müller 2023a, figs 227–28; drawing: Ralf Opitz and Johannes Müller).

production, where learning traditions reflect the local environment and thus the *habitus*.

The distribution in the west, in the area of the Elbe catchment, is separate from the eastern distribution area, which reaches from the Lower Vistula to Podolia. The spatial coherence of the Elbe Group, but also of various areas of the Vistula–Podolia Group, can be interpreted as an indication of relatively closed and separate communication networks with different economic, cultural and social practices for which the ceramic objects were produced. Within the Elbe Group, eigenvector value differences between the Upper Elbe (especially Bohemia and Saxony), the Middle Elbe-Saale-Havel region and the south-west Baltic region indicate a north–south internal differentiation. In contrast to the uniform and delineated spatial structure of the Elbe network, the Vistula–Podolia network is divided into several larger sub-areas. We observe a focal point in the area of the Lower Vistula river bend, which is closely connected to the middle course of the Vistula (Kujawy and Chełmno region). The Vistula Group is connected with the other focal point, which is recognisable in the area of the Volhynian-Podolian plateau. The Siret Group is located a little apart, further south on the Moldavian plateau (Müller 2023a).

Apart from many typological similarities, there are differences between, for example, globular amphorae with primarily round bases in the Elbe network and those with primarily flat bases in the Vistula–Podolia network. Frequencies of decoration techniques (e.g. arch/angle incision versus cord technique) or decoration patterns (e.g. angle bands versus wave patterns) also differed. The Elbe and Vistula–Podolia networks can also be traced in non-ceramic find categories. For example,



Figure 4. Relative population density in central Europe. In comparison with more general population calculations, the GAC values are at the lower end of those of prehistoric agrarian societies (Müller 2013, fig. 4; Zimmermann 2012, 252 fig. 1. Drawing: Ralf Opitz and Johannes Müller).

Krzemionki flint was exchanged in the eastern network, *Nackenkammäxte* (neck comb axes) with an oval shaft hole primarily in the west (Figure 2) (Balcer 1983; Balcer and Kowalski 1978; Schultrich 2022; Szmyt 2017).

The results of chemical-mineralogical ceramic analysis allow the reconstruction of the spatial size of production and distribution areas. All available studies currently prove that in no case was pottery transported further than about 50 km (Lehmann 2000; Müller 2023a). Thus, characteristic magmatic materials, for instance the porphyry from quartz porphyry outcrops or from outcropping monzonitic rocks near Meissen, the volcanic trachyte ("Leuchtenburg rock") from the area of Großobringen or the kaolinised orthoclase with guartz inclusions from the north Harz, are restricted to distances of at most two days' walk (Figure 3). The reconstruction of possible herding areas of Zauschwitz cattle in the east Harz region also corresponds to this spatial scale. For both cattle and humans, a certain, possibly seasonal mobility can be traced by strontium and oxygen isotope analyses. According to the current state of the baselines, the eastern Harz foreland could be considered the place of origin, for example, of two cattle. The variability in highresolution isotopic signatures also argues for the mobility of humans in a corresponding radius of possibly 50 km (Gerling 2015, 230-41).

Accordingly, we conclude that the regional range of movement of both the people using globular amphorae and the animals they herd does not normally exceed this spatial scale. As we know from different ethnographic and archaeological examples, intercommunication between such microregional units can quickly lead to large-scale similarities in lifestyle and artefact design (see papers in Heitz and Stapfer 2017).

Settlement remains from only 41 excavated domestic sites suggest relatively small sizes of probably 5-15 inhabitants for Globular Amphora communities (Müller 2023a). If we extrapolate the GAC site numbers of particularly well documented areas (e.g. Potsdamer Land, Brandenburg; Osłonki microregion, Kujawy; Bachorzy/Zglowiiacky, Kujawy; Chomiasko-Wolicka microregion, Kujawy, see Beran and Richter 2014; Grygiel 2013; Nowaczyk 2017, 73 fig. 5; Rybicka 1995, 28-29 fig. 5. and tab. 4), a population density of about 0.5-0.8 P/km² can probably be assumed for the Globular Amphora areas, which corresponds to about 130,000 to 210,000 people. This lies at the lower end of the population densities that have been calculated for agrarian groups (Figure 4). Nevertheless, this gives us an approximate basic figure of how many people participated in the GAC networks mentioned above.

Chronology: emergence and regional developments

In a supra-regional consideration of the "Globular Amphora" phenomenon, the terminological differences between the regional chronological systems have to be taken into account. In some cases, the term "GAC" is used for phases that do not include globular amphorae and only display some ceramic typological similarities to GAC pottery. In contrast, we define Globular Amphora phases as those in which the globular amphora vessel type occurs.



Figure 5. The comparison of Bayesian-modelled ¹⁴C dates of individual sites, regional developments and supra-regional tendencies describes the emergence, duration and renewed disappearance of the classic GAC (Müller 2023a). ¹⁴C-dated phases and assemblages with globular amphorae are marked in colour, ¹⁴C-dated phases and assemblages without globular amphorae are not coloured. Blue: GAC Elbe network; other colours: Vistula–Podolia network. The slight colouring of the background displays the ¹⁴C wiggle distribution in the calibration curve (mainly blue and light: steep parts of the curve, mainly greenish: flat parts). Uncertain dates (high standard deviation/possible reservoir effects) are marked in grey (data: Müller 2023a, fig. 165; drawing: Ralf Opitz and Johannes Müller).

In a new study, Bayesian modelling of ¹⁴C dates relating to local, but also regional units was carried out accordingly. In a further step, individual dates were mapped across Europe (Müller 2023a). The comparison of the inventories is shown in Figure 5. Apart from some uncertainties in the Moldovan data, the following can be stated:

- The Globular Amphora phenomenon with classic globular amphorae is recognisable from c. 3200/3100 calBC in an area between the Middle Elbe and the bend of the Vistula.
- Classic globular amphorae spread quite rapidly around 3000 calBC in the southern area of the Elbe network and from 2950 calBC in the south-eastern area of the Vistula–Podolia network.
- The last classic globular amphorae are found in numerous areas at the latest around 2700 calBC. Only between Kujawy and Podolia are they known until c. 2500/2400 calBC.

The results (Figure 6) can be interpreted in different ways. From a cultural-historical point of view, the earlier idea of the inter-regional emergence of Globular Amphora practices between the Elbe and the Vistula is likely to be confirmed (e.g. Beier 1991; Wiślański 1964). Furthermore, it becomes clear that an "afterlife" of Globular Amphora practices is noticeable in the eastern regions, where an exchange with Yamnaya practices is visible (e.g. in the form of globular amphorae in Yamnaya graves or of the use of ochre in GAC graves; Szmyt 2000). This especially happens at a time when GAC practices are already a thing of the past in most regions.²

In many regions, globular amphorae exist simultaneously with other, especially TRB regional groups. The Middle Elbe-Saale area with Bernburg and GAC domestic sites has often been studied and discussed (Müller 2023b). While the GAC settlements tend to have

² This contradicts ideas that the large-scale GAC phenomenon played a special role in the spread of Yamanya practices in central and northern Europe.



Figure 6. Spatial distribution of GAC ¹⁴C dates: calibrated median ¹⁴C-values indicated within the different calibration ranges of the calibration curve (after Müller 2023a, fig. 168; drawing: Ralf Opitz and Johannes Müller).

a strong orientation towards more fluvial lowland regions with a site distribution in the eastern area close to the Elbe and Mulde, Bernburg settlements are more oriented towards the circum-Hercynian loess areas close to the water (e.g. Beier 1988, 44; Ostritz 2000, 53–57; Woidich 2014, 94–95). This difference leads to statistically significant differences with regard to certain ecological factors: soil quality, orientation towards the water and also altitude above sea level (Figure 7). GAC graves, in contrast, are distributed throughout the entire area. There are also fortified settlements in which Globular Amphora pottery occurs in addition to Bernburg pottery.

A new chronological study, based on ornamental motifs and Bayesian modelling of calibrated ¹⁴C dates, suggests a typo-chronological development in which the use of common ornamentation between Bernburg and Globular Amphora ceramics can be detected over at least two of the four GAC phases (Figure 8).³ While, on the one hand, the simultaneous existence of different ceramic styles (and also, for example, of burial practices) is clear, on the other hand we recognise a hybridisation of different groups (Woidich 2014). The extent to which it plays a role that different groups practised aspects of a more pastoral or a more agrarian-oriented economy will be clarified below.

The example of the Middle Elbe-Saale region sheds light on the structural process of regional differentiation, which can also be seen in other regions. Overall, after a common emergence, the new GAC practices in the Middle Elbe and Lower Vistula area indicate a diversification that more strongly reflects the difference of the two supra-regional GAC networks described (Müller 2023a) (Figure 9).

³ The results correspond to an earlier chronological study (Müller 2001). There is no contradiction to the chronological study by Woidich (2014). While Woidich's basis is a differentiation according to decoration techniques, decorative motifs are used here.



Figure 7. Domestic sites with Bernburg pottery, and settlement sites and graves with purely Globular Amphora material (after Müller 2023a, fig. 202; Woidich 2014, 203 fig. 67; drawing: Ralf Opitz and Johannes Müller).



Figure 8. Middle Elbe-Saale region, development of the Globular Amphora and the Bernburg style (GAC A–D; Bernburg 1–3). The colour correspondences between the Globular Amphora, the Bernburg and the Salzmünde styles describe the similarities in decoration design, those between the Bernburg and the Salzmünde similarities in vessel types. The flowing colour changes mark the smooth typological transitions (after Müller 2023a, fig. 198; drawing: Ralf Opitz and Johannes Müller).



Figure 9. The interpretation of GAC development. cGAC indicates "classic GAC", i.e. phases and assemblages in which globular amphorae are present (drawing: Johannes Müller).

Figure 10. Scatterplot of ¹⁵N/¹³C isotopes for Bernburg and other societies, showing values from western German gallery and chamber graves, the cemetery at Ostorf and the TRB North Group. Bernburg values are from Benzingerode and Hundisburg-Olbetal; Salzmünde and GAC graves are from Lesser Poland and Zauschwitz. Clearly recognisable are the Bernburg, Salzmünde and GAC graves grouped in the main agrarian area (after Müller 2023a, fig. 201: drawing: Ralf Opitz and Johannes Müller).

Genetic continuity, kinship and families

The palaeogenetic studies published so far on 42 individuals directly associated with GAC range from Bohemia to western Ukraine and represent a large part of the GAC distribution (Müller 2023a). The comparison with central European predecessor societies proves "genetic continuity": GAC individuals basically do not differ from the preceding and contemporaneous farming societies. The high WHG proportion of 25 % on average, which seems to be typical for GAC individuals, is striking. However, a comparably high proportion is also known in analysed individuals of the western Wartberg group, the Řivnáč group⁴ or also from isolated individuals of the TRB groups (Immel *et al.* 2021; Papac *et al.* 2021). In the western Ukrainian region, analyses of direct predecessor groups are lacking — but the analyses from Vertebra cave seem to indicate that the WHG proportion may have been much lower regionally. Thus, according to the current state of

⁴ In Bohemia, the individuals from Vliněvsi, crouched together in a former storage pit and labelled by Papac *et al.* (2021) as GACindividuals, might belong to the Řivnáč culture (Dobeš *et al.* 2022). The only diagnostic cup associated with the burials is a variation of a Řivnáč type. Accordingly, the discussed admixture differences between Řivnáč and GAC individuals need to be questioned critically.



Figure 11. The distribution of ¹⁴C-dated double cattle burials (median calibrated ¹⁴C values mapped) (after Müller 2023a, fig. 181; drawing: Ralf Opitz and Johannes Müller).

research, western Ukraine is one of the few areas where GAC immigration and not local origin can be postulated on the basis of the palaeogenetic results.

Furthermore, the ¹⁵N/¹³C values do not reveal any significant differences between GAC and other local groups (Figure 10). The strontium values from the mass grave of Koszyce in Little Poland (Włodarczak *et al.* 2021) are also interpreted as reflecting local mobility within the range of approximately 50 km already mentioned above. Accordingly, we would argue for micro-regionally oriented economies.

Increasingly, kinship and family structures can be reconstructed. For the few examples where this is possible for Globular Amphora communities, the existence of nuclear families with the possibility of polygamy with patrilineality is indicated (summarised in Müller 2023a). This also corresponds to the known east-central European pattern. Tellingly, burials are organised according to biological kinship, which is not necessarily the case west of the GAC distribution area.⁵ As a consequence, we can look more specifically for arguments as to how and why GAC arose in central Europe.

"Cattelisation" and separation?

Micro-regionally, one of the striking differences between GAC distribution areas is the different localisation of settlement remains. Thus, in some areas we observe a strong spatial separation between lowlands (with globular amphorae) and TRB remains on black earth (e.g. central Germany, see Figure 7), or the additional occupation of the pastorally usable hinterland by Globular Amphora communities (Silesia, Kujawy). Here, the model of an economic separation between more arable and more pastorally oriented groups is suggested, which eventually leads to the formation of a new socio-cultural *habitus* that begins to distinguish itself from

⁵ For example, collective graves containing, with only a few exceptions, genetically unrelated individuals are known from Niedertiefenbach and Altendorf.


Figure 12. The changed practice of cattle burials. 1 Remlingen; 2 Derenburg; 3 Felchow 26; 4 Brzesc Kujawski 4; 5 Las Stocky H; 6 Plotha; 7 Zauschwitz; 8 Brzesc Kujawski 4; 9 Las Stocky G1; 10 Krasanaselky; 11 Niederwünsch; 12 Niederwünsch; 13 Kuczkowo 1-A136; 14 Zachow; 15 Zegotki 2 (after Müller 2023a, fig. 274; drawing: Ralf Opitz and Johannes Müller).

the agricultural groups that now become neighbours (Müller 2023a). While site distributions support such a model for GAC emergence, other arguments are of course also important.

As far as subsistence economy is concerned, the available isotopic analyses point to comparable food choices between GAC and non-GAC societies (Figure 10). However, ethnographically known symbioses between arable farmers and pastoralists show that in the case of mutual exchange of goods, diet does not necessarily have to differ (Amborn 1987). If we stay with the few analysed animal bone assemblages from GAC contexts, A. Kosko and M. Szmyt (2004) were already able to show for Kujawy that in contrast to the rather cattle-dominated TRB inventories, those of the GAC are characterised by a more balanced ratio of cattle, sheep/goat and pig. In central Germany, domestic sites with both Bernburg and GAC pottery also show a correspondingly more balanced ratio between the domestic animal species mentioned, while Bernburg settlements without globular amphorae show a cattle dominance (Höltkemeier 2020; Müller 2023a). The lack of systematic archaeobotanical analyses makes it difficult to assess the significance of plant cultivation for Globular Amphora communities. In principle, however, the isolated presence of querns in the Western Group and their larger numbers in Kujawy show that plant cultivation was important for GAC subsistence to a limited extent. In combination with the previous isotope results (see above), a broader subsistence base can therefore be assumed.

In contrast to the domestic sphere, however, the ritual sector is dominated by the worship or importance of cattle, especially of cattle teams. While we are able to archaeologically trace animal and cattle depositions, especially partial depositions, from c. 3700 calBC at the latest, the oldest radiometrically dated cattle double burials so far are from central Germany from c. 3350 calBC onwards (Figures 11-12). While in Niederwünsch or Profen such burials are still without GAC attributes, a ritual monopolisation of the practice of double cattle burials can be detected from c. 3000 calBC onwards in the entire Globular Amphora area. This is accompanied by the partial change and adaptation of votive offering places to animal depositions, where globular amphorae are integrated into an existing ritual practice (e.g. Zachow, Brandenburg; Müller 2023a).

It is striking that this monopolisation of double or multiple cattle burials by GAC groups obviously takes place throughout the entire GAC distribution area. For example, Nałęczów cattle and human graves in Lesser Poland and Lublin Land are a contemporaneous practice to that in the west.

In principle, a ritual monopolisation of an economically important aspect (cattle, wagons) indicates a process that creates identity. In fact, we can also recognise continuous changes and at least temporary monopolisations in other areas of material culture. Good examples are the GAC Nackenkammäxte with an oval shaft hole, which can be derived from TRB axes (Beran 2014), or the globular amphora vessels themselves, which can be derived from TRB amphorae.⁶ Added to this are the emerging economic changes that make GAC communities seem more place-based and economically appropriating, but arguably with an emphasis on livestock herding. Accordingly, we would want to postulate here — at least for some areas of central Europe — that sedentary pastoralists separate themselves from the more place-bound agrarian communities.⁷ This does not affect the strong regional differences between different Globular Amphora areas, which are due to the construction of supra-regional networks as well as economic adaptations to the locally and regionally very different environmental conditions.

Why and for what reason?

So far, we have descriptively reconstructed a historical process that began around 3200 BC in a sub-area of the TRB distribution and eventually led to the emergence of new, separate structures of a spatial, economic and ideological-ritual nature: the emergence of the supra-regional/"global" GAC phenomenon from 3000 BC at the latest. Why did this take place?

To answer this question, we should take a look at the preceding TRB societies. In various areas, we can see a centralisation of power, at least regarding the use of resources. This concerns a reduction in the number of megalithic tombs in northern Germany, as well as an increase of enclosures in central Germany. These processes, which have already been described several times (Müller 2001; Whittle 2018; Wunderlich 2019), are probably accompanied not only by an increase in social stratification but in the ritual sector also by an increase of weapons as grave goods, as opposed to items geared towards consumption (Müller 2011). The production of axes exclusively for the *rites de passage* to death also points to an increase in social tensions and insecurities. This probably crisis-like situation, which is amongst others also recognisable in the end of megalithic burial construction in northern Germany, is likely to coincide with a climatic deterioration. The shift of the North Atlantic Oscillation (NAO) towards the east obviously led to a shortening of the vegetation growth phase in the area between Kujawy and the Middle Elbe, which is also reflected in reforestation from about 3200 BC onwards (Dörfler *et al.* 2022; Grossmann *et al.* 2023).

In this phase of increasing social inequality on the one hand, and economic and political crisis on the other, separation processes such as those of the GAC from the TRB can be described as a possible (and also logical) consequence. In fact, we may be able to identify a social levelling mechanism in which, through separation, certain population groups develop new identities and, in the process, free themselves from the social grip of a more socially stratified society.⁸ This would explain the attractiveness of the "GAC" model, which spread across large areas of central and eastern Europe in just a few generations.

Newly invented stimulants or medicinal substances also prove how diverse and positive the new social grammar could be. For example, lipid analyses of globular amphorae from a megalithic tomb in northern Germany (Weber *et al.* 2020) show that, in addition to dairy products, valuable sea buckthorn oils were given to the dead on their journey — the world's oldest proof of sea buckthorn oils can be attributed to the Globular Amphora communities.

Overall, the transformation process, which lasted only a few generations, resulted in new, initially irreversible structures and practices in social (e.g. reduced social stratification), cultural (e.g. the emphasis on individuality) and ecological (e.g. a micro-regionally organised livestock economy) spheres. In many areas, a specific cultural landscape emerges with burial grounds as focal points and smaller settlements (Szmyt 2017), part of the GAC *habitus*. A large-scale transformation did take place and formed the basic communication routes and social trends for the coming centuries.

⁶ It is important to emphasise the continuity of the burial architecture of earth or stone cist graves for human burials, already known before.

⁷ The difference becomes apparent in the reconstructed circulation area of the GAC cattle from Zauschwitz (> 50 km) and the local livestock in the non-enclosed Bernburg settlement of Hundisburg-Olbetal (<5 km; Gerling 2015, 230–41; Winter-Schuh *et al.* 2018).

⁸ This is one of the main mechanisms of ethnogenesis proposed by Hu (2023, 381–85). I am indebted to D. Hofmann for this suggestion.

Acknowledgements

The research on which this paper is based was conducted and financed in the context of the Collaborative Research Centre 1266 "Scales of Transformation – Humanenvironmental Interaction in Prehistoric and Archaic Societies" of the German Research Foundation (DFG, project number 2901391021 – SFB 1266, Kiel University). Many thanks are extended to Ralf Opitz for graphical support and to Eileen Kücükkaraca for language editing (both Kiel University).

References

- Amborn, H. 1987. Differenzierung und Integration. Vergleichende Untersuchungen zu Spezialisten und Handwerkern in südostäthiopischen Agrargesellschaften. München: Trickster.
- Balcer, B. 1983. Wytwórczość narzędzi krzemiennych w neolicie ziem Polski. Wrocław: Academia.
- Balcer, B. and Kowalski, K. 1978. Z badan nad surowcem pasiastym w pradziehach. *Wiadomości Archeologiczne* 43, 127–45.
- Beier, H.-J. 1988. Die Kugelamphorenkultur im Mittelelbe-Saale-Gebiet und in der Altmark. Veröffentlichung des Landesmuseums für Vorgeschichte Halle 41. Berlin: Deutscher Verlag der Wissenschaften.
- Beier, H.-J. 1991. Zur Problematik der Genese der Kugelamphorenkultur. In D. Jankowska (ed.), *Die Trichterbecherkultur Teil II*, 33–42. Poznan: UAM Poznan.
- Beran, J. 2014. Nackenkammäxte und A-Äxte: eine Werkstatt – zwei Auftraggeber? In H.-J. Beier, R. Einicke and E. Biermann (eds), Varia Neolithica VIII, 21–30. Langenweißbach: Beier & Beran.
- Beran, J. and Richter, F. 2014. Landschaftsarchäologie am Rande der Großstadt. Gehöftstandorte der östlichen Trichterbecherkultur bei Potsdam-Nedlitz. Archäologie in Berlin und Brandenburg 2012, 32–36.
- Bourdieu, P. 1977. *Outline of a theory of practice.* Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Dobeš, M., Limburský, P., Papac, L., Velemínský, P. and Ernée, M. 2022. Objekt se třemi kostrovými pohřby z přelomu středního a mladšího eneolitu z Vliněvsi, okr. Mělník. Archeologie ve středních Čechách 26, 103–22.
- Dörfler, W., Feeser, I., Hildebrandt-Radke, I. and Rzodkiewicz, M. 2022. Environment and settlement — a multiproxy record of Holocene palaeoenvironmental development from lake Wonieść, Greater Poland. *Vegetation History and Archaeobotany* 32, 187–204.
- Gerling, C. 2015. *Prehistoric mobility and diet in the west Eurasian steppes 3500 to 300 BC*. Berlin: De Gruyter.
- Götze, A. 1900. Neolithische Studien. Zeitschrift für Ethnologie 32, 146–77.

- Grossmann, R., Weinelt, M. and Müller, J. 2023.
 Demographic dynamics between 5500 and 3500 calBP (3550–1550 BC) in selected study regions of central Europe and the role of regional climate influences. *PLoS One* 18, e0291956. DOI:10.1371/journal.
 pone.0291956
- Grygiel, R. 2013. Settlement of the Globular Amphora culture at Site 6 in Lekarzewice near Osłonki in Kuyavia (Poland). In S. Kadrow and P. Włodarczak (eds), Environment and subsistence — forty years after Janusz Kruk's "Settlement studies", 163–72. Rzeszów, Bonn: Institute of Archaeology UR, Rudolf Habelt.
- Heitz, C. and Stapfer, R. (eds) 2017. *Mobility and pottery production. Archaeological and anthropological perspectives*. Leiden: Sidestone Press.
- Höltkemeier, S. 2020. L'usage des ressources animales au Néolithique en Mittelelbe-Saale (Allemagne centrale): la faune des enceintes de Wallendorf «Hutberg» et Salzmünde «Schiepzig» dans leur contexte régional. Forschungsberichte des Landesmuseums für Vorgeschichte Halle 18. Halle: Landesmuseum für Vorgeschichte.
- Hu, D. 2013. Approaches to the archaeology of ethnogenesis: past and emergent perspectives. *Journal of Archaeological Research* 21, 371–402.
- Immel, A. [+22 others] and Krause-Kyora, B. 2021. Genome-wide study of a Neolithic Wartberg grave community reveals distinct HLA variation and hunter-gatherer ancestry. *Communications Biology* 2021, 113. DOI:10.1038/s42003-020-01627-4
- Kadrow, S. and Müller, J. 2019. Habitus? The social dimension of technology and transformation. In S. Kadrow and J. Müller (eds), *Habitus? The social dimension of technology and transformation*, 11–14. Leiden: Sidestone Press.
- Kosko, A. and Szmyt, M. 2004. Hodowla w systemach gospodarik na Nizu: IV-III tys. Przes Chr. In A. Kosko and M. Szmyt (eds), *Nomadyzm a pastoralizm w miedzyrezeczu Wisły i Dniepru (beikut, eneolit, epoka brazu). Archaeologia Bimaris 3*, 103–15. Poznan: Wydawnictwo Poznańskie.
- Lehmann, K. 2000. Chemisch-mineralogische Keramikanalysen zum Neolithikum im Mittelelbe-Saale-Gebiet. *Berichte der Römisch-Germanischen Kommission* 81, 41–128.
- Müller, J. 2001. Soziochronologische Studien zum Jung- und Spätneolithikum im Mittelelbe-Saale-Gebiet (4100– 2700 v. Chr.): eine sozialhistorische Interpretation prähistorischer Quellen. Vorgeschichtliche Forschungen 21. Rahden: Marie Leidorf.
- Müller, J. 2011. Rituelle Kooperation und rituelle Kollektivität: Zur Sozialstruktur der mittleren und jüngeren Trichterbecher-Nordgruppe (3500– 2800 v. Chr.). In S. Hansen and J. Müller (eds),

Sozialarchäologische Perspektiven: Gesellschaftlicher Wandel 5000–1500 v. Chr. zwischen Atlantik und Kaukasus (Tagung Kiel 2007), 139–52. Mainz: Philipp von Zabern.

- Müller, J. 2013. Demographic traces of technological innovation, social change and mobility: from 1 to 8 million Europeans (6000–2000 BCE). In
 S. Kadrow and P. Włodarczak (eds), *Environment* and subsistence — forty years after Janusz Kruk's "Settlement studies", 493–506. Rzeszów, Bonn: Institute of Archaeology UR. Rudolf Habelt.
- Müller, J. 2023a. Separation, hybridisation, and networks: Globular Amphora sedentary pastoralists c. 3200–2700 BCE. Scales of Transformation in Prehistoric and Archaic Societies. Leiden: Sidestone Press.
- Müller, J. 2023b. Uni-kulturell oder multi-kulturell?
 Zur Chronologie, Bedeutung und Rolle Bernburgs im mitteldeutschen Neolithikum. In H. Meller, A. Hille and B. Fritsch (eds), *Die Bernburger Kultur: Neue Funde, Befunde und Ideen*, 11–67. Halle: Landesmuseum für Vorgeschichte.
- Müller, J. and Kirleis, W. 2019. The concept of socioenvironmental transformations in prehistoric and archaic societies in the Holocene. *The Holocene* 29, 1517–30.
- Nowaczyk, S. 2017. Kontekst osadniczy grobowca megalitycznego kultury amfor kulistych. In S. Nowaczyk, L. Pospieszny and I. Sobkowiak-Tabaka (eds), *Megalityczny Grobowiec Kultury Amfor Kulistyh z Kierzkowa na Palukach*, 61–82. Biskupin: Muzeum Archeologicznego w Biskupinie.
- Ostritz, S. 2000. Untersuchungen zur Siedlungsplatzwahl im mitteldeutschen Neolithikum. Beiträge zur Ur- und Frühgeschichte Mitteleuropas 25. Langenweißbach: Beier & Beran.
- Papac, L. [+41 others] and Haak, W. 2021. Dynamic changes in genomic and social structures in third millennium BCE central Europe. *Science Advances* 7, 1–17. DOI:10.1126/sciadv.abi6941
- Rybicka, M. 1995. Przemiany kulturowe i osadnicze w III tys. przed Chr. na Kujawach. Kultura pucharów lejkowatych I amfor kulistych na Pagórach Radziejowskich. Biblioteka Muzeum Archeologicznego i Etnograficznego w Łodzi 28. Łodź: Muzeum Archeologiczne i Etnograficzne.
- Schultrich, S. 2022. Kriegerideal und Netzwerke: Die Doppeläxte West- und Mitteleuropas im Kontext der jung- bis endneolithischen Kulturentwicklung. Kiel: Kiel University. Accessible at: urn:nbn:de:gbv:8:3-2022-00374-5
- Szmyt, M. 1996. *Społeczności kultury amfor kulistych na Kujawach Wyd. 1.* Poznan: Poznan Uniwersytet im. Adama Mickiewicza.
- Szmyt, M. 1999. Between west and east. People of the Globular Amphora culture in eastern Europe:

2950–2350 BC. Baltic-Pontic-Studies 8. Poznan: Poznań Adam Mickiewicz University.

- Szymt, M. 2000. In the far reaches of two worlds. On the study of contacts between the societies of the Globular Amphora and Yamnaya cultures. In S. Kadrow and J. Machnik (eds), *A turning of ages*, 443–66. Krakow: Polish Academy of Sciences.
- Szmyt, M. 2003. Verbreitung und Kontakte der Kugelamphorenkultur: ein Blick auf die polykulturellen Peripherien. *Germania* 81, 401–42.
- Szmyt, M. 2017. Collective graves, flint axes, and cows. The people of Globular Amphora culture on the Vistula and Odra. In P. Wlodarcak (ed.), *The past societies 2: 5500–2000 BC*, 211–73. Warsaw: Institute of Archaeology and Ethnology, Polish Academy of Sciences.
- Weber, J., Brozio, J.P., Müller, J. and Schwark, L. 2020. Grave gifts manifest the ritual status of cattle in Neolithic societies of northern Germany. *Journal of Archaeological Science* 117, 105122. DOI:10.1016/j. jas.2020.105122
- Whittle, A. 2018. *The times of their lives: hunting history in the archaeology of Neolithic Europe.* Oxford: Oxbow Books.
- Winter-Schuh, C., Schmütz, K., Eberle, N. and Makarewicz, C. 2018. Restricted pasturing of domesticated cattle at a Late Neolithic settlement in central Germany. *Journal of Archaeological Science Reports* 22, 285–97.
- Wiślański, T. 1964. Aus den Studien über die Entstehung der Kugelamphorenkultur. *Archaeologia Polona* 7, 72–95.
- Wiślański, T. 1966. *Kultura amfor kulistych w Polsce północno-zachodniej*. Warszawa: Wad. Polskiej Akademia Nauk.
- Włodarczak, P., Szczepanek, A. and Przybyła, M.M. 2021. Grave of the Globular Amphora culture from Koszyce in the chronological perspective. *Baltic-Pontic Studies* 25, 189–219.
- Woidich, M. 2014. Die westliche Kugelamphorenkultur. Untersuchungen zur ihrer raumzeitlichen Differenzierung, kulturellen und anthropologischen Identität. Berlin: De Gruyter.
- Wotzka, H.-P. 1997. Maßstabsprobleme bei der ethnischen Deutung neolithischer "Kulturen". *Das Altertum* 43, 163–76.
- Wunderlich, M. 2019. Megalithic monuments and social structures. Comparative studies on recent and Funnel Beaker societies. Scales of Transformation in Prehistoric and Archaic Societies. Leiden: Sidestone Press.
- Zimmermann, A. 2012. Cultural cycles in central Europe during the Holocene. *Quaternary International* 274, 251–58.

Parallel societies

Evidence for the co-existence of Late Funnel Beaker West and Early Corded Ware communities

> Quentin P.J. Bourgeois, Erik J. Kroon and S. Louise Olerud

Abstract

In this paper we argue for a long overlap between Funnel Beaker West and Corded Ware societies in the Netherlands and north-western Germany. Using Bayesian modelling, we re-examine the available radiocarbon dates for Funnel Beaker West and Corded Ware. The models indicate an overlap of at least 175 years between c. 2900 and 2725 calBC. This overlap is supported by archaeological cases in which Corded Ware and Funnel Beaker funerary and depositional practices are found to be contemporaneous, to occur at the same locations, or to exhibit specific, similar practices. We further examine this overlap in Corded Ware and Funnel Beaker West practices in the funerary and depositional domain. We find a recurring pattern of distinction and exemption in these highly symbolic practices, which we suggest best fits a scenario in which Corded Ware and Funnel Beaker West groups exist in parallel throughout the first half of the third millennium BC, with only occasional interaction. The precise nature of the (lack of) interaction between Corded Ware and Funnel Beaker societies remains open to interpretation. However, we show that local patterns are key to the interpretation of the transition as a whole. The overreliance on culture historical narratives in aDNA studies is prone to underestimate this variability, because samples are only taken from clear Corded Ware or Funnel Beaker West contexts, and not from exceptional ones. Therefore, we argue that systematic, detailed studies of funerary and depositional practices are crucial for understanding events in the third millennium BC and beyond.

Keywords: Funnel Beaker West, Corded Ware, Bayesian modelling, funerary and depositional practices, third millennium BC

Introduction

The transition from Funnel Beaker West groups to Corded Ware groups in the northern Netherlands and adjacent parts of north-western Germany is often characterised as a rapid, disruptive process occurring no later than 2750 calBC. Corded Ware traditions would supplant Funnel Beaker West ones in a matter of decades (Lanting and Van der Plicht 2000, 67–68), causing changes in funerary rites, ceramic style and landscape (Van Gijn and Bakker 2005, 304–05). This notion of a "fast and furious" transition feeds



Figure 1. Overview of sites discussed in the text. 1 Leer-Westerhammerich; 2 Glimmer Es; 3 Annen-Holtkampen; 4 Zeijen; 5 Anlo-"Veekraal"; 6 Anlo; 7 Eext-Galgwanderveen; 8 Eext-Tumulus Visplas; 9 Eext-Bergakkers; 10 Eexterhalte; 11 Hijkerveld; 12 D32; 13 De Eese; 14 Visbek; 15 Emmeln 2; 16 Angelslo; 17 Emmen-Angelslo; 18 Noorbarge-Hoge Loo; 19 Noorbarge; 20 Kruidhaarsveld; 21 Dalen-Huidbergsveld; 22 Zandwerven; 23 Schokland-P14; 24 Dalfsen-Oosterdalfsen; 25 Hanzelijn-Oud; 26 Bedrijvenpark H2O; 27 Hattemerbroek; 28 Zeewijk-Oost; 29 Zeewijk; 30 Denekamp; 31 Vaassen; 32 Uddelermeer; 33 Baarn-De Drie Eiken; 34 Heek-Ammerter Mark; 35 Hazerwoude-Rijndijk Windturbinepark; 36 Heek-Averbeck; 37 Schöppingen-Haidberg; 38 Maarn-De Helm; 39 Gittrup; 40 Ede-Hotel Bosbeek; 41 Hunte 1; 42 Silvolde.

into broader narratives about the third millennium BC in Europe (Allentoft *et al.* 2015; Haak *et al.* 2015; Kristiansen *et al.* 2017; Olalde *et al.* 2018). Most recently, this characterisation was reiterated in archaeogenetic studies: a fast, disruptive transition is a perfect fit for a "massive migration" scenario (Kristiansen *et al.* 2017).

In this article, we present evidence against a rapid, disruptive transition between Funnel Beaker West and Corded Ware groups. The rapid transition scenario is anchored in problematic, culture historical views of Funnel Beaker West and Corded Ware, which the standard chronology for the area uncritically reproduces. We argue, on the basis of radiocarbon evidence and archaeological cases (Figure 1), that Funnel Beaker societies in the Netherlands and northwestern Germany coexist with Corded Ware groups for several centuries, but probably interact little during this period. Such a scenario is not uncommon, and is known for the transition between Funnel Beaker North and Corded Ware traditions in Denmark (Iversen 2016; 2020), as well as for the co-existence of Bernburg, Globular Amphora and Schönfeld groups in central Germany (Furholt 2003a; Müller 2001; Wetzel 1979), and Globular Amphora and Corded Ware material in Poland (Włodarczak 2009; 2017).

This paper contributes to the growing evidence for the existence of "parallel societies" in the third millennium BC. These parallel societies are direct continuations from various regional groups, such as the Funnel Beaker West. The existence of parallel societies could explain the otherwise puzzling resurgence of Neolithic genetic signatures in individuals from the Bell Beaker period onward (Olalde *et al.* 2018; Papac *et al.* 2021).

A word about archaeological cultures

Funnel Beaker West and Corded Ware groups are well-known parts of the culture historical framework for north-western Europe. This framework regards archaeologically defined groups of material culture as bounded entities. In turn, these entities were held to be directly representative of past ethnic groups. While this view has been rightly criticised, the relation between an archaeologically visible material culture and the social entities behind it remains one of the big challenges of archaeology (e.g. Eisenmann *et al.* 2018; Frieman and Hofmann 2019; Jones 2007).

Crucially, recent ancient DNA (hereafter aDNA) studies initially appeared to confirm the above connection by identifying mass migrations from the Pontic Caspian steppe with the emergence of the Corded Ware culture in Europe (Allentoft *et al.* 2015; Haak *et al.* 2015). This led to archaeologists criticising aDNA studies as harking back to culture historical notions (Booth 2019; Eisenmann *et al.* 2018; Heyd 2017). While this discussion far surpasses the scope of this article, we think it is important to emphasise three different observations before continuing.

Firstly, subsequent aDNA studies have continued to confirm the above results. In some cases, culture historical classifications and groups of people do overlap. Throughout Europe, individuals buried in a Corded Ware fashion have steppe ancestry to some extent, while this ancestry was absent in individuals from earlier periods (Egfjord *et al.* 2021; Knipper *et al.* 2017; Olalde *et al.* 2018; Papac *et al.* 2021; Scorrano *et al.* 2021). Therefore, the Corded Ware culture, as originally envisioned by culture historical approaches, indeed reflects a group of people who migrated from the Pontic Caspian steppe. Moreover, these people are genetically distinct from Funnel Beaker groups who have mixed Neolithic farming and western hunter-gatherer ancestry (Allentoft *et al.* 2015, 168; Haak *et al.* 2015, 208).

Secondly, despite the coinciding of genetic and archaeological classifications, there is no a priori relation between biological ancestry and cultural identity in archaeology or aDNA studies (see Booth 2019, 5–6). Indeed, recent aDNA studies show that people buried in a Corded Ware fashion are genetically heterogeneous (see Booth 2019, 11; Papac *et al.* 2021; Shriner 2018). Similarly, the material culture associated with Corded Ware groups varies throughout Europe (Furholt 2014; 2020). This regional variability could relate to the vast geographical scale of the Corded Ware phenomenon, but also to the influence of earlier groups who occupied these areas and interacted with Corded Ware migrants (Furholt 2020, 10–11).

Thirdly, and most importantly, the above situation implies that a return to archaeological questions is necessary. What processes cause the migration seen in genetics and the changes in material culture reflected in the archaeological record to coincide? How do migrants and native groups interact? Some scholars argue for violent clashes and/or diseases decimating the indigenous Neolithic populations (Rascovan et al. 2019; Rasmussen et al. 2015; Schroeder et al. 2019; Valtueña et al. 2017), while others argue for peaceful assimilation over time through exogamy (Knipper et al. 2017; Mittnik et al. 2019; Scorrano et al. 2021). The most recent aDNA studies have started to address these questions by tracking genetic diversity over time in small regions (Mittnik et al. 2019; Papac et al. 2021). These studies show that distinct genetic groups initially lived apart, but increasingly mixed over time in some parts of Europe.

The present paper applies a practice perspective to the transition between Funnel Beaker West and Corded Ware groups. We assume, on the basis of the above aDNA papers, that entities such as Funnel Beaker West and Corded Ware represent respectively indigenous and migrating groups living in the north-eastern part of the Netherlands and the north-western parts of Germany during the third millennium BC (Allentoft et al. 2015, 168; Haak et al. 2015, 208). While no individuals from Funnel Beaker West or Corded Ware contexts in the Netherlands have been sampled for aDNA, we expect their genetic profiles to be roughly similar to those elsewhere. As such, we distinguish Funnel Beaker West and Corded Ware groups or communities throughout this paper. This refers to the overall correlation between genetic ancestries, material culture and particular practices (Bourgeois and Kroon 2017). However, this does not imply that we consider these groups as strictly bounded, monothetic entities, nor that the prehistoric people(s) living in these areas actively self-identified with a Funnel Beaker West or Corded Ware group identity (Jones 2007).

The chronological question — radiocarbon evidence

The culture historical framework for the Netherlands and north-western Germany proposes a strict chronological separation between Funnel Beaker West and Corded Ware material culture. Corded Ware would immediately follow Funnel Beaker West around 2750 BC (Lanting and Van der Plicht 2000). This framework rests on ceramic typology which was anchored in absolute time through radiocarbon evidence later on.



Figure 2. Calibrated radiocarbon dates of Funnel Beaker West cremation burials associated with late Havelte pottery. 20 ranges, calibration using IntCal 2020 (Reimer et al. 2020) in OxCal 4.4 (Bronk Ramsey 2009). The majority of radiocarbon dates stem from cremated human remains and a few from charcoal fragments of the pyre remains. The grey vertical bar indicates the duration of the youngest Funnel Beaker West horizon according to the current chronology (Brindley 1986; 2022, 112). The calibrated radiocarbon dates do not concur with this range.

We argue that the initial typological distinction between Corded Ware and Funnel Beaker West ceramics distorted the radiocarbon evidence. The effort to construct a culture historical framework led archaeologists to frame the typological distinction between Funnel Beaker West and Corded Ware pottery as a chronological distinction. This framework was then imposed on the radiocarbon evidence (Lanting and Van der Plicht 2000). As a result, young Funnel Beaker West dates and old Corded Ware dates are systematically dismissed as contaminated or simply erroneous, because Funnel Beaker West and Corded Ware material must form a neat transition (Lanting and Van der Plicht 2000; but see Fokkens *et al.* 2016, 277–85 for a critical reassessment).

The strict temporal distinction between the Funnel Beaker West and Corded Ware groups does not hold up if we inspect the calibrated radiocarbon dates behind the chronology. For instance, several cremation burials¹ with ceramics from the youngest Funnel Beaker West horizon would fall between 2800 BC and 2750 BC according to ceramic typology (Brindley 2022, 112).

1 Note that the sandy soils of the Netherlands do not preserve skeletal remains, unless they have been burnt. This is therefore the only bone material available for radiocarbon dating.



Figure 3. Bayesian analysis of radiocarbon dates for a hypothesised rapid transition between the Funnel Beaker West and Corded Ware cultures. The individual radiocarbon dates have been left out for readability. This model places the transition between 2767 and 2696 calBC. However, the agreement between model and base data is low (see top left corner).

However, radiocarbon dates of the human remains in these burials fall well into the third millennium BC (Figure 2) (Kroon 2024). In other words, the youngest Funnel Beaker West burials date to a period for which the presence of Corded Ware pottery is widely attested in north-west Europe (Furholt 2003b).

These cremation burials and their respective dates cast doubt on the narrative which sees Funnel Beaker West and Corded Ware as successive entities. The mismatch between radiocarbon dates and the standard chronology can be explained in two ways. Firstly, the dates could indicate a chronological overlap between Corded Ware assemblages and the youngest phases of Funnel Beaker West. Secondly, the mismatch could be attributed to the presence of plateaus in the calibration curve for this timeframe (Furholt 2003a). Hypothetically, the dated Funnel Beaker West burials could fall in the earliest part of their calibrated range (for example 2800-2750 calBC), and all Corded Ware burials in the later parts. Below, we employ a Bayesian framework to determine the likelihood of both scenarios (Bronk Ramsey 2009).

We collected a total of 84 radiocarbon dates from Funnel Beaker West (n=57) and Corded Ware (n=27) contexts in the Netherlands and north-western Germany. All radiocarbon dates have direct associations with Corded Ware or Funnel Beaker West pottery and stem from burials or closed contexts with pottery (see Appendix 1). We calibrated these dates in OxCal 4.4 with the IntCal20 curve (Bronk Ramsey 2009; 2017; Reimer *et al.* 2020) and tested two possible models of the transition from Funnel Beaker West to Corded Ware in a Bayesian framework. All age ranges are calibrated at a 2σ confidence level. Model 1 represents the current chronological framework for Funnel Beaker West and Corded Ware material by placing both of these cultures in a sequence. In this sequence, the latter succeeds the former in a single event. In other words, *all* TRB dates *must* be older than *all* Corded Ware dates. Model 2 consists of the alternative scenario in which Funnel Beaker West and Corded Ware material can co-exist. This model calculates a likely start/end date of both. In both models we use Kernel Density Estimation (KDE) in combination with start/end date modelling to produce reliable estimates of the duration of both phases (Bronk Ramsey 2009; 2017). The Bayesian analysis subsequently determines the likelihood of either model given the available data.

The Bayesian analysis for model 1 (Figure 3) proposes a boundary date between Funnel Beaker West and Corded Ware at 2767–2696 calBC, which roughly concurs with the standard chronology (Lanting and Van der Plicht 2000). However, the model exhibits poor agreement between the proposed chronological sequence and the observational data (A_{model} = 28.4 %; Bronk Ramsey 2009, 356). In other words, there are too many radiocarbon dates for Funnel Beaker West material of which the calibrated age range is entirely younger than the calibrated age range of several Corded Ware samples. A rapid transition cannot be a likely explanation of the observed spread of radiocarbon dates. Therefore, this model should be rejected.

By contrast, the second model (Figure 4) does not impose a rapid transition between the Funnel Beaker West and Corded Ware phenomena, but simply calculates the most likely start and end dates for both on the basis of the available radiocarbon dates. This model allows for a potential overlap. The Bayesian analysis indicates



Figure 4. Bayesian analysis of radiocarbon dates for the Funnel Beaker West and Corded Ware cultures without an assumed, rigid boundary. The individual radiocarbon dates have been left out for readability. The Funnel Beaker West and Corded Ware cultures have been modelled as phases with independent boundaries (see key words on the left). The proposed start for the Funnel Beaker West culture is based on sparse data and should be ignored. The Bayesian analysis shows that the end date for the Funnel Beaker West culture post-dates the start date of the Corded Ware culture by almost two centuries. This model exhibits good fit with the observational data (cf. Figure 3).

that Funnel Beaker West material culture persists until 2724–2558 calBC, while Corded Ware traditions start around 3042–2900 calBC. Therefore, this model demonstrates a considerable overlap between the Funnel Beaker West and Corded Ware groups. The most conservative estimate for the duration of this overlap is c. 175 years, but a longer overlap is feasible. Contrary to model 1, the agreement between this model and the observed data is good ($A_{model} = 108.5$ %). As such, the radiocarbon evidence favours a long co-existence between Funnel Beaker West and Corded Ware societies in the Netherlands and north-western Germany.

The two models presented above demonstrate that it is far more likely that Funnel Beaker West and Corded Ware groups coexisted for a significant amount of time, than for one to have quickly supplanted the other. This quick transition scenario is simply untenable on the basis of the available radiocarbon dates. Therefore, we must envision a long period of cohabitation, lasting multiple centuries, between these two groups in the Netherlands and north-western Germany. In the next section, we show that this long period of cohabitation is evidenced in the archaeological record as well.

Archaeological evidence for the contemporaneity of Funnel Beaker West and Corded Ware groups

The focus of our argument is funerary and depositional practice. Generally, Funnel Beaker West and Corded Ware groups exhibit distinct practices in these highly symbolic contexts (see Bourgeois and Kroon 2017; Fontijn 2019 for a characterisation of these practices). However, several cases demonstrate that these distinct practices can on occasion spill over from one into the other, indicating contemporaneity, but also an intimate familiarity related to depositional and funerary practices. Therefore, we argue that this pattern of largely distinct, but on occasion identical practices supports a parallel existence of Corded Ware and Funnel Beaker West communities with only occasional interaction.

Funerary rites

The traditional contrast between Funnel Beaker West and Corded Ware traditions revolves around funerary practices. Funnel Beaker West practices involve communal burials in megalithic tombs, as well as individual burials in flat graves. These flat graves are often part of extensive



Figure 5. Funnel Beaker West burial no. 13 at the Dalfsen-Oosterdalfsen flat grave cemetery. Left: unedited photograph of the burial. Right: line drawing indicating the corpse silhouette (1); an undecorated bowl (2); and the strike-a-light comprising a marcasite ball and three flint flakes (3). The body is placed in a left-flexed position (head NE, facing SW) with the grave goods placed in front of the body (Van der Velde *et al.* 2022, 50–52). The excavators draw a parallel between such practices and those observed in Corded Ware burials (Van der Velde and Raemaekers 2022, 20). Image: Van der Velde 2022, fig. 9.1; image used with permission.

cemeteries (see Lanting and Brindley 2004, 92 for an overview). The most recently excavated example of such a flat grave cemetery is Dalfsen-Oosterdalfsen (Van der Velde *et al.* 2022). This site illustrates the systematic nature of Funnel Beaker West funerary practice. Dalfsen-Oosterdalfsen encompasses over a hundred Late Funnel Beaker West graves. The deceased individuals in these graves are interred in crouched positions, and the burials are furnished with pottery, flint and stone axes as grave goods (Figure 5) (Bouma and Van der Velde 2022, 34–35, 43–44).

Apart from flat grave cemeteries, Late Funnel Beaker West burials are also found in megalithic tombs. The construction of these monuments probably occurred during earlier Funnel Beaker West phases, but most megalithic tombs also show continued deposition of ceramic vessels, likely as grave goods for deceased individuals, into the later stages of the Funnel Beaker West culture (Bakker 1992; Van Gijn and Bakker 2005). Unfortunately, bone preservation inside megaliths is poor, and little to no unburnt skeletal remains are known from these tombs in the Netherlands.

Corded Ware funerary rituals in the Netherlands also exhibit a distinct set of practices. Inhumations are common, usually graves below barrows or more rarely flat graves. These inhumation burials can form larger alignments across landscapes (Bourgeois 2013). Moreover, Corded Ware burials involve highly standardised grave goods: battle axes, flint blades, flint axes and beakers are most common (Wentink 2020, 226). Similarly, the positioning of the bodies and grave goods is highly standardised, as is the case across the whole Corded Ware distribution area (Bourgeois and Kroon 2017).

It is clear that both Late Funnel Beaker West and Corded Ware communities bury their dead in accordance with well-established, distinctive practices. Yet these practices do not always neatly correspond to the distinction between Funnel Beaker West and Corded Ware material. We illustrate this with examples from megalithic tombs, flat grave cemeteries and the use of fire in flat graves.

Code-switching Corded Ware

A first funerary practice that transcends the Funnel Beaker West/Corded Ware boundary is the continued use of megalithic tombs by Corded Ware groups. Recent studies of the inventories of these megaliths show that Corded Ware vessels occur systematically within them (Brindley and Lanting 1992, 107–08; Drenth 2012; Jager 1985, 239; Van der Velde *et al.* 2019, 20; Van der Waals 1964, 39). These Corded Ware ceramics in megaliths have all been characterised as later re-use, detached from the initial Funnel Beaker West use of these megaliths by several centuries. However, the similarity extends beyond mere inclusion of vessels in a megalithic tomb.

Funnel Beaker West ceramics in funerary contexts predominantly consist of beakers, bowls and larger vessels referred to as tureens, tureen-amphorae or amphorae (Brindley 2022, 142 for recent tallies of vessels in megaliths and flat grave cemeteries; Lanting and Brindley 2004). By contrast, Corded Ware funerary contexts in the Netherlands contain nearly exclusively beakers (Wentink 2020, 48, tab. 4.1). Crucially, the Corded Ware vessels deposited in megalithic tombs break with Corded



Figure 6. Map of the Funnel Beaker West flat grave cemetery at Dalfsen-Oosterdalfsen. The grey features are the Funnel Beaker West flat graves. Corded Ware and Bell Beaker burials (in orange) appear just north of the cemetery. A further cremation burial (burial 136) is situated at the far west end of the cemetery (left of the north arrow). The ¹⁴C dates of this burial fall into the third millennium calBC (Poz-88040: 4205±35 BP; Poz-88702: 4240±35 BP; Bouma and Van der Velde 2022, tab. 3.1). Image: Van der Velde 2022, fig. 9.1; image used with permission.

Ware conventions. J.A. Bakker (1992, 59) shows that the Corded Ware vessels in megalithic tombs involve higher frequencies of amphorae and large vessels, such as shortwave moulded wares, along with beakers. He suggests the difference to "ordinary" Corded Ware burials might relate to the status of the deceased. However, we argue that the choice of these larger vessels equally resonates with Funnel Beaker West practices, where similar vessels are included in funerary deposits. The similarity in types implies that whoever deposited these Corded Ware vessels in these megaliths knew what was the right pottery to include (Fontijn 2019): not beakers, but amphorae and short-wave moulded ware, items extremely rare in Corded Ware burials in the region. This indicates knowledge of and adherence to Funnel Beaker West practices in the deposition of this Corded Ware material.

Angelslo-Emmerhout: the curious case of flat grave 14

One of the most clear-cut cases of contemporaneity between Corded Ware and Funnel Beaker West groups stems from the site of Angelslo-Emmerhout. A largescale excavation of this site uncovered the remains of both Funnel Beaker West and Corded Ware burials, all of which are aligned on a single axis at least 400 m long (Arnoldussen and Scheele 2012). The best-known and most controversial of these burials is flat grave no. 14. It contains the remains of a cremated individual, along with partially heated and fragmented late Funnel Beaker West ceramics and a Corded Ware sherd (Bakker and Van der Waals 1973, 24-25; Waterbolk 1960). J.N. Lanting and J. van der Plicht in particular hotly contest that this is a closed context, insisting that the Corded Ware sherd must have been a later intrusion (Lanting and Van der Plicht 2000, 32, 66). However, the excavators explicitly mention that the upper part of the grave fill was homogeneous and did not show traces of disturbance (Bakker and Van der Waals 1973, 25). An additional argument presented by Lanting and Van der Plicht is that the Corded Ware sherd does not show signs of heating, while the Funnel Beaker West sherds do, again suggesting a later intrusion. However, the original excavators state that some Funnel Beaker West ceramics also lack signs of heating, and this was confirmed by later analysis (Drenth and Meurkens 2014, 303-04).

Whatever the case may be, charcoal fragments stemming from burnt branches within the pit were radiocarbon dated (GrN-5070, 4100±30 BP, calibrated 2864–2500 calBC), making this burial fully contemporaneous with the nine Corded Ware burials found in close proximity. In fact, one of these Corded Ware burials was also radiocarbon dated to the same time period (charcoal branches from the primary burial underneath Tumulus VIII; GrN-6644, 4160±30 BP, calibrated 2879–2631 calBC). The presence of these flat graves and burial mounds indicates that this area was in use as a burial ground by communities using Corded Ware pottery and Funnel Beaker West pottery at the same time. The lack of intercutting and the careful spacing of burials along a single axis also suggest adherence to the same rules of where the deceased would be buried.

Angelslo-Emmerhout is not the only case where both Funnel Beaker West and Corded Ware style burials occur closely together. For example, Corded Ware and Bell Beaker barrows occur in close proximity to the Funnel Beaker West flat grave cemeteries at Uddelermeer (Bakker 1979, 105, 194–96), Kruidhaarsveld (Bakker 1979, 31; Van Giffen 1937, 74-77; Waterbolk 1958, 12-13), and Dalfsen-Oosterdalfsen (Bouma and Van der Velde 2022, 62-63). In particular the latter case is intriguing. Here a large Funnel Beaker West flat grave cemetery was uncovered with more than a hundred burials placed along a coversand ridge. To the north of this cluster of Funnel Beaker West graves several Corded Ware and Bell Beaker burials were discovered. The contemporaneity of these burials is difficult to establish, as only a single grave was radiocarbon dated. This grave (number 135) was the only cremation burial amongst the Funnel Beaker West group of graves and was dated to c. 2900–2670 calBC (two dates are available from the same cremated remains: Poz-88040, 4205±35 BP and Poz-88702, 4240±35BP, calibrated c.2900-2670 calBC). This would make this grave contemporaneous to several Corded Ware burials that were also found here. Intriguing in this case is that the Corded Ware and Funnel Beaker West burials appear to be geographically separated from one another. The Corded Ware (and later Bell Beaker) burials are all located in an area 50 m to the north of the Funnel Beaker West cemetery (Figure 6), apparently respecting the confines of the latter (Bouma and Van der Velde 2022). This spacing of the burials, and contemporaneity with at least some of the Funnel Beaker West burials, suggests two distinct groups with different burial traditions respecting, but also opposing each other's funerary space.

These examples demonstrate that Corded Ware and Funnel Beaker West burials can appear as part of the same funerary space or — especially in the case of Dalfsen — just across the road from one another. Interestingly all these examples have been explained as mysterious continuities in practice (Arnoldussen and Scheele 2012, 157; Brindley and Lanting 1992, 135). However, an interpretation which sees Corded Ware and Late Funnel Beaker West communities as contemporaneous is a better explanation for these cases and is in fact better supported by the radiocarbon evidence.

And I bring you... fire

While there are interesting parallels between Funnel Beaker West and Corded Ware, as we described above, there is also a significant difference. The majority of Funnel Beaker West burials that can be reliably dated to the third millennium BC are cremation burials (Figure 2). Indeed, cremation was a key part of Late Funnel Beaker West burial rituals and potentially for Funnel Beaker communities in general (Blank 2021). These cremations do not only appear in flat graves, but also in megalithic tombs associated with Late Funnel Beaker West ceramics (Bakker 1992, 55, 93–94; Bakker and Van der Waals 1973, 27).

This practice of cremating the dead is extremely rare in Corded Ware contexts. There are only four known cases of Corded Ware cremation burials in the Netherlands: Baarn-De Drie Eiken (Drenth and Hogestijn 2014, 109; Wentink 2020, 135); Elderslo (Lanting 1973, 228); Vaassen (Drenth and Hogestijn 2014); and Zeijen "Jodenbergje" (Drenth and Hogestijn 2014, 108–09).

That is not to say that fire did not play a role in the funerary ritual of the Corded Ware. Indeed, there are many indications that the burial pit itself, or the wood used in the construction of a chamber, was set on fire prior to the inhumation (Wentink 2020, 202). This practice has been attested many times in the Netherlands through the regular presence of charcoal, burnt coffins and/or charred wooden structures in graves (e.g. Jager 1985, 211, 215–19, 229, 233) and may have been part of a broader practice across the Corded Ware sphere of rites (Nordqvist and Heyd 2020; Šebela 1999). Intriguingly, this practice is also well attested at the site of Dalfsen-Oosterdalfsen mentioned above, with eight Funnel Beaker West graves containing charred wooden coffins (Bouma and Van der Velde 2022, 40–41).

However, the importance of fire appears, generally speaking, greater in Funnel Beaker West rites when compared to Corded Ware ones. Cremation of deceased individuals returns more systematically with Bell Beaker groups, with 23 known cases of Bell Beaker cremations in the Netherlands, even if inhumations are more common (Hamburg et al. 2011, 258–60). As such, it would appear that the practice of cremating the dead makes a resurgence in Bell Beaker contexts. In the same vein, the inclusion of strike-a-lights in burials returns in Bell Beaker graves (Wentink 2020, 196); these were already a common artefact in Funnel Beaker West megaliths (Bakker 1979, 77). A similar point has been raised for flint arrowheads: common in Funnel Beaker West megalithic tombs, virtually absent in Corded Ware burials, and present again in Bell Beaker graves (Wentink 2020, 129-30).

Funnel Beaker West and Corded Ware burial traditions are distinct from a general point of view, with a small number of exceptions which blur the boundaries between the two. The apparent fusion between these distinct funerary practices in Bell Beaker contexts is highly relevant. We argue that the resurgence of Funnel Beaker funerary practices in Bell Beaker burials can best be explained through Funnel Beaker groups existing in parallel with Corded Ware societies throughout the first half of the third millennium BC. Such a resurgence is inexplicable if a fast, disruptive transition truncates Funnel Beaker societies around 2750 calBC, centuries before the first Bell Beaker groups. Moreover, the resurgence better fits patterns observed in recent aDNA studies (see discussion below).

Depositional practices

Selective deposition in Funnel Beaker West and Corded Ware societies follows a similar pattern of distinction and exemption as with funerary rites. We follow the definition of selective deposition by D. Fontijn (2002, 5–6; 2019, 26–29), who stresses that certain specific objects, with specific life biographies, are systematically deposited in specific places in the landscape.

Selective deposition is abundant in the Funnel Beaker West setting. In particular, there is a strong emphasis on axe depositions in both funerary contexts and wetlands. However, different types of axes were deposited in these contexts. Large, imported axes of flint, Alpine jade or copper in an unused state were deposited in wetlands. These items could be deposited alone or with items related to axe production: flint nodules, axe blanks and occasionally chisels. This depositional practice contrasts with the inclusion of small, heavily used flint axes in burials and megalithic tombs as grave goods (Van Gijn 2010, 131–34, 136; Visser 2021, 57; Wentink *et al.* 2011, 400–04). These practices were mutually exclusive: there are no large imported flint axes in megaliths, and there are no small used flint axes in wetland depositions.

Corded Ware selective deposition follows a different set of practices. Burials appear as the appropriate place to deposit objects, such as axes similar to those deposited in megalithic tombs. However, there is no distinction between local and imported objects: both appear together in funerary contexts, rather than in separate contexts as in the Funnel Beaker West case (Visser 2021, 58; Wentink *et al.* 2011, 405–06). Furthermore, in a few rare cases large imported axes are deposited in graves (Wentink 2020, 102–05), and not in wetlands as they would have been in a Funnel Beaker West context.

While Corded Ware and Funnel Beaker West groups clearly adhere to different depositional practices from a general point of view, there are exceptions which show these practices can occasionally spill over. Nine hoards of Corded Ware axes are known from landscape locations which are also the setting of Funnel Beaker West depositions. The axes involved differ from Funnel Beaker West axes commonly deposited in wetland contexts in that they are smaller, made of local flint, heavily used and sometimes accompanied by other flint tools such as scrapers or flint blades, but never by flint nodules or axe blanks (Visser 2021, 58; Wentink *et al.* 2011, 404–05). Corded Ware axes were also polished with soft material (e.g. hide/ leather, water and sand), rather than on a sandstone slab as is typical for the Funnel Beaker West axes (Van Gijn 2010, 144). In addition to the location, there is also overlap in the treatment of the deposited items: both Funnel Beaker West and Corded Ware axe depositions involve treatment of the cutting edge with ochre prior to deposition (Wentink *et al.* 2011, 404). This treatment hints at a deeper understanding of what was supposed to be done with these axes prior to deposition, distinct knowledge on what was the *right* treatment (Fontijn 2019; Wentink *et al.* 2011).

Similar to the use of fire in funerary rites, Funnel Beaker West depositional practices appear to make a return during the Bell Beaker period. In particular, copper axes are deposited in wet contexts, a practice which reaches enormous heights during the Bronze Age (Fontijn 2002). A clear separation between specific objects in specific contexts appears to have been re-established, along a similar vein and logic as the Funnel Beaker West depositions (Fontijn 2019).

In sum, depositional practices exhibit a pattern similar to what we see in funerary rites. Funnel Beaker West and Corded Ware practices are, on the whole, different. However, there are a number of exceptional cases in which Corded Ware finds appear to adhere to Funnel Beaker West depositional practices in terms of location and treatment with ochre. Given that wetland depositions imply loss of items beyond retrieval, such precise adherence must imply intimate familiarity with Funnel Beaker depositional practices. Moreover, both Bell Beaker and later Bronze Age depositions show that Funnel Beaker West depositional practices persist into later periods, seemingly uninterrupted. This pattern is a direct analogy to the pattern in funerary practices (see above), and is best interpreted as an indicator of parallel existence of Late Funnel Beaker West and Corded Ware communities with only marginal interaction until Bell Beaker times.

Broader perspective: final remarks

In this paper, we argue for a long overlap between Funnel Beaker West and Corded Ware societies in the Netherlands and north-western Germany. Such a parallel existence best fits the radiocarbon evidence for this period, as well as the archaeological evidence for funerary and depositional practices. A re-examination of the available radiocarbon dates for Funnel Beaker West and Corded Ware contexts with Bayesian modelling indicates that both societies overlap for at least 175 years between c. 2900 and 2725 calBC. This overlap is further supported by archaeological cases in which Corded Ware and Funnel Beaker funerary and depositional practices are found to be contemporaneous, occur at the same locations or exhibit similar distinct practices.

Funerary and depositional practices in both societies are otherwise distinct in these crucial, symbolic realms of human action. However, this pattern of distinction is subject to various exceptions. There are Corded Ware axes deposited in accordance with Funnel Beaker depositional practices, Funnel Beaker cremation burials with Corded Ware material culture, and Corded Ware pottery deposited in megaliths in accordance with Funnel Beaker West traditions, to name but a few exceptions.

This recurring pattern of distinction and exemption, combined with a resurgence of Funnel Beaker West practices during Bell Beaker times, best fits a scenario in which Corded Ware and Funnel Beaker West groups exist in parallel, with interactions being an exception throughout the first half of the third millennium BC. Only with the advent of the Bell Beaker period do we see a clear mixture of Funnel Beaker West and Corded Ware practices, both in the sphere of funerary rites and in selective deposition.

It must be stressed that such a parallel existence of Funnel Beaker West and Corded Ware groups is by no means unusual in a broader, European context. R. Iversen (2016; 2020) demonstrates that Funnel Beaker North and Corded Ware communities in Denmark follow a similar trajectory of parallel coexistence. This coexistence would lead to an elaborate "creolisation process" in which there is a continuation of Funnel Beaker North practices with Corded Ware material culture. Similarly, various European regions yield indications of parallel coexistence between older Neolithic societies and Corded Ware groups as distinct entities. Examples are the Bernburg, Globular Amphora and Schönfeld groups in central Germany (Furholt 2003a; Müller 2001; Wetzel 1979), as well as Globular Amphora settings in Poland (Włodarczak 2009; 2017; see also Müller this volume; Szmyt this volume) and the Vlaardingen culture closer to home (Beckerman 2015).

The widespread occurrence of parallel societies in the third millennium BC can explain the increased admixture of Neolithic ancestry in Bell Beaker compared to Corded Ware individuals, as observed in recent aDNA studies (Papac *et al.* 2021). This resurgence implies the existence of groups with initially minimal interbreeding, who over time became increasingly mixed. The evidence for the existence of distinct Corded Ware and Funnel Beaker West practices in funerary and depositional domains with minimal cross-over would fit such a scenario.

At the same time, the present paper is a cautionary tale for overreliance on culture historical narratives in aDNA studies. A sample design which focuses on the classical exponents of traditional archaeological cultures is prone to underestimate variability. This is particularly problematic when a funerary practice which involves cremation burials obscures the total genomic variability for a given region and period.

The precise nature of the (lack of) interaction between Corded Ware and Funnel Beaker societies remains open to interpretation (see Iversen 2020; Needham 2005 for discussions on possible scenarios). Crucially, these interpretations should not assume this process to be homogeneous for any given area. As this paper shows, minor, local exceptions relating to the choices of groups of mourners, or the practitioners of depositions, are key to the interpretation of the transition as a whole. This emphasises the importance of practices for understanding events in the third millennium BC and beyond. Systematic, detailed studies of funerary and depositional practices enable archaeologists to move beyond culture historical frameworks and to directly address the pivotal questions of the palaeogenetic revolution (Booth 2019).

References

- Allentoft, M.E [+64 others] and Willerslev, E. 2015. Population genomics of Bronze Age Eurasia. *Nature* 522, 167–72.
- Arnoldussen, S. and Scheele, E.E. 2012. The ancestors nearby. The domestic and funerary landscape of Angelslo-Emmerhout. In H.M. van der Velde, N.L. Jaspers, E. Drenth and H.B.G. Scholte Lubberink (eds), Van Graven in de Prehistorie En Dingen Die Voorbij Gaan. Studies Aangeboden Aan Eric Lohof Ter Gelegenheid van Zijn Pensionering in de Archeologie, 153–85. Leiden: Sidestone Press.
- Bakker, J.A. 1979. The TRB West group. Studies in the chronology and geography of the makers of hunebeds and Tiefstich pottery. Second edition. Leiden: Sidestone Press.
- Bakker, J.A. 1992. *The Dutch hunebedden: megalithic tombs* of the Funnel Beaker culture. Ann Arbor: International Monographs in Prehistory.
- Bakker, J.A. and Van der Waals, J.D. 1973. Cremations, collared flasks and a Corded Ware sherd in Dutch Final TRB contexts. In G. Daniel and P. Kjaerum (eds), *Megalithic graves and ritual: papers presented at the III Atlantic Colloquium, Moesgård 1969*, 17–50. Aarhus: Jutland Archaeological Society.
- Beckerman, S.M. 2015. Corded Ware coastal communities: using ceramic analysis to reconstruct third millennium BC societies in the Netherlands. Leiden: Sidestone Press.
- Blank, M. 2021. Burning the dead: human bones subjected to fire in southwestern Swedish megalithic graves. *Journal of Neolithic Archaeology* 23, 29–60. DOI:10.12766/jna.2021.2
- Booth, T.J. 2019. A stranger in a strange land: a perspective on archaeological responses to the palaeogenetic

revolution from an archaeologist working amongst palaeogeneticists. *World Archaeology* 51, 586–601.

- Bouma, N. and Van der Velde, H.M. 2022. Excavating a burial ground from the TRB period. In H.M. van der Velde, N. Bouma and D.C.M. Raemaekers (eds), Making a non-megalithic monument: a TRB burial ground at Dalfsen (The Netherlands), c. 3000–2750 cal.BC, 25–68. Leiden: Sidestone Press.
- Bourgeois, Q. 2013. Monuments on the horizon. The formation of the barrow landscape throughout the 3rd and 2nd millennium BC. Leiden: Sidestone Press.

Bourgeois, Q. and Kroon, E. 2017. The impact of male burials on the construction of Corded Ware identity: reconstructing networks of information in the 3rd millennium BC. *PLoS One* 12, e0185971. DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0185971

Brindley, A. 1986. The typochronology of TRB West Group pottery. *Palaeohistoria* 28, 93–132.

Brindley, A. 2022. Pottery. In H.M. van der Velde, N. Bouma and D.C.M. Raemaekers (eds), Making a nonmegalithic monument: a TRB burial ground at Dalfsen (The Netherlands), c. 3000–2750 cal.BC, 69–143. Leiden: Sidestone Press.

Brindley, A.L and Lanting, J.N. 1992. A re-assessment of the hunebedden O1, D30, D40: structures and finds. *Palaeohistoria* 33/34, 91–140.

Bronk Ramsey, C. 2009. Bayesian analysis of radiocarbon dates. *Radiocarbon* 51, 337–60.

Bronk Ramsey, C. 2017. Methods for summarizing radiocarbon datasets. *Radiocarbon* 59, 1809–33.

Drenth, E. 2012. A note on the re-use of hunebedden in the Netherlands during the Late Neolithic. In M. Furholt, M. Hinz and D. Mischka (eds), "As time goes by?" Monumentality, landscapes and the temporal perspective. Proceedings of the international workshop "Socio-environmental dynamics over the last 12,000 years: the creation of landscapes II (14th–18th March 2011)" in Kiel, 159–67. Bonn: Rudolf Habelt.

Drenth, E. and Hogestijn, J.H.W. 2014. A cremation grave with AOO pottery at Vaassen (Epe, prov. of Gelderland, NL). *Notae Praehistoricae* 34, 105–13.

Drenth, E. and Lanting, A.E. 1991. De chronologie van de Enkelgrafcultuur in Nederland: Enkele voorlopige opmerkingen. *Paleo-Aktueel* 2, 42–46.

Eckert, J.A. 1986. Ein mittel- und jungneolithischer Siedlungsplatz bei Nottuln, Kreis CoesfeId: Bericht über die Ausgrabungen 1983–1984. Ausgrabungen und Funde in Westfalen-Lippe 4, 39–63.

Egfjord, A.F.-H. [+11 others] and Allentoft, M.E. 2021. Genomic steppe ancestry in skeletons from the Neolithic Single Grave culture in Denmark. *PLoS One* 16, e0244872. DOI:10.1371/journal.pone.0244872

- Eisenmann, S. [+9 others] and Stockhammer, P.W. 2018. Reconciling material cultures in archaeology with genetic data: the nomenclature of clusters emerging from archaeogenomic analysis. *Scientific Reports* 8, 13003. DOI:10.1038/s41598-018-31123-z
- Finke, W. 1983. Ein Flachgräberfeld der Trichterbecher-Kultur in Heek, Kreis Borken: Vorbericht über die Ausgrabungen 1978–1981. *Ausgrabungen und Funde in Westfalen-Lippe* 1, 27–32.

Fokkens, H., Steffens, B. and Van As, S. 2016. Farmers, fishers, fowlers, hunters: knowledge generated by development-led archaeology in the Late Neolithic, the Early Bronze Age and the start of the Middle Bronze Age (2850–1500 cal BC) in the Netherlands. Nederlandse archeologische rapporten 53. Amersfoort: Rijksdienst voor het Cultureel Erfgoed.

Fontijn, D. 2002. Sacrificial landscapes: cultural biographies of persons, objects and "natural" places in the Bronze Age of the southern Netherlands, c. 2300–600 BC. Analecta Praehistorica Leidensia 33/34. Leiden: University of Leiden.

Fontijn, D. 2019. Economies of destruction: how the systematic destruction of valuables created value in Bronze Age Europe, c. 2300–500 BC. New York: Routledge.

Frieman, C.J. and Hofmann, D. 2019. Present pasts in the archaeology of genetics, identity, and migration in Europe: a critical essay. *World Archaeology* 51, 528–45.

Furholt, M. 2003a. Absolutchronologie und die Entstehung der Schnurkeramik. *Journal of Neolithic Archaeology* 5, 1–28. DOI:10.12766/jna.2003.7

Furholt, M. 2003b. Die absolutchronologische Datierung der Schnurkeramik in Mitteleuropa und Südskandinavien. Universitätsforschungen zur prähistorischen Archäologie 101. Bonn: Rudolf Habelt.

Furholt, M. 2014. Upending a "totality": re-evaluating Corded Ware variability in Late Neolithic Europe. *Proceedings of the Prehistoric Society* 80, 67–86.

Furholt, M. 2020. Social worlds and communities of practice: a polythetic culture model for 3rd millennium BC Europe in the light of current migration debates. *Préhistoires Méditerranéennes* 8. DOI: 10.4000/pm.2383

- Gerken, K. 2012. Fundchronik 2008–2009, Lavenstedt FstNr. 178, Gde. Selsingen. *Archäologische Berichte des Landkreises Rotenburg (Wümme)* 16, 238–46.
- Grootes, P.M. 2007. Ergebnisse der ¹⁴C-Datierungen. In R. Kossian (ed.), *Hunte 1. Ein mittel- bis spätneolithischer und frühbronzezeitlicher Siedlungsplatz am Dümmer, Ldkr. Diepholz (Niedersachsen): Die Ergebnisse der Ausgrabungen des Reichsamtes für Vorgeschichte in den Jahren 1938 bis 1940*, 541–43. Kerpen-Loogh: Welt und Erde.

Haak, W. [+31 others] and Alt, K.W. 2015. Massive migration from the steppe was a source for Indo-European languages in Europe. *Nature* 522, 207–11.

Hamburg, T., Lohof, E. and Quadflieg, B. 2011. Bronstijd opgespoord. Archeologisch onderzoek van prehistorische vindplaatsen op Bedrijvenpark H2O – plandeel Oldebroek (Provincie Gelderland). Leiden/ Amersfoort: Archol report 142 / ADC report 2627.

Harsema, O.H. 1977. Kroniek van opgravingen en vondsten in Drenthe in 1975. *Nieuwe Drentse Volksalmanak* 94, 251–57.

Heyd, V. 2017. Kossinna's smile. Antiquity 91, 348–59.

Iversen, R. 2016. Was there ever a Single Grave culture in eastern Denmark? Traditions and transformations in the 3rd millennium BC. In M. Furholt, R. Grossmann and M. Szmyt (eds), *Transitional landscapes? The 3rd millennium BC in Europe*, 159–70. Bonn: Rudolf Habelt.

Iversen, R. 2020. 65 years later... — a re-evaluation of the Store Valby phase (MN V) of the late Funnel Beaker North Group. *Journal of Neolithic Archaeology* 22, 119–36. DOI: 10.12766/jna.2020.4

Jager, S.W. 1985. A prehistoric route and ancient carttracks in the gemeente of Anloo (province of Drenthe). *Palaeohistoria* 27, 185–245.

Jones, S. 2007. Discourses of identity in the interpretation of the past. In T. Insoll (ed.), *The archaeology of identities*, 44–58. London: Routledge.

Knipper, C., Mittnik, A., Massy, K., Kociumaka, C., Kucukkalipci, I. and Maus, M. 2017. Female exogamy and gene pool diversification at the transition from the Final Neolithic to the Early Bronze Age in central Europe. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 114, 10083–88.

Kooi, P.B., Delger, G. and Klaassens, K. 1989. Vlakgraven en graffreuvels op het Huidbergsveld bij Dalen (Dr.). *Paleo-aktueel* 1, 40–44.

Kristiansen, K. [+10 others] and Willerslev, E. 2017. Retheorising mobility and the formation of culture and language among the Corded Ware culture in Europe. *Antiquity* 91, 334–47.

Kroon, E.J. 2024. Serial learners. Interactions between Funnel Beaker West and Corded Ware communities in the Netherlands during the third millennium BC from the perspective of ceramic technology. Leiden: Sidestone Press.

Lanting, J.N. 1973. Laat-Neolithicum en Vroege Bronstijd in Nederland en N.W.-Duitsland: continue ontwikkelingen. *Palaeohistoria* 15, 215–317.

Lanting, J.N. 1975. De hunebedden op de Glimmer Es (gem. Haren). *Groningse Volksalmanak* 1974–75, 167–80.

Lanting, J.N. and Brindley, A. 2004. The destroyed hunebed O2 and the adjacent TRB flat grave

cemetery at Mander (gem. Tubbergen, provincie Overijssel). *Palaeohistoria* 45/46, 59–94.

Lanting, J.N. and Van der Plicht, J. 2000. De ¹⁴C-chronologie van de Nederlandse pre- en protohistorie III: Neolithicum. *Palaeohistoria* 41/42, 1–110.

Lanting, J.N. and Van der Waals, J.D. 1971. Laatneolithische grafheuvels bij Vaassen en Maarsbergen. Oudheidkundige Mededelingen van het Rijksmuseum van Oudheden te Leiden 52, 93–127.

Menne, J. 2018. Keramik aus Megalithgräbern in Nordwestdeutschland: Interaktionen und Netzwerke der Trichterbecherwestgruppe. Bonn: Rudolf Habelt.

Mennenga, M. 2017. Zwischen Elbe und Ems: Die Siedlungen der Trichterbecherkultur in Nordwestdeutschland. Bonn: Rudolf Habelt.

Mittnik, A. [+22 others] and Krause, J. 2019. Kinshipbased social inequality in Bronze Age Europe. *Science* 366, 731–34.

Modderman, P.J.R. 1954. Grafheuvelonderzoek in Midden-Nederland. Berichten van de rijksdienst voor het oudheidkundig bodemonderzoek 5, 1–44.

Müller, J. 2001. Soziochronologische Studien zum Jung- und Spätneolithikum im Mittelelbe-Saale-Gebiet (4100–2700 v.Chr.): Eine sozialhistorische Interpretation prähistorischer Quellen. Vorgeschichtliche Forschungen Band 21. Rahden: Marie Leidorf.

Needham, S. 2005. Transforming Beaker culture in north-west Europe: processes of fusion and fission. *Proceedings of the Prehistoric Society* 71, 171–217.

Nordqvist, K. and Heyd, V. 2020. The forgotten child of the wider Corded Ware family: Russian Fatyanovo culture in context. *Proceedings of the Prehistoric Society* 86, 65–93.

Olalde, I. [+143 others] and Reich, D. 2018. The Beaker phenomenon and the genomic transformation of northwest Europe. *Nature* 555, 190–96.

Papac, L. [+41 others] and Haak, W. 2021. Dynamic changes in genomic and social structures in third millennium BCE central Europe. *Science Advances* 7, eabi6941. DOI:10.1126/sciadv.abi6941

Rascovan, N., Sjögren, K.-G., Kristiansen, K., Nielsen, R., Willerslev, E., Desnues, C. and Rasmussen, S. 2019. Emergence and spread of basal lineages of *Yersinia pestis* during the Neolithic decline. *Cell* 176, 295–305.

Rasmussen, S. [+29 others] and Willerslev, E. 2015. Early divergent strains of *Yersinia pestis* in Eurasia 5,000 years ago. *Cell* 163, 571–82.

Reimer, P.J. [+40 others] and Talamo, S. 2020. The IntCal20 northern hemisphere radiocarbon age calibration curve (0–55 cal kBP). *Radiocarbon* 62, 725–57.

Schroeder, H. [+21 others] and Allentoft, M.E. 2019. Unraveling ancestry, kinship, and violence in a Late Neolithic mass grave. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 166, 10705–10.

Scorrano, G., Yediay, F.E., Pinotti, T. and Kristiansen, K. 2021. The genetic and cultural impact of the steppe migration into Europe. *Annals of Human Biology* 48, 223–33.

Šebela, L. 1999. *The Corded Ware culture in Moravia and in the adjacent part of Silesia.* Brno: Archeologický ústav akademie věd České Republiky v Brně.

- Shriner, D. 2018. Re-analysis of whole genome sequence data from 279 ancient Eurasians reveals substantial ancestral heterogeneity. *Frontiers in Genetics* 9, 268. DOI:10.3389/fgene.2018.00268
- Smit, B.I. 2012. Landscape, geology and absolute dates. In B.I. Smit, O. Brinkkemper, J.P. Kleijne, R.C.G.M. Lauwerier and E.M., Theunissen (eds), A kaleidoscope of gathering at Keinsmerbrug (The Netherlands): Late Neolithic behavioural variability in a dynamic landscape, 15–21. Amersfoort: Cultural Heritage Agency of the Netherlands.
- Smit, B.I. 2014. Landscape, the formation of the site and ¹⁴C chronology. In E.M. Theunissen, O. Brinkkemper, R.C.G.M. Lauwerier, B.I. Smit, and I.M.M. van der Jagt (eds), *A mosaic of habitation at Zeewijk (The Netherlands): Late Neolithic behavioural variability in a dynamic landscape*, 27–38. Amersfoort: Cultural Heritage Agency of the Netherlands.

Valtueña, A.A. [+21 others] and Krause, J. 2017. The Stone Age plague and its persistence in Eurasia. *Current Biology* 27, 3683–91.

Van der Velde, H.M., Bouma, N. and Raemaekers, D.C.M. 2019. A monumental burial ground from the Funnel Beaker period at Oosterdalfsen (the Netherlands). In J. Müller, M. Hinz and M. Wunderlich (eds), Megaliths societies — landscapes. Early monumentality and social differentiation in Neolithic Europe. Proceedings of the international conference 16th–20th June 2015 in Kiel, 319–28. Bonn: Rudolf Habelt.

Van der Velde, H., Bouma, N. and Raemaekers, D.C.M. (eds) 2022. Making a Neolithic non-megalithic monument: a TRB burial ground at Dalfsen (The Netherlands), c. 3000–2750 cal.BC. Leiden: Sidestone Press. Van der Waals, J.D. 1964. *Prehistoric disc wheels in the Netherlands*. Groningen: Wolters.

Van Giffen, A.E. 1937. Twee grafvelden uit den hunebeddentijd- achtereenvolgens bekertijd in het Kruidhaarsveld bij Sleen, Gem. Sleen. *Nieuwe Drentsche Volksalmanak* 55, 74–77.

Van Gijn, A.E. 2010. Flint in focus. Lithic biographies in the Neolithic and Bronze Age. Leiden: Sidestone Press.

Van Gijn, A. and Bakker, J.A. 2005. Hunebedbouwers en steurvissers. Midden-Neolithicum B: trechterbekercultuur en Vlaardingen-groep. In L.P. Louwe Kooijmans, P.W. van den Broeke and A. van Gijn (eds), Nederland in de Prehistorie, 281–306. Amsterdam: Bert Bakker.

Visser, M. 2021. A completely normal practice. The emergence of selective metalwork deposition in Denmark, north-west Germany, and the Netherlands between 2350–1500 BC. Leiden: Sidestone Press.

Waterbolk, H.T. 1958. Neolithische vlakgraven in Drenthe. Nieuwe Drentsche Volksalmanak 78, 3–17.

Waterbolk, H.T. 1960. Preliminary report on the excavations at Anlo in 1957 and 1958. *Palaeohistoria* 8, 4–90.

Wentink, K. 2020. Stereotype. The role of grave sets in Corded Ware and Bell Beaker funerary practices. Leiden: Sidestone Press.

Wentink, K., Van Gijn, A.E. and Fontijn, D. 2011. Changing contexts, changing meanings: flint axes in Middle and Late Neolithic communities in the northern Netherlands. In V. Davis and M. Edmonds (eds), Stone Axe Studies III, 399–408. Oxford: Oxbow Books.

Wetzel, G. 1979. *Die Schönfelder Kultur*. Berlin: Deutscher Verlag der Wissenschaften.

Włodarczak, P. 2009. Radiocarbon and dendrochronological dates of the Corded Ware culture. *Radiocarbon* 51, 737–49.

Włodarczak, P. 2017. Battle-axes and beakers. The Final Eneolithic societies. In P. Urbańczyk (ed.), *The past* societies 2: 5500–2000 BC. Polish lands from the first evidence of human presence to the Early Middle Ages, 276–336. Warsaw: Sowa Sp. z o.o.

Appendix 1. List of Funnel Beaker culture and Corded Ware culture ¹⁴C dates and their archaeological context. FBC= Funnel Beaker culture; CW= Corded Ware culture.

Site	Lab code	Radiocar- bon age	Sigma	Arch. culture	Association	Material	Source
Heek-Averbeck F25	GrN-11763	4980	60	FBC	From infill of grave with ceramics	Charcoal	Brindley 1986, 105; Lanting and Van der Plicht 2000, 65
Gittrup F440	GrN-12262	4920	70	FBC	From infill of grave with ceramics	Charcoal	Brindley 1986, 105; Lanting and Van der Plicht 2000, 66
Heek-Averbeck F34	GrN-11765	4890	80	FBC	From infill of grave with ceramics	Charcoal	Brindley 1986, 105; Lanting and Van der Plicht 2000, 66
Heek-Ammerter Mark F32	GrN-16492	4700	40	FBC	From grave with ceramics	Charcoal	Lanting and Van der Plicht 2000, 65
Heek-Ammerter Mark F1052	GrN-16494	4680	60	FBC	From grave with ceramics	Charcoal	Lanting and Van der Plicht 2000, 65
Schokland-P14	UtC-1921	4630	70	FBC	On decorated sherd	Charred residue	Lanting and Van der Plicht 2000, 67
Slootdorp-Kreukelhof	GrA-102	4570	30	FBC	From a TRB camp	Charred plants	Lanting and Van der Plicht 2000, 67
Heek-Ammerter Mark F1444/85	GrN-17308	4565	65	FBC	From central post in a house associated with ceramics	Charcoal	Lanting and Van der Plicht 2000, 65
Odoorn-D32 "vlakgraf"	GrN-2221	4550	80	FBC	From pit with ceramics, associated with megalith	Charcoal	Lanting and Van der Plicht 2000, 65
Schöppingen-Haidberg	GrN-16040	4550	60	FBC	From multiple cremation burial with ceramics	Cremation (human bone)	Lanting and Van der Plicht 2000, 65
Lavenstedt Ks FL. F	ERL 14449	4537	44	FBC	From occupation layer	Charcoal	Gerken 2012, 245 as quoted in Mennenga 2017, 311
Heek-Averbeck F4	GrN-9202	4520	35	FBC	From grave fill with a finds concentration incl. ceramics	Charcoal	Finke 1983 as quoted in Brindley 1986, 105; Lanting and Van der Plicht 2000, 65
Gittrup F707	GrN-12263	4490	60	FBC	From grave with ceramics	Charcoal	Brindley 1986, 105
Heek-Averbeck F38a	GrN-11766	4480	60	FBC	From infill of grave with ceramics	Charcoal	Finke 1983 as quoted in Brindley 1986, 105; Lanting and Van der Plicht 2000, 65
Emmeln 2	Poz-64311	4470	35	FBC	Find from mega- lith with ceramics from multiple phases	Charcoal	Menne 2018, 32–33
Dalen-Huidbergsveld	GrN-18785	4460	80	FBC	From coffin in a grave which con- tained ceramics	Charcoal	Kooi <i>et al</i> . 1989 as quoted in Lanting and Van der Plicht 2000, 66
Visbek Flachgrab 1	Poz 71757	4460	40	FBC	From stone packing grave, with ceramics and flint among stone packing	Animal bone	Mennenga 2017, 153, 312
Emmeln 2	Poz-64310	4440	30	FBC	Find from mega- lith with ceramics from multiple phases	Charcoal	Menne 2018, 32-3
Anlo-"Veekraal"	GrN-1855	4420	55	CW	From coffin with ceramics inside	Charcoal	Jager 1985 nr 26; Lanting and Van der Plicht 2000, 74; Waterbolk 1960

Site	Lab code	Radiocar- bon age	Sigma	Arch. culture	Association	Material	Source
Angelslo settlement pit 5	GrN-4200	4415	65	FBC	From pit with ceramics	Charcoal	Bakker and Van der Waals 1973 as quoted in Brindley 1986, 105; Lanting and Van der Plicht 2000, 66
Anlo	GrN-1824C	4410	60	FBC	From pit with ceramics	Charcoal	Waterbolk 1960; Brindley 1986, 105; Lanting and Van der Plicht 2000, 66
Heek-Averbeck F27	GrN-11764	4400	60	FBC	From infill of grave with ceramics	Charcoal	Finke 1983 as quoted in Brindley 1986, 105; Lanting and Van der Plicht 2000, 65
Leer-Westerhammerich cremation 620	GrA-15642	4390	60	FBC	From burial with ceramics	Cremation (human bone)	Lanting and Van der Plicht 2000, 67
Uddelermeer	GrM-26730	4387	27	FBC	Cremation with ceramics	Cremation (human bone)	Kroon (unpublished)
Glimmer Es	GrN-6156	4380	40	FBC	Charcoal concentration, from possible wall structure of a pit; pit contains ceramics	Charcoal	Brindley 1986, 105; Lanting 1975 as quoted in Lanting and Van der Plicht 2000, 66
Angelslo settlement pit 5	GrN-4201	4380	75	FBC	From pit with ceramics	Charcoal	Bakker and Van der Waals 1973 as quoted in Brindley 1986, 105; Lanting and Van der Plicht 2000, 66
Hunte 1	KIA-23204	4348	30	FBC	From vessel	Charred residue	Grootes 2007, 541–43 as quoted in Hamburg <i>et al</i> . 2011, 281–83, footnotes 8–10
Hunte 1	KIA-23207	4331	29	FBC	From vessel	Charred residue	Grootes 2007, 541–43 as quoted in Hamburg <i>et al.</i> 2011, 281–83, footnotes 8–10
Emmeln 2	Poz-68248	4330	35	FBC	Find from mega- lith with ceramics from multiple phases	Human bone	Menne 2018, 32–33
Zandwerven	GrA-116	4320	60	CW	On sherd	Charred residue	Lanting and Van der Plicht 2000, 78
Angelslo settlement pit 7	GrN-5767	4315	60	FBC	From pit with ceramics	Charcoal	Bakker and Van der Waals 1973 as quoted in Brindley 1986, 105; Lanting and Van der Plicht 2000, 66
Noordbarge	GrA-15459	4290	60	FBC	From burial with ceramics	Cremation (human bone)	Lanting and Van der Plicht 2000, 67
Leer-Westerhammerich cremation 68	GrA-14973	4275	45	FBC	From unfurnished burial	Cremation (human bone)	Lanting and Van der Plicht 2000, 67
Leer-Westerhammerich cremation 581	GrA-14088	4270	40	FBC	From burial with ceramics	Cremation (human bone)	Lanting and Van der Plicht 2000, 67
Hattemerbroek, Bedrijventerrein Hattemerbroek-Zuid	GrA-41638	4260	35	FBC	From vessel	Charred residue	Hamburg <i>et al</i> . 2011, 120
Nottuln	GrN-12414	4240	60	FBC	From layer in upper fill of a Michelsberg ditch with FBC ceramics	Charcoal	Eckert 1986 as quoted in Brindley 1986, 105; Lanting and Van der Plicht 2000, 66
Dalfsen cremation grave 135	Poz-88702	4240	35	FBC	From burial	Cremation (human bone)	Bouma and Van der Velde 2022, 35
Leer-Westerhammerich	Hv-21411	4235	70	FBC	From burial with ceramics, associated with GrA-13706 and GrN-24682	Charcoal	Lanting and Van der Plicht 2000, 67
Leer-Westerhammerich cremation 580	GrA-14095	4235	40	FBC	From burial with axe	Cremation (human bone)	Lanting and Van der Plicht 2000, 67

Site	Lab code	Radiocar- bon age	Sigma	Arch. culture	Association	Material	Source
Emmen-Angelslo flat grave 14	GrA-16021	4230	60	FBC	From burial with ceramics	Cremation (human bone)	Lanting and Van der Plicht 2000, 66
Hattemerbroek, Bedrijventerrein Hattemerbroek-Zuid	GrA-41639	4230	35	FBC	From vessel	Charred residue	Hamburg <i>et al</i> . 2011, 120
Emmen-Angelslo flat grave 3	GrA-13958	4220	50	FBC	From burial with ceramics	Cremation (human bone)	Lanting and Van der Plicht 2000, 66
Emmeln 2	Poz-68249	4220	35	FBC	Find from mega- lith with ceramics from multiple phases	Human bone	Menne 2018, 32–3
Noordbarge-Hoge Loo	GrN-6724	4210	40	CW	Lower infill of a burial with battle axe	Charcoal	Lanting and Van der Plicht 2000, 75
Leer-Westerhammerich cremation 578h	GrA-14093	4205	40	FBC	From burial with multiple cremations and ceramics, associated with GrA-14086	Cremation (human bone)	Lanting and Van der Plicht 2000, 67
Dalfsen cremation grave 135	Poz-88040	4205	35	FBC	From burial	Cremation (human bone)	Bouma and Van der Velde 2022, 35
Emmen-Angelslo flat grave 1	GrA-13705	4200	50	FBC	Cremation with sherds in infill	Cremation (human bone)	Lanting and Van der Plicht 2000, 66
Leer-Westerhammerich cremation 585	GrA-14089	4190	35	FBC	From burial with ceramics	Cremation (human bone)	Lanting and Van der Plicht 2000, 67
Leer-Westerhammerich cremation 602	GrA-12394	4180	70	FBC	From burial with ceramics	Cremation (human bone)	Lanting and Van der Plicht 2000, 67
Leer-Westerhammerich cremation 578b	GrA-14086	4170	40	FBC	From burial with multiple cremations and ceramics, associated with GrA-14093	Cremation (human bone)	Lanting and Van der Plicht 2000, 67
Leer-Westerhammerich cremation 600	GrA-14168	4170	40	FBC	From burial with ceramics	Cremation (human bone)	Lanting and Van der Plicht 2000, 67
Leer-Westerhammerich cremation 604	GrA-13706	4170	50	FBC	From burial with ceramics, associated with Hv-21411 and GrN-24682	Cremation (human bone)	Lanting and Van der Plicht 2000, 67
Ede-Hotel Bosbeek	GrN-6129	4165	55	cw	From infill of grave furnished with a CW beaker, a flint blade and a facetted battle axe. Charcoal concentration especially in western end along the side of the grave pit	Charcoal	Modderman 1954, 41–44 as quoted in Lanting and Van der Plicht 2000, 75
Vaassen Tumulus III	GrN-6369	4165	40	cw	Charcoal concen- tration from infill of ditch around a disturbed grave furnished with a battle axe and a flint blade, and probably a CW beaker and a greenstone axe	Charred twigs	Lanting and Van der Waals 1971 as quoted in Lanting and Van der Plicht 2000, 75

Site	Lab code	Radiocar- bon age	Sigma	Arch. culture	Association	Material	Source
Annen-Holtkampen	GrN-11918	4165	30	CW	From infill of a grave furnished with a CW beaker. A ZZ beaker was found higher up in fill	Charcoal	Lanting and Van der Plicht 2000, 76
Emmen-Angelslo flat grave 4	GrA-13600	4160	50	FBC	From burial with ceramics	Cremation (human bone)	Lanting and Van der Plicht 2000, 66
Emmen-Angelslo	GrN-6644	4160	30	CW	From post in burial with ceramics	Charcoal	Drenth and Lanting 1991, 110 as quoted in Lanting and Van der Plicht 2000, 76
Leer-Westerhammerich	GrN-24682	4150	50	FBC	From burial with ceramics, associated with GrA-13706 and Hv-21411	Charcoal	Lanting and Van der Plicht 2000, 67
Angelslo flat grave 3	GrN-2370	4145	100	FBC	From cremation burial with ceramics	Charcoal	Bakker and Van der Waals 1973 as quoted in Brindley 1986, 105; Lanting and Van der Plicht 2000, 67
Eext - tumulus Visplas	GrN-6727	4145	30	CW	From post in feature surround- ing burial with ceramics	Charcoal	Lanting and Van der Plicht 2000, 75
Leer-Westerhammerich cremation 602	GrA-14169	4140	40	FBC	From burial with ceramics	Cremation (human bone)	Lanting and Van der Plicht 2000, 67
Leer-Westerhammerich cremation 203	GrA-14090	4140	40	FBC	From unfurnished burial	Cremation (human bone)	Lanting and Van der Plicht 2000, 67
Maarn-De Halm	GrN-7802	4140	50	CW	Charcoal concentration from ditch of a "beehive grave" furnished with a CW beaker, a flint axe, a flint blade and a battle axe	Charcoal	Lanting and Van der Plicht 2000, 75
Emmen-Angelslo flat grave 5	GrA-13599	4130	50	FBC	From burial with ceramics	Cremation (human bone)	Lanting and Van der Plicht 2000, 67
Keinsmerbrug	GrA-48396	4130	60	CW	From occupation layer	Charred grain	Smit 2012, 21 as quoted in Fokkens <i>et al</i> . 2016, 87
Angelslo flat grave 14	GrN-5070	4100	30	FBC	From cremation burial with ceramics	Charred sticks	Bakker and Van der Waals 1973 in Brindley 1986, 105
Zeewijk-West	GrA-56014	4100	40	CW	From vessel	Charred residue	Smit 2014, 35 in Fokkens <i>et al.</i> 2016, 80
Hattemerbroek, Bedrijventerrein Hattemerbroek-Zuid graf 3	GrA-41646	4075	30	cw	From infill of grave of one or more individuals (one the basis of discolorations, no skeletal elements preserved), per- haps placed on bed of twigs, with two CW beakers, a flint axe, a pseudo-Grand Pressigny dagger, 6 flint flakes and a flint blade; in upper fill a sherd, 2 flint cores and a Bell Beaker	Charcoal	Hamburg <i>et al.</i> 2011, 125 as quoted in Fokkens <i>et al.</i> 2016, 146 tab. 7.7
Baarn-De Drie Eiken	GrA-14965	4065	45	CW	From burial with ceramics	Cremation (human	Lanting and Van der Plicht 2000, 76

Site	Lab code	Radiocar- bon age	Sigma	Arch. culture	Association	Material	Source
Aartswoud	GrN-12015	4055	40	CW	From ash layer in occupation layer	Charcoal	Lanting and Van der Plicht 2000, 78
Zeewijk-West	GrN-56013	4030	40	CW	On ceramic vessel	Charred residue	Smit 2014, 35 as quoted in Fokkens <i>et al</i> . 2016, 80
Keinsmerbrug	GrA-47383	4025	40	CW	From occupation layer	Charred grain	Smit 2012, 21 as quoted in Fokkens <i>et al</i> . 2016, 87
Eexterhalte	GrA-12384	4005	60	CW	From burial with flint	Human bone	Harsema 1977 as quoted in Lanting and Van der Plicht 2000, 76
Keinsmerbrug	GrA-47380	4000	40	CW	From occupation layer	Charred grain	Smit 2012, 21 as quoted in Fokkens <i>et al</i> . 2016, 87
Keinsmerbrug	GrA-47381	3995	40	CW	From occupation layer	Charred grain	Smit 2012, 21 as quoted in Fokkens <i>et al</i> . 2016, 87
Keinsmerbrug	GrA-47377	3970	40	CW	From occupation layer	Charred grain	Smit 2012, 21 as quoted in Fokkens <i>et al</i> . 2016, 87
Keinsmerbrug	GrA-47382	3965	40	CW	From occupation layer	Charred grain	Smit 2012, 21 as quoted in Fokkens <i>et al</i> . 2016, 87
Eext-Bergakkers	GrN-6349	3945	40	CW	From coffin with ceramics inside	Charcoal	Lanting and Van der Plicht 2000, 75
Eext-Galgwanderveen	GrN-6635	3940	40	CW	From charred wooden coffin in burial with ceramics	Charcoal	Jager 1985, nr 34 as quoted in Lanting and Van der Plicht 2000, 75
Eext-Galgwanderveen	GrN-6368	3935	35	CW	From charred fur- nishing of burial with ceramics	Charcoal	Jager 1985, nr 34 as quoted in Lanting and Van der Plicht 2000, 75
Zeewijk-West	GrN-15565	3925	40	CW	Fragment from occupation layer	Bone (species indet)	Lanting and Van der Plicht 2000, 79; Smit 2014, 35 as quoted in Fokkens <i>et al</i> . 2016, 80
Puttershoek-Sportlaan	GrA-12299	3920	60	CW	From ceramic vessel	Charred residue	Lanting and Van der Plicht 2000, 79
Zeewijk-Oost	GrN-18488	3910	50	CW	Outer ring of oak posts from house plan	Worked wood	Lanting and Van der Plicht 2000, 79; Smit 2014, 35 as quoted in Fokkens <i>et al.</i> 2016, 80

Same old, same old?

Fisher-hunter-gatherer graves, burials and mortuary practices in the late fourth and early third millennium BC northern and eastern Baltic Sea region

Marja Ahola

Abstract

From the later part of the fourth millennium BC, eastern Fennoscandia and the eastern Baltic were inhabited by pottery-using forager groups that relied strongly on freshwater foods. These peoples lived in large multi-room houses located by bodies of water, and occasionally buried their dead in ages-old cemeteries or in settlements that may still have been in use. In this paper, I explore the cosmology of these peoples by investigating graves and burials discovered from the region, and by comparing this detailed data to coeval forager mortuary practices east and west of the study area. I argue that the fisherhunter-gatherer peoples of the European forest zone understood the world in a very similar way. Aside from following the same, ancient core mortuary practices, a shared cosmology seems to materialise in the way these peoples used, circulated and discarded specific objects, such as amber buttons, pottery vessels and axes, according to specific rules. These shared ritual practices likely acted as an important venue of interaction for the people dwelling, moving and migrating in this part of the world during the "age of destruction".

Keywords: fisher-hunter-gatherers, northern Fennoscandia, eastern Baltic, mortuary practices, ritual practices

Introduction

During the fourth millennium BC, the European forest zone from middle Russia to eastern Fennoscandia and from the Baltic states to northern Scandinavia was inhabited by pottery-using forager groups. In general, these peoples occupied village-like concentrations of semi-subterranean houses that were commonly located by water, indicating the importance of water transport and aquatic resources (Mökkönen 2009; 2011). This is supported further by archaeological finds of fishing equipment and by dietary isotopes from human remains, as well as lipids from pottery vessels (e.g. Cramp *et al.* 2013; Meadows *et al.* 2018; Simčenka *et al.* 2022; Tõrv and Eriksson 2023). Aside from the importance of aquatic resources and environments, this period is marked by the presence of long-distance gift-giving or trade networks in which foreign materials

In D. Hofmann, D. Mischka and S. Scharl (eds) 2025. *The eve of destruction? Local groups and large-scale networks during the late fourth and early third millennium BC in central Europe*, 311–326. Leiden: Sidestone Press.



Figure 1. V-perforated amber buttons from Finland. Photo: M. Haverinen / Finnish Heritage Agency (CC BY 4.0).

— such as lake Onega slate or metatuff, Baltic amber, natural copper and good quality flint — travelled back and forth between northern Fennoscandia and the eastern Baltic, and even all the way to the Urals (Ahola *et al.* 2022; Carpelan 1999; Kriiska 2015; Nordqvist and Herva 2013). All in all, even if "Mesolithic" from the perspective of subsistence, these phenomena are indicative of a so-called "Neolithic way of thinking" — that is, becoming increasingly aware of the richness of the material world (Herva *et al.* 2014).

From the mid-fourth millennium BC onwards during "the eve of destruction" — some gradual changes take place. For example, large multi-room house pits become more common (Mökkönen 2009; 2011) while dietary isotopes show a greater reliance on freshwater foods than in any other phase (Meadows et al. 2018; Piliciauskas et al. 2017; Simčenka et al. 2022; Tõrv and Eriksson 2023). These results are again backed by both archaeological finds of fish bones, stationary wooden fishing structures and different fishing equipment (e.g. Koivisto 2017; Schmölcke et al. 2016) as well as pottery vessel content analysis (Heron et al. 2015). At the same time, various asbestos- and organic-tempered wares (e.g. Gerasimov et al. 2019; Herva et al. 2014; Mökkönen and Nordqvist 2018), v-perforated amber buttons (Gimbutas 1985; Loze 1975; 1999) (Figure 1) and so-called Russian Karelian type axes and adzes (Figure 2), made of greenish metatuff originating from the western shores of lake Onega (Tarasov and Nordqvist 2021), appear in the archaeological record. Remarkably, these items and raw materials were not only produced en masse but exported over 1000 km from their production workshops or quarries, suggesting emerging complexity and low-level social inequality stemming from centralisation of resources (Bērziņš and



Figure 2. Karelian type adzes made of lake Onega metatuff. Photo: M. Ahola.

Čakare 2022; Gerasimov *et al.* 2019; Loze 1999; Tarasov and Nordqvist 2021). Furthermore, as these artefacts and materials did not travel alone, it is reasonable to assume that a high degree of human mobility also existed.

In this paper, I explore the mid fourth/early third millennium BC long-distance network from the perspective of mortuary practices. Indeed, even though the human remains from this period and region have been commonly subjected to modern bioarchaeological analyses during the past decade or so (e.g. Jones et al. 2017; Mathieson et al. 2018; Meadows et al. 2018; Piličiauskas et al. 2017; Saag et al. 2017; Simčenka et al. 2022), less attention has been paid to the ways these peoples buried their dead (see however Macane and Nordqvist 2019; Tõrv 2016; Zagorska 2001). However, aside from providing information about ritual practices and cosmology, graves and funerary practices are also a good source to explore a transmission of ideas in the context of movement and migration (Ahola 2020). This is because people tend to carry the cosmological beliefs and practices — anchors of collective identity and distinction — with them while moving. Accordingly, in a place and time marked by movement of people and artefacts, we should also be able to see the movement of ideas, beliefs and ritual practices. Consequently, in this paper I have compiled all published data from hunterfisher-gatherer burials dating from the mid fourth to the mid third millennium BC from the northern and eastern Baltic Sea region. By comparing this data to both early fourth millennium BC mortuary traditions recorded from the region, and to coeval hunter-gatherer mortuary practices east and west of the area of interest, I argue that while these practices partly continue ages-old traditions, they also introduce new elements that mark this particular period in time.



Figure 3. Locations of fisher-hunter-gatherer burial sites from the study region and period. Red: cemeteries; black: isolated burials. Map: M. Ahola. Background map: Natural Earth.

Looking back: early fourth millennium BC hunter-fisher-gatherer mortuary practices in north-eastern Europe

To understand the hunter-fisher-gatherer mortuary practices persisting from the mid fourth millennium BC onwards in the northern and eastern Baltic Sea region, we need to look back and see what happened in the realm of death traditions some 500 years before. The hunter-gatherer burial record of the early fourth millennium BC consists of isolated burials, settlement burials and cemeteries (Ahola 2019; Butrimas 2002; Macāne and Nordqvist 2019; Simčenka et al. 2022; Tõrv 2016). There are several smaller cemeteries known from Finland, Estonia, Latvia and Lithuania, but "the" burial ground of the period is Zvejnieki in northern Latvia (Meadows et al. 2018; Zagorskis 2004) (Figure 3). This cemetery was already in use during the Mesolithic, and continued through the fifth and fourth millennium BC. To date, over 300 hunter-fisher-gatherer inhumations have been excavated from this site.

In general, graves and burials from the first part of the fourth millennium BC continue the core mortuary practices recorded from the Mesolithic and even from the Palaeolithic: the deceased — individuals of both biological sexes and different age categories — were interred either individually or collectively (Ahola 2019; Tõrv 2016; Zagorska 2006; Zagorskis 2004, 75). The dead were carefully positioned in the grave, and although a variety of body positions are documented, extended supine position seems to dominate the material (Tõrv 2016; Zagorskis 2004). From time to time, plentiful ochre was used to dye the grave pit, a body container, or for example parts of the dead body (Ahola 2019, 45; Zagorska 2008). In the case of Zvejnieki, charcoal-rich soil from a nearby Mesolithic settlement site was also used to surround the dead bodies or to fill the grave from the seventh millennium BC onwards (Larsson et al. 2017; Zagorska et al. 2018, 110).

At the same time, some changes also occur. For example, compared to the Mesolithic hunter-gatherer burials, the buried individuals dating to the early fourth millennium BC were more commonly wrapped (Nilsson Stutz 2006), while animal tooth pendants were not as common as before (Zagorskis 2004, 75). Instead, the dead were given a regulated set of grave goods consisting mainly of amber pendants and flint artefacts along with a variety of tools and other items made of bone, antler and clay (Ahola 2017; Zagorska et al. 2018; Zagorskis 2004, 75). Remarkably, in the case of some burials, the face of the deceased has also been covered with ochre-stained clay, and amber rings or pendants placed over the eyes, suggesting the presence of a mask (Edgren 2006; Nilsson Stutz et al. 2013; Zagorska 2001, 112). Furthermore, at the Zvejnieki cemetery, collective burials become more common (Zagorska 2001), while black soil containing Mesolithic settlement debris was again used to fill or colour the graves (Larsson 2017; Zagorskis 2004, 75). As some graves were also dug through older ones, a connection to the past generations, or the sites themselves, was likely an important part of the burial custom (Ahola 2019, 64-65; Larsson 2017; Larsson et al. 2017; Nilsson Stutz et al. 2013).

Curiously, pottery is not very common in early fourth millennium BC hunter-fisher-gatherer burials. If present, it is often somehow anomalous: it is placed upside down, consists of rim sherds of one or several vessels, or vessel bases (Ahola 2017, 207-08). Quite often the discovered vessels are not intact either but represent partial vessels. For example, the only early fourth millennium BC vessel from the Zvejnieki cemetery was discovered crushed, with the sherds positioned over the chest regions of two different individuals (Zagorskis 2004, 37), while at the sites of Vaateranta and Säterigatan in Finland, rim sherds from one or several vessels were used to line the walls of the graves (Ahola 2017, 207). It thus seems that pottery was perhaps considered somehow special, and while it is commonly discovered in settlement sites, it was not a common grave gift. Remarkably, the same reasoning seems to apply to stone axes and adzes, which are even more rarely encountered in hunter-gatherer burials dating to early fourth millennium BC (Ahola 2017, 208). In other words, even though they were common grave finds elsewhere in Europe, they were not a part of the fisher-hunter-gatherer burial customs of the early fourth millennium BC.

Hunter-fisher-gatherer graves, burials and mortuary practices from the mid fourth to the mid third millennium BC in the northern and eastern Baltic Sea region

Now that we have set the scene, it is time to see whether the changes occurring in hunter-fisher-gatherer lifeways of the mid fourth millennium BC can be seen also in the burial realm. To do so, I have collected all available data of graves and burials dating roughly from 3500–3000/2500 BC from modern-day Finland, Estonia, Latvia and Lithuania (Table 1). The data were collected solely from written sources (i.e. publications and field reports) and no new excavations or analyses were conducted.

Burying the dead

According to my research, 40 graves from eleven sites dating roughly from the mid fourth to the mid third millennium BC have been excavated in the northern and eastern Baltic Sea region (Table 1; Figure 3). Although the data sample is small, some clear patterns seem to emerge from the material. For example, similarly to the preceding periods, these graves represent individual burials of both adults and children of both biological sexes. Although some multiple burials exist, most of the graves contain the remains of a single individual in extended supine position. However, other burial positions — such as flexed or prone position — also occur. As remains of wooden poles, platforms, ochre, charcoal-rich soil and pieces of bark are present in the inventory of some burials (e.g. Tamula 1, Zvejnieki and Nästinristi), it seems that — at least occasionally — the graves were constructed carefully, and the buried individuals wrapped, or covered with soft containers (for an excellent case study of such practice from Tamula 1, see Tõrv 2015).

Location-wise, most of the graves have been discovered in cemeteries located in, or next to, a settlement site, making this the most common burial practice. Interestingly, some of these sites (e.g. Tamula 1, Zvejnieki and Donkalnis) had been used as burial sites already hundreds - or even thousands — of years before (Butrimas 2002; Meadows et al. 2018; Simčenka et al. 2022; Tõrv 2016; Zagorskis 2004), suggesting that they were important, well-known places for the communities dwelling in the region. However, despite their long periods of use, burials did not occur at these sites frequently. For example, there are three inhumations from Tamula 1 (Figure 3) that date to the earlier part of the fourth millennium BC, six dating from the mid fourth to the turn between the third and fourth millennia BC and three dating to the early third millennium BC (Tõrv 2016, 186-87). Similarly, only three of the 40 AMS-dated (and corrected for dietary freshwater and marine reservoir effects) burials from the Zvejnieki cemetery have been dated to the second half of the fourth millennium BC (Meadows et al. 2018), while a couple more graves could be given a relative date within this period or after, either according to stratigraphy or burial finds (Zagorska 2006; Zagorskis 2004). It must be noted, however, that the AMS-dated burials represent only a fraction of the over 300 burials excavated from the site, and some of the undated burials lacking grave goods could also date to the latter half of the fourth millennium BC or younger.

In the case of the Abora I site, corrected AMS dates suggest a late third to early second millennium date

Site	Country	Burial no	Calibrated and reser- voir effect corrected date (calBC; 2ơ)	Calibrated date 2σ	Relative dating	Location	Buried individu- al(s) and inner structures	Material culture of death	Reference
Abora I	Latvia	3-4,6	c. 3080–2896 (burial 6)			Cemetery on a settlement site	Multiple burial of one male (burial 3) and two females (burials 4 and 6). Burial 3: extended supine position; buri- al 6: crouched position; burial 4: possition position	Burial 3: 1 flint knife, 1 slate arrowhead, 27 v-perforated amber buttons, 1 piece of amber, 1 animal tooth, 1 bone pendant, 1 bone pendants, 1 bone pendants, 1 animal tooth pendants, 1 animal tooth	Legzdiņa and Zariņa 2023; Macāne and Nordqvist 2021
Abora I	Latvia	12–14	c. 2910–2782 (burial 12)			Cemetery on a settlement site	Poorly preserved multiple burial of three children, of which two likely in a crouched position.	none	Legzdiņa and Zariņa 2023; Macāne and Nordqvist 2021
Donkalnis	Lithuania	1	c. 3520-3140			Cemetery	Adult female in extended supine position, head to the north	Small amounts of ochre	Butrimas 2012; Simčenka <i>et al.</i> 2022
Donkalnis	Lithuania	7	c. 3520–3370			Cemetery	Older male in extended position	1 stone arrowhead, 1 bear mandible, 1 bear tooth	Butrimas 2012; Simčenka <i>et al.</i> 2022
Hiitten- harju	Finland				c. 3200-2400	Settlement site	Unknown (no preserved human bones)	Sherds of Pyheensilta Ware (in the fill), ochre	Ahola 2019
Lappfjärd- Rävåsen	Finland				c. 3500–3000	Settlement site	Unknown (no preserved human bones)	1 composite fish hook (?), 1 v-perforated amber button, small amounts of ochre	Ahola 2019
Maarin- kunnas	Finland				c. 3500–3000	Settlement site	Unknown (no preserved human bones)	1 v-perforated amber button	Ahola 2019
Majanie-mi	Finland				c. 3250-2500	Settlement site	Unknown (no preserved human bones)	Sherds of Pölja Ware (in the fill), ochre.	Ahola 2019
Nästinristi	Finland	Ι		c. 3524–2875		Cemetery on a settlement site	Unknown (no preserved human bones), ochre and small pieces of charred birch bark in the burial layer	Several stone discs in an arch-shaped formation in the pit fill; 1 pottery sherd, 1 quartz artefact, 1 quartz flake in burial lay- er next to a small ochre feature. Settlement resi- due (burnt osseus material and tiny pottery sherds) in burial fill; pit covered with a stone setting	Vikkula 1987
Nästinristi	Finland	Ш		c. 3972–3370		Cemetery on a settlement site	Unknown (no preserved human bones). Charred remains of a wooden inner structure at the base of the pit	1 stone disc and small amounts of ochre in pit fill; pit covered with a stone setting with a hearth at one end	Vikkula 1987

Table 1. Fisher-hunter-gatherer burials in the northern and eastern Baltic Sea region between 3500 and 2500 BC (continued on the following pages).

Site	Country	Burial no	Calibrated and reser- voir effect corrected date (calBC; 2ơ)	Calibrated date 2σ	Relative dating	Location	Buried individu- al(s) and inner structures	Material culture of death	Reference
Nästinristi	Finland	ш			c. 3600–3300	Cemetery on a settlement site	Unknown (no preserved human bones)	Small amounts of ochre. Pit covered with a stone setting, two hearths located at opposite ends of the stone setting	Vikkula 1987
Nästinristi	Finland	V			c. 3600-3300	Cemetery on a settlement site	Unknown (no preserved human bones). Charred remains of a wooden inner structure at the base of the pit	none	Vikkula 1987
Nästinristi	Finland	VI			c. 3600–3300	Cemetery on a settlement site	Unknown (no preserved human bones)	none	Vikkula 1987
Nästinristi	Finland	VIII			c. 3600-3300	Cemetery on a settlement site	Unknown (no preserved human bones)	none	Vikkula 1987
Nästinristi	Finland	IX			c. 3600–3300	Cemetery on a settlement site	Unknown (sparse fragments of poorly preserved unburnt bones). Charred remains of a wooden inner structure at the base of the pit	1 broken pottery vessel (probably placed on top of 3 natural stones in the middle of the burial feature), 2 stone discs. Burial covered with a stone setting, pit fill contained settlement debris (e.g. stone discs and flakes, pottery sherds)	Vikkula 1987
Nästinristi	Finland	X			c. 3600-3300	Cemetery on a settlement site	Unknown (no preserved human bones). Charred remains of a wooden inner structure at the base of the pit	Small amount of yellowish ochre, 1 small stone adze, pottery sherds, 1 stone disc with unfin- ished perforation. Burial covered with a stone setting containing settlement debris (small pottery sherds, stone flakes and stone discs)	Vikkula 1987
Riņņu-kalns	Latvia	1852	c. 3550–3100			Shell midden	Adult male in supine position	none	Brinker <i>et al.</i> 2020; Lübke <i>et al.</i> 2016
Riņņu-kalns	Latvia	2039	c. 3450-2900			Shell midden	Juvenile of unde- termined sex in supine position with slightly bent legs	Concentration of fish scales and bones underneath the right hand	Brinker <i>et al.</i> 2020; Lübke <i>et al.</i> 2016
Riņņu-kalns	Latvia	2017/1	c. 3450-3000			Shell midden	Adult male in supine position	Fish soup? (small fish bones around head)	Brinker <i>et al.</i> 2020
Riņņu-kalns	Latvia	2018/2		c. 3641-3383	c. 3400-2900	Shell midden	Infant in prone position	none	Brinker <i>et al.</i> 2020
Tamula I	Estonia	Ι	c. 3350-2630			Cemetery on a settlement site	Older female in flexed position, decayed organic support from the pelvis; grave likely re-opened	2 bone arrow- heads, 1 pottery sherd by the head, unworked stones	Jaanits 1957; Kriiska <i>et al.</i> 2007; Tõrv 2016

Site	Country	Burial no	Calibrated and reser- voir effect corrected date (calBC; 2σ)	Calibrated date 2σ	Relative dating	Location	Buried individu- al(s) and inner structures	Material culture of death	Reference
Tamula I	Estonia	III	c. 3630-2840			Cemetery on a settlement site	Adult male (?) in flexed position	Animal tooth pen- dants, fragments of spearheads, pottery sherds near the body, 1 unworked oval stone	Jaanits 1957; Tõrv 2016
Tamula I	Estonia	VI	c. 3030-2520			Cemetery on a settlement site	Adolescent in supine position	1 hammer stone, animal tooth pendants	Jaanits 1957; Tõrv 2016
Tamula I	Estonia	IX	c. 3510-3110			Cemetery on a settlement site	Adult male (?). Wooden branches in grave (possible soft container for the body)	1 small slate chisel and 2 two tubular beads under skull; several animal tooth pendants next to head and in pelvic region	Jaanits 1957; Tõrv 2016
Tamula I	Estonia	Х	c. 3620-2750			Cemetery on a settlement site	Adult female (?). Wooden branches in grave (possible soft container for the body)	6 pieces of amber under skull, 1 amber pendant and 1 amber piece beneath spine, 1 bone pendant in the shape of a small bird, fragments of bone sculptures, several animal tooth pendants, bone arrowheads, fragmented bone shovel (?) with bird-head handle, 1 y-perforated amber button (in fill)	Jaanits 1957; Tõrv 2016
Tamula I	Estonia	IX	c. 3090-2910			Cemetery on a settlement site	Adult male (?) in supine position. Wooden branches in grave (possible soft container for the body)	1 stone chisel next to right arm, 1 v-perforated amber button between thighs, several animal tooth pendants and bone beads on body, 1 unworked stone, 1 unidentified bone artefact	Jaanits 1957; Tõrv 2016
Tamula I	Estonia	XVIII	c. 3350-2630			Cemetery on a settlement site	Older female in supine position	none	Jaanits 1957; Tõrv 2016
Tamula I	Estonia	XIX	c. 3630-2790			Cemetery on a settlement site	Adult male (?)	2 bird-shaped bone plates, some bird bone beads, some tooth pendants. Fragments of am- ber and 1 amber bead discovered some centimetres from the body	Jaanits 1957; Tõrv 2016
Tamula I	Estonia	XXI	c. 3750–2930			Cemetery on a settlement site	Adult male (?) in flexed position ("sleeping position"), likely wrapped. Wooden pole in grave	none	Jaanits 1957; Tõrv 2016
Tamula I	Estonia	XXII	c. 3010-2570			Cemetery on a settlement site	Older male (?) placed in a bark container. Additional structure behind the back	none	Tõrv 2016

Site	Country	Burial no	Calibrated and reser- voir effect corrected date (calBC; 2σ)	Calibrated date 2σ	Relative dating	Location	Buried individu- al(s) and inner structures	Material culture of death	Reference
Tamula I	Estonia	XXIII	c. 3800-2970			Cemetery on a settlement site	Adult of undeter- mined sex	none	Tõrv 2016
Timonen 1	Finland				c. 3500-3000	settlement site	Unknown (no preserved human bones)	1 v-perforated amber button, small amounts of ochre	Ahola 2019
Zvejnieki	Latvia	198			c. 3650–3000 or after (on top of burial 201)	Cemetery	Completely destroyed burial of an older female	1 composite fish hook, 1 wild boar tusk, 1 fragmen- tary beaver incisor	Zagorskis 2004
Zvejnieki	Latvia	194			c. 3500-3000	Cemetery	Damaged burial of an infant	1 flint artefact at waist, 3 v-perforat- ed amber buttons at right humerus, 16 amber beads at pelvis, charcoal-rich earth from nearby settlement	Zagorskis 2004
Zvejnieki	Latvia	195			c. 3500–3000	Cemetery	Adult male in extended supine position	1 v-perforated amber button in fill	Zagorskis 2004
Zvejnieki	Latvia	199	c. 3650-3000			Cemetery	Older female in extended prone position	7 sherds of a Piestina Ware vessel under head and left shoulder	Meadows <i>et al.</i> 2018; Zagorskis 2004
Zvejnieki	Latvia	269–269a			c.3500-3000	Cemetery	Adult male in supine position (269) and disarticulated bones of another adult individual (269a)	Rim sherd and body sherd of a single Piestina Ware vessel over lumbar vertebrae and left side of pelvis of individ- ual 269; 1 body/ basal sherd of Piestina Ware near individual 269a	Zagorskis 2004
Zvejnieki	Latvia	201	c. 3650–3000			Cemetery	Completely destroyed burial of a child underneath another burial	5 flint spear- and arrowheads, 5 flint scrapers and modified flakes, 2 bone awls, 1 roe deer antler with rounded tip, 2 fragmented amber pendants, 1 beaver incisor. Small amounts of ochre and black earth from nearby Mesolithic settlement in the pit fill	Meadows <i>et al.</i> 2018; Zagorskis 2004
Zvejnieki	Latvia	212			c. 3500-3000	Cemetery	Adult male in extended supine position	43 amber beads/v-perforat- ed buttons around neck and on pelvis and femora	Zagorskis 2004
Zvejnieki	Latvia	228	c. 3800–3300			Cemetery	Older male in extended supine position	17 V-perforated amber buttons over chest, 2 bird figurines and 2 anthropo- morphic figurines near head, 1 miniature bone arrowhead over chest, Mesolithic settlement material in pit fill	Meadows <i>et al.</i> 2018; Zagorskis 2004

for most of the dated inhumations (Legzdiņa and Zariņa 2023). Because many burials still lack radiocarbon determinations, some of the undated inhumations might also date to an earlier phase of use. The dating of the Nästinristi site in western Finland (Figure 3) is even vaguer, with only a couple of radiocarbon determinations from the 1970s, but it seems that this site was in use roughly from the middle to the late fourth millennium BC¹ (Vikkula 1987). Of the other sites, four inhumation burials dating to the second half of the fourth millennium BC are known from the Riņņukalns shell midden site in Latvia (Brinker *et al.* 2020), while the remaining sites consist of single burials on settlements in Finland (Ahola 2019, supplementary material 1).

In addition to inhumation burials, some isolated human bones dated to the period in question have also been collected from fisher-hunter-gatherer settlement sites (Piličiauskas et al. 2017; Tôrv 2016). Although the number of bones is low, most of these finds seem to represent skull fragments such as mandibles and frontal bones. For example, several skull fragments of adults and children have been unearthed from the large settlement complex of Šventoji in Lithuania (Piličiauskas et al. 2017, 1423) while a frontal bone and a mandible from an adult individual have been collected from the Kõljala site in Estonia (Tõrv 2016, tab. 20). A disarticulated human maxilla has also been discovered at the Rinnukalns shell midden (Brinker et al. 2020, 12). Interestingly, along with human skulls, several seal crania have also been unearthed from Šventoji (Osipowicz et al. 2020). According to use-wear analyses, these crania were attached to unspecified objects, or possibly to the body, and show evidence of well-developed use damage on the surfaces. Consequently, Osipowicz and colleagues (2020) suggest that these skulls were used during ritual practices, possibly in a similar way to that suggested for the antler frontlets known from several Mesolithic sites (see Little et al. 2016).

Remarkably, a somewhat similar practice has been noted among the hunter-fisher-sealer peoples associated with the Pitted Ware culture (henceforth PWC; c. 3200–2300 BC), who inhabited the western and southern coastal areas and islands of the Baltic Sea (Lindström 2020; Ståra 2001). According to T. Lindström (2020), the groups associated with the PWC also clearly treated skulls of humans and animals differently from other skeletal elements. For example, PWC inhumation

graves might lack crania or entire skulls, while numerous cranial and mandibular fragments were scattered in cultural layers or deposited in hearths and pits. At the same time, animal skulls were also treated following special practices. For example, at the site of Jettböle in the Åland Islands (Finland), skulls of harp seals and porpoises were placed with a complete pottery vessel and covered with stones (Storå 2001, 38-39). As this deposit showed no evidence of later disturbances, it seems to represent a votive deposit or some other ritual activity. All in all, it seems reasonable to assume that the crania of humans and non-human agents alike were considered somehow special around the Baltic Sea region during this period. In fact, as inhumation burials in the northern and eastern Baltic Sea region are scarce, it could be possible that an underground burial was not the normative way to treat the dead. On the contrary, other mortuary practices - perhaps representing the way hunted animals were butchered, skinned and deposited — also existed (e.g. Nilsson Stutz 2014, 721-23).

Dressing the dead

Turning next to material culture, and specifically to the grave finds, it is evident that gradual changes occur from c. 3500 BC onwards. When exploring the occurrence of specific artefact types and materials per burial, personal ornamentation — especially v-perforated amber buttons — is the most common grave find (Figure 4). Curiously, the number of amber buttons varies between burials, with some containing only one single button while others have been furnished with a dozen or more. For example, 15 buttons along with other artefacts were positioned with an older male buried in Zvejnieki grave 228 (Zagorskis 2004, 38) while 27 v-perforated amber buttons of different shapes were buried with an adult male at Abora I (Macāne and Nordqvist 2019, supplementary material). Comparing the early fourth millennium BC burials, the amount of stone and antler tools seems to be lower than before. Instead of tools, the occasional antler and bone artefacts represent anthropomorphic or zoomorphic figurines or pendants, most often depicting birds (Tõrv et al. 2017). It must also be considered that the preservation of unburnt organic materials is poor in Finnish Stone Age contexts (see Ahola 2019), and in reality, the amount of e.g. animal tooth pendants could have been higher. Stone discs are encountered only in the Nästinristi graves and can thus be interpreted as a local phenomenon.

Remarkably, the material culture of death encountered in the northern and eastern Baltic Sea region has close parallels in the east, among the hunterfisher-gatherer groups associated with the middle-Russian Volosovo culture (c. 3500–2700 BC). Indeed, v-perforated amber buttons, animal tooth pendants and

¹ The radiocarbon determinations obtained from Nästinristi grave II (Table 1) suggest a slightly earlier date for the cemetery. However, as the dated material was wood charcoal from the grave structure, the older date could also be indicative of an old wood effect. Relative dating according to pottery typology suggests that the cemetery was used c. 3600–3300 calBC (Vikkula 1987).



Figure 4. Number of artefact types per burial. Graph: M. Ahola.

occasional zoomorphic antler or bone figurines (mostly birds) are also known from Volosovo graves² (Kashina and Kaverzneva 2021; Kostyleva and Utkin 2010; Macāne *et al.* 2019; Utkin 1993; Zagorska 2001). As further examples of similar artefacts can also be found from north-western Russia, e.g. from the cemeteries of Kontchanskoe, Repishch and Ilovets 1, the tradition of using these specific items and materials in burial rituals covered not only the Baltic Sea region, but large parts of the European forest zone (Utkin 1993, 57).³ Within this tradition, v-perforated amber buttons and other personal ornamentation clearly played a significant role.

Personal ornamentation aside, the use of pottery sherds occurs in these burials. Although accidental inclusion from e.g. the infilling of the grave cannot be completely ruled out, the vessel sherds discovered from graves dating to the period 3500–3000/2500 BC seem to be connected with specific body parts, such as the head or the pelvis (Table 1). For example, in Zvejnieki burial 199 the sherds were discovered under the head and left shoulder of the deceased (Zagorskis 2004, 36) while in Zvejnieki burial 269 two sherds were located in the pelvic region of the intact burial and a single body/ basal sherd was associated with the disarticulated body parts buried in this grave (Zagorskis 2004, 45). Likewise, the single pottery sherd discovered in the Tamula burial I was located near the head of the deceased (Kriiska *et al.* 2007, fig. 5). In some cases, large amounts of sherds have also been discovered in the fills of the burials (Table 1: Hiittenharju, Majaniemi).

Interestingly, this tradition again has clear parallels with PWC ritual practices. Indeed, just as in the northern and eastern Baltic Sea region hunter-fisher-gatherer graves, pottery is only rarely deposited in PWC graves (Larsson 2009). Although some burials do include miniature vessels, these items are not placed at the base of the grave, but in the fill, which often also includes pottery sherds. However, the rare pottery finds from the burial level consist of vessel bases placed upside down, and of single sherds that have most commonly been placed next to the body of the deceased (Larsson 2009, 347). For example, at the site of Köpingsvik on Öland Island (Sweden) a single perforated sherd was placed near the pelvis of the deceased (Papmehl-Dufay 2006, 102). Similarly, pottery sherds were discovered together with skull and teeth fragments in a poorly preserved inhumation burial excavated at Korsnäs (eastern central Sweden) in 2009 (von Hackwitz 2009, 52-53). In fact, as miniature vessels have occasionally been placed even in Volosovo graves (Khramstova pers. comm.),⁴ there seems to be a pattern in how pottery was used — and not used within the burial traditions of the hunter-fisher-gatherer peoples of the late fourth and early third millennium BC European forest zone.

² It must be noted, however, that bird figurines are more common in Volosovo settlement contexts, where they are predominantly discovered inside houses (Kashina and Kaverzneva 2021, 687).

³ The archaeologists of the Petrozavodsk State University (Russia) discovered yet another hunter-gatherer burial with v-perforated amber buttons during the summer of 2021 on the western shores of lake Onega, north-western Russia (Zhulnikov 2022).

⁴ Email between Anastasia Khramtsova and Marja Ahola, 9th September 2022.

Conclusions

When exploring "the eve of destruction" from the perspective of the fisher-hunter-gatherer societies of the northern and eastern Baltic Sea region, it seems evident that during the period spanning from 3500 to 3000/2500 BC all destruction is still far ahead. Indeed, even though the presence of specialised production workshops and long-distance gift-giving or trade networks testify to centralisation of resources, and consequently emerging social inequality (Tarasov and Nordqvist 2021), the burial record does not show evidence of, for example, increased violence. Moreover, even if the number of burials is low, it does not seem that this is indicative of population decline. On the contrary, when the graves, burials, and burial customs of fisher-hunter-gatherers from the northern and eastern Baltic Sea region are compared to those of contemporary societies to the east and west, it seems that a multiplicity of mortuary practices co-existed, and an inhumation burial was only one way to dispose of a dead body. In other words, it seems that these peoples continued to utilise the rich aquatic resources and trade and gift-giving networks existing in the region, while burial rituals mainly occurred in special places that had been in use for hundreds, or even thousands, of years. According to a recent paper by D. Legzdina and G. Zarina (2023), these mortuary practices continued even into the second millennium BC.

Compared to the earlier part of the fourth millennium BC in this region, changes can, however, be seen for example in the artefact types circulating within fisher-hunter-gatherer groups. Interestingly, the v-perforated amber buttons, a novelty of the mid fourth millennium BC, are clearly present both in the longdistance trade or gift-giving networks and in the burial record, while Karelian type metatuff axes and adzes and asbestos are not encountered in graves. Accordingly, the amber items were likely not only valued goods but could also have played a significant role in the cosmological beliefs relating to death and burial. It must be noted, however, that amber pendants, rings and beads were already commonly used in early fourth millennium BC fisher-hunter-gatherer burials in the region (Ahola 2017; Zagorska 2001). Accordingly, even if the artefacts took the novel form of a v-perforated button, the tradition of using amber in burial rituals seems to continue ages-old traditions. Interestingly, the same seems to apply to the use of axes and adzes as burial gifts. Indeed, as only one burial (Nästinristi grave X) was accompanied by a stone adze, while a stone chisel was discovered from another (Tamula I grave IX), these artefacts were still not considered as suitable grave goods. This being said, it must be noted that the meaning behind these practices could nonetheless have changed over time.

When the fisher-hunter-gatherer burials of the northern and eastern Baltic Sea region are investigated in the wider context of Volosovo and PWC grave customs, it seems evident that very similar mortuary practices existed among the peoples of the European forest zone. Indeed, while the PWC culture burials and other deposits suggest common ground in cosmological beliefs regarding particular body parts, the Volosovo burials and northern and eastern Baltic burials seem to share the tradition of adorning the dead with amber. At the same time, the ways pottery and pottery sherds were used as part of the burial were apparently present among all these fisher-hunter-gatherer peoples. In this light, it seems reasonable to assume that the fisher-hunter-gatherer peoples of the European forest zone, whether dwelling in the western coastal area of Scandinavia, the big islands of the Baltic Sea, northern Fennoscandia, the eastern Baltic or further east in central Russia, understood the world in a very similar way. Indeed, all these peoples seem to mark certain places within the landscape with burials, while having a close relationship with animals such as birds, porpoises and seals. At the same time, inanimate objects, such as amber buttons, pottery vessels and axes, were used, circulated and discarded according to specific rules. In other words, despite the evidence of human movement and migration, we are likely not seeing movement of new ideas, beliefs and ritual practices, but rather glimpses of ages-old funerary practices that now materialise in the preferred artefact types and raw materials of the period. As these practices were largely shared by the forager communities of the European forest zone, it is reasonable to assume that they also acted as an important venue of negotiation and discourse for the fisher-hunter-gatherer peoples dwelling, moving, and migrating within this world. In fact, it is only with the arrival of the groups connected with the Corded Ware complex that we see a clear arrival of new beliefs and ritual practices (Ahola 2020). However, even then, the material remains of ritual practices in this region show evidence of religious syncretism to which both traditions contributed. Accordingly, it seems that the realm of ritual and belief acted as a crucial venue of interaction even between the locals and the newcomers.

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank Mari Tõrv, Aija Macāne, Ekaterina Kashina, Anastasia Khramtsova and Gytis Piličiauskas for helping me collect and understand all the data. Writing of this article was supported by the Academy of Finland under grant number 347716.

References

- Ahola, M. 2017. The material culture of Finnish Stone Age hunter-gatherer burials. *Fornvännen* 4, 201–15.
- Ahola, M. 2019. Death in the Stone Age: making sense of Mesolithic-Neolithic mortuary remains from Finland (ca. 6800–2300 cal BC). Unpublished PhD thesis, University of Helsinki.
- Ahola, M. 2020. Creating a sense of belonging: religion and migration in the context of the 3rd millennium BC Corded Ware complex in the eastern and northern Baltic Sea region. *Norwegian Archaeological Review* 53 (2), 114–34.
- Ahola, M., Holmqvist, E. and Pesonen, P. 2022.
 Materialising the social relationships of huntergatherers: archaeological and geochemical analyses of 4th millennium BC "slate ring ornaments" from Finland. *Journal of Archaeological Method and Theory* 29, 1259–93. DOI: 10.1007/s10816-022-09556-8
- Bērziņš, V. and Čakare, A. 2022. Pattern and variation in jewelry production sequences. Analysis of 4th millennium BC amber assemblages from the Latvian coast. *Documenta Praehistorica* XLIX, 2–17.
- Brinker, U. [+12 others] and Schmölcke, U. 2020. Two burials in a unique freshwater shell midden: insights into transformations of Stone Age hunter-fisher daily life in Latvia. Archaeological and Anthropological Sciences 12, 97. DOI: 10.1007/s12520-020-01049-7
- Butrimas, A. 2012. Donkalnio ir spigino mezolito neolito kapinynai. Seniausi laidojimo paminklai lietuvoje. Vilnius: Vilniaus dailes akademijos leidykla.
- Carpelan, C. 1999. Käännekohtia Suomen esihistoriassa aikavälillä 5100–1000 eKr. In P. Fagelberg (ed.), Pohjan poluilla: Suomalaisten juuret nykytutkimuksen mukaan. Bidrag till kännedom av Finlands natur och folk 153, 249–80. Helsinki: Suomen tiedeseura.
- Cramp, L.J.E., Evershed, R.P., Lavento, M., Halinen, P., Mannermaa, K., Oinonen, M., Kettunen, J., Perola, M., Onkamo, P. and Heyd, V. 2014. Neolithic dairy farming at the extreme of agriculture in northern Europe. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B Biological Sciences* 281, 1–9.
- Edgren, T. 2006. Kolmhaara reconsidered. Some new observations concerning Neolithic burial practice in Finland. In L. Larsson and I. Zagorska (eds), *Back to the origin. New research in the Mesolithic-Neolithic Zvejnieki cemetery and environment, northern Latvia*, 327–36. Stockholm: Almqvist & Wiksell International.
- Heron, C., Craig, O.E., Lucquin, A.J.A., Steele, V.J., Thompson, A. and Piličiauskas, G. 2015. Cooking fish and drinking milk? Patterns in pottery use in the southeastern Baltic, 3300–2400 cal BC. *Journal of Archaeological Science* 63, 33–43.
- Herva, V.-P., Nordqvist, K., Lahelma, A. and Ikäheimo. J. 2014. Cultivation of perception and the emergence

of the Neolithic world. *Norwegian Archaeological Review* 47 (2), 141–60.

- Gerasimov, D., Gusentsova, T.M. and Kholkina, M.A. 2019. Tracing the boundary: southern periphery of the Neolithic Asbestos Ware. *Estonian Journal of Archaeology* 23 (2), 146–72.
- Gimbutas, M. 1985. East Baltic amber in the fourth and third millennium B.C. *Journal of Baltic Studies* 16 (3), 231–56.
- Jaanits, L. 1957. Neue Gräberfunde auf dem spätneolithischen Wohnplatz Tamula in Estland. In C.F. Meinander (ed.), *Studia Neolithica in honorem Aarne Äyräpää. Suomen Muinaismuistoyhdistyksen Aikakausikirja 58*, 81–100. Helsinki: Suomen Muinaismuistoyhdistys.
- Jones, E.R., Zariņa, G., Moseyev, V., Lightfoot, E., Nigst, P.R., Manica, A., Pinhasi, R. and Bradley, D.G. 2017. The Neolithic transition in the Baltic was not driven by admixture with early European farmers. *Current Biology* 27, 576–82.
- Kashina, E. and Kaverzneva, E. 2021. Birds in ritual practice of eastern European forest hunter-gatherers. In D. Borić, D. Antonović and B. Mihailović (eds), *Foraging assemblages. Volume 2*, 685–90. Belgrade & New York: Serbian Archaeological Society and The Italian Academy for Advanced Studies in America, Columbia University.
- Koivisto, S. 2017. Archaeology of Finnish wetlands: with special reference to studies of Stone Age stationary wooden fishing structures. Unpublished PhD thesis, University of Helsinki.
- Kostyleva, E.L. and Utkin A.V. 2010. Neo-eneoliticheskiye mogil'niki Verkhnego Povolzhya i Volgo-Okskogo mezhdurechya. Planigraficheskiye i khronologicheskiye struktury. Moscow: Taus.
- Kriiska, A. 2015. Foreign materials and artefacts in the 4th and 3rd millennia BCE Estonian Comb Ware complex.
 In P. Espak (ed.), When gods spoke: researches and reflections on religious phenomena and artefacts.
 Studia in honorem Tarmo Kulmar, 107–24. Tartu: Tartu University Press.
- Kriiska, A., Lõugas, L., Lõhmus, M., Mannermaa, K. and Johanson, K. 2007. New AMS dates from Estonian Stone Age burial sites. *Estonian Journal of Archaeology* 11 (2), 83–121.
- Larsson, A.M. 2009. Breaking and making bodies and pots: material and ritual practices in Sweden in the third millennium BC. Aun 40. Uppsala: University of Uppsala.
- Larsson, L. 2017. The past in the past in the mortuary practice of hunter-gatherers: an example from a settlement and cemetery site in northern Latvia. *Documenta Praehistorica* XLIV, 338–45.
- Larsson, L., Nilsson-Stutz, L., Zagorska, I., Bērziņš, V. and Ceriņa, A. 2017. New aspects of the Mesolithic–
Neolithic cemeteries and settlement at Zvejnieki, northern Latvia. *Acta Archaeologica* 88, 57–93.

- Legzdiṇa, D. and Zariṇa, G. 2023. Living on the climate edge suitable for early farming: the complex subsistence strategies of the Late Neolithic people at the Abora site in Latvia. *Proceedings of the Latvian Academy of Sciences, Section B* 77 (1), 1–14.
- Lindström, T. 2020. Retrieving, curating and depositing skulls at Pitted Ware culture sites. *Current Swedish Archaeology* 28, 147–79.
- Little, A. [+19 others] and Milner, N. 2016. Technological analysis of the world's earliest shamanic costume: a multi-scalar, experimental study of a red deer headdress from the Early Holocene site of Star Carr, North Yorkshire, UK. *PLoS ONE* 11(4), e0152136. DOI:10.1371/journal.pone.0152136
- Loze, I. 1975. Neolithic amber ornaments in the eastern part of Latvia. *Przegląd Archeologiczny* 23, 49–82.
- Loze, I. 1999. The processing of amber during the Middle Neolithic in Latvia. In B. Kosmowska-Ceranowic and H. Paner (eds), *Investigations into amber. Proceedings* of the international interdisciplinary symposium: Baltic amber and other fossil resins, 131–35. Gdańsk: The Archaeological Museum in Gdańsk.
- Lübke, H., Brinker, U., Meadows, J., Bērziņš, V. and Zagorska, I. 2016. New research on the human burials of Riņņukalns, Latvia. In J. Grünberg, B. Gramsch, L. Larsson, J. Orschiedt and H. Meller (eds), Mesolithic burials — rites, symbols and social organization of early postglacial communities. Proceedings of the international conference, Halle, 18th–21st September 2013, 241–56. Halle: Landesamt für Denkmalpflege und Archäologie Sachsen-Anhalt.
- Macāne, A. and Nordqvist, K. 2021. More than just Zvejnieki: an overview of Latvian Stone Age burials. *European Journal of Archaeology* 24, 299–323.
- Macāne, A., Nordqvist, K. and Kostyleva, E. 2019. Marmot incisors and bear tooth pendants in Volosovo huntergatherer burials. New radiocarbon and stable isotope data from the Sakhtysh complex, Upper-Volga region. *Journal of Archaeological Science: Reports* 26, 101908. DOI:10.1016/j.jasrep.2019.101908
- Mathieson, I. [+116 others] and Reich, D. 2018. The genomic history of southeastern Europe. *Nature* 555, 197–203.
- Meadows, J., Bērziņš, V., Legzdiņa, D., Lübke, H.,
 Schmölcke, U., Zagorska, I. and Zarina, G.
 2018. Stone-age subsistence strategies at lake
 Burtnieks, Latvia. *Journal of Archaeological Science: Reports* 17, 992–1006.
- Mökkönen, T. 2009. Neolithic housepits in the Vuoksi River valley, Karelian Isthmus, Russia — chronological changes in size and location. *Fennoscandia Archaeologica* XXVI, 133–61.

- Mökkonen, T. 2011. Studies on Stone Age housepits in Fennoscandia (4000–2000 cal BC). Changes in ground plan, site location, and degree of sedentism. Unpublished PhD thesis, University of Helsinki.
- Mökkönen, T. and Nordqvist, K. 2018. Kierikki Ware and the contemporary Neolithic asbestos and organic-tempered potteries in north-east Europe. *Fennoscandia Archaeologica* XXXIV, 83–116.
- Nilsson Stutz, L. 2006. Unwrapping the dead. In L. Larsson and I. Zagorska (eds), *Back to the origin. New research in the Mesolithic–Neolithic Zvejnieki cemetery and environment, northern Latvia*, 217–33. Stockholm: Almqvist & Wiksell International.
- Nilsson Stutz, L. 2014. Mortuary practices. In V. Cummings, P. Jordan and M. Zvelebil (eds), *The Oxford handbook of the archaeology and anthropology of hunter-gatherers*, 712–28. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Nilsson Stutz, L., Larsson, L. and Zagorska, I. 2013. The persistent presence of the dead: recent excavations at the hunter-gatherer cemetery at Zvejnieki (Latvia). *Antiquity* 87 (338), 1016–29.
- Nordqvist, K. and Herva, V.-P. 2013. Copper use, cultural change and Neolithization in north-eastern Europe (c. 5500–1800 BC). *European Journal of Archaeology* 16 (3), 401–32.
- Oras, E., Lucquin, A., Lõugas, L., Tõrv, M., Kriiska, A. and Craig, O.E. 2017. The adoption of pottery by northeast European hunter-gatherers: evidence from lipid residue analysis. *Journal of Archaeological Science* 78, 112–19.
- Osipowicz, G., Orłowska, J., Piličiauskiene, G. and Piličiauskas, G. 2020. Frontlets from the south-east coast of the Baltic Sea? Seal craniums from Šventoji: a unique clue to understanding the symbolic culture of European middle Holocene hunter-gatherers. *Journal of Archaeological Science: Reports* 34, 102638. DOI:10.1016/j.jasrep.2020.102638
- Papmehl-Dufay, L. 2006. Shaping an identity. Pitted Ware potters and pots in southeast Sweden. Theses and Papers in Scientific Archaeology 7. Stockholm University: Archaeological Research Laboratory.
- Piličiauskas, G., Jankauskas, R., Piličiauskienė, G. and Dupras, T. 2017. Reconstructing Subneolithic and Neolithic diets of the inhabitants of the SE Baltic coast (3100–2500 cal BC) using stable isotope analysis. Archaeological and Anthropological Sciences 9, 1421–37.
- Piličiauskas, G., Simčenka, E., Lidén, K., Kozakaitė, J., Miliauskienė, Ž., Piličiauskienė, G., Kooijman, E., Šinkūnas, P. and Robson, H.K. 2022. Strontium isotope analysis reveals prehistoric mobility patterns in the southeastern Baltic area. Archaeological and Anthropological Sciences 14, 74. DOI: 10.1007/ s12520-022-01539-w

Saag, L. [+10 others] and Metspalu, M. 2017. Extensive farming in Estonia started through a sex-biased migration from the steppe. *Current Biology* 27, 2185–93.

Schmölcke, U., Meadows, J., Ritchie, K., Bērziņš, V., Lübke, H., and Zagorska, I. 2016. Neolithic fish remains from the freshwater shell midden Riņņukalns in northern Latvia. *Environmental Archaeology* 21 (4), 325–33.

Simčenka, E., Kozakaitė, J., Piličiauskienė, G., Gaižauskas, L. and Piličiauskas, G. 2022. Human diet during the Stone Age and Early Metal Period (7000–1 cal BC) in Lithuania: an update. *Radiocarbon* 64 (5), 1171–89.

Storå, J. 2001. Reading bones: Stone Age hunters and seals in the Baltic. Stockholm Studies in Archaeology 21. Stockholm: Stockholm University.

Tarasov, A. and Nordqvist, K. 2021. Made for exchange: the Russian Karelian lithic industry and hunterfisher-gatherer exchange networks in prehistoric north-eastern Europe. *Antiquity* 96, 34–50.

Törv, M. 2015. Body on paper. Applying archaeothanatological principles in re-analysing the Tamula XXII Neolithic inhumation burial from Estonia. In K. von Hackwitz and R. Peyroteo-Stjerna (eds), Ancient death ways. Proceedings of the workshop on archaeology and mortuary practices. Uppsala, May 2013, OPIA 59, 167–89. Uppsala: Uppsala University.

Tõrv, M. 2016. Persistent practices. Multi-disciplinary study of hunter-gatherer mortuary remains from c. 6500–2600 cal. BC, Estonia. Dissertationes Archaeologiae Universitatis Tartuensis 5. Tartu: University of Tartu Press.

Tõrv, M. and Eriksson, G. 2023. Buried at home? Stable isotope analysis of the late hunter-gatherer cemetery population at Tamula, SE Estonia. *Estonian Journal of Archaeology* 27 (2), 98–128.

Tõrv, M., Lübke, H., Meadows, J., Zagorska, I. and Bērziņš, V. 2017. Soul carriers to the afterlife? The context and meaning of the bird figurines from Riņņukalns. In B.V. Eriksen, A. Abegg-Wigg, R. Bleile and U. Ickerodt (eds), *Interaktion ohne Grenzen: Beispiele archäologischer Forschungen am Beginn des 21. Jahrhunderts. Band I / Interaction* without borders: exemplary archaeological research at the beginning of the 21st century. Volume I, 49–61. Schleswig: Archäologisches Landesamt Schleswig-Holstein.

Utkin, A. 1993. Graves of the Volosovo culture at the Vashutino site in central Russia. *Fennoscandia Archaeologica* X, 51–57.

Vikkula, A. 1987. The Stone Age graves of Nastinristi site in Laitila, SW Finland. *Suomen Museo* 93, 5–17.

von Hackwitz, K. 2009. Längs med Hjälmarens stränder och förbi – relationer mellan de gropkeramiska kulturen och båtyxekulturen. Stockholm Studies in Archaeology 51. Stockholm: Stockholms Universitet.

Zagorska, I. 2001. Amber graves of Zvejnieki burial ground. In A. Butrimas (ed.), Baltic amber. Proceedings of the international interdisciplinary conference "Baltic Amber in Natural Sciences, Archaeology and Applied Arts", 13–18 September, Vilnis, Palanga, Nida. Acta Academiae Artium Vilnesis 21, 109–24. Vilnius: University of Vilnius.

Zagorska, I. 2006. Radiocarbon chronology of the Zvejnieki burials. In L. Larsson and I. Zagorska (eds), Back to the origin: new research in the Mesolithic– Neolithic Zvejnieki cemetery and environment, northern Latvia. Acta Archaeologica Lundensia 52, 91–114. Stockholm: Almqvist & Wiksell.

Zagorska, I. 2008. The use of ochre in Stone Age burials of the east Baltic. In F. Fahlander and T. Oestigaard (eds), *The materiality of death: bodies, burials, beliefs. BAR International Series 1768*, 115–24. Oxford: Archaeopress.

Zagorska, I., Meadows, J. and Iršėnas, M. 2018. New dates from Zvejnieki burial ground graves with anthropomorphic and zoomorphic figurines. *Archaeologia Baltica* 25, 100–24.

Zagorskis, F. 2004. Zvejnieki (northern Latvia) Stone Age cemetery. BAR International Series 1292. Oxford: Archaeopress.

Zhulnikov, A.M. 2022. Pribaltijskie jantarnye ukrashenija s jeneoliticheskih pamjatnikov Karelii. In A.M. Zhulnikov, M.P. Otlivanchik and E.V. Sviderskaya (eds), *Prestizhnaja jekonomika pervobytnyh ljudej. Sbornik statej*, 11–25. Petrozavodsk: PetrSU Publishing House.

THE EVE OF DESTRUCTION?

This volume collects papers on the pre-Corded Ware horizon in central Europe and adjacent areas (i.e. from c. 3500 – 2800 BC). This phase is very patchily researched, partly also because certain kinds of evidence, notably domestic architecture and burials, are rare or absent in many regions. This has occasionally been interpreted as signs of a major crisis and population bottleneck, which in turn facilitated the migration of new populations from the steppe, bringing with them amongst others new economic regimes, ideologies and settlement patterns.

Research over the last few years has shown that this scenario needs to be nuanced. Although evidence remains scattered, a picture of regional diversity is emerging, with probably mobile but well-connected Late Neolithic societies undergoing social changes of their own, and instituting several key innovations long before the appearance of the Corded Ware. This volume offers a selection of such case studies, comprising amongst others an overview over the steppe background of new mortuary practices, contributions on settlement and changing networks in Switzerland, Poland and several regions of Germany, as well as discussions on the spread of pottery innovations and lithic material, the possible effect of droughts on Late Neolithic societies, new patterns of monumentality and figurative expression, the social role of battle axes, networks of influences visible in burial rites, and the possibility for "parallel societies" with different modes of life. An introductory chapter draws out central themes.

Together, these contributions show that the transition to the Corded Ware culture was a diverse and multi-facetted process, with many continuities across the transition.

